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Introduction

Many studies have been dedicated over the decades to the question of what knowledge the Allies and the neutral countries had during the Second World War of alleged exterminations of Jews by the Third Reich in general. What did the Americans know? Or the British? Or the Holy See? What about the International Red Cross?1 On the “terrible secret” of Auschwitz, however, the literature is rather limited. Except for an excursion by Martin Gilbert (Gilbert 1984), Western historians have only dealt with the question of why the railway lines leading to Auschwitz were not bombed by the Anglo-Americans.2 Several Polish historians, on the other hand, especially those of the Auschwitz Museum, have thoroughly expatiated (from a perspective to be explained later) on a topic which is also one of the focal points of the present study: the messages sent out of the camp by the Auschwitz Resistance.3 In this context, the greatest expert is undoubtedly Henryk Świebocki.4

The first resistance groups in Auschwitz were formed in the second half of 1940 and multiplied during subsequent years (see Chapter 2.1). From the outside, they were assisted by the Polish resistance movement, which was fragmented into various competing organizations. In addition to sabotaging the German occupational forces, they helped the camp inmates, providing them with food and medicine. The main organizations operating in the Auschwitz region were the Union of Armed Struggle – National Army (Związek Walki Zbrodnie – Armia Krajowa), the Peasants’ Battalions (Bataliony Chłopskie), the Polish Socialist Party (Polska Partia Socjalistyczna), the Polish Workers’ Party (Polska Partia Robotnicza) and the Relief Committee for Concentration Camp Inmates (Komitet Pomoc Więźniom Obozowów Koncentracyjnych). These organizations were in contact with Auschwitz detainees through Polish civilian workers who worked in the camp. From the latter, they received messages and information which they forwarded to the Delegatura, which was the clandestine representation, in occupied Poland, of the Polish Government-in-Exile in London. The Delegatura was organized into twenty offices; the fifth, called “Department of Information and Press” (Departament Infomacji i Prasy), whose code name was “Iskra, 600 PP,” was in charge of collecting, processing and transmitting information from the camp to London.

These aspects have been thoroughly investigated by Polish historians, but the fundamental problem remains: what did the prisoners really know about the alleged extermination of Jews? And what really were their sources?

This study aims to answer these questions. After giving a background on the British intercepting and deciphering of encrypted German radio messages on Auschwitz (Part 1), we will explore and discuss the dubious reports of the camp resistance and of escaped prisoners that they issued until the end of 1944 (Part 2). This allows us to reconstruct the origins and contrasting developments of the story of the Auschwitz gas chambers. The sources, mostly in Polish, were usually examined in the original text.

This is followed in Part 3 by an examination of testimonies made within roughly the first three years after the Soviets’ arrival at Auschwitz, hence until and including 1947 (with some necessary exceptions), which is the year in which the Warsaw trial against the former Auschwitz commander Rudolf Höss and the Krakow trial against the former Auschwitz camp garrison took place. Both trials molded the final version of the gas chamber lore that is by and large still in vogue today.

In Chapter 3.1, I will briefly illustrate Soviet contributions to the creation of the orthodox Auschwitz narrative shortly after they occupied the camp. In the next five chapters, I will analyze early witness testimonies. They are ordered in five categories of decreasing historiographical importance:

1. Eyewitness testimonies by Sonderkommando members who claim to have worked inside and around the gas chambers.

2. Testimonies by inmates who worked in the crematoria without being members of the Sonderkommando.

3. Testimonies of prisoners who claim to have escaped a gassing.

4. Testimonies of prisoners who claim to have witnessed the gas chambers accidentally.

5. Testimonies of prisoners who claimed to have received information directly from Sonderkommando members.

Chapter 3.7, “Testimonies of Prisoners Reporting Camp Rumors,” deals with the most important testimonies of this kind recorded in the immediate postwar period (1945-1947). These rumors developed among former Auschwitz inmates who found themselves outside the sphere of Soviet-Polish influence.

The immediate postwar years also saw the first attempts at making these stories look like history rather than fantasy, a topic examined in Part 4, while Part 5, “The Connivance of Orthodox Historians: Deceptions to Hide the Lies,” exposes the vain attempts of some orthodox Holocaust historians to justify patently false witness statements at all costs.

The present study offers a very large collection of primary sources which includes a significant number of reports and testimonies unknown to mainstream Holocaust historiography.
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Auschwitz in British Radio Intercepts



	



	Introduction

It is now a well-known fact that the British, at the beginning of the Second World War, intercepted and deciphered German radio messages at the Government Communications and Cypher School at Bletchley Park. The story was conveniently summarized by Christoph M. Wieland in an important article (Wieland 2016a):

“In his book, The Ultra Secret, published in 1974, author Frederick W. Winterbotham revealed, for the first time, that the British Intelligence Service was able to eavesdrop on almost all German military radio communications from a very early date, shortly after the outbreak of World War II. As a captain in the Royal Air Force and officer of the Military Intelligence Service, Winterbotham supervised the work of the Government Code & Cipher School in Bletchley Park, where cryptanalysts cracked the ‘Enigma’ code used in German cipher machines to scramble messages transmitted by the German army, navy and air force.

Seven more years were fated to pass by before the public was permitted to learn that Bletchley Park personnel were capable of far more than simply reading written German military messages. In 1981, cryptanalyst Francis H. Hinsley published the second volume of his book British Intelligence in the Second World War. Hinsley’s book revealed that the British Intelligence Service also eavesdropped on radio signals transmitted by the German police, SD and SS. This enabled the British to obtain not only reliable information on events behind the Russian Front, but on events in the German concentration camps as well.

On 19 May 1997, the British government transferred the decoded documents in Bletchley Park to the Public Records Office in London, thereby making them accessible to the public for research purposes.”

Wieland then reminds us that Hinsley had already admitted that “The decoded messages contain no references to gassings.”

Another valuable article on this topic is “Britain’s Rumour Factory. Origins of the Gas Chamber Story” by Peter Rushton, (2017). David Irving has published a large collection of deciphered German messages, available only online.5 Nicholas Kollerstrom, who dedicated a chapter from one of his books to “The Bletchley Park Decrypts” (2014, Chapter 6, pp. 95-107), is also worth mentioning.

Orthodox Holocaust historians who have dealt with this issue, given that they start from the a priori “fact” that mass murder of Jews in gas chambers was carried out in Auschwitz, are mainly interested in how the British interpreted the decrypts, that is what they “knew,” often only to accuse them of complicit silence. Unable to deny, however, that these decrypts contain not the slightest allusion to any homicidal gassings, they are forced to fall back on the black propaganda spread lavishly first of all by the Polish government in exile in London, which these purpose-driven historians claim should have provided them with the interpretative key to the German messages. Richard Breitman and Norman J. W. Goda write, for instance, that

“Information on Auschwitz-Birkenau was received in London and Washington during 1942 and 1943, partly thanks to British intercepts and partly due to the Polish underground. The British picked up a decode in November 1942 indicating that guards at Auschwitz would need six hundred gas masks. In 1942, through intercepted and decoded German radio messages, they were able to follow jumps and falls in the registered Auschwitz Jewish population as well as in the number of Jews deported by rail to Auschwitz, which was a far higher number than registered Jews. Polish underground reports on Jewish extermination activities at Auschwitz also reached London in the fall of 1942, and reports on new crematoria reached London in March 1943. The most famous and most detailed report on Birkenau remains that of escapees Rudolf Vrba and Alfred Wetzler, parts of which were available in London and Washington from mid-June 1944 as Hungary’s Jews were transported there.” (Breitman/Goda, p. 31)

Robert J. Hanyok argues along the same line (2005, p. 83):

“One of the most important sources of information about the death camps, specifically Birkenau at the Auschwitz complex, was the Wetzler-Vrba Report of June 1944.”

Nicholas Terry offers a more complex interpretation in the same vein (2004, pp. 388f.):

“The British analysis was a brave attempt to try to understand the causes of the high mortality rate in the camp. The limitations of the analysis, however, should be immediately apparent: the majority of deportees arriving at Auschwitz were gassed on arrival and never were registered in the camp; therefore, they did not show up in the prisoner returns. The information contained in the intercepts from Auschwitz was in many respects too precise for its own good. This point is all the more worth emphasizing in light of other sources of intelligence relating to Auschwitz that were in British possession by the summer of 1942. The first was passed to the British by the Polish Government-in-exile, offering unusually precise intelligence on the gassing experiments carried out against 600 Soviet prisoners of war and 200 Polish political prisoners in 1941, dating the murder to September 5. News of the killing by gas circulated widely, to the point where a backbench Conservative MP could write to Foreign Secretary Anthony Eden, in March 1942, concerning the fate of Russian prisoners of war in Germany: ‘when these prisoners are sick they are just killed off with gas like rats.’ The British were thus completely aware that gas chambers were in operation within the concentration-camp system, including in Auschwitz. By early 1942, they were also aware of the Nazi euthanasia program and its use of poison.”

These arguments are longwinded yet threadbare:

1. Even in the hypothetical perspective of the Jewish extermination, if it is obvious that the reports on the strength of registered prisoners could not contain references to the non-registered deportees gassed upon arrival in Auschwitz, this does not explain why the intercepts do not contain any allusion to these alleged gassed.

2. The claimed “gassing experiments” are just one of the many examples of black propaganda cited in the relevant source, which states:6

“Here are other examples: In the Oświęcim Camp, on September 5, 1941, the German authorities exterminated more than 800 people by means of asphyxiating gases [au moyen de gaz asphixiants]: about 200 Poles (lawyers, engineers, students), as well as 600 Soviet prisoners of war, mostly officers.”

And this is supposed to be “unusually precise” information? (For details see Mattogno 2016e).

It is worth mentioning that the first reference to a homicidal gassing in Auschwitz, which appeared in a report sent to the information and propaganda office of the Armia Krajowa (National Army) dated October 24, 1941, stated (Obóz…, p. 11):

“At Oświęcim [Auschwitz], in early October, 850 Soviet officers and noncoms (POWs) that had been taken there were killed by gas as a test of a new type of combat gas, which is to be used on the eastern front.”

As for the news on gassing of POWs in Germany, the fact that it was taken up by a low-ranking parliamentarian helps to understand its origin. Peter Rushton drew attention to the special activity of two British services, the Special Operations and Intelligence and the Political Warfare Executive in the creation and dissemination of false news called “sibs” – “whispers” (from the Latin “sibilare”), which also included atrocity lies about killings with gas. Rushton even gave a number of examples (Rushton 2017, Part II/2018, pp. 172-180). These false news items were spread through compliant foreign media outlets throughout Europe and the U.S., from where they bounced back to the UK with a kind of informational recycling, often with some delusional rewriting. One of the most imaginative fake news items is this:7

“Basle, 18.IX.41.

A reliable Swiss, who has already furnished useful information, obtained the following from a German railway guard whom he contacted personally:

Guards and superintendents of trains containing wounded soldiers from the eastern front are ordered at certain places to put on their gas-masks. The trains then enter a tunnel where they remain for upwards of half an hour. On leaving the tunnel all of the wounded soldiers are dead. Severely wounded soldiers are disposed of in the same manner in so-called emergency hospitals, of which it is stated there are many. The guard who furnished this information is stated to have been on duty on one of the trains in which wounded soldiers were ‘gassed’. He was sworn to secrecy under penalty of death, but stated he could no longer withhold his secret from the outer world, by reason of conscience and wanted the German people to learn the fate of their wounded soldiers.”

The above item was not the original “sib,” but rather one that had already come back once. Another iteration of this recycling was recorded by the British, who kept specific documentation on such “come-backs” of the false news items they had released:8


	
		
				
“LH/WL/48.


				
SECRET.


				
4th August, 1942.


		

		
				
to: MR. RAYNER.


				
 


				
From: LIONEL HALE.


		

	

Please note the following come-back on R/693:-

Bermuda Intercept, 21.5.42., from Bern to International News, U. S. A.

The witness is a grey-haired old man of thirty years. He drove a locomotive on the Munich-Berlin line.

‘I was mobilised for service to carry heavily-wounded soldiers from the front to Poland… We drove into a tunnel not far from the Polish border. A colonel stepped into my driver’s cabin and ordered me to stop the train and put on my gas mask – at the point of a revolver. Veiled figures with gas masks jumped into the train. In fifteen minutes I was ordered to drive on. Outside the tunnel we stopped again and to my horror I saw the bodies of my charges being tossed out of the window into a large mass grave, which had been dug by Polish slaves. I thought I must be dreaming. ‘Why doesn’t somebody do something?’ I screamed. No use: I realised they had all been gassed. My hair was grey when I looked in the glass again.’”

But there were also other no-less-imaginative variations on the theme, like this one:9

“General Information No. 2 (Part 2).

February 16th, 1942.

A TASS report from Geneva, dated February 13th (published in the Moscow papers for February 14), says that a Swede, who arrived in Geneva from Berlin late in January, related that there is much talk in Berlin about the fact that severely wounded German soldiers are being killed by gas in special gas chambers, which are provided in almost every German field-ambulance. German doctors and officers, friends of the Swede, have confirmed this fact.”

The following “sib” also contains guidelines on how to use it in France:10

“SD/19

OCCUPIED COUNTRIES

5.12.41.

Foreign workers should not go to Germany because they are transferred to occupied Poland or blitzed districts, gassed if unfit, sterilised, cheated of their wages, or liable to be treated as hostages.

(N.b. do not use the hostage theme for France.”

Already these few examples show that Terry’s claim – supported by two silly examples – that the British were “completely aware” that gas chambers were operating in the concentration camp system, including Auschwitz, is a stretch, if not to say openly ridiculous.

In Chapter 1.2., I will analyze the interpretations of a worthy colleague of his, Richard Breitman, as they are laid out in a more-detailed paper he has dedicated to this topic.


	1.1. The Absence of Clues about “Gas Chambers”

The British compiled summaries of the messages which also include the section “concentration camps,” among which Auschwitz was listed. The first refers to the period from January 1 to August 15, 1942:11

“Strength of Guard: N.C.O.s 108, men unknown. Figure of Prisoners: Jan 6th 9884 Total (presumably, excluding Russian civilians), 191 Jews, 9186 Poles, 2095 Russians (including civilians presumably). Feb. 4th. 10259 Total. 254 Jews, 9506 Poles, 1280 Russians. Again the total presumably excludes Russian civilians and the Russian column includes civilians. March 2nd. 10116. 380 Jews, 9221 Poles, 871 Russians. April 3rd. 10242 Total. 1269 Jews, 8475 Poles, 354 Russians. Here for the first time the Russian column probably contains only prisoners of war. May 5th. 14296. 4010 Jews, 9559 Poles, 182 Russians. June 2nd. 14115 Total. 3466 Jews, 9985 Poles, 153 Russians. July 10th. 16368. 459 Political prisoners, 5998 Jews, 7676 Poles, 153 Russians.

ORANIENBURG’s criticism of their return of April 11 (25/22) can unfortunately not be checked as the relevant figures are missing. A message of 8 May refers to taking over 3128 prisoners from Armaments works in LUBLIN (66/14). A Pole escapes on 13 May (60/18). On 15 May HIMMLER expresses his interest in their tanning experiments (63/17). On 2nd. June AUSCHWITZ complains that the situation is extremely dangerous because the Hungarian replacements for guards given up to Field Units have not arrived (96/39); 90 of the 109 have arrived on 19 June (138/29). On 5 June AUSCHWITZ is told that for political reasons they will not receive 2,000 Jewish workers but on 17 June Jewish transports from Slowakia are announced (104/5; 127/16); their arrival can be seen in the HORHUG reports. A message of June 9th. says that Typhus dominates the camp (113/5): 18 out of 106 cases have died before 15 June (126/4); 22 out of 77 further cases have died before 22nd. June (140/1). On 4 July 100 Schutzhundefuehrer with their dogs are sent to AUSCHWITZ (108/4). On 16 July reference is made to a transport not of Jews but of ‘not interned’ apparently from PARIS (168/41). AUSCHWITZ is told to hand over useless Jewish clothing to the clothing works at Lublin (168/13).”

“Oranienburg’s criticism” is the following message by SS Sturmbannführer Arthur Liebehenschel, back then chief of Office D I of the WVHA:12

“Bezug dort. Meldung vom 11.4.1942. In der dortigen Schutzhaftlagerreportmeldung vom 11.4.42 ist ein Abgang von 1281 Polen verzeichnet. Wie setzt sich diese Zahl zusammen? Am 11.4.42 melden Sie in der täglichen Häftlingsstärkemeldung einen gesamt Bestand von 10282, und im Schutzhaftlagerreport nur 9044 Häftlinge (ohne Sowjetische Kriegsgefangenen). Sie wollen umgehend (noch heute) die Differenz durch Fs. klären.

Gez. LIEBEHENSCHEL.”

“Reference: your report from April 11, 1942. In your protective-custody-camp report from April 11, 1942, a departure of 1281 Poles is recorded. How is this number made up? On April 11th, 1942, you report a total of 10,282 prisoners in the daily prisoner-strength report, and only 9044 prisoners in the protective-custody-camp report (excluding Soviet POWs). Please clarify the difference immediately (today) by teletype.

sgnd. LIEBEHENSCHEL.”

This shows that the WVHA was examining the reports sent from Auschwitz very carefully.

The next summary covers the time from August 3 to September 25, 1942:13

“The August figures follow the prescribed form of 7 columns. Compared with camps hitherto examined, two points stand out 1. that the figures for arrivals and departures[14] are very large every day (see above), 2. that the proportion of Jews is very high and increases from 6241 at the beginning of July to 12011 at the beginning of August. The aggregate of columns 4 to 7 are about 1888 below the total, which includes Russian civilian workers. The movements appear for the most part to be reflected in Columns 4 to 6. In view of the method of reckoning at BUCHENWALD it now appears likely that the large figures for Russians in the January and February returns are all prisoners of war, but that as at BUCHENWALD prisoners of war are not included in the total.”

This is followed by a summary covering the time until October 17, 1942. Some information on Auschwitz is already reported in the section containing general considerations on concentration camps:15

“Some light on conditions in Concentration camps is shown by the instruction that a visiting labour commissions not to be shown either ‘special quarters’ (Sonderunterbringung) or, if it can be avoided, ‘prisoners shot when escaping’ (262b/33). […] AUSCHWITZ is being used as a training (and testing?) centre for Volksdeutsche from Hungary and the Balkans (see under SS Div. Prinz Eugen).”

The section addressing Auschwitz directly is very detailed:16

“The total figure falls from 22,355 on 1st Sept. to 17,363 on 30th Sept. and to 16,966 on 20th Oct. The number of German political prisoners varies between 496 and 553; the number of Jews falls from 11,837 on 1st Sept. to 6475 on 22nd Sept., the number of Poles falls from a maximum of 8489 on 2nd Sept. to a minimum of 6470 on 19th Oct. No figures for deaths have been given this month and therefore it cannot be said what proportion of the daily depatures, which amount to 2395 on 7th Sept., 1429 on 8th Sept., and otherwise vary between 550 and 47, are due to death: it ishowever known that at least 11 SS men have been taken into hospital on suspicion of typhus during October (253b/3; 261b/3; 267b/4; 259b/13). As about 2,000 men in the total are always unaccounted for, it is difficult to be certain to what categories the arrivals and depatures belong. But on 7th Sept. the numbers of political prisoners, Jews and Poles have fallen by 1, 2020, 284, respectively, a net loss of 2305; the net loss in the total column is 2379; therefore it is clear that the majority of the departures are Jews.

A more difficult question arrises in October: 400 Volksdeutsche arrived at AUSCHWITZ on the 12th (264b/15), 500 more were to come soon after the 16th (GPD/1124/19), and during the same period transports of Jews were arriving from Holland, Poland, and Czechoslovakia (259b/1). On the 12th 433 arrive, 248 leave; the figure for Jews is up by 185; on the 14th 401 arrive and 95 leave; the figure of the Jews is up by 269; on the 21st 331 arrive, 116 leave, the figure for the Poles is up by 226. It seems therefore clear both that the Volksdeutsche are not included and that the arrivals and departures in AUSCHWITZ are chiefly Jews but sometimes Poles.

VPA[17] figures are also available for September and early October. The VPA figures follow the form of the Stutthof returns i.e. the same as the AUSCHWITZ returns but with an extra column for the total of the preceding day. The camp decreases in size from 16649 on 1 Sept. to 6774 on 20th Sept., although the new arrivals total well over 3000[.] the last column, presumably Russians, remains steady at between 1200 and 1300, the Poles increase from 786 to 1011, the decrease therefore lies between the Germans, the Jews and the unrecoded ballance. Internal evidence proves that this camp is near [the city of] AUSCHWITZ; as there is known to be a women’s concentration camp at AUSCHWITZ, where 1525 women died in August (223b/24), it is likely that these figures refer to it.”

Summary No. 4 covers the period from October 18 to November 25, 1942. The section containing general concentration-camp issues mentions a request by the Auschwitz Camp for 490 rifles for “Bosnians,” who were probably the ethnic Germans from that area who had been mentioned in a message of October 29. Changes of the Auschwitz garrison’s staff are given for the time period between October 17 and November 20. The general section also highlights the large transfer of Jews to Auschwitz “for the synthetic rubber works,” the persistence of typhus in this camp, and the transfer of in-patient and partly fit inmates to Dachau (“stationaerkranken and bedingttauglichen”).18

On Auschwitz itself we read:19

“For the end of October the total continues to rise until on 20 Nov. It reaches 21650, a figure comparable to the figures of early September. The very large arrivals are mostly Jews and the number of Jews rises from 7500 in the middle of October to 10,000 on 20 Nov. 2000 Jews (272b/10; 287b/17, 290b/16; 302b/5) are known to be employed on the Buna Works. 278 prisoners from AUSCHWITZ are employed on the HOLLESCHAU [Golleschau] Portland cement works (274b/30). There is ample evidence that typhus is still rife (see under medical [situation]) and may account for many of the departures. 200 Russian consumptives [tuberculosis patients] arrive from SACHSENHAUSEN on 27 October (279b/36). The women’s camp remains stationary at about 6500 because arrivals balance depatures (G.P.C.C: F3).”

The summary that follows covers the period until December 28, 1942:20

“The numbers rise from 20645 on 17 Dec. to 24962 on 15 [sic] Dec; half of these numbers are Jews and large numbers arrive and depart every day. Both AUSCHWITZ and LUBLIN are told to report nos. of escaped Russians, prisoners of war and civilian workers, men and women, on 10 Dec (323b1). The BUNA works return finishes on 2 Dec; over 2500 prisoners are employed there (307b6, 315b8, 21). The figure for the women’s camp (F3) falls from over 7000 in the middle of November to 4764 on 9 Dec. and then rises again to 5231 on 14 Dec. Typhus returns for both camps give 9 women dead in the week ending 24 Nov., 27 men and 36 women dead in the week ending 7 Dec. (307b2; 321b18): A few SS cases are reported (328b3, 32).”

Radio messages to and from the German concentration camps could be decrypted consistently until January 1943. In the last summary covering the time period from December 21, 1942 to January 25, 1943, we read:21

“(a) the men’s camp increases from 24962 on 15 Dec. to 28350 on 25 Jan. The Jews decrease from 12360 to 11332; the Poles increase from 8904 to 12646; prisoners in preventive custody jump to 1456 on 20 Jan. 6000 Poles are to be quarantined so that they can be sent to other camps early in February (365b5). The Bunawerk is still employing 2210 men of whom 1100 are on the actual work (364b24). Jewish watchmakers are sent to SACHSENHAUSEN where they are urgently needed (359b25; 356b1).

Typhus cases continue to be reported although strenuous measures have been adopted and 36 cases were found among the new batch of prisoners on 22 Jan. (360b4; 367b6; 366b34; 363b12). (b) The women’s camp also shows an increase in all its columns raising the total from 5231 to 8255 on 25th Jan.”

After this, only a few isolated messages appear, such as this one:22

“The Einsatz Reinhardt (see O/S 6,iii.I) is probably referred to again: on 15 Sept. a car is sent from AUSCHWITZ to LITZMANNSTADT to try out the field kitchens for the Aktion REINHARD (237b42).”

Finally, the following message is reported in the summary for the period of February 27 to March 27, 1943:23

“On 16 Sept. Himmler ordered the arrest of 5000 Frenchmen who were to be confined in the Concentration Camps at AUSCHWITZ and MAUTHAUSEN.”

Here is the text of the intercepted message:24

“Geheim! Der Rf.SS u.Ch.d.dt.Pol. hat die Verhaftung von 5000 Franzosen angeordnet, die sofort nach Deutschland in die Konz.lager MAUTHAUSEN und AUSCHWITZ zu überführen sind. Diese Mitteilung erfolgt vorerst… Die näheren Bestimmungen des Reichssicherheitshauptamtes sind abzuwarten.

Gez. LIEBEHENSCHEL.”

“Secret! The Rf. SS a. Ch. of Germ. Pol. has ordered the arrest of 5000 Frenchmen, who are to be transfered instantly to Germany into the conc. camps MAUTHAUSEN and AUSCHWITZ. For now, this message is being made… More detailed provisions by the Reich Security Main Office have to be awaited.

Sgnd. LIEBEHENSCHEL.”

These summaries, as will be seen below, reflect in a very superficial and inadequate way the actual content of the intercepts. In particular, those relating to changes in the Auschwitz Camp’s occupancy were intercepted every day, ranging from January 1942 to January 1943, and starting in September 1942 also for the women’s camp.25

Lieutenant E.D. Phillips summarized the decrypts regarding “Concentration Camps and Atrocities” as follows:26

“Details concerning concentration camps appeared occasionally in decrypts of police [radio] signals, but the fullest information came from returns which were intercepted during 1942 and 1943, until Feb. 43 when the Germans ceased to send them by wireless. The camps concerned were Dachau, Mauthausen with Guben [Gusen], Buchenwald, Flossenbürg, Auschwitz, Hinzert, Niederhagen, Lublin, Stutthof, and Debica; by no means all of the camps, but a fair proportion. Such foundations as Belsen are too recent to have been included in these returns. The regular method was to head each list with a letter of the alphabet, ‘B’ standing for Dachau and subsequent letters except J being allocated to camps in the order given above. ‘A’ no doubt stood for Oranienburg, the administrative centre of the Amtsgruppe [office group] where SS. Brigadefuehrer Gluecks received the returns; hence its own figures as a camp would not be sent over the wireless. The returns as a daily routine were sent in columns without heading to indicate their meaning, but comparisons with other messages made this fairly clear. The columns stood for total strength of prisoners held, arrivals, departures, and various categories of prisoners, such as politicals, Jews, Poles, other Europeans, and Russians, the last sometimes all together, sometimes divided into civilians and prisoners of war. The largest and most fluctuating figures were those for Auschwitz; at the time typhus and spotted fever were mentioned as the main causes of death, with some references to shootings and hangings; there were no references at any time in Special Intelligence to gassing. Auschwitz with a total usually over 20,000 contained the largest number of prisoners, of whom most were Poles and Jews.” (boldface added)

In fact, the letter “J” was also used in the abbreviations for the camps. The abbreviations, according to a scheme titled “GPCC /WWII Concentration Camps Returns,” were the following:27

OMA: Oranienburg

OMB: Dachau

OMC: Mauthausen

OMD: Buchenwald

OME: Flossenbürg

OMF: Auschwitz

OMG: Hinzert

OMI: Niederhagen

OMJ: Lublin

OMK: Debica

The Stutthof Camp, as shown by the intercepts, had the initials OML.

The daily variations of the number of inmates incarcerated at Auschwitz are of fundamental importance precisely for the study of the camp’s occupancy, but since this does not fall within the purview of this study, it will not be addressed here.


	1.2. Richard Breitman’s Labored Interpretations

The messages regarding Auschwitz, while they in part supplement and highlight that which was already known, very often require explanation in turn, and presuppose preliminary knowledge of this camp, which the major orthodox researchers of the British intercepts do not possess. They are likewise unaware that many of these messages exist in their original form and within their historical and documentary context in the archives of the Auschwitz Central Construction Office. In the Appendix, I provide three examples of original messages and what the British intercepted (Documents 1, 4, 5).

Richard Breitman is a typical case. Breitman even dedicated an entire chapter (“Auschwitz Partially Decoded,” 1998, pp. 110-121) to these messages in one of his studies, where he wrote (ibid., pp. 113f.):

“Substantial information about Auschwitz was made available in signal communications in part because it was a collection of camps with different purposes, some less secret than others. Auschwitz had started out as a concentration camp mostly for various categories of Poles; it began a dramatic expansion in 1941. Auschwitz II (Birkenau) became the center of mass extermination in 1942; and an I. G. Farben synthetic-rubber (Buna) factory at Monowitz, Auschwitz III, absorbed many of those prisoners capable of hard labor.”

Breitman’s labeling of Auschwitz II and III is at least inaccurate, because the division of the local camp complex into the concentration camps Auschwitz I (Stammlager, Main Camp), II (Birkenau) and III (Außenlager, external camp) was ordered by Himmler and announced with Standortbefehl Garrison Order No. 53/43 of November 22, 1943 (Frei et al., pp. 366f.).

Breitman immediately provides a far-more-serious example of his crass ignorance about Auschwitz when writing (1998, p. 114):

“From March 1942 on, trainloads of Slovak Jews were among the first to undergo ‘selection’ at Auschwitz—the able-bodied spared temporarily for hard labor; the children, elderly, and weak sent to the gas chambers. The transports of June 16-20, however, consisted of adults apparently needed and used as laborers—for the time being.”

In reality, the Jews deported from Slovakia who arrived in Auschwitz from March 23 to June 20 were all registered, 11 transports with 10,218 people. Between June 16 and 20, only one transport arrived with 659 people, on the 20th, to be precise. The deportation of these Jews was carried out in the framework of a request from the Reich authorities, which the Slovak government granted, for “20,000 young and strong Slovak Jews” (“20.000 junge kräftige slowakische Juden”) to be sent to the East (“nach dem Osten”), where there was a need for labor deployment (“wo Arbeitseinsatzbedarf besteht”).28 This fact invalidates Breitman’s claim that these detainees were merely “spared temporarily,” meaning that the primary purpose of their deportation was always their eventual murder. This is because, in his opinion, it was only the shortage of manpower that induced the Germans “to make use of those Jews capable of hard labor or skilled labor, rather than execute them immediately” (p. 111). Breitman suggests that this also jibes with Höss’s protest to Eichmann on October 7, 1942, because “He wanted to make sure that the transports of Dutch Jews would not stop in Cosel, in Silesia, where other authorities might commandeer them for labor,” which perhaps meant that “some of these Jews temporarily were spared from the gas chambers” (p. 112).

The appertaining radio message reads:29

“RSHA IV B 4, BERLIN, zu Händen SS Obersturmbannführer EICHMANN, nachrichtlich an die Amtsgruppe D, ORANIENBURG, zu Händen SS Obersturmbannführer LIEBEHENSCHEL.

Betr: Abbeförderung von Juden aus den polo-czeck-niederländischen Gebieten nach AUSCHWITZ. Bezug: dort. Fs. vom 5.10.42, Nr. 181212, 1755 Uhr… Geheim. Bezüglich der aufgegebenen Judentransporte aus HOLLAND wird noch um Angabe der Zugnummer und der voraussichtlichen Ankunftszeiten durch Funk gebeten, um auf Grund dieser Unterlagen bei der Reichsbahndirektion OPPELN veranlassen zu können, dass diese Transporte in KOSEL nicht anhalten, sondern nach AUSCHWITZ durchfahren, um sie, wie vereinbart, von dem Zugriff der Beauftragten der Schmeltaktion zu bewahren.

Gez. HOESS, SS Obersturmbannführer.”

“RSHA IV B 4, BERLIN, to the attention of SS Obersturmbannführer EICHMANN, for information to Office Group D, ORANIENBURG, to the attention of SS Obersturmbannführer LIEBEHENSCHEL.

Re: Deportation of Jews from Polish-Czech-Dutch areas to AUSCHWITZ. Reference: Your teletype from October 5th, 1942, No. 181212, 1755 o’clock… Secret. Regarding the transports of Jews sent from HOLLAND, we further ask to give the train numbers and the expected arrival times by radio in order to be able to arrange with the National Railway Administration OPPELN, based on these documents, that these transports do not stop in KOSEL but drive through to AUSCHWITZ, to prevent access by those responsible for Operation Schmelt, as agreed.

Signed HOESS, SS Obersturmbannführer.”

Subsequently, in 1947, Höss explained the situation in a writing, supported by other elements, which certainly reflected the reality (see Mattogno 2020, pp. 323-325; quoted text on p. 324):

“In the summer of 1942, on the urging of the Ministry of Armaments, Schmelt had received the permission to extract 10,000 Jews from the transports from the West in order to fill up the labor camps near the most important armaments projects. The sorting was carried out in Cosel (Upper Silesia) by a labor deployment leader of [Office] D II and by an appointee of Schmelt. Later, Schmelt’s appointees repeatedly stopped transport trains on their own accord in Upper Silesia without my knowledge and without permission by the RSHA, and they exchanged Jews unfit for work or even dead Jews for healthy Jews fit for work. There were therefore considerable difficulties, train delays, escapes, etc., until the Higher SS and Police Leader Gruf. Schmauser, subsequent to my complaints, finally put an end to this activity.”

I will return to the question later when dealing with the fate of Jews unfit for labor.

Breitman’s argumentative structure does not scruple to violate logic; to show this, I anticipate his argument upon which his previous interpretations rest, which I will examine below:

“Himmler and his subordinates had a liking for good records and for statistics. In early 1943, the WVHA passed along to the various camps an order from Himmler to compile the prisoner population each year since 1933 by category: political prisoners, criminals, Jews, Poles, Spanish Communists, and Russians. Himmler wanted to know how many each camp had released each year and how many had died. If the returns were sent by radio (which is most unlikely), reports of them have not survived or have not been declassified.” (Breitman 1998, p. 115)

The message in question has its own relevance and deserves to be quoted in full:30

“Geheim! Der Rf.SS und Chef der deutschen Polizei hat umgehend Vorlage einer Zusammenstellung der Belegungsstärke der Konzentrationslager seit deren Bestehen befohlen. Die Zusammenstellung soll folgende Untergliederung enthalten: 1) Wieviel Häftlinge befanden sich seit 1933 in den KL (nach Jahren)? 2) Wieviel wurden in jedem Jahr entlassen? 3) Wieviele sind in jedem Jahr verstorben? Die Kategorie der Häftlinge ist lediglich wie folgt zu unterscheiden: A) politische Häftlinge; B) Kriminelle. Weiter sind zu unterscheiden: Juden, Polen, Rotspanier, und Russen. In den dort [in den Lagern] befindlichen Unterlagen sind die angeforderten Zusammenstellungen, zahlenmässig nach Jahren getrennt, umgehend mit Fs. nach hier zu melden. In der Meldung sind auch die bereits aufgelösten Konzentrationslager (ESTERWEGEN, LICHTENBURG, SACHSENBURG, KOLUMBIA, BAD SALZA) zu berücksichtigen. Diese Unterlagen wurden seinerzeit von den jetzt bestehende, zuständigen Lagern übernommen.

Gez. LIEBEHENSCHEL.”

“Secret! The Rf.SS and Chief of the German Police ordered immediate submission of a compilation of the occupancies of the concentration camps since their existence. The compilation is to contain the following breakdown: 1) How many prisoners have there been in the concentration camps since 1933 (by years)? 2) How many were released each year? 3) How many died each year? The prisoner category is only to be divided as follows: A) political prisoners; B) criminals. Another distinction is to be made between Jews, Poles, Red Spaniards, and Russians. In the documents located there [in the camps], the requested compilations are to be reported immediately by teletype to here. Concentration camps that have already been dissolved (ESTERWEGEN, LICHTENBURG, SACHSENBURG, KOLUMBIA, BAD SALZA) must also be taken into account in the report. At that time, these documents were taken over by the now existing, responsible camps.

Sgnd. LIEBEHENSCHEL.”

Therefore, the pertinent reports had to be “sent by teletype” (mit Fs. = Fernschreiben]), hence Breitman’s comment of that having been “most unlikely” is incomprehensible. On the other hand, he is certainly correct in stating that “Himmler and his subordinates had a liking for good records and for statistics,” but this should be true even more-so for the alleged gassings. Instead, Breitman struggles to evade this essential question (ibid.):

“During 1942, however, a number of camps, Auschwitz among them, reported by radio almost daily the number of additions and subtractions to the camp prisoner population. Following instructions, they also broke down their total number of prisoners by the main categories—Germans, Jews, Poles, and Russians. With one big exception (explained below), British intelligence could and did, with some delay, track the changing population and mortality of Auschwitz. […] In August 1942, 6,829 men and 1,525 women died in the camp. From September 1st on, ‘natural’ deaths were no longer to be sent by radio—only in writing.

These statistics covered only the number of prisoners registered at the Auschwitz camps. The death toll included those shot or beaten to death as well as those who died of disease or starvation. They omitted all Jews (and the smaller number of Gypsies) selected for the gas chambers immediately upon arrival. This omission—was it, too, a cloaking device?—might have imposed a critical handicap on interpreting Auschwitz’s role, but other forms of intelligence could and should have compensated for it.”

Inmates “shot,” by the way, were those who had been sentenced to death by the SS court-martial of Kattowitz (SS-Standgericht, handling civilians) or by the RSHA (detainees). This was a very small number compared to the total number of deaths. Those “beaten” or starved to death, on the other hand, are part of a somewhat grotesque tale spread by the resistance, as I documented in a separate book (Mattogno 2016a).

This is even confirmed by the intercepts. On September 26, 1942, the British deciphered a message that read:31

“An den Kommandanten des KZ, SS Sturmbannführer HOESS, AUSCHWITZ. Gummiknüppel sind Breslau nicht zu beschaffen. HSSPf. Südost, I.A. TENGELBRECHT, Hauptmann der Schupo und Adju.”

“To the commandant of the CC, SS Sturmbannführer HOESS, AUSCHWITZ. Rubber truncheons cannot be procured in Breslau. HSSPf. Southeast, p.p. TENGELBRECHT, Police Captain and Adju[tant].”

In Auschwitz, therefore, the use of rubber truncheons was envisaged, which no doubt could be used to beat prisoners “to death,” but they were not exactly the most suitable killing devices.

On September 1, 1942 Glücks reminded the commander of the Hinzert Camp that “Exekution werden nur auf den Befehl des Reichssicherheitshauptamtes vollzogen” “executions are carried out only on orders of the Reich Security Main Office.”32 On August 22, 1942, the commandant of Buchenwald Camp informed the WVHA that two inmates who had fled the camp, Alfred Schuler and Walter Schmidt, had been captured. Following the concentration-camp regulations, he turned to the higher authority for punishment:33

“Es wird um fernschriftliche Genehmigungserteilung zur Verabreichung einer Prügelstrafe von 25 Schlägen vor versammelten Häftlingen gebeten.”

“Permission by telex to administer a 25-stroke flogging sentence in front of the assembled inmates is requested.”

Furthermore, it should be noted that the first Gypsies arrived at the Auschwitz Camp only on February 26, 1943 (Czech 1990, pp. 338f.). It is therefore somewhat unlikely that they were gassed as early as August 1942, as Breitman imputes.

Breitman’s claim that the pertinent statistics “omitted all Jews” who had been “selected for the gas chambers immediately upon arrival” requires first of all proving that these allegedly omitted persons really existed and that the correlative facts – the gassings – actually occurred. But there is another, no-less-serious problem. In my study of the statements of Rudolf Höss, I pointed out that Himmler, when he allegedly conveyed to Höss Hitler’s alleged extermination order in 1941, made it clear that he wanted to be kept informed on the progress of the plan. On the other hand, Eichmann could only communicate to the Reichsführer SS the number of Jews deported to Auschwitz, not those allegedly gassed, because this was a local matter that depended on various factors unknown to Eichmann (Mattogno 2020, pp. 184-186, 289-298). Since the “selection” of those among the deported Jews who were fit for labor was carried at Auschwitz, only the camp authorities could know the number of those allegedly gassed. How was this number communicated to Himmler? In a statement made in September 1945, a former Auschwitz deportee testified about two reports that could have reflected the reality – if the gassings had been real. Here are the contents of these reports as claimed by the witness:34
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THE CAMP COMMANDANT

I would like to remark that the total figure of 54,287 is absolutely correct, for I remember this figure and I shall never in my life forget it.

The figure appertaining to the ages are approximate.”
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THE CAMP COMMANDANT

The total figures are absolutely correct, the age categories are approximate.”

The Jews “treated in a special way” (“sonderbehandelt”) were supposedly gassed. According to Danuta Czech’s Auschwitz Chronicle (1990, pp. 252-255), only three Jewish transports arrived at Auschwitz during the week of October 12-18, 1942: one from Belgium, the other two from the Netherlands, one of which is fictitious,35 for a total of 5,095 deportees (in fact only 3,385), 4,443 of whom were allegedly gassed (2,849 without the invented deportees). Therefore, the number of gassing victims given by this witness is 19 times higher than the number of documented unregistered deportees who arrived at Auschwitz.

Appendix “B” has a real basis, but it actually referred to living inmates. The death toll claimed here is absurd, because if it were real, it would mean that of all the inmates that had perished at Auschwitz during the entire year of 1942 – 48,500 – more than a third of them (19,091) would have died in just that one week! (See Mattogno 2003b, Part II; 2004, pp. 27f., 34).

A radio message from Liebehenschel to the camp commandant, dated May 5, 1942 with the subject “Classification into age groups” (“Unterteilung in Altersstufen”) complained that, on the 7,426 women included in the report (Rapportmeldung) of April 30, no report subdividing them into age groups had been received so far.36

In the “Guidelines to be communicated to the heads of the political department at the meeting on March 23, 1943” (“Richtlinien zur Bekanntgabe an die Leiter der Politischen Abteilungen bei der Besprechung am 23. März 1943,” NO-1553, p. 4), Höss, at that time head of Office DI at the WVHA, observed:

“The classification into age groups has been drawn up by a few camps for the period from 1 to 15, and from the 16th to the end of the month.”

But that was wrong; reports were to be drawn up at the end of the month,

“so that the classification into age groups for deceased and incarcerated inmates agrees with the protective-custody camp report of the same date.”

From Höss’s letter of January 13, 1944 with the subject “Compiling the protective-custody camp report” (“Erstellung des Schutzhaftlagerrapportes”), sent to the commandants of all the concentration camps, it is clear that Auschwitz sent reports to the WVHA also on “SB” (Sonderbehandlung) on a regular basis. Although the meaning of that term is not explained, the context is non-criminal. To the Schutzhaftlagerrapport, an attachment had to be added containing (NO-1548):

“1.) List of names of prominent persons,

2.) Number of executions carried out,

3.) Number of prisoners with easing of detention conditions,

4.) Breakdown of the transports included under 2 b) and 3 c)

(e.g.: on Apr. 2, [19]43 350 prisoners accepted from CC Neuengamme.

on Apr. 10, [19]43 1,000 prisoners transferred to CC Buchenwald).

5.) Report on all satellite labor camps (as previously).

6.) CC Auschwitz I-III only: Number of SB (as previously).”

Since the Schutzhaftlagerrapports dealt with registered inmates, this “SB” could not refer to unregistered, gassed inmates. On the other hand, the commandant of the Auschwitz III Camp could not mandate “special treatment” in the orthodox, holocaustic sense for his registered inmates. He merely could transfer inmates unfit for labor to the Auschwitz and Birkenau Camps, respectively, as demonstrated by the “Transfer List to Birkenau. List A” (“Überstellungsliste nach Birkenau. Liste A”) issued by the Monowitz inmate hospital (HKB [Häftlingskrankenbau] Monowitz) dated May 1, 1944 (NI-14997). Whether any of those inmates would have to be subjected to “special treatment” in terms of gas executions would have been decided only after the transfer. Hence, the Monowitz Camp could not possibly communicate lists of inmates that were only later subjected to any holocaustian “special treatment” at Birkenau.

I will explain later the real meaning of the term in question.

Jewish transports arriving at Auschwitz were accompanied by name lists, and deportees admitted to the camp were registered by their names. It follows that the Auschwitz camp administration would have been unable not only to indicate exactly the daily and monthly numbers of those presumably gassed, but even to draw up any kind of lists of names.

Nothing would have prevented the administration from communicating to Berlin, in a completely anonymous way, at least some kind of number, but there is no mention of it at all in the British intercepts. A message sent by the Flossenbürg Camp mentions an important directive from the WVHA:37

“Betr: Meldung über unnatürliche Todesfälle von Häftlingen. Bezug: Fs. WVH-Amt, Amtsgruppenchef D KL vom 7.7.42 (D/I VE 14 F/Allg./OT/U).”

“Subject: Report of unnatural deaths of inmates. Reference: teletype WVHA, Chief of Office Group D CC of July 7, 1942 (D/I VE 14 F/Allg./OT/U).”

The designation “14 f” referred to various categories of mortality (for example, “14 f 13,” which I will discuss below, and “14 f 14,” which were executions).

In this context, fortunately, Breitman did not conjure up the nonsense that other orthodox Holocaust historians occasionally do in this context regarding the radio messages with which the numerical data of the phantom “Operation 1005” were allegedly transmitted (number of exhumed and cremated corpses), which were purportedly disguised as “weather reports” (“Wettermeldungen”) and “cloud altitude” (“Wolkenhöhe”; see Mattogno 2018, pp. 430-432).

It is known that until early October 1941 the British intercepted radio messages from the Higher SS and Police Leader Central Russia, SS Obergruppenführer Erich von dem Bach-Zelewski, and South Russia and the Ukraine, SS Obergruppenführer Friedrich Jeckeln, which referred to shootings of Jews. A summary selected from the various decrypts contains over thirty of them, with indication of place, date, responsible German unit, type of the execution and the victims.38 On October 9, 1941, the three Higher SS and Police Leaders in Russia received the order, intercepted by the British, not to transmit secret information anymore via radio messages, also including “more-precise numerical data on executions” (“auch genauere Zahlenangaben über Exekutionen”), which from then on had to be sent by courier.39

However, as will be seen below, still on July 23, 1942 a message explicitly referred to the shooting of 700 Jews unable to work.

On the other hand, the so-called Höfle Telegram of January 11, 1943, deciphered by the British40 and first analyzed by Stephen Tyas and Peter Witte in 2001, is unanimously considered by orthodox Holocaust historiography as a sort of general summary of the victims of the “Operation Reinhardt” camps (Bełżec , Sobibór, Treblinka and Lublin). The document lists a total of 1,274,166 Jews who were allegedly gassed there (although the intercept only mentions “Zugang,” i.e. arrival of prisoners). Nothing comparable exists for Auschwitz.

Breitman cannot accept the total absence of the slightest hint as to the alleged gassings, and desperately misrepresents the German messages on the basis of his illusory “understanding of the true role of Auschwitz,” but he manages to distort only a couple of intercepts. He summarizes the most-important one as follows (Breitman 1998, p. 114):

“Information about Birkenau and the factory-style method of mass murder was more difficult to locate in the decodes, but it was there. In a partially garbled decode in June 1942, SS Brigadeführer Dr. Hans Kammler, the head of construction for the WVHA and the builder of camps and camp installations, alluded to the chimney of the crematorium. At that time additional gas chambers and crematoria were under construction at Birkenau.”

The decode in question states:41

“An .. goes off ..und Chef Amtsgruppe D.

Besteht für den Kamin ... des Krematoriums im .. groups missed.. gefahr. Falls zutreffend sofort Erneuerung des .. goes off .. in Angriff nehmen: Vollzugsmeldung anher und Angabe, warum ich nicht durch die Zentralbauleitung unterrichtet bin.

Der Chef der Amtsgruppe C Dr. Ing. Kammler SS Brigadeführer und Gen.maj. der Waffen-SS.“

“To… goes off… and Head of Office Group D.

Danger exists for the chimney… of the crematorium at… groups missed… If true, start reconstructing instantly… goes off…: report implementation here explaining why I was not informed by the Central Construction Office.

The Head of Office Group C Dr. Ing. Kammler, SS Brigadeführer and Major General of the Waffen SS.”

Breitman’s linking of this incomplete message to the gas chambers is clearly forced and artificial, already due to the fact that it’s wrong to claim, even from an orthodox point of view, that “at that time” – meaning June 4, 1942 – “additional gas chambers and crematoria were under construction at Birkenau.” The works for the construction excavation (Baugrube) of Crematorium II had begun only two days earlier and ended in July.42 Breitmann, in his Endnote 33, explicitly refers to Jean-Claude Pressac and Robert Jan van Pelt, but both agree that Crematorium II was designed as a normal sanitary facility, without gas chambers, hence his linking together of “gas chambers and crematoria” is clearly fallacious.43 In his prodigious ignorance of the history of the Auschwitz Camp, he evidently had no idea that the chimney in question was that of the old Crematorium at the Main Camp. SS Oberscharführer Josef Pollok had reported the damage to the chimney of this facility as early as May 30, 1942.44 On June 1st, SS Hauptsturmführer Karl Bischoff, head of the Central Construction Office, sent Kammler a request to have the chimney repaired.45 The next day, Kammler sent a telegram to Auschwitz saying: “Construction order issued for reconstructing the Auschwitz crematorium chimney” (“Baubefehl zur Erneuerung des Schornsteins Krematorium Auschwitz erteilt”).46 On June 4, Kammler reiterated his order with the message intercepted by the British, of which the original text exists. This is radio message no. 14 received by the SS-Standort-Funkstelle (radio office of the SS garrison) of Auschwitz:47

“An Bauleitung.

Nach Mitteilung Chef Amtsgr. D besteht für den Kamin des Krematoriums K.L. Au. Einsturzgefahr. Falls zutreffend, sofort Erneuerung des Schornsteins in Angriff nehmen. Vollzugsmeldung ahner [nachher] und Angabe, warum ich nicht durch die Zentralbauleitung unterrichtet bin.

Der Chef der Amtsgruppe C

Dr. Ing. Kammler,

SS-Brigadef. u. Generalmajor der Waffen SS”

“To Construction Office.

According to the report by the chief of Office Group D, danger exists for the chimney of the crematorium CC Au. to collapse. If true, start reconstructing the chimney immediately. Report implementation afterwards and information as to why I have not been informed by the Central Construction Office.

The Head of Office Group C

Dr. Ing. Kammler,

SS Brigadeführer and Major General of the Waffen SS”

From June 12 to August 8, 1942, the old chimney was demolished and rebuilt. I dealt with this story in detail in my studies of the Auschwitz crematoria (Mattogno/Deana 2015, pp. 222-227; Mattogno 2016b, pp. 46-49).

But Breitman’s meretricious insinuations don’t stop there; he continues as follows (ibid.):

“The decodes also picked up reports of a number of meetings between WVHA chief Oswald Pohl and Rudolf Höss and between Kammler and Höss. These meetings apparently were connected with high-level dissatisfaction with the pace of resolving the Jewish question, complications caused by transportation bottlenecks in hindering shipments of Jews, and construction of new extermination facilities.”

In reality, however, no “reports” as such were intercepted, but merely simple references to such meetings, as Breitman himself indicates in a footnote (ibid., p. 281):

“Höss was summoned to a private meeting with Kammler and to a general meeting with all camp commandants led by Oswald Pohl on 25 June 1942. German Police Decodes, 18 June 1942, items 17-18, and 24 June 1942, item 32, PRO HW 16/19.”

In this regard, the following messages are known. The first is dated June 24, 1942:48

“To SS Sturmbannfuehrer Hoess.

Meeting desired 25.6.42 1100 hours at [offices of] SS Brigadefuehrer Dr. Kammler. Signed, Pastoski, SS Obersturmfuehrer and Adju[tant].”

The second message is directly related to the first:49

“Regarding Meeting… groups missed… the commandant’s office of Auschwitz concentration camp requests news by radio whether the meeting with the camp commandant on June 25, 1942 will be over until evening, because in this case SS Sturmbannführer Hoess… groups missed… already board the night train for return journey on June 25, 1942. Accommodation for Sturmbannführer Hoess und SS Hauptsturmführer Wagner only desired if continuation of the meeting on June 26, 1942. Signed Hoess.”

Breitman’s comment is truly incredible and only highlights his ignorance of the history of Auschwitz and the historical context of the messages even from an orthodox point of view.

From June 1 to 8, 1942, SS Hauptsturmführer Kurt May made a long business trip to various concentration camps in the Protectorate of Bohemia and Moravia, in Upper Silesia, in Galicia and in the Warthegau. May was the head of the Office W IV of the WVHA (Holzbearbeitungsbetriebe, woodworking shops), which was part of Office Group W (Wirtschaftliche Unternehmungen, economic enterprises). The first subsection of Office W IV concerned the Deutsche Ausrüstungswerke GmbH (German Equipment Works LCC), generally known by the acronym DAW.

On June 4, May visited Auschwitz. In his report to Pohl, written on the 11th, he described the findings of his inspection, which at Auschwitz were summarized by SS Untersturmführer Fritz Ertl in a file memo dated June 5.50 Since the document is practically unknown, I translate the pertinent passage in full:51

“1) Das Werk Auschwitz der Deutschen Ausrüstungswerke macht einen guten Eindruck, obgleich es sich noch stark im Aufbau befindet. Es werden dort in 2 Schichten rund 600 Häftlinge beschäftigt, die nach Fertigstellung der 4 im Bau befindlichen Hallen auf etwa 1.000 erhöht werden sollen.

2) Anlässlich unseres Besuches bei SS-Sturmbannführer Höss wurden mit dem Lagerkommandanten und Betriebsdirektor in Anwesenheit seines Wirtschaftsbeauftragten, SS-Obersturmführer Mulka, die laufenden Fragen besprochen. SS-Sturmbannführer Höss sicherte den Deutschen Ausrüstungswerken in jeder Hinsicht seine vollste Unterstützung zu.

3) Mit den Leistungen des SS-Obersturmführers [sic] Wagner als Werkleiter bin ich zufrieden, er muss jedoch noch mit seinen zunehmenden Aufgaben wachsen. Wagner ist ausserordentlich pünktlich, fleissig und absolut zuverlässig, jedoch fehlt ihm manchmal noch der nötige Weitblick und die Fähigkeit rasch und sicher die notwendigen Entscheidungen zu treffen.

4) Da sofort nach Fertigstellung der neuen Hallen bei den Deutschen Ausrüstungswerken die von SS-Obergruppenführer Pohl befohlene Übernahme der Werkstätten der Zentralbauleitung Auschwitz und der Verwaltung des KL. Auschwitz erfolgen soll, wurden auch diese beiden Werkstätten besichtigt.

Die in der Lederfabrik gelegenen Tischlerei-Reparaturwerkstätten der Verwaltung KL. Auschwitz gehören dort aufgelöst und zur Vermeidung grosser Transportwege direkt ins Lager gelegt, möglichst unter Oberaufsicht der Deutschen Ausrüstungswerke. Dort wären ausschliesslich Reparaturen auszuführen, die bei dem stark eingeschränkten Bauprogramm die Serienfabrikation im Hauptbetrieb nur stören wurden. Mit dieser Lösung erklärte sich auch SS-Hauptsturmführer Wagner einverstanden.

Die umfangreichen Holzverarbeitungswerkstätten der Zentralbauleitung können erst mit Wirkung vom 1. Oktober von SS-Hauptsturmführer Bischoff übernommen werden, da vor diesem Termin im Werksgelände der Deutschen Ausrüstungswerke die notwendigen Arbeitsräume fehlen. Nach Fertigstellung der neuen Hallen wird die Übersiedlung sofort vorgenommen. Ich möchte jedoch anregen, dass die Werkstätten schon jetzt, möglichst ab 30.6.42 fachlich und organisatorisch von den Deutschen Ausrüstungswerken geführt werden. Die notwendigen Fachkräfte stehen zur Verfügung und die befohlene Übernahme wird zu gegebener Zeit dann reibungslos vonstatten gehen.

5) Das grösstenteils von den Deutschen Ausrüstungswerken eingerichtete „Deutsche Haus’ wurde besichtigt. Einige notwendige Abänderungen sind bereits in die Wege geleitet.

6) Die Besprechungen, welche Herr Dr. Hohberg mit dem Einkaufschef der IG-Farbenindustrie AG. Auschwitz, Herrn Dr. Heinz Savelberg, hatte, ergab, dass die Kapazität der Deutschen Ausrüstungswerke für die Tür- und Fensterfabrikation des neuen Hydrier- und Bunawerkes viel zu klein ist. Es handelte sich hier um kriegsentscheidend wichtigen Einsatz der Deutschen Ausrüstungswerke. Die im Bau befindlichen 4 Hallen der Deutschen Ausrüstungswerke dürfen daher unter keinen Umständen zum Einliegen kommen. Wenn sich SS-Brigadeführer Kammler nicht persönlich dieses Bauvorhabens annimt, können die Hallen nicht fertiggestellt werden. Ich erlaube mir, Obergruppenführer, hier um Ihre persönliche Unterstützung zu bitten.”

“1) The Auschwitz branch of the German Equipment Works makes a good impression, although it is still largely under construction. 600 inmates are employed there in 2 shifts; these 600 are to be increased to 1,000 following completion of the 4 hangars now being built.

2) During our visit to SS Sturmbannführer Höss, current issues were discussed with the camp commandants and branch manager in the presence of his agent in charge of economic enterprises, SS Obersturmführer Mulka. SS Sturmbannführer Höss assured the German Equipment Works of his full support in every regard.

3) I am satisfied with the performance of SS Obersturmführer [sic] Wagner as branch manager, but he still needs to grow with his increasingly numerous responsibilities. Wagner is extraordinarily punctual, diligent and absolutely reliable; however, he sometimes lacks the necessary foresight and the ability to make the necessary decisions quickly and decisively.

4) Since immediately after completion of the new hangars at the German Equipment Works the takeover of the workshops of the Auschwitz Central Construction Office and of the Auschwitz camp administration is to take place as ordered by SS Obergruppenführer Pohl, a visit was paid to these two factories.

The joinery repair shops located in the leather factory of the Auschwitz camp administration are to be dissolved and relocated directly inside the camp to avoid lengthy transport distances, if possible under the supervision of the German Equipment Works. Only repair works would be performed there, which would merely disrupt the mass production in the main operation in view of the restricted construction program. SS Hauptsturmführer Wagner also declared that he was in agreement with this solution.

The extended wood-working shops of the Central Construction Office can only be taken over only as of October 1 by SS Hauptsturmführer Bischoff, since the necessary working space is missing at the premises of the German Equipment Works before that date. The relocation will be carried out immediately after completion of the new hangars. I would like to suggest, however, that the workshops be managed, technically and organizationally, by the German Equipment Works already now, as of June 30, 1942. The necessary skilled employees are available, and then the ordered takeover will eventually proceed smoothly.

5) A visit was paid to The ‘Deutsche Haus,’ largely equipped by the German Equipment Works. A few necessary changes are already being arranged.

6) Negotiations between Dr. Hohberg and the purchasing director of IG Farbenindustrie AG Auschwitz, Dr. Heinz Savelberg, showed that the capacity of the German Equipment Works for the manufacture of the doors and windows for the new hydrogenation and buna works is much too limited. We are talking here about a militarily decisive assignment for the German Equipment Works. The 4 hangars now under construction for the German Equipment Works may under no circumstances be interfered with. The hangars cannot be finished unless SS Brigadeführer Kammler personally takes on this building project. Obergruppenführer, at this point I take the liberty of requesting your personal support.”

All three persons mentioned in the British intercepts appear in this report: Kammler, Höss and Wagner.

Hence, if Höss was summoned by Kammler on June 25 and brought along Wagner, it is clear that the subject of the meeting was precisely the company Deutsche Ausrüstungswerke. Its issues were resolved in August. The Kommandanturbefehl (Headquarters Order) No. 15/42 of August 20, 1942 states the following (Frei et al., p. 163):

“Lagerwerkstätten Schlosserei und Tischlerei

Auf Befehl des SS-Obergruppenführers Pohl wurden am 11.8.42 die hiesigen Lagerwerkstätten der Schlosserei und Tischlerei restlos aufgelöst und an die Deutschen Ausrüstungswerke GmbH, Werk Auschwitz, übergeben.”

“Camp metal-working and cabinet-making workshops

Upon order from SS Obergruppenführer Pohl, the local metal-working and cabinet-making workshops were completely dissolved on August 11, 1942 and handed over to the German Equipment Works LCC, Auschwitz branch.”

The metal-working and cabinet-making workshops (Werkstätten) were part of the Central Construction Office, and employed inmates organized in specialized Kommandos (see Mattogno 2015a, pp. 50f.).

A little over a month earlier, from May 11 to 17, 1942, a delegation of Auschwitz big wigs, composed of Bischoff, SS Untersturmführer Fritz Ertl, head of the department for above-ground-level construction (Abteilung Hochbau) of the Central Construction Office, and SS Untersturmführer Paul Wilk, head of the department for raw materials (Rohstoffstelle), went to Berlin to the headquarters of the WVHA.52 The purpose of the visit was “um die Bauwerke festzulegen, welche aufgrund der neuesten Bestimmungen des G.B.-Bau im 3. Kriegswirtschaftsjahr (1.4.- 31.12.1942) gemeldet werden können.” “to determine whether or not the construction sites based on the latest provisions of the G.B.-Bau53 can be reported during the third wartime financial year (April 1 – Dec. 31,1942).” The delegates were also received by Kammler. The topics covered concerned the entire Auschwitz camp complex, among which the POW camp (Kriegsgefangenlager, KGL), i.e. the Birkenau Camp, was only one of eight construction projects (Bauvorhaben):

“1) K.L. Auschwitz

2) SS-Unterkunft Auschwitz (geplantes Kasernement)

3) Industriegelände Auschwitz (DAW. Deutsche Erd- und Steinwerke)

4) Landwirtschaftl. Betriebe Auschwitz

5) HWL [Hauptwirtschaftlager] mit Zweigstelle Oderberg

6) Kriegsgefangenlager Auschwitz

7) Gut Partschendorf bei Freudental (W 5)

8) Freudental (W 8)”

“1. Concentration Camp Auschwitz

2. SS Accommodation Auschwitz

3. Industrial Zone Auschwitz (Deutsche Ausrüstungs-Werke, Deutsche

Erde- und Steinwerke)

4. Auschwitz farms

5. Main Industrial Camp Auschwitz with outpost Oderberg

6. POW camp Auschwitz

7. Estate Partschendorf near Freudenthal

8. Estate Freudenthal”

The Central Construction Office was assigned 250 horse-stable barracks, 77 accommodation barracks, 15 warehouse barracks and 2 family houses, as well as 10 barracks for the Weheoba Company, 10 for the Schenk Company, and 14 for the Albrecht Company. Although on May 16 the delegates had also spoken with civilian employee Werkmann, who in November 1941 had drawn up the first draft of the future Crematorium II (see Pressac 1993, Docs. 10f.), this topic was not even touched upon, let alone that of the alleged gas chambers.

On September 23, 1942, SS Obergruppenführer Oswald Pohl, head of the WVHA, inspected the Auschwitz Camp together with SS Brigadeführer Kammler; in addition to the camp commandant, the other participants included SS Hauptsturmführer Götze, SS Hauptsturmführer Schminke, SS Hauptsturmführer Sperling, SS Obersturmführer Ast, Gauleiter Bracht, Regierungspräsident Faust, Regierungspräsident Springorum, Regierungsdirektor Frantz, Ober-Regierungs- und Baurat Wittmer, Regierungsrat Lohmann, Amtskommissar Butz, Architect Stossberg, Landrat Ziegler, Professor Konrich from the Reichsinnenministerium Department of the Interior, Stadtbaudirektor Döscher from the Reichsarbeitsministerium Department of Labor, Beratender Ingenieur consulting engineer Kind, Provinzialbaurat Kloss, Oberbaudirektor Müller, Sparingenieur Holthey, as well as the I.G. Farbenindustrie officials Ambros, Faust and Dürrfeld.54

The period is precisely when, according to Breitman, the German authorities in Berlin expressed “dissatisfaction with the pace of [the…] construction of new extermination facilities.” Therefore, Pohl must have gone to Auschwitz to resolve the alleged problems that had arisen in the handling of the “Jewish question.” In fact, Pohl talked about everything but that. The subjects of the talks were summarized with the following fundamental points:55

“Punkt 1/ Grenzfestlegung des Interessengebietes KL Auschwitz gegenüber der Stadt Auschwitz

Punkt 2/ Bewässerung /Wasserentnahme/ des KL Auschwitz

Punkt 3/ Abwässerbeseitigung

Punkt 4a/ Verlegung des Verschiebebahnhofes Auschwitz aus dem Gebiet des KL Auschwitz

Punkt 4b/ Verlegung der Reichsbahner-Siedlung ausserhalb des Interessengebietes KL Auschwitz.”

“Point 1 / definition of the border between the CC Auschwitz area of interest and the city of Auschwitz

Point 2 / irrigation / water withdrawal / of CC Auschwitz

Point 3 / wastewater disposal

Item 4a / relocation of the Auschwitz marshalling yard from the area of CC Auschwitz

Item 4b / relocation of the railway-employee settlement outside the area of interest CC Auschwitz.”

According to an intercept of November 12, 1942, Höss was supposed to be in Oranienburg on November 21 and 22:56

“Bezug: dort. Funk vom 12.11.42. Die Kdtr. meldet zu obigem Bezug, dass am 21. bis 22.11.42 in Oranienburg eine Unterkunft für SS Obersturmbannführer Hoesz (sic) gewünscht wird. Gez. Hoesz.”

“Ref.: Your radio [message] of Nov. 12, 1942. The commandant’s office reports, with regards to the above, that it is desired that accommodation be found for SS Obersturmbannführer Hoesz [sic] on Nov. 21-22, 1942 in Oranienburg. Signed, Hoesz.”

The reason for the meeting is unknown.

When Kammler visited Auschwitz personally on May 7, 1943, he discussed a wide range of topics with camp authorities (SS Obersturmbannführer Höss, head of the StandortverwaltungSS garrison administration SS Obersturmbannführer Karl Möckl, SS Sturmbannführer Bischoff, head of Landwirtschaftsbetriebe agricultural enterprises SS Sturmbannführer Joachim Caesar, SS garrison physicianStandortarzt SS Hauptsturmführer Eduard Wirths, and Chief of Construction Bauleiter of the Construction Office Main Camp and Landwirtschaft Auschwitz Agriculture SS Untersturmführer Hans Kirschnek). None of these topics had the vaguest connection with the alleged gas chambers: Landwirtschaftliche Bauten, Bauten in Zuständigkeit des Standortarztes (Latrinenverhältnisse, Kanalsystem, Krankenbaracken, Wasch-, Bade- und Entwesungsmöglichkeiten, Entwässerung, Entlausung), Bauten für die Verwaltung des K.L. agricultural buildings, buildings under the authority of the garrison physician (latrine conditions, sewerage system, hospital barracks, washing, bathing and disinfestation facilities, drainage, delousing), camp administration buildings.57

In this context, Breitman’s insinuation thus turns out to be wholly unfounded. He adds (ibid., p. 114):

“Himmler himself went to Auschwitz for a two-day inspection on July 17-18, 1942, and he observed the gassing of one selection of Jews. He then authorized a major expansion and gave commandant Höss a promotion. Following that visit he went straight to Lublin and observed operations in at least one of Globocnik’s extermination camps: Sobibór. Neither trip apparently showed up in the decodes.”

In the respective endnote (ibid., note 36 on p. 281), Breitman refers to another one of his books, but here he explicitly declares that the only source for his claim that Himmler witnessed a gassing at Auschwitz is a postwar statement by Höss (Breitman 1991, p. 236; note 23f. on p. 306), which itself is a shameless lie, as I have documented more than abundantly elsewhere (Mattogno 2020, pp. 242-250).

As regards Himmler’s alleged visit to Sobibór, Breitman likewise refers to his previous book, in which he wrote (ibid., pp. 237):

“Himmler also wanted to see the gas chambers that made use of carbon monoxide. He went straight from Auschwitz to Lublin, where Globocnik held a tea for him.26 […]

Himmler spent another two days in the Lublin area; plenty of construction and other preparations for Germanization were in progress. This time his appointment book offered a hint of his other interests, recording a visit to an unidentified camp for ‘effects’ and a treasury.29 By this time the Lublin region had two operating death camps: Belzec and Sobibor. With transports arriving frequently and the gas chambers doing their jobs, the personal effects of the dead Jews were piling up: clothes, shoes, suitcases, jewelry, gold fillings from teeth, even hair, and money.

A survivor of Sobibor later wrote that one day in late July 1942 she saw Himmler, six SS officers, and three civilians arrive there.”

Breitman’s endnotes 26 and 29 refer to Himmler’s diary. From this document it appears that the Reichsführer SS, after visiting Auschwitz, flew from Kattowitz to Lublin on Saturday, July 18, 1942, where he arrived at 15:15; on July 20, at 12:30, he left for Berlin. The agenda accurately records the people Himmler met and the places he went in the following order (Witte et al., pp. 493-497):

– July 18: Lublin, orchard (Obstgut) Zastrow, Lublin.

– July 19: Cholm, Trawniki, Cholm, Germanizable and Germanized farms in the Zamość area, Lublin, at 8 pm dinner at Globocnik’s.

– July 20: Lublin (visit to a warehouse for personal effects [Effektenlager], a depository for valuables and a barracks), Lublin airport.

The “Effektenlager” was probably the warehouse for materials (“Materiallager”) located in Lublin, Chopinstrasse 27, which is mentioned in a letter by SS Hauptsturmführer Höfle to the SS and police leaders of Operation Reinhardt dated July 29, 1942 (Kermisz, p. 186).

The warehouses of Operation Reinhardt mainly collected property seized from Jews in the ghettoes. In his well-known report of June 30, 1943, SS Gruppenführer Fritz Katzmann noted (L-018. IMT, Vol. 37, pp. 401f.):

“Gleichzeitig mit den Aussiedlungsaktionen wurde die Erfassung der jüd.Vermögenswerte durchgeführt. Außerordentliche Werte konnten sichergestellt und dem Sonderstab ‘,Reinhard’ zur Verfügung gestellt werden. Außer den erfassten Möbeln und grossen Mengen an Textilien, usw. wurden im einzelnen erfasst und dem Sonderstab ‘,Reinhard’’ abgeführt: […]”

“Concurrently with the resettlement campaigns, Jewish assets were recorded. Extraordinary values could be secured and made available to the special staff ‘Reinhard’. In addition to the recorded furniture and large quantities of textiles, etc. the following were recorded in detail and transferred to the special staff ‘Reinhard’: […]”

This is followed by a long and detailed list with the description of the loot. Auschwitz also contributed to these growing assets, as evidenced by a message sent on July 16, 1942 by the WVHA to the Auschwitz camp administration:58

“Die dort anfallenden [sic], nicht verwendbare Judenbekleidung ist nach wie vor an das SS Bekleidungswerk LUBLIN abzugeben.”

“As before, the Jewish clothing that accumulates there and cannot be used must still be handed over to the SS clothing factory in LUBLIN.”

When did Himmler go to Sobibór? It is clear that Breitman’s only source is his “Sobibor survivor,” whose testimony in this regard is categorically refuted by Himmler’s agenda, though.

But here, too, Breitman applies his artifices. The reference he gives is “Miriam Novitch, Sobibor: Martyrdom and Revolt – Documents and Testimonies, New York, 1980, pp. 34-35” (Breitman 1998, note 30 on p. 306).

However, no testimony to that effect appears on the cited pages. The anecdote in question was instead told by a different witness, Moshe Bahir, according to whom Himmler’s alleged visit took place “at the end of July 1942,” a period in which

“The camp was operating under an unusually heavy workload. The gas chambers and crematoria were working at full strength. Three transports were arriving each and every day and those who came on them, no matter how many, were liquidated on the same day.”

This witness claims to have seen the following (Novitch, pp. 154f.):

“I saw a train with luxurious cars stopping at the train station. It was eleven o’clock in the morning. From one of the cars came Reichsführer Heinrich Himmler and after him an entourage of six S.S. officers and three in civilian clothes. Among those accompanying him was Adolf Eichmann.”

But such a visit is historically false, as Miriam Novitch implicitly confirms when she declares that Himmler visited Sobibór only once, on February 12, 1943 (ibid., p. 27). Bahir’s anecdote is full of falsehoods also otherwise. Fact is that the camp was inactive from the end of July until October 1942, because the railway tracks leading to it had sunk into the marshy ground (Schelvis, p. 59). It is well-known that the Sobibor Camp did not have any “crematoria.” Moreover, during his stay in the Lublin area, Himmler traveled by car rather than by train, and Eichmann was not among those traveling with him.

Breitman’s bad faith is evident, and this is not even an isolated case. In another study, I brought to light other systematic distortions of his regarding Mogilev’s alleged “death camp” (Mattogno 2018, pp. 664-670).

After this necessary excursus, we return to Auschwitz.

Breitman’s second reference to homicidal gassings is even more tenuous. The text I quoted above continues like this (ibid., pp. 114f.):

“In any case, it would have been very difficult for the British analysts to make a connection in mid-1942 between transports of Jews to Auschwitz and the new installations there from these decoded lines alone, and there is no sign that British intelligence did so. More suggestive was a November message that urgently needed six hundred gas masks to equip its new guards, but that, too, was only one little piece of the picture.”

This comment is rather mischievous, for the message in question says:59

“Bezug: dort. Funk vom 19.11.42. Die Kdtr. KL. AU meldet zu obigem Bezug, dass folgende Waffen und Gerät[e] dringend für Ausrüstung der Rekruten benötigt werden: 490 Gewehre, 490 Seitengewehre, 600 kompl. Gasmasken und 960 Reinigungsgeräte. I.V. Gez. Aumeier. Nachsatz: Geheim.”

“Reference: Your wireless dated Nov. 19, 1942. The commandant’s office at CC Auschwitz reports, with regards to the above mentioned reference, that the following weapons and equipment are urgently needed to equip the recruits: 490 rifles, 490 sidearms, 600 complete gas masks and 960 cleaning devices. Signed by proxy, Aumeier. P.S. Secret.”

What is so “suggestive” in this text? The gas masks were ordinary pieces of equipment issued to all soldiers of all German armed forces, and at Bromberg existed even an “Army School II for Gas Protection” (Heeresgasschutzschule II) which held a training course from October 3 to 18, 1942.60 Garrison Order No. 46/43 of October 14, 1943 dedicates Point 9 to the labeling of gas masks (“Beschriftung der Gasmasken”; Frei et al, p. 353), while Garrison Order No. 19/44 of July 14, 1944 mandates in Point 5 to bring gas masks along even in case of hospitalizations (ibid., p. 469):

“Mitnahme der Gasmasken bei Lazaretteinlieferungen.

Trotz mehrmaliger Anordnung werden noch immer den lazarettkranken SS-Angehörigen des Standortes Auschwitz keine Gasmasken mitgeben. Es wird deshalb letztmalig befohlen, daß allen SS-Angehörigen vor Aufnahme in das SS-Revier, in ein Lazarett oder in das SS-Lagerlazarett Auschwitz Gasmaske und Stahlhelm mitzugeben sind.”

“Bringing along gas masks when admitted to the hospital.

Despite repeated orders, gas masks are still not being issued to inpatient SS members of garrison Auschwitz. Hence, it is herewith ordered for the last time that all SS members, prior to admission to the SS sickbay, to the military hospital or to the Auschwitz SS camp hospital, have to be issued gas mask and steel helmet.”

It is truly painful to note the childish self-assurance of the vast majority of orthodox Holocaust historians, that the Auschwitz camp authorities, every moment of every day, thought of nothing else but exterminating Jews. In the documentation of the Central Construction Office, which contains some 120,000 pages, the documents that, according to J.-C. Pressac and other orthodox historians, contain “criminal traces,” hardly reach 0.05%. This shows how absurd their claims are to find references to gas chambers and exterminations always and everywhere.

Since the decrypts are mute about mass exterminations, Breitman is forced to resort to Polish black propaganda, thereby disclosing that this was the true origin of the Auschwitz gas-chamber story. But the attitude of the British intelligence services was very skeptical. At the end of August 1943, the Polish government transmitted to these Brits a report that spoke of the killing of Poles in gas chambers in Lublin. Roger Allen, a Foreign Office official, considered the idea of the gas chambers absurd. Breitman continues as follows (ibid., pp. 119f.)

“This question elicited a revealing comment from Victor Cavendish-Bentinck, chairman of the Joint Intelligence Committee, who had access to the German Police and SS decodes. Cavendish-Bentinck first deplored Polish and Jewish information about atrocities: both groups (to a far greater extent, the Jews) sought to ‘stoke us up’ and seemed to have succeeded, he thought. He in effect wrote off information supplied by Polish and Jewish sources. Cavendish-Bentinck then challenged several aspects of this most recent Polish report, particularly of Poles being gassed. There was more evidence, he argued, about Russians murdering Polish officers at Katyn, in the former Soviet-occupied zone of Poland. […]

Ultimately, Cavendish-Bentinck conceded British knowledge of the fact that Nazi Germany was out to destroy Jews of any age unless they were capable of manual labor. But he compared some stories about gas chambers to World War I stories about the use of human corpses to manufacture fat, which turned out to be mendacious Allied propaganda.

Cavendish-Bentinck was correct that some Polish and Jewish reports were exaggerated or partly inaccurate; but particularly with regard to the Jews, he acknowledged the essential point: one way or another the Nazis were murdering most Jews. Still, in a handwritten postscript, he added: ‘I feel certain that we are making a mistake in publicly giving credence to this gas chamber story.’ It is not clear whether his skepticism about reports of gas chambers also covered reports of their use to dispose of Jews.”

Given the obvious importance of these statements, I report them in full, starting with Roger Allen’s statement:61

“The only two references which I have been able to find in the appendix to this Polish aide-mémoire which deal with this form of execution are as follows:

(1) Telegram of 17th July, 1943 from Poland.

‘Commander-in-Chief armed forces Lublin district informed me that he had evidence that some of these people are being murdered in gas cells there’ (Majdanek Camp).

(2) Telegram of 17th July, 1943, from Poland.

‘It has been ascertained that on July 2nd and 5th 2 transports made of women, children, and old men, consisting of 30 wagons each, have been liquidated in gas cells.’

It will be observed that the first of these reports gives no indication of the date of the occurrence, or the number of people concerned; the second is silent as to the place and the source.

It is true that there have been references to the use of gas chambers in other reports; but these references have usually, if not always, been equally vague, and since they have concerned the extermination of the Jews, have usually emanated from Jewish sources.

Personally, I have never really understood the advantage of the gas chamber over the simpler machine gun, or the equally simple starvation method. These stories may or may not be true, but in any event I submit we are putting out a statement on evidence which is far fron [sic] conclusive, and which we have no means of assessing. However, you may not consider this of sufficient importance to warrant any action.”

And here is Cavendish-Bentinck’s assessment:62

“In my opinion it is incorrect to describe Polish information regarding German atrocities as ‘trustworthy’. The Poles, and to a far greater extent the Jews, tend to exaggerate German atrocities in order to stoke us up. They seem to have succeeded.

Mr. Allen and myself have both followed German atrocities quite closely. I do not believe that there is any evidence which would be accepted in a Law Court that Polish children have been killed on the spot by Germans when their parents were being deported to work in Germany, nor that Polish children have been sold to German settlers. As regards putting Poles to death in gas chambers, I do not believe that there is any evidence that this has been done. There have been many stories to this effect, and we have played them up in P.W.E. [Political Warfare Executive63] rumours without believing that they had any foundation. At any rate there is far less evidence than exists for the mass murder of Polish officers by the Russians at Katyn.[64] On the other hand we do know that the Germans are out to destroy Jews of any age unless they are fit for manual labour.

I think that we weaken our case against the Germans by publicly giving credence to atrocity stories for which we have no evidence. These mass executions in gas chambers remind me of the stories of employment of human corpses during the last war for the manufacture of fat, which was a grotesque lie and led to the true stories of German enormities being brushed aside as being mere propaganda.”

On the same day, August 27, 1943, the Foreign Office sent a telegram to Washington which it had already transmitted to Moscow the day before:65

“On further reflection we are not convinced that evidence regarding use of gas chambers is substantial enough to justify inclusion in a public declaration of concluding phrase of paragraph 2 of draft and would prefer if United States Government agree, that sentence in question should end at ‘concentration camps’.”

As for the claim that the Germans were “out to destroy Jews of any age unless they are fit for manual labour,” it was perhaps based on a decrypt to that effect – the only one of this kind to my knowledge. On July 23, 1942 the territorial commander of the police and the SS of Kamenez informed the unit in two places 60 km south-west of Kamenez that a Jewish action (Judenaktion) had been carried out during which “700 unfit for work were shot” (“700 Arbeitsunfähige erschossen”).66 However, this was a local initiative in Ukraine. An intercepted and only partially decrypted message that was sent to the camps of Dachau, Flossenbürg, Auschwitz and Lublin on June 11, 1942, revealed that Himmler had requested explanations regarding the local number of “inmates unable to work” (“arbeitsunfähige Häftlinge”).67

The question of the gas chambers had presented itself to the British the year before. On September 5, 1942, David Allen, an official in the Central Department of the Foreign Office, filed a memo on “Assertions that the German Government use gas Chambers to murder Jews in Poland.” Frank Savery from the British Embassy in Poland was asked for “a report on the origin and reliability” of the stories that had been the subject of a parliamentary inquiry on August 10.68 This inquiry, presented by a certain Mr. Mander to both the Prime Minister and the Minister for Foreign Affairs, requested69

“whether he has any statement to make with reference to the employment by the German Government of gas to murder a large number of Jews in Poland in mobil gas chambers; and if steps will be taken to interview the three men forced to act as gravediggers, who have now escaped, with a view to collecting evidence against the perpetrators against this new outrage.”

The “gravediggers” were three alleged escapees from the Chełmo Camp.

The answer was summarized as follows: Savery had discussed the matter with the Polish Minister of Information and, as it turned out, the story came from the periodic reports that the Polish Minister of the Interior received from his agents in Poland.

“The official of the Polish Ministry of Information to whom Mr. Savery spoke was frankly sceptical of the truth of the story, although he admitted that he had no real means of checking its authenticity.”70

On December 5, 1944, the Ministry of Supply transmitted to the Foreign Office the following request:71

“The Chemical Defense Division of this Ministry is anxious to make technical enquries on the use by the Germans of Gas Lethal Chambers on prisoners. I am writing to ask if you know of any authenticated case of the use of such lethal chambers in France or other liberated countries.”

On December 20, the Foreign Office sent the aforementioned Ministry a letter that read:72

“In reply to your secret letter of the 5th December, I write to say that the Foreign Office have no record of the use by the Germans of lethal chambers for gassing human beings in France or elsewhere in Western Europe. MP, you refer, however, to ‘other liberated countries’ and if this includes the part of Poland evacuated by the Germans, it was of course near Lublin[73] that the worst known case of mass killings of the kind occurred. Perhaps you will let me know if you require any information about gas chambers in Eastern Europe of a non technical kind, such as we could supply from the published material available here.”

The Ministry of Supply asked for technical evidence, but the Foreign Office only had propaganda material. This request probably followed the chemical analysis of the contents of Zyklon-B cans which had already been carried out in October 1944 by the “No. 3 Anti-Gas Laboratory,” which ascertained that it was hydrogen cyanide absorbed in blue cubes of calcium sulphate (gypsum),74 but without reaching conclusions on its use by the Germans.75

* * *

The British intercepts cover a wide variety of topics, which can be categorized by certain themes. Due to their fragmentary nature, however, they must be inserted in their historical context in order to avoid interpretative blunders such as those committed by Breitman.


	1.3. The Typhus Epidemics at Auschwitz in 1942-1943

One of the most-frequently recurring themes in the intercepted radio messages is that concerning the health situation in Auschwitz, in particular the typhus epidemics which repeatedly ravaged the camp. Before examining the related messages, a brief presentation of the most-frequently mentioned persons is appropriate.

The SS garrison physician, as an office, consisted of Section V (Abteilung V) of the organizational structure of Auschwitz and, for medical aspects, was subordinated directly to Office D III/Healthcare and camp hygiene (Sanitätswesen und Lagerhygiene) of the WVHA. This office was headed from March 1942 until the end of the war by SS Obersturmbannführer Enno Lolling. Subordinated to the SS garrison physician were the SS troop physicians (Truppenärzte) and the camp physicians (Lagerärzte), as well as the health-service nurses (Sanitätsdienstgrade) and the disinfection units (Desinfektionskommando).

SS Hauptsturmführer Siegfried Schwela was SS garrison physician from March 21, 1942. A message of May 7 informed that Schwela was ill,76 and a subsequent message of May 16 communicated his death on May 10,77 which is also confirmed by other sources (Lasik 1995, p. 298; Lasik 2000, p. 249).

His successor was SS Obersturmführer Franz von Bodmann, who remained in office until August 16, 1942. The next day, SS Hauptsturmführer Kurt Uhlenbrock took over, but he also contracted typhus (Czech 1990, p. 220), and therefore held that position only until September 1, 1942.

Eduard Wirths, SS Obersturmführer at the time, is the best-known SS garrison physician. He took office on September 4, 1942 and held it until January 1945. A message from Lolling dated September 2, 1942 announced:78

“Bis zum Eintreffen des ersten Lagerarztes, SS Obersturmführer Wirths am 4.9.42 übernimmt Hauptsturmführer Uhlenbrock die Vertretung.”

“Pending the arrival of the first camp physician, SS Obersturmführer Wirths, on 4.9.42, Hauptsturmführer Uhlenbrock will be his substitute.”

Another physician whose name appears in the intercepts is SS Obersturmführer Entress, sometimes spelled Entresz, who was SS camp physician at Auschwitz from December 1941 until October 1943.

Typhus was endemic in the General Government. On June 28, 1941, the German Minister of the Interior sent an express letter to various authorities of the Reich bearing the subject „Seuchenhygienische Überwachung der Lager für die angeworbenen polnischen Arbeitskräfte““Epidemic-hygienic surveillance of the camps for the hired Polish workforce,” which opens with the following considerations:

“Im Generalgouvernement ist die Zahl der Erkrankungen an Fleckfieber in den letzten Wochen erheblich und zwar auf über das Doppelte gestiegen. Damit ist die Gefahr der Einschleppung des Fleckfiebers durch die polnischen Arbeitskräfte wesentlich größer geworden. Eine Quarantäne ist weder im Generalgouvernement noch im Reich, insbesondere aus arbeitseinsatzmäßigen Gründen und infolge Personal- und Materialmangels möglich.”

“The number of persons infected with typhus in the General Government has risen considerably over the past few weeks, and in fact has more than doubled. Hence, the danger of the introduction of typhus through the Polish workforce has increased considerably. Quarantine is impossible, both in the General Government and in the Reich, for reasons related to the utilization of labor and as a result of a shortage of personnel and material.”

To ward off the risk of infection, the Reichsminister prescribed that all workers be personally deloused, including their clothing and baggage.79

The “Lageplan des Kriegsgefangenenlagers-Auschwitz O.S.” “Situation Map of Auschwitz POW Camp O.S.” dated October 7, 1941 anticipated a sector referred to as the “Quarantänelager” “Quarantine camp” (future sector B I), equipped with two disinfestation facilities (future BW 5a and 5b; see Pressac 1989, p. 185), which no doubt fitted into this context.

On November 20, the Administration of the General Government sent the Reichsminister of the Interior a letter bearing the subject “Erkrankungen von Juden an Fleckfieber, die aus dem Generalgouvernement nach Wien zurückkehrten” “Jews returning to Vienna from the General Government falling ill to typhus,” which laments the fact that the deported Jews had returned to Vienna carrying typhus.80 In October 1939, two Jewish transports from Vienna had reached Nisko and, between February 15 and March 12, 1941, another five had been sent to the area of Lublin (Moser, p. 76).

The detailed instructions headed “Vorbeugung gegen Fleckfieber” “Prevention of Typhus” issued by the Oberkommando des Heeres German High Command of the Army on November 30, 1941 provided for a total delousing of all troops and means of transport.81

At Auschwitz, the problem became urgent only a few weeks later. On December 11, Höss promulgated a “Flecktyphus-Merkblatt für den Soldaten” “Typhus Fact Sheet for Soldiers,” which summarized the causes and communication of the disease:82

“Eine der gefährlichsten und oft tödlich verlaufenden Krankheiten, die dem einzelnen Soldaten und mit ihm der gesamten Truppe besonders im Winter drohen, ist der Flecktyphus, auch Fleckfieber genannt. Diese Krankheit wird ausschliesslich durch Kleiderläuse, gelegentlich auch durch Kopfläuse, übertragen.

Die Krankheit beginnt 1-2 Wochen nach dem Biss der krankheitsübertragenden Laus meist plötzlich mit Kopfschmerzen und schwerem allgemeinen Krankheitsgefühl. Einige Tage später treten auf der Haut des gesamten Körpers kleine rötliche Fleckchen auf, die mitunter nur schwach sichtbar sind und wenn die Haut an sich schon etwas fleckig ist ???words missing?derartige Krankheitserscheinungen, muss sofort der Truppenarzt benachrichtigt werden, damit der Kranke einem Lazarett überwiesen wird.

Die Gefahr der Erkrankung an Flecktyphus wird am sichersten dadurch bekämpft, dass die Truppe unbedingt vor Verlausung bewahrt wird. Jeder Soldat, der sich auch nur eine Laus an sich feststellt, muss dies unbedingt seiner Truppe melden. Jeder Soldat ist verpflichtet, durch genaueste Beachtung dieses Merkblattes an der Bekämpfung der Flecktyphusgefahr mitzuwirken. Der Soldat muss sich bewusst sein, dass er auch durch diszipliniertes Verhalten in dieser Hinsicht zu einem Teil dazu beitragen kann, die Schlagkraft des Heeres zu sichern.

Jede Berührung mit nicht einwandfreien, schmutzigen Personen, soweit man diese als solche erkennt (ausl. Arbeiter), ist unbedingt zu vermeiden (Kinos, Gaststätten pp.). Schon bei leichten Streifen der Kleider können Läuse übertragen werden.”

“One of the most dangerous and often fatal diseases endangering the lives of both individual soldiers and military units as a whole, particularly during the winter, is typhus, also known as spotted fever. This disease is transmitted exclusively by clothes lice, and occasionally by head lice.

The disease begins 1-2 weeks after the victim is bitten by the contagion-carrying louse, usually suddenly with headache and general feelings of serious illness. Red spots appear on the skin all over the body a few days later, but these symptoms are sometimes hardly visible, and can be missed easily particularly on freckled skin. If such symptoms appear, the troop physician must be informed instantly so that the patient is admitted to a hospital.

The danger of a typhus infection is best fought by preventing louse infestation of the troops. Every soldier who notices even one single louse on himself must report this fact to his unit immediately. It is the duty of every soldier to cooperate in the struggle against typhus by strict compliance with the present fact sheet. All soldiers must be aware that disciplined compliance in this regard can also contribute to ensuring the fighting effectiveness of the army.

All contact with not impeccable, dirty persons, as far as they can be recognized as such (foreign workers), must absolutely be avoided (cinemas, restaurants etc.). Lice can be transmitted already through slight contact with clothing.”

The first signs of typhus appeared in the City of Auschwitz in January 1942, as attested to by Garrison Order No. 2/42 dated January 18 (Frei et al., p. 97):

“Da in der Stadt Auschwitz Fleckfieber herrscht, verbiete ich ab sofort allen SS-Angehörigen das Betreten der Stadt Auschwitz. Dies gilt auch für die Familienangehörigen der hier wohnenden SS-Familien.”

“Since typhus is raging in the City of Auschwitz, I hereby prohibit all SS members from entering the City of Auschwitz. This also applies to members of SS families who live here.”

In Internal Decree (Hausverfügung) No. 12 dated January 20, Höss prohibited visits to the local cinema “wegen Flecktyphusgefahr” “due to the danger of typhus,”83 an order repeated in Headquarters’ Order No. 2/42 dated January 22, 1942 (Frei et al., p. 97) and Garrison Order No. 7/42 of January 23 “als Vorbeugungsmaßnahme gegen Fleckfiebererkrankungen” “as an anti-typhus prevention measure” (ibid., p. 101).

The first civilian workers entered Auschwitz with the first private companies. In 1942, civilian personnel already amounted to 800-1,000 workers (see Mattogno 2015a, pp. 56f.). These were lodged for the most part in a special camp called Community Camp (Gemeinschaftslager). It was precisely in this camp where the devastating typhus epidemic broke out that ravaged Auschwitz in various waves from July 1942 to the spring of 1943. The first cases were observed at the end of March 1942 in the men’s sector BIb of Birkenau (Czech 1974, pp. 23f.).

In the Stammlager Main Camp, inmates ill with typhus were housed at that time in Block 20. One of the registers of this Block has survived, and has been analyzed by Stanisław Kłodziński in an interesting article titled “Typhus in Auschwitz I Camp.”84 The article says that 4,167 cases of petechial typhus were registered during the period from March 12 to November 30, 1942; the number of deaths registered as caused by the disease was 323. On March 12, the number of those registered in Block 20 was 645 already, and it rose to 717 by March 30, to 867 by April 30, and to 1,162 by May 31; on June 30, the number reached 1,557; the last number mentioned, on November 30, was 4,812 patients.

This document throws new light on the origins of the typhus epidemic which broke out at Birkenau in the summer of 1942 and which even the German sources, as we shall see below, dated back to the first few days of July.

On June 9, von Bodmann, in a message which has only been partially deciphered, communicated that “im hiesigen Lager Fleckfieber herrscht” “spotted fever is raging in this camp,” and he spoke of “Quarantäne” “quarantine.”85

On June 15, the “Stand der Fleckfieber Erkrankungen” “Situation regarding Typhus Cases” was as follows: “Null Kranke positiv und 150 Verdachtsfälle.” “No confirmed cases, 150 suspected cases.” As of June 8, there had been “106 Aufnahmen, 95 geheilt entlassen und 18 Abgänge durch Tod” “106 admissions, 95 discharged as cured, and 18 losses due to death.”86. On June 22, the situation was:87

“0 Kranke positiv und 152 Verdachtsfälle (seit 14.6.42 79 Aufnahmen, 55 Geheilt entlassen und 22 Abgänge durch Tod).” 

“0 confirmed cases, 152 suspected cases (79 admissions, 55 discharged as cured and 22 losses due to death since June 14, 1942).”

On July 1, the first typhus cases occurred among the civilian workers employed by the Huta company. Upon communication from the Department of Public Health at Bielitz, the Amtskommissar ordered the immediate lockdown (Sperrung) of the Community Camp Gemeinschaftlager at Birkenau and the isolation of all patients and suspected cases:88

“Nach Mitteilung des Staatliches Gesundheitsamtes in Bielitz ist in Ihrem Gemeinschaftslager in Birkenau Fleckfieber ausgebrochen. Zur Verhütung der Verbreitung der Krankheit wird hiermit die sofortige Sperrung des Gemeinschaftslagers angeordnet. Die Kranken oder krankheitsverdächtigen Personen sind in einem gesonderten Raum abzusondern. Die angeordnete Sperrung ist an den Eingängen zum Gemeinschaftslager durch entsprechende Tafeln kenntlich zu machen. Über die Durchführung weiterer Massnahmen wird noch im Laufe des Tages Anordnung ergehen.”

“According to a communication from the Department of Public Health at Bielitz, typhus has broken out in your Community Camp at Birkenau. To prevent the spread of the disease, the Community Camp is hereby ordered sealed, effective immediately. The patients or persons suspected of having contracted typhus are to be lodged separately in a separate room. The ordered lockdown is to be proclaimed by sign-posting on appropriate boards at the entrance to the Community Camp. Further orders as to the implementation of additional measures will be issued over the course of today.”

This news aroused great excitement among the SS and already in the afternoon of the same day, July 1, the Community Camp Gemeinschaftslager was visited by the camp physician Lagerarzt SS Obersturmführer Entress, accompanied by SS Untersturmführer Ertl and two members of the Department of Public Health at Bielitz.89 On July 3, the Amtsarzt public-health officer from the staatl. Gesundheitsamt für den Kreis Bielitz Department of Public Health at Bielitz ordered the camp commandant to implement a series of measures to prevent the spread of the disease: suspension of furloughs, and prohibition against leaving the Lagerbereich area of the camp for all civilian workers; accommodation in the camp for all workers who returned to their families in the Lagerbereich area of the camp after finishing work; creation of a secure disinfestation installation (Entlausungsanlage) for civilian personnel; severe controls over the dormitories in which the three verified cases of typhus had slept: Heinrich Kocinski, Peter Stanclik and Stefan Schropa; creation within the Lagerbereich area of the camp of a section in which to isolate patients; lockdown of the Community Camp for 21 days; reopening only after general disinfestation and in absence of any further verified typhus cases.90 The source of infection – as verified by the Regierungspräsident district president of the Regierungsbezirk administrative district of Kattowitz in a report dated July 10, 1942 – were the inmates of Birkenau, with whom the civilian workers were normally in contact, and these, in turn, were spreading the contagion among the civilian population of the surrounding area:91

“Bisher sind im Kreise Bielitz insgesamt 15 Fälle von Fleckfieber unter der Bevölkerung festgestellt worden, die sämtlich auf das Konzentrationslager in Auschwitz als Infektionsquelle zurückgeführt werden müssen und zwar handelt es sich um Angehörige der 900 Mann starken Arbeiterschaft, die im Konzentrationslager im Rahmen verschiedener Bau- und Installationsfirmen eingesetzt sind. Es wurde bei dieser Gelegenheit festgestellt, dass das Lager z. Zt. von einer stärkeren Fleckfieber-Epidemie befallen ist. Der Krankenbestand betrug nach fernmündlicher Auskunft am 4. Juli 1942 187 Kranke. Seit 27. Juni 1942 erfolgte ein Krankenzugang von 115 Fällen. Da im Kreise Bielitz ausserhalb des Lagers seit längerer Zeit kein Fleckfieber vorgekommen ist, kann es keinem Zweifel unterliegen, dass die Ansteckung der 15 Arbeiter im Lager erfolgte, zumal ein enger Kontakt mit den Häftlingen auf den Baustellen unvermeidlich ist. Die Annahme, dass die Infektionsquelle im Lager zu suchen ist, wurde auch von der Lagerleitung nicht bestritten.”

“A total of 15 cases of typhus have been verified among the population of the district of Bielitz so far; all of these cases have been traced back to the concentration camp in Auschwitz as the source of infection. We are speaking of the 900 members of the workforce employed in the concentration camp by various construction and installation companies. At this time, it was ascertained that the camp is currently afflicted with a serious typhus epidemic. The number of persons infected amounted to 187, according to information received by telephone on July 4, 1942. 115 additional patients have been admitted since June 27, 1942. Since there have been no typhus cases in the district of Bielitz outside the camp for a long time, there can be no doubt that the infection of the 15 workers occurred inside the camp, since close contact with the inmates on the construction sites is inevitable. The assumption that the source of infection is to be sought inside the camp was not disputed by the camp management either.”

Since the struggle against typhus among the inmates and guard personnel fell under the authority of the SS, the Regierungspräsident district president could concern himself only with safeguarding the civilian population and the civilian workers employed at Birkenau, issuing “Sofortmassnahmen” “immediate measures” in their behalf consisting of the hospitalization of patients in civilian hospitals, the disinfestation and quarantine of their family members, as well as prevention by means of periodic disinfestation of the civilian workers and appropriate hygienic measures.

The report concludes with the following words:

“Nach Möglichkeit sollten während der Dauer der Epidemie keine Entlassungen aus dem Konzentrationslager erfolgen.

Der Generalstaatsanwalt in Kattowitz wurde von der Fleckfieber-Epidemie im Konzentrationslager Auschwitz verständigt.”

“Insofar as possible, no inmates should be released from the concentration camp for as long as the epidemic lasts.

The Attorney General in Kattowitz was notified of the typhus epidemic in the Auschwitz Concentration Camp.”

On July 3, 1942, Bischoff informed the WVHA that, by order of the SS garrison physician and the Department of Public Health at Bielitz, “due to the typhus cases that had occurred,” a Lagersperre lockdown of all construction sites of the Zentrabauleitung Central Construction Office which employed civilian workers was announced, starting the next day.92 The order came from Höss via the head of administration, SS Obersturmführer Ernst Möckel.93 On July 5, Bischoff replied that he had taken steps to execute the order; the civilian workers had been adequately housed and were awaiting “disinfestation and gassing” (“Entlausung und Vergasung”).94

Notwithstanding the immediate precautionary measures, the epidemic spread all over the camp, and in Internal Decree No. 40 (Hausverfügung Nr. 40), Bischoff communicated on July 20 the Lagersperre complete camp-lockdown order as issued by Höss:

“Auf Anordnung des Lagerkommandanten ist das ganze Lager mit sofortiger Wirkung infolge Flecktyphusgefahr gesperrt worden. Es darf daher keine SS-Angehöriger und kein Zivilangestellter der Zentralbauleitung das Lager verlassen.”

“By order of the camp commandant, the entire camp is hereby locked down, effective immediately, due to the danger of typhus. As a result, no SS members and no civilian employee of the Central Construction Office is allowed to leave the camp.”

On July 23, Bischoff informed the head of Office CV/Central Construction Inspection of the WVHA, SS Sturmbannführer Wilhelm Lenzer, as follows:95

«Unter Bezugnahme auf das hiesige Schreiben vom 3. Juli 1942 Bftgb. Nr. 10158/42/Bi/Th. teilt die Zentralbauleitung der Waffen-SS und Polizei Auschwitz mit, dass die infolge Flecktyphus verhängte Lagersperre durch Standortbefehl Nr. 19/42 vom 23. Juli 1942 nunmehr auf das ganze Lager ausgedehnt worden ist.»

“With reference to our letter of July 3, 1942, Reg. No. 10158/42/Bi/Th. the Central Construction Office of the Waffen SS and Police Auschwitz hereby informs you that the camp lockdown due to typhus as imposed by means of Garrison Order No. 19/42 of July 23, 1942 is now expanded to the entire camp.”

Garrison Order No. 19/42 of July 23, 1942 ordered the total lockdown of the camp (vollständige Lagersperre) with the following motivation (Frei et al., pp. 155f.):

“Auf Grund der im Bereich des Konzentrationslager Auschwitz wieder aufgetretenen Fleckfieberfälle wird zur Bekämpfung der Seuche Folgendes angeordnet.”

“Due to renewed cases of typhus in the area of the Auschwitz Concentration Camp, the following is mandated in order to fight the epidemic.”

This is followed by eleven general provisions, the first of which says:

“Es ist eine vollständige Lagersperre verhängt. Sämtliche innerhalb der grossen Postenkette wohnenden SS-Angehörigen dürfen den Lagerbereich nicht verlassen.”

“A complete camp lockdown has been imposed. All SS members residing inside the outer chain of guards are prohibited from leaving the camp area.”

In Point 9, the camp commandant ordered:

“Entlassung und Überstellung von Häftlingen nach anderen Lagern müssen bis zur Aufhebung der Sperre zurückgestellt werden.”

“The release or transfer of inmates to other camps must be postponed until the lockdown will have been lifted.”

The district president Regierungspräsident of Kattowitz returned to the question on July 24 by means of a letter bearing as its subject the words “Typhus cases at the Auschwitz Concentration Camp” “Fleckfiebererkrankungen im Konzentrationslager Auschwitz”:

“Die hier am 6. Juli 1942 erstmalig bekannt gewordene Fleckfieberepidemie im Konzentrationslager Auschwitz hat sich weiter ausgebreitet. Gegenüber 187 Fällen am 4. Juli 1942 wurden dem staatlichen Gesundheitsamt in Bielitz lt. fernmündlicher Auskunft als Krankenstand am 11.7.1942 = 260 und am 18.7.1942 = 287 Fleckfieberverdachtsfälle unter den Häftlingen gemeldet.”

“The typhus epidemic inside the Auschwitz Concentration Camp which became known here on July 6, 1942 has spread even further. Compared to 187 cases on July 4, 1942, the number of suspected typhus cases among the inmates as reported to the Department of Public Health in Bielitz by phone were 260 on July 11, 1942, and 287 on July 18, 1942.”

Among the soldiers, 21 had fallen ill, including an NCO of the SS’s health services. The first case was verified on June 30, the others between July 14 and 23.

“Die Erkrankten sind im Reservelazarett Kattowitz untergebracht (lt. Mitteilung von Oberstabsarzt Dr. Zander, Kattowitz).”

“The sick men were hospitalized in the Kattowitz reserve military hospital (acc. to a communication from Chief Staff Physician Dr. Zander, Kattowitz).”

The SS garrison physician had communicated that there were another 11 typhus cases among the civilian workers, bringing the total number up to 24. Two cases of infection, in the Kreise counties of Kattowitz-Land and Saybusch, were attributable to “aus dem Lager entlassene Häftlinge” “inmates released from the camp.”

Although the camp lockdown had already been proposed during a meeting held at Auschwitz on July 8, the decision was only taken on July 20, lamented the district presidentRegierungspräsident.

He proposed an “unbedingte Lagersperre” “unconditional camp lockdown” for everyone, SS, civilian workers and inmates; the prohibition against employing inmates outside the camp, especially on the construction sites of I.G. Farbenindustrie; strict quarantine for inmates, and prohibition against employing civilian workers in the area of the camp; finally, “der Einsatz eines geschulten Hygienikers” “the employment of a skilled hygienist.” A meeting between the health authorities held on July 22 had stressed “daß die Fleckfieberepidemie im Konzentrationslager Auschwitz für die Zivilbevölkerung eine große Gefahr darstellt und daher mit allen Mitteln bekämpft werden müsse” “that the typhus epidemic in the Auschwitz Concentration Camp represents a great danger to the civilian population and must therefore be fought by all means possible.”96

On August 6, the Regierungspräsident district president, in a letter to the Landrat county commissioner of Bielitz County, gave his assent to the implementation, within the area of the camp, of a quarantine affecting rund 1000 freien Zivilarbeiter approximately 1,000 free civilian workers working at Auschwitz.97 Transmitting a copy of this letter to the camp commandant and to the Central Construction Office on August 10 on behalf of the SS garrison physician Standortarzt of Auschwitz, Dr. Entress asked that this provision be implemented scrupulously.98

At the time, the physicians upon whom the greatest responsibility for the struggle against the epidemic fell were SS Garrison Physician Standortarzt von Bodmann and the Lagerarzt Camp Physician Entress. On August 17, Uhlenbrock, who had just taken over from von Bodmann, transmitted to the Auschwitz headquarters a series of proposals “zur Sicherheit der Truppe und zur Verhütung weiterer Fleckfiebererkrankungen” “on the safety of the troops and the prevention of further cases of typhus”: all troops were to be disinfested twice, at an interval of four to six days; all underwear was to be disinfested with Blausäure hydrogen cyanide before being washed; general cleaning of all military barracks twice a week; Läusekontrolle lice inspections twice a week; strict prohibition of SS members to approach inmates any closer than two meters; provisions intended to prevent contamination of vehicles; instructions for the SS and inmates working in the Effektenkammer personal-effects warehouse or in the Entwesungsanlagen disinfestation facilities where they handled dirty underwear; leave could only be granted after disinfestation of the person concerned. If these measures were respected for two weeks without any verified new cases of typhus, the camp lockdown could be lifted.99

On August 24, Bischoff ordered the disinfestation of all SS members of the Central Construction Office by soaking the skin with petroleum.100

1,000 inmates were to be transferred from Auschwitz at the beginning of September, but this could only happen “erst nach Aufhebung der Lagersperre” “after lifting of the camp lockdown,” as announced by SS Hauptsturmführer Karl Sommer, head of Department D II/1 (Häftlingseinsatz) (inmate deployment) of the WVHA, in a message dated September 4.101

A message from SS Garrison Physician Standortarzt Uhlenbrock dated September 2 refers to “weitere Mengen von Fleckfieberimpfstoff” “additional quantities of typhus vaccine,” which had been promised to his predecessor by the Hygiene Institute of the Waffen SS on August 4.102

On September 11, Bischoff asked Office C V of the WVHA for a “Sonderzuteilung von Zementbezugschein für KGL” “Special allocation of cement ration cards for the POW camp” for the following reason:103

“Um die hier herrschende Seuche raschestens eindämmen zu können, ist die sofortige Entwässerung bezw. Mel[i]oration dringest erforderlich.”

“Success in stemming the prevailing epidemic urgently requires immediate drainage or melioration.”

On September 16, 1942, the WVHA informed Auschwitz that the “Angehörigen der Hundeführerstaffel, nach Durchführung der Entlausung und Entwesung, unter Beachtung der bekannten Vorsichtmassregeln gestattet” “members of the guard-dog unit, after having been deloused and disinfested, while observing the known precautionary measures, are permitted” some thing the decoders didn’t catch.104

In Internal Decree No. 49 dated September 18, Bischoff conveyed the order, valid for the following day, to all SS NCOs and men of the Central Construction Office to assemble all underwear, uniforms and tools for disinfestation in the Entwesungskammer disinfestation chamber of Block 3a. On September 20, in the afternoon, the above-mentioned personnel was to gather before the residential barracks of the Construction Office to proceed with Körperentlausung body delousing in Block 2, where they were to receive disinfested clothing.105

Another problem was the lack of a laundry facility inside the camp. In the second half of September, the Central Construction Office had requested the company Gebrüder Poensgen A.G. of Düsseldorf-Bath for “die Großmaschinen für die sich im Bau befindliche Wäscherei,” “the large machines for the laundry facility currently under construction,” which would not have been available before the end of 1943. Höss, in requesting the company to expedite the delivery, wrote them a letter in which he described the difficulties of washing the underwear of approximately 40,000 men in regional laundry facilities, the closest of which was 40 km away. He then described the situation inside the camp:106

“Da z. Zt. im Lager verschiedenen Infektionskrankheiten wie Fleckfieber u. dgl. herrschen und aus diesem Grunde bereits von höherer Stelle eine Lagersperre verhängt werden mußte, ist gerade die Reinigung und Desinfektion der Wäsche von ausschlaggebender Bedeutung und können nur auf diese Art und Weise die Krankheiten eingedämmt werden. Die Gefahr der Übertragung dieser Krankheiten besteht nicht nur allein für die hier liegende Truppe und den hier wohnenden Familienangehörigen, sondern auch der weiteren für die Stadt Auschwitz und die dort eingesetzten Arbeiter des neu zu errichtenden Bauwerkes.”

“Since a variety of epidemic diseases, such as typhus and the like, are currently raging inside the camp, and since a camp lockdown has already been imposed by higher authorities, the cleaning and disinfection of laundry is of decisive importance, since the diseases can only be controlled in this manner. The danger of infection with these diseases exists not just for the military personnel stationed here and the family members resident here, but also for the city of Auschwitz and the workers employed in the new construction projects to be completed there.”

On October 1, the Landratcounty commissioner of Bielitz County informed Höss that on September 28 he had participated in a meeting, together with other officials, in which SS Garrison Physician Wirths had declared that it was urgently necessary to construct another barracks “zur Unterbringung der restlichen Zivilarbeiter im K.Z.” “to house the remaining civilian workers in the CC,” because it had been ascertained that “die eigentliche Gefahr der Weiterverbreitung des Fleckfiebers nur bei den Zivilarbeitern besteht”  “the real danger of the further spread of typhus exists only with regards to civilian workers.”107

On October 4, Wirths notified Office D III that the wife of SS Sturmbannführer Caesar had “an Typhus abdominalis erkrankt und vestorben”  “fallen ill with typhus and died.”108 Two days later, all non-commissioned officers were tested for lice (Läusekontrolle). On October 9, they had to report to the SS infirmary, probably for a vaccination against typhus.109

Garrison Order No. 28/42 of October 10, 1942 recalled the danger of the epidemic for the troops (Frei et al., p. 186):

“In Anbetracht der immer mehr auftretenden Infektionskrankheiten wird ab Montag, den 12. 10.1942 den Schulbetrieb geschlossen.”

“In view of increasingly common cases of infectious disease, all schools will be shut effective Monday, Oct. 12, 1942.”

Höss was absent at the time – and an intercept explains why: on October 6, he had fallen from his horse and had been hospitalized at the “SS Res. Lazarett Nikolai” “SS Reserve Infirmary Nikolai” with “Rippenbrüche” “broken ribs.”110 For this reason, the order was signed by proxy by an SS Hauptsturmführer. The latter, “um einer Ausbreitung der Typhus-Erkrankungen vorzubeugen,” “to avoid the spread of typhus cases,” issued a series of orders, the last of which read:111

“Nach Durchführung der allgemeinen Entlausung kann damit gerechnet werden, daß Fleckfiebererkrankungen durch Läusebisse nicht mehr auftreten. Da aber der Kot der Laus noch einige Zeit Fleckfieberreger enthält, die Erreger im Läusekot durch Blausäure nicht abgetötet werden, muß bei der gesamten SS-Truppe bis auf weitere Anordnung ein tägliches Abspritzen des Körpers mit einer 3%-igen Zephirollösung erfolgen.”

“Following the implementation of general delousing, it can be expected that typhus infection as the result of lice bites will cease to appear. But since lice excrement continues to contain typhus pathogens for some time, and the pathogens in lice excrement cannot be killed by hydrogen cyanide, all SS men must be subjected to daily spraying of the body with a 3% solution of Zephirol, pending further orders.”

On October 15, the SS garrison physician ordered the “Durchführung der Entlausung sämtlicher Zivilarbeiter” “Carrying out of the delousing of all civilian workers.”112 The order was also published in Internal Decree No. 61 of the same day, which announced a Entlausungsaktion der Zivilangestellten im Gemeinschaftslager delousing operation of the civilian employees in the Community Camp for Oct. 18,113 which was carried out as planned, as Bischoff reported.114

On Oct. 17, the Regierungspräsident district president of Kattowitz sent a letter to the Reichsminister des Innern Reichsminister for the Interior with the subject “Fleckfiebererkrankungen, gemeldet in der Wochennachweisung vom 4. bis 10. Oktober 1942” “Typhus cases reported in the weekly list of October 4 to 10, 1942”: two civilian workers had contracted typhus in Auschwitz Concentration Camp, in addition to whom “10 Fleckfiebererkrankungen unter den SS-Angehörigen und 686 Verdachtsfälle unter den Häftlingen” “10 typhus cases among SS members and 686 suspected cases among the inmates“ had also been verified. The conclusion was obvious: “Die Fleckfieberepidemie im Konzentrationslager Auschwitz ist also nicht erloschen.”  “The typhus epidemic in Auschwitz Concentration Camp has not, therefore, been extinguished.”115

In a letter dated October 20 addressed to the head of the Central Construction Office, the SS garrison physician complained that the civilian worker Josef Honkisz had been sent on leave to his home on October 13 without having been previously disinfested. “In Hinblick auf die ausserordentlich grosse Gefahr der Fleckfieberausbreitung gerade durch die Zivilarbeiter” “In view of the extremely high risk of spreading typhus especially through the civilian workers,” he ordered for the future not to allow them to leave the camp without having first been subjected to delousing and disinfestation (Entlausung und Entwesung).116

On October 29, 1942, Wirths reported five Jewish doctors to the WVHA Office D III, in an unspecified context: Pach Johann (51236), Golstein Horst (49249), Offmann Leo (58141), Mueller Andreas (39626) and Moscowict [Moscowitch] Leo (51250).117

On November 2, the head of Abteilung Department IIIa (labor deploymentArbeitseinsatz) informed the Central Construction Office “dass das Sperrgebiet Birkenau seit 31.10.42 durch entsprechende Warnungstafeln gekennzeichnet ist.”  “that the off-limits zone has been marked off by appropriate danger signs since Oct. 31, 1942.”118

To prevent contamination of the protected water-supply area (Wasserschutzgebiet), the camp headquarters ordered the Central Construction Office on December 31, 1942 to sign-post the off-limits areas (Sperrgebiete), i.e. the areas where the drinking-water wells were located, with special signs.119

Standortbefehl Garrison Order No. 3/43 of February 14, 1943, established the precise limits of the off-limits zone (Sperrgebiet; Frei et al., p. 221):

“Unter Bezug auf den in Standortbefehl 25/42 genannten Standortbefehl 2/43, wird dieser dahingehend geändert, dass als Sperrgebiet für die Lagersperre gemäss Einzeichnungen im Plan vom Interessengebiet des K.L. Auschwitz folgendes Gebiet bestimmt wird: Das Sperrgebiet wird dargestellt vom Interessengebiet des K.L. Au. und zwar im Norden, Westen und Osten begrenzt von der Weichsel bezw. der Sola. Die östliche Grenze wird unterbrochen durch das Gebiet der Stadt Auschwitz, verringert durch einen Zipfel, der dargestellt wird von der Straße, die unmittelbar gegenüber dem Bahnhof in das Interessengebiet einmündet und hinter das Haus SS-Stubaf. Cäsar nach links (Osten) abbiegt, in Richtung auf die Straße Auschwitz-Raisko mit Treffpunkt Lederfabrik. Das Bahnhofgelände, das Haus der Waffen-SS, sowie die Bahnhofstraße in Richtung Auschwitz dürfen ohne Passierschein nicht betreten werden. Der Aufenthalt im Bahnhof und im Haus der Waffen-SS ist verboten. Im Süden wird die Grenze gebildet von der Straße, die südlich Bor und Budy führt und einer Linie, die westwärts zur Weichsel und im Osten eine Verbindung zur Sola herstellt.”

“With reference to Garrison Order 2/43,[120] mentioned in Garrison Order 25/42, the first is hereby amended, so that the following area has been determined to fall under the off-limits zone for the camp lockdown according to annotations in the plan of the sphere of interest of Auschwitz Concentration Camp: The off-limits zone is represented by the sphere of interest of Auschwitz Concentration Camp, delimited by the Vistula and the Sola Rivers, respectively, in the north, west and east. The eastern border is interrupted by the area of the City of Auschwitz, minus a strip of land represented by the road which runs into the sphere of interest immediately opposite the railway station and turns left (east) behind the house occupied by SS Sturmbannführer Cäsar toward the Auschwitz-Raisko road, with the leather factory as the merging point. The railway-station lot, the Waffen-SS house as well as the railway road toward Auschwitz may not be entered without a pass. Layovers in the railway station and Waffen-SS house are prohibited. In the south, the border is represented by the street running south towards Bor and Budy, and a line running westwards to the Vistula River and forming a connection to the Sola River in the east.”

The end of the document makes it clear that the off-limits zone resulted from the typhus epidemic:

“Entlausungen werden im unmittelbaren Einvernehmen mit dem SS-Standortarzt durchgeführt. […] Die Anordnungen des SS-Standortarztes hinsichtlich der Entwesung der [Mitglieder des] Bereitschaft[sdienst] bei [eingehenden] Transporten sind genauestens durchzuführen”

“Delousings are carried out in immediate consultation with the SS garrison physician. […] The orders of the SS garrison physician regarding the disinfestation of all [members of] on-call duty for [incoming] transports are to be carried out with great exactitude.”

This historical context shows the inconsistency of J.-C. Pressac’s “criminal trace” relating precisely to the “Sperrgebiet,” a term that appears in a topographical drawing dated June 2, 1943 (Übersicht der Geländeaufnahmen im Interessengebiet des K.L. Auschwitz) (titled “Overview of Location Survey in the Sphere of Interest of Auschwitz Concentration Camp”). Pressac interpreted this as the area of the phantasmagorical “Bunkers” of Birkenau (Pressac 1993, p. 52 and Doc. 21), a theory which I have already refuted elsewhere (Mattogno 2019, pp. 191-193).

The fact is that, in Auschwitz documents, the term “Sperrgebiet”/off-limits zone appears only in reference to typhus epidemics.

Even the proposal for an infirmary at the “Buna” Zweiglager satellite camp (Monowitz) advocated by the SS garrison physician took account of the serious health situation at the time. The project sent to Kammler by Lolling on November 5 provided for two barracks out of six to be reserved “für Infektionskranke” “for patients suffering of infectious diseases.” In this regard, it was stated:121

“Für die Infektionsbaracken sind ebenfalls Latrinen-, Wasch- und Badeanlagen erforderlich. Um eine Verlausung der Häftlinge von vornherein zu verhüten, ist die Einrichtung einer Entwesungs- und Entlausungsanlage vordringlich notwendig.”

“There is a need for latrines, washing and bathing installations for the infectious-disease barracks. To prevent inmate lice infestation, there is an urgent need for a disinfestation and delousing installation.”

In a letter dated November 17 bearing the subject “Fleckfieber-Epidemie” “typhus epidemic,” the Landrat county commissioner of Kreis Bielitz County notified Höss that there had been no further cases of typhus at the Jawischowitz Camp. He mentioned another two cases of infection: the Polish woman Salomeja Pomietlar, wife of a civilian worker at the Auschwitz Camp, who died on November 3, and Honorata Juszczak, who fell ill on October 24, infected by her 16-year old son, who worked at a worksite of the camp and returned to her house to sleep every night. The Landrat county commissioner urged Höss “die Lagersperre striktens durchzuführen.” “to carry out most strictly the camp lockdown.” The camp commandant forwarded a copy of the letter to Bischoff, who replied on October 26: the provisions relating to the quarantine were strictly followed by the Central Construction Office; no civilian worker could leave the camp “ohne vorschriftsmäßige Desinfektion und Entlausung” “without the prescribed disinfection and delousing.” Mrs. Pomietlar (misspelled by Bischoff as Pometlak) had not been employed at the Central Construction Office, and Mrs. Juszczak’s son had been housed in the Zivilarbeitslager camp for civilian workers.122

November 26 was also the day that Wirths returned to service at Auschwitz after a leave.123 In January 1943, he was again absent from Auschwitz for an unknown reason; Lolling informed Höss and Entress of his return to the camp on Jan. 26.124

On December 4, the SS garrison physician participated in a meeting with the Landrat county commissioner of Bielitz County together with other officials. In his report to the Auschwitz headquarters, he reported:125

“Einleitend gab der Landrat einen Überblick über den Fleckfieberstand im Kreise Bielitz und wies darauf hin, daß die im Kreise aufgetretenen einzelnen Fleckfieberfälle angeblich alle auf das K.-L. zurückzuführen seien. Nach den Ermittlungen des Amtsarztes ist das Fleckfieber entweder durch Zivilarbeiter selbst verschleppt worden, die ohne Erlaubnis und unter Umgehung der Lagersperre den Lagerbereich verließen und zu ihren Angehörigen gingen, oder aber es erkrankten Angehörige von Zivilarbeitern, die in Auschwitz beschäftigt sind. Der Landrat bittet deshalb um Bericht über zur Verhütung einer Fleckfieberausbreitung getroffenen Maßnahmen.”

“First, the county commissioner provided an overview of the typhus situation in Bielitz County and pointed out that all the individual cases of typhus occurring in Bielitz County allegedly had been attributed to the concentration camp. According to investigations by the public-health officer, typhus had either been spread by civilian workers themselves, after leaving the area of the camp without permission and by circumventing the camp lockdown so as to visit their relatives, or it was relatives of civilian workers employed in Auschwitz who fell ill. The county commissioner therefore requests a report on the measures taken to prevent the spread of typhus.”

Wirths called attention to the fact that “Zivilarbeiter nur in dringendsten Fällen und nach vorherigen gründlich Entlausung und Entwesung beurlaubt werden” “civilian workers are only permitted to go on furlough after thorough delousing and disinfestation,” but the Landrat county commissioner considered these measures insufficient. He moreover noted:

“Daneben läuft die Entlausung und Entwesung der Häftlinge des K.-L. Auschwitz weiter, sodaß mit einem Erlöschen der Fleckfieberepidemie im K.-L. ebenfalls in Kürze gerechnete werden kann.”

“Apart from that, the delousing and disinfestation of the inmates of Auschwitz Concentration Camp is continuing, so that the typhus epidemic in Auschwitz Concentration Camp can be expected to get extinguished shortly.”

At the time, it was possible to use “3 große Entwesungs-, Brause- und Sauna-Anlagen” “3 large disinfestation, shower and sauna facilities,” two for the inmates and one for the troops, with a capacity of 3,000 to 4,000 men per day. With regard to the civilian workers, the following decision was made:

“1. Unterbringung der Zivilarbeiter in Gemeinschaftslagern innerhalb der Postenkette.

2. Errichtung einer Unterkunft für Quarantäne.

3. Durchführung einer 3-wöchigen Quarantäne für alle zu beurlaubenden Zivilarbeiter.”

“1. Accommodation of the civilian workers in Community Camps inside the chain of guards.

2. Construction of quarantine accommodation.

3. Implementation of a 3-week quarantine for all civilian workers to be furloughed.”

A Aktenvermerk file memo dated December 5 with the subject “Gelieferte und eingebaute Desinfektions- und Entwesungsapparate” “Disinfection and disinfestation equipment delivered and installed” lists the devices “von Berlin aus bestellt und Auschwitz zugeteilt” “ordered by Berlin and delivered to Auschwitz”:126


	Heißluftapparate bereit eingebaut:

– 1 /Stück/ für das KGL, Abschnitte I, Männerbaracke BW 5a

– 1 für das KGL, Abschnitte I, Frauenbaracke BW 5b

– 1 für “prov. Truppensauna K.G.L. Abschnitt III (in vorh. mass. Gebäude).”


	Heißluftapparate unterwegs:

– 3 Heißluftapparate für das KGL, Bauabschnitt II


	Desinfektionsapparate:

– 1 in BW 5a - KGL - Männerbaracke

– 1 in BW 5b - KGL - Frauenbaracke

– 1 in Zivilarbeiterentseuchungsbaracke BW 82.


	Ausstehend:

– 1 Heißluftapparat für die Zivilarbeiterentseuchungsbaracke BW 82

– 1 für die Italienerentlausungsbaracke

– 1 für die Truppen-Sauna Abschnitt II KGL

– 2 Desinfektionsapparate “für letzte 2 Gebäude.” 


	Hot-air systems already installed:

– 1 for POW camp, Sections I, men’s barracks BW 5a

– 1 for POW camp, Sections I, women’s barracks BW 5b

– 1 for “provisional troop sauna POW camp. Section III (in existing solid building).”


	Hot-air systems pending:

– 3 hot-air systems for the POW camp, Section II


	Disinfection devices:

– 1 in BW 5a – POW camp – men’s barracks

– 1 in BW 5b – POW camp – women’s barracks

– 1 for civilian-workers disinfection barracks BW 82.


	The following were still required:

– 1 hot-air system for the civilian-workers disinfestation barracks BW 82

– 1 for the Italians’ delousing barracks127)

– 1 for the troop sauna Section II POW camp

– 2 disinfection devices “for last two buildings.”

The typhus epidemic did not prevent releases of prisoners from Auschwitz, because on December 12 Lolling notified Wirths as follows:128

“Entlassungen dürfen nur vorgenommen werden, wenn für die Betreffenden die festgesetzte Quarantänezeit eingehalten wurde.”

“Releases may only be carried out when the required quarantine time has been observed for the persons concerned.”

One case occurred precisely during those few days. On December 15, Liebehenschel asked the commandant of Auschwitz whether the Schutzgefangene inmate in protective custody Anna Boehm, according to the order from Office D dated July 20 and communicated to Auschwitz on August 22, “nunmehr zur Entlassung gekommen ist” “is now to be released.”129

The same day, Lolling sent Wirths another message regarding the civilian workers:130

“Die Aufhebung der 3-wöchigen Quarantäne für Zivilangestellte ist nur auf dem Verhandlungswege mit dem zuständigen Amtsarzt zu erreichen. Es wird vorgeschlagen, eine gemischte Kommission einzusetzen um die Läusefreiheit der Zivilangestellten festzustellen. Dies bezieht sich nicht auf Ausländische und Zivilanwerter. Der Erfolg ist durch Ft. nach hier zu melden.”

“Lifting of the 3-week quarantine for civilian workers can only be permitted through negotiations with the responsible public-health officer. We suggest the creation of a mixed commission in order to establish that the civilian employee is free of lice. This does not relate to foreign and civilian applicants. Success is to be reported to this office by radio.”

Two days afterwards, Bischoff sent a letter to the Wehrmeldeamt Sachgebiet W Bielitz Army Records Office, Section W, stating:131

“daß in den nächsten 3 Monaten voraussichtlich noch nicht mit einer Aufhebung der Lagersperre gerechnet werden kann. Es werden wohl alle zur Verfügung stehenden Mittel eingesetzt, um die Seuche wirksam zu bekämpfen, jedoch konnten weitere Erkrankungen noch nicht vollständig unterbunden werden.”

“that a lifting of the camp lockdown can probably not be expected within the next 3 months. Although all available resources are being employed to combat the epidemic effectively, it was not yet possible to prevent further cases of infection.”

On the same day, Bischoff notified Höss that:132

“Gemäss Anordnung des SS Standortarztes soll am Samstag, dem 19.12.42, die erste Entlausung bezw. Entwesung der Zivilarbeiter durchgeführt werden.”

“By order of the SS garrison physician, the first delousing or disinfestation of the civilian workers is to be carried out on Saturday, Dec. 19, 1942.”

Judging by the above, the camp’s Entwesungsanlagen disinfestation facilities must have been operable.

This context doubtlessly also clarifies the meaning of the “Sonderaktion der Gestapo bei sämtlichen Zivilarbeitern,” “Special action of the Gestapo with all civilian workers,” which began on December 16, 1942, as mentioned in Bischoff’s letter to Kammler on December 18. Bischoff explained:133

“Infolge Verhängung der Lagersperre konnten die Zivilarbeiter seit 6 Monaten das Lager nicht mehr verlassen. Eine Beurlaubung vom 23.12.42 - 4.1.43 ist daher unumgänglich.”

“As a result of the imposed camp lockdown, the civilian workers have been unable to leave the camp for 6 months. Granting a leave of absence between Dec. 23, 1942 and Jan. 4, 1943 is therefore unavoidable.”

On the same day, Bischoff informed Kammler of this provision: a permit to civilian workers for the Christmas period could only be granted under three conditions: immediate delousing of all civilian workers, individual delousing before departure from the camp, and admission to the nearest hospital equipped with an infectious-disease ward in case of the onset of typhus during leave. All construction work was suspended from December 23, 1942 to January 4, 1943.134

In this regard, one cannot remain silent concerning John C. Zimmerman’s interpretation, contained in the article “Body Disposal at Auschwitz: The End of Holocaust Denial,”135 which amazes with its insipidity and ignorance of the historical context. In his opinion, in fact, the “Sonderaktion” “Special action” in question could have been an execution:

“It is quite possible that the camp administration sought to make an example of some of the civilian workers by executing them. This could explain why the memo is marked ‘secret’.”

When I pointed out that the text says “bei sämtlichen Zivilarbeitern” “with all civilian workers” and not “with some of the civilian workers,” which would have implied the execution of all civilian workers, Zimmerman responded pathetically that it could refer to “executions among all classes of civilian workers,”136 without explaining what these “classes” were, why the executions were carried out, and why Bischoff considered it “unumgänglich” “unavoidable” to grant the civilian workers (obviously all of them, in turn) “eine Beurlaubung.” a furlough. In reality, the “Sonderaktion der Gestapo” “Special action of the Gestapo” consisted of an interrogation of all civilian workers, which lasted four days, as shown by Bischoff’s letter to the head of Office CV of the WVHA dated December 29, 1942.137 The most-plausible motivation, as proffered by Pressac (1993, p. 63), was a protest strike due to the fact that they could not leave the camp because of the Lagersperre camp lockdown.138 On October 10, 85 Italian workers who worked at Blechhammer also went on strike (Bermani, p. 185).

This example shows the extent to which certain orthodox Holocaust historians push the misrepresentation of documents in order to serve their determination that all terms with the prefix “sonder-” always and everywhere have a criminal meaning.

In this context it is worth mentioning an intercept reported in the summary of the period from August 15 to 31, 1941, which refers to a request for RM 30,000 “for a special student action” (“Studentsonderaktion”).139 Perhaps this referred to “executions among all classes” of students?

A message dated January 13, 1943 stated that “the 18 dentists and dental technicians commanded to the division for a special action” (“die für eine Sonderaktion zur Div. kommandierten 18 Dentisten und Zahntechniker”) were to leave immediately for Stettin.140 Perhaps this referred to them being executed?

But back to Auschwitz. Notwithstanding the preventive measures taken, the epidemic did not cease. On December 28, the garrison physician notified the Central Construction Office, in a letter with the subject “Fleckfieberbekämpfung,” “Typhus control,” that the Bauarbeiter construction worker Michsel Pasterny of Ernsdorf, in Bielitz County, had “an Fleckfieber erkrankt” “fallen ill with typhus.” The information originated from the Bielitz Gesundheitsamt Public Health Department.141 On January 8, 1943, the district president Regierungspräsident of Kattowitz discusses the news in his report to the Reichsminister des Innern for the Interior (“Fleckfiebererkrankung, gemeldet in der Wochennachweisung vom 27. Dezember. bis 31 Dezember 1942.” “Typhus case reported in the weekly list of December 27 to December 31, 1942”).142 Pasterny had fallen ill on December 12 and had been hospitalized at the City Hospital Stadt-Krankenhaus of Bielitz on the 22nd. It was ascertained that

“die Ansteckungsquelle ist auf dem Baugelände des Konzentrationslager Auschwitz zu suchen, wo P. mit den Lagerinsassen in ständige Berührung kam.”

“the source of the infection was to be sought on the construction site of Auschwitz Concentration Camp, where P. came into repeated contact with the camp inmates.”

In the letter to Kammler dated January 9, 1943, Bischoff listed the hygienic installations existing at Auschwitz and Birkenau at that time:143


	
KL Auschwitz:

– 1 Heißluftapparat della ditta Topf nel BW 1 L, in funzione dall'autunno 1940;

– 1 Heißluftapparat nel BW 20 L, in funzione dall'autunno 1942;

– «In der Effektenaufbahrung (bei DAW) ist eine gemauerte Kammer für Blausäurevergasung seit Sommer 1942 in Betrieb»

– Brausebad (bagno-doccia), Heißluftapparat e Desinfektionsapparat nella Zivilarbeiterdurchschleusungsbaracke;

– 2 Saunaanlagen (impianti sauna) in costruzione per il comando;


	KGL Auschwitz (Birkenau):

– 1 Desinfektionsapparat, 1 Heißluftapparat, 1 Saunaanlage, 1 Kammer für Blausäurevergasung nel Bauabschnitt I, Männerlager (BW 5a)

– 1 Desinfektionsapparat, 1 Heißluftapparat, 1 Saunaanlage, 1 Kammer für Blausäurevergasung nel Bauabschnitt I, Frauenlager (BW 5b)

– 1 Desinfektionsapparat, 1 Saunaanlage «in vorhandenem Gebäude in Birkenau prov. für die Truppe»

– 1 Sauna, 1 Heißluftapparat, 1 Desinfektionsapparat, da costruire «per la truppa di guardia al campo di Birkenau».


	CC Auschwitz:

– 1 hot-air system from the Topf Company in BW 1 L, in operation since autumn 1940;

– 1 hot-air system in BW 20 L, in operation since autumn 1942;

– “A brick chamber for hydrocyanic-acid fumigations has been in operation in the personal-effects warehouse (at DAW) since summer 1942”;

– shower bath, hot-air system and disinfection system in the civilian worker’s transit barracks;

– 2 sauna facilities under construction for the headquarters;


	POW camp (Birkenau):

– 1 disinfection system, 1 hot-air system, 1 sauna facility, 1 chamber for hydrocyanic-acid fumigations in Construction Sector I, men’s camp (BW 5a)

– disinfection system, 1 hot-air system, 1 sauna facility, 1 chamber for hydrocyanic-acid fumigations in Construction Sector I, women’s camp (BW 5b)

– 1 disinfection system, 1 sauna facility “in an existing building in Birkenau, provisionally, for the troops”

– 1 sauna, 1 hot-air system, 1 disinfection facility, to be built “for the guard personnel at Birkenau Camp.”

In January 1943, the hot-air systems were overtaxed to the point where irreparable damage or fires occurred. On January 12, the SS garrison physician notified the Central Construction Office that the disinfestation facility at the Stammlager Main Camp, “durch die dauernd Belastung” “as a result of the constant strain,” was “so stark beschädigt, dass mit einer erfolgversprechenden und dauerhaften Reparatur nicht zu rechnen ist.” “so seriously damaged that successful long-term repair is not to be expected.”144

In a letter to Höss dated January 18, Bischoff set forth his thoughts on the “in letzter Zeit öfter entstandenen Brände in den Entseuchungsbaracken” “recent repeated fires in the disinfestation barracks”: the hot-air system in Block 1 suffered permanent damage “durch den ununterbrochenen Betrieb bei Tag und Nacht” “due to uninterrupted day-and-night operation,” and was disassembled; fires broke out “in den Männer- und Frauenentwesungsbaracken KGL,” “in the men’s and women’s disinfestation barracks of the POW camp,” that is, in BW 5a and 5b, and in the troop disinfestation facility.145 On February 2, the Hans Kori Company in Berlin sent Office C III of the WVHA a description, accompanied by a Kosten-Anschlag cost estimate, of a Heißluft-Entlausungsanlage hot-air delousing installation for CC Auschwitz.146

This context supplies an alternative explanation for the “criminal trace” of the Vergasungskeller mentioned in Bischoff’s letter to Kammler of January 29, 1943,147 proposed by myself, in the sense of an emergency Zyklon-B disinfestation chamber to be employed in case of emergency (see Mattogno 2019, pp. 52-65). Such explanation is supported by the fact that the terms “Vergasung” and “vergasen,” in all the documents in which they appear, always refer to disinfestation gassings exclusively. Here I will limit myself to the cases more directly relevant to the typhus epidemic.

The Zyklon-B fumigation chamber in BW 5a and 5b was also referred to as a “gassing room” (“Vergasungsraum”)148 or, as we have seen above, “chamber for hydocyanic-acid gassing” (“Kammer für Blausäurevergasung”). On July 22, 1942, Glücks authorized a trip to the city of Dessau and back of a 5-ton truck to pick up “Gas zur Vergasung des Lagers, zur Bekämpfung der aufgetretenen Seuche” “Gas for gassing the camp, for combatting the prevailing epidemic”149 and a Sonderbefehl Special Order of August 12, 1942, speaks of “gassings” (“Vergasungen”) in an obvious context of disinfestation.150

At the beginning of January 1943, several cases of “Fleckfiebererkrankungen im Ersatz-Polizeigefängnis” “typhus infection” were reported “in the substitute police prison” at Myslowitz, a locality approximately 5 km from Kattowitz. On January 9, the local district president Regierungspräsident asked Höss to accommodate some of the persons suspected of having contracted typhus, explaining:

“Ich verkenne weiter nicht, daß durch diese Gefangenen u. U. neue Infektionsfälle in das Lager Auschwitz eingeführt werden würden. Da andererseits der Flecktyphus im Lager Auschwitz bislang noch keineswegs erloschen ist und dort umfangreiche sanitätspolizeiliche Abwehrmaßnahmen getroffen werden sind,”

“Furthermore, I do not fail to recognize that new typhus cases would potentially be introduced into Auschwitz Camp. Since, on the other hand, typhus has thus far not at all been wiped out in the Auschwitz Camp, and because extensive preventive health and police measures are being taken there,”

he found himself compelled to make that request in order to prevent the spread of the epidemic in that densely populated industrial area.151

On January 11, 1943, Lolling decided to transfer “30 German inmate nurses” (“30 deutsche Häftlingspfleger”) from Dachau to Auschwitz.152

On January 13, Höss replied to the letter of January 9 as follows:

“Im K.L. Auschwitz treten noch immer einzelne Fleckfieberfälle auf, jedoch besteht die Fleckfieberepidemie nicht mehr. Ich halte es daher nicht für angebracht, die derzeitigen Lagerinsassen des Ersatzpolizeigefängnisses Myslowitz nach dem K.L. Auschwiz zu überstellen, weil damit die Gefahr des neuerlichen Auftretens einer Fleckfieberepidemie sehr gross würde.”

“Isolated cases of typhus are still occurring in CC Auschwitz, but the danger of a typhus epidemic no longer exists. I therefore consider it inappropriate to transfer the current inmates of the substitute police prison at Myslowitz to CC Auschwitz, because with this, the danger of a renewed typhus epidemic would grow a lot.”

A compromise was devised: the bodies of dead typhus victims were sent to Auschwitz for cremation, as reported by the Regierungspräsident district president on January 21:153

“Transport der Verstorbenen.

An Fleckfieber Verstorbene sind mit einer desinfizierenden und läusetötenden Flüssigkeit zu behalten und baldmöglichst einzusargen. Der Sarg ist sofort zu schließen und in eine besondere Halle zu überführen. Zur Einäscherung werden die Verstorbenen mit dem Leichenwagen nach Auschwitz überführt.”

“Transporting the dead.

The bodies of typhus victims are to be treated with a disinfecting and lice-killing fluid and placed in coffins as soon as possible. The coffin must be closed immediately and transferred to a special hall. The bodies are then to be transferred to Auschwitz in a hearse for cremation.”

Two days earlier, SS Sturmbannführer Kraus had presented himself before Office Group D of the WVHA to report “dass aus Gründen der Seuchenbekämpfung in Auschwitz” “that for reasons of combatting the epidemic at Auschwitz,” it had become necessary to move the TWL (Truppenwirtschaftslager, military equipment warehouse) from Auschwitz to Oderberg, some 72 km away. Liebehenschel requested confirmation from the Auschwitz headquarters. On the same day, Höss replied that he agreed.154 Typhus patients were also arriving from the outside: on January 22, Dr. Entress reported that 36 typhus cases among the Neuzugänge new arrivals had reached Auschwitz “aus den Sammelagern Zambrow und Bogusz.” “from the collection camps at Zabrow and Bogusz.”155 The last transport from Zambrów had reached Auschwitz three days earlier.

Hausverfügung Internal Decree No. 86 of January 25 drew attention to an order from the SS garrison physician according to which all SS men from the Central Construction Office who were living in the Bauleitungsunterkunftsbaracke Construction Office’s accommodation barracks were to be subjected to a “3-wöchentliche Quarantäne.” “3-week quarantine.”156

SS Hauptsturmführer Sommer informed the Buchenwald Camp that the inmate Wilhelm Hermann could not be transferred to Auschwitz because “die Dauer der Sperre ist vorerst noch nicht bekannt.” “for now, the duration of the lockdown is unknown.”157

On February 2, 1943, SS Hauptsturmführer Kother, head of the WVHA’s Hauptabteilung Main Department C/VI/2 (Betriebswirtschaft business administration), carried out an “Besichtigung der Entwesungs- und Sauna-Anlagen im KL Auschwitz” “Inspection of the disinfestation and sauna facilities at CC Auschwitz.” In the related report, SS Standartenführer Franz Eirenschmalz, head of Office C/VI of the WVHA, wrote with reference to the “disinfestation installations” (Entwesungsanlagen) that the hot-air devices (Heißluftapparate) were originally designed for fumigations with hydrogen cyanide (Blausäure-Entwesung), which requires a temperature of 30°C (86°F), but had then been used for hot-air disinfestation (Heißluftentwesung), which requires a temperature of 95°C (203°F), causing excessive wear and tear on the systems:158

“Der täglich sich steigernde Zugang von vielen Schutzhaftgefangenen bedingt nun eine erhöhte Beanspruchung der Anlagen und ist dem Verschleiß bei der ununterbrochenen Benutzung nur entgegenzutreten, wenn hierfür geeignete Lufterhitzer für Koksfeuerung zur Aufstellung kommen.

Um hier dem zu erwartenden Ausfall der Anlage zu begegnen wurden hierseits bereits gußeiserne Heißlufterhitzer für die bestehenden Entwesungsanlagen der Verwaltung in Aussicht gestellt. Nach Rückfrage bei der Lieferfirma werden diese innerhalb 3 Wochen zur Lieferung kommen, damit weiterhin die notwendige Seuchenbekämpfung durchgeführt werden kann. ???original???Gli incendi che si sono verificati sono da attribuire nella maggior parte dei casi a surriscaldamento e perciò è urgentemente necessario osservare scrupolosamente le istruzioni tecniche di funzionamento durante l'uso di tali impianti.”

“The arrival of many prisoners in protective detention every day put increasing stress on the facilities. Wearing out these facilities when used uninterruptedly can be prevented only if adequate coke-fired air heaters are installed.

To prevent the expected breakdown of the facilities, from here we have already held out the prospect to the [camp] administration for cast-iron air heaters for the existing disinfestation facilities. After inquiries with the supplying company, they will be delivered within three weeks, so that the necessary struggle against parasitic infestation can continue. The fires which have occurred are to be attributed to overheating in the great majority of cases, and it is therefore urgently necessary to scrupulously observe the technical operating instructions during the use of such facilities.”

Meanwhile, the epidemic was intensifying at Myslowitz, and on February 3, the police president Polizei-Präsident of Kattowitz requested, in turn, “die Evakuierung der Insassen des Ersatz-Polizeigefängnisses Myslowitz nach Auschwitz.” “that all inmates of the substitute police prison at Myslowitz be evacuated to Auschwitz.”159

It is not known whether Höss told the truth about the sanitary situation at Auschwitz; it is nevertheless a fact that, starting in the second or third week of February, the camp was the scene of yet another epidemic outbreak.

Garrison Order No. 2/43 of February 8 revealed the following:160

“Auf Befehl des Amtsgruppenchefs D, SS-Brigadeführer und Generalmajor der Waffen-SS Glücks ist über das K.L. Auschwitz erneut eine vollständige Lagersperre verhängt. Der mit FS übermittelte Befehl des Amtsgruppenchefs lautet u.a. wie folgt:

‘Wegen erhöhten Auftretens von Fleckfieberfällen bei SS-Angehörigen müssen die bisher genehmigten Lockerungen in der Urlaubserteilung wieder aufgehoben werden.’”

“By order of Chief of Office Group D, SS Brigadeführer and Major General of the Waffen SS Glücks, another complete camp lockdown is imposed on Auschwitz Concentration Camp. The order from the Chief of Office Group, transmitted by radio message, reads as follows, among other things:

‘Relaxations in the granting of furloughs as previously permitted must now be reversed due to the increased incidence of typhus cases among SS members.’”

On February 12, Bischoff sent Kammler a letter with the subject “Ansteigen von Fleckfiebererkrankungen” “Increased incidence of typhus cases,” which reported:161

“Infolge starken Ansteigens von Fleckfiebererkrankungen bei der Wachtruppe wurde am 9.Februar 1943 durch SS-Brigadeführer und Generalmajor der Waffen-SS Glücks die totale Lagersperre über das K.L. Auschwitz verhängt.

Im Zusammenhang damit werden seit dem 11.2.43 sämtliche Häftlinge entwest und dürfen das Lager nicht verlassen, was zur Folge hat, dass die Bauwerke, an denen vorwiegend Häftlinge eingesetzt waren, stillgelegt werden mussten.”

“As a result of the strong increase in typhus cases among the guard detail, a total camp lockdown was imposed on CC Auschwitz by SS Brigadeführer and Major General of the Waffen SS Glücks on February 9, 1943.

In connection with this, all inmates are being disinfested since Feb. 11, 1943, and are not permitted to leave the camp, which has the result that all construction projects where inmates were predominantly employed had to be shut down.”

According to a Aktenvermerk file memo also of February 12 and written by SS Unterscharführer Franz Weislav, an employee of the camp administration, an “Häftlings-Entlausung sämtlicher Kommandos” “inmate delousing of all units” had begun the day before and was still underway. The plan was to delouse the entire Kriegsgefangenenlager POW camp and the Frauenlager women’s camp in the future.162

On February 13, Bischoff wrote to the head of Office C VI with regards to the “Ansteigen von Fleckfiebererkrankungen” “increase in typhus cases,” revealing that increasingly large numbers of typhus cases were occurring among civilian workers, as a result of which the SS garrison physician had ordered “eine dreiwöchige Quarantäne.” “a 3-week quarantine.”163

On February 18, Bischoff informed Kammler164

“daß die Entwesung der Häftlinge durchgeführt und die Arbeiten am 16.II.1943 wieder aufgenommen wurden.”

“that the disinfestation of the inmates had been carried out and that the [construction] work was resumed on Feb. 16, 1943.”

On February 25, the SS garrison physician summarized the existing situation in the camp in a letter to the head of office D III of the SS WVHA as follows:165

“Wie bereits berichtet, ist, nachdem in den Monaten November und Dezember die Fleckfieberepidemie im K.L. Auschwitz praktisch erloschen war, durch die aus dem Osten eingetroffenen Transporte erneut eine Anstieg der Fleckfiebererkrankungen sowohl bei den Häftlingen des K.L. Auschwitz, als auch bei den SS-Truppenangehörigen erfolgt. Trotz der sofort erfolgten Bekämpfungsmassnahmen liess sich bis heute ein restloses Erlöschen der Fleckfiebererkrankungen nicht erreichen.”

“As previously reported, after the near-total cessation of the typhus epidemic in CC Auschwitz in the months of November and December, a renewed increase in typhus cases occurred among both inmates of the CC Auschwitz and among SS troop members due to the arrival of transports from the East. Notwithstanding the immediate implementation of control measures, a complete disappearance of typhus cases could not be achieved to this day.”

The SS garrison physician intended to take drastic measures to wipe out the epidemic once and for all, the most important of which was general disinfestation:

“Mit Ausnahme der wenigen lebenswichtigen Kommandos (Ernährungsbetriebe, landwirtschaftliche Arbeiter in der Viehversorgung und Büropersonal) wäre der gesamte Arbeitseinsatz in den grossen Lagern des K.L. Auschwitz, nämlich Stammlager, MKL und FKL- Birkenau und KGL, Bauabschnitt 2, für die Dauer von 3 Wochen zu sperren. In dieser Zeit wird zweimalige gründliche Entlausung und Entwesung dieser Lager durchgeführt, sodass nach Beendigung der 3-wöchigen Quarantänezeit von einer Verlausung des Lagers nicht mehr gesprochen werden kann und die Gefahr neuerlicher Fleckfiebererkrankungen beseitigt ist”.

“With the exception of the few groups of vital importance (food plants, agricultural workers handling livestock, and office staff), it would be necessary to suspend all working activity in the big camps at CC Auschwitz for a period of 3 weeks, that is, the Main Camp, the men’s and women’s Concentration Camp at Birkenau and the POW camp, Construction Sector 2. During this period, a thorough delousing and disinfestation of these camps is carried out twice, so that, after this 3-week quarantine period, the camp will no longer be louse-infested, and the danger of further cases of typhus is eliminated.”

From March 8 to 12, all civilian workers who worked for the Central Construction Office were subjected to disinfestation in a special barrack of the Community Camp under the supervision of the disinfector SS Rottenführer Brasch.166

On March 18, Bischoff informed Höss that the Bielitz public-health office had ordered a three-week quarantine for civilian workers staying in House No. 162, where cases of typhus had been detected.167

In the month of March, the epidemic was still not eliminated. A letter dated March 10, 1943 by the head of Office C VI to the Central Construction Office regarding “Bezahlung der an Fleckfieber erkrankten bezw. in Quarantäne stehenden Zivilarbeiter” “Payment of civilian workers infected by typhus or confined under quarantine” was forwarded by Bischoff to the offices concerned on March 20, 1943.168 This concerned 32 workers who were listed in a file memo of March 24. For the quarantine they were housed in a shack in the camp for the Italians.169

On March 20, the garrison physician presented a report on the situation in the hospital barracks at Birkenau. With a population of 45,000 inmates, it was expected that 4,500 would fall ill – 10%. In Construction Sector II, there were seven barracks for sick patients, two of which were „Ambulanzbaracken” for outpatient treatment; they could not provide beds for patients. According to Dr. Wirths’s calculations, another 23 Luftwaffenbaracken air-force-style barracks were required for bed-ridden patients.170 He also issued instructions relating to the disposal of the bodies of deceased inmates:171

“Für den Abtransport der Leichen aus dem HKB [Häftlingskrankenbau] zum Krematorium müssen 2 gedeckte Handwagen beschaffen werden, die den Transport von je 50 Leichen gestatten”

“Transporting the bodies from the inmate infirmary to the crematorium will require 2 covered hand-drawn carts permitting the transport of 50 corpses each.”

At this point another excursus is necessary. What I have stated above clearly demonstrates the arbitrary and unfounded nature of J.-C. Pressac’s interpretation of the telegram of the Central Construction Office of February 26, 1943, filed in the acts of Crematorium II, with which it requested 10 “gas testers” (“Gasprüfer”) from the Topf Company,172 which, if we follow the Topf’s reply letter of March 2, were “indicator devices for hydrogen-cyanide residues” (“Anzeigegeräte für Blausäure-Reste”).173 And this does not even take into account the gross errors it contains (“Gasprüfer” was the technical term for devices testing combustion gases for the percentage of certain combustions products such as carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide and hydrogen, while there was no such thing as “Anzeigegeräte für Blausäure-Reste.” The chemical testing kits for hydrogen-cyanide gas were called “Gasrestnachweisgerät” – detection devices for gas residues). As demonstrated elsewhere, the possible request for such detection devices for Crematorium II, where the corpses of camp inmates were brought who had died of typhus, would be explained much more reasonably in the real and documented context of the typhus epidemic raging in the camp at that time (Faurisson, pp. 95f.) rather than with the purely conjectural hypothesis of installing a homicidal gas chamber in the crematorium (see Mattogno 2004b).

Returning to the central topic of this chapter, the SS garrison physician was still struggling with typhus on April 1, 1943:174

“Die in letzter Zeit sich häufenden Fleckfieberfälle unter den Zivilarbeitern machen die Durchführung einer abermaligen gründlichsten Entlausung erforderlich.”

“The recently rising numbers of typhus cases among the civilian workers require the repeated implementation of thorough delousing.”

To this end, he issued detailed instructions for general delousing of persons, objects and dwellings.

In reply to a request from the Vorstand chairman of the board of the Reichsbahn Reich railways at Kattowitz dated March 29, 1943, to disinfest their own civilian workers “in der Entwesungsbaracke der Zivilarbeiterunterkunft Birkenau,” “in the disinfestation barracks of the civilian-workers’ accommodations at Birkenau,”175 Bischoff replied on April 9:176

“Da 1300 Zivilarbeiter täglich morgens sowie abends durch diese Baracke durchgeschleust werden und in Kürze noch weitere umfangreiche Zugänge zu erwarten sind, kann nur vorübergehend – monatlich 1 Mal – diese Entlausung stattfinden.”

“Since 1,300 civilian workers are passed through these barracks every day, morning and evening, and even greater numbers are expected to be reached in the near future, delousing as described above can only be performed temporarily, once monthly.”

The next day, Bischoff informed the SS garrison physician:177

“Die Gesamtentlausung der Zivilarbeiter, sowie die gründliche Desinfektion und Reinigung der Unterkünfte wurde durchgeführt und ist gestern beendet worden.”

“The general delousing of civilian workers, as well as the thorough disinfection and cleansing of all accommodation barracks was carried out, and was finished yesterday.”

By May 1943, the epidemic had almost disappeared, but during the month of June, it reappeared in Sector B Ib at Birkenau. The Kommandantursonderbefehl Headquarters Special Order No. 15/43 of July 7 stated that

“in den letzten Tagen sind zwei SS-Angehörige, die im Zigeunererlager und in dem Lager BIb Dienst versahen, an Fleckfieber erkrant.”

“two SS members on active duty in the gypsy camp and in Camp BIb, fell ill with typhus in the last two days.” (Frei et al., p. 302)

SS Hauptsturmführer Johann Schwarzhuber, in a letter to the Kommandantur camp’s Headquarters of July 22, 1943, filed a detailed report and requested the “Einbau einer Entlausungsanlage im Lager B II d.” “installation of a delousing facility in Camp B II d.”178 On July 25, the Lagerarzt camp physician of Camp BIa ordered the Entlausung delousing of Blocks 1, 2, 3, 8 and 9, “wegen der gehäuft auftretenden Fleckfiebererkrankungen,” “due to increased occurrences of typhus cases.”179 The next day, the SS garrison physician issued orders for the “Quarantäne für Block 1 des Lagers B I a.” “quarantine of Block 1 of Camp B I a.”180

After July 1943, the typhus epidemic died down, but the disinfestations continued.

On December 10, 1943, Dr. Wirths informed Bischoff, then head of the Bauinspektion der Waffen-SS und Polizei "Schlesien" Construction Inspection of the Waffen SS and Police Silesia, that a civilian worker had forced open the locked door of an accommodation barracks that had been fumigated, and that he had been saved from certain death from exposure to cyanide at the last moment.181

On February 22, 1944, the new head of the Central Construction Office, SS Obersturmführer Werner Jothann, requested from the Construction Inspectorate of the Waffen SS and Police Silesia 500 bales of wood shavings for a major disinfestation action that was planned for the spring (Großentlausungsaktion), which would also result in the total renewal of the mattress fillings for the civilian workers.182

* * *

The disease also spread with increasing virulence to the SS camp garrison after early October 1942. The patients were hospitalized at the Kattowitz Reserve-Lazarett (reserve infirmary), where they were registered, among other things, on a “patient sheet” (“Krankenblatt”), a module containing all the patient’s personal data, including, obviously, patient name (Krankenbezeichung), admission (Zugang) and discharge date from the hospital. Numerical registration was carried out twice, once in general (with the higher main patient-registry number, Hauptkrankenbuch Nr.), and once with a lower number of the respective ward’s patient-registration no. (Abt.-Krankenbuch Nr.). The patient’s history (Vorgeschichte), diagnosis (Aufnahmebefund) and progress of the disease (weiterer Krankheitsverlauf) appeared on the reverse of the form. Some of these forms regarding SS members at Auschwitz who fell ill with typhus have been conserved. The first refers to SS Rottenführer Michael Franzen, hospitalized on July 22 and discharged on August 11, 1942.183 This is followed by others, in chronological order:

– SS Sturmmann Hans Loboda, admitted July 24, 1942, discharged Aug. 18, 1942 (pp. 176-176a);

– Schütze Josef Armbrust, admitted Sept. 7, 1942, discharged Sept. 26, 1942 (pp. 164-164a);

– SS Sturmmann Alfred Schniederitsch, admitted Oct. 11, 1942, discharged Nov. 10, 1942 (pp. 188-188a);

– Schütze Anton Gunn, admitted Oct. 14, 1942, discharged Nov. 17, 1942 (pp. 150-150a);

– SS Rottenführer Walter Hedwig, admitted Oct. 15, 1942, discharged Nov. 10, 1942 (pp. 170-170a);

– Schütze Johann Emes, admitted Oct. 16, 1942, discharged Nov. 17, 1942 (pp. 156-156a);

– Schütze Georg Kretz, admitted Oct. 16, 1942, discharged Dec. 1, 1942 (pp. 174-174a);

– Schütze Ignatz Muschalla, admitted Oct. 20, 1942, discharged Nov. 27, 1942 (pp. 177-177a);

– SS Sturmmann Kurt Oehlke, admitted Oct. 27, 1942, discharged Nov. 20, 1942 (pp. 180-180a);

– SS Sturmmann Heinz Rohmann, admitted Oct. 30, 1942, discharged Nov. 27, 1942 (pp. 183-183a);

– SS Sturmmann Konrad Böhm, admitted Nov. 1, 1942, discharged Nov. 17, 1942 (pp. 163-163a);

– Schütze Ewald Engfer, admitted Nov. 3, 1942, discharged Nov. 20, 1942 (pp. 158-158a);

– Schütze Franz Sienschkowski, admitted Nov. 13, 1942, discharged Dec. 18, 1942 (pp. 192-192a; see Document 2a).

The messages intercepted by the British contained many references to Reserve-Lazarett Kattowitz. SS Scharführer Karl Voss was hospitalized there on September 30, 1942.184 On October 14, the SS garrison physician informed Office D III

“dass SS Sturmbannführer Dr. Joachim Caesar an Paratyphus (klinisch und bakteriologisch) erkrankt ist, und am 13.10.42 in das Res.lazarett Kattowitz eingeliefert wurde.”

“that SS Sturmbannführer Dr. Joachim Caesar has fallen ill to paratyphoid fever (clinically and bacteriologically) and was taken to military reserve hospital Kattowitz on Oct. 13, 1942.”185

Until then, there had been three other cases of this disease among SS family members, but no cases of typhus yet.186 On October 18, SS Sturmann Alfons Ballus and SS Schütze Josef Minaega were hospitalized “Wegen Fleckfieber- bezw. Typhusverdachtes” “for suspected typhus.”187 SS Sturmmann Herbert Lecker, SS Sturmmann Gerhard Mecka, SS Schütze Werner Quirin and SS Schütze Ignatz Muschalla were hospitalized on October 20,188 the latter also being mentioned in the above-quoted “Krankenblatt.”

Dr. Wirths informed Office D III of the general situation:189

“Seit 12.10.42 bei der Truppe 13 Fleckfieberverdachtsfälle, 3 Typhusverdachtsfälle in das Res.Laz. Kattowitz eingeliefert. Im Schutzhaftlager Stand der Fleckfiebererkrankungen am 19.10.42 0 Kranken Positiv, 107 Verdachtsfälle (seit 12.10.42 13 Aufnahmen, 101 Entlassungen, 4 Abgänge durch Tod).”

“13 cases of suspected typhus and 3 cases of suspected typhoid fever have been admitted to the Kattowitz military reserve hospital since Oct. 12, 1942. Situation as regards typhus cases in the protective-custody camp on Oct. 19, 1942: 0 confirmed cases, 107 suspected cases (13 admissions, 101 discharges, and 4 losses due to deaths since Oct. 12, 1942).”

SS Obersturmführer Paul Mueller was hospitalized on October 21.190 Over this period, the British observed, “further SS men at Auschwitz are typhus suspects,”191 and at the beginning of November, “typhus is spreading among the SS. guards in Auschwitz.”192

On November 9, the situation was as follows:193

“Bei der Truppe wurden seit 2.11.42 4 SS Angehörige wegen Fleckfieberverdachts in das Res. Laz. Kattowitz eingewiesen, im MKL 37 Fleckfieberverdachtsfälle (seit 2.11.42, 2 Aufnahmen, 9 Entlassungen, 1 Abgang durch Tod).”

“Among military personnel, 4 SS members have been admitted to the Kattowitz military reserve hospital for suspected typhus since Nov. 2, 1942, while there have been 37 suspected cases of typhus in the men’s camp (2 admissions, 9 discharges, 1 death since Nov. 2, 42.)”

In the second week of November, the British intercepted a message that appeared to give grounds for possible alarm:194

“Typhus is spreading from the prisoners and SS. Guard of Auschwitz to the families of SS men. Jews are being transferred from their camps ‘to the East,’ in fact to Auschwitz at Himmler’s orders. Sick prisoners are being sent ‘from all camps’ to Dachau for ‘Aktion 14F13’.”

In this regard, several messages were intercepted on October 29, 1942. On that date, SS Standartenführer Gerhard Maurer, chief of Office DII, labor deployment (Arbeitseinsatz) of the WVHA, informed the commandants of all concentration camps:195

“Ich habe die Absicht, für die Aktion 14 F 13 in DACHAU von den Stati[o]närkranken aller Lager den grössten Teil dorthin transportieren zu lassen. Ich bitte mir daher mitzuteilen, welche Zahlen dieser Art dort sofort und evtl. zu späteren Zeitpunkten aufgenommen werden können. Ich erwarte baldigst fs. Bescheid.”

“I intend to have most of the inpatients from all camps transported to Dachau for Operation 14 F 13. I would therefore ask you to inform me which numbers of this type can be accommodated there immediately and possibly later. I expect to be notified by radio message as soon as possible.”

The Buchenwald Camp contacted Dachau directly:196

“An Amtsgruppe D und KL Dachau.

Betr: Überstellung von bedingttauglichen- und Invalidenhäftlingen nach DACHAU. Der Transport mit 181 Häftlingen geht in WEIMAR am Donnerstag den 29.10.42 um 930 Uhr ab. Ankunft in Dachau voraussichtlich Freitag mittag.

Gez.: PISTER.”

“To Office Group D and CC Dachau.

Subject: Transfer of partly capable and disabled inmates to DACHAU. The transport with 181 inmates departs from WEIMAR on Thursday Oct. 29, 1942 at 9:30. Arrival at Dachau expected at noon on Friday.

sgnd.: PISTER.”

Buchenwald announced again the arrival of the 181 detainees at Dachau for Friday October 30, around noon.197

“Aktion 14f13,” as is well known, is considered to have been the euthanasia of camp inmates unable to work, and it initially had a basis in fact (see Mattogno 2016a, pp. 87-91). This practice is referred to undoubtedly in an intercept of May 12, 1942:198

“209 Häftlinge – Sonderbehandlung – wurden heute am 12.5.42 um 0600 Uhr ab Flossenbürg nach Bernburg/Saale Bahnstation Koethen ANH mittels Sammeltransport überstellt. Kuenstler.”

“209 prisoners – special treatment – were transferred today on May 12th, 1942 at 6:00 a.m. from Flossenbürg to Bernburg/Saale, train station Koethen ANH by means of collective transport. Kuenstler.”

Bernburg was in fact one of the euthanasia centers.

In a preceding message, dated April 16, 1942, which was only partially deciphered, Liebehenschel drew attention to the fact that “die Schnellbriefe und Vorgänge unter dem Aktenzeichen 14 f 13 hier in Vorlage zubringen sind,” “the express letters and procedures under file reference 14 f 13 are to be submitted here.”199

However, on June 24, 1942, Maurer himself had promulgated the order to establish in all concentration camps the category of “nicht arbeits- und nicht einsatzfähige Häftlinge” “inmates unable to work and not deployable,” and to register not only the outpatients and the inpatients, but even the disabled (Invaliden), who since then appeared regularly in reports on the strength of the Auschwitz Camp until January 16, 1945, hence only two days before the Germans evacuated the camp (see Mattogno 2016a, pp. 72-85).

Therefore, Maurer’s order of October 29, 1942, does not jibe with the claimed practice of mass murder of those unfit for labor. These murders, moreover, are said to have been perpetrated in Hartheim Castle (International Dachau Committee, p. 165), but in this case it would have been more rational to transfer the invalids to Mauthausen, which is only about 40 km away from Hartheim, while Dachau is 250 km away. Furthermore, at the beginning of 1944, inmate invalids were transferred from various concentration camps to Majdanek, for a total of 20,800 inmates, including 1,000 mental patients from Dachau (Leszczyńska, pp. 116f.), so that it may be assumed that “Aktion 14f13” no longer possessed the initial meaning.

Of course, orthodox Holocaust scholars maintain that all these cases also referred to mass killings of these invalid prisoners, but that does nothing more than highlight the total absence of any indication of the claimed mass gassing of non-registered prisoners in the intercepts: if the Reich authorities did not hesitate to keep statistics of the data relating to these mass killings and to broadcast them by radio, why should they not have done the same in relation to the mass gassing of unregistered detainees? It would have been just as easy to disguise the number of deaths of those presumably gassed, communicating it, for example, as “14 f 15” or any other abbreviation.

A couple of weeks earlier, on October 27, a message was intercepted in which Liebehenschel referred to a Fernschreiben teletype message dated 26 which said: “Der Lagerkomm. des KL. Sachsenhausen überstellt sofort die 200 an TBC erkrankten sowjetischen Kriegsgefangenen dem KL Auschwitz.” “The camp commandant of Sachsenhausen Concentration Camp transfers immediately the 200 Soviet POWs infected with TB to CC Auschwitz.”200 These inmates, from the point of view of orthodox Holocaust historiography, should have been part of “Aktion 14f13,” but then why were they transferred to Auschwitz instead of Dachau?

But if well-organized killing centers were readily available at Auschwitz, Sachsenhausen, Majdanek and elsewhere, as the orthodoxy claims, why was there any need to bother the euthanasia institutions to gas a few thousand inmates?201

But there is an even more important problem: where is the proof that the tuberculosis patients at Auschwitz were killed? In my study of Miklós Nyiszli, I summarized a document introduced into evidence by the defense at the IG-Farben Trial and referred to as the “Hoerlein Document No. 215.”202 This is a compendium of clinical files relating to ten inmates, four of them Jews, hospitalized at the Häftlingskrankenbau inmate infirmary for tuberculosis at Auschwitz. They all died there after weeks or months of treatment. The documentation includes lung x-ray photographs, clinical files with daily progress charts of the disease, and, in five cases, autopsy reports. The hospitalization times, from admission to death, of the four Jewish inmates were as follows (see Mattogno 2020a, pp. 293f.):

– July 2, 1943 – November 9, 1943 (Michael Awerbuch, no. 99214, Polish Jew);

– May 22, 1943 – February 25, 1944 (Isaak Attas, no. 115899, Greek Jew);

– July 6, 1942 – April 3, 1944 (Benjamin Beressy, no. 114941, Greek Jew);

– July 12, 1943 – January 12, 1944 (Lejzor Weinblum, no. 124262, Polish Jew).

430 cases of tuberculosis were treated between September 20, 1943 and November 1, 1944 at the hospital of the Quarantänelager Quarantine Camp BIIa at Birkenau’s (Männerlager) men’s camp.203

A letter from the SS garrison physician to the Central Construction Office of April 25, 1944 informs that Block 17 of the BIIf Hospital Camp at Birkenau served as a station for inmates suffering from tuberculosis (Tuberkulosestation).204

Things are not as simple as Holocaust historians would have us believe.

3 SS members were hospitalized at the military reserve hospital between November 17 and 23; there were 15 cases of suspected typhus in the men’s camp, and “9 Abgänge durch Tod” “9 losses due to deaths” in the women’s camp.205

On November 30, Wirths informed Office D III of the death of SS Schütze Ernst Eberle from typhus on November 28.206

11 cases of suspected typhus and 36 deaths were recorded in the men’s camp between December 1 and 8.207 On the same day, SS Obersturmführer Helmut Vetter, SS Truppenarzt troop and Lagerarzt camp physician, presented himself before Wirths complaining of “nervöse Erschöpfung” “nervous exhaustion.” The SS garrison physician was expecting a prompt recovery.208

In the meantime, hospitalizations continued at the reserve hospital. SS Schütze Mathias Lang fell ill on December 12,209 followed by SS Sturmmann Franz Straub on December 14.210

In the first week of December, “54 concentration camp prisoners died of typhus at Auschwitz,” and there were other cases of contagion among the SS guards.211

On January 4, 1943, Wirths informed Lolling that “die Lagersperre für das KL. AU. bleibt nach wie vor bestehen” “the camp lockdown at CC AU.[schwitz] remains in effect as before“ and added that “die Weihnachten befohlene Urlaubslockerungen kann unter Einhaltung sämtlicher Vorsichtsmassregeln versuchsweise weiter eingehalten werden” “the relaxation in the granting of furloughs ordered at Christmas can be kept in effect on an experimental basis if all the preventive restrictions are also kept in effect.”212 This radio message was reproduced in Garrison Order No. Standortbefehl Nr. 1/43 dated January 8, 1943, in which Höss supplied detailed instructions regarding the persons to be granted furlough (Frei et al., pp. 208f.).

Another three SS members, SS Schütze Adam Witunchek, SS Schütze Ludwig Hansek and SS Schütze Ferdinand Brauner were hospitalized at the Kattowitz Reserve Hospital on January 16,213 while another four – SS Schütze Heinrich Finker, SS Oberscharführer Otto Kaper, SS Schütze Rudolf Lempowitz and SS Unterscharführer Adolf Schindler – were hospitalized between January 4 and 22.214

Dr. Otto Schuman also fell ill with typhus on January 24 and was hospitalized in a private clinic at Bogoschitz,215 while SS Schütze Georg Schlenhadt died the next day “an Kreislaufschwäche infolge Fleckfieber” “of circulatory collapse caused by typhus.”216

The intercepts relating to this topic end here.


	1.4. The Typhus Epidemic and Zyklon-B Deliveries

In the paragraph above, I showed that the context depicted explains the “criminal traces” of the “Sperrgebiet,” the “Sonderaktion der Gestapo bei sämtlichen Zivilarbeitern” and the “Vergasungskeller.” But this supplies discerning criteria with regard to the presumed “criminal traces” which require further discussion.

Pressac writes (1993, pp. 46f.):

“It appears that Höss succeeded in concealing the real sanitary state of the camp from Himmler. But as the typhus epidemic continues its ravages in an increasingly serious way and the situation became catastrophic, the total isolation of the camp was ordered on July 23.”

Since combating the epidemic required tons of Zyklon B, Pressac explains:

“To obtain large quantities of gas quickly, only the SS WVHA could intervene. The pretext advanced by the SS at Auschwitz was that the epidemic had just broken out, when it was in full swing.

On July 22, the SS WVHA authorized the dispatch of a truck to travel directly to the Zyklon-B producer firm at Dessau to take delivery of approximately 2 to 2.5 tons of product ‘to combat the epidemic which had just broken out.’ On July 29, a second authorization was granted to take delivery at Dessau of an identical quantity of Zyklon-B ‘for camp disinfection’. On August 12, during the fumigation of a building, one person was slightly affected. […] Toward August 20, stocks of Zyklon-B were practically exhausted, and the epidemic was still raging. Renewed demand for the product would have forced the SS at Auschwitz to confess that they were still not in control of the situation. A stratagem was devised: blame the Jews for the horrifying quantities of gas employed. The transport authorization granted on August 26 was for ‘special treatment’.”

To my comment, which I have already presented elsewhere (Mattogno 2019, pp. 193-197), I wish to add a few other considerations. At the time, the bureaucratic procedure involved in obtaining Zyklon B was as follows: the SS garrison physician filed the related application with Office D III of the WVHA, which, having approved it, forwarded it to Office D IV (KL-Verwaltung) (Concentration Camp Administration); here, Department D IV/5 (Rechts- Steuer- und Vertragsangelegenheiten) (Legal, Tax and Contractual Matters) provided the financial coverage, allocating the necessary sum of money, while payment was effected by Department D IV/1 (Haushalt, Kassen und Besoldungswesen) (Budget, Funds and Wage Payments). The head of Office Group D, SS Brigadeführer Richard Glücks, or his adjutant, SS Sturmbannführer Arthur Liebehenschel, transmitted the Fahrgenehmigung travel permit to Auschwitz allowing them to travel to the manufacturer in order to pick up the Zyklon B.

Office D III, as shown by the documentation, was kept constantly informed by the SS garrison physician on the progress of the epidemic, and could not have been unaware of the real sanitary situation of the camp. This was not, as Pressac seemed to believe, a local and internal affair between the Auschwitz camp administration and Office Group D of the WVHA, but involved other external institutions: the district president Regierungspräsident of the Regierungsbezirks Kattowitz District, which regularly informed the Reichsminister for the Interior; the public-health office of Bielitz County, the Landrat county commissioner of Bielitz County, and the Amtskommissar for the city of Auschwitz.

It follows that Liebehenschel’s authorization of August 26, 1942 “für einen LKW nach Dessau zur Abholung von Material für Sonderbeh.[andlung]” “for a truck to travel to Dessau to pick up material for special treatment”217 was part of the struggle against the typhus epidemic, such as that of July 22, 1942, mentioned earlier, to collect “Gas zur Vergasung des Lagers, zur Bekämpfung der aufgetretenen Seuche” “Gas for fumigating the camp and for the prevention of the threat of epidemics” and that of July 29 “zur Abholung von Gas, daß zur Desinfizierung des Lagers dringends erforderlich ist.” “for the collection of the gas urgently needed for the disinfestation of the camp.”218

In this context, it should be kept in mind that the cost estimate for the construction project of the Birkenau Camp (Kostenüberschlag für das Bauvorhaben Kriegsgefangenenlager Auschwitz (Durchführung der Sonderbehandlung)), drawn up by Bischoff on October 29, 1942, hence during the peak of the typhus epidemic, mentions as Item No. 16a a “Disinfestation Facility 1 for Special Treatment” (“Entwesungsanlage 1. für Sonderbehandlung”) – the second disinfestation facility was “for the guard untis” – designated in the “construction description” (“Baubeschreibung”) as “Entlausungsanl.[age ],” hence a delousing facility. This was the famous Zentralsauna, the central disinfection and disinfestation facility for the inmates at Birkenau.219 Who could possibly believe that, since the Zentralsauna, designated “for special treatment” as it was (“für Sonderbehandlung”), was an extermination plant with homicidal gas chambers?

The aforementioned “cost estimate” also records the estimated costs for “Crematoria I & II” and “Crematoria III & IV” as well as for “4 morgues” (“4 Leichenhallen”) with a total area of 1,566.72 square meters, but without the designation “für Sonderbehandlung” “for special treatment,” which appears exclusively in reference to the “Entwesungsanlage.” “disinfestation facility” for inmates.220

The documentation of this construction project – “Vorhaben: Kriegsgefangenenlager Auschwitz (Durchführung der Sonderbehandlung),” “Project: Auschwitz POW Camp (implementation of special treatment)” – moreover contains the project of two Entwesungsanlagen disinfestation facilities, I and II, for Zivilarbeiterlager the Civilian Worker’s Camps I and II.221

Interpreting the authorization of August 26, 1942 based on the term “Sonderbehandlung” – understood, in turn, in an arbitrary and distorted manner – is methodically incorrect: As in the case of the term “gassing” (“Vergasung”), “special treatment” (“Sonderbehandlung”) never had a criminal meaning when appearing in Auschwitz documents (see Mattogno 2016d).


	1.5. The Typhus Epidemic and the “Ostwanderung”

At this point, it might be appropriate to raise an objection which has never been raised before, as far as I know: if a total camp lockdown had been proclaimed at Auschwitz, how could transports of non-able-bodied inmates have left the camp, according to the revisionist point of view, and been sent East?

Regardless of the fact that all the known Auschwitz documents are preselected, that is, they are documents which the Soviets and Poles wished to publicize to shore up the theory that Auschwitz was an extermination camp, it is nevertheless possible to proffer an answer.

An intercept dated October 27, 1942, not mentioned by Breitman, reproduces a message from SS Obersturmführer Sommer to the Auschwitz headquarters. On October 28, “bei Reichsminister Speer eine unaufschiebbare Besprechung” “an urgent meeting” had been held “at Reich Minister Speer’s,” in which Höss “unbedingt” “absolutely” had to participate, for which purpose he was supposed to travel to Berlin and get into touch with Hauptsturmführer Sperling, who would supply him with all the necessary information.222

This Besprechung meeting was followed by a meeting organized by Speer on September 15, whose participants, among others, were Pohl and Kammler. Point 1 concerned the “Vergrösserung Barackenlager Auschwitz infolge Ostwanderung.” “expansion of the Auschwitz Barracks Camp due to migration to the East.” The next day, Pohl drew up a report for Himmler in which he communicated Speer’s decisions:223

“Reichsminister Prof. Speer hat die Vergrösserung des Barackenlagers Auschwitz in vollem Umfang genehmigt und ein zusätzliches Bauvolumen für Auschwitz in Höhe von 13,7 Millionen Reichsmark bereitgestellt.

Dieses Bauvolumen umfasst die Aufstellung von rd. 300 Baracken mit den erforderlichen Versorgungs- und Ergänzungsanlagen.

Die notwendigen Rohstoffe werden im 4. Quartal 1942 sowie im 1., 2. und 3. Quartal 1943 zugeteilt.

Wenn dieses zusätzliche Bauprogramm durchgeführt ist, können in Auschwitz insgesamt 132.000 Mann ständig untergebracht werden.”

“Reichsminister Prof. Speer has approved the expansion of the Auschwitz Barracks Camp in its entirety, and has allocated an additional construction volume for Auschwitz in the amount in 13.7 million Reichsmarks.

This construction volume includes the erection of some 300 barracks with the necessary supply and auxiliary installations.

The necessary raw materials will be allocated in the 4th quarter of 1942 as well as in the 1st, 2nd and 3rd quarters of 1943.

When this additional construction program is completed, it will be possible to house at all times a total of 132,000 inmates.”

On September 15, Kammler, with reference to this Besprechung meeting, informed Speer as the Generalbevollmächtigten für die Regelung der Bauwirtschaft plenipotentiary for the regulation of the construction industry about “das zusätzliche Bau-Volumen für das Sonderprogramm des K.L. Auschwitz” “the additional construction volume for the special program at CC Auschwitz” with a letter bearing the subject “Sonderbauaufgaben für das K.L. Auschwitz.” “Special construction projects for CC Auschwitz.” The construction work had to be carried out mainly by the inmates, and was expected to take 50 working weeks.224

The result of the Besprechung meeting on September 15 was the redesigning of the POW camp, effected by Bischoff between October 26 and 28, 1942. This was the already-mentioned “Vorhaben: Kriegsgefangenenlager Auschwitz (Durchführung der Sonderbehandlung)” “Project: Auschwitz POW Camp (implementation of special treatment)” bearing the stamp “Zentralbauleitung der Waffen-SS u. Pol. Auschwitz O/S.” “Central Construction Office der Waffen-SS u. Pol. Auschwitz O/S.” and the initials “VIII Up a 2,” which was the Kennnummer code number for this project Bauvorhaben in Reichsminister Speer’s list of construction projects. The project was broken down into 12 points:

“1) Unterkunfts-, Effekten, Wasch-, Abort- und Wirtschaftsbaracken, Wasch- und Kommandanturgebäude, Lagerhaus, Entwesungsanlage, Drahtzaun, Krematorien u. Leichenhallen, Heiz- und Kochkessel.

2) Wasserversorgungsanlage

3) Entwässerungsanlage

4) Gleisanschluss

5) Elektr. Lichtanlage

6) Alarm- u. Telefonanlage

7) Notstromaggregate

8) Transformatorenstation

9) Bäckerei

10) Werkhalle 3 Lagerbaracken und 1 Wohnbaracke für Aufsichtspersonal

11) Entwesungsanlage I u. 4 Unterkunftsbaracken f. d. Zivilarbeiterlager I

12) Entwesungsanlage II, 2 Wasch- u. 2 Abortbaracken f. d. Zivilarbeiterlager II.”

“1) Accommodation, personal effects, washing, toilet and housekeeping barracks, laundry and garrison headquarters, warehouse, disinfestation installation, wire fence, crematoria and morgues, heating and cooking installations

2) Water-supply system

3) Drainage system

4) Rail connection

5) Electric lighting system

6) Alarm and telephone system

7) Emergency generator

8) Transformer station

9) Bakery

10) Workshop, 3 storage barracks and 1 housing block for guard personnel

11) Disinfestation Installation I and 4 accommodation barracks for Civilian Worker Camp I

12) Disinfestation Installation II, 2 washing and 2 toilet barracks for Civilian Worker Camp II.”

The total estimated cost was 13,760,000 RM,225 or 13.7 million Reichsmarks, made available by Speer. In this context, the “Durchführung der Sonderbehandlung” “implementation of special treatment” has nothing to do with the presumed extermination of the Jews. The crematoria have no importance, and the only installation explicitly related to “Sonderbehandlung” “special treatment,” as explained earlier, was the Zentralsauna.

The key to understanding the significance of such an expression is that the “Vergrösserung Barackenlager Auschwitz” “expansion of Auschwitz Barracks Camp” occurred as a “infolge Ostwanderung” “result of the migration to the East.” Pohl’s report dated September 16 explains that Speer wished to guarantee the employment of 50,000 Jews within a very short period of time, stating:226

“Die für diesen Zweck notwendigen Arbeitskräfte werden wir in erster Linie in Auschwitz aus der Ostwanderung abschöpfen, damit unsere bestehenden betrieblichen Einrichtungen durch einen dauernden Wechsel der Arbeitskräfte in ihrer Leistung und ihrem Aufbau nicht gestört werden.

Die für die Ostwanderung bestimmten arbeitsfähigen Juden werden also ihre Reise unterbrechen und Rüstungsarbeiten leisten müssen.”

“The manpower required for this purpose at Auschwitz will be derived mainly from the migration to the East, to prevent our existing operational systems from being disrupted in terms of performance and makeup by a constant turnover in the work force.

Jews fit for labor destined for the migration to the East must therefore interrupt their journey and work in the armaments industry.”

Therefore, within the framework of “Ostwanderung,” which was Deportation to the East, Jews fit for labor interrupted their journey at Auschwitz (and, in part, at Cosel), while Jews unfit for labor continued on their way, as I will explain below.

In those days, on October 29, 1942, the commandant of Buchenwald recalled the Reichsführer order relating to “der Abtransport von jüdischen Häflingen nach dem Osten” “the Deportation of Jewish inmates to the East,”227 which was exactly the “Ostwanderung.”

A “Aufzeichnung” memo dated July 20, 1942 from Referat Department D III of the German Foreign Office Auswärtiges Amt concerning the deportation of the Dutch Jews states:228

“Die Abschiebung erfolgt im allgemeinen nach Ostgebieten, die nicht zum Reich gehören.”

“The Deportation is usually directed towards eastern territories not belonging to the Reich.”

From a German point of view, however, the territory around Auschwitz, including the camp, was part of the Reich. The document continues as follows:

“Bezüglich einer etwaigen nachträglichen Einschaltung der Schutzmacht in Einzelfällen ist zu bemerken:

a) dass in den fraglichen Ostgebieten die Schutzmacht ebenso wenig wie in den Niederlanden selbst zuständig ist. […]

c) dass über Personen, die in die Ostgebiete ausgesiedelt wurden, von der Polizei grundsätzlich keinerlei Mitteilungen mehr nach aussen gegeben werden. Damit scheiden Lagerbesuche usw. von vornherein aus.”

“With reference to a possible subsequent engagement of the protective power in individual cases, the following is to be noted:

a) that the protective power has as little jurisdiction in the Eastern territories in question as in the Netherlands itself. […]

c) that in general the police do not release any information anymore to the outside about persons deported to the Eastern territories. Camp visits and so on are therefore out of the question from the outset.”

As early as November 15, 1941, Martin Luther, an official of the German Foreign Office, sent a teletype to the German embassy in Pressburg Bratislava reading:229

“Im Zuge der Abschiebung der Juden aus Deutschland sollen auch Juden anderer europäischer Staatsangehörigkeit mit erfaßt werden,”

“Jews of other European nationalities are also to be included in the Deportation of the Jews from Germany,”

stating that the destination was “die Ghettos im Osten” “the ghettoes in the East.”

A telegram from Office D III dated December 4, 1941 reported that the Slovakian government was theoretically in agreement “mit Abschiebung der Juden slowakischer Staatsangehörigkeit in die östlichen Ghettos” “with the deportation of Jews of Slovakian nationality into the Eastern ghettoes.”[229]

A circular letter of January 12, 1942 by the Höhere SS und Polizeiführer Russland-Süd Higher SS and Police Leader Russia South at the Reich Commissioner for the Ukraine, directed to the general commissioners of Brest, Shitomir, Nikolayev, Dnepropetrovsk and Kiev, states (Hoppe, Doc. 53, pp. 182f.):

“Betr.: Einrichtung von Ghettos. 

Bis zum Erlaß einer Verordnung über die Einrichtung von Ghettos bitte ich schon jetzt dafür Sorge zu tragen, daß die Vorbereitungen sofort in Angriff genommen werden. Die Einrichtungen der Ghettos sind, soweit die Möglichkeit dazu besteht, so vorzunehmen, daß im Laufe des Jahres 1942 noch Juden aus dem Altreich untergebracht werden können. Außer fest umgrenzten Ghettos kommen für die Unterbringung der Juden auch Kasernenanlagen und dergleichen in Betracht. 

Termin zur Berichterstattung [ist] der 10. Februar 1942. Jeder Gebietskommissar hat anzugeben, wo in seinem Bereich und wieviel Juden untergebracht werden können. Vordringlich sind solche Orte zu benennen, nach denen Bahnverbindungen bestehen.”

“Re: establishment of ghettoes.

Until an ordinance on the establishment of ghettoes is issued, I would ask you already now to ensure that preparations are started immediately. As far as possible, the ghettoes are to be established in such a way that Jews from the Old Reich can be accommodated already in the course of 1942. In addition to clearly demarcated ghettoes, military barracks and the like can also be considered for housing the Jews.

Reporting date [is] February 10, 1942. Each district commissioner has to indicate where in his area and how many Jews can be accommodated. Primarily such places are to be chosen which have rail connections.”

In his speech on the occasion of Kammler’s visit to Auschwitz on May 22, 1943, Höss explained the meaning of the phrase “Lösung der Judenfrage” “solution to the Jewish question” at Auschwitz as follows:230

“Dazu kam in letzter Zeit die Lösung der Judenfrage, wofür die Voraussetzung für die Unterbringung von zuerst 60.000 Häftlingen, die innerhalb kurzer Zeit auf 100.000 aufwächst, geschafft worden musste. Die Insassen der Lager sind überwiegend vorgesehen für die in der Nachbarschaft erwachsende Grossindustrie. Das Lager birgt in seinem Interessengebiet verschiedene Rüstungsbetriebe, wofür regelmässig die Arbeitskräfte zu stellen sind.”

“Recently, the solution of the Jewish question was added to this, for which the conditions had to be created for accommodating initially 60,000 inmates, which increased to 100,000 within a short time. The camp inmates are for the most part expected to end up working in the heavy industry growing in the vicinity. The camp’s sphere of interest is home to various armaments industries, for which manpower is to be made available on a regular basis.”

Therefore, “expansion of the Auschwitz Barracks Camp due to migration to the East,” “Vergrösserung Barackenlager Auschwitz infolge Ostwanderung,” “migration to the East,” “Ostwanderung,” “implementation of special treatment” “Durchführung der Sonderbehandlung” and “Lösung der Judenfrage” “solution of the Jewish question” were related concepts, and all formed part of the same milieu, in which “special treatment” “Sonderbehandlung” was synonymous with “migration to the East,” “Ostwanderung” and referred specifically to the extraction of manpower at Auschwitz from the Jewish transports and all the related operations and structures (special construction projects Sonderbauaufgaben), beginning with those for disinfection and disinfestation; this was the “Sonderprogramm des K.L. Auschwitz” “special program at CC Auschwitz.”

The “migration to the East” “Ostwanderung” was therefore synonymous with “resettlement of Jews,” “Judenaussiedlung” which explains the significance of the already-mentioned Fahrgenehmigung travel permit issued by Liebehenschel for the Auschwitz Camp on August 26 “zur Abholung von Material für Sonderbeh[andlung]” “for the collection of material for special treatment”[217] and another on issued on October 2, 1942 for another trip to Dessau “zwecks Abholung von Materialen für die Judenaussiedlung” “for the collection of materials for resettlement of Jews.”231 That the “material” is a reference to Zyklon B is certain, but the context of the typhus epidemic indicates that it was used for disinfestation.

On September 23, 1942 Pohl inspected the “disinfestation and personal-effects depot (resettlement of Jews)” (“Entwesung und Effektenkammer (Judenumsiedlung)”) at Auschwitz,232 which in another report of that trip is called “disinfestation and personal-effects depot /Operation Reinhard/” (“Entwesung -u. Effektenkammer /Aktion Reinhard/”).233 This was the complex “disinfestation and personal-effects barracks” (“Entlausungs- und Effektenbaracken”) which constituted BW 28 and was also called Kanada I.

Until March 31, 1942, plans existed for a Bauwerk 58, consisting of 4 barracks for “Sonderbehandlung” “special treatment,”234 whose function is explained in a letter from Bischoff to Office C V of the WVHA dated June 9, 1942:235

“Der Lagerkommandant des K.L. Auschwitz SS-Stubaf. Höss hat für die Sonderbehandlung der Juden die Aufstellung von 4 Pferdestallbaracken zur Unterbringung der Effekten mündlich Antrag gestellt. Es wird gebeten, dem Antrag stattzugeben, da die Angelegenheit äußerst vordringlich ist und die Effekten unbedingt unter Dach gebracht werden müssen.”

“For the special treatment of the Jews, the camp commandant of CC Auschwitz, SS Stubaf. Höss, has applied orally for the erection of 4 horse-stable barracks for the accommodation of personal effects. It is asked that the application be approved, since the matter is extremely urgent and the effects must absolutely be brought under shelter.”

These “Effekten” personal effects consisted of the “Bestände aus Judenaussiedlung” “inventory from the resettlement of Jews” mentioned in an intercept dated December 18, 1942,236 or of “Bestände der Sonderaktionen.” “inventory of the special actions.”237

For more in-depth treatment of this topic, please see other studies.238

In the months of July-September 1942, the majority of Jewish transports reaching Auschwitz carried persons unable to work, and originating from France, Belgium and the Netherlands. A report from the French embassy in Rumania to the French head of state, Pierre Laval, dated “Bucharest, June 22, 1942,” provided detailed information on the topic of “Déportation en Transnistrie de juifs de l'Europe occidentale et de Roumenie” “Deportation to Transnistria of Jews from Western Europe and Rumania” (Ancel, pp. 26f.):

“According to information supplied by Colonel Lungu, commandant of the concentration camps in Transnistria, the number of Jewish families from Western Europe sent into this region by the Germans amount to 8,600 for Holland, 11,600 for France and 7,000 for Belgium. The transport is said to have been carried out under horrifying conditions, and neither the children, nor the elderly, nor the women were spared. These Israelites were housed in ruined barracks which had previously been occupied by German troops. Their situation was the most miserable imaginable. They were not allowed to carry more than 50 kilos of baggage and 10 marks in cash.”

All these people were malnourished and compelled to work, including children 8 years old or over.

This information is also confirmed by other sources, in particular, bulletins from the Jewish Telegraphic Agency. As early as July 27, 1942, the agency announced:239

“Large-scale mass-deportations of Jews from Holland to Poland and occupied sections of Russia began this week, according to reports reaching here today. Special trains each carrying six hundred Jews are reported to be leaving Amsterdam daily for Eastern Europe.”

On October 8, 1942, a document was drawn up at Geneva titled “Report of a Jewish Refugee,” which recounted the following. The witness, a Polish Jew who lived in Brussels, was arrested on August 12, 1942 and interned in a camp at Malines; after three days, he was embarked on a train consisting of 12 freight cars, each carrying 70 persons, most of them young people. After two and half days of travelling, the train arrived at the station of Königshütte in Upper Silesia, and the deportees were able to get off the train and have a brief rest; they also received some hot soup distributed by a field kitchen displaying the Red Cross. We read there:240

“After this short rest, about half of the deportees, namely the younger boys between the age of 14 and 20, were taken away. It was said that these younger people would have to work in the coal and iron industry in Königshütte and the neighboring places. (Note: this information is in accordance with other news we have received about young Jewish boys working in Upper-Silesia.)

The others had again to enter the train where there was now a little more space and then they were again transported eastwards. The train passed through Lemberg (Lvov), a place which was known to our informer, and through Rava-Russka[ya] and the regions of the Ukraine. Our witness cannot remember how long he was en route because by then he was very tired. Finally the train stopped somewhere in Russia. The arrested men had to line up at the station and were asked whether they felt able to work. About half of them, some 150, mostly between the age of 20 and 35, said that they were able to work while the other half declared themselves unfit. The latter were taken away while the men ready to work were again loaded into the train and had to travel again for several hours.

Our witness cannot say in what region he was. The only thing he knows is that it was some remote place somewhere in Russia, and some time later he saw a road-sign bearing the inscription ‘Stalingrad - 50 km’. He also says that during his stay in this region heavy bombardments and artillery-fire could be heard 3 or 4 times a week. From all this he gathered that they must have been not very far from the battle-line.”

The deportees were housed in a barracks of Organization Todt, where they were supposed to build fortifications. After eight days, the witness became a truck driver, a task which he performed for two weeks.

This testimony is in stark contradiction to the relevant orthodox Holocaust literature. The witness, in fact, formed part of the transport which left Malines on August 15, 1942, but according to the Memorial of the Deportation of the Jews from Belgium, which follows Danuta Czech’s Auschwitz Chronicle, this transport arrived at Auschwitz on August 17: 362 inmates were registered, 638 were gassed.241 The witness stated, however, that the transport passed through Königshütte, Rava-Russkaya, Lvov (it therefore also passed within one hundred meters of the Bełżec Camp!), through the Ukraine and entered Russia, close to the front.

In the bulletin of October 6, 1942, The Jewish Telegraphic Agency published the following information under the headline “Trains with Jewish Deportees Leave Belgium for Nazi-held Ukraine”:

“A special train crowded with Jews deported from the province of Limbourg in Belgium left during the week-end for the Nazi-occupied Ukraine, according to information reaching the Belgian Government here today.

Trains crowded with deported Jews have also departed from Liege and Antwerp, the report stated. The deportees were instructed to take along food to last a fort-night. The Polish Government here today received a report stating that nine Jews were sentenced to death in the city of Piotrokow, Poland, for leaving the ghetto without permission.”

On October 30, the bulletin of the Jewish Telegraphic Agency wrote:242

“Underground information reaching the Belgian Government states that the Jews are being deported from Belgium to two destinations. Certain groups are being sent to work in the coal mines in Silesia, while others are transported to the Nazi-occupied Ukraine for hard labor there.”

The next day, it published the following news item:243

“Freight trains crowded with Jews deported from France, Holland and Belgium continue to reach the city of Jassy [Iasi], Rumania, on route to Transnistria, the Axis-occupied part of the Ukraine administered by Rumanian authorities, it was reliably reported here today from Bucharest. The trains arrive with many Jews dead from starvation as the result of travelling for several weeks without any food. The dead are removed from the cars when the trains reach Jassy, while the other victims are sent on to Transnistria. Upon reaching their destination, they are isolated in camps where, together with Jews from Bessarabia and Bukovina, they are virtually condemned to a slow death because they are not in a position to secure any food.”

The above-mentioned report from the French embassy in Romania was therefore credible as to its content, but the date could not be correct, because only three Jewish transports had departed France by June 22, 1942, carrying a total of 3,112 persons, all of whom were registered at Auschwitz. Deportation of the Jews from the Netherlands began on July 15, and from Belgium on August 4. The data supplied in the report are by contrast fully compatible with a date of September 22. Until that time, inmates unable to work or presumed gassed at Auschwitz from the transports originating in France, the Netherlands and Belgium amounted to ca. 15,600 (in the report: 11,600), ca. 6,700 (8,600) and 6,500 (ca. 7,000), respectively.

In this context, the news broadcast by Radio Moscow as reported in the April 1944 issue of the underground Hebrew newspaper Notre Voix is a confirmation of deportations of Jews to the East:244

“Thank you! A news item that will delight all Jews of France was broadcast by Radio Moscow. Which of us does not have a brother, a sister, or relatives among those deported from Paris? And who will not feel profound joy when he thinks about the fact that 8,000 Parisian Jews have been rescued from death by the glorious Red Army! One of them told Radio Moscow how he had been saved from death, and likewise 8,000 other Parisian Jews. They were all in the Ukraine when the last Soviet offensive began, and the SS bandits wanted to shoot them before they left the country. But since they knew what fate was in store for them and since they had learned that the Soviet troops were no longer far away, the deported Jews decided to escape. They were immediately welcomed by the Red Army and are presently all in the Soviet Union. The heroic Red Army has thus once again earned a claim on the gratitude of the Jewish community of France.”

Orthodox historians who have wanted to investigate what the British “knew” have always overlooked information that does not quite fit their preconceived notions. Some I have already mentioned above, but there are others as well.

On January 15, 1942, the British intercepted the following message:245

“An Hoeheren SS. und Pol.Fuhrer [sic], Russland Nord. Geheim.

Fuehrer hat angeordnet, dass juedische Zwangsarbeitertrupps beschleunigt in russischem Kampfgebiet zur Durchfuehrung wichtiger Bauarbeiten Verwendung finden. Ab 18.I.42 gehen mit Sondertransport in das der schlesischen Einsatzgruppe zugewiesene Baugebiet in Raum Duenaburg Moskau ab. Aertzliche Untersuchung und Verpflegung ist erforderlich. Die Juden tragen schwarze Arbeitskleidung mit gruenen Armbinden. Arbeitseinsatz: Reichsautobahn. Bewachung stellt Organisation Todt. Bitte zu veranlassen, dass der Bestand an der Zwangsarbeit nicht reduziert wird.

Hoeherer SS. und Pol. Fuehrer, Suedost”

“To Higher SS and Police Leader, Russia North. Secret.

Führer has ordered that groups of Jewish forced laborers can be used more quickly in the Russian combat area to carry out important construction work. From January 18, 1942, special transports will leave for the construction area in the Daugava area assigned to the Silesian task force. Medical examination and provisioning are required. The Jews wear black work clothes with green armbands. Work assignment: Reichsautobahn. Organization Todt provides security. Please arrange that the inventory of forced labor[ers] is not reduced.

Higher SS and Police Leader, Southeast”

On March 11, 1942, the British Foreign Office received a long report, drawn up on March 5, bearing the heading “Postal & Telegraphic Censorship. Report on Germany (NO.3).” The paragraph “Forced labor at the front” informs us as follows:246

“‘The ghettos are raided at regular intervals to supply forced labour on the roads and on the eastern front. The Germans do not seem to take into consideration the fact that these people are unable to work due to the fact that they are sick and emaciated from lack of food and thousands die while they toil under whips’. (7.12.41. BER/NAV/60927).

To this may be added the testimony of a J.T.A. report datelined from a ‘German frontier’ which says that, according to information disclosed by a neutral diplomat, who arrived there from Germany after a visit to Cracow and other large Polich [sic] cities, the Nazi retreat on the Soviet front is having its repercussions in the Jewish ghettos in Poland. The German authorities in Poland are now mobilising Jewish youths in ghettos and transporting them to the Soviet front to clear the snow which is impeding the Nazi troop movements. Aged Jews are also being driven to forced labour, clearing the roads and railway lines of snow, but these are working in the rear of the armies and on Polish soil only. The neutral observer estimated that approximately 20,000 Jews have been sent in labour gangs from Lublin and the surrounding townships alone. The Jewish community in the Lublin ghetto was ordered to supply within three days 2,000 sets of warm clothing for a Jewish labour gang being sent from there to Belzyce, where the German army is building fortifications. At the same time, anxious to reduce the ever-increasing sabotage against the German army in ocoupied Poland, Nazi authorities there are now placing groups of Jews and Poles on trains carrying troops and war material, in the hope that this will prevent Jewish and Polish guerillas from blowing them up.”

A memo on “The Ghettos in Nazi Poland” broadcast on June 22, 1942 by The Joint Foreign Committee of London to H. Stannard at the Offices of the War Cabinet states:247

“About 10,000 Jews from Belgium were recently driven into Lodz to join in the manufacture of uniforms for the German troops. […]

In addition to the above ways in which Jews can keep body and soul together by working there are the compulsory labour camps, 48 in all, situated all over the Eastern part of Poland. Exact numbers are not known, but private reports, hardly exaggerated, speak of nearly 100,000 Jews so placed. These Jews clear debris, build roads, drain marshes, cut timber, load and unload military supplies and generally work in very bad conditions of semi-starvation and physical neglect.”

In August 1942 a German POW named August Weilemann declared the following:

“In 1942 I was sent to a Landesschuetzen-Bataillon in the Ukraine. The Company I was posted to was a Guard Company for the Concentration Camp Kriwoy Rog. There were 80,000 people in this camp. The conditions for the prisoners were terrible. They died by the hundred through illness, starvation and cold.

In the camp there was a special section for Jews of all countries, mostly from Poland; men, women, children and babies. The treatment of them was inhuman.”

This is followed by a description of sadistic crimes committed by German guards.248

A lieutenant of the air force reported on October 27, 1943 to the British that he had been sent “in a punishment camp, which contained eight hundred Jews”; the commander was a Viennese Jew and the other Jews were also all Viennese.249

After this brief exposition on the flow of Jewish transport east of Auschwitz, I return to the original question. Strictly speaking, one cannot even say with certainty that non-able-bodied persons transferred to the East evaded the Lagersperre camp lockdown, because at the time the Jewish transports were unloaded on the so-called “alte Rampe” “old ramp,” which was located outside the Birkenau Camp at a distance of some 500 meters. After the “selection,” deportees unfit for labor entered the camp and were thus subjected to the camp lockdown, if we follow the orthodox narrative; however, it is perfectly possible that they never entered the camp in the first place but were loaded back on the train straight away and were sent to the East, or, as suggested by the statement of “one of the repatriated deportees” from the transport from Westerbork on October 9, 1942, they continued their journey east after passing through the Stammlager Main Camp. (According to that statement, a group of young women were selected for work on the ramp, while “the group of women and children and old men were loaded onto three large trucks with a trailer, and departed in the direction of Auschwitz I”; Het Nederlandsche…1952b, p. 72).

It is also possible that not only inmates fit for labor were unloaded already at Cosel – now Kędzierzyn-Koźle, a town located some 40 km west of Gleiwitz – but inmates unfit for work as well, at least in part, since some 29,000 “Jews from Poland, Czechoslovakia, France, the Netherlands, including women and children,” passed through the nearby Blechhammer Camp (Główna Komisja…, p. 225), or that unfit inmates continued on their journey without passing through Auschwitz – like the train of our Polish-Jewish witness who was deported from Malines on August 15, 1942. In fact, each and any of these procedures may have been adopted, depending on the circumstances.

The radio messages from SS Obersturmführer Heinrich Schwarz, Leiter head of Abteilung Department IIIa/Labor Deployment Arbeitseinsatz at Auschwitz, to Maurer in February and March 1943 also form part of this context. In a radio message dated February 20, 1943 with regards to the Jewish transports from Theresienstadt of January 21, 24 and 27, Schwarz reported the number of Jews selected for labor purposes (“ausgesucht zum Arbeitseinsatz”) and those “lodged separately” (“gesondert untergebracht”) and explained:250

“Die Sonderunterbringung der Männer erfolgte wegen zu grosser Gebrechlichkeit, die der Frauen, weil der grösste Teil Kinder war.”

“Special accommodation for the men was provided due to excessive weakness, while for the women because most of them were [had] children.”

Another report, dated March 8, 1943, stated (Blumental, p. 110):

“Betr.: Abtransport von jüdischen Rüstungsarb.

Am 5. und 7 März trafen folgende jüdische Häftlingstransporte ein.

Transport aus Berlin, Eingang 5.3.43, Gesamtstärke 1128 Juden. Zum Arbeitseinsatz gelangten 389 Männer (Buna) und 96 Frauen. Sonderbehandelt wurden 151 Männer u. 492 Frauen u. Kinder.

Transport aus Breslau, Eingang 5.3.43, Gesamtstärke 1405 Juden. Zum Arbeitseinsatz gelangten 406 Männer (Buna) u. 190 Frauen. Sonderbehandelt wurden 125 Männer u. 684 Frauen u. Kinder.

Transport aus Berlin, Eingang 7.3.43, Gesamtstärke 690 einschliesslich 25 Schützhäftlingen. Zum Arbeitseinsatz gelangten 153 Männer u. 25 Schützhäftlinge (Buna) und 65 Frauen. Sonderbehandelt wurden 39 Männer u. 417 Frauen u. Kinder.”

“Concerning: Deportation of Jewish armaments workers.

The following Jewish inmate transports arrived on March 5 and 7.

Transport from Berlin, arrival March 5, 1943, total number 1,128 Jews. 389 men were put to work (at the Buna Works) and 96 women. 151 men and 492 women and children were treated specially.

Transport from Breslau, arrival March 5, 1943, total number 1,405 Jews. 406 Jews and 190 women were put to work (at the Buna Works). 125 men and 684 women were treated specially.

Transport from Berlin, arrival March 7, 19.43, total number 690 including 25 inmates in protective custody. 153 men and 25 inmates in protective custody and 65 women were put to work (in the Buna Works). 39 men and 417 women and children were treated specially.”

The radio message dated March 15, 1943 reported:251

“Betrefft: Judentransporte aus Berlin. K.L.-Auschwitz meldet Judentransport aus Berlin. Eingang am 13.3.43. Gesamtstärke 964 Juden. Zum Arbeitseinsatz kamen 218 Männer u. 147 Frauen. Die Männer wurden nach Buna überstellt. Gesondert wurden 126 Männer u. 473 Frauen u. Kinder untergebracht.”

“Subject: Jewish transports from Berlin. Auschwitz Concentration Camp reports [the arrival of a] Jewish transport from Berlin. Arrival March 13, 1943. Total number 964 Jews. 218 men and 147 women put to work. The men were transferred to Buna [Monowitz]. 126 men and 473 women were lodged separately.”

Admitting for the sake of argument that the expressions “Sonderunterbringung” “special accommodation” and “Gesondert ... untergebracht” “lodged separately” were cryptonyms referring to gassings, it would nevertheless still be clear that the primary purpose of the transports was the procurement and utilization of labor, and that the presumed gassings were a secondary consequence of an inability to work.

But such a hypothesis is unfounded (see Mattogno 2016d, pp. 54-60), as confirmed by an intercept dated October 10, 1942:252

“Geheim! Persönlich SS Hauptsturmführer Aumeier.

In der nächsten Woche von Montag bis Donnerstag wird in AU eine franz[.] Baukommission Arbeitseinrichtungen besichtigen. Besichtigung des Lagers ist nicht vorgesehen. Besondere Einrichtungen des Lagers (Sonderunterbringung) sind nicht zu zeigen. Nach Möglichkeit sind auf den Aussenarbeitsstelle AU keine Fluchterschiessungen vorzuführen. Gez. Liebehenschel.”

“Secret! Confidentially: SS Hauptsturmführer Aumeier.

In the coming week, from Monday to Thursday, a French construction committee will inspect labor installations at Auschwitz. Inspecting the camp is not planned. Special camp installations (special accommodation) are not to be shown. If possible, no shootings of prisoners attempting to escape should be carried out on outside work sites of Auschwitz. Signed Liebehenschel.”

“Einrichtungen” “Installations” therefore existed, for “Sonderunterbringung,” “special accommodation,” just as “Sonderhäflinge” “special inmates” also existed who were not slated for killing, as shown by another intercept dated December 15, 1942:253

“Die Kdtr. [Kommandantur] Kl. AU., meldet zur Bewachung von Sonderhäflingen, den SS Rottenführer Mattner, geboren 4.9.02. Gez. Hoesz.”

“The headquarters CC Au[schwitz] report, for the guarding of special inmates, SS Rottenführer Mattner, born Sept. 4, 1902. Signed Hoesz.”

Already on March 11, 1942, the commandant had ordered the Central Construction Office to erect a fence around Block 12 “da hier Sonderhäftlinge (Geheime Reichssache) untergebracht werden sollen” “because special inmates are to be lodged here (Secret Reich Matter).”254

Finally, it should be kept in mind that these messages originated from the head of Department IIIa of Auschwitz and were addressed to the head of Office DII of the WVHA, both of which were responsible for Häflingseinsatz inmate deployment, whereas any communication about the number of inmates alleged gassings would have concerned the RSHA.

From an orthodox perspective, only two homicidal gassing facilities existed in Birkenau in late 1942, the two claimed “Bunkers” of Birkenau, which, moreover, were located outside the fences of the camp. Since, by definition, the alleged Jewish extermination was covered by strict secrecy, Liebehenschel’s insistence that any presumed extermination facility was not to be shown to the French construction committee should have been utterly self-evident. On the other hand, the “Sonderunterbringung” “special accommodation” was evidently an explanation of what he meant with “Einrichtungen des Lagers” “camp installations,” an expression that is difficult to attribute to the two “Bunkers.”


	1.6. The Typhus Epidemic and the Genesis of the Birkenau Crematoria

One last question that the historical context of the typhus epidemic helps to clarify is that of the origins of the crematoria at Birkenau. It is a fact that the new crematorium, the future Crematorium II, was designed for a Kriegsgefangenenlager POW camp at Birkenau initially planned to contain 120,000 Soviet POWs.255

On June 29, 1942, when “Bunker 1” was presumably already active and the inauguration of “Bunker 2” was approaching very closely (it was said to have been activated the next day), only one crematorium was being planned, always, and solely, for the Kriegsgefangenenlager POW camp, which was, by Himmler’s order, to house 150,000 POWs instead of 125,000.256 On July 1, SS Sturmbannführer Wilhelm Lenzer, head of Office C V, with reference to a Fernschreiben teletype from Bischoff dated June 23, addressed the allocation to Auschwitz of barracks “für die Unterbringung von 125000 Kriegsgefangene” “to accommodate 125,000 POWs.”257

On July 30, 1942, Bischoff compiled an “Overview of all buildings that were ordered by the SS WVHA Berlin to be built in the area of CC Auschwitz or in the service area of the Central Construction Office of the Waffen SS and Police Auschwitz during the third fiscal year of the war.”258 It contains 24 construction sites (Bauwerke) for the Auschwitz Camp, 6 for the “Landwirtschaftliche Betriebe Auschwitz” “agricultural enterprises Auschwitz,” and 30 for the “Kriegsgefangenenlager der Waffen-SS” “POW camp of the Waffen SS.” Among the projects approved by the Bevollmächtigter für den Holzbau plenipotentiary for wooden constructions, we find under Point 10 the Krematorium crematorium, without any emphasis, whose estimated expenditure represents merely approximately 3% of the total (see Document 3). This document (along with many others of the same type) eradicates the whims of those Breitman-like orthodox Holocaust historians who naively or maliciously reduce the entire Auschwitz Camp to crematoria and gas chambers, as if these were the absolutely fundamental installations around which the whole history of the camp revolved.

On August 3, Bischoff sent Lenzer “der neue Lageplan des Kriegsgefangenenlagers Auschwitz” “the new situation map of Auschwitz POW camp” according to the new, increased occupancy planned for the camp. At that time, there were only plans for one single crematorium, to which the following definitive location was attributed:259

“Außerdem wurde der Liegeplatz für das neue Krematorium anschließend an das Quarantänelager festgelegt.”

“Moreover, the location for the new crematorium was established next to the quarantine camp.”

On August 19, 1942, as I will explain below, the future Crematorium III was already under discussion, and on the 26th the decision for the construction of Crematoria IV and V was made, as shown in Bischoff’s telegram to the Topf Company stating:260

“Gebäudezeichnung für Achtmuffel-Einäscherungs-Ofen dringend erforderlich, da mit Bauarbeiten sofort begonnen werden muss.”

“Building plan for 8-muffle cremation furnace urgently required, since construction work must begin immediately.”

With a letter dated August 26, 1942, Bischoff sent Lenzer the map of Auschwitz POW Camp for “eine Belegstärke von 200.000 Mann” “a total number of prisoners of 200,000 men,”261 but the decision to expand the camp had already been made by Himmler during his visit to Auschwitz on July 17 and 18, 1942, formalized in the “Lageplan des Kriegsgefangenenlager Auschwitz” “situation map of Auschwitz POW Camp,” dated August 15, 1942, which shows four sectors, three for 60,000 inmates and one for 20,000, hence a total of 200,000, but it contains only the future Crematoria II and III (Pressac 1989, p. 203).

In August 1942, mortality at Auschwitz was extremely high, due in particular to the typhus epidemic. The British intercepted messages that said:262

“Auschwitz lost 6,889 men and 1,525 women (probably from typhus) in August; nevertheless men and women were being sent in at a rate which balanced the losses.”

The total number of casualties in August 1942 was 8,414, an average of 271 per day.

If we consider the expansion project for the Birkenau Camp to 200,000 inmates, it appears obvious that Crematoria III, IV and V were built precisely to deal with the raging typhus epidemic, and all the more so, since there is nothing to link them with the alleged extermination of the Jews, not even the very few documents invariably adduced by orthodox Holocaust historiography:

I) First, we have Bischoff’s letter to Lenzer dated October 13, 1942, in which he notes that “mit dem Neubau des Krematoriums musste noch im Juli 1942 wegen der durch die Sonderaktionen geschaffenen Lage sofort begonnen werden.” “the construction of the new crematorium had to be initiated already in July 1942 due to the situation created by the special actions.”263 The “suspicious” nature of the document obviously consists in the presence of the magic word “Sonderaktionen” “special actions,” but a criminal interpretation of the word, as I shall show below, is in contradiction with the cornerstones of orthodox Holocaust historiography. To avoid falling into this trap, Pressac was forced to provide a nonsensical explanation (Pressac 1993, p. 47):

“Cette indication confirme formellement le rôle essentiel que joua le nouveau crématoire dans la choix d'Auschwitz comme site d'anéantissement massif des Juifs. Envisagé comme instrument sanitaire normal pour un camp de prisonners de guerre, ce crématoire devint, sous les effects conjugués de la persuasion commerciale de Prüfer, de sa passion professionelle, de son génie créateur et de la cordialité des ses relations avec Bischoff, un Moloch en puissance. Cette installation d'incinération stupéfiante ne pouvait qu'être remarquée par les fonctionnaires SS de Berlin et associée ultérieurement par eux à la ‘solution finale’ du problème juif.”

“This mention formally confirms the essential role played by the crematorium in choosing Auschwitz as the site of the mass annihilation of the Jews. Designed as a normal sanitary instrument for a prisoner-of-war camp, this crematorium became, under the combined effects of Prüfer’s commercial persuasion, his creative genius and the cordiality of his relations with Bischoff, a powerful Moloch. This stupefying incineration installation had to be noticed by the SS officials in Berlin and subsequently associated by them with the ‘final solution’ to the Jewish problem.”

Leaving aside Prüfer’s presumed art of persuasion, which is simply a figment of Pressac’s without any documentary confirmation, his theory introduces another blatant contradiction: the “SS officials in Berlin,” in his words, are supposed to have noticed the (alleged) extraordinary cremation capacity of the new crematorium, which thus led to their decision to use Auschwitz as the site at which to carry out the extermination of the Jews! In order to make this work, however, he has to postpone by one year, to June 1942, the phantom extermination order allegedly given by Himmler to Höss (ibid, p. 41), but by so doing, he shatters the chain of events which, although fictitious, at least had its own internal logic: after the “first gassing” of inmates and Soviet POWs, which Pressac sets “between December 5 and the end of the month of December” 1941 (ibid, p. 34), the gassing activity was moved to the crematorium of the Main Camp and continued there for four months, until May 1942, although “very few gassings took place in this crematorium” (ibid.). It was then “decided at the end of April to transfer this type of activity to Birkenau” (ibid, p. 35) when “Bunker 1” was made operational, which happened “at the end of May 1942” (ibid, p. 39). But if Himmler communicated the Führerbefehl to Höss only in June 1942, on whose order were the gassings carried out in the crematorium and in “Bunker 1”?

Pressac does not even ask himself the question. But there is another problem.

The hand-waving expression “SS officials in Berlin” actually points to Himmler, who, therefore, is said to have selected Auschwitz as the Jewish extermination center due to the presence of a Moloch-style crematorium. In reality, however, this crematorium did not yet exist in June 1942, and the related project, as I have shown above, was linked to the Kriegsgefangenenlager POW camp. Since Himmler had ordered the expansion of this camp to accommodate 200,000 prisoners after his visit to Auschwitz on July 17-18, and only one single crematorium was still planned for this expanded camp on August 3, it follows that this crematorium, according to Pressac’s theory, would have been intended at the same time for the extermination of the Jews and for the expected natural mortality among 200,000 Soviet POWs!

Nor does Pressac explain the relationship between the “Neubau des Krematoriums” “construction of the new crematorium” and the “Sonderaktionen” “special actions”: if this term is interpreted as referring to gassings, the sense of the document is that, because of the situation created by the gassings in “Bunker 1,” it was necessary to begin immediately with the construction of the future Crematorium II. The construction work, as I have noted above, began on June 2, 1942, yet according to orthodox Holocaust historiography, the cremation of the presumed Bunker-1 gassing victims buried in mass graves was decided by Himmler only during his visit on July 17 and 18. Shortly afterwards, SS Standartenführer Paul Blobel brought Höss the Reichsführer’s exhumation-cremation order, and “as early as September 1942, unearthing of the mass graves at Birkenau commenced” (Piper 1994, p. 163). On September 16, Höss is said to have visited Chełmno to study Blobel’s experimental cremation technique, and the systematic cremation in trenches outdoors is said to have begun only after his return, according to D. Czech on September 21 (1990, p. 242). But if the cremation decision was taken in July, it is clear that the “Neubau des Krematoriums” “construction of the new crematorium” notwithstanding the “Sonderaktionen” “special actions,” could not refer to the victims of the presumed gassings in “Bunker 1,” but, rather, to deceased inmates registered in the camp.

II) In a file memo of August 21, 1942, SS Untersturmführer Fritz Ertl mentions a visit to Auschwitz by the Topf engineer Kurt Prüfer two days earlier and relates the following about the relative discussions:264

“2.) Bezüglich Aufstellung von je 2 Dreimuffelöfen bei den ‘Badeanstalten für Sonderaktionen’ wurde von Ing. Prüfer vorgeschlagen, die Öfen aus einer bereits fertiggestellten Lieferung nach Mogilew abzuzweigen und wurde sogleich der Dienststellenleiter welcher beim SS-Wirtschafts-Verwaltungshauptamt in Berlin anwesend war, hiervon tel. in Kenntnis gesetzt und gebeten, das weitere veranlassen zu wollen.

3.) Bezüglich Errichtung eines 2. Krematoriums mit 5 Dreimuffelöfen, sowie Be- und Entlüftungsanlagen muß erst das Ergebnis der bereits laufenden Verhandlungen mit dem Reichssicherheitshauptamt bezügl. Zuteilung von Kontingenten abgewarten werden.”

“2) Regarding the installation of 2 three-muffle furnaces each at the ‘bathing facilities for special actions’ it was proposed by engineer Prüfer that the furnaces be diverted from an already completed shipment to Mogilev [in White Russia], and the administrative director, who was at the SS Main Office of Economic Administration in Berlin, was immediately informed of this by telephone and asked to make further arrangements.

3) Concerning the erection of a 2nd crematorium with 5 triple-muffle furnaces as well as aeration and de-aeration installations, results of the negotiations on assignment of materials, already under way with Reichssicherheitshauptamt (RSHA), must first be waited for.”

I repeat and re-emphasize what I have explained in other studies.265 The current interpretation of the Auschwitz Museum is as follows:

“During the discussion it was decided to build a second crematorium based on the system of five three-retort furnaces (the future crematorium III) and the installing of crematorium furnaces next to bunkers I and II. They are defined in this document as ‘bathhouses for special operations’ (Badeanstalten für Sonderaktionen). The decision to build new furnaces adjacent to the bunkers was revised several weeks later, and it was determined that the equipment for burning corpses would be placed in newly designed facilities (later crematoria IV and V).” (Bartosik et al., p. 70)

Any analysis of the aforementioned document cannot ignore the following indisputable facts:

1. The documentation of the Central Construction Office of Auschwitz does not contain the slightest trace hinting at the existence of the alleged gassing “bunkers.”

2. In August 1942, no construction site named “bathing facilities for special actions” existed (“Badeanstalten für Sonderaktionen”); none of the object built or under construction had any connection with these “bathing facilities,” although, for this month, we know exactly all the construction sites existing in Birkenau, when their construction was ordered, when construction began, what their ID number and name was, to what they were completed, and where they were located. This information is mainly contained in the “Construction deadline schedule 1942. Reporting month of August” (“Baufristenplan 1942. Berichtsmonat August”)266 and in the plan of Birkenau dated August 15, 1942.267 It goes without saying that the phantom “bunkers” of Birkenau are not mentioned in any of these documents either.

3. On August 14, 1942, the Central Construction Office issued Plan 1678 of Crematoria IV/V (reproduced in Pressac 1989, p. 393).

Ertl’s file memo contains a handwritten note by Bischoff saying:268

“24.8.42 tel. Herrn Prüfer Bescheid gegeben, daß 2 Stück 8 Muffelöfen aus Lieferung Mogilew abgezweigt werden können. Herr Prüfer teilte mit, daß ihm dies SS-Stubaf. Lenzer bereits mitgeteilt habe.”

“On Aug. 24, 1942, informed Herr Prüfer by phone that 2 pieces 8-muffle furnaces can be diverted from shipment to Mogilev. Herr Prüfer stated that he had been told so already by SS Stubaf. Lenzer.”

Hence, if Prüfer had proposed to divert two 8-muffle-furnaces from the Mogilev shipment for the “bathing facilities for special actions,” a proposal that was accepted within a few days, and if already on August 14 a plan of the Crematorium IV/V provided for the installation of a furnace with 8 muffles, the most logical thing269 is that “bathing facilities for special actions” was referring to the future Crematoria IV and V, which were equipped with these kinds of furnaces. As I have shown elsewhere, “water installations” (“Wasserinstallations”) were indeed installed in these crematoria, which were undoubtedly two shower systems operating with water heated by stoves, for example by means of a heating coil inside them. This means that these buildings were sanitary rather than extermination facilities (Mattogno 2019, pp. 158-162). In this context, “special actions” referred to the activities involved in receiving and accommodating incoming transports of deported Jews.

The orthodox Holocaust thesis contains yet another nonsensical inconsistency. In the orthodox perspective as represented by Pressac, when “the construction of the four Birkenau crematoria was finally fixed” on August 19, these facilities were “planned at the time without homicidal gas chambers” (Pressac 1993, p. 53). This means that the SS assigned two “powerful Moloch” crematoria (II and III) plus two slightly smaller ones (IV and V) with a total of 46 cremation muffles for the expected “natural” mortality of the camp, yet originally only “2 three-muffle furnaces each at the [two] ‘bathing facilities for special actions’” [= bunkers], hence a total of 12 muffles, for the extermination of the Jews, if we were to follow the orthodox logic!

But that’s still not the end of absurdities: If the construction of the new crematorium had to be started immediately because of the situation created by the “special actions,” that is, according to the orthodox interpretation, due to mass killings, these mass killings should have been moved to the new crematoria right from the start of their conception. Yet instead they were designed as simple hygienic-sanitary facilities!

Subsequently, the project to expand the POW camp to a capacity of 200,000 inmates was drastically and realistically downsized. The plan of September 22 already considered the reduction, as it envisaged an occupancy of 140,000 inmates (Pressac 1989, p. 209). Plan No. 1776 of October 6 reflects the same projected occupancy (20,000 inmates in Construction Sector I, 60,000 in Construction Sector II, and another 60,000 in Construction Sector III), but it also contains the warehouse area (Effektenlager) with the Zentralsauna and Crematoria IV and V.270

This downsizing of the planned inmate population did not mean that the four crematoria were disproportionate to it. A letter from Bischoff to the construction office of the Stutthof Camp near Danzig unequivocally clarifies that a crematorium with five 3-muffle furnaces (Crematorium II/III) served 30,000 inmates,271 so that the muffle/prisoner ratio was 1:2,000, meaning that the 140,000 anticipated inmates at the Auschwitz POW Camp would have required 70 muffles rather than the 46 present actually installed in the four crematoria.

This shows to what degree the new Birkenau crematorium was a “powerful Moloch”!

III) On September 17, 1942, SS Untersturmführer Walter Dejaco drew up a “Reisebericht über die Dienstfahrt nach Litzmannstadt” “Travel report on the business trip to Litzmannstadt” relating to a visit to a “special facility” (“Sonderanlage”) which he, Höss and SS Untersturmführer Franz Hössler had undertaken the day before. The related “Fahrgenehmigung” “travel permit,” issued by Glücks the day before, indicated as the reason for the trip “Besichtigung der Versuchstation für Feldöfen Aktion Reinhard” “inspecting the test station for field incinerators Aktion Reinhard.”272 The message was intercepted by the British and deciphered correctly (some slight discrepancies from the original are in parentheses):273

“Betr. Fahrgenehmigung. Bezu: dort. Antrag vom 14.9.42. (Dort. Antrag v. 14.9.42).

Fahrgenehmigung (Fahrgen.) für einen Pkw. (PKW.) von Au. nach Litzmannstadt und zurück, zwecks Besichtigung der Versuchstation für Feldöfen Aktion ‘Reinhard’ wird hiermit für den 16.9.42 erteilt… remainder missed.

[continuation of the original:]

Die Fahrgen. ist dem Kraftfahrer mitzugeben.

Der Chef der Amtsgr. D gez. Glücks SS-Brigadef. u. Generalmajor der Waffen-SS, Leiter der Dienstst. im Range eines Generalleutnants der Waffen-SS.

F.d.R. gez. Selle, Funkenstellenleiter”

Translation of the original:

“Re: Travel permit. Ref.: Your application of 14.9.42.

Travel permit for car from Auschwitz to Litzmannstadt and back, for the purpose of inspecting the test station for field incinerators Aktion ‘Reinhard’ is hereby granted for 16.9.42. The travel permit is to be given to the driver to take with him.

Head of Office Group D

signed Glücks

SS Brigadef. and Major General in the Waffen SS

Chief of the agency with the rank of a lieutenant general of the Waffen SS

Certified true copy, signed Selle, chief of radio station.”

This is followed by the signature of the Adjutant to Auschwitz KommandanturHeadquarters, SS Hauptsturmführer Robert Mulka. As I have explained elsewhere,274 Chełmno (or Kulmhof) is nowhere mentioned, and the visit in question had nothing to do with the cremation of bodies. Interestingly, the British misinterpreted the term Feldöfen (field incinerators/furnaces) as field kitchens.

The orthodox interpretation of these documents is nonsense, as shown by three very simple facts:

1. The “Fahrgenehmigung” “travel permit” was only valid “von Au.[schwitz] nach Litzmannstadt und zurück,” “from Auschwitz to Litzmannstadt and back.” Chełmno is approximately 60 km away from Litzmannstadt (Łódź).

2. The question of cremation at Auschwitz was discussed during engineer Kurt Prüfer’s visit to Auschwitz less than a month earlier, on August 18, and was resolved during the following days. Only a lunatic would have turned to Blobel to solve the problem of open-air cremations, who had no qualifications and no experience in this field whatsoever, when at the same time the Auschwitz camp authorities were in close contacts with the company manufacturing the largest cremation installations in Germany, as well as with one of the most experienced and qualified engineers in this field.

3. Although Höss had presumably visited the “Feldöfen” “field incinerators” for the cremation of bodies, and, as stated in the “Reisebericht” “travel report,” the relative “Baumaterialen” “construction material” ordered by Blobel from the Ostdeutsche Baustoffwerke Company at Posen (which did not build cremation furnaces) were to be delivered to Auschwitz “immediately,” Höss later claimed that he carried out the outdoor cremation of bodies upon his return to the camp as follows:

“zuerst auf einem Holzstoß mit ca. 2000 Leichen, nachher in den Gruben mit den wieder freigelegten Leichen aus der früheren Zeit.” (Broszat 1981, p. 161)

“at first on wood pyres bearing some 2,000 corpses, and later in pits together with bodies previously buried.” (Höss 1959, p. 210)

Hence, no trace of the use of any constructed “field incinerators.”

In conclusion, the context of the typhus epidemic is clearly indispensable for any understanding of the origins of the crematoria at Birkenau.


	1.7. General Information on Auschwitz Camp

Several intercepts deal with the most varied aspects of life in the camp; these intercepts provide information which was previously unknown or which clarifies or supplements aspects already known. My discussion of them here is based upon the topics referred to.


	1.7.1. Jews, Jewish Transports and Inmate Transfers

On May 3, 1942 Liebehenschel sent Höss the following message:275

“Geheim! betr. Einlieferung von Juden. Wie das RSHA telegr. mitteilt[,] ist es aus innenpolitischen Gründen zur Zeit nicht möglich[,] die für den 3. und 4.6.42 vorgesehene Abschiebung von je 1000 arbeitsfähigen Juden nach Au durchzuführen. Es wurde jedoch zugesagt, diese beiden und die übrigen 5 für das dort. Lager bestimmte Transporte noch im Juni abzuwickeln. Zu gegebener Zeit werden die neuen Termine bekannt gegeben.”

“Secret! Ref.: Internment of Jews. As communicated by the RSHA by telegraph, for domestic political reasons, it is currently impossible to carry out as scheduled for July 3 and 4, 1942 the deportation of 1,000 Jews fit for labor to Auschwitz. It was nevertheless assured to process both these two transports and the other 5 scheduled for your camp already in June. The new dates will be announced in due course.”

The message most likely referred to the deportation of Jews from Slovakia. On May 11, SS Hauptsturmführer Dieter Wisliceny, Eichmann’s representative in Slovakia, wrote as follows to the Slovakian minister for domestic affairs (Riešenie židovskiej…, pp. 108f.):

“Wie mir das Reichssicherheitshauptamt Berlin am 9.5.1942 telegraphisch mitteilte, besteht die Möglichkeit, die Abschiebungsaktion der Juden aus der Slowakei zu beschleunigen, indem noch zusätzlich Transporte nach Auschwitz gesandt werden können. Diese Transporte dürfen aber nur arbeitsfähige Juden und Jüdinnen enthalten, keine Kinder. Es wäre dann möglich, die Abtransportquote um 5 Züge per Monat zu erhöhen” (corsivo nell'originale).

“As the Reichssicherheitshauptamt Berlin notified me by telegraph on 9.5.1942, the possibility exists to accelerate the deportation of the Jews from Slovakia by sending additional transports to Auschwitz. However, the transports may only carry Jews and Jewesses fit for labor, no children. It would then be possible to increase the transport quota by 5 trains per month.” (Emphasis in the original.)

But this project was never realized.

On June 17, the British almost-completely deciphered an enigmatic teletype from Liebehenschel:276

“Betr. Arbeitseinsatz von Juden aus der Slowakei. Bezug. hies. Fs. vom 16.6.42 1341 Uhr. Im Nachgang dem obenangezogenen Funkspruch teile ich mit, daß mit der Abwicklung von wöchentlich einem Judentransport aus der Slowakei nach dort nicht wie vorgesehen am 17.6.42 sondern am 16.6.42 begonnen wird. Die Transporte werden bis auf Weiteres jeweils am Freitag .. der Woche am Grenzbahnhof Zwardon eintreffen wo die Übernahme und Weiterleitung nach Auschwitz erfolgt.”

“Re.: Labor deployment of Slovakian Jews. Reference: our teletype of June 16, 1942, 13:41 o’clock. Subsequent to the above-mentioned radio message I inform you that the processing of one transport per week from Slovakia to there will not begin on June 17, 1942 as planned but June 16, 1942. Until further notice, the transports will arrive at the border railway station Zwardon on Friday… of week, where they will be handed over and passed on to Auschwitz.”

The transport plan for the deportation of Slovakian Jews to Auschwitz and Lublin was drawn up by the Oppeln head office of the German National Railway Deutsche Reichsbahndirektion Oppeln on March 16, 1942, and arranged for eight transports between March 26 and April 7-8, referred to as Da 66 through 73. Four of these trains travelled via Zwardon, where they were taken over by the Germans.277 In June 1942, however, only one single transport of Jews from Slovakia reached Auschwitz – on June 20, to be precise.

On June 30, Franz Ziereis, commandant of Mauthausen Camp, asked Höss to make freight cars available “für den Transport von 710 Häftlinge” “for the transport of 710 inmates” for Überstellung transfer to Mauthausen.278 According to the Auschwitz inmate registry (Stärkebuch), 700 “überstellte Häftlinge” “transferred inmates” were missing from the Morgenappell morning roll call on July 7.279

On October 17, Hermann Pister, commandant of Buchenwald Camp, gave Höss advance notice of an inmate transport:280

“Der Transport von 405 jüdischen Häftlingen geht in Weimar am Sonnabend den 17.10.42 um 1159 Uhr nach KL Auschwitz ab.”

“The transport of 405 Jewish inmates will depart from Weimar on Saturday, Oct. 17, 1942, around 11:59 h, to CC Auschwitz.”

The inmates reached Auschwitz on the 19th of October, where 404 of them were registered with the numbers 68340 to 68743 (Czech 1990, p. 255).

Another message from Pister of November 27 with the subject “Häftlingsüberstellung zum KL. Auschwitz” “inmate transfers to CC Auschwitz” reported the departure from Weimar of a transport “mit 150 einsatzfähigen Häftlingen nebst 13 Juden” “with 150 deployable inmates in addition to 13 Jews.”281 These inmates arrived at Auschwitz two days later and were registered under the numbers 78577 to 78739 (Czech 1990, p. 274). On December 5, the Auschwitz Lagerarzt camp physician drew up a report for the Kommandantur camp headquarters showing that the transport contained only 72 deployable inmates.282

A message of January 12, 1943 by SS Standartenführer Maurer, the WVHA’s department chief for labor deployment, revealed a little-known aspect of the history of Auschwitz:283

“Betr: Abgabe von 6000 polnischen Häftlingen aus dem KL. AU. Im Einvernehmen mit dem Chef des Amtes D III, SS Obersturmbannführer Lolling, sollen die zur Abgabe kommenden etwa 6000 polnische Häftlinge im KL. AU. 3 Wochen, bis zum Abtransport, in Quarantäne gelegt werden. Ich bitte damit sofort zu beginnen, damit nach und nach Häftlingen für Vorhaben in anderen Lagern abgezogen werden können. Mit dem Abzug würde somit spätestens in den ersten Tagen des Monats Februar begonnen. Ich bitte um kurze Bestätigung des Veranlassten.”

“Regarding: Transfer of 6,000 Polish inmates from CC Au. In agreement with the head of Office D III, SS Obersturmbannführer Lolling, the approximately 6,000 Polish inmates scheduled for transfer are to be placed in quarantine for 3 weeks in CC Au. until their transfer. I ask to begin this instantly in order that inmates can be gradually withdrawn for projects in other camps. The draw-down [of inmates] would therefore commence in the first few days of the month of February at the latest. I request a brief confirmation of the matter.”

An explicit reference to this may be found in Bischoff’s letter to Höss from January 20, 1943 with the subject “Abzug von polnischen Häftlingen” “withdrawal of Polish inmates”:284

“Der Zentralbauleitung wurde mitgeteilt, daß im Laufe der nächsten Zeit sämtliche polnischen Häftlinge hier abgezogen werden sollen.”

“The Central Construction Office was informed that all Polish inmates are to be withdrawn from here in the near future.”

He requested the exemption for 685 Polish prisoners working for the Central Construction Office whom he considered irreplaceable specialists.

In a letter of February 16, Bischoff reduced the number of these inmates to 379.285

On January 15, 1943, Liebehenschel ordered the transfer to Sachsenhausen Concentration Camp of 11 “inmate specialist workers” on February 8, who were to be immediately placed in quarantine.286

A message of August 5, 1944 sheds light on a Jewish transport from Sárvár, Hungary. Randolph L. Braham wrote that, according to a report from the Hungarian gendarmerie dated June 30, 1944, there were 3,521 Jews in this town, 2,204 of whom were deported to Auschwitz on July 7, 1944.287 He then spoke of the deportation from Sárvár on August 5, without supplying any details. The above-mentioned message radio stated in this regard:288

“Betr: Abbeförderung von Juden. Bezug: bekannt. Sonderzug unter Fahrt. Nr. 6320410 hat am 4.8.44 um 2230 Uhr Sarvar in Richtung Auschwitz verlassen. Transportstärke - 1296. Transportführer SS-Untersturmführer Hartenberger, B d S Ungarn Sek.”

“Re.: Deportation of Jews. Ref.: known. Special train underway. Journey no. 6320410 left Sarvar on Aug. 4, 1944 at 22:30 h toward Auschwitz. Transport occupancy: 1,296. Transport leader SS Untersturmführer Hartenberger, B d S Hungary Sek.”

The order of magnitude corresponds rather well: 3,521 – 2,204 = 1,317, compared to 1,296 actual deportees. The “Liste der Judentransporte” “List of transports of Jews” records the registration of 25 Jews (numbers 5569-5593) and 1,414 Hungarian Jews as of August 8,289 who Danuta Czech considers to have been transferred over from the Birkenau Transit Camp (Czech 1990, p. 682), but it is clear that these registrations must include some or all of those deported from Sárvár.

On December 22, 1942 Liebehenschel communicated to Auschwitz and Majdanek that, starting from December 31, they had to send a list of all the inmates who had escaped, giving their first and last name, date and place of birth, and the day of their escape. By the 26th, they had to communicate how many detainees, divided into men and women, had escaped in the period from Oct. 1 through Dec. 25, 1942, and how many of them had been apprehended.290


	1.7.2. The Use of Inmate Hair

On August 8, 1942, Glücks transmitted Pohl’s order to gather and deliver inmate hair for industrial use to the commandants of all concentration camps. Inmate hair was to be cut and conserved “nach Desinfektion” “after disinfection”; provision was made for a minimum hair length of 20 mm. The quantities gathered were to be communicated to Glücks on a monthly basis starting on September 5 (USSR-511).

A message from the Dachau Camp of September 19, 1942 with the subject “Use of cut hair” (“Verwendung der abgeschnittenen Haare”) explicitly referred to this order.291

On September 15, Amtsgruppe Office Group D reminded the Auschwitz, Dachau and Lublin Camps of the order dated August 8 and of the 5th of every month being the due date for the related reports (Facsimile in Strzelecki, p. 126). On October 7, this notice was sent to the Mauthausen, Buchenwald, Hinzert Camps, and, once again, to Auschwitz.292 The same day, Flossenbürg informed this office group that the “Meldung über die Verwertung der abgeschnittenen Haare” “report on the utilization of cut hair” had been submitted on September 23 and had been confirmed by a Empfangschein receipt dated October 1.293

At least two companies were located in the Breslau region (present-day Wrocław) which dealt with recycling human hair: The Paul Reimann Company and the Held Company, both located at Friedland in the Breslau District (present-day Mieroszów). The first of them collected the supplies originating from the Majdanek Camp, among others, in relation to which there is copious documentation (see Dziadosz). For Auschwitz, on the other hand, the only known document is a Fahrgenehmigung travel permit by Glücks dated September 30, 1942, intercepted and almost-completely deciphered by the British,294 which states:295

“An Lagerkom.

Breslau.

Bezug: Dort. Fs. vom 29.9.

Ich gemehmige hiermit die Fahrt mit einem PKW. des SS Obersturmf. Schwarz von Auschwitz nach Friedland zur Besichtigung des Haarverwertungsbetr. Held in Friedland, Bez. Breslau.”

“To camp headq

Breslau.

Ref.: your teletype of Sept. 29

I hereby approve the trip by passenger car of SS Obersturmf. Schwarz from Auschwitz to Friedland to inspect the hair-recycling enterprise Held in Friedland, Breslau District.”

On November 9, Höss asked Amtsgruppe Office Group D for another permit:296

“Betr: Besichtigung des Haarverwertungsbetriebes, Firma Held in Friedland, Bezirk Breslau. Bezug: dort. Funk vom 30.9.42. Die Kdtr. KL. Au. erbittet neuerlich Fahrtgenehmigung für SS Untersturmführer Hoessler und SS Untersturmführer Sell mit Pkw. oder Bahn nach Friedland zur Besichtigung des Haarverwertungsbetriebes Held in Friedland, Bez. Breslau.” 

“Re.: Visit to hair-recycling enterprise, Held company, in Friedland, Breslau District. Ref.: your radio message dated Sept. 30, 19.42. The headquarters CC Auschwitz request another travel permit for SS Untersturmführer Hoessler and SS Untersturmführer Sell by passenger car or rail to Friedland to inspect hair-reycycling enterprise in Friedland, Breslau District.”

The same day, Liebehenschel, as Glücks’s deputy, issued the permit, specifying that the journey had to take place “mit der Eisenbahn” “by rail.”297

There is no reference to the hair of the presumed gassing victims, which would have been an enormous quantity.

In an intercept of September 30, 1942, Glücks informed Höss of the next-day arrival of “SS Sturmbannführer Hartenstein,”298 meaning Friedrich Hartjenstein, who took over the office of “Kommandeur des DD-T-Sturmbannes KL Auschwitz” “commander of the deathshead guard unit CC Auschwitz” as announced in the Kommandanturbefehl Headquarters Order of October 6, 1942 (Frei et al., p. 183).

Another intercept of October 29, 1942 mentions SS Obersturmführer Richard Baer, who, coming from the Neuengamme Camp, had been “als Adjutant zum Kdtr.-Stab KL Au kommandiert” “assigned as an adjutant to the headquarters staff CC Auschwitz.”299


	1.7.3. The Jewish Watch-Maker Inmates at Majdanek

On November 7, 1942, the POW camp of the Waffen SS at Lublin (Majdanek) sent a teletype to the Auschwitz Kommandantur headquarters with the subject “Überstellung von jüdischen Häftlingsuhrmachern” “transfer of Jewish-inmate watchmakers” stating that on September 9 an order had been issued to transfer 48 inmates, but that 23 of them had died in the meantime, so that only 25 were left. Their transfer was anticipated for November 7.300 They were to be retransferred from Auschwitz to Sachsenhausen, but this was not possible due to the typhus epidemic which was still a problem at Auschwitz. On December 1, SS Hauptsturmführer August Harbaum, who was Glücks’s adjutant at Amt Office D of the WVHA, notified the Auschwitz headquarters that “so lange die Lagersperre für Auschwitz besteht, kam die Überstellung der 25 Häftl. Uhrmachern nicht erfolgen” “as long as the camp lockdown remains in effect for Auschwitz, the transfer of the 25 inmate watchmakers cannot take place” (Blumental, p. 112). A message dated January 12 sent by Maurer to the Auschwitz headquarters and intercepted by the British said that there was no objection against the transfer of the inmate watchmakers “wenn die Quarantänezeit von 3 Wochen erfüllt ist” “once the 3-week quarantine period has passed.”301

A message from Liebehenschel intercepted on January 15 disclosed that the transfer of the 25 inmate watchmakers to Sachsenhausen from Lublin was scheduled for February 8, 1943. They were allegedly picked up by Wachmänner guards sent specifically to Auschwitz from Sachsenhausen. Sachsenhausen was to notify Amt Office DI by phone of Zugang the admission, Auschwitz by Fernschreiben teletype of the Abgang departure of these inmates.302 In another message intercepted on January 19, the text of which has survived (Blumental, p. 112), SS Obersturmführer Schwarz advised Amt Office DII that 12 of the 25 inmate in question had died in the meantime, and he requested that they be replaced.303


	1.7.4. Dandelions

In 1932 the Soviets discovered that rubber could be extracted from kok sagis, a type of dandelion native to Kazakhstan, and they cultivated it for this purpose. In 1941, the German task forces (Einsatzgruppen), whose primary purpose according to the orthodox Holocaust narrative was the mass murder of Jews, discovered the first plantations and immediately reported about it. Event Report (Ereignismeldung) No. 60 of August 22, 1941 elaborated on a plantation found in the area of Uman in a special paragraph titled “Koksagis” (Mallmann et al., p. 338).

In this regard as well, the British intercepted a few messages.

On October 11, 1941, the Höhere SS und Polizeiführer Nord Higher SS and Police Leader North communicated:304

“1. SS Brig. hat heute in Russland angebaute Kautschukpflanzen mit Samen sichergestellt. Anbaumöglichkeit in Deutschland vorhanden. Erbitte Bescheid, was mit Pflanzen und über Kultur unterrichtete russischen Agronomen geschehen soll. Vorschlag: schnellste Überführung, gegebenenfalls mit Flugzeug nach Deutschland (SS Kräutergarten DACHAU).”

“1. Today, SS Brig. seized rubber plants with seeds grown in Russia. Cultivation possibility exists in Germany. Request decision what is to be done with plants and Russian agronomists educated about cultivation. Suggestion: fastest transfer, possibly by plane to Germany (SS herb garden DACHAU).”

A message sent on November 14, 1941 to the Hauptamt Haushalt und Bauten SS Main Office Budget and Construction informed that cultivation plans and seeds had been found, specifying:305

“Technikum für die Kautschukkultur und Spezialisten in Kiew vorhanden.”

“Technical center for rubber culture and specialists available in Kiev.”

The experimental cultivation of this plant was then practiced near Auschwitz: SS Sturmbannführer Joachim Caesar (or Cäsar) was commissioned to create an experimental station for the cultivation of kok-sagys at Raisko.306

On May 1, 1942, Maurer informed Caesar that he could provide him with three Pflanzenzüchterinnen plant growers and two Polish botanists or biologists from the Ravensbrück Camp who spoke German. Maurer asked whether the transfer could happen right away or whether Caesar wanted to examine these inmates’ skills first.307

A message dated September 16, 1942 explicitly refers to the beginnings of these experiments:308

“SS Sturmbannführer DR. CAESAR.

Betr: Arbeiten der SS mit Kautschukpflanzen. Bezug: dort. Fs. Nr. 27075, vom 13.8.42. MESCHETSCHOK heute früh 0510 Uhr ab MINSK in Marsch gesetzt. M. erhielt einen Reisekostenvorschuss von 25 Rm, dessen Rückerstattung gebeten wird.

Der SSuPf. in Weissruthenien, MINSK.”

“SS Sturmbannführer DR. CAESAR.

Subject: The SS’s work with rubber plants. Reference: your teletype no. 27075 of Aug. 13, 1942. Marched off MESCHETSCHOK early today at 05:10 from MINSK. M. received a travel advance of 25 Rm, the reimbursement of which is requested.

The SS and Police Leader in Belorussia, MINSK.”

The person in charge of the cultivation of kok sagis at Raisko was a certain Thies Christophersen (Christophersen, pp. 23-26).


	1.7.5. Barbed Wire to Fence the Camp

On January 18, 1943, Maurer wrote to Höss (“Hoesz” in the text) that after long efforts he had succeeded in obtaining 20 tons of Stacheldraht barbed wire, but they still needed to be paid. Hence, he asked the Bauleiter head of the construction office (Bischoff) whether he could pay it directly or whether he needed Kammler’s prior authorization:309

“Der Draht muss jedoch für den in Auschwitz besprochenen Zweck, das heisst für die Errichtung der 9 Km. langen Umzäunung Verwendung finden.”

“However, the wire must be used for the purpose discussed in Auschwitz, that is, for the erection of the 9-km-long ring fence.”

The question of the barbed wire for the Birkenau Camp had already been raised on August 11, 1942 by SS Unterscharführer Paul Wilk, who directed the Rohstoff Abteilung raw-materials division of the Central Construction Office. In a Aktenvermerk file memo with the subject “Zur Verfügungsstellung von Kennziffern aus einem Sonderkontingent” “on the provision of reference numbers from a special contingency,” we read under Point 6, “Stacheldraht für KGL” “barbed wire for POW camp” that he had already asked the Beschaffungsstelle procurement office (SS Oberscharführer Krogmann) for 100-150 tons of barbed wire, 30 of which were on their way.310

On March 14, 1943, Bischoff asked “die Kontingentstelle des Generalbevollmächtigten für die Regelung der Bauwirtschaft im Wehrkreis VIII” “the contingency office of the plenipotentiary for the regulation of the construction industry in Military District VIII” for 226,235 kg of barbed wire for “Drahthindernis Bauabsch. 1, 2 u. 3” “barbed-wire obstacle Construction Sectors 1, 2 and 3.”311 At Birkenau, this work was part of BW 25, “Drahtzaun innerhalb des Lagers” “barbed wire inside the camp.”

Therefore, the British intercepts do not provide the slightest clue in favor of the idea that an extermination by means of gas chambers was being perpetrated at Auschwitz.

This idea, as Breitman perfectly understood, came exclusively from Polish black propaganda, which will be the subject of the second part of this study.

 


Part 2:
Auschwitz in Polish-Underground Reports (1941-1944)

 


2.1. Sources of Information on Auschwitz

Pierre Vidal-Naquet wrote that “[i]n the flow of information coming from the occupied territories were to be found the true, the less-true, and the false.” This less-than-true and false information consisted of inaccuracies of all kinds as well as of fantasies and myths which, however, “did not exist in isolation, like some creation suo generis or ‘rumor,’ a hoax hatched by a specific milieu, such as the New York Zionists. They existed as the shadow projected by—or prolonging—reality” (Vidal-Naquet, pp. 83f.).

Regarding Auschwitz, “reality” refers to the version of history elaborated by the Soviet Commission for the Investigation of German Crimes, perfected by the Poles during Rudolf Höss’s famous trial at Warsaw between March 11 and 29, 1947, and during the Krakow trial against 40 former members of the Auschwitz camp garrison between November 25 and December 16, 1947.

Vidal-Naquet’s interpretation presupposes first of all that there was a well-defined “reality” (the extermination of the Jews in gas chambers), but this is an aprioristic assumption which remains to be proven.

There surely was a well-defined “reality” that can be considered “true,” but with the clarification that this “reality” consisted of installations and actions totally unrelated to any extermination program, which were intentionally distorted and deformed by the resistance groups, creating a shadow of fantasies and myths, promoted to the rank of “reality” thanks to indefatigable repetition, as I shall explain in this part of this study.

This is precisely the most-plausible explanation, because Richard Breitman’s claim that “the Polish underground reports were an important complement to, and confirmation of, British signals intelligence” (Breitman 1998, p. 116) is false and pretentious, as I have explained in Part One of the present study. In fact, the British intercepts do not contain the slightest allusion to any extermination of Jews, so that the reports of the Polish resistance are neither a “complement” nor a “confirmation” of those intercepts, but are the source of the above-mentioned fantasies and myths.

A fundamental problem is taking shape here, which, strange enough, has never aroused interest among orthodox Holocaust historians: since such reports originated from within the Auschwitz Camp, hence right from the scene of the claimed crimes, how is it possible that they could contain fantasies and myths? Or more precisely, what was the source for the claims made?

Breitman says that the reports “contained hearsay as well as eyewitness testimony” (ibid.), but this only kicks the can down the road: what was the source for the “hearsay” inside the camp? Obviously, precisely the “eyewitness testimony.” But the “eyewitnesses” par excellence were members of the so-called “Sonderkommando,” the bearers of the presumed “terrible secret” of Auschwitz. The most-complete list of inmates having belonged to this Kommando published up to now consists of a little less than 390 names (Friedler et al., pp. 371-391). Now, it is a fact that not a single one of the many reports on Auschwitz originating from the camp resistance up to January 27, 1945, when the Soviets entered through the camp gates,312 can be attributed to any of these inmates, either directly or indirectly,313 who are supposed to have constituted the primary source of all the information on the presumed extermination going around the camp, including “hearsay.” To compensate for this inexplicable absence of an identifiable source, someone had recourse to a pathetic lie, as we shall see below.

One could reply that the members of the “Sonderkommando” were segregated and could not supply information to the other inmates, but this is refuted by the persons directly concerned, as we shall see in Chapter 2.4.

It is necessary at this point to refer to the comments I made in another study (Mattogno 2019). Polish resistance groups arose at Auschwitz from the very outset; other national resistance groups arose starting in 1942: Austrian, French, Belgian, Russian, German, Czech, Yugoslavian. At the beginning of May 1943, these groups were subordinate to a central administration which assumed the name Kampfgruppe Auschwitz (Auschwitz Combat Group), which also had contacts with the so-called Sonderkommando resistance group.

The resistance members, as I revealed in my Introduction to this study, benefited from a dense network of complicit contacts outside the camp, with the Polish populace and various clandestine institutions reporting to the Delegatura.

Barbara Jarosz, a researcher at the Auschwitz Museum, describes the manner in which the information was gathered and caused to circulate outside the camp (Jarosz, pp. 203f.):

“Another important activity of the resistance movement was the gathering of evidence of crimes committed by the SS and its transmission outside the camp. Among the most important documents smuggled out of the camp should be included: […]

4. The plans for the crematoria and gas chambers stolen from the offices of the SS-Bauleitung Construction Office of Birkenau in 1944 by three inmates, the Pole Krystyna Horczak and the Czechs Vera Foltynova and Valeria Valova. […]

6. Three photographs taken secretly in the camp in the summer of 1944 by the Sonderkommando of Crematorium V: Alex the Greek (last name unknown), Szlojme Dragon and his brother Josel, Alter Szmul Fajnzylberg (Stanisław Jankowski in the camp) and Dawid Szmulewski.

7. The lists of convoys of men and women deported to the camp and of Jews with A and B serial numbers, drawn up in September 1944 by the inmates Kazimierz Smoleń, Ludwik Rajewski, Tadeusz Szymański, Tadeusz Wąsowicz, Jan Trębaczewski, employed in the admissions office (Aufnahme). They contain the date of arrival of the transport, the numbers assigned to the inmates and the point of origin of the convoy.

Besides the documents, reports in the form of messages were smuggled out, providing the exact inmate figures, the numbers of the transports, both incoming and outgoing, the last names of all inmates condemned to death by the Gestapo court at Kattowitz, the last names of the SS men in the camp garrison; they also described the living conditions and established the dates and routes of escapes. […]

The data contained in the reports were gathered by the prisoners employed in the administrative sections of the camp, in the main typewriting office, the hospital, the offices of the political department, the admissions department, where, at the risk of their lives, they copied documents, plans and reports. […]
Like the secret messages, the documents were forwarded through proven contacts. Civilian workers employed in various German companies were often the intermediaries between the camp organization and the surrounding areas: Stanisław Mordarski, Józef Cholewa, Franciszek Walisko and Helena Datoń, shop employee for the SS (at the so-called Haus 7). The prisoners transmitted the messages and materials to the couriers, who delivered them to Brzeszcze. From there, through the Kornaś family in Spytkowice or Aniela Kieres in Chrzanów, they forwarded it to Krakow.

In 1944, the organization acquired another contact in the person of the Austrian nurse Maria Stromberger, known as Sister Maria, who worked in the SS hospital.”

In effect, at Auschwitz, every single department operated with inmate labor, and there was not a single inmate unit where resistance members did not work directly or indirectly; this was all in fulfillment of premeditated tactics, as Hermann Langbein declared (1962, p. 233):

“In der ersten Zeit verfolgte die Kampfgruppe die Taktik, möglichst in jedem wichtigeren Kommando zumindest einen Vertrauensman zu haben.”

“Initially, the combat group followed the tactic, insofar as possible, of installing at least one trusted agent in each major squad.”

Former inmate Otto Wolken compiled a list of over 100 Kommandos (labor units) at Auschwitz, which is worth reproducing in full in order to demonstrate the capillary diffusion of these groups throughout the camp:314


	

		
				
Arbeitskommando / Labor Unit 


				
Arbeitsplatz / workplace


		

		
				
Abbruchkommando Bauleitung / Bauleitung Demolition squad


				
At the DAW


		

		
				
Arbeitseinsatz / Labor deployment


				
Barracks Section III


		

		
				
Aufräumungskommando DEST / DEST clearance squad


				
At railway bridge


		

		
				
Baubüro / Design office


				
Bauleitung barracks 


		

		
				
Bauhof / Construction materials warehouse


				
Construction-materials warehouse


		

		
				
BBD [?]


				
BBD


		

		
				
Bekleidungswerkstätten / Garments workshops


				
Camp expansion


		

		
				
Betonkolonne Huta / Huta concrete gang 


				
Auschwitz


		

		
				
Brotauflader / Bread loaders


				
Camp bakery


		

		
				
Brunnenbohrer Spiar [Spirra] / Drill rig for Spirra wells


				
Broschkowitz


		

		
				
Brunnenbohrer Wodak / Drill rig for Wodak wells


				
behind TWL/Military camp warehouse


		

		
				
DAW. - Hallen / DAW hangars


				
At the DAW


		

		
				
DAW/Deutsche Ausrichtungs Werke315 / German armaments works


				
DAW


		

		
				
DAW-Werkstätten / DAW workshops


				
At the DAW offices


		

		
				
Druckerei / Typography


				
Camp expansion


		

		
				
Elektriker Verwaltung / Electrician’s administration


				
BBD


		

		
				
Entseuchungskommando / Disinfestation squad


				
Camp area


		

		
				
Entwesungskammer / Disinfestation chamber


				
At the DAW


		

		
				
Erweiterungsarbeiten / Expansion work


				
At House VII


		

		
				
Essenfahrer / Drivers for food


				
Inside and outside


		

		
				
Fa. Boos Aufnahmegebäude / Boos Company reception building


				
Military infirmary


		

		
				
Fa. Boos Transportkommando / Boos Company transport squad


				
Werkhalle (office)


		

		
				
Fa. Industrie Bau A.G. / Industrie Bau A.G.


				
Security offices


		

		
				
Fa. Niegel Ofenbau / Niegel furnace construction company


				
Camp expansion


		

		
				
Fa. Petersen / Petersen Company


				
Behind the Bauleitung barracks 


		

		
				
Fa. Wagner / Wagner Company


				
New laundry


		

		
				
Fahrbereitschaft Bauleitung / Bauleitung motor pool


				
Building materials warehouse


		

		
				
Fahrbereitschaft Kommandantur/Kommandantur motor pool


				
Camp area


		

		
				
Faulgasanlage / Sewer gas installation


				
Auschwitz


		

		
				
Feuerlöschteich / Fire-prevention basin


				
At the Lenz security offices


		

		
				
Feuerlöschteich / Fire-prevention basin


				
Rajsko


		

		
				
Flusskies / River gravel


				
Rajsko


		

		
				
Flusskies DEST / DEST river gravel


				
At the Sola River


		

		
				
Fourier / Quartermasters’


				
Commando


		

		
				
Fourier Baubüro / Quartermasters’ design office


				
Bauleitung barracks


		

		
				
Garagen Praga-Halle / Praga-Halle garages


				
Prague hangar


		

		
				
Gärtner Aussen / Outside gardeners


				
SS settlement


		

		
				
Gärtner Bauleitung / Bauleitung gardeners


				
Bauleitung barracks


		

		
				
Gärtner Haus Höss / Höss house gardeners


				
Höss house


		

		
				
Gärtnerei Rajsko / Horticulture Rajsko


				
Rajsko


		

		
				
Gemeinschaft Schuhe / Shoe collective


				
At the monopoly building


		

		
				
Gemeinschaftsküche / Common kitchen


				
DAW. – Dwelling houses


		

		
				
Gemeinschaftslager / Common camp


				
At the offices (Werkhalle)


		

		
				
Getreidespeicher / Granaries


				
Monopoly building


		

		
				
Grasmäher Bauleitung / Bauleitung moving machine


				
At the Bauleitung offices


		

		
				
Haus 157 / House 157


				
House 157


		

		
				
Holzhof / Wood warehouse


				
Wood warehouse


		

		
				
Hygiene Institut Rajsko/Rajsko Institute of Hygiene


				
Rajsko


		

		
				
Kantine Wirtschaftsbaracke / Warehouse barracks shop


				
Warehouse barracks


		

		
				
Kantinenverwaltung / Shop administration


				
House VII


		

		
				
Kartoffelfahrer / Drivers for potatoes


				
Potato bunker


		

		
				
Kartoffelschäler / Potato peelers


				
SS kitchen


		

		
				
Kohlenplatz / Cool warehouse


				
Coal warehouse


		

		
				
Koksablader und Heizer / Coke unloaders and stokers


				
Monopoly building


		

		
				
Kurzwellenentwesung / Short-wave disinfestation


				
New laundry


		

		
				
Lagerbäckerei Tagschicht-Nachtschicht / Camp bakery day-night shift


				
Camp bakery


		

		
				
Lederfabrik / Leather workshop


				
Auschwitz


		

		
				
Luftschutz / Anti-aircraft protection


				
Section III barracks


		

		
				
Luftwaffenbaracke Rajsko/Barracks Luftwaffe Raisko


				
Rajsko


		

		
				
Materialschuppen/Materials warehouse


				
New building materials warehouse


		

		
				
Mehlfahrer / Driver for flour


				
At Auschwitz mill


		

		
				
Melioration Bauleitung/Building administration improvements


				
Bauleitung barracks


		

		
				
Molkerei / Dairy


				
At the slaughterhouse


		

		
				
Mühle Auschwitz / Auschwitz mill


				
Auschwitz


		

		
				
Mühlfahrer Landwirtschaft / Drivers for flour Landwirtschaft (agriculture)


				
Rajsko


		

		
				
Neuer Bauhof / New building materials warehouse


				
New building materials warehouse


		

		
				
Pferdestall-Baracken Bauleitung / Horse stable barracks Bauleitung


				
At the common camp


		

		
				
Pferdestall-[Baracken] Landwirtschaft / Horse stable barracks agriculture


				
New stall


		

		
				
Planierungskommando DLGM [?] / Levelling squad DLGM


				
DAW – dwelling houses


		

		
				
Politische Abteilung I / Political section I


				
Commando


		

		
				
Politische Abteilung II / Political section II


				
Blockführerstube (Blockführer’s room)


		

		
				
Poststelle / Post office


				
Blockführerstube


		

		
				
Provisorische Bäckerei / Provisional bakery


				
Camp bakery


		

		
				
Reiniger Kommandantur / Cleanup squad


				
Commando


		

		
				
Reiniger Truppe / Military cleanup squad


				
Camp area


		

		
				
Roll[wagen]kommando / Trolley pulling squad


				
Wood warehouse


		

		
				
Sandgrube Haus Palitsch / Palitsch house sand pit


				
Palitsch house


		

		
				
Sandgrube Haus VII / House VII sand pit


				
House VII


		

		
				
Schädlingsbekämpfung / Disinfestation


				
Camp expansion


		

		
				
Schlachthaus / Slaughterhouse


				
Camp area


		

		
				
Schmiede Landwirtschaft / forge agriculture


				
Forge


		

		
				
Splittergraben / Anti-shrapnel trench


				
Auschwitz


		

		
				
SS-Apotheke / SS pharmacy


				
SS infirmary


		

		
				
SS-Bekleidungskammer / SS changing room


				
Camp expansion


		

		
				
SS-Friseure / SS barber shop


				
SS infirmary


		

		
				
SS-Küche / SS kitchen


				
Warehouse barracks


		

		
				
SS warehouse


				
Warehouse barracks


		

		
				
SS infirmary


				
SS infirmary


		

		
				
SS-Unterkunftskammer / SS living quarters


				
Camp expansion


		

		
				
SS-Zahnstation / SS dental station


				
SS infirmary


		

		
				
Strasse zum Bahnhof / Road to rail station


				
At the Officers’ Club


		

		
				
Strassenbau Lagererweiterung / Camp expansion road construction


				
Camp expansion


		

		
				
Strassenbau u. Kanalisation / Road and sewer construction


				
Behind the building materials warehouse


		

		
				
Truppenwirtschaftslager / Military camp warehouse


				
Military camp warehouse


		

		
				
Übergabestation Kluge / Kluge transfer station


				
Building materials warehouse


		

		
				
Waffenmeisterei / Arsenal


				
At the offices


		

		
				
Warenlager / Goods warehouse


				
Theater building


		

		
				
Wasserturm Riedel / Riedel water tower


				
Building materials warehouse


		

		
				
Wasserversorgung / Water supply


				
Behind the bakery


		

		
				
Werkhalle Union


				
Union offices


		

		
				
Werkstätten Bauleitung / Bauleitung offices 


				
Offices


		

		
				
Wirtschaftshof / Agribusiness


				
Camp area


		

		
				
Wohnhäuserausbau Rajsko / Dwelling house expansion Rajsko


				
Rajsko


		

		
				
Zivilarbeiterwerkstätten / Civilian workers’ offices


				
At the common camp


		

	


It is also interesting to keep in mind that, in 1944, the inmate units working inside the crematoria of Birkenau were first called 206-B, 207-B, then 57-B/61-B.

All these units were constantly monitoring the entire camp, and were aware of everything that happened.

Particularly important, from our point of view, were the units working at the Central Construction Office. In February 1943, the Baubüro Construction Office employed 96 inmates, most of them Polish (85), as well as two Jews: Mordcha Gothein (inmate registration number 64034) and Ernst Kohn (no. 71134).316 Among other things, these inmates were the actual creators of several crematory plans, such as Plan No. 1300 dated June 18, 1942 of Crematorium II (inmate no. 17133); Plan No. 2136 dated February 22, 1943 of Crematorium III (inmate no. 538, Leo Sawka); Plan No. 2197 dated March 19, 1943 (Ernst Kohn); Plan No. 2036 dated January 11, 1943, of Crematorium IV/V (inmate no. 127, Josef Sikora), and the plan of Crematorium I No. 1241 dated April 10, 1942 (inmate no. 20033, Stefan Swiszczowski).

During the Höss Trial, an inmate from this office (not included in the above-mentioned list) declared that he had had in his hands “the plans of all the crematoria” (“plany wzystkich krematoriów”).317

Other units from the Central Construction Office enjoyed full freedom of movement at Auschwitz due to the nature of activities they carried out.

Some of the inmates from the Kommando Baubüro Construction Office were employed in the offices of the Central Construction Office; the others worked outside the camp and enjoyed broad freedom of movement. A “List of inmates employed outside the chain of sentries” (“Liste der ausserhalb der Postenkette beschäftigten Häftlingen”) dated August 26, 1943 lists 52 of them, distributed among the following Kommandos:

– Bauleitung Melioration / soil improvements (draining) (16 inmates)

– Abteilung Vermessung / surveying department (8)

– Wasserversorgung, Kanalisation / water supply, sewerage (9)

– Bauleitung KGL / Construction Office POW Camp (10)

– Planungsabteilung / Planning department (3)

– Bauleitung KL / Construction Office Main Camp (3)

– Bauleitung Industriegelände / Construction Office industrial area (2)

– Abteilung Buchhaltung / accounting department (1).

The Jewish inmate Hersz Kurzweig, no. 65655, was a member of the first unit.318

In May 1943, the Vermessungskommando surveying department consisted of 29 inmates. On May 21, 1943, three land Landmesser surveyors of this unit managed to escape,319 which confirms their freedom of movement. One of the inmates belonging to this unit, Wilhelm Wohlfahrt, declared during the Höss Trial that he had been present at a homicidal gassing in one of the so-called bunkers (Mattogno 2016g, pp. 106-108).

The role of the civilian workers in gathering and disseminating information was no doubt much greater than described above. At least 46 civilian firms worked at Auschwitz, employing some 1,300 civilian workers in 1943, almost all of them Polish (Mattogno 2015a, pp. 53-58). A letter sent to the Central Construction Office on April 14, 1944 by SS Sturmbannführer Friedrich Hartjenstein, at that time commandant of the Auschwitz II/Birkenau Camp, shows the freedom of movement enjoyed by these civilian workers. On the evening of April 12, 1944, a Polish civilian worker named Wilhelm Lorenz was stopped on the Bahnüberführung Auschwitz-Birkenaurailway bridge of Auschwitz-Birkenau. He showed a pass issued by the Lenz Company on March 23, 1944 stating that “ist dieser Mann berechtigt, nach Einziehen der großen Postenkette die Arbeitstellen ohne Beaufsichtigung zu betreten” “this man is authorized to access the work sites after the withdrawal of the main cordon of sentinels,” something which Hartjenstein considered impermissible and which he prohibited for security reasons.320

There were many civilian construction sites scattered all over the Birkenau Camp. The series of Arbeitseinsatz daily labor-deployment reports mentions 20 of them as “companies commissioned by the Construction OfficeBauleitung”:

– 351-B: Knauth Kanalisation BII (sewers at Construction Sector II)

– 352-B: Strassenbau b.d. Kartoffellager (road works near potato storage)

– 353-B: Lenz Truppen-Kommandantur (troop headquarters)

– 359-B: Lenz Lebensmittelmagazin (food storage)

– 354-B: Riedel Strassenbau KL. II (road works at camp II)

– 361-B: Riedel Strassenbau FL. (road works at women’s camp)

– 372-B: Riedel Strassenbau BI/b FL. (road works at Construction Sector I/b, women’s camp)

– 355-B: Brandt Kanalisation BII (sewers at Construction Sector II)

– 356-B: Deutsche Bau AG b. Kläranlage II (at sewage plant)

– 357-B: Richter Brunnenbau (well drilling)

– 358-B: Keil Splittergrabenkommando (air-raid trench detail)

– 360-B: Anhalt Barackenausbau BII (indoor work on barracks at Construction Sector II)

– 373-B: Anhalt Gleisanschluss (railway spur)

– 362-B: Hirt Kanalisation (sewers)

– 363-B: Huta Barackenausbau BII (indoor work on barracks at BII)

– 364-B: Conti Wasserwerksgesellschaft (water works)

– 365-B: Wagner Strassenbau BII (road works at BII)

– 368-B: Spirra Brunnenbau (well drilling)

– 372-B: Spirra Brunnenbau (well drilling)

– 370-B: Falk Barackeninstallation (piping in barracks).

The presence of these companies in the surviving documentation (which is full of gaps) was attested to for the time span from April 20 to October 3, 1944.321

The company Continentale Wasserwerks-Gesellschaft m.b.H. of Berlin-Charlottenburg was involved in pumping off excess groundwater at least from February 6 to August 7, 1943 in the vicinity of Crematoria II and III (Krem. 2./3. Grundwasser). In this regard, the following documents have been preserved:322

– Crematorium II: February 15 and 18, March 17 and 22-27, April 5-9: 269.5 hours of work;

– Crematorium III: March 6 and 29, April 12-16 and 18-19, June 29-30, July 1-3, 8, 12-17, 19-21 and 23-24, August 6: 259 hours of work.

There were 20 companies working in the Birkenau area on June 1, 1944, eight of which are not mentioned above: Josef Kluge, Richard Reckmann, Industriebau Zöllner, Wodak, Köhler, Bälz, Wedag, and Süddeutsche Abwasserreinigung A.G.323

Another category of civilians moving about the Auschwitz camps were the relatives of SS men on active duty there. Their visit was permitted by camp regulations and announced in Standortbefehlen garrison orders. For example, Standortbefehl Garrison Order No. 40/43 of November 2, 1943 mentions ten of them under the heading “Aufenthaltsgenehmigungen” “residence permits.” Here is the text of the first of them:324

“SS-Strm. Josef Beitzel, Besuch der Familie v. 29.10.-30.11.43. Wohnung: Babitz Nr. 27 bei Flegel.”

“SS Sturmmann[325] Josef Beitzel, family visit from October 29 to November 30, 1943. Residence: Babitz No. 27 at Flegel’s.”

StandortbefehlGarrison Order No. 51/43 of November 16, 1943 contains the following notice as Point 4:326

“Zivilpersonen im Lagerbereich.

In den nächsten Tagen werden an sämtlichen Zugängen zum Lagerbereich Tafeln mit folgendem Text in deutscher und polnischer Sprache aufgestellt:

‘Lagerbereich. Betreten für Zivilpersonen nur mit gestempelter Armbinde und entsprechendem Ausweis des Standortältesten. Angetroffene Zivilpersonen ohne Ausweis werden festgenommen.’

Jeder SS-Angehörige wird angewiesen, die Durchführung dieser Anordnung mit zu überwachen.”

“Civilians inside the camp area.

Signs bearing the following text in German and Polish will be posted at all access points to the camp area over the next few days:

‘Camp area. Access only for civilians with stamped arm band and related permit from garrison elder. Civilians found without permits will be arrested.”

All SS members are ordered to ensure enforcement of this order.”

StandortbefehlGarrison Order No. 16/43 of April 22, 1943 lists 18 visits (Frei et al., pp. 258f.). StandortbefehlGarrison Order No. 22/44 of August 18, 1944 mandated that no more residence permits could be granted because der Zuzug von Familien von SS-Angehörigen the influx of SS members had increased too much (ibid., p. 482). An approximate total of 270 visits are attested to by documents.

The problem of civilians walking throughout the camp became so serious that Höss was compelled to issue a specific Sonderbefehl Special Order on June 10, 1944 opening with the following words:327

“Um das Herumtreiben von Zivilpersonenen im Bereich des Lagers Birkenau endgültig zu unterbinden, habe ich mit sofortiger Wirkung einen verstärkten Streifendienst der hiesigen Polizeikompanie eingesetzt.

Dieser hat die Aufgabe, sämtliche Zivilpersonen, auch Frauen die sich in Begleitung von SS-Männern befinden, auf Personalausweis genauest zu kontrollieren. Zweifelhafte Personen sind festzunahmen und der Politischen Abteilung vorzuführen.”

“In order to finally prevent civilians from roving about the area of the Birkenau Camp, I have deployed with immediate effect an intensified patrol service by the local police company.

Its task is to closely check all civilians, including women who are accompanied by SS men, for their identity cards. Suspicious individuals are to be arrested and brought to the political department.”

There were numerous prisoner escapes at Auschwitz, often prepared by the resistance movement. The files of the trial against the Auschwitz camp staff include a certainly incomplete list of names of 144 inmates who fled the camp between the end of 1942 and early 1944. It contains 17 names for 1942, 114 for 1943, 8 for 1944, and 5 without any indication of dates.328 According to Tadeusz Iwaszko, at least 667 inmates escaped from the Auschwitz complex, at least 120 of them in 1942, 310 in 1943, and 209 in 1944. Inmates recaptured after escaping amounted to approximately 41% of known cases. At least 105 inmates escaped from Birkenau (Iwaszko, pp. 49-51).

Let’s now consider inmates who were released. The Auschwitz Chronicle reports a total of 1,255 releases, broken down as follows: 575 Erziehungshäftlinge re-educational inmates, 465 Schutzhäftlinge inmates in protective custory, 167 female inmates, 47 Jewish inmates, one Soviet POW. Regarding the chronology, the releases span from January 19 to July 27, 1942, and from November 4, 1944 to January 17, 1945. But other Entlassungen inmate releases appear in the Stärkemeldung strength reports of the Frauenlager women’s camp at Birkenau from October 1944, or, more precisely: nine on October 7, ten on October 12, and 38 on October 13.329 Another 23 released inmates, including seven Jews, were registered in the Kommandobuch (Kommando registry). Another registry attesting to numerous releases is the “Nummernbuch 150000-200000,”330 containing annotations relating to 168 male-inmate releases out of the first 30,000 inmate numbers between September 1943 and November 1944. In the series of reports titled “Overview of the number and deployment of female inmates of Auschwitz Concentration Camp, Upper Silesia” (“Übersicht über Anzahl und Einsatz der weiblichen Häftlinge des Konzentrationslagers Auschwitz O/S”), a few of which have survived, 83 inmates are listed as having been released between April 2 and June 30, 1944.331

Between 1943 and 1944, many persons were interned in the so-called “Birkenau worker-re-education camp” (“Arbeitserziehungslager Birkenau”), at that time referred to as “Auschwitz I workers-re-education camp” (“Arbeitzerziehungslager Auschwitz I”). These persons were civilian workers who had violated the terms of their labor contracts. After serving their sentences, they were sent to the Arbeitsamt Bielitz, Nebenstelle Auschwitz Bielitz employment agency, Auschwitz branch, whence they were either sent back to the company they had been working for before, or assigned to another job. These inmates were not registered, hence were not listed in the “E” series of re-educational inmates (Erziehungshäftlinge). According to the surviving documents, at least 304 inmates in this category, 205 men and 99 women, were arrested and then released a short while later. In the following table, I give the chronological breakdown of these releases:
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These figures are incomplete. In July 1944, 71 inmates, 33 men and 38 women were released and sent to the Arbeitsamt Bielitz employment agency;332 in August 1944, 84 inmates, 43 men and 41 women, were released,333 bringing the number of inmates released that way up to at least 355.

Finally, no fewer than 192,300 inmates were transferred to other camps in 1944, not counting approximately 67,000 inmates present at the camp on January 17, 1945 who were later evacuated. Among these 192,300 transferees were at least 98,600 unregistered Jews (Mattogno 2005).

To sum up, the Auschwitz resistance movement, through its dense network of connections, was closely monitoring all the nerve centers of the camp and had access to all the important documents, including the crematoria’s construction blueprints. The civilian workers, most of them Polish, were another precious source of information, and at the same time a primary link to the outside world. The escaped inmates and those who had been released represented another direct source of information for the Delegatura.

In practice, everybody knew everything at Auschwitz, and it is obvious that the SS’s policy of granting visits to the camp by civilians and of releasing and transferring inmates cannot be reconciled with the story of a mass extermination camp whose “terrible secret” had to be covered up with the utmost secrecy.

From the very outset, the resistance movement was therefore in possession of all the information and had a wide range of opportunities when it came to exposing the “reality” or “true” version of history, including any mass gassings, but instead of doing so, it exclusively fabricated fantasies and myths. This fact confirms that the presumed existence of homicidal gas chambers was not a hidden truth which came to light gradually, a shadow which gradually assumed the distinguishing marks of a projected “reality,” but is a creation of atrocity propaganda334 that gradually transformed itself into “truth” and “reality.”

The best collection of clandestine messages from Auschwitz is the work “CC Auschwitz in the light of Documents of the Delegation of the Polish Republic’s Government inside the Country” (Obóz…), from which I have taken the following reports, supplemented by additional sources. The letters sent secretly to the outside world by inmates were known as “grypsy” (plural of “gryps”) in camp slang (“Kassiber” in German).


	2.2. The “First Gassing”

The first mention of any homicidal gassing appeared in a report transmitted to the information and propaganda office of the Polish Armia Krajowa (National Army) dated October 24, 1941 (Obóz…, p. 11):

“at the beginning of October [w początkach października], 850 Russian officers and non-commissioned officers (prisoners [of war?]) were taken and killed with gas at Auschwitz[335] to experiment with a new type of war gas to be used on the Eastern front [jako próbe nowego typu gazu bojowego, który ma być użyty na froncie wschodnim].”

The news item was copied into the “Situation report on the period from August 15 to November 15, 1941” (ibid., p. 14):

“The camp was the theater of an abominable crime, when, during the night of September 5-6, approximately 600 Soviet inmates, including army’s ‘politruks’ [political commissars], and approximately 200 Poles were crammed into the bunker [do bunkra[336]] – after which the bunker was hermetically sealed and they were poisoned with a gas [gazem] and the bodies were taken to the crematorium and burned.”

On November 17, 1941, Issue No. 21 of the Polish underground bulletin Informacja Bieżąca (Current Information) reported the following (ibid.):

“Auschwitz. News of the horrid crime committed at the camp are confirmed. During the night of September 5-6, 1941, approximately 600 Soviet civilian deportee prisoners [cywilnych], were crammed into the bunker [do bunkra] at Auschwitz, breaking their arms and legs. All apertures in the bunker were hermetically sealed and the inmates locked in there were then poisoned with gas (gazami). The bodies of the poisoned inmates were taken to the crematoria on 80 carts during the night, where they were burned.”

In the “Appendix to Annex No. 21 covering the Period from December 1-15, 1941” we read (ibid., p. 16):

“Inside the concrete shelter [w betonowym schronie[337]] approximately 500 prisoners of war were poisoned using a war gas [za pomocą gazu bojowego].”

The last reference to this presumed gassing event is found in the Informacja Bieżąca No. 39 of October 23, 1942, where it says that the 60,000 Soviet POWs who presumably arrived at Auschwitz in 1941 had been the subjects of “experimentation to determine the effectiveness of war gases” (see Subchapter 2.3.1.)

The Polish Fortnightly Review reported about Auschwitz as early as November 15, 1941 in a long article, but it contained no reference to this claimed event.338 However, a reworking of the propaganda themes contained in the above-mentioned reports appeared in the July 1, 1942 issue:339

“Among the other experiments being tried on the prisoners is the use of poison gas. It is generally known that during the night of September 5th to 6th last year about a thousand people were driven down to the underground shelter in Oswięcim, among them seven hundred Bolsheviks prisoners of war and three hundred Poles. As the shelter was too small to hold this large number, the living bodies were simply forced in, regardless of broken bones. When the shelter was full gas was injected into it, and all the prisoners died during the night. All night the rest of the camp was kept awake by the groans and howls coming from the shelter. Next day other prisoners had to carry out the bodies, a task which took all day. One hand-cart on which the bodies were being removed broke down under the weight.”

An echo of this story also appeared in a Czechoslovakian governmental report dated June 13, 1942:340

“The worst reputation is enjoyed by the concentration camp at Oswiecim near Cracow. Not only are the victims of German cruelty tortured and mishandled in the usual fashion, but the efficacity of German poison gases are even tried out on them and other experiments are made with them.”

The presumed victims were “Czech men and women.”

In July 1942, nine European governments, including the Polish government-in-exile, drew up a joint “report” on the situation in the German-occupied countries, which was transmitted to the British government on July 21. This contained a colorful version of the story that maintained the date, September 5, 1941, and the type of gases (that is, war gases), but changed the presumed victims:341

“Dans le camp d'Oświęcim, le 5 septembre 1941 les autorirés allemandes ont supprimé, au moyen de gaz asphyxiants, plus de 800 personnes: environ 200 Polonais (juristes, ingénieurs, étudiants), ainsi que 600 prisonniers de guerre soviétiques, officiers pour la plupart.”

“In the Oświęcim Camp, on September 5, 1941, the German authorities exterminated more than 800 people by means of asphyxiating gases [au moyen de gaz asphixiants]: about 200 Poles (lawyers, engineers, students), as well as 600 Soviet prisoners of war, mostly officers.”

In the booklet Obóz śmierci (Death Camp), written by Natalia Zarembina and published at London in August 1943, the presumed event is narrated in a fictionalized style without even indicating the date (Zarembina 1943, pp. 14-16).

The fantastic and contradictory nature of the gassing accounts is obvious. The date, which was originally the beginning of October, stabilized at September 5-6, 1941; the victims, originally 850 Russian officers and noncoms, became, in this order, 600 Soviet POWs and 200 Polish inmates, 600 Soviet civilian prisoners, 600 POWs and 300 Polish inmates, and finally Soviet officers and 200 Polish intellectuals. The story of experimenting with war gases was completely forgotten in the post-war period.

Unlike other Holocaust-related themes, this story failed to coalesce into a coherent, definitive version in the post-war period, and the version we encounter today is simply the fruit of shameless manipulations by Danuta Czech; in fact, she sets forth a forced and fictitious reconstruction of the presumed event by selecting the very few generic elements common to the testimonies, while ignoring that they contradict each other on all essential points (see Mattogno 2016e).


	2.3. The Genesis of the “Gas-Chamber” Lore

	
2.3.1. The Reports of 1942

Issue No. 23 of Informacja Bieżąca dated June 22, 1942 published the following news items:

“At the end of May, there were 14,000 men at the camp, including 500 Germans and approximately 3,000 Czechs. The buildings formerly used to accommodate Soviet prisoners of war (who were since shot or poisoned with gases [gazami]) also contained a women’s section.” (Obóz…, p. 29)

“Near Auschwitz, the Germans set up another enormous concentration camp at Raicza, for 250,000 persons, intended to accommodate inmates from all the German camps.” (ibid., p. 30)

A Polish town named Raicza is located in southern Poland, near the Slovakian border, but here this name is evidently a distortion of the Polish name “Rajsko,” which was located some two miles south of Birkenau as the crow flies.

A letter sent to London on September 4, 1942 by a courier via Budapest recalled (ibid., pp. 31-33):

“1) According to the card file, the [numerical] situation of the women’s camp was 8,620 on June 1, 1942, including 150 Poles, 850 Germans, 300 of various nationalities, while the rest were Jews, 7,320 of them in number. The effective situation on June 1 was 7,740, including 148 Polish women, 835 German women, 292 of various nationalities, and 6,455 Jewesses. The population of the camp had fallen by 880 persons between the founding of the camp and June 1 [1942].

2) The [numerical] situation of the male camp, according to the card file, was 38,720 inmates on June 1 [1942], including: 27,860 Poles, 8,170 Jews (1,100 Frenchmen, 5,000 Czechs and Slovaks, 2,070 Poles), 1,100 Czechs, 890 Germans, 690 inmates of various nationalities (431 Ukrainians, 142 Russians, 47 U.S.A. [sic], 58 Yugoslavs, and 12 others).

The effective situation on June 1 [1942] was as follows: total population 15,340, including: 9,245 Poles, 4,120 Jews, 740 Czechs, 750 Germans, 485 of various nationalities.

3) Boys below the age of 12 are housed together in one single block, as are girls and the elderly. Children below the age of 12 were not admitted to the camp, but are immediately killed.

4) In total, based on the card file, 38,720 male inmates + 13,000 Bolsheviks + 3,000 temporary inmates sentenced to a few weeks’ imprisonment + 8,620 women passed through the men’s camp, for a total of 63,340.

5) Approximately 22,500 inmates passed through the camp, but were not included in the card-file; it is difficult to determine this figure, but it cannot be greatly wrong. [The total breaks down to] approximately 4,000 Poles, 8,500 Bolsheviks, and 10,000 Jews.

Summarizing the figures mentioned above, we have: 63,340 + 22,500 = 85,840. Approximately 5,000 were liberated or transferred, 23,080 (men and women) were still alive, meaning that 57,800 persons were swallowed up by the camp.[342]

6) The average monthly mortality rate (this refers only to those who died in the camp, not counting ‘Brzezinka,’ where people are killed en masse) is 250 persons, 10% of whom die from old age or disease. The rest die of blows and weakness.

7) There are many methods of killing, to be exact, shooting by an honor squad [sic], killing with a pneumatic hammer (Hammerluft)[343] and recently [ostatnio] gassing in gas chambers. Inmates under sentence of death handed down by the Gestapo are killed with the first two methods, inmates unable to work are killed with the third, as well as incoming transports slated for the same fate (Bolsheviks and the most recent Jewish transports [ostatnie transporty Żydów]).

8) The most zealous SS men, the so-called Blockführer [block-führerzy], varying in number from 20 to 30 persons, among them a few officers, were selected for the killings with the various methods.

9) The bodies of those who died at the camp were taken to the crematorium, which could, however, only cremate approximately 200 bodies in 24 hours, while the rest were taken to ‘Brzezinka’ and buried in suitably excavated graves. The bodies of those who were gassed were also buried there.

Warning: not all the numerical data is entirely accurate, in part because it is difficult to verify, and because the numerical strength of the persons changes every day. I have nonetheless attempted to transmit the most reliable data.”

The number 8620 was assigned in the women’s camp on July 11, 1942,344 while number 38720 was assigned in the men’s camp on June 7.345 From the British intercepts on camp manpower, it is known that on June 2, there were 14,155 inmates in the men’s camp (in the letter, 15,340), including 3,466 Jews (4,120) and 9,985 Poles (9,245). The figure of 14,115 inmates is confirmed by the inmate registry (Stärkebuch), which also indicates the number of Russians: 153.346

The total number of Soviet prisoners of war at Auschwitz was 11,957, 9,178 of whom died between October 7, 1941 and August 17, 1942 (Brandhuber, pp. 41, 45); since only 35 prisoners arrived between June 2 and August 17,347 those registered up to June 1 totalled 9,175 inmates; the figure of 13,000 is therefore inexact.

The “temporary inmates sentenced to a few weeks” were the so-called Erziehungshäftlinge, inmates confined to the camp for “re-education,” generally foreign civilian workers who had violated their labor contracts and who were sent to Auschwitz to serve a maximum sentence of 56 days, after which they were released and sent back to work.348 According to a list prepared in secrecy, 2,503 re-education inmates were registered between July 16, 1941 and May 30, 1942, 928 of whom died.349 This death-toll figure cannot be verified and seems rather high, hence might be exaggerated; at any rate, in the letter, the figure is 3,000.

37,246 male inmates had been interned at Auschwitz by June 1, 1942, plus 7,585 female inmates350 (7,740 in the letter), 9,175 Soviet prisoners and 2,503 re-education inmates, for a total of 56,509, not 63,340. If total manpower was (14,155 + 7,740 =) 21,895 on June 1, then 34,614 inmates were missing, 5,000 of whom had been released or transferred. There were therefore 29,614 deaths. Based on the Totenbuch (Death Book) and the inmate registry (Stärkebuch), 19,660 inmates and Soviet POWs died at Auschwitz between October 7, 1941 and May 31, 1942. The morgue registry (Leichenhallenbuch) for Block 28 in the Stammlager Main Camp, from which the bodies of the deceased were taken to the crematorium, shows 2,915 deaths between October 7 and December 31, 1941,351 bringing the total up to 22,575.

The death toll among male and female inmates up to October 7, 1941 is unknown, but the difference between the two figures from this set of statistics would be (29,614 – 22,575 =) 7,039.

The letter moreover mentions more than approximately 22,500 unregistered inmates, broken down as follows: 4,000 Poles, 8,500 Bolsheviks and 10,000 Jews. Since they are considered to be missing, they are included among the figures for those murdered. But nothing is known of these 4,000 Poles, while the Bolsheviks allegedly interned at the camp and then killed without being registered would officially amount to only “eine Gruppe von einigen hundert Gefangenen” “a group of a few hundred prisoners” (Brandhuber, p. 15), but there is little proof in this regard. This is obviously equally true for the 10,000 Jews whose national origins were not even known to the unknown writer of the letter. According to Danuta Czech, approximately 5,200 Jews from the ghettoes of Dombrowa, Bendsburg, Warthenau and Gleiwitz were transported to Auschwitz between May 5 and 11, 1942 and later gassed in “Bunker 1.” Another 1,500 Jews from Sosnowitz are said to have been deported and gassed on May 12 (Czech 1990, pp. 165f.). The source, incredibly, is a simple map by Martin Gilbert, in which he indicated these presumed transports without giving any source.352 This means that there is no trace of them – not even any eyewitness testimony – in the archives of the Auschwitz Museum.

The mortality of 250 inmates per day, obviously referring to May 1942, is very much exaggerated; the Stärkebuch shows that the average mortality in the camp was approximately 108 inmates per day; mortality in the women’s camp was much lower, considering that 1,525 inmates died (an average of 49 per day) during the month with the highest mortality, August 1942, according to an already-examined British intercept.353

The cremation capacity of the crematorium in the StammlagerMain Camp, at that time already equipped with three Topf double-muffle cremation furnaces – 200 bodies a day – is exaggerated, as their theoretical capacity in 24 hours was only 144 bodies (Mattogno/Deana 2015, pp. 337-341).

Although speaking of gassings, the author of the letter knew nothing about the phantasmagorical “Bunker 1.” The inmates at Auschwitz only knew of one “Bunker,” which is described in the “Memorandum on the Situation of the Country over the Period from June 1 – July 15, 1942” (Obóz…, p. 35):

“New types of ordinary punishment, that is, confinement to a bunker, were introduced at the Auschwitz Camp. This bunker [bunkier] is a windowless cement cell only 90 centimeters high, so that the prisoner cannot sit down even for a moment.”

The term “Bunker” for the Auschwitz camp brig was commonly used by the camp SS, as shown by a letter by Liebehenschel dated December 10, 1945, when he was still a prisoner of the Americans at Dachau, to Dr. Dortheimer. Among the improvements to the lives of Auschwitz inmates for which he claimed credit was in fact the following:354

“Die von der Politischen Abteilung, in den meisten Fällen ohne Grund, vollgestopften Bunker machte ich sofort leer und brachte die Allerärmesten wenigstens wieder unter Menschen zu ihren Kameraden.”

“I immediately emptied the bunker overcrowded by the Political Department, in most cases for no real reason, and allowed at least the most miserable men [detained there] to return to their comrades.”

The “Memorandum on the Situation in the Country over the Period from July 16 to August 25, 1942” reports (Obóz…, p. 37):

“a few dozen of the most-physically fit inmates are selected from each group of new arrivals. These inmates formed a special unit [kompania specjalna] who dug graves and buried the dead, at night. This unit – which was strictly isolated – was exterminated after a certain time in the gas chamber [w komorze gazowej] and replaced by another unit. Some of the dead inmates were burnt in the crematorium.”

Danuta Czech claims that “Bunker 2” became operational on June 30, but the only source cited by her consists of statements by Rudolf Höss, incredibly distorted by Czech herself. For example, she transformed Höss’s words “während des Sommers” “during the summer” into June 30, 1942! (See Mattogno 2020, pp. 232f.)

With reference to the “Memorandum” passage just quoted, but again inventing the date (July 4, 1942), the editor of the Auschwitz Chronicle writes (Czech 1990, p. 192; emphases added):

“The so-called Sonderkommando (Special Squad) is formed, consisting of several dozen Jewish prisoners. They must dig pits near the bunker and bury those who are killed in the gas chambers.”

The words underlined by me are distortions invented by Czech and do not appear in the source text. The extraordinary fact is that the author of the report was aware of the “Sonderkommando,” which allegedly worked in the “bunker,” but knew nothing about the “bunker” itself. And this is true for all the resistance messages from Auschwitz. One wonders who carried out the activities at “Bunker 1” (which presumably entered into operation on March 20, 1942355), if the first Sonderkommando was only formed on July 4…

A bit further on, the report says (Obóz…, pp. 37f.):

“Every once in a while, the patients were examined, and some of them were sent to the gas chamber [do komory gazowej].”

On June 20, 1942, four inmates escaped from Auschwitz. One of them, who had spent 22 months there, wrote a detailed report which was published in Issue No. 31 of the Informacja Bieżąca on August 26, 1942. It also repeats almost word for word the two stories reproduced earlier (ibid., pp. 39f.):

“The 100 physically strongest persons were selected from groups of new arrivals. They formed a special unit which dug graves and buried the dead at night. This unit was strictly isolated and was exterminated in the gas chamber after a short time, after which it was replaced by another unit. […]

Every once in a while, the patients are examined, and some of them are sent to the gas chamber.”

A “Letter written from Auschwitz Camp” dated August 29, 1942 reports (ibid., p. 42):

“Every day, two full carts, [each] carrying about 150 persons [bodies], left for the crematorium, which had been expanded and restructured so as to be able to destroy 200 persons in 24 hours. A rather high percentage are swallowed [sic] by the executions. Many methods of killing are devised. From the most primitive, based on bludgeoning, to the most modern, using gas [gazu].”

This report returns to the “Hammerluft,” this time indicated by the related Polish expression, “młot powietrzny” (ibid., p. 43):

“The condemned men are taken outside to the courtyard, where the executioner, referred to by us as the shooter-rifleman, places a pneumatic hammer on the person’s head, and death ensues. The posterior part of the head is smashed.”

From the context, the murder weapon must have been a compressed-air rifle – rather an odd weapon for execution purposes – but the Polish term for this weapon is “wiatrówka,” in German “Luftgewehr,” “air rifle,” so that the references to “Hammerluft” and “młot powietrzny” are meaningless and inexplicable.

Another letter of November 1, 1942, which I will discuss later, returns to this phantasmagorical instrument of death, but calls it a “Lufthammer.”

The August letter then speaks of lethal injections and other methods of killing (ibid.):

“The most terrible are the mass executions using gas [przy pomocy gazu] in chambers especially built for the purpose [w komorach specjalnie na ten cel pobudowanych]. There are two of them, and they can contain 1,200 persons. They contain baths with showers, which unfortunately produce gas instead of water [zamiast wody wydobywa gaz]. In this way, above all, entire transports of persons are killed who are not prepared to die. They are told that they are to take a shower, and they are even issued hand towels – 300,000 people have already died in this way. At one time, they were buried in a mass grave, but now they are burned in the open in suitably excavated mass graves. Death was caused by suffocation, because of profuse bleeding from the nose and mouth. Every once in a while, 750 typhus patients or convalescents are taken from the camp and taken to the chambers.”

These two “gas chambers” are interpreted by historians at the Auschwitz Museum as Bunkers 1 and 2, but apart from the fact that Bunker 1 was supposed to have had two gas chambers and Bunker 2 four such chambers (Piper 2000, pp. 135, 139), even if we understand this to imply two gassing facilities rather than chambers, the fact remains that the story, which is otherwise rich in detail, does not use the presumably official terms “Bunker” or the and unofficial terms “czerwony domek” (small red house) and “biały domek” (small white house).

The figure of 300,000 victims is complete nonsense even from an orthodox perspective. According to data from the Auschwitz Chronicle, approximately 50,000 persons had presumably been gassed by August 29, 1942, a figure which includes 35,130 fictitious deportees/gassing victims from invented transports (see Mattogno 2019, pp. 461-465). To this must be added the fact that, based on the “Report on the situation in the country over the period August 26 – October 10, 1942,” which I will discuss in more detail shortly, the number of gassing victims was 60,200 by July 15,356 therefore, 239,800 inmates were said to have been gassed in just one month and a half, an average of over approximately 5,300 per day. Since the batch capacity of the two gas chambers was 1,200 persons, this would have required 200 gassings, 100 gassings in each chamber!

This figure of 1,200 persons then became canonical, and was adopted even by Höss, but only for “Bunker 2” (Mattogno 2020, pp. 237-242).

The cause of death is equally fantastic, and the killing system described – gas coming out of real showers leading to bleeding noses and mouths, evidently resulting from destroyed lungs – instead of Zyklon B that has no such effects and cannot be fed through pipes – is pure fiction which was later borrowed by various other witnesses, as we shall see.

The extermination of typhus patients is another simple-minded fairy tale. Of the 4,167 typhus cases registered between March 12, 1942 and November 30, 1942 in Block 20 of the Stammlager Main Camp, only 90 patients were allegedly gassed, but this gassing is pure fiction (Mattogno 2016a, pp. 106-109).

The mention of shower baths, by contrast, provides an important insight into the origins of the story of the two gas chambers, to be discussed later.

Issue No. 33 of Informacja Bieżąca of September 18, 1942 supplies a significant example of fantasies and myths (Obóz…, p. 44):

“The camp has approximately 100,000 inmates at the present time, including approximately 70,000 Jews from all over Europe. Typhus cases are so numerous in the camp that not even the guards can leave the camp. At present, not even the inmates are sent out to work on any job. Individual blocks have been isolated.

Over the past few months, the following preparations have been made in the territory of the camp: 1) gas chambers [komory gazowe] have been installed in which the Jews are poisoned (1,000 persons per day on average). 2) The bacteriological institute, where experiments are performed on Poles – dozens of persons perish every day. 3) The biological institute, which carries out complicated research on Germans and Poles.

The result of all these practices is the placement in operation of 3 crematoria [3 krematoriów], which now work 24 hours a day.”

The “Summary of total labor deployment” dated September 22, 1942 recorded a total camp manpower at the Auschwitz-Birkenau Camp of 28,207 inmates.357

The report speaks generically of “komory gazowe” without any allusion to the presumed “bunker.” The “bacteriological institute” was the Hygienic-Bacteriological Research Center of the Waffen SS Southeast (Hygienisch-Bakteriologische Untersuchungsstelle der Waffen-SS, Südost), also known as the Hygiene Institute of the Waffen SS and Police Auschwitz (Hygiene-Institut der Waffen-SS und Polizei Auschwitz), headquartered in Rajsko. The institute was located in a private two-story house owned by a Polish evacuee (Kieta, p. 213), which was remodeled accordingly. In an “Übersicht” “Overview” of the Bauwerke structures to be built by the Central Construction Office during the third Kriegswirtschaftsjahr (fiscal year of the war), dated July 30, 1942, we find listed an “Ausbau des Rohbaues in Raisko als Laboratorium” “Upgrading of the building shell in Raisko to a laboratory.”358 Initially, this laboratory was listed as BW 68, but then as 68a (68b was an “landwirtschschaftliches Laboratorium in Raisko” “agricultural laboratory in Raisko”). Construction work began on August 17, 1942.359 The “Baubericht für Monat Dezember 1942” “Construction report for the month of December 1942” describes the progess made on the project:360

“BW 68A Hygien. Laboratorium in Raisko. Klärgrube fertiggestellt. Fenster eingesetzt und Ausbau des Dachgeschoßes fortgesetzt.”

“BW 68A hygiene laboratory in Raisko. Septic tank ready. Windows installed. Finishing of top floor progressing.”

According to the Baufristenplan construction deadline schedule for September 1943, dated October 2, the work was completed at the end of June 1943.361 It is therefore obvious that the “bacteriological institute” did not yet exist on September 18, 1942, and that the associated account is false.

As regards “the placement in operation of 3 crematoria,” this should be understood to refer to crematoria rather than furnaces (in Polish “piece”), which is how the editors at the Auschwitz Museum understood it, who observed in a note that the new crematoria were put into operation only during the first half of 1943 (Obóz…, FN 3, p. 45), meaning they did not yet exist on September 18, 1942.

The “Report on the situation in the country over the period August 26 – October 10, 1942” attempts to account for the variations in camp manpower in greater detail than in the letter of June 1942 cited earlier. But it also includes the fantastic stories which we just finished discussing (ibid., p. 45):

“Bacteriological and biological research laboratories have been set up and placed in operation in the area of the camp, performing experiments on inmates; dozens of inmates die every day as a result of these experiments.”

Shortly afterwards, the same report dishes up some other fantasies, involving Soviet prisoners of war (ibid., p. 46):

“Starting in July 1941, Bolshevik prisoners of war were brought to the camp, where almost all of them – several tens of thousands [w liczbie kilkudziesięciu tysięcy] of them – were poisoned in gas chambers.”

The report then dwells upon statistics at great length. The editors at the Auschwitz Museum published another facsimile of the original (page 2 only), typewritten and titled “Oswiecim obóz śmierci” (“Auschwitz Death Camp”; Obóz…, p. 47), which to some extent contains similar data that I will compare where appropriate. This report was published under the same title in Issue No. 39 of the Biuyletyn Informacyjny dated October 8, 1942 (pp. 1098-1100):

“Towards January 1 [1942], approximately 2,000 Jews arrived at the camp; over the course of 1942, approximately 30,000 Jews and 150 [in the typewritten document: 15,000] Jewesses and Jewish children. Of this figure, 3,000 Jews and 7,000 Jewesses were entered in the list of old [registered] inmates, while the rest, including all the children, were sent to the gas chambers.”

On July 15, 1942, the last registration number assigned in the men’s camp alone was 46,960.362

Then follows a detailed list of deaths, broken down by cause:

– typhus: approximately 2,000

– wasting away of bodily organs: 4,000

– dysentery: 4,000

– pulmonitis and tuberculosis: 1,500

– meningitis: 200

– other deaths: 800

– killed by injections of phenol: 2,000

– shooting: 4,000

– gassing: 2,900

– killed in the bunker363 in the penal company (beatings, stake [kara słupka]364): 1,200

– killed at work: 800

– suicide: 390

– Total: 23,790.

“In total, 228,000[365] inmates died over the course of two years (from June 1940, when the camp was opened, to June 1942).”

The report then attempts to provide an accounting of this figure, first by listing all the deportees to the camp:

– inmates in the protective-custody camp (Schutzhaftlager): 44,000; Erziehungshäftlinge re-educational inmates: 2,900; “miscellaneous non-registered inmates (sent to the gas chambers directly from the trains)”: 8,000; “Bolshevik prisoners in this category,” that is, gassed immediately: 12,000;366 registered Bolshevik prisoners of war: 14,000; registered women: 9,600; “non-registered Jews and Jewesses”: 3,500 [in the typewritten document: 35,000]. Total on July 1, 1942: 125,500.

Then follows a list of inmates who left the camp alive:

– released: 2,030, including 1,500 Poles

– transferred to other camps: 4,858

– escaped and not recaptured: 12

– Total: 6,900

On July 1, 1942, the population of the camp was broken down as follows:

– Schutzhaftlager protective custody camp: 14,500

– Erziehungslager re-education camp: 300

– women’s camp: 9,600

– Bolshevik POWs: 60

– Total: 24,460

Based on extant documents, the men’s camp actually contained 15,025 inmates on July 1, 1942, including 154 Soviets.367 In the women’s camp, the last number assigned on that date was 8,183,368 therefore the presence of 9,600 registered inmates is impossible. The conclusion of the report is as follows:

“94,140 persons were therefore killed or died at Auschwitz over the period of approximately two years.” (Obóz…, p. 46)

This figure is the result of the following act of subtraction: (125,500 – 6,900 – 24,460) = 94,140, but the calculation is incorrect, because the report lists the deaths (23,790) and gassings (60,200)[356] in a detailed manner, for a total of 83,990.

The letter of June 1942 indicated 57,800 deaths up to the first day of the month, so that in the month of June alone, according to this data, there would have been 36,340 deaths, which is impossible, since only four transports were allegedly gassed (from Ilkenau, Sosnowitz and Kobierzyn), but all these transports are fictitious.

Regarding Jewish transports, the report mentions 2,000 deportees arriving on January 1, 1942 – a purely imaginary transport – and 45,000 (30,000 men and 15,000 women) “over the course of 1942,” but the report takes July 1st as its point of final reference, hence only half of 1942. Of these deportees, 10,000 (3,000 men and 7,000 women) were registered, so that there were 35,000 presumed gassing victims. But the Jewish transports that arrived at Auschwitz began to be subjected to “selections” only on July 4, as deduced from the registration numbers assigned based on the strength of the transports. It follows that 35,000 people are claimed to have already been gassed at Auschwitz when the presumed mass extermination of Jews had not even begun! To this we must add 8,000 non-registered inmates (presumably non-Jews, since Jews are counted separately) and 12,000 unregistered Soviet POWs, for a total of 55,000 gassed persons.

But these are not the only fantasies contained in the report. In fact, it also contains a very detailed account of the “komory gazowe” “gas chambers” (ibid., p. 48):

“The first use of gas chambers was in June 1941. A transport of 1,700 incurably ill inmates was put together and ‘officially’ sent to the sanatorium at Dresden; but in reality, it was sent to the building converted into a gas chamber [do budynku, przebudowanego na komorę gazową]. The building nevertheless proved too small and impractical. It was decided to build 5 new chambers at Brzezinka [Birkenau], 7 km from the camp. [In the typewritten document: “5 new chambers were recently built at Brzezinka, 3 km from the camp”]. The building was finished in April 1942 [w kwietu 1942 r.]. These 5 chambers were built without windows, with double doors, fixed with bolts and with gas supply and ventilation [instalacjami do doprowadzenia gazu i wentylacji]; every building [budynek] is designed for 700 persons. Rail lines were laid between the buildings, by means of which the bodies were transported to the mass graves in the nearby woods. The gassing of 3,500 persons, including all the preliminary operations, lasted 2 hours. The gassing victims were mostly Bolsheviks and Jews. Among the Poles, particularly the Poles, most of the victims were incurably ill. There is no indication of the numbers of gassing victims in the reports sent to Berlin from the camp. Gassing victims not entered in the list, ‘non-registered,’ are listed under the heading for typhus and pneumonia fatalities, etc., into which these ‘deceased’ were entered in large numbers for a certain number of days before and after the execution. Every person executed in the [gas] chamber has a fictitious ‘natural-death card,’ made up in advance that gives a description of the type of disease alleged to have caused the death. These death cards are signed by the camp physician.”

This report contradicts and destroys the very basis of the current orthodox Holocaust narrative with regards to the “bunkers” of Birkenau. The first gassing was allegedly carried out in June 1941, at which time there was a “building transformed into a gas chamber.” Then, in April 1942, five other gassing installations were built. The text clearly uses the terms “gas chambers” and “buildings” interchangeably. Hence, in addition to the first gassing facility, five more were built, each with a capacity of 700 people. Hence, there were altogether six such facilities, which were all interconnected with rail lines!

A parallel account may also be found in Issue No. 36 of Informacja Bieżąca of September 28, 1942, not reproduced in the book published by the Auschwitz Museum, which contains two more details of relevance. After mentioning the arrival at Auschwitz of 14,000 registered Soviet prisoners of war, it states:

“To this number must be added approximately 12,000 prisoners who were not registered in the numerical list, but were sent directly from the railway to the Degasungskammer.”

A little further along, the story of the gas chambers was repeated using the same words, with this addition:

“The first use of gas chambers / Degasungskammer/ took place in June 1941.”

I shall return to this mangled German term “Degasungskammer” later.

The “Report on the Situation in the Country over the Period August 26 – October 10, 1942” moreover contains a report on Auschwitz by an inmate who had been released from the camp, making indirect mention of a gassing (ibid., p. 49):

“Over the past two years, at the beginning of spring, the Blockschonung[369] was eliminated in a barbarous manner. In 1941, an unknown number of inmates who had been living in this block and of patients from the hospital, in 1942, all the patients and convalescents, approximately 1,300 persons, were sent to Rajsko Camp, of which I shall speak next.”

The presumed 1941 poisoning is an obvious reworking of the presumed gassing of 1,700 incurably ill patients in June 1941 mentioned earlier. The anonymous witness then returns to the “hell of Rajsko,” confusing Rajsko with Birkenau. He claims that, of the 1,300 inmates who had been sent to Rajsko, only 140 remained after four weeks, and that, of 12,000 POWs, fewer than 200 remained. “These persons, in 99% of all cases, perished as the result of beatings, immersion in mud and excrement” (ibid., p. 50).

There is no mention of gas chambers at Birkenau.

Issue No. 37 of the Biuletyn Informacyjny (Information Bulletin) dated September 17, 1942 dedicates a few lines to Auschwitz, reworking the information discussed above. At the camp, typhus cases were so common that not even the SS could exit the camp grounds, and individual blocks were in isolation.

“In the area of the camp, a bacteriological and biological research laboratory was opened, which performed experiments on inmates. The result of this activity was a strong increase in mortality.”

The report then reproduces a new item in direct conflict with the cornerstone of orthodox Holocaust historiography (Biuyletyn Informacyjny, p. 1086):

“The Jewish sector of the camp had 70,000 Jews [70 tysięcy Żydów], transported there from all over Europe. Gas chambers [komory gazowe] were installed for them in which an average of 1,000 Jews per day were poisoned. The bodies were burned in 3 crematoria.”

Therefore, Jews unfit for labor were not gassed immediately upon arrival, as the current narrative has it, but they were interned in a special sector of the camp, which could accommodate 70,000 of them. At the rate of 1,000 per day, exterminating them all in “gas chambers” would have required 70 days, but in the meantime, “the Jewish sector” would have had to accommodate the subsequent transports.

Issue No. 39 of Informacja Bieżąca of October 23, 1942 offers more information on Auschwitz (Obóz…, p. 52):

“According to a German source, the monthly number of cremated victims in the camp was approximately 2,500. Up until August 15, the official ‘Death Book’ recorded 18,800 cremated inmates. But in addition to this official figure (inmates from Poland and the Reich), thousands of Jews from Poland, France, Holland and Germany, in addition to Serbs, Czechs, Slovaks, Hungarians and even Italians, plus a certain number of Polish ‘evacuatees’ and even Soviet POWs; in 1941, approximately 60,000 [ok. 60 tys.] and not one survivor: experiments with war gases had been performed on these prisoners. The valuables confiscated from French and Dutch Jews at the camp exceeded the value of 60 million pre-war Reichsmarks in gold and jewels. According to the report of an SS man employed at the electrical chambers [przy komorach elektr.], the daily number of these victims officially amounted to 2,500 every night. They are killed in an electrical bath [w łaźni elektryczenej] and in gas chambers [w komorach gazowych].”

The “Death Book” actually associated with cremations was called the Leichenhallenbuch (morgue registry), as I have explained earlier, but up until mid-August, only a few less than 10,000 deaths were recorded in it.370 However, the number given is compatible with those entered in the “Sterbebuch” No. 13 of 1942, in which the number 18,800 was assigned to inmate Jozef Marcian on August 8, 1942 (Staatlichen Museum…, Vol. 3, p. 776). In a specific study, I demonstrated that the coke supplies for the crematorium in the Main Camp Stammlager are perfectly consistent with the number of deaths registered in the morgue registry (Mattogno 2015, pp. 9-51) Leichenhallenbuch.

The figure of 60,000 Soviet POWs is absurd, while the claim about an “electric bath” falls squarely into the category of fiction.

A letter dated November 1, 1942 originating from the camp attempts to rationalize the “Hammerluft” story in the preceding reports, now called “Lufthammer.” The context is “the execution of 240 inmates from 3 transports from Lublin” which had “recently” (ostatnio) arrived. A note by the editors refers to the presumed shooting in reprisal of 280 Polish inmates which, according to the Auschwitz Chronicle, is supposed to have occurred on October 28 (Czech 1990, p. 259), but there is no documentary evidence in support of this claim.

The 240 inmates, the letter reports,

“were transferred to the courtyard of the penal company, where execution was carried out by means of ‘Lufthammern’ (pneumatic hammers [młota powietrznego]). The inmates’ hands were tied together behind their backs, and they were taken out into the courtyard one by one after stripping naked. There, the barrel of this compressed-air rifle [tej powietrznej strzelby] was pointed at them from behind and fired without detonation. The hammer [młot] struck them on the base of the head, and the compressed air shattered the brain.” (Obóz…, p. 54)

The term “Lufthammer” has never been explained, and the weapon in question presupposes that compressed air, instead of firing a bullet, pushed some metallic bolt or striker which projected from the barrel, a kind of pneumatic cattle gun – a rather unusual weapon!

The letter moreover mentions “the escape of 70 Bolsheviks who had probably been condemned to be gassed for having witnessed the murder of 5,000 prisoners killed in this or some other way” (ibid.). The escape of 70 Soviet prisoners of war is pure fantasy. The documents in the archives of the Auschwitz State Museum show five escapes in October 1942, another five in the month of September, three in the month of August (Iwaszko, p. 45). The murder of 15,000 Soviet prisoners of war, as I noted above, is another fantasy.

A message dated November 2, 1942 takes up the presumed execution of Poles, stating that there were 260 victims, “exclusively intellectuals,” and that this took place on October 26 in reprisal for the explosion of a bomb in Warsaw. These data are in conflict with those contained in the letter of a few days earlier, as well as with those given by Danuta Czech.

Another bit of invented information is the arrival at Auschwitz of 180 Soviet POWs on November 3, most of whom “were made to enter the gas chamber and were poisoned there, while the remainder was shot.”

The following unique news item is linked to the item contained in Issue No. 37 of Biuletyn Informacyjny dated September 17, 1942 (Obóz…, p. 55):

“The effective manpower of Auschwitz concentration camp on October 31 was 75,000 persons, including Jewish arrivals.”

The “Memorandum on the Situation in the Country over the Period October 11 – November 15, 1942” includes the information from Informacja Bieżąca of October 23, 1942 regarding the number of cremated inmates:

“The official registry of cremated inmates up until the present time in the crematoria [w krematoriach] at Auschwitz numbered approximately 18,000 surnames[371] of Auschwitz camp martyrs up until August 15. The registry in question does not list the tens of thousands of persons sent to Auschwitz for the sole purpose of their extermination in the gas chambers [w komorach gazowych].”

It bears repeating that on October 31, the inmate population of the Auschwitz Camp was said to have amounted to 75,000, including Jews transported to the camp (Obóz…, p. 56).

A very long report from November 1942 reveals the extent to which the extermination of the Jews has simply been invented. Auschwitz was the camp of martyrdom of the Polish people, but the Allies cared very little about that. The involvement of the Jews was intended to sensitize their consciences, drawing attention to the sufferings of the Poles, who had suffered the “first gassing” as early as June 1941!

This perspective appears from the very beginning of the report, and is repeated several times (ibid., pp. 58f.):

“The Auschwitz penal camp, in which tens of thousands [dziesiątki tysięcy] of Poles have already been killed over the past two years, and where they have also begun to kill women starting this year, no doubt constitutes the greatest dishonor to the German people and the profound demonstration of its moral degradation. […]

It is necessary to shout out-loud to the world our opinion on Auschwitz, on an unprecedented crime perpetrated against the Polish nation. […]

Here, it is not solely a question of sparing tens or even hundreds of thousands of persons, condemned to the agony of the most-atrocious torments, but of preserving first and foremost the intellectual class of the Polish people from total extermination, for which Auschwitz is primarily designed.”

Here, the information on the “Degasungskammer” from the preceding reports is warmed up and dished out again with a variation. Approximately 12,000 Soviet POWs were allegedly gassed in the “Degasungskammer,” in addition to the more than 35,000 Jews mentioned above (the presumed 45,000 deportees minus the 10,000 registered inmates). On this “first gassing” at Birkenau, the report says (ibid., p. 60):

“The first use of gas chambers (Degasungskammer) took place in June 1941. A transport of 1,700 persons (incurably ill, venereal-disease patients, patients suffering from Körperschwache [sic; physical weakness], organ failure, minors having undergone resection of the ribs, meningitis patients) was sent to the sanatorium at Dresden (according to an official communication). In reality, they were transported to the building transformed into a gas chamber [do budynku przebudowanego na komorę gazową]. The building was found to be too small and not very practical. Five [pięciu] modern chambers [nowoczesnych komór] were [then] built at Brzezinka (Birkenau), 7 km from the camp. Construction was completed in April 1942. These were 6 blocks [6 bloków] (without windows, with bolted double doors, modern [nowoczesne] gas supply [doprowadzające gaz] and ventilation installations, each for 700 persons. Between the blocks ran a little narrow-gauge railway which carried the bodies to the mass graves, each located 4 km away in the nearby woods. Another little train carried the lime to cover up the bodies. The entire area of the D-Kammer is a closed area; all unauthorized persons found in the area are subject to capital punishment (this also includes the SS, Wehrmacht, civilians and inmates). The gassing of 3,500 persons takes 2 hours.”

A list of presumed gassings is then proposed (ibid., p. 61):

“1,700 sick inmates were gassed in June 1941,

2,800 Bolshevik prisoners [were gassed] in July,

1,200 sick inmates [were gassed] in August.

Entire groups of prisoners were gassed later. In May and June 1942, Jewish transports carrying 800-2,000 persons were gassed every two days.

Many transports were sent directly from the rail line to the D-Kammer, that is:


	
		
				
Bolshevik prisoners


				
ca. 12,000


		

		
				
Poles


				
ca. 8,000


		

		
				
Jews and Jewesses


				
ca. 35,000


		

	

All these persons were unregistered in the numerical list, and do not appear in the official camp statistics.”

When killing registered inmates, the report continues, they appeared in the documents as having died of natural causes, while in the death registries they were entered over a period of several days. Since the killings were legal according to the logic attributed to the camp, it is hard to grasp the reasons for this subterfuge.

The report moreover says that 1,500 Poles, 150 Germans, one Jew and 180 Czechs had been released from the camp, which is hard to reconcile with the secrecy which allegedly veiled the claimed executions.

The death statistics for the period leading up to July 1, 1942 are dished up again with a few variations (ibid., pp. 62f.):

– typhus: approximately 2,000

– “allgemeine Körperschwäche” (general systemic wasting syndrome): 4,000

– dysentery: 3,000 (instead of 4,000)

– pneumonia and tuberculosis: 1,500

– meningitis: 200

– other deaths: 800

– killed by injections of phenol: 2,000

– shot: 4,000

– gassed: 2,900

– “killed in the bunker [w bunkrze”]: 1,200

– killed at work: 800

– suicides on the electric fence: 390

– “asphyxiated in bunker (w bunkrze) in which they are [compelled to remain] standing (the night of May 6, 1942): 32.”

– Total: 22,822 deaths, as against 23,790 in the preceding report.

The number of alleged unregistered gassing victims were as follows:

– 8,000 inmates

– 14,000 prisoners of war

– 35,000 Jews and Jewesses.

The total number of deaths on July 1 was 94,139 (as against 94,140 in the preceding report).

The report by the anonymous inmate released from Auschwitz and examined earlier is then reproduced in full. A description of the “bunker” (bunkier) also appears in the context of the camp’s penal system (ibid., p. 68):

“Another punishment is the so-called bunker. The condemned man goes to work normally, but at night he is locked into an underground cell measuring 1 m x 1 m, and spends the night there, on his feet, in the company of another 3 condemned men. This punishment lasted perhaps a few weeks.”

This was the “standing cell” (“Stehzelle”) of Block 11, “die in die gewöhnliche Zelle Nr. 22 eingemauert waren. Ihre Grösse war die Grösse einer normalen Telefonzelle. In diese Zelle konnte man nur durch eine kleine Öffnung am Fussboden gelangen” “which was bricked up inside the usual Cell No. 22. In size, it was the same as a normal telephone booth. This cell could only be entered through a small opening in the floor” (Brol/Pilecki, p. 7).

A letter from another anonymous Auschwitz inmate provides information on the Jewish transports (Obóz…, p. 69):

“Every week an average of two transports from Slovakia, France, the [Ruhr] Basin or the General Government. The Jews from the Basin and the General Government are poisoned en masse; it is difficult for us to establish their numbers, but it is enormous, to such an extent that it is not possible to carry away their clothing after [the deportees] have been poisoned. Near the gas chambers [koło komór gazowych] are approximately 15,000 [articles of clothing], notwithstanding the fact that they are carried away by the cartload every day. There are two poisoning locations [dwa miejska trucia]: in the camp crematorium (capacity 400 persons) and at Brzezinka, where a few cottages with considerably greater holding capacity were set up near the forest. The gassing victims are buried in large mass graves after being transported to the graves by a small train especially built to facilitate the transport. The Jewish civilians employed to fill in the graves are poisoned after a certain period of time, and are replaced by others. Among the garments, after the elimination of the people, is an enormous percentage of women’s and children’s clothing. With the last Jewish transport from Slovakia (200 persons) approximately 80 children arrived (it seems that the families were committed to their work); the children were poisoned at Brzezinka together with their mothers.”

The fragment of a letter from another inmate speaks of the typhus epidemic and describes the presumed cure as per the SS: “the transport of the patients to the gas chamber or their poisoning with injections (this was recently used for the first time in dealing with the Jews).” The inmate was a self-proclaimed witness of the presumed gassing of typhus patients on August 29, 1942, but there were not 90 victims, as claimed by Stanisław Kłodziński,372 but 746:

“On August 29, I survived the day when 746 typhus patients were poisoned (I am referring to 1942). I was among the sick – only destiny gave me the chance of escaping death.” (ibid, p. 70)

The presumed event is completely invented, like the presumed gassing of the 90 patients, which is based on a distortion of the data contained in the registry of Room No. 3 of Block 20.

These reports require a rather more extensive comment.

First of all, it should be noted that 5,700 persons are claimed to have been gassed already by August 1941, but it is known that, according to the Auschwitz Museum, the first homicidal gassing was carried out at Auschwitz most definitely on September 3-5, 1941 (Czech 1990, 85-87). One cannot therefore call this a “shadow projected by reality,” but rather pure invention.

The last transport from Slovakia before November 15, 1942 arrived at Auschwitz on October 21; a total of 199 Jews from this transport were registered (ibid., p. 256). Hence, if there were 200 deportees on this transport, as stated in the report, then only one single person was gassed…

With this report, the literary saga of the gas chambers is enriched by two significant elements. The first is the “poisoning location” of the crematorium in the Stammlager Main Camp. In this regard, Franciszek Piper wrote (Piper 2000, p. 133):

“Filip Müller, a member of the Sonderkommando and the author of a well-known memoir of his stay in the camp, was employed among the personnel at crematorium I from May 1942 to July 1943. He stated that he had seen with his own eyes the killing there of several scores of thousands of Jews from Upper Silesia, Slovakia, France, Holland, Yugoslavia, and the ghettos of Theresienstadt, Ciechanów and Grodno.”

According to Höss, in this crematorium “only [wyłącznie] these Russian prisoners were gassed”373 who, as we have seen, the clandestine reports manage to inflate to at least 12,000. Various inmates signed statements after the end of the war concerning the presumed gas chamber in the crematorium at the Stammlager Main Camp – the already-quoted Filip Müller in addition to Michał Kula, Stanisław Jankowski, Erwin Bartel, Jan Krokowski, Michał Hałgas, Władysław Kluczny, Kazimierz Kumala, Tadeusz Pietrzykowski, Stefan Boratyński, Zdzisław Mikołajski, Władysław Girsa, Ludwik Bas, Edward Pyś, but the list is certainly not complete; those who “knew” must have been a good deal more numerous, since the crematorium was right next to the camp fence. One therefore wonders why Filip Müller or the other self-proclaimed eyewitnesses did not immediately transmit this extremely important information to the outside world, but instead waited 14 months374 before anyone could hear that there was a “poisoning location” in the crematorium!

The second element is the mention of “a few cottages near the forest,” (“kilka domków pod lasem”).

Here too, almost eight months after the claimed entry into operation of the elusive “Bunker 1” (March 20, 1942), after having invented the “Degasungskammer,” the building transformed into a gas chamber in June 1941, then the new construction of “five modern chambers,” which later became six blocks, in April 1942 (although “Bunker 2” is supposed to have entered into operation on June 30), while completely ignoring the term presumably in use – “bunker” – finally the Auschwitz resistance learned that the structures in question were “a few” (!) “cottages” (domki, plural of domek). This literary invention may seem irrelevant, but, as we shall see below, it is very important, since it contained the canonical term “domki,” which, by means of an additional exercise in fantasy, became transmogrified into the denominations of “czerwony domek” (little red house) and “biały domek” (little white house).

“Annex No. 44 for the period December 16-31, 1942” presents a statistic on camp manpower and mortality. On December 1, the men’s camp had 22,391 inmates, of whom the Auschwitz Main Camp housed 17,672 and Birkenau had 4,719. There were 7,743 Poles, 305 Germans, 3,216 Czechs and 150 Soviet prisoners of war, in addition to 8,588 Jews. There were 2,000 sick inmates; natural mortality averaged 30 deaths a day. 30-40 sick inmates per day were euthanized with injections of phenol. The increased mortality was due to abdominal diseases, such as typhus. A total of 158 inmates had died by December 1, and the average mortality rate was 120-180 deaths per day, presumably referring to the month of November. There were 8,232 inmates in the women’s camp (Obóz…, p. 75).

The camp population of 22,391 inmates is perfectly consistent with that contained in the official German report for the month of December, which was intercepted and deciphered by the British; the number of prisoners of war – 150 – is identical. The figures for the Poles and Jews, by contrast, are divergent, i.e., 10,291 Poles according to the decrypts (instead of 7,743) and 8,394 Jews (instead of 8,588).375

The women’s camp had 6,549 inmates on December 1, 1942, not 8,232.376

There were 91 Abgänge (losses due to releases, transfers and deaths) that day in the men’s camp, and 43 in the women’s camp, for a total of 134, while the resistance report speaks of 158 deaths. This proves that the resistance could get quite close to the truth in their reports if only they wanted to.


	2.3.2. The 1943 Reports

A very detailed set of statistics, which also includes the claimed gassing victims, is set forth in a report from the “State Security Service of the Department of Internal Affairs of the Delegatura” dated January 1943; it runs from the opening of the camp until December 15, 1942, and is subdivided by nationality/category:


	
		
				
Poles


				
 


		

		
				
released:


				
1,200


		

		
				
living:


				
17,300


		

		
				
transferred to other camps:


				
4,500


		

		
				
shot:


				
5,000


		

		
				
gassed (zagazowanych):


				
16,000


		

		
				
killed by injections:


				
8,000


		

		
				
killed by torture and starvation:


				
3,000


		

		
				
died of disease:


				
22,000


		

		
				
gassed and shot without being registered:


				
12,000


		

		
				
Soviet POWS


				
 


		

		
				
living:


				
100


		

		
				
shot:


				
12,000


		

		
				
killed without being registered:


				
14,000


		

		
				
Jews


				
 


		

		
				
gassed (zagazowanych), from


				
 


		

		
				
France, Belgium, Holland:


				
502,000


		

		
				
gassed, from Poland:


				
20,000


		

		
				
Women, mostly from Poland


				
 


		

		
				
living:


				
6,800


		

		
				
shot:


				
2,800


		

		
				
gassed:


				
8,500


		

		
				
died of diseases:


				
18,000


		

		
				
Total inmates


				
 


		

		
				
living:


				
29,000


		

		
				
dead:


				
642,700


		

	

Finally, it is stated that 16 trains with Jews arrived at Auschwitz from Grodno between January 12 and 28, 1943, each train consisting of 26 cars (Obóz…, pp. 79f.). According to the Auschwitz Chronicle, however, only five Jewish transports reached Auschwitz from Grodno during the entire month of January 1943 (Czech 1990, pp. 309-312).

This statistic shows that the Auschwitz resistance movement and the Delegatura were beginning to extend their propagandistic horizons, as shown by the following table of the killings claimed:


	
		
				
Point in time


				
Jews


				
Soviet POWs

 


				
Poles


				
Inmates


				
Total


		

		
				
June 1


				
10,000


				
8,500


				
4,000


				
/


				
22,500


		

		
				
July 1


				
35,000


				
12,000


				
8,000


				
/


				
55,000


		

		
				
End of August


				
300,000


				
?


				
?


				
/


				
300,000


		

		
				
December 15


				
522,000


				
?


				
16,000


				
8,500


				
546,500


		

	

The data relating to the Poles are quite nonsensical: the report attributes 66,000 deaths to this group, including 16,000 (!) “gassing victims” plus an unknown share of the 12,000 persons “gassed and shot” without ever being registered. F. Piper states that at least 10,000 Polish inmates were killed (not “gassed”) at Auschwitz without being registered, but the documentation in this regard is so risible that he has to resort to materials from the resistance movement – including the above-mentioned report! (Piper 1993, pp. 144, 149)

The figure is therefore purely conjectural. It nevertheless includes between 3,000 and 4,500 Poles (another conjectural figure) sentenced to death by the Standgericht summary court martial of Kattowitz and executed at Auschwitz, hence the category of “persons shot,” although this category alone has 5,000 persons in the report. The other death categories (lethal injections, torture, starvation) are pure invention; the figure of 22,000 deaths among Polish inmates due to diseases could be the only credible datum, if it relates to natural deaths. During the years 1940 and 1941, we have documentation for the death of some 18,700 inmates, among them some 6,900 Soviet POWs (Mattogno 2019a, p. 276). The inmate registry (Stärkebuch) records the deaths of 6,803 Poles since January 19, 1942,377 so that the order of magnitude for the time span from the opening of the camp until mid-December 1942 does not seem far-fetched (18,700 – 6,900 + 6,800 = 18,600 Poles, compared to the claimed 22,000).

According to this report, there are supposed to have been 26,100 Soviet POWs interned at Auschwitz. Piper asserts that there were in total 11,964 registered POWs and at least 3,000 who were killed without being registered, but he gives an account of little more than half of them: 300 for July 1941, 600 on September 3, approximately 900 in September 1941, and 18 on February 26, 1944, for a total of 1,818. He produces no documentary evidence in this regard, and even here he refers to material from the resistance movement (ibid., p. 150).

The report claims that 14,000 Soviet POWs were left unregistered. In earlier reports, these POWs were claimed to have been gassed in the “Degasungskammer,” but here they were simply killed without any further details.

The report asserts that 522,000 Jews had been gassed by mid-December 1942, plus another 24,500 non-Jews. Such an enormous figure, equivalent to 400 transports,378 would have required a serious, accurate and more-detailed report on these extraordinary “gas chambers” – much more detailed than the scanty and imaginative assertions which appeared so far:

– one “Degasungskammer” in operation starting in June 1941;

– two gas chambers with a capacity of 1,200 persons;

– five or six gassing structures with a capacity of 700 persons each;

– “a few little houses” for gassing people;

not to mention the “electrical chambers” and “electric bath.”

To the resistance members, by contrast, the magic words “komory gazowe” and “zagazowany” were enough; what was evidently important to them was to fire off figures which were as horrifying as they are absurd.

Finally, regarding female inmates, the killing of 11,300 women is pure fantasy, and this is also true for the 5,812 women who were presumably “selected and killed in the gas chamber” during the first three days of October 1942 according to the Auschwitz Chronicle (Czech 1990, pp. 247f.; see Mattogno 2016a, p. 110).

The term “Degasungskammer,” as I have noted elsewhere (2016g, pp. 56-59), is a corruption of the German word “Begasungskammer” (fumigation chamber) featuring an air-circulation system patented by the German pest-control company Degesch (Deutsche Gesellschaft für Schädlingsbekämpfung, German Corporation for Pest Control): Degesch Besagungkammer → Degasungskammer. No installation of this type existed at Auschwitz, although 19 disinfestation chambers using such a system were planned for the Main Camp’s reception building (Aufnahmegebäude).

Now, whereas a Gaskammer could have referred among other things to a homicidal gas chamber, a Begasungskammer could mean only a gas chamber for disinfestation. But then, where did the term Begasungskammer – corrupted into “Degasungskammer” – originate? It came, no doubt, from an article by Gerhard Peters and Emil Wüstinger titled “Entlausung mit Zyklon-Blausäure in Kreislauf-Begasungskammern” (“Delousing with Zyklon-Hydrogen Cyanide in Circulatory Fumigation Chambers”).379 This article had been requested as technical background information from the HELI company (Heerdt-Lingler GmbH), the main representative of DEGESCH, by the Friedrich Boos Company, which had received the order to build the 19 Auschwitz disinfestation chambers mentioned above; it was received by the then SS New Construction Office at Auschwitz on July 3, 1941. After having been kept in the archives for a year, it was dusted off by the civilian engineer Rudolf Jährling, who worked in the technical department of the Central Construction Office and supervised the construction of the disinfestation installations in the admissions building.380

The admissions building project was the subject of specific discussions at that time; on July 31, 1941, SS Hauptsturmführer Karl Bischoff, at that time head of the Zentralbauleitung Central Construction Office, drew up a “first cost estimate regarding new construction of the laundry and admissions building with delousing and bath for detainees in Concentration Camp Auschwitz O/S” and the corresponding site plan.381 Therefore, only a detainee who worked at the planning office (Baubüro) of the Central Construction Office could have had any knowledge of Begasungskammern at that time. This office, as I remarked earlier, employed 96 inmates in February 1943, scattered over the various sections of the Central Construction Office, who had access to classified documents. The various Auschwitz resistance groups had members or sympathizers even in the Baubüro. In August 1944, for instance, three inmates who worked in this office, Vera Foltynova, Valeria Valova and Krystyna Horczak secretly prepared “zwei Fotokopien von Plänen der Krematorien mit Gaskammern” “two photocopies of the plans of the crematorium, with gas chambers”; Foltynova also made “ergänzende Zeichnungen, die Querschnitte von zwei Krematorientypen darstellten” “supplementary drawings showing the cross-section of two types of crematoria.” These documents were then smuggled out of the camp (Świebocki 1995, fn 276, p. 152), but the sources contradict each other as to how this was done. I will discuss this in greater detail in Chapter 2.4.

One of these drawings is clearly a collage of two plans, Plan No. 1311 on the sub-division of former Leichenkeller Morgue #3 into three small rooms (Pressac 1989, pp. 294f.), and Plan No. 1300 on the furnace room that also includes the smoke ducts of the five triple-muffle furnaces (ibid., p. 297). The names of the two large Leichenkeller morgues were switched, though: Leichenkeller Morgue #1 is called “L.K. 2,” while Leichenkeller Morgue #2 is “L.K. 1.”382

Other important details in the above-mentioned report confirm the correctness of the inference of the origins of the gas-chamber propaganda described above.

1. The mention of “modern gas-supply and ventilation installations.” None of the hydrogen-cyanide gas chambers in existence at Auschwitz at that time had both “gas-supply and ventilation installations.” Since the fumigation chambers then in existence were all merely improvised (“behelfsmässig”), meaning that they did not conform to the standard Degesch-Kreislauf design, they were equipped with ventilators, but had no means of introducing Zyklon B: the Zyklon pellets were simply dumped on the floor inside the disinfestation chambers. Only the Degesch-Kreislauf-“Begasungskammern” were also equipped with a device permitting the introduction of a sealed can of Zyklon B into the gas chamber, after which the can could be opened from outside the chamber: the content of the opened can of Zyklon B fell onto a wire basket, (Auffangblech für den Zyklon) where it was hit by a current of recirculating air heated up by a hot-air fan. This caused the hydrogen cyanide to evaporate and disseminate rapidly, creating a sort of “gas supply” (Peters/Wüstinger, p. 69). These devices were therefore called “Vergaser-Geräte” – gasification or gassing devices. According to orthodox historiography, the alleged homicidal gas chambers in the “bunkers” possessed neither any “gas-supply” installations nor any ventilation equipment.

2. The fact that the presumed homicidal “Degasungskammern” were equipped with double doors, exactly like the disinfestation “Begasungskammern,”383 and had no windows, which are quite superfluous in disinfestation gas chambers but absolutely necessary in the presumed homicidal gas chambers.384

3. The combination of gas chambers with shower-bath installations, which appeared in the letter dated August 29, 1942 and became a recurrent motif of later propaganda, was derived from the fact that the plans for the Auschwitz admissions building Aufnahmegebäude included 19 “Begasungskammern” plus a shower-bath installation for inmates, all under the same roof. Moreover, at that time, the two mirror-image disinfestation installations denominated BW 5a and 5b were both concurrently under construction at Birkenau. These buildings featured a hydrogen-cyanide fumigation chamber for clothing and a washing and shower area, referred to in the associated plans as “gas chamber” (“Gaskammer”) and “wash and shower room” (“Wasch- und Brauseraum”), respectively. This shower room with 50 showers was located immediately opposite the fumigation gas chamber, 5.52 meters away, separated from it by an air lock (“Schleuse”) and an antechamber (“Vorraum”).385 It is therefore highly probable that the idea of shower installations located inside the presumed homicidal gas chamber was suggested in the minds of the early inventors of this propaganda by the presence of these disinfestation installations under construction or already during their design stage.

4. The “Polish major” (Jerzy Tabeau), as I shall demonstrate shortly, was inspired even more directly in his description of the presumed homicidal gas chambers by the layout of the disinfestation and disinfection installations BW 5a and 5b, elaborating upon the account of an anonymous inmate, the author of a clandestine report drawn up in December 1942 or January 1943. After mentioning the executions “by means of pneumatic hammers” (“Lufthammern”), this report says:386

“The second killing center was the camp hospital. All patients considered so enfeebled by disease as to be no longer fit for work, in the opinion of the camp commandant, were killed. Every once in a while, a German doctor examined the patients and noted down a few [inmate] numbers. Early the next day, they were called in and killed by injection. If there were too many of them, they were loaded onto a truck and taken to Birkenau, to the gas chamber. There are two of them. Each chamber can hold 1,000 persons at a time. They are two residential houses from which the internal walls[387] and windows have been removed. Only large hermetically sealed doors and small ventilation openings were left in the walls. The inside of the chambers was laid out so as to resemble a shower bath. They only differed from real shower baths in that poison gas came out of the shower heads instead of water [miast wody, z pryszniców wydobywa się trujący gaz]. A railroad track comes right inside [the gas chamber] and removes the bodies. A barracks has been built between the two chambers, and divided in half, one half for women and children, and the other half for men. The drawing explains the rest.”

The drawing (Document 7) indeed shows a hut divided into two parts (“Dla mężcz.,” for men, and “Dla kobiet,” for women). It is linked by means of a corridor enclosed by walls (“mur parkan”) to the two gas chambers (“I komora,” “II komora”) located one in front of the other. A railroad track runs out of the gas chambers and runs around the building; the track from Gas Chamber II [“II komora”] runs in the space between the two buildings, after which the two tracks merge into one. This kind of detail obviously implies an “eyewitness testimony.”

That which will later come to be known as the “Sonderkommando” is known here as the “elite” (elita), a group of 30 persons. And this is the description of the gassing:388

“Inside the barracks, all the people must undress immediately, because they must go and take a shower. They are even given hand towels and soap. After the shower, they are supposed to receive [clean] underwear and clothes. When the chamber is full, the doors are closed, and the gas is released through apertures in the form of shower heads [przez otwory w formie przyszniców wydoba się gaz]. What happens next happens inside, and is difficult to known. After half an hour, the fans [wentylatory] are turned on, and after 45 minutes the bodies are loaded onto iron trolleys and taken away. Death probably occurs as a result of asphyxia, because all victims bleed from the mouth. Before the bodies are buried, they dig enormous graves, containing approximately 200,000 persons [sic]. At the present time, they are burned in ditches dug especially for the purpose.”

In the drawing, the two gas chambers are located facing each other, in the same positions as BW 5a and 5b. This tale’s most important contribution to the literary version is the number of gas chambers: the “komora I” and “komora II,” through the Soviet denomination of “gazokamera” (газокамерa) or “gazovaya kamera” (газовая камера) Nos. 1 and 2, became, after a labored literary elaboration, “Bunkers” 1 and 2 (Mattogno 2016g, pp. 77-79). Of course, these presumed gassing installations, according to the final version, were located at a distance of approximately 1,100 meters from each other, as the crow flies, but there was still time to separate them. In the meantime, the “official” number had been established: two, which had already been anticipated in the letter of November 1, 1942, where the gas chambers were also equipped with gas showers.

These stories, as I have mentioned earlier, were later reworked by the Pole Jerzy Tabeau, born at Zabłotów on December 8, 1918, who was interned at Auschwitz on March 26, 1942 under the name Jerzy Wesołoski, and was registered under number 27273. On November 19, 1943, he claims to have escaped the camp, and between December 1943 and the beginning of 1944 he wrote a report on his experiences at Auschwitz which was published in mimeographed form in August 1944 by Abraham Silberschein and later, in November 1944, by the U.S. War Refugee Board (Executive Office…). As the author of the report, an anonymous “Polish major” was mentioned, who was identified as Jerzy Tabeau only a few years after the end of the war. The fragment cited here is taken from the handwritten report in Polish attributed to Tabeau, only three pages of which have survived, and from the German translation by Abraham Silberschein:389

“The gas chambers.

To carry out these executions, special gas chambers were built in the little forest at B.[irkenau]. These were places which, apart from valves [wentylami] (Ventilen)[390] which could open or close hermetically according to necessity, had no openings in the walls. They were built to resemble bath installations, to deceive the victims upon entering. The executions took place in the following manner: prisoners slated for the gas chamber were examined one more time, and divided into fit and unfit to work, after which they were loaded onto trucks. Such a convoy consisted of 8-10 well-loaded trucks. The doomed men travelled without escort, because everything took place within the camp. The truck was followed only by a medical vehicle, because the camp physician had to be present at every execution. Upon arrival in the area of the [gas] chamber, which was surrounded by barbed wire, the doomed men had to strip naked, men, women and children, all together, and everyone received a hand towel and a piece of soap. They were then pushed into the chamber, not without blows and mistreatment. The chambers were filled to full capacity, after which the doors were shut, and specially trained SS men threw bombs [sic] filled with hydrogen cyanide [bomby z kwasem pruskim] through the valves [przez wentyle] in the walls. After 10 minutes, the doors were opened and a special Kommando [specjalne komando] (always made up of Jews) carried away the bodies and made way for another convoy.

At that time, the crematoria were still under construction, so that the small crematorium, which was, after all, located at Auschwitz, could not be used for the elimination of bodies. Therefore, enormous ditches were excavated, and all the bodies were buried there, one on top of another. This situation lasted until approximately the fall of 1942. Since the gassing of the Jews was being carried out with great intensity at that time, vast fields of bodies were formed, in which masses of bodies lay barely covered by a thin layer of earth. Since the bodies were decomposing, vapors from the bodies created an intolerable stench. As a result, in the fall of 1942, it became necessary to reopen all the graves, exhume the decomposed remains, and burn them in the crematoria (four of which had already been completed by that time), or collect them in enormous piles, which were then drenched with gasoline and burnt in this way The resulting large quantities of ash were taken way and scattered on the fields like fertilizer. When the crematoria were built, the bodies were cremated in the crematorium, but even then, recourse was often had to the old method of piles of bodies, since the crematoria were insufficient.”

This description was clearly inspired by the disinfestation installations in BW 5a and 5b. As I mentioned earlier, these buildings had a room with 50 showers (Wasch- und Brauseraum) and one hydrogen-cyanide gas chamber (Gaskammer) measuring approximately 105.7 square meters.

The gas chamber was equipped with two ventilators, which were installed in two round openings in the wall opposite the two access doors to the chamber. Outside, two short sheet-metal tubes were inserted into the two openings (see Mattogno 2016g, Photos 1 & 2, p. 240). The tubes could be closed by means of a round sheet metal cover fixed to a hinge, welded to the upper part of the tube, as may still be seen in the external walls of the gas chamber located on the first floor of Block 3 of the Main Camp (ibid., Photo 3, p. 241). During the fumigation, the cover remained closed by force of gravity; before placing the ventilators in operation, the cover was opened by means of a metallic wire linked to a small pulley fixed to the wall above the cover. These devices were transformed, in the propaganda of the clandestine resistance, into “valves.” The use of the Polish term “wentyl,” which means precisely “valve,” can only be explained in this way. BW 5a and 5b therefore had all the features that also defined the presumed homicidal gas chambers in the “bunkers”: they possessed a “bathing installation” and “special gas chambers” for disinfestation, which were equipped with “valves” which could open or close as needed, and, apart from these, “there were no openings in the walls.” Moreover, all this took place “within the camp,” but the same thing cannot be said, of course, of the so-called “bunkers,” which are both said to have been located outside the camp (another Freudian slip!).

The “bombs391 filled with hydrogen cyanide” gave rise, in successive accounts, to various other, equally incredible variants, while the literary motif of the “medical vehicle” transporting the physician on duty later developed into the “Sanker,” the Red Cross vehicle allegedly used to transport Zyklon B.

The story of the pyres or cremation ditches was also the distortion of a real fact, as I shall explain momentarily.

The morgue registry (Leichenhallenbuch), instituted on October 7, 1941, was the registry of the Leichenhalle morgue of Block 28, which in practice was the antechamber to the crematorium. 2,915 deaths were entered in it by December 31, 1941.

The Totenbuch, the registry of deaths of Soviet prisoners of war, was also instituted on October 7, 1941, and was kept until February 28, 1942. The number of deaths recorded in it added up to a total of 8,320. The Sterbebücher, which list the deaths of inmates and detainees other than Soviet POWs, show approximately 13,400 deaths for the first half-year of 1942, to which must be added 800 deaths of Soviet POWs registered between March 1 and June 30, 1942 in the Stärkebuch, the occupancy registry for the men’s camp, which was started on January 19, 1942. In total, therefore, 25,400 people died at Auschwitz between October 7, 1941 and June 30, 1942.392

From the coke supplies to the crematorium between January 29 and June 30, 1942 – approximately 200 tons (see Mattogno 2015, Table I, pp. 121-125) – we can deduce the number of bodies cremated. If assuming an average coke consumption per cremated body equal to that of the identical Topf double-muffle furnace at the Gusen Camp – ca. 37 kg of coke at a rate of 26 cremations per day (ibid., pp. 30-33) – the number of cremated bodies was approximately 5,400. For the months of October through December 1941, extrapolating from the data for February through June 1942 and considering that the crematorium was equipped with two double-muffle furnaces, we may assume a minimum of 2,000 cremations. In practice, over the time period in question, there was an excess of approximately 18,000 bodies which could not be cremated and were therefore buried in mass graves at Birkenau. The reports which speak of mass graves, as explicitly asserted in the letter dated September 4, 1942 mentioned earlier, should be interpreted in this sense:

“The bodies of those who died at the camp were taken to the crematorium, which could, however, only cremate approximately 200 bodies in 24 hours, while the rest were taken to ‘Brzezinka’ and buried in suitably excavated graves.”

This is also the real meaning of the eyewitness testimony relating to the excavation of mass graves, such as that by Rosin (see Subchapter 3.2.9.). No documents have been conserved in this regard. On the aerial photographs of Birkenau taken in 1944, in particular those taken on May 31, it is nevertheless possible to identify an area north of Crematorium V which contains traces of four mass graves, two of which were approximately 100 meters long, while the other two were approximately 130 meters long, and approximately 10 meters wide (see Mattogno 2016f, p. 56; Doc. 29, p. 173). The dimensions were justified by the fact that the graves could not be very deep, since the water table was only 1.2 meters below the surface (ibid., p. 39).

One of the few true statements made by Rudolf Höss is that made by him on April 15, 1946 at Nuremberg stating (IMT, Vol. XI, p. 420):

“when the crematoria had not yet been built we burned in large pits a large part of those who had died and who could not be cremated in the provisional crematoria of the camp; a large number – I do not recall the figure anymore – were placed in mass graves and later also cremated in these graves.”

At the Warsaw Trial he declared on March 11, 1947 (Mattogno 2020, p. 160):

“The first crematorium was not enough for the number of corpses in the camp, and for this reason all those who died at Birkenau were buried in mass graves.”

Former SS Hauptscharführer Otto Moll’s statement in his confrontation with Höss on April 16, 1946 that he was “used in work in connection with the excavation of the mass graves” (ibid., p. 93) is a step in the same direction.

The more-recent historiographical updates by the Auschwitz Museum, particularly those by Piotr Setkiewicz, assert that the need to cremate exhumed bodies in the mass graves arose over the course of 1942 with the approach of the summer season, as the products of putrefaction from the bodies were starting to pollute the groundwater. The cremations are said to have begun as early as September 7 (Mattogno 2015, pp. 53-66). But the decomposition was said to be intensifying as early as the beginning of May, so that it is difficult to believe that the SS garrison physician would have waited at least three months before taking any steps to remedy the situation. If we consider, moreover, that the typhus epidemic at Birkenau got out of control in early June of 1942, SS Hauptsturmführer Hans Aumeier’s declaration is much more plausible; in his interrogation on July 25, 1945, Aumeier stated the following:393

“Im Herbst [recte: im Sommer] brach in beiden Lagern Fleckfieber aus, welchem sich im Frühjahr 1943 Paratyphus hinten anschloss. Die Sterblichkeitsziffer wurde stark erhöht. Bis damals waren sämtliche gestorbenen Häftlinge seit dem Bestehen des Lagers in der Nähe vom Lager Birkenau begraben worden, nur gestorbene deutsche und polnische Häftlinge wurden in einem Krematorium (2 Öfen), welches sich im Lagerbereich I befand, verbrannt. Wie mir der L.K. [Lagerkommandant] erzählte, kam durch den Reichsarzt-SS von Berlin der Befehl, dass sämtliche begrabenen Häftlinge wieder ausgegraben und verbrannt werden müssen.“

“In the fall [recte: summer], typhus broke out in both camps, which was followed by an outbreak of paratyphoid fever in the spring of 1943. The mortality rate increased dramatically. Until that time, for as long as the camp had existed, all deceased inmates had been buried near Birkenau; only dead German and Polish inmates were cremated in a crematorium (with 2 furnaces),[394] located in Camp Area I. As the camp commandant told me, an order from the Reichsarzt-SS [SS Surgeon General] came from Berlin that all buried inmates were to be exhumed and burned.”395

On June 29, 1945, Aumeier stated that the bodies of the inmates who had died of disease “wurden im Frühsommer 1942 bis Frühjahr 1943 wieder ausgegraben und verbrannt” “were exhumed and cremated between early summer of 1942 until the spring of 1943.”396

The beginning of the exhumation and cremation of the bodies therefore probably began already towards the end of June (“Frühsommer” “early summer”).

The gruesome work of exhuming and cremating these decomposing victims of the epidemic, with many inmates working on this every day for many months, must have kindled the fantasy of the Auschwitz inmates. It was precisely this “eternal flame” that inspired the resistance members: since there were thousands of bodies outside the camp that were being burnt, then there must have been a mass extermination, so then there must have been “gas chambers,” naturally with “showers” and installations similar to those of the fumigation gas chambers inside BW 5a and 5b. Thus the circle was closed: the distortion of the clothes-disinfestation facilities created the “gas chambers,” the distortion of the exhumations and open-air cremations became “proof” of the reality of the “gas chambers.”

The “eternal flame,” initially constituted by the pyres or “cremation pits,” transmogrified into the crematoria at Birkenau, and then again into pyres and “cremation ditches.” The cremation of the bodies, due to the pressure of black propaganda, became the literary motif of persons burnt “alive” or “semi-conscious,” which later became “children thrown directly into the fire.”

In the summer of 1944, the minuscule cremation site in the northern courtyard of Crematorium V, estimated as measuring approximately 50 m2 (see Mattogno 2016f, pp. 65-77), gave a new impetus to the fairy tale of the enormous cremation pyres or ditches, invariably described by the witnesses in the most contradictory manner with regards to numbers, dimensions, capacity and location (ibid., pp. 17-28).

Having provided the above indispensable clarification, I shall now resume the thread of my exposition.

A long “Report supplementary to the first 933,”397 drawn up by a certain “Stanisłav” on February 14, 1943 contains generic references to “poisonings in gas chambers” and tortures in the punishment “bunker” (bunkrach), as well as a mention of the arrival of “Jews and French people.” Above all, it expresses recriminations and disappointment about the fact that the sufferings of the Poles at the camp were of no interest to anyone. At the end, there is a list of 22 names of Poles who were condemned to death by the Polizeistandgericht police court martial of Kattowitz on January 25, 1943 and who were “poisoned in the gas chambers” (“w komorach gazowych”; Obóz…, pp. 81-85).

These condemned men are well-known to have been shot. Danuta Czech asserts with specific reference to this report that on that same date 22 members of the Armia Krajowa were taken from Myslowitz prison to Auschwitz and “shot”; she explains that “die Erschießung findet wahrscheinlich in der Gaskammer des Krematoriums I statt, da die Hingerichteten, nach einer Meldung des Informationsdienstes des schlesischen Bezirk der AK, in den Gaskammern vergiftet worden sein sollen” (Czech 1989, S. 393, Fn) “the shooting probably occurs in the gas chamber of Crematorium I, since according to a report from the information service of the Silesia District of the AK, the executed were poisoned in the gas chambers” (Czech 1990, p. 313, fn). It is true that another report, which I shall cite later, mentions a gas chamber in the singular, but even this one explicitly speaks of poisoning, not shooting.

Danuta Czech therefore interprets a presumed poisoning in the gas chambers as a shooting in the gas chamber!

“Report no. 2/43 on the situation in the western territories (1.1.-15.2.1943)” makes no reference to gas chambers or gassings, but takes up the story of the Poles sentenced to death (Obóz…, p. 87):

“On January 25, at 11:30 h, 45 inmates (including 6 women) were taken to Auschwitz Camp from Myslowic political prison, and by 16:30 their bodies had already been burned in the crematorium.”

Here, the only confirmation of the presumed execution (not attested to by any document) regards the date; the number of presumed victims is 45 (instead of 22) and the type of killing is not indicated.

A “dispatch” dated February 19, 1943 provides information on the transports from the General Government and reports (ibid.):

“At Auschwitz, at the present time [obecnie], there are six large cremation furnaces [sześć wielkich piecy krematoryjnych].”

But at that time, apart from the old crematorium in the Stammlager Main Camp, there was only Crematorium II, which officially entered into operation on February 20, 1943.398

This information was repeated in another message, drawn up on February 22 by Jan Piekałkiewicz and Stefan Rowecki (Obóz…, p. 88):

“There are six large cremation furnaces at Auschwitz at the present time. A few dozen Poles sentenced to death by the Extraordinary Tribunal of Kattowitz for pro-independence activities were poisoned in the gas chamber [w komorze gazowej] and burned in the crematorium.”

The “Memorandum on the Situation of the General Government over the Period 24.1.-24.2.1943” repeated the story of the 640,000 persons who died or had been killed by December 15, 1942, including 66,000 Poles. There allegedly were 52,000 gassed Jews (522,000 in the preceding report), 20,000 of whom were from Poland, while the rest were from France, Holland, Belgium, Yugoslavia and other countries (ibid., p. 89).

Much of the above-mentioned contents, with slight differences, appears in a report from “Sobol” (Stanisław Jankowski) and “Kalina” (Stefen Rowecki) transmitted by “Wanda” to London on March 4, 1943.399

“Annex no. 48 for the Period February 16-28, 1943” repeats the usual mortality and killing statistics and mentions a total of 642,100 victims (Obóz…, pp. 89f.).

A report signed by “Tadeusz” dating back to February 1943 reports:

“Between February 7 and 14, the camp population was decimated – the sick were taken for so-called ‘delousing’ (gassing) [do zagazowania], every day, six truckloads of people were sent to be gassed. Every day, new transports [arrive] continually from all over Europe. – Sometimes, they carry only dead or dying people, who are immediately gassed and burnt. At the present time, the transports are arriving mainly from Yugoslavia. During the week of February 7 to 14, the average mortality rate has been 500-600 persons [daily]. The transports usually arrive during the night, so that nobody knows what is going on – the total manpower currently exceeds 120,000. Approximately 500,000 registered and unregistered inmates have died since the beginning, mostly Jews, the elderly, women and infants.” (ibid., p. 91)

The Auschwitz Chronicle has no entry about this presumed “decimation,” and even the consequent mortality of 500-600 inmates a day is highly dubious. In February 1943, not one single transport arrived from Yugoslavia, and the manpower figure of 120,000 inmates is very much exaggerated: on February 28, 1943, there were 28,732 male and 10,031 female inmates at the camp,400 for a total of 38,763.

These figures were in part repeated in the “Report on the Situation in the Eastern territories no. 4”: decimation in the gas chamber between February 7 and 14, arrival of transports from Yugoslavia, a mortality rate of 500 deaths a day (Obóz…, p. 92).

The No. 9 issue of Informacja Bieżąca dated March 4, 1943 carried the “secret message from an inmate whose name and identity are known,” with an appeal to the British (ibid., p. 93):

“The new crematorium [nowe crematorium] is in operation, [with] 3,000 [victims] per day (the figure is indistinctly written: it may be 4,000 or 5,000)[401] – most of them Jews, although there are also Polish transports… and it is feared that no one will get out here alive. To be published in London – with a request for immediate reprisals against these territories.”

As I have mentioned above, Crematorium II officially entered into operation on February 20, 1943, and was officially consigned by the Central Construction Office to the camp administration on March 31, 1943. The Auschwitz Museum’s Auschwitz Chronicle claims that the first gassing of Jews was carried out in that building on March 13, allegedly resulting in 1,492 victims (Czech 19891990, S.440p. 352). Hence, if this “secret message” was truthful, it follows that the presumed extermination of the Jews in Crematorium II was already being carried out for nine days before it actually began! The mendacious nature of this message is obvious, but it nonetheless contributed to the creation of the story of exterminations inside the crematorium. This false information was borrowed and repeated in other reports.

The “Review of the most important events in the Country over the period from February 26 – March 5, 1943 no. 9/43” reported as follows:

“The huge new crematorium, which had recently been put into operation, burned approximately 3,000 persons [sic] per day. At the present time, the overwhelming majority of cremated persons are Jews. Desperation is widespread among the inmates.” (Obóz…, p. 94)

And an encrypted message of March 23, 1943 stated:402

“At Auschwitz sterilization experiments on women, new crematorium for 3,000 persons [sic] per day, mostly Jews.”

Breitman cites it from an indirect source, with this delusional comment:

“This report (sic!) was very close to what postwar reconstruction would establish as the actual situation at the time. Crematorium IV had begun to operate on March 22 – one day earlier – and crematorium V started up about two weeks later. Together they had the capacity to deal with three thousand bodies per day.” (Breitman 1998, pp. 116f.)

Apart from the fact that these claims were already in circulation on March 4, 1943, prior to the beginning of the presumed extermination of Jews in Crematorium II – a fact unknown to Breitman but which at nevertheless invalidates his explanation – if Crematorium IV “had begun to operate on March 22,” which is incorrect,403 how is it possible that the author of the message knew the cremation capacity already the day after the first cremations? The capacity indicated by Breitman, 1,500 bodies per day per crematorium, is refuted even by the letter from the Central Construction Office dated June 28, 1943, where Crematoria IV and V are credited with a capacity of 768 bodies daily each.404 But even if the madcap capacity of 1,500 bodies per day per crematorium were true, how could the capacity of 3,000 bodies per day be mentioned in the message – in relation to just one single crematorium: Crematorium IV – if Crematorium V was handed over to the camp administraion only on April 4? (Czech 1990, p. 368)?

According to Breitman’s logic, Crematorium IV alone could cremate 1,500 bodies per day, therefore, the figure alleged in the message for “[t]he new crematorium” (singular!) does not at all correspond “to what postwar reconstruction would establish as the actual situation at the time.”

But even the capacity of 768 bodies per day mentioned in the letter of June 28, 1943 is thermotechnically absurd, since the theoretical figure for 24 hours of continual operation was 192 bodies, while the actual figure realized was 160 for 24 hours’ continual operation (Mattogno/Deana 2015, pp. 312-346, esp. p. 337).

A report dated March 7, 1943 dwells at length on the various types of assistance rendered by the population to the inmates at Auschwitz, and in this context repeats that the camp’s occupancy was 120,000 inmates (Obóz…, p. 94).

Issue No. 12 of Informacja Bieżąca of March 26, 1943 outlines a concise set of statistics on the living and dead: there were approximately 33,000 [living] inmates and 57,000 dead ones:

“Mortality exceeds 10,000 persons per month, 130 [sic] persons per day on average. The transports to the gas [transporty na gaz], particularly, Jews, over 500,000, are not registered.” (ibid., p. 97)

The “Review of the Most Important Events in the Country over the Period March 28 to April 2 1943” repeated the same information with a few variations, while also revealing the source:

“Please find attached the data gathered from a series of secret messages from inmates of the camp and verbal reports of a few people who had been released. The figures indicated by them comprise the period from the founding of the camp until January 1 of this year.”

This is followed by the same figures: manpower 33,000 inmates, 57,000 killed, average mortality 130 per day. It is then stated (ibid., p. 100):

“The above data do not comprise the transports sent to the gas chambers, which are numbered separately [osobną numerację]. Here, the numbering already exceeds 500,000 persons, mainly Jews.”

Therefore, even inmates presumed gassed were registered and numbered!

Breitman cites a report written on April 18, 1943 by a Polish underground courier who was interned at Auschwitz for a few weeks until September 1942. In this regard, he recalled (Breitman 1998, p. 117):405

“Based on the certain information I obtained on the spot, I can assert that the Germans used the following killing systems:

a/ gas chambers. The victims have to strip naked, then they are jammed into the chambers and poisoned; b/ electric chambers: These chambers had metal walls; the victims were led in, and they were exposed to high voltage; c/ the system of the so-called Hammerluft [German in original]: This is an air hammer. There were special chambers where the hammer drops down from the ceiling, and where the victims were killed by the air pressure by means of a special device. d/ shootings: This is mainly used as a form of collective punishment in cases of disobedience, with one in ten being shot.”

The report elaborated on the fantasies of the “electrical chambers” and the “electric bath” already set forth in Issue No. 39 of Informacja Bieżąca, including the fabrication of the “Hammerluft.” The author of the report also dished up a few additional fantasies of his own:

“The Gestapo men, with gas masks donned, stood in a place higher than the gas chambers, cynically reveling in the mass killing of the victims.”

This means that they were inside the gas chamber during the gassings!

“The Germans loaded the bodies [on vehicles] and took them away; outside of Auschwitz, they excavated graves and pits with the aid of gigantic excavators and sprinkled lime on the bodies.”

This description, enriched with gigantic excavators, is actually a simulacrum of the reality of mass graves, but in the sense which I have explained earlier.

“Cremation of the victims by means of electric furnaces is practiced less often because only 250 bodies could be burned in these furnaces within 24 hours.” (ibid., p. 118)

The “electric ovens” were just as real as the “electrical chambers,” and the cremation capacity of 250 bodies per day (200 in the preceding reports) refered to the three Topf double-muffle cremation furnaces at the Stammlager Main Camp. This latter information highlights Breitman’s total lack of critical sense: if six muffles could cremate 250 bodies per day, how is it possible for eight such muffles (those of Crematorium IV and V) to cremate 1,500 per day?

The report, as mentioned earlier, dates back to April 18, 1943, but already on April 14, Pravda had published the following “news”:

“In London, the communiqué was received that the Hitlerites had begun the ‘liquidation’ of the Jewish ghetto in Krakow. Over the course of three days, Gestapo agents killed over a thousand Jews in Krakow, and sent the rest to Auschwitz Concentration Camp, where they kill them with gases [gazov, plural] and electricity [eljektričeskogo toka]” (“Zverstva ghitlerovskikh…”)

Another report of April 1943, written by a member of the Auschwitz clandestine resistance movement under the pseudonym “Tadeusz,” reads (Obóz…, pp. 100f.):

“At Auschwitz Camp, there is a shortage of gas to poison the inmates, to save gas, the people are only been semi-poisoned [półzatrute], and are later burned. The walls in the crematorium [furnaces] are blood-stained – because the persons stunned by the gas regain consciousness in the furnace – they scratch the concrete [beton] with their fingernails to defend themselves before dying. The same thing also occurs during the open-air cremations, where the poisoned victims remain conscious for a little while in the cremation pits. Legends are going around concerning these burning pits – they are known as the ‘Eternal Flame’ [‘Wieczne ognie’] because they burn day and night.”

Apart from the fact that the interior brickwork in the furnaces were of refractory brick, not concrete, since the furnace’s temperature at introduction of the bodies was 800°C, it is absurd that to imagine that persons placed inside such a glowing furnace could have “scratched” the walls of the muffles, let alone that any traces of blood could have survived 800°C. This is just another fairy tale, older than the later one of victims burned alive without even being “semi-poisoned” beforehand. Calling the stories about the burning pits “legends” is an obvious Freudian slip.

Although Crematoria II, IV and V were in operation in April 1943, the report speaks of the “crematorium,” singular.

The “Tadeusz” report also conveys another piece of “information” (ibid., p. 100):

“80 persons were arrested on April 14 at Chełmek, Libiąż and in the immediate vicinity of Auschwitz. They were immediately taken to the crematorium and burned without delay.”

The news item, which is completely invented, was taken up by a “dispatch” dated May 14 and further elaborated upon (ibid., p. 104):

“Approximately 80 persons were arrested on April 14 of this year, at Chełmek, Libiąż and in the immediate vicinity of Auschwitz. They were immediately sent to Auschwitz, where they were sent to the crematorium [do crematorium] without delay and burned, after being poisoned with gases [po zatruciu gazami].”

Here as well, the singular term “crematorium” is used rather than the plural for Crematoria II, IV and V, and the word “gases” is in plural (Zyklon B itself was never mentioned before the end of May 1944).

On June 9, 1943, Issue No. 22 of Informacja Bieżąca misreported the number of active crematoria as follows (ibid., p. 105):

“Two recently built crematoria were handed over for operation during the month of April. At least two were needed, because until that time, Jews were burned on pyres [na stosach], arranging the bodies in layers and sprinkling them with flammable substances. The stench of the burning could be smelled for several kilometers.”

Resistance members’ knowledge of the crematoria therefore left much to be desired.

“Annex no. 54 for the Period June 1 – 15, 1943” reports that 500 persons arrested at Zagłębie Dąmbrowskie in early March were taken to Auschwitz at the beginning of March and killed “in the gas chamber” (w komorze gazowej). This was a literary embellishment of a story which had already appeared in a report by “Tadeusz” in February 1943, which stated that mass arrests had been made in Silesia between February 9 and 12, 1943, as a result of which 3,000 persons were sent to Auschwitz. Taking her inspiration from these and other sources, Czech wrote that the arrestees, 800 for her, were sent to Auschwitz on February 12, where some of them were shot, while others were properly registered on April 12 (Czech 1961, p. 73). Under this date, the “Kalendarium” reports the registration of 182 of these presumed arrestees (numbers 114635-114816; ibid., p. 90), but the list of transports explicitly states that these numbers were assigned to inmates from a transport from Kattowitz.406 The arrival of these persons at Auschwitz is not attested to by any document, and the killing of some of them “in the gas chamber” is a fabrication, even for D. Czech.

The “Annex” discussed states that “76,721 persons were killed or died, while 1,117 were released from the camp between June 1940 and March 1943” (Obóz…, p. 105). However, as we have seen earlier, for the resistance members, 94,139 persons had been killed or had died by July 1, 1942. As for the 1,117 inmates who had been released, such a course of action seems highly dubious as a method intended to preserve the “terrible secret” of Auschwitz, since every one of these could have – and should have – revealed it to the outside world!

Finally, the same statements relating to the two crematoria are dished up in almost the same words (ibid., p. 106):

“Over the course of April, 2 new crematoria were consigned. Until that time, the Jews had been burned on pyres [na stosach], arranging the bodies in layers and sprinkling them with flammable materials – this produced a stench which could be smelled for kilometers around.”

The report speaks of burning Jews on pyres, but without the slightest mention of where and how the Jews were killed.

The “Memorandum on the Situation of the Country, the General Government and the Eastern Territories over the period between April 24 –May 21, 1943 no. 20” dated May 22, 1943 reports (Gmitruk, p. 368):

“Large transports of Jews from the west continue to arrive constantly, and more recently from the Netherlands above all; these Jews are poisoned in gas chambers soon after their arrival at the camp.”

Another report summarized by Breitman, dated May 18, 1943, is worthy of mention, not so much for any value of its own, but for the U.S. historian’s comments (Breitman 1998, pp. 118f.):

“In May 1943, the Polish embassy in London gave the British Foreign Office another firsthand (largely accurate) account of the killing process at Treblinka, which the author thought was the center for the extermination of Europe’s Jews. Nonetheless, the report mentioned other such killing centers, and Auschwitz (Oswiecim) was listed.”

Here, Breitman resorts to a nefarious omission, because compared to what the orthodoxy currently claims for Treblinka – gassing with engine-exhaust gases – the killing process claimed for that camp by that report was anything else but “largely accurate”:407

“When the chambers are filled, the doors are shut hermetically and slow asphyxiation by means of steam let into the chamber by a number of pipes begins. At first, muffled cries of the victims can be heard for a time, but after 15 minutes the execution is completed.”

Thus, the killing was performed by means of water vapor! This fantasy had already been elaborated in the report from the Polish resistance dated November 15, 1942, transmitted to the Polish government in exile at London on January 6, 1943, of which this was simply a readaptation. This mentioned a “house of death, no. 2” (“dom śmierci Nr. 2”) which was a masonry structure 40 meters long and 15 meters wide. According to the report of an eyewitness testimony (wg relacji naocznego świadka), it contained ten chambers, arranged on both sides of a corridor running the entire length of the building. Inside the chambers, tubes had been installed through which the water vapor passed (para wodna). The “house of death no. 1” (dom śmierci Nr. 1) consisted of three chambers and one boiler room (“Likwidacja żydowskiej…,” p. 95):

“Inside the boiler room – the report continues – is a large boiler for the production of aqueous vapor, and, through tubes running through the death chambers and which are equipped with an appropriate number of holes, the overheated vapor is discharged into the interior of the chambers.”

The victims were locked up in the above described chambers and killed with steam!

“In this way, the execution chambers were completely filled, then the doors were hermetically sealed and the long asphyxiation of the victims began by means of aqueous vapor discharged through the numerous holes in the tubes. Initially, strangled screams could be heard; these screams dissipated slowly and after 15 minutes the execution was over.” (ibid., p. 99)

And this, for Breitman, is a “first-hand (largely accurate) account of the killing process at Treblinka”!

In the report of May 18, 1943, Auschwitz (Oświecim) is hardly even mentioned:408

“It should be noted that conditions similar to those existing in Treblinka prevail in other concentration camps established by the Germans in Poland, both for Poles and Jews, – to name only the most notorious, such as Oświecim, Sobibór and Majdanek.”

It therefore makes no sense to cite this report as “confirmation” of the existence of gas chambers at Auschwitz.

An anonymous report titled “Death Camp at Oswiecim” reports about the presumed events at the camp in the spring of 1943. It speaks of gassings at both Auschwitz and Birkenau:409

“Strafkompanie S.K. [penal unit S.K.…] On the turn of 1941/42 over 1,000 Soviet POWs and a large number of ailing men from the hospital /Krankenbau/ were gassed in the S.K. Bunker and their bodies covertly carted away by night, probably to the crematorium. According to informant this was the only occasion on which the Bunker was used for gassing.

Gas Chambers. These were called ‘Brzezinka’ and were situated some 500 yards on the other side of Birkenau.

Autumn 1941 –. The first transport went to the gas chambers consisting of weak and ailing men. This was just a trial. From 1942 onwards, transports of 500 or 600 men went to the gas chambers, both from Oświęcim and from Birkenau regularly once per week and sometimes twice per week. The victims were usually taken from the Krankenbau or Schonungsblock where they were kept in isolation since they were too weak to work.

Besides the regular inmates of Oświęcim, huge transports of Poles, Czechs and even Germans but mainly Jews, arrived from the outside world and went direct to the gas chamber.

Informant remembers the arrival of transports of old men, women and children, these being Poles unfit for heavy labour who had been expropriated and intended for Deportation, mainly from the Lubelskie district.

It was apparently estimated in the spring of 1943 that the total number of victims who met their death in the gas chambers amounted to 800,000.

Oświęcim crematorium.

This is on the site of the powder magazine of the old Polish military camp. The chimney was constructed in December 1940/ January 194[1], being visible from the camp as it rises to a height of 15 - 20 meters. The crematorium is underground and just outside the camp to the left of the entrance.

In the autumn of 1941 informant recollects witnessing the arrival of two transports of Soviet POWs amounting to about 1,00[0] men who were marched naked from the trucks halted outside the camp, direct to the crematorium where they were gassed.

In 1942/43 a number of Jews who had been quartered at Birkenau whilst working in the Sonderkommande [sic] manning the Brzezinka gas chambers, were brought to the Oświęcim crematorium and there gassed.”

Attached to the report is a “Topographical Sketch of the Concentration Camp Oświęcim /Auschwitz/ /Drawn according to the description of a former prisoner of the camp/” (see Documents 8, 8a), which was transmitted by the Jewish Agency for Palestine to the Foreign Office on August 18, 1944. This shows the complete Auschwitz Camp, in addition to the Birkenau Camp, in which, however, only Sector BI is visible (Sector BIa is called simply “A,” while Sector BIb is called “B”). All the rest of the camp, Sectors BII and BIII, is subdivided into two colums of five empty rectangular sections each, separated by roads; in the pair of these sections closest to Sector BI, the word “Rajsko” appears. None of the crematoria are shown; west of Sectors A-B is a wooded area labeled “D” which is explained as “gas chambers in a wood west of Brzezinki/Birkenau/.” Beyond the north-west corner of the camp is another wooded area drawn in, labeled “C” with this caption: “crematorium, in a woods probably west of the barracks.”410

Area “D” should correspond to “Bunker 2,” but the “former prisoner of the camp,” like all his companions, attributed this term exclusively to the Auschwitz camp prison: “Block N.12: lodgings and arrest /bunkers/.” The “bunker” in which 1,000 Soviet prisoners of war were supposedly gassed is in fact the basement of Block 11 in the Stammlager Main Camp. It should also be noted that the unknown witness placed a crematorium in the area where “Bunker 1” should have been located: based on rather distorted second- or third-hand information, this crematorium could only refer to Crematoria IV and V, which were under construction in that area in the second half of 1942 and early 1943.

The text in no way explains the sketch of Birkenau, of which the author of the report possessed only very approximate knowledge, so much so that he asserts that the “gas chambers” […] were called “Brzezinka”! These gas chambers, in the plural, were presumably already in operation in 1941, and 500-600 camp inmates were allegedly gassed there once or twice a week, starting in 1942. Not content with such lunacy, the author adds that “huge transports of Poles, Czechs and even Germans”[!] were destroyed in the chambers. 800,000 people are said to have been exterminated by the spring of 1943, but the author of the report, apart from his familiarity with the term “gas chambers,” actually knew nothing about them, least of all that they were supposed to have been two farmhouses or “bunkers.”

The fable of the killing of inmates from the “Sonderkommando” in the Auschwitz crematorium in 1942-1943 was subsequently taken up and embroidered by other “witnesses.” One of them is Witold Pilecki. In 1940, Pilecki, a lieutenant in the Polish army reserve, was inspector of the Tajna Armia Polska, the Polish Clandestine Army. In the summer of that year, if we believe him, he presented himself to his superior and informed him that he was prepared to enter the recently established Auschwitz Camp in order to organize a resistance group there. On September 19, he was arrested in Warsaw during a German round-up, and on the night of September 21-22, 1940 he was interned at Auschwitz under the name of Tadeusz Serafiński, and registered as inmate number 4859. Pilecki formed an early resistance group there called Union of the Military Organization (Związek Organizacji Wojskowej), which later merged with the Union of Armed Struggle (Związek Walki Zbrojnie) into a political committee chaired by Roman Rybarski. This committee directed and coordinated the operations of all resistance groups at Auschwitz (Świebocki 2000, pp. 65-67, 80f.).

After his escape from the camp, which he says took place on April 27, 1943, he drafted the so-called “Report W” the following autumn. I translate the parts relating to the alleged extermination (Pawłowicz, p. 92):

“The following is to commemorate the facts and names of the Auschwitz inmates working there in the Military Organization – after the successful arbitrary abandonment of [escape from] the camp on the night of April 26-27, 1943, and after 31 months of incarceration there, where from the beginning [of the camp’s existence] until March 1943, 11,200 inmates were shot, about 34,000 were gassed, about 41,000 inmates died – killed on the spot, from disease and other conditions – about 6,000 were transferred to other camps (as of March 1943), 1,115 prisoners were transferred and released. In March 1943, there were approximately 29,000 [inmates] alive in the camp; the current number exceeding 121,000. The above figures refer to the ‘Häftlinge’ [Haftlingów, inmates] – normally registered after internment and identified with a consecutive inmate number. [They] on the other hand do not include the huge amount of people deported there to immediately deprive them of their lives, which happened at a distance of a couple of kilometers from the camp – in Brzezinka – near a branch [satellite camp] in Oświęcim – at the Rajsko Camp, where entire transports of people were gassed, brought there by trains and trucks – sometimes a couple of thousand a day, whose number calculated in round figures in August 1942 exceeded 800,000 people, and in March 1943 amounted to over a million and a half [ponad półtora miliona ludzi]. Jews were prevalent, but there were also Czechs, Germans and others. But it grieved us in a particular way when, in the enormous heaps of clothes and objects belonging to the gassed, we found, between shoes and prams, rosaries and prayer books in Polish. In this monstrous massacre, among other things, the population of some towns in the Lublin region perished. In addition, at the same time, 11,400 prisoners of war – Bolsheviks – were killed in various ways in our camp and its branches.”

Pilecki therefore claimed that among the registered inmates there had been:

– 11,200 shot, which is pure fantasy,

– 34,000 gassed, which is false even from the orthodox perspective,

– 41,000 deaths (“natural” mortality), which is much lower than the actual figure,411

– 11,400 murdered POWs, which is untrue.

Adding these four numbers results in 97,600, and adding the other two (6,000 and 1,115), we arrive at approximately 104,715. If the number of surviving inmates amounted to 29,000, the total sum (133,715) far exceeds that of the “current” number of inmates claimed (121,000). In fact, on March 31, 1943, the registration number 112,107 was assigned,412 so that even the claimed “current” number of 121,000 is incorrect. Moreover, Pilecki’s statistics completely ignore female prisoners.

The claimed gassing of 800,000 unregistered deportees upon arrival until August 1942 is pure folly, as is the figure of 1,500,000 gassed until March 1943.

Then Pilecki reports on the typhus epidemic of the summer of 1942 (Pawłowicz, pp. 95f.):

“In August 1942, during the typhus epidemic, the authorities, under the pretext of ‘delousing,’ gassed many inmates, even those who had already recovered but were still in the typhus block (20) for convalescence. They went into the gas [do gazu] in full awareness that they owed their deaths to the fact that they were still at the typhus block on the very day of the gassing. The block was closed and all, with the exception of the doctors and nurses, were taken by trucks into the gas [do gazu]. There, Captain Dr. Władysław Dering managed to save over 20 Poles by disguising them as nurses. I fell ill with typhus six weeks after this mass gassing, and luckily I got over this disease. Almost all the ‘old numbers’ had to suffer through the disease.”

This claimed mass gassing is another figment of resistance propaganda, as I documented in Chapter 1.3. of the presernt study, where I exposed the real measures taken by the German authorities to eradicate the epidemic.

Later, Pilecki returns to the theme of the alleged extermination (Pawłowicz, p. 96):

“As in Katyn, at first the bodies of the killed (gassed) were buried in large pits in Brzezinka, a task assigned a special ‘Kommando’ [specjalne ‘Komando’] exclusively composed of Jews who remained alive for just two weeks, and then they were gassed. Later it turned out that this system was not good, because the water around it began to smell, well… traces remained. Corpses were dug up and burned on pyres [na stosach]. At the beginning, this was done by hand, but then cranes were used [dźwigi]. One could not speak of cremation in the crematorium [w crematorium], because the crematoria [krematoria] could not handle it. The gassing of healthy people made a greater impression only the first time. A couple of months after the start of the war with the Bolsheviks, the camp authorities received several hundred of the first prisoners, of which seven hundred, in the presence of a certain commission, were forced into one cell in Block 11 [do jednej celi w bloku 11] (the gas chambers were not yet ready for use [komory gazowe nie były jeszcze gotowe do użytku]). They were crammed in such a way that there was no [more] room, [every crack of] the whole room [całą sale] was sealed, and they were gassed in the presence of the procession [the aforementioned commission] equipped with gas masks [w maskach gazowych]. Those who could enter there after airing the room said that they had brought back Dante impressions. Judging by the uniforms worn by those gassed, they must have been from the entire Bolshevik hierarchy of various units. Apparently this was a gas test.”

One of Pilecki’s main tasks was to gather information about Auschwitz and transmit it outside the camp, a task facilitated by his position in the camp’s resistance movement, but even here he only reported simple propaganda nonsense: although he had remained in Auschwitz until the end of April 1943, he knew nothing of the orthodox narrative that was subsequently imposed: nothing of the alleged gassings in the Main Camp’s crematorium; nothing about the “gas chambers” (how many there were, their design, with what substance they operated, or where exactly they they were located – in this regard he limited himself to saying that they were “at the Rajsko Camp”!); nothing about any of the three crematoria that had come into operation in Birkenau by that time (Crematoria II, IV and V); he speaks of “crematorium” and “crematoria,” as if there was no difference.

Pilecki had evidently heard the story of the mass graves of Birkenau and the special unit that was attached to it, with the lie that they lived only for two weeks before being summarily killed, but he was completely unaware of the presence of the two presumed gassing “bunkers”; he was aware of the cremation of corpses (“on pyres,” not in cremation pits), but he did not know when it began and how long it lasted, nor approximately how many corpses had been exhumed and cremated. Here he invents a device not found anywhere else: the “cranes.” The “gassing of healthy people,” therefore fit for work, is unreasonable and in open contrast to the canons of orthodox Holocaust historiography.

Pilecki finally reworked the story of the “first gassing,” turning it into an even-more-imaginative version. The “commission” he mentioned was the one presided over by Rudolf Mildner, head of the Gestapo of Kattowitz, who in November 1941 went to Auschwitz and examined Soviet POWs, classifying them into three categories, of which only 300 were considered fanatical communists and doomed to death, 700 were deemed politically compromised, 8,000 politically nonsuspect and 30 “fit for reconstruction” (Mattogno 2016e, pp. 114-119). On November 15, Himmler ordered that the condemned, if they were physically robust, could avoid execution and be sent to work in a stone quarry, and two days later the head of the Political Department of Auschwitz prepared the first list of exempted prisoners (ibid., pp. 123f., 145f.). The actual number of executed Soviet POWs, for which no documents exist, were therefore less than 300. The execution did not take place before mid-November 1941 (so the date of the “first gassing” at the beginning of September 1941 is anachronistic), and finally there is no evidence that the execution was carried out by gassing.

According to Pilecki, the alleged gassing took place in one cell of the basement of Block 11, which is blatant nonsense, because the largest cell in that basement, No. 22, had an area of merely 12.3 square meters (132 sq ft, ibid., p. 33), so the SS would have crammed 57 people onto each square meter! Despite this, the commission is said to have witnessed the gassing with gas masks, evidently inside the cell! By asserting that “the gas chambers were not yet ready for use,” Pilecki suggests that “gas chambers” already were under construction at the time, which is another nonsense, and perhaps this “gas test” was needed precisely to make them ready for use. Pilecki’s report therefore unequivocally confirms that the camp’s resistance groups were true breeding grounds for propaganda lies.

The “Memorandum on the Situation in the Country, General Government and Eastern Territories over the period May 22 – June 19, 1943” reports laconically:

“The crematorium is working full steam [Krematorium pracuje pełną parą].”

A “Description of Auschwitz Concentration Camp” dated “Auschwitz, July 10, 1943” (“Oświęcim 10 VII 1943 r.”) dwells upon the Jews in detail:413

“468,000 unregistered Jews had been gassed at Auschwitz by September 1942. Approximately 60,000 Jews arrived from Greece (Salonica, Athens), Slovakia and the Protectorate of Bohemia and Moravia between September 1942 and the beginning of June 1943, in addition to 50,000 from the Netherlands, Belgium and France and approximately 60,000 from Chrzanów, 6,000 from Kęty, Żywiec, Sucha, Ślemień and 5,000 from the surrounding region. Only 2% of these persons are still alive today. 98% of these [were sent] to the gas [do gazu], most of them young people in good health who were burned to death while still half-alive. Every transport that arrives at Auschwitz is unloaded, after which the men are separated from the women and then, en masse, after which 98% of them (particularly the women and children) are loaded onto trucks without selection and taken to the gas chamber at Birkenau [do komory gazowej w Brzezince]; after horrible torments (asphyxia) lasting 10-15 minutes, the bodies are thrown through holes [przez otwór] and burnt on a pyre [na stosie]. It should be noted that, before entering the gas chamber, they were compelled to take a shower [kąpiel]. Due to the shortage of toxic gas [gazów trujących], they also burned people who were half-alive. Three large crematoria with a capacity of 10,000 bodies per day have now been built at Birkenau,[414] which burn bodies continually and are called the ‘Eternal Flame’ by the local population [wieczym ogniem]. The remaining 2% of the transport is divided up between the women’s camp at Birkenau, and the Auschwitz men’s camp at Birkenau.”

The data relating to the Jews deported over the period indicated are all erroneous. Approximately 46,700 Jews were deported from Greece, approximately 10,700 from Slovakia and the Protectorate, and over 67,000 from Belgium, the Netherlands and France. A total number of 246,000 Jews were deported to Auschwitz (as against 181,000 in the report), but approximately 49,700 of them, or 20% of the total, were registered, ten times as many as this report claims; the fictitious 2% of registered Jews corresponds to approximately 3,600 persons, so that there would have been approximately 177,400 presumed gassing victims.

The mention of persons burned while still half-alive forms part of the litany of imaginary atrocities. The gas chamber at Birkenau – singular – remains absolutely undescribed, but the fairy tale of how ingenuously it was camouflaged is explained: before being gassed, the victims had to take a real shower! We do not even understand how this could have occurred, but it is a rather strange fact that, although the Germans had three crematoria with a daily capacity of 10,000 bodies, they still burned the corpses “on a pyre,” after throwing them “through holes,” all of which is incompatible with the current orthodox narrative of both the crematoria and the “bunkers.”

The cremation capacity claimed for the three crematoria is simply absurd and not even commensurate with the equally fictitious capacity of 3,000 bodies per day for one single crematorium, as claimed in the preceding messages.

Approximately 10,000 Gypsies had been taken to Birkenau, the report continues, “but they, too, were all gassed en masse a couple of days ago”; according to the Auschwitz Museum, no Gypsies were gassed between July 15 and August 8; to the contrary, 47 children were born in the associated camp in July (Parcer, Vol. 2, pp. 1555f.).

The description’s paragraph “Oświęcim” contains other fantastic claims:

“Transports en masse started arriving at Auschwitz Concentration Camp (Birkenau) on June 20, that is: 1 transport carrying 870 people from Nice (southern France), 1 transport carrying over 500 persons from Berlin, 1 transport carrying 900 persons from Salonica, 2 transports carrying 1,600 persons from Bendsburg, 1 transport from Sosnowitz and 1 transport from Lublin, carrying 391 persons. 80% of the persons traveling on these transports were Jews, while 20% were Gypsies from Greece and southern France. Perhaps 10% of these people remained alive, while the remaining 90% were immediately taken to the gas chamber [do komory gazowej] and gassed.”

The fact is that not one single transport from Nice arrived at Auschwitz between June 20 and July 16, 1943 (although there was one from Drancy on June 26), nor were there any transports from Berlin, Salonica, Sosnowitz or Lublin. Only 69 Gypsies were interned over this period (ibid., p. 1555).

This is followed by information on the phantasmagorical gassings of Poles:415

“Since that time [June 20], there have been a great many transports arriving with numerous Poles (women, children and the elderly). In the end, they were killed, or most of them, but by decapitation. The gassing of Poles was very widespread in the camp. Many inmates who had already been there for 3-4 years and who had suffered the most terrible privations, tolerating them for so long, were gassed although they were perfectly healthy, simply because they belonged to the intelligentsia. There are no rules for the gassings, people were gassed more or less at random, without selection.”

A “Radio dispatch for the BBC and the world”416 dated July 15, 1943 provides very detailed information in this connection (Obóz…, p. 107.):

“The ghetto of Będzin was liquidated in the days between June 24 and 27. 2,500 Jews were taken to Auschwitz camp in a heavily guarded transport.”

But the first transport resulting from the dissolution of the Będzin Ghetto (in German: Bendsburg; English: Bendin) arrived at the camp only on August 1, 1943 (Czech 19891990, S. 561p. 452).

This is followed by the fictitious figures relating to the number of deportees, registered inmates, and presumed gassing victims as already discussed earlier:

“468,000 Jews not included in the general registration were poisoned with gas [zatruto gazem] at Auschwitz Camp by the end of 1942. This is an officially verified figure. The average figure for deaths for Polish inmates fluctuated between 80 and 130 per day during the winter periods between the very creation of Auschwitz Camp and the end of 1942. 181,000 Jews from Poland, Greece, France, Belgium, Holland and Czechoslovakia were transported to Auschwitz between September of last year and June of this year. 177,000 of this figure were executed by poisoning with gas [przez zatrucie gazem]. Only 2 % are still alive.”

The dispatch then reiterates the baseless data set forth in the report dated July 10, 1943 (Obóz…, p. 107):

“Transports full of people arrived at Auschwitz between June 25 [in the preceding report: June 20] of this year [and July 15]: 870 from Nice (France), over 500 from Berlin, 900 from Salonica, 1,600 from Sosnowiec, 391 from Lublin, and two transports from Będzin. 80% of them were Jews, 20% were Gypsies. At the present time, approximately 10% are still alive.”

A note from the editors of the book warns us that “these transports were not included in the transport lists for this period. They were probably sent directly to be exterminated as RSHA transports” (ibid., fn 4, p. 108). As if to say that all information received from members of the resistance necessarily had to be true.

The report closes with another fabrication. It notes that a typhus epidemic was raging in the women’s camp at the time (which is true), and that “inmate residents of blocks suspected of being infected are immediately killed by poisoning them in the gas chamber [przez zatrucie w komorze gazowej]” (ibid., p. 107).

A “Report from the Territory of July 22, 1943” reports the observations of a civilian worker who had spent five months in the Main Camp. At Auschwitz there were “swimming pools for bathing [baseny kąpielowe], groups of inmates play soccer with the SS.” Moreover, the Jewish transports from the Netherlands and Belgium were welcomed by an orchestra which played while they were sent to their execution (na stracenie; ibid., pp. 108f.).

“Annex no. 57 for the period from July 16 to 31, 1943” says that the population of the camp was 37,000 inmates. “The number of Jews is considerably lessened due to the mass extermination in the gas chambers [w komorach gazowych].” The Germans had also begun to gas the Gypsies, among whom a typhus epidemic had broken out. And here is the final item of deliciousness (ibid., pp. 109f.):

“Transports of Poles arriving from Radom, Lublin, Tarnobrzeg and Sandomierz were sent directly to the gas chambers.”

These transports are evidently completely invented.

“Annex no. 1 to the I.[nformacja] B.[ieżąca]” dated August 18, 1943 contains a long “Letter from an Auschwitz inmate.” By means of a crude and hare-brained calculation, the document claims that the current registration number was 90,000 and that the effective camp manpower was 33,000 inmates; minus approximately 3,000 inmates transferred to other camps or discharged, this means that 57,000 inmates had been murdered.417 “Mortality exceeds 10,000 [deaths] per month, an average of 130 [recte: 330] persons per day.” The letter rehashes the preceding information with the addition of the author’s following personal information (ibid., pp. 111f.):

“Entire transports are sent directly to the gas [na gaz], without any numbering (registration). The number of victims already exceeds 500,000, mostly Jews. Recent transports of Poles from the region of Lublin are sent directly to the gas [na gaz] (men and women). The children are thrown directly into the fire. Outside Birkenau burns the so-called ‘Eternal Flame’ [wieczny ogień] – a pile of bodies in the open air – since the crematorium [krematorium] is unable to deal with them all. At the present time, gassing experiments are being conducted in the open air instead of in the chamber [próby z gazowaniem na wolnym powietrzu, zamiast w komorze] for military purposes.”

Shortly after the above, the author clarifies:

“The new crematorium [nowe crematorium] burns 5,000 persons per day, mostly Jews.”

There is no need to comment on such absurdities.

Under the heading “5 - IV.43,” the letter speaks of the Gypsies. Here, the author again mentions the gassings:418

“The gassing of sick people and the weak [takes place] as if it were perfectly normal, that is, it happens all the time. Approximately 5,000 Greek Jews were recently taken away. Some of them went directly to the gas chamber, some were sent to work. The ones that got sent directly to the gas were not included in any numbering [system] (registration). In addition, another 100 people were recently gassed after sentencing [by SS courts].”

The expression “go to the gas [na gaz]” is repeated several times without any further explanation.

Under the date May 3 appears another version of the population and mortality statistics: until March 1, 1943, the current registration number was 113,272, while effective manpower was 29,415 inmates. Between June 14, 1940 and March 1, 1943, there were 76,721 inmates (that should be 76,244); 1,117 had been released, while 6,496 had been transferred to other camps. The deaths were broken down as follows: natural death: 31,524; shot: 11,274; “deprived of life in the gas chamber [w komorze gazowej], 33,923” (Obóz…, p. 113). These data are purely fantastic as well.

The letter dwells on the Soviet POWs. They were sent to Auschwitz starting in September 1941, and amounted to a total of 11,572, a figure which was very close to the correct figure of 11,939 by April 15, 1942, upon which date there were only 161 of them left, according to the letter, instead of the true figure of 262;419 of these, the letter continues, 6,314 were shot, the others died of starvation and mistreatment. This figure is wrong, but at least the author eschewed the fairy tale of the gassings of the Soviet POWs. Further along in his letter, after indicating the manpower at Birkenau on April 25, 1943, we read (Obóz…, p. 115):

“At Birkenau, they are hurriedly re-opening the mass graves of 11,000 Soviet POWS who died over the period of the two winter months of 1942 – the bodies were burnt to destroy all traces. The gassings and [lethal] injections were suspended 14 days ago.”

According to the Auschwitz ChronicleKalendarium, all the mass graves of Birkenau, including those containing the bodies of Soviet POWs, were emptied by December 3, 1942 (Czech 1990, pp. 277f.), while the letter claims that the work was still underway on April 25, 1943; this is, however, in accordance with the statements of Hans Aumeier as quoted earlier, according to which the exhumation-cremation lasted “bis Frühjahr 1943” “until the spring of 1943.” Orthodox Holocaust historiography is entirely silent as to any suspension of gassings and lethal injections. In the month of April, the Kalendarium Auchwitz Chronicle records the gassing, after “selection,” of 11 transports, at maximum intervals of six days (April 3 and 9; Czech 19891990, S. 456-482pp. 365-387).

The letter then speaks of a name change for the camp, from “extermination camp” (“Vernichtungslager”) to “labor camp” (“Arbeitslager”; Obóz…, p. 115), which is another myth.

Next follows a list of leading SS staff members, almost all of them with garbled names and ranks:

– Hauptführer Hess, instead of Obersturmbannführer Höss;

– Lagerführer Hauptsturmführer Aufmeger, instead of Schutzhaftlagerführer Hauptsturmführer Aumeier;

– Lagerkommandant Schwarz; Höss was the Lagerkommandant; Schwarz was Leiter der Abteilung head of Department IIIa at the time;

– Standortarzt Würtz, instead of Wirths;

– Politischeabteilung (sic) Jubner instead of Grabner;

– Transportführer Stienitz, instead of Stiewitz (ibid.).

One must wonder as to the source of the letter writer’s information.

The “Memorandum on the Situation in the Country, General Government and Eastern Territories over the Period of July 26 –August 26, 1943” contains the same fictitious statistics already disseminated before, with additional fantasies; the effective camp manpower was 37,000, and “643,000 inmates [więźniów] had already been killed by the end of 1942, including [w tym] approximately 95,000 Polish men and women”! The year 1943 had brought “a new large quantity of victims,” and that was all! (Obóz…, pp. 118f.)

However, there are other brief news items not reported in the book Obóz… (Gmitruk et al., pp. 436f.):

“According to information recently received from Auschwitz, up to the end of 1942, 468,000 Jews were killed in gas chambers, while in the first half of 1943 about 180,000 Jews were killed. A number of particularly healthy Jews in good shape have been sent to Auschwitz for experiments in the fields of fertilization, sterilization and castration.”

A report titled “Mass Executions between July 15 and August 8, 1943” states that, after July 15, “mass transports of Polish hostages” arrived at Auschwitz, including transports from Tarnów, Krakow, Lublin, Radom and Warsaw, and that “all these persons were immediately executed.” Furthermore, “approximately 2-43 [no doubt 2 to 3] transports” of Poles arrived every week and were also executed – fictions invented, as I have pointed out earlier, to stress the sufferings of the Polish people. One paragraph is dedicated to the Jews:420

“Sporadic transports of Jews arrived on July 15 and August 1 from various labor camps in Germany. These people were more dead than alive. They were completely exhausted and could no longer stand up due to [excessive] manual labor and deprivation. They could not even climb from the railway car into the trucks, and were unceremoniously picked up and thrown into the trucks like blocks of wood. They were then immediately taken to Birkenau, where they were gassed.”

These transports are all completely fictional. Next we read that a general delousing of the men’s camp and women’s camp was carried out on August 1, 2 and 3 – evidently nothing less than a “mass gassing.” The Auschwitz Chronicle Kalendarium contains no mention of this. We furthermore read:

“The resettlement of all the Jews from Sosnowiec and Będzin was being carried out at the same time as the delousing. 15 fully loaded trains arrived, carrying about 15,000 people. In addition, trucks spent entire nights making return trips. […] Since the crematoria could not deal with so many people, the bodies were usually cremated in the open, and for 3 days nothing but inexorable flames could be seen in which the bodies were burned. Transports from France also arrived and were disposed of in the same way. Birkenau set a record for gassing 30,000 people over the course of a single day.”

At this point, there is a need for a more in-depth examination of the deportation of Jews from Sosnowiec (Sosnowitz) and Będzin (Bendsburg) to Auschwitz. According to the Kalendarium Auschwitz Chronicle, 14 Jewish transports reached Auschwitz from these two localities between August 1 and 14 carrying 32,000 deportees. Another two transports from Bendsburg arrived on June 24 carrying 1,600 deportees, including six women and 19 men (who were registered with the nos. 125419-125437), while the remaining 1,575 were gassed.

As sources for this last transport, Czech cites a book by Natan Eliasz Szternfinkiel published in 1946, and an underground report no doubt repeating the information from the “Description of Auschwitz Concentration Camp” of July 10, 1943, which does indeed mention the arrival of “2 transports carrying 1,600 people from Bendsburg” after June 20, without indicating any precise date. These transports are all purely fictitious. The report from the Auschwitz Lagerarzt camp physician (Lagerarzt) to the camp Kommandantur headquarters dated June 28, 1943 on the inmates registered between June 21 and 25 explicitly states that the numbers 125385-125437, including those for the presumed deportees from Bendsburg, were assigned to the deportees on a transport from Kattowitz.421

As for the 32,000 Jews deported from Sosnowitz and Bendsburg, only the registrations are documented. The lists of male and female transports, compiled surreptitiously by Kazimierz Smoleń and other inmates working in the Politische Abteilung Political Department, contain the date, registration numbers and origins of the transports, but for these Jews, the origin is never given. A total of 6,367 Jews – 3,380 men and 2,987 women, including 466 Belgian Jews and 273 French Jewesses – were registered between August 1 and 12, 1943.

There are 14 sets of registration numbers for the above-mentioned Polish Jews, and if each one of them corresponded to a separate transport, there were indeed 14 of them, but there is no certainty in this regard. The number of deportees on each transport and their origins indicated in the Kalendarium Auschitz Chronicle are, however, completely invented, because nothing is known in this regard, and in fact, Czech does not even attempt to justify her conjectures in any way. From a letter from the Polizeipräsident police superintendent of Sosnowitz to the chief of staff of the regular police force of Military District VIII Inspekteur der Ordnungspolizei im Wehrkreis VIIIheadquartered in Breslau, we learn that approximately 30,000 Jews from the Jewish ghettoes at Sosnowitz and Bendsburg had been “abtransportiert” deported between August 1 and 7, but the operation was not over yet.422 The transport’s destination is not indicated, and there is no certainty that these Jews were all deported to Auschwitz; that they were, was a claim made by another resistance report, as we shall see later, but the Polish Jewish historian Artur Eisenbach wrote that approximately 20,000 Jews were sent to Auschwitz, while a few other groups were transferred to the Annaberg Labor Camp and assigned to the Schmelt Organization (Eisenbach, p. 540).

Czech mentions a total number of 2,000 deportees each in six transports, 3,000 each in another six, and 1,000 each for two more, but this contradicts the data contained in the report, which speaks of about 15,000 persons in 15 trains; therefore, these trains carried 1,000 people each, on average. If those transports had about 1,000 deportees each, Czech’s 14 transports would result in ca. 14,000 people reaching Auschwitz from those two ghettoes. The tale of 30,000 persons gassed on a single day anticipated the 1944 figure relating to the period of arrival of Hungarian Jews at Auschwitz.

A “Review of the Most Important Events in the Country. Month Communication dated August 27, 1943” sets forth the statistics of the living and dead. For the period leading up to March 1, 1943, it regurgitates numbers already mentioned earlier: effective camp manpower: 29,415 inmates; deaths: 76,721, including 33,923 poisoned “in the gas chamber.” On April 25, the census was 34,055 inmates, with a monthly mortality rate of 10,000! “Apart from these, transports of Jews (carrying half a million people up to the present time) have been killed in the gas chambers (w komorach gazowych), without being included in the registration.” This is followed by the anachronistic yarn of the cremation of the bodies of Soviet POWs and the horror story of children burnt alive (Obóz…, pp. 119f.):

“The bodies of 11,000 Bolshevik prisoners murdered during the winter of this year were disinterred. The bodies have been burned. 5,000 bodies per day are burned in the crematorium [w crematorium], while the rest, since there are more [than 5,000 a day], are burned alive in the ‘eternal flame’ in the open air at Birkenau[423] – the children are thrown into the fire while still alive.”

Finally, the fable of the “eternal flame” reaches its atrocious apex: children are being burned alive in it!

“Annex no. 58 for the Period of August 1-31, 1943,” apart from the odd idea that there was a crematorium at Rajsko, offers nothing new:

“468,000 Jews had been gassed at Auschwitz without general registration by the end of 1943 [sic]. Of the 60,000 foreign Jews who arrived at Auschwitz by September 1942, barely 2% are currently still alive, while the rest have been gassed. Most of them [przeważnie] were gassed in gas chambers [w komorach gazowych] at Brzezinka (Birkenau). There is also a crematorium at Rajsko, where the bodies of those who have died or were gassed are burned.”

This is followed by a repetition of the fictitious transports list from Nice, Salonica etc., with the variation that the 1,600 deportees from the two transports from Będzin are attributed to Sosnowitz instead with the following comment:

“Almost not a single person from these transports, or from the subsequent Polish transports, is still alive – all were gassed.”

At that time, the report concludes, a typhus epidemic was raging in the women’s camp at Birkenau, therefore the SS authorities “closed entire blocks, liquidated the[ir] inhabitants with gas [gazem] – because they were suspected of carrying typhus” (ibid., pp. 121f.), in other words, they gassed them inside their housing blocks!

A “Dispatch for the BBC and for the World” dated August 31 supplies further information on the deportation from the ghettoes of Bendsburg and Sosnowitz (ibid., p. 122):

“A liquidation action of the Jewish ghettoes was carried out in the territory of Silesia over the course of August. The ghettoes in the territory of Zaglębie Dąbrowskie, particularly, the cities of Sosnowiec, Będzin and Dąbrowa Górnicza, were liquidated between August 1 and 4; all the Jews were sent to Auschwitz. – Those remaining, that is, 5,000 Jews from Chrzanów, were sent to the camp on August 19.”

The transport from Chrzanów (a locality approximately 20 km north-east of Auschwitz) is pure fantasy.

The Informacja Bieżąca no. 37 dated September 22, 1943 says that 249 Reichsdeutsche German citizens were transported to Auschwitz in the month of July, after which “they were chased straight from the train into the gas chamber (z pociągu do komory gazowej) under a hail of gunfire – the reason is unknown.” This transport is also completely imaginary.

The first attempt at a coherent, documented description of the presumed gassings in the crematoria at Birkenau dates back to the summer of 1943. After his escape from Auschwitz on May 20, 1943, Stanisław Chybiński wrote a report over the course of the summer titled “Obrazki Auschwitzu” (“Pictures of Auschwitz”), which was introduced into evidence during the trial of the Auschwitz camp garrison. An anonymous “Legend” appears at the end, perhaps written by Chybiński himself, “interpreting” four “original plans” (oryginalne plany) of the Birkenau crematoria (in actual fact, of Crematorium II): No. 932, “Grundriss vom Untergeschoss” “floor plan of basement” (of January 23, 1942; Pressac 1989, pp. 284f.), No. 1173 (January 15, 1942; ibid., p. 273), No. 1301 (May 8, 1942; ibid., p. 293) and No. 2003 (December 9, 1942). Attention is invited, among other things, to the presence of Leichenkeller Morgues #1, 2, 3, followed by this comment:

“All the attached drawings represent one single crematorium. Two were built, and two others, identical to the first, but were double-twinned [i.e., mirror symmetrical].

The crematoria therefore had a total of 36 furnaces, in addition to which each furnace had 3 cremation chambers capable of accommodating 3 bodies each, that is, a [total] load of 324 bodies at a time. The [process of] cremation, as stated in the ‘Pictures of Auschwitz,’ lasted 7 minutes. […] Every load of 324 bodies burned in 7 minutes. For a new load, and to clean the furnaces, took another 7-8 minutes, if it was done correctly. […] Thus, one cremation, including loading, [lasted] 15 minutes, or 1,396 [recte: 1,296] bodies per hour. At this rate, therefore, the maximum capacity of the basements – 11,600 persons – was cremated in approximately 9 hours. […] One need only calculate the productivity of the crematoria in two years to obtain a very eloquent figure, i.e.:

1,296[424] x 24 x 30 x 12 x 2 = 22,394,880

which is more or less equal to the number of Poles after the expulsion of the national minority [Germans, Ukrainians, Jews etc.].”

The background of these claimed facilities was in fact the extermination of the Poles; Jews are not even mentioned.425

“We are now walking along the road which leads the doomed persons to their deaths. Here comes a truck. Columns [of persons] descend – women, children, and men who go directly to the basements. Passing through the antechamber (they are registered in the office, then proceed to the Waschraum [washroom] and are there ordered, with whiplashes, to undress rapidly and to enter the ‘shower room.’ They leave their clothes right there. All those who enter the basement are locked in hermetically. In all three of the chambers – ‘baths’ – they are crammed together tightly, and depending on the intensity [sic] from 700 to 2,800 persons, and in fact in all four crematoria, from 2,800 to 11,600 persons. The chambers are hermetically sealed. The capos – SS men – now take up position to administer death; they have no caption[426] /diagram 2003, left, in front of the freight elevator/ and instead of water from the lower ‘air duct’ [luftkanałem], …the gas… enters… with a whistling noise. After 15 minutes, the premises are ventilated with powerful fans, expelling the gas towards the outside through blowholes with outlets at the top [of the wall] and… now the burned offerings [całopalenia] begins, but only after the extraction of all dental gold and similar activities.”

This description is not an eyewitness testimony, but an imaginary story created out of whole cloth based on the four above-mentioned drawings of Crematorium II, which as yet for chronological reasons show none of Pressac’s “criminal traces” capable of suggesting the presence of a gas chamber in this building – apart maybe from the absence of the corpse chute (Rutsche) in Plan No. 932, which is irrelevant in this context. Therefore, the author of the “Legend” was compelled to give free rein to his fantasies. He considered the four crematoria at Birkenau to be identical, all built according to the above-mentioned plans, which confirms the artificiality of his description. First, women, children and men entered the basement; the Polish term used (piwnica) is equivalent to the German term “Untergeschoss” in the plans. The plural presumably indicates the ensemble of the underground areas of the crematorium. Where did the victims enter? In the 1942 plans in question, the entrance at the end of Leichenkeller Morgue #2, added only later, has not yet been included; there is not even any slide with a double stairway on both sides leading into the hallway (which was constructed as shown on later plans). The only accessway was the SS service entrance. Plan No. 2003 in fact bears the heading “Krematorium im K.G.L. Deckblatt zu n° 932 u. 933, Verlegung des Kellerzuganges an die Straßenseite” “Crematorium in POW Camp. Cover sheet to Nos. 932 and 933, moving basement entranceway to roadside.” According to the author, the victims did indeed use this accessway. In that case, the victims would have found themselves in the antechamber (przdpokój, German: Vorplatz), after which they would have entered an office (biuro/Büro), where they were registered (!), then entered the “Waschraum” (washroom, German in the text). Here, the author of the report makes a mistake, because in Plan No. 2003, the washroom appears in the Erdgeschoss ground floor. The three chambers (komory) – the expression “gas chambers” is never used – were obviously Leichenkeller Morgues #1, 2 and 3. The designation “[shower] baths” (łaźnie) attributed to these chambers was no doubt an echo from preceding stories as examined earlier. The position of the SS inflicting death was obviously not indicated in the plans, therefore, the author of the report invented a location in front of the freight elevator (winda, translation of Aufzug), without further specification. How they could operate so as to inflict death upon the victims from this position is not explained. The air duct (luftkanał) corresponds to the German “Luftkanal,” but this term does not appear in the above-mentioned plans; instead, the words “air-intake duct” and “air-extraction duct” (“Belüftungskanal,” “Entlüftungskanal”). Plan No. 1173 shows the vertical section of Leichenkeller Morgue #1 with an upper “Belüftungskanal” “air-intake duct” and a lower “Entlüftungskanal” “air-extraction duct,” and specifies that the latter led “zum Dachgeschoss” “to the attic.” The story that this “air duct” carried the gas “instead of water” (zamiast wody) is even more absurd than that of gas instead of water flowing from shower heads, which was en vogue at that time: it is not possible for an air duct to carry water, and even less that the gas came in through the “lower” air duct, hence from the Entlüftungskanal air-extraction duct, which was an exhaust duct for stale or foul air. The blow holes (odpowietrzniki) were perhaps the 32 exhaust vents from Leichenkeller Morgue #1 referred to in Plan No. 932 and located in the two side walls, 16 on each side; at the top of the wall, these fed into the Entlüftungskanal air-intake duct leading to the Dachgeschoss attic.427

This report is of fundamental importance to the literary genesis of the gassings in the crematoria for another reason as well. It is not known how the author of the “Legend” had deduced the presence of nine three-muffle cremation furnaces in Crematorium II from the plans, since he believed that the four crematoria of Birkenau were identical: he spoke of a total of 36 three-muffle furnaces. This claim, the fruit of a gross error of interpretation or deliberate deceit, then became, as we shall see, one of the cornerstones of the Alfred Wetzler Report, which was copied over into the well-known War Refugee Board Report.

The report in question was the first attempt – and remained the only attempt for a year – to render an accounting of what Jean-Claude Pressac called the “machinery of mass murder” inside the crematorium.

A report dated July 10, 1943 said that 468,000 Jews had been gassed by September 1942; 181,000 Jews had arrived between September 1942 and the beginning of June 1943, 98% of whom (177,380) were also gassed; the total claimed balance sheet of gassing victims was therefore 645,000 in round numbers.

A radio message dated July 15, 1943 also spoke of the gassing of 468,000 Jews, but only up to the end of 1942, and the arrival of over 181,000 Jews, of whom 177,000 were gassed, would have brought the death toll to 645,000 victims also.

This information was later reworked and transmitted to London by “Wanda” at the end of January 1944. Breitman cites this document, attributing great importance to it. It mentions the presumed 468,000 gassing victims, the claimed additional 181,000 deportees, 98% of whom are supposed to have been gassed, making a subsequent total of 645,000 gassing victims (Breitman 1998, p. 120). But in this regard, he does not even wonder whether these nonsensical figures are “very close to what postwar reconstruction would establish as the actual situation at the time” (ibid., pp. 116f.); as far as one can tell, he takes it as an indisputable fact.

The “Report on the Situation in the Eastern Territories No. 7 (up until September 30, 1943),” returned to the customary confused fantasies. On June 7, according to the report, a transport of approximately 1,700 persons arrived. “The train was immediately shunted to Birkenau, where all the inmates were asphyxiated with gases [gazami].” This transport is completely imaginary. The report continues as follows (Obóz…, p. 133):

“Around mid-year, 7,300 Jews arrived from Greece. All incoming Jews were killed, one after the other, in gas chambers [w komorach gazowych]. […]

Two new crematoria were consigned for the purpose in April. Up until that time, the Jews had been killed in a [rather] primitive way: the bodies of the Jews poisoned with gases [gazami] were arranged in layers upon pyres [na stosach] and drenched with flammable materials. The intolerable stench of the burning corpses could be smelled from several kilometers away.”

The first Jewish transport from Greece arrived at Auschwitz on March 20, 1943, while the last one in 1943 arrived on August 18. There were 48,533 deportees in total, only 11,147 of whom were registered (Czech 1970, Table 2 between pp. 24 & 25). The information in the report was therefore wrong by a very wide margin.

The report fails to explain the nature of the “primitive” method of killing the Jews before the commissioning of the two crematoria, nor is there any mention of any “modern” killing method in these new installations, as would have been logical. The first three Birkenau crematoria were consigned to the camp administration in the following order:

– March 22, 1943: Crematorium IV

– March 31, 1943: Crematorium II

– April 4, 1943: Crematorium V.

Crematorium III was consigned on June 25, three months before the date of the report in question, yet the author of the report was unaware of that fact.

On October 18, 1943, “Tadeusz” compiled a list of the transports he claims had arrived at Auschwitz between August 3 and 28, containing the following Jewish transports (Obóz…, p. 135):

– August 2: 200 from Berlin

– August 5: 100 from Berlin

– August 5: 125 from Dresden (inmates)

– August 23: 100 from Berlin

– August 26: 1,026 from Wolsztyn (Wohlstein)

– August 27: 205 from Eberswald, “Märkische Stahlform-Werke”

– August 28: 1,600 resettled from Rawicz.

Nothing is said of their fates. These data offer an opportunity to illustrate other examples of Danuta Czech’s distortions and falsehoods as contained in her Auschwitz ChronicleKalendarium.

Czech records one documented transport from Berlin on August 5 (100 deportees, unknown number of registered inmates; Czech 1989, S. 565/1990, p. 456), in addition to one on August 3 carrying 200 deportees, all of whom were said to have been gassed. For this latter, Auschwitz Chronicle editor Czech refers to the report in question (ibid., S. 564/p. 454), although it mentions the date as August 2. According to Microfilm Publication A3355 of the National Archives in Washington, there were only two transports from Berlin to Auschwitz in August 1943, one of which departed on August 4 (carrying 99 deportees) and the other on August 28 (50 deportees). Therefore, the transport of August 3 with its 200 presumed gassing victims never existed.

Czech also borrows the yarn of the presumed transport carrying 205 Jews from Eberswald, all of whom are said to have been gassed (ibid., S. 585/p. 471), but such an assertion is indemonstrable by its very nature.

For August 5, she mentions the presumed arrival of the transport from Dresden, all 125 members of which are said to have been gassed (ibid., S. 566/p. 456).

A report from the Auschwitz camp physician Lagerarzt to the camp headquarters Kommandantur dated September 6, 1943 on the inmates registered between August 26 and 31 shows that two inmates were registered from Dresden under the numbers 141804-141805.428 Following the list of men’s transports (NOKW-2824, p. 25), the Auschwitz Chronicle editor considers these two numbers assigned to two inmates of a Sammeltransport consolidated “group transport” which arrived at Auschwitz on August 27, whose deportees received the numbers 141743-141816 (Czech 1989, S. 586/1990, p. 471). The above-mentioned report from the Lagerarzt camp physician indicates, on the contrary, the individual localities of origin for the members of this Sammeltransport group transport, which obviously could not be considered a single transport: Kattowitz, Troppau, Oppeln, Heydebreck, Koblenz, Bielefeld, Dresden, and Prague. Therefore, even the transport from Dresden and its 125 gassing victims is the mere fruit of fantasy.

According to Czech, the transport from Wolsztyn did not arrive on August 26, but on the 27th, carrying 1,026 deportees, 1,016 of whom were registered with the nos. 140721-141736, while the remaining 10 were presumably gassed (ibid., S. 586/p. 471). The report from the Lagerarzt camp physician attributes the numbers in question to a transport from a camp in Posen (Posznan). In this document, the Jewish transports are not reported, and the related numbers are not mentioned. The first gap relates to the numbers 139708-139885, 178 registered deportees of a documented transport from Holland, which arrived on August 26. There was then another gap which extends from 139897 to 140720, which the list of men’s transports divides into 139897-140333 and 140334-140720, for the dates of August 26 and 27 (NOKW-2824, p. 25). Czech allocates the two series without any references to two Jewish transports from Zawierć (1,200 presumed gassing victims; Czech 1990, pp. 470f.). Again, with a reference to the list by “Tadeusz,” she notes the arrival of a transport of 800 Jews from Küstrin (Kostrzyń) on August 28, 133 of whom are said to have been gassed (ibid., S. 587/p. 473). But the list clearly says that they were not Jews but rather “political inmates from Kistrzyń” (800 więźniów politycznych z Kistrzinia).

Finally, Czech simply increases the number of claimed deportees of the August 28 transport from Rawicz (always taken from Tadeusz’s list) from 1,600 to 2,000 deportees, and changes the date to August 29, thus obtaining another 600 gassing victims! (Ibid., S. 589/p. 474)

A communiqué from the headquarters of the information services of the Polish government in exile of October 11, 1943, summarizing the history of the Auschwitz Camp, describes the crematorium in the Stammlager Main Camp as follows:429

“There were three furnaces in which the cremations were performed using coke as fuel. Approximately 70 bodies could be cremated in an entire day, since, in each furnace, the bodies underwent total carbonization only in one half hour. If there were several bodies, this was shortened to 20 minutes[430] and as a result, the bones were not completely burnt when they were thrown into the dump or onto the roads, together with the ashes of the remaining coke. This insufficient number of furnaces compelled the Germans to bury the bodies in the mass graves which I have already described. In September 1942, it seems, a new electrical furnace [piec elektryczny] was built, and the problem of cremation was satisfactorily solved.”

Urns containing their ashes were sent to the families of inmates who had died in the camp. 12,000 to 15,000 Poles and 2,000 to 3,000 Jews and a few thousand Soviet POWs had already died by March 1942.

A “Description of Auschwitz Concentration Camp” written by “Karol” in German on October 10, 1943, after stressing that “die Vernichtung der Polen im Lager schreitet unaufhaltsam weiter fort” “the annihilation of the Poles in the camp is progressing inexorably,” mentions the first Jewish transport from Theresienstadt (Obóz…, pp. 138f., facsimile of the document):

“Vor einigen Wochen sind ca 2000 Menschen aus dem Ghetto in Teherensianstatt [sic]/Czechoslowakei/ gekommen, also Juden Männer, Frauen und Kinder. Ganz überraschenderweise wurden diese Menschen nicht wie ihrere Vorgänger vergast, sondern waggonierte man alle Leute, Kranke, Junge, Männer und Frauen zusammen bei dem Frauenlager in Birkenau aus und befinden sie sich noch heute dort in den Blocks.”

“A few weeks go, approximately 2,000 people arrived from the ghetto in Teherensianstatt [sic]/Czechoslovakia, i.e., Jewish men, women and children. Quite surprisingly, these people were not gassed like their predecessors, but rather, all these people, the sick, the young, men and women, were driven together to the women’s camp in Birkenau, and are still living in the blocks there today.”

Further along, the report speaks of the arrest of inmates who “erwarten im Bunker die schärfsten Strafen.” “are awaiting the severest punishments in the bunker.” This is additional confirmation that for the inmates the “bunker” was merely the Main Camp’s brig. In the “Reports of the Information Department of the Delegature” of the Polish Government for the period of October 24 through November 21, 1943, we read only these two brief entries (Gmitruk et al., pp. 498, 502):

“In Auschwitz in recent weeks, about 30,000 Jews brought there from Polish territories have been executed in the gas chambers.”

“At the [Auschwitz] camp a malaria epidemic raged at that time. The mass killing of thousands of Jews in the gas chambers continued unabated. A transport to other camps and to work in the Reich to remove rubble was put together containing 17,000 Poles, Jews and Russians.”

“Annex No. 61 for the period between November 1 and 30, 1943” states that there was a malaria epidemic at Auschwitz starting in the month of September. Danuta Czech informs us that the malaria patients were transferred to Lublin (Czech 1989, S. 663/1990, p. 534).

A report with the subject “Vierteljahresmeldung über den San.-Dienst im K.L. Auschwitz I” “Quarterly report from the health service at the Auschwitz I Concentration Camp”, compiled by the Lagerarzt camp physician of CC Auschwitz I on December 16, 1943, explains the motive for the transfer: the Lublin Camp was considered an area free of anopheles mosquitoes “als anophelesfrei Gebiet gilt”.431

But as early as May 27, 1943, a transport of sick people departed as announced by Liebehenschel:432

“Kl. Auschwitz überstellt sofort im Einzeltransport 800 Malariakranke Häftlinge zum KL. Lublin.”

“CC Auschwitz is immediately transferring 800 inmates sick with malaria to CC Lublin.”

The report then mentions the Jews (Obóz…, p. 142):

“The mass killings of Jews in gas chambers [w komorach gazowych], mostly women, is still going on.”

A transport carrying 17,000 Polish, Russian and Jewish inmates to other camps was prepared. There were approximately 6,000 Erziehungshäftlinge re-educational inmates at Auschwitz.

“During the gassing of 30,000 Jews from Zagłębie Dąmbrowskie, the crematoria [krematoria] were unsuccessful in burning the bodies, so they were burned on pyres [na stosach], the children were thrown alive into the flames.”

This referers to the Jewish Auschwitz deportees from Bendsburg (Będzin) and Sosnowitz, who initially numbered 15,000 (plus an undefined number transported in trucks) but here increase to 30,000, the canonical figure. There is no further need to dwell upon the macabre fantasy about children burned alive.

In the “Reports of the Information Department of the Delegature” of the Polish Government for the period of November 22 through December 18, 1943, we find this entry (Gmitruk et al., p. 526):

“New transports of Polish convicts are constantly being sent to the Auschwitz Camp with several prisoners from the General Government. At the end of November, about 1,000 men were sent there from Pawiak [prison] in Warsaw. In addition, from time to time smaller groups of prisoners arrive from Pawiak to Auschwitz. At the same time, however, large transports of prisoners leave from the Auschwitz Camp toward other camps in the Reich and in the Polish territories: among the latter, 8,000 inmates of Auschwitz have been transferred to the special hard labor camp of Jaworzno. Large executions took place recently in Auschwitz, during which many inmates who had been there for a couple of years were executed, among others.”

The few subsequent messages of 1943 make no reference to extermination of Jews.


	
2.3.3. The Reports of 1944

The 16th edition of Informacja zachodnia (Western Information) dated February 10, 1944 contains extraordinary information (ibid p. 151):

“Auschwitz. A recently installed modern electric furnace [nowoczesny piec elektryczny] was supplied by the Siemens Company. It is used for the special processing of bodies. Human fats are extracted from the bodies by means of a gradual increase in temperature and then subjected to processing. There is also a large bone-glue factory at the camp.”

Whether or not this “electric furnace” is to be considered a “shadow projected by reality,” this tale is no doubt a distortion of the Hochfrequenz-Entlausungsanlage microwave delousing device supplied by the Siemens-Schuckertwerke AG, Berlin. A similar device was put into operation on June 30, 1944 in the reception building of the Stammlager Main Camp (BW 160). It was also referred to as the Kurzwellen-Entlausungsanlage short-wave delousing device, but at Auschwitz there was talk of it as early as early June 1943, and the related Kostenvoranschlag cost estimate dates back to August 16, 1943. The device was basically the world’s first microwave oven (see Nowak).

Incredibly, the story of the electric furnace was even brought up during the Höss Trial by the witness Władysław Tondos, who declared during the ninth hearing:433

“This crematorium [in the Main CampStammlager] was too small, therefore a new electrical crematorium [nowe elektryczne crematorium] was built.”

The story of the bone-glue factory was probably the result of another distortion. The Auschwitz slaughterhouse (Schlachthaus, BW 33c) was put into operation at the end of July 1943.434 As shown by an inventory plan of September 27, 1944,435 there was a device for the extraction of bone marrow from animal bones installed on the building’s ground floor, among other devices (Knochenentfettungsanlage, bone-degreasing device). It was installed as early as September 1942.436 The related apparatus (Knochenentfettungsapparat) was supplied by the M. Trüsted Corporation of Berlin-Hannover, as shown by a letter from the company to the administration of Auschwitz Concentration Camp of June 25, 1942.437 The device was used to extract the fat and marrow from the uncooked remains of animals butchered to enrich the inmates’ diet.

The counterintelligence head at the Ministry of Defense of the Polish government in exile at London wrote up a report on Auschwitz Camp dated February 2, 1944, which stated, among other things:438

“The crematorium is built below ground, on the model of an air-raid shelter. At ground level, only the chimney can be seen, protruding from the ground. The informant worked on the construction of this chimney, with others. The informant did not know the location of the gas chambers, he only felt that they were below ground, built on the model of the crematorium.”

This was simply a phantasmagorical description of the crematorium at the Stammlager Main Camp.

The 9th edition of Informacja Bieżąca dated March 1, 1944 contains a detailed report on the effective manpower of the camp on January 20, and states that at the time the inmates being gassed were mostly Jews from the camp who had already been registered. The report adds (Obóz…, pp. 154f.):

“Jews from Belgium and Holland (a couple of thousand of them) had been transported to Auschwitz by January 15, 1944, and were immediately poisoned in the gas chambers [w komorach gazowych]. Approximately 6,000 Jewish women had been gassed at the women’s camp by January 1, 1944.”

A transport from Belgium (Malines) actually arrived on January 17, 1944, followed by another from Holland (Westerbork) on January 27 (Czech 1989, S. 707, 715/1990, pp. 571, 577), but of these deportees, only 497 out of 1,605, or 31%, were registered. The gassing of 6,000 Jewish women is therefore pure fantasy, even from an orthodox point of view. A set of statistics of registered women inmates is then presented, ranging from February 1943 to January 15, 1944. The list mentions 4,283 Poles, 8,008 Jewesses and 7,475 “others,” for a total of 19,766. The report continues:

“Moreover, 11,930 Jewesses having arrived at Birkenau from other camps were gassed between February 1943 and January 15, 1944. On January 22, a transport of French Jews arrived (about 7,000 of them) for the sole purpose of being gassed.”

The original handwritten manuscript contains six columns: “Month,” “Total” (of the three columns), “Poles,” “Jews,” “Aryans without Poles,” “Jews only gas” (Tylko Żydzi gaz). The last column has a total of 11,930; the third, fourth, and fifth columns should therefore indicate natural deaths.439

Here as well, we are in a realm of complete fantasy, as may easily be verified. Pohl’s letter to Himmler of September 30, 1943 regarding “Todesfälle in Konz.-Lagern” “Fatalities in Concentration Camps” reports 938 deaths in the women’s camp at Auschwitz in August 1943,440 while the above-mentioned statistics show 1,533 deaths for the month of August, 498 of whom are supposed to have been gassing victims.

For the month of December, deaths are said to have totalled 8,931 (including 4,247 gassing victims), but the last four Death Books Sterbebücher for 1943 (nos. 22-25), which cover the period from November 12 to December 31, record a total of 5,355 deaths, both male and female.

The total number of gassed female inmates would therefore amount to 31,696,441 but 36,991 registered inmates died at Auschwitz in 1943,442 both men and women; the figures in the report are therefore obviously incommensurate.

A “Report from Auschwitz dated March 15, 1944” supplies the following particulars:443

“Bigger transports, the size of which is hard to quantify, are also sent into the gas [na gaz] without the camp numbering [registration]; among the others, a couple of very large groups of Poles from the region of Zamość perished in the gas. At the beginning of 1944, 2 groups from the Lublin region were liquidated with injections. To get an idea of the number of persons sent to the gas without registration, just take the figure [for the quantity] of gold obtained just from the teeth of gassed persons, which amounts to 10-12 kg per month. This is an official figure. In practice, [the actual figure] is 30% higher. […] We may assume that 1,500,000 Jews from all countries, including approximately 100,000 Poles: men, women and children […] have been gassed at Auschwitz without ever being registered.

Outside the camp there are 5 crematoria and gas chambers. Enormous transports of Jews from Holland, the Czech protectorate, Belgium and Greece perish there. A special squad of Jews isolated from the other inmates render service in the crematorium.”

The absurd figures for gassing victims were later borrowed by another report which will be examined later. As for the dental gold, the figure remained more or less unchanged (10-13 kg), but instead of monthly became daily!

A report titled “Various Items of Information from Auschwitz Camp dated March 1944” reports that there were 25,000 inmates at the Buna Camp (Monowitz), 1,223 of whom had died or had been killed, and 11,547 were sent to Auschwitz and Birkenau due to “Körperschwäche” “physical weakness,” 95% of whom were gassed or had died.

In March 1944, the average manpower of the Monowitz Camp stood at 7,800, 1,283 of whom had died by that time (Makowski, pp. 134, 137, 170); the inmates transferred to Auschwitz and Birkenau amounted to 6,845 in total. The report continues as follows:

“From the Jewish ‘family camp’ at Theresienstadt, the survivors, after the gassing of the first transport, had to be divided into two groups: the able-bodied will be sent to work, while the rest – the elderly, most of the women and children – go to the gas /Sonderbehandlung/.”

On September 8, 1943, two transports of Jews from the Theresienstadt Ghetto reached Birkenau carrying 5,006 persons, all of whom were registered: 2,293 men and children were assigned numbers 146694-148986, while 2,713 women and girls were assigned numbers 58471-61183 (Czech 1989, S. 600/1990, p. 483). These inmates were accommodated in Sector BIIb of Birkenau, for this reason known as the “Familienlager Family Camp Theresienstadt.” On December 16 and 20, another 5,414 deportees arrived, all of whom were also registered (ibid., S. 680, 684/pp. 548, 551). There was presumably a gassing of 3,791 Jews from the Theresienstadt Ghetto quartered in Birkenau Camp Sector BIIa on March 8, 1944 (ibid., S. 736f./p. 595). The report should have mentioned this claimed but undocumented event (see Mattogno 2016a, pp. 144-167), although the author was evidently entirely unaware of it. On the other hand, he was well aware of the cryptonym Sonderbehandlung (special treatment), which later became a sort of magic word.

The report then declares that the situation of the sick was as follows: 2,000 inmates without those lodged in auxiliary camps, and among these, the victims of gassings and injections with phenol were on the order of several tens of thousands. The report says nothing about the presumed extermination of the Jews, although the paragraph cited is titled “Morderstwa,” “Murders.”444

Edition No. 16 of Informacja Bieżąca of April 19 embroidered the previously published information with additional fabrications (Obóz…, p. 156.):

“7,000 Jews arrived from Italy, Denmark and France [in the preceding number: only France] during the first half of February, and were immediately gassed. On March 15, 4,000 Jews arrived from Theresienstadt (Czechia), and were gassed.”

As mentioned before, for the Kalendarium Auschwitz Chronicle, this occurred on March 8, 1944 (Czech 1989, S. 736f./1990, p. 595). I shall return to this presumed gassing in Subchapter 2.5.2.

A Funk-Abhör-Bericht radio intercept report dated June 15, 1944 informed the British that London had been informed that “4000 tschechoslowakische Juden, die im Dezember 1943 von Theresienstadt nach Birkenau transportiert wurden, sind am 7. März in Gaskammern ermordet worden.” “4,000 Czechoslovakian Jews, who had been transported from Theresienstadt to Birkenau in December 1943, were murdered in the gas chambers on March 7” (Obóz…, p. 157, facsimile of the document). Here as well, there is a “shadow projected by reality” which was not, however, the gassing, but rather the transfer of the inmates to Kędzierzyn-Koźle, to the Blechhammer Camp (Mattogno 2016a, pp. 144-160).

The “Report (sprawozdanie) for the Period between April 20 and May 5, 1944” opens with the following revealing words:445

“Auschwitz Camp [German in text] was to have been the implementation of Hitler’s words on the ‘ausroten’ [Ausrottung] of the Poles, therefore, undertaking experiments for the purpose of liquidating large masses of persons in a rapid and secret manner.”

One of the methods was said to have been killing with phenol injections to the heart, which allegedly had already claimed approximately 20,000 victims, obviously “most of them Poles.”

The following observation shows the degree to which intentional distortion of innocuous events by the members of resistance movements plays a crucial role in these fabrications:

“The Germans are working frantically to wipe out all trace of their murders. Restructuring the old crematorium into an air-raid shelter. During the demolition of the chimney, a true and proper layer of unburnt human fat several centimeters [thick] was found in the soot on the bricks.”

It is not clear how the informant was aware of the restructuring of the crematorium, since the “Plan über den Ausbau des alten Krematoriums für Luftschutzzwecke” “Plan for the conversion of the old crematorium for air-raid shelter purposes” was proposed by Head of Air Protection Luftschutzleiter SS Obersturmführer Heinrich Josten only on August 26 1944.446 The chimney of the crematorium had been demolished already in the second half of 1943, after the cessation of all cremation activity at the end of July. It is known that the chimney had already been demolished and reconstructed in the past, having been irreparably damaged by overheating (Überhitzung) caused by intensive use, which means temperatures exceeding 500°C, those normally anticipated at the base of crematorium chimneys. But the temperature at which fat ignites is 184°C (Perry, p. 1584); it is therefore impossible for unburnt fat to become deposited on bricks from the refractory coating of the chimney flue (Mattogno/Deana 2015, Vol. I, pp. 38-41, 212-228).

The report moreover states that “shooting is the method of execution currently in use in the crematorium [w crematorium] of Birkenau; in the event of larger-scale executions, the victims are gassed directly.”

The “Periodic Report for the Period between May 5 and May 25, 1944,” dated May 26, returns to the “first gassing:447

“In September 1941, 500 Soviet prisoners of war arrived, most of them officers. To these 1,500 ‘Moslems’ (sick prisoners) were added; all were sent to the gas [na gaz], quickly and without hesitation. The stench of the smoke from the cremation furnaces was the last tacit cry of vengeance.”

This is followed by a paragraph titled “Fabryka śmierci” – the “Factory of Death”:

“Until the spring of 1943, two peasant cottages [dwa małe domki chłopskie] at Brzezinka/Birkenau were [used as] gas chambers [komorami gazowymi]. All the windows were bricked up, leaving only a few apertures hermetically closed [closable] [from the] outside, and fake shower heads in the ceiling. This was supposed to be a ‘bath.’[!] Truck transports arrived, escorted by armed SS men, who immediately compelled all the prisoners [tłum, the crowd] to undress completely with [= giving them] towels. [They are] Naive, without presentiment, [then] the doors are hermetically closed. A gas in powdered form [sproszkowany gaz] is then thrown through the apertures from cans bearing the trademark ‘Cyklon.’ The powder, as it evaporates, immediately kills all persons in the chamber. For the use of ‘Cyklon’ (the gas smells of mustard) they first throw in another powder which absorbs the oxygen from the air. The ventilator [wentylator] is then turned on, and a special ‘Sonderkommando’ [Sonderkommanda] throws the bodies into two enormous graves, arranging them in layers and sprinkling them with chloride of lime. Since the graves fill rapidly, the bodies, starting as early as the summer of 1942, were burned on pyres of branches and wood using petroleum or gasoline for fuel. Children were thrown directly onto the pyres with open ridicule and ferocious, insane laughter. A thick black smoke poisoned the entire district.

Starting in May 1943, [sic] ‘comfort’ [‘komfort’]. The transports arrive at the ‘death ramp’ at Rajsko and from there, the men, women, and children are all separated from each other, after which they are led into the gas chambers in the 4 recently built crematoria. We possess plans of the chambers [plany komór posiadamy]. After the gassings, the freight elevators [windy] in this ‘death factory’ carry the naked bodies to the ground floor [na piętro], where they are subjected to a careful search so as to enrich the Third Reich. The dental squad breaks the gold and platinum teeth, together with the jaw bone, to save time. The bodies of those suspected of having swallowed jewels are examined in the dissecting room. In a monstrous rage, infants, newly born in the women’s camp, are thrown directly into the furnace. The 4 working crematoria process up to 5,000 [bodies] per day. The furnaces at Auschwitz ‘processed’ 1,500,000 Jews, in addition to 100,000 Poles, Russians and others.”

The importance of this report in the development of the story of the gas chambers is obvious.

In November 1942, the “Degasungskammern” at Birkenau, one of the numerous themes invented by the resistance, developed into “a few cottages near the forest,” then into “two dwelling houses”; here, with a further literary development, they became “two peasant cottages,” a definition which subsequently became “official,” in German translation – “Bauernhäuser” (peasant houses) – particularly in Höss’s statements.448 Instead, the designations “czerwony domek” (red cottage) and “biały domek” (white cottage) just like those used with reference to “Bunker 1” and “Bunker 2,” had not yet been invented, and their features had not yet been decided upon, even in the most basic respects, such as the position of these two presumed gassing installations, the number and capacity of the gas chambers; the transport system that whisked the corpses to the mass graves. The narrow-gauge field railway was then appropriated from the stories examined earlier relating to the six gassing “blocks” and the two gas chambers (“I komora” and “II komora”) located one in front of the other; the term “bunker,” by contrast, probably originates from the camp prison in the basement of Block 11, the scene of the presumed first gassing.

The tale, while containing two essential elements which flow together into the final version (the “Cyklon” poured through “apertures” and the introduction of the term “Sonderkommando”), are still highly redolent of the previous fantasies: the gas chambers were camouflaged as “shower baths” equipped with fake showerheads on the ceiling (although in the previous versions the shower heads were real, although gas came out of them). These showerheads are the reason why the victims were given towels before entering. Finally, two years and eight months after the “first gassing,” and after the claimed gassing of at least 1,500,000 people, the resistance members discover the murder weapon – Zyklon B – while continuing to attribute false properties to it. The presumed odor of mustard was specific to Yprite, referred to in English precisely for this reason as “mustard gas.” They were still unaware that the active ingredient of Zyklon was hydrogen cyanide; to them, that which evaporated, producing the gas, was the powder. The myth about another type of powder that absorbed the oxygen from the air was, in turn, subsequently developed by witnesses in several variants and stages, such as Miklós Nyiszli (Mattogno 2020a, p. 155):

“The toxic substance, at the moment of the actual contact with air – probably absorbing its oxygen – becomes gaseous from the solid state and fills the available space […].”

In his handwritten note of April 23, 1946, Rudolf Höss expounded another version of this fable: Zyklon B immediately evaporated when coming in contact with the oxygen in the air [“bei Berührung mit Sauerstoff”]! (See Mattogno 2020, pp. 118, 273f.)

The “ventilator” is also a vestige of past fantasies (the “bunkers” of Birkenau, according to the final version, were without ventilators), while the term “Sonderkommando” was the German translation of the preceding “specjalne komando.” With elementary logic, the resistance members attributed one single mass grave to each “cottage.” The bodies were not burned in cremation ditches, but on pyres; this was not undertaken by virtue of any Himmler order, nor for reasons grounded in hygiene or health (the two dominant explanations in orthodox Holocaust literature), but simply because the two mass graves were full! The atrocious meme of (newborn) babies thrown alive into the flames, too delicious to be abandoned, is dished up once again, out of context, since the context is that of the burning of cadavers; therefore, the children “thrown directly onto the pyres” were already dead.

The second part of the account relates, by contrast, to the gassings in the crematoria at Birkenau.

The activities of the presumed installations later referred to as “bunkers” ceased in May 1943, when the Birkenau crematoria entered into operation. In this context, all reference to the “death ramp,” the so-called “Judenrampe” “Jewish ramp,” is anachronistic, because it was put into operation only on April 16, 1944.449 The story cooked up here enriches the themes already present in the “Pictures of Auschwitz” from the summer of 1943. Although the authors of the report claim to have possessed “plans of the chambers,” their report does not explicitly state that they were underground: this can be deduced solely from the mention of the freight elevator going to the ground floor, which presupposes the “basement” (piwnica) of the preceding report. The inspection of the bodies, which was carried out on the ground floor rather than in the Kellergeschoss basement outside the gas chamber, as in the final version, and the reference to the dissection room is a theme since fallen into desuetude. The account is very general. Intuitively, we can see that the furnace room was on the ground floor, but the report says nothing in this regard, and is also silent on the number and type of cremation furnaces. It is not even explained that the crematoria were identical in design, but mirror-symmetrical in pairs, and that the description was only valid for Crematoria II and III. The atrocious story of the newly born infants thrown “into the furnace” (do pieca), in the singular, confirms that the authors of the report had only an approximate “cherry-picking awareness” of the Birkenau crematoria. This is an obvious elaboration on the equally fantastic story of the children thrown alive onto the burning pyres.

The four crematoria at Birkenau had an alleged capacity of 5,000 bodies per day, but in an earlier report, three crematoria had “a daily capacity of 10,000 bodies,” and the capacity of the “new crematorium” was either 3,000 or 5,000!

The phrase “the furnaces at Auschwitz ‘processed’ 1,500,000 Jews, in addition to 100,000 Poles, Russians and others” is doubly absurd, particularly already for the figure of 1,600,000 gassing victims in itself, and also because all these presumed victims are attributed to the cremation furnaces at Birkenau, that is, according to the report, between May 1943 and May 1944. Based on the preceding report, 468,000 Jews had been gassed by September 1942, and another 177,000 by the beginning of June 1943, for a total of 645,000. This means that the total number of Jews gassed was 2,145,000 minus the indeterminate number of persons gassed in May 1943. It is appropriate to recall that Franciszek Piper has calculated the total figure of 960,000 Jewish deaths at Auschwitz (Piper 1993, p. 202), a good part of whom, what is more, are said to have been Hungarian Jews not considered in this report.

The presumed fate of the Hungarian Jews was proclaimed before their deportations even began. Rezső (Rudolf) Kastner, for example, declared in an affidavit of September 13, 1943 with reference to April 1944 (PS-2606):

“In the meantime the Budapest Relief Committee received two messages from the Bratislava Committee. One message said that there was feverish work going on in Oswiecim to restore the gas-chambers and crematoriums there, which were not working for months and a remark made by a SS NCO that ‘soon we will get fine Hungarian sausages’ was reported.”

The second message concerned the plan to send 120 trains of deportees to Auschwitz. In 1946, Kastner returned to these messages in the following terms (Kastner, p. 30):

“Meldungen aus Bratislava bestätigten auch diese Befürchtungen. Die dortige Waadah [Hilfskomitee] leitete uns die Meldungen ihres Nachrichtendienstes weiter. Demgemäss war die SS im Begriffe, die Gaskammern und Krematorien in Auschwitz, die seit dem Herbst 1943 ausser Gebrauch waren, auszubessern und zu renovieren. Man erhöhte die Zahl der Mannschaft, und einer der Unteroffiziere soll sich die Aeusserung geleistet haben: ‘Bald essen wir feine ungarische Salamai’. (Er dachte hier allersdings an die mitgebrachten Lebensmittel der Juden.)”“Communications from Bratislava also confirmed these fears. Local Waadah [the relief committee] relayed its information-service communications to us. According to them, the SS were preparing to repair and restore the gas chambers and crematoria, which had been out of use since the autumn of 1943 (die seit dem Herbst 1943 ausser Gebrauch waren). The number of personnel increased, and a non-commissioned officer is said to have expressed himself as follows: ‘Soon we will eat delicious Hungarian salami.’ (He was still thinking of the food brought by the Jews).”

“Reports from Bratislava also confirmed these fears. The local Waadah [relief committee] forwarded reports from their intelligence service to us. According to this, the SS was in the process of repairing and renovating the gas chambers and crematoria in Auschwitz, which had been out of use since autumn 1943. The number of people in the work crew was increased, and one of the NCOs is said to have made the following statement: ‘We’ll soon be eating fine Hungarian salamai.’ (He was thinking here, however, of the food the Jews brought along.)” (spaced out in the original)

From Bratislava it was also learned that 150 rather than 120 freight trains of deportees would pass through Slovakia.

The Hungarian Jews are mentioned in the “Extraordinary Appendix to the Periodic Report for the Period between May 5 and 25, 1944,” titled “Oswiecim. ‘Action Hees’” (sic):450

“From mid-May, concentration of transports of Hungarian Jews. Every day 8 trains arrive, and 5 every night. The trains all consist of 48-50 cars, each of which [carries] 100 persons.”

The deportees were referred to as “resettlers,” and to each train were added “two cars loaded with construction lumber (drewna budulcowego), to be unloaded on the ‘death ramp,’ after which it was moved elsewhere and arranged in piles… intended for use by them [the deportees].”

“The [people] unloaded [off a] transports which the two gasworks [obie gazownie] are unable to dispose of camp out in a little wood nearby, or in ditches, guarded by ‘Posten’ [Postów, sentries] with submachine guns. The waiting time for death can be up to two days, because there are bottlenecks. Between the railroad ramp and the gaswork [gazownią] along the road, day and night [there is] an uninterrupted procession of persons walking towards the gassing installation [ku gazowni] as it gradually empties of already ‘processed’ bodies […].

Before entering the gas chamber [do komory gazowej], everybody hands over the money and valuables they have with them to the… deposit [depozytu]. They must then undress completely, handing over [oddają] all their clothes, which are then searched to find any valuables sewn inside the linings. They then enter the ‘bath,’ that is, the gas chamber, in groups of 1,000 persons. They are no longer given hand towels and soap, as before – there isn’t enough time.

The two gas chambers [obie komory gazowe] work without letup, but are unable to dispose of the rest [of the deportees]. Between the gassing of one group [and another], the only down time is that required for ventilation. On the other side [of the gas chamber], where it is certainly invisible to those entering the chamber, there are huge piles of bodies. There is not enough time to burn them. All victims, particularly the women, have their hair cut off by a special Kommando [komando] of barbers. The hair is loaded onto trolleys as raw material. A special squad of dentists carefully examine the oral cavities of all the corpses, extracting gold and platinum crowns. Since there is little time, they break the jawbones, and only extract the dental work afterwards. Another squad of ‘specialists’ is responsible for inserting a finger in the vagina of the female corpses in search of hidden jewelry. Only when the bodies have been thus processed and inspected, are they sent for cremation. 4 crematoria work round the clock – one brick kiln [cegielnia] plus pyres [stosy] burning in the open. Dense black smoke is visible from far away. It was nevertheless found impossible to cremate so many bodies. One crematorium is temporarily out of service and is being hastily repaired, because as a consequence of continual use, the grate and part of the furnace have burned out [ruszta i części pieca].

A reinforced ‘Sonderkommando’ amounting to as many as 2,000 men at the present time participate in all this activity – the looting, the killing and the transport of the bodies. These are strong healthy Jews selected from amongst the inmates. Naturally, in the end, they are all fated to suffer extermination as witnesses.

Of the Hungarian transports arriving until the present time, 2,000 strong [deportees] are allowed to live, and are transferred to the Gliwice Camp. These are immediately separated from the others on the ramp, so that they have no idea of the fate which awaits the others. They are ordered to write optimistic-sounding letters home to Hungary. This is a constant and convenient custom intended to fool subsequent transports.

At the present time, the number of gassed Hungarian Jews is already approaching 100,000, and is bound to increase proportionately every day. Auschwitz [German in text] must ‘process’ 1,200,000 Hungarian Jews in the shortest possible time. The pace is accelerated to the maximum, yet the intensity of the transports is further increased.”

This account is a tight interweaving of truth, fantasy and lies. The first Jewish transports left Hungary on May 14 and reached Auschwitz on May 17. The report asserts that 13 trains arrived every day, each one consisting of 48-50 cars, each car with 100 deportees. This corresponds to a minimum of (13 × 48 × 100 =) 62,400 deportees per day! A telegram from SS Standartenführer Edmund Veesenmayer of May 24, 1944 (NG-5602) shows that 110,556 Jews had departed Hungary by the day before (but the last trains had not yet arrived at Auschwitz, because the trip lasted an average of three days). The deportation schedule anticipated the sending of four transports per day each carrying 3,000 Jews.451 In the report dated May 29, 1944, Lieutenant Colonel László Ferenczy, the officer in the Hungarian gendarmerie responsible for the deportations, reported that 184,042 Jews had been deported in 58 trains by May 28 (T/1163), an average of approximately 3,170 persons per train, a little over 13,000 per day (see Mattogno 2001).

100,000 Jews are said to have been gassed by May 25, and only 2,000 of them were left alive, therefore a total of 102,000 Hungarian Jews had allegedly arrived; but at a rate of 62,400 per day, the number of arrivals over the eight-day period from May 17 to 25 would have amounted to (62,400 × 8 =) 499,200 people! This prospect was evidently taken seriously, because the report states that there was a pile of baggage at the railroad ramp 300 meters long, 20 meters wide, and as high as a one-story building, i.e., a volume of some 18,000 cubic meters!

The story told by the members of the Auschwitz resistance is therefore nonsensical.

The fact that railway cars of lumber also arrived with the trains has some basis in fact – although the wood was not used for construction, but as fuel. The fact is that an inmate labor unit exited that was in charge of unloading fuel wood for the crematoria, presumably from train cars and/or trucks: The report “Arbeitseinsatz für den 28 Juli 1944” “Labor deployment for July 28, 1944” in the men’s camp, which follows the report of May 15 in the fragmentary documentation, mentions a Kommando labor unit “61-B wood unloader Crem. IV [= V]” consisting of 30 persons.452 This entry appears in the following reports until August 9, starting on May 5 with reference to Crematoria I and II (= II and III; see Mattogno 2016f, pp. 61f., 83-92). However, since the deportation of the Hungarian Jews ceased on July 9, 1944, it is obvious that this Kommando had no direct relationship with these deportees.

The description of the gassing process is fantastic and incomprehensible even from the orthodox point of view. There were crematoria, but the gassings were carried out in “two gassing installations” whose location is not mentioned. The choice of the term “gazownia” – “gasworks” is rather revealing, since at that time the term indicated an industrial facility for the production of illumination and combustible gas, while the resistance members intended to refer to a presumed “gassing installation,” which in German would be “Vergasungsanstalt.” As far as one can tell, the crematoria, which were in no way linked to the “gasworks,” were only used for the cremation of cadavers and were backed up in this task by a fantastic “brick kiln” (cegielnia) – of which orthodox historiography remains completely ignorant – and “pyres” (stosy). There were two gas chambers, because every “gasworks” had one. The location of the gassings, although indeterminate, no doubt rules out the crematoria, because the bodies were piled up “on the other side” of the gas chamber, and it is not even possible to understand whether it was an enclosed space or out in the open. Here, at any rate, the victims had their hair shorn off, teeth containing precious metals were extracted, and the bodies were inspected. The procedure closely follows that attributed to the “Operation Reinhardt” camps: the victims handed over their valuables at a “deposit,” followed by their clothing (instead of leaving everything behind in the “dressing room,” according to the final version).

The claim that 1,200,000 Hungarian Jews were about to arrive is obviously absurd.

The report remains intentionally silent on the Birkenau Duchgangslager transit camp, through which at least 79,200 unregistered Hungarian Jews passed before being transferred to other camps (Mattogno 2001).

Other elements of the story have a real basis, which is, however, exaggerated or distorted.

The fact that deportees may have spent the night, as a purely provisional matter, in a little forest (around the pond located south of Crematorium IV) is attested to by various photographs from the Auschwitz Album, but this does not mean that they were waiting for death. As I have noted elsewhere (Mattogno 2007, pp. 36-38), this hypothesis is no more probable or convincing than the hypothesis that they were awaiting transfer to other destinations, as intuited by the fact that, to reach the pond, the deportees shown in the photographs, carrying backpacks, bundles and cooking utensils, had already walked between Crematoria II and III, which were inactive: The gate of Crematorium III is shut, and there is no trace of deportees in the courtyard. The chimneys of Crematoria II and III are not smoking!

Crematorium V was out of service at the time, but was not being repaired. The reason cited in the report is puerile, and reveals complete ignorance: it was because “the grate and part of the furnace have burned out,” as if the eight-muffle furnace in this crematorium had only one grate (the furnace was equipped with four steel grates in the gas generators and eight grates of refractory clay inside the muffles).453

Finally, in the above-mentioned “Arbeitseinsatz” “Labor deployment” reports, the so-called “Sonderkommando” is always referred to as “Kommando 57-B/60-B, Heizer [stoker] Krematorium I-IV” (= II-V), and its maximum manpower never exceeded 903 inmates, including three specialists (see Mattogno 2016f, pp. 83-92).

The lies contained in this account reappeared in the subsequent reports. On June 8, “Soból” wrote (Obóz…, p. 163):

“Over 100,000 Hungarian Jews have already been gassed at Auschwitz. 13 trains arrive every day. Those doomed to die believe that they are to be resettled in the East, or exchanged in a deal with England [i.e., they believed that they were going to be exchange for German prisoners captured by the British]. The program provided for the killing of 1,200,000 Hungarian Jews. 2,000 Jews have been transferred to Gliwice. They write to Hungary saying everything is all right.”

Also on June 8, the information service of the Delegatura wrote a long report for London titled “The Liquidation of the Hungarian Jews at Auschwitz,” which begins as follows (ibid., pp. 163-166):

“The liquidation action of the Hungarian Jews in the gas chambers [w komorach gazowych] at Auschwitz is continuing with tremendous intensity since May 15. Every night 8 trains arrive, and every day 5 trains, every one of which consists of 48-50 cars; every car carries 100 persons.”

This account repeats almost to the letter that of the “Extraordinary Appendix” mentioned earlier, with minimal variation; one of these is the substitution of the words “obie gazownie,” the two gasworks, with “hale gazowe” – gassing halls.

On July 13, 1944, an “encrypted dispatch” reported:454

“The mass extermination of persons, first of all Jews, followed by Soviet prisoners and so-called sick people, began at Auschwitz on May 15. The Hungarian Jews were arriving en masse. Over a period of 24 hours, 13 trains arrived with 40-50 cars each. The victims are convinced that they are going to be exchanged for German prisoners. The bodies are burned in the crematoria and in the open. There have already been over 100,000 gassing victims. The pace of liquidation may be reduced by intense propaganda.”

The anachronistic reference to the extermination of Soviet prisoners of war is added at this point.

In May 1944, the clandestine French newspaper Fraternité published the tale of a French worker returning from Germany (Courtois/Rayski, p. 220):

“Dès l'arrivée, tous les hommes encore valides sont immédiatement dirigés sur les chantiers de travail. Les autres, femmes, enfants, veillards, sont envoyés aux douches. Ils sont conduits dans un établissement moderne splendide...Seulement, au lieu du jet d'eau chaude qui êut soulagé leurs membres fatigués, ce sont des jets de gaz asphyxiants qui arrivent: et en quelques instants il n'y a plus, pressés contre le portes par où ils ont tenté de fuir, que les cadavres de mères tenant leurs enfants dans les bras, ou des veillards serrant contre eux leur vielle compagne dans un geste ultime di protection”

“Upon arrival, all the still-able-bodied men were immediately sent to the work sites. The others, women, children, the elderly, were sent to the showers. They are led into a splendid modern establishment… Except, instead of a jet of hot water, which would have relieved their tired limbs, the only thing that came out [of the showerheads] were jets of asphyxiant gas: in a few moments, they were gone, leaning against the doors through which they attempted to flee; corpses of mothers holding their infants in their arms, or of old men embracing their old spouses in one last protective gesture.”

The “Period Report for the Period between May 25 and June 15, 1944” is subtitled “Oświęcim ‘Operation Höss – Operation Reinhardt.’” 324,005 Jews had departed Hungary by June 14, 1944,455 preceded by 289,357 Jews in 92 trains by June 7,456 an average of 3,145 per train. The 34,648 deportees between June 8 and 14 therefore correspond to 11 trains in seven days (carrying 3,150 persons each). If the journey lasted three days, at least seven of these transports, or 22,000 persons, had arrived by June 15. The total number of deportees therefore amounted to over 311,000, while (311,000 – 110,556 =) ca. 200,000 Jews arrived during the period which was the object of the report. Notwithstanding this enormous influx of deportees – and of presumed gassing victims – this report is even vaguer than the one preceding:

“The SS have been unsuccessful in dealing with the gassings, and [always] await the unloading [of the deportees] at the death ramp after [every] 3-4 trains. Therefore, the interval for the victims in the ‘gasworks’ [=gas chamber] has been shortened from half an hour to 10 minutes, cramming 1,000 people into the chamber at a time, and, to save [time] and facilitate ventilation, the quantity of gas [ilość gazu] thrown into the ‘gasworks’ has been changed from 12 to 6 doses [dawek]. The consequence has been terrible! A few victims have only been stunned, and when the time comes to throw them onto the pyre [na stos], they come to and attempt to pull themselves out. Using hooks – a long pole with an iron hook – the living victims are pushed back alive into the fire. A recently established rule states that small children generally are not gassed, the bigger ones are stunned with blows or drugged with the gas [gazem] by a vaporizer [z rozpylacza], the smaller ones have their heads smashed in, and the smallest are thrown directly into the fire. All this seems imaginary [fantastycznie], but it is the truth! These are the facts illuminated by the vivid flame of the burning pyres. The pyres burn incessantly, without stopping, day and night, supplementing the work of the crematoria. In the dark night, they create a spectral picture of violent flames and palpitating bodies, amongst which [sweat-]wet figures with a bloody glow of fire dart around like devils with powerful irons in their hands.”

The description closes with a reference to Dante’s Inferno, carrying out the “German program.” A brief paragraph regarding the riches extracted from the deportees, part of which was pocketed by the “Lagerkommandant camp commandant Höss and his adjutant Grabner” (who had nonetheless been arrested for embezzlement in the fall of 1943). As for the rest, the report says:457

“Approximately 40 kg of gold and white metal were extracted from the bodies of the gassing victims in the month of May alone.”

This description is not only imaginary (as the author was well aware!), but puerile. Here, there was one single “gasworks,” designed and constructed in an unknown manner and located who knows where, which bore the full weight of all the gassings. To facilitate dispatching the transports, the gassing time was shortened from 30 to 10 minutes – as if the “bottleneck” were the gassing and not the cremation, as explicitly confirmed by Robert Jan van Pelt (van Pelt 2002, p. 470). At the Höss Trial, expert witness Roman Dawidowski, a PhD engineer, declared that the gas chambers at Auschwitz could exterminate 60,000 persons per day in total!458

The lie about reducing the “quantity of gas” shows the abysmal ignorance of the report’s author, who knew nothing about the “gas” involved, all-the-more-obviously-so since, as measure for the amount of gas used, he did not give the number of “cans” (“puszki”) used, but rather the number of “doses” applied (dawki), which makes little sense.

The cremation scenes are always set in the open air, on pyres, located who-knows-where; there is no mention of the activity of the crematoria, only that their work is being supplemented by the pyres.

The report moreover mentions a mysterious “gas” vaporizer which stunned people! The claim relating to the 40 kg of gold is quite baseless. The rhetorical, horrifying tone in the last sentence is further proof of its fantastic nature.

“Operation Reinhardt” is only mentioned in the title of the report.

A note dated June 1, 1944 mentions the arrival of 90 trainloads of Hungarian Jews (Obóz…, p. 161).

A report dated June 17, based on information transmitted from the camp on May 19, backdated the startup gassing of Hungarian Jews to May 1 (ibid., pp. 166-168):

“4 to 7 large-scale trains [consisting of many cars] arrive every day. Every car carries 100 persons, destined for ‘processing’ in local argot. The first transports arrive with all the appearances of resettlement, with large quantities of personal possessions, with construction materials to build houses (this construction material which was later used to fuel the pyres that burned the corpses of the gassing victims). […]

Immediately after their arrival, they have to hand over all their valuables and money, for which they are issued meticulous receipts, then they wait in the ‘bathroom.’ All the women have their hair cut off before entering the bathroom, after which the hair is selected by a special squad and sent to the Reich in boxes. Their clothing is also selected by a separate squad, as [to send it] for disinfection. They are treated calmly, gently, the whole time, right up until the gas chamber [komory gazowej] is closed. After the gassing (Prussic acid [kwas pruski]), the bodies are inspected again by a squad under strict SS supervision, particularly [during] the careful extraction of all the gold teeth. The daily loot in terms of gold derived from the bodies amounts to 10-13 kg. The bodies are then burned. Since May 1, 4 crematoria have been in operation day and night, one brick kiln [cegielnia], every once in a while [czasem], they are also burned on pyres [na stosach]. The number of people liquidated daily amounts to 10,000. In this way, all the Hungarian Jews are to be exterminated – there are 1,200,000 of them. For this action, SS men were brought in – 2,000 SS men – responsible for supervising the ‘processing’ of the Jews, carried out by a squad consisting of strong young Jews having arrived on the first few transports. There have been cases of nervous breakdown and insanity among the SS, some of whom go to the crematorium together with the Jews.

At the camp, the situation is calm. Starting in October [1943], following the recall of the old commandant, the death penalty for attempting to escape has been abolished. But former commandant Grabner, the well-known organizer of mass executions, returned on May 1, and is now carrying out the liquidation of the Jews.”

In a surprising anachronism, the arrival at Auschwitz of the transports of Hungarian Jews is here claimed to have begun on May 1, two weeks before the departure of the first mass-deportation train from Hungary. The thirteen trains per day in the preceding reports are here reduced to four to seven. It should be noted that somebody guessed “right” at long last and mentioned Prussic acid (hydrogen cyanide) as the agent of extermination – with regard to the previously mentioned “Cyklon,” the resistance members knew only that it smelled of mustard (Prussic acid has a mild scent remotely similar to bitter almonds). The picture borrows even more heavily from the picture dreamed up for the gassings in the “Operation Reinhardt” camps: the victims were even issued receipts for the clothing and valuables they turned in at the “deposit”! The women had all their hair cut off before being killed – a rational and efficient idea which, oddly enough, was abandoned in the orthodox version of gassing practices at Auschwitz. The weight of the gold recovered from the teeth of the bodies was 10-13 kg per day, but strangely amounted to only 40 kg for the entire month of May. The fantasies of the “brick kiln” and the number of Hungarian Jews to be exterminated – 1,200,000 – are already known.

The fairy tale of the SS men who went insane and went to the crematorium together with the Jews is puerile, because it confuses the crematorium with the gas chamber[s]. Finally and incredibly, the author of the report even confuses Grabner with Höss! Thus, one can easily judge the reliability of his sources.

In June 1944 at Stockholm, an official from the Polish government in exile named Waskiewicz questioned a Pole who had escaped Poland after spending seven weeks at Auschwitz. On June 18, Waskiewicz wrote a report in French on his interrogation of the witness, giving only the initials: K.J. The witness was a forced laborer who, returning a few days late from leave, was arrested by the Gestapo and sentenced to ten weeks in a concentration camp. He was then interned for three weeks in the Rattwitz Camp, in Silesia, whence he was transferred to Auschwitz, where he spent the next seven weeks. In his detailed description of Auschwitz, this “eyewitness” stated the following, among other things:459

“A chaque appel, un service spécial enlevait ceux qui, tombés, ne réagissaient pas aux coups et les expédiait, sans s'assicurer s'ils vivaient encore, sur un transportateur mécanique directement au four crématoire, dont la capacité, en 1943, était calculée pour 1000 personnes. [...]. La Section XVIII (juive) était agrémentée d'une chambre à gaz et d'une frabrique de graisse pour les machines. K.J. déclare avoir constaté que c'était là que les Allemands transformaient les cadavres des Juifs gazés en graisse, expedié ensuite, en paquet portant l'inscription ‘Schmierstoff-Fabrik Auschwitz’. Etant commandé pour enlever les cadavres des gazés il a pu constater le processus sur un groupe de 1.500 Juifs polonais, ‘expédiés’ en mai 1943. Ces Juifs, à leur arrivée, n'étaient pas malmenés. Ils avaient l'air également de ne pas être trop mal nourris. Sitôt, après l'arrivée, on leur fasait prendre un vrai bain, même en leur distribuant du savon. Ensuite, les vêtements enlevés naturellement, on les triat, groupant séparatament les gros et les maigres, les femmes et les hommes. Ensuite, on expédiait chaque groupe séparement dans la chambre à gaz, une vaste salle bétonnée où on accédait par une porte triple. Les exécutés mouraient généralement quelques minutes après la fermure des portes. On ventilait ensuite rapidement la salle et les détenus préposès à enlever des cadavres devaient les placer aussi vite que possible, avant qu'ils ne soient devenus rigides, sur des chariots spéciaux qui, par un transportateur mécanique, s'en allaient à la fabrique de graisse.

Là, par des procédés chimiques que K. J. ne connaît pas, s'opérait la transformation en bouillie et l'extraction de la graisse. Les restes, sous la forme de quelques os et d'une bouillie informe, étaient soigneusement brûlés dans le four crématore.

Les cadavres de gazés portaient seulement des traces d'asphyxie (langues pendantes, bouches ouvertes) et d'une hémorragie par la bouche. La salle à gaz, après la ventilation rapide, sentait le souffre.”

“At each roll call, a special service hauled away those who had collapses and no longer reacted to blows, and loaded them onto a mechanical conveyor without bothering to check whether or not they were still alive, and sent them straight to the furnace [singular] the capacity of which, in 1943, was calculated at 1,000 persons. […] Section XVIII (the Jewish section) was equipped with a gas chamber and factory for the production of grease for machinery. K.J. declared that it was here that the Germans transformed the bodies of gassed Jews into grease, which was then sent off in packages bearing the inscription ‘Schmierstoff-Fabrik Auschwitz’ [Auschwitz Lubricant Factory]. As he was responsible for removing the bodies of the gassing victims, he was able to observe the process on a group of 1,500 Polish Jews, ‘sent off’ in May 1943. These Jews had not been mistreated upon their arrival, nor did they look particularly malnourished. Straight away, after their arrival, they were given a real shower and even soap. Then, after they had taken off their clothes themselves, they were selected, grouping the fat and the thin, women and men. Each group was then sent separately into the gas chamber, a vast concrete hall accessed through a triple door. The victims generally died within a few minutes after the doors were closed. The hall was then rapidly ventilated, and the inmates responsible for removing the bodies had to move them as quickly as possible before they became too stiff, using special trolleys which were carried to the grease factory on a mechanical conveyor.

There, using chemical processes with which K.J. was not familiar, the bodies were transformed into a sort of mush, after which the grease was extracted. The residues, in the form of a few bones and a shapeless mass, were carefully burnt in the crematory funace.

The bodies of the gassing victims exhibited only traces of asphyxia (protruding tongues, open mouths) and bleeding from the mouth. The gassing hall, after rapid ventilation, smelled of sulphur.”

From “bone glue” to the manufacture of lubricants from human fat, human soap was but a step away; but it was a step taken only after the war. The fairy tale of the “transportateur mécanique” “mechanical conveyor” reappeared in a new form in the first few months of 1945 (see Subchapter 3.1.2.).

On June 4, 1944, the Daily News Bulletin published an article titled “Horrors of Oswiecim Camp Related by First Eye-Witness Reaching England: 800,000 Exterminated”:460

“London, June 2nd. (Jewish Telegraphic Agency).

The number of Jewish and other victims tortured to death or exterminated in gas chambers in the notorious camp of Oswiecim and the neighbouring Birkenau up to the first half of 1942 was estimated by the Germans themselves at several hundred thousand, it was revealed here by the first eye-witness to reach this country from Oswiecim. Some observers, he said, put the figure as high as 800,000.

In a conversation with Dr. I. Schwarzbarth, member of the Polish National Council, the eye-witness, a non-Jew who was interned in Oswiecim from the later part of 1940 until the spring of 1942, related gruesome details about the horrors perpetrated by the Germans in the camp. He was later transferred to Birkenau where he stayed until spring, 1943, when he was brought to a labour camp in Germany from which he succeeded in escaping last autumn. The terrible experiences he has been through have left deep marks on him. Only with great difficulties was he able to sum up what he has seen during his captivity.

The area of the Oswiecim camp covers several square miles, he told Dr. Schwarzbarth. Special tracks were built connecting the camp with the Oswiecim railway station. Almost day by day transports of Jews from all parts of Poland and from western Europe were arriving while he was in the camp. Among others the eye-witness saw a large transport of French Jews. Non-Jewish Poles were also brought to the camp, especially from the Lublin province, and there were also Soviet prisoners of war and gypsies.

Numbered and Unnumbered Prisoners.

Prisoners were marked with a number, but only when they were put into one of the labour gangs. There were over 110,000 numbered prisoners in the camp when the eye-witness left for Birkenau in 1942. Hundreds of thousands, however, were not registered but were sent straight to the gas chambers. This fate was reserved for all children, aged people and expectant mothers, indeed for all those not considered fit for the heavy work the members of the labour gangs were forced to do. On the way to the gas chambers the victims were escorted by strong S.S. detachments.

‘Almost every day,’ the informant said, ‘we could see from Oswiecim the smoke rising from the pyres in Birkenau on which the bodies of people killed in the gas chambers were burnt. Members of labour gangs unable to stand the strain of heavy work were continually selected for execution in the gas chambers.’

Shooting at helpless prisoners was a favourite pastime among the guards who included also a number of Ukrainians, the informant said. ‘I saw myself Germans shooting at children,’ he declared. ‘I also saw a German treading on a stick which he had placed on the throat of a prisoner lying on the ground, until the victim was strangulated. Many others were killed through injections. Before being put to torture, the victims were stripped and the clothes collected as ‘Deutsches Volksgut’. Sometimes people were buried alive to great enjoyment of the guards.’

The informant himself went through manyfold tortures before he was assigned to a labour group. Discipline was reinforced by draconic means. For the slightest offence a man was put into the ‘Stehbunker,’ a small cell providing room only for one man when standing. Prisoners were kept in such cells until they fainted. Escape was impossible. The whole camp is surrounded by a high wall and two rows of high tension electric wire.

‘When I came to Birkenau,’ the informant continued, ‘I found there seventeen incinerators either completed or in the course of construction. Pyres were burning day and night. The ashes were scattered over the fields and only a few charred bones were left. Notices ‘Zum Baden’ indicated the gas chambers. Conditions in the labour camp in Germany were also very hard. But after having gone through the Oswiecim hell, life there seemed to me like a sanatorium. I have read the pamphlet issued here about the Oswiecim camp.[461] Its contents pale into insignificance when compared with what I have seen and with my own experiences,’ the informant concluded.”

This testimony shows quite a sampling of nonsensical and puerile atrocity stories, starting with the number of victims presumably “estimated by the Germans themselves,” to the “pastime” of shooting inmates, to the inmates “buried alive” (added to the theme of inmates burned alive). As for the extermination procedure, the witness reiterates, with a few variations, the vague fantasies already noted: there were “seventeen incinerators” at Birkenau, and the ashes from the cremated bodies were used to fertilize the fields; there were also “pyres,” and the gas chambers were indicated by the words “Zum Baden” (“to the showers”). As seen earlier, the fantastic figure of 800,000 gassing victims was a watchword of black propaganda that was attributed without too much concern to the period up to August 1942 or up to the spring of 1943.

On June 24, 1944, the Swedish embassy at Budapest sent the Swedish Ministry of Foreign Affairs a detailed report in German on the Jewish deportations from Hungary, claiming that “vom 15. Mai bis zum 10. Juni wurden insgesamt 335.000 Juden aus Ungarn deportiert” “a total of 335,000 Jews were deported from Hungary between May 15 and June 10,”462 in addition to copies of the reports by Alfred Wetzler and Rudolf Vrba (to which I shall return later), also in German, with the well-known statistic of the Jews presumably gassed between April 1942 and April 1944: 1,765,000!463 Finally, there was a “Brief einer aus Szolyva in Ungarn am 17. Mai 1944 deportierten Frau” “Letter from a Woman Deported from Szolyva, Hungary, on May 17, 1944.” The author was deported from Munkács on a train of 45 cars carrying 3,300 persons. After three days of traveling, the train arrived at Auschwitz on May 20, 1944 (although Auschwitz is never mentioned), where there was already a transport from Bacska. The deportees got off the train and were divided into three groups:464

“1/ Männer

2/ Kinderlose Frauen und Mädchen

3/ Frauen mit Kinder.

Die beiden ersten Gruppen wurden in eine Richtung, wo irgendwelche Häuser zu sehen waren, abgeführt. Eine kleinere Gruppe von den Bacskauer Mädchen, etwa 70 an der Zahl, wurde separat weggeführt. Wir hatten Hunger und Durst, und insbesondere die Kinder weinten. Die Deutschen haben uns gesagt, dass wir erst gebadet werden, dann bekommen wir Wasser und Marmeladebrot. Wir wurden dann weggeführt. Wir gingen entlang eines Drahtzaunes. Hinter diesen waren Häuser, und wir sahen dort Frauen und Mädchen mit gestreiften und angeschmierten Kleidern arbeiten. Etwas weiter sahen wir zwei grosse fabriksartige Schornsteine aus denen grosse Flammen hinausschossen. Es konnte sich aber kaum um Fabriken gehandelt haben, denn das dazu gehörige Gebäude hat nicht nach einer Fabrik ausgeschaut. Man sagte, dass es Badenanstalten sind. Ich konnte es aber nicht glauben. Wir gingen weiter. Nach etwa einer viertel Stunde kamen wir zu einem kleinen schütteren Wald. Auf einem freien Platz mussten wir uns setzen. Die Kinder weinten unaufhörlich. Es wurde uns wiederholt gesagt, dass wir gebadet werden, dann bekommen wir alles, was wir brauchen. Ein Teil unserer Gruppe wurde gleich etwas weiter geführt. Sie mussten sich auskleiden und wurden nackt baden geführt. Kurz hierauf sahen wir in einer Entfernung eine sich in die Länge nach ausbreitende hohe Flamme. Ich erschrack sehr und dachte nur daran, wie ich da wegkommen könnte. Ich glaubte nicht mehr, dass wir ins Bad gehen. Auch die anderen Frauen glaubten es schon nicht. Viele von ihnen verrichteten das Sterbegebet /Viduj/. Wir wurden dann aufgefordert weiterzugehen, um uns zu entkleiden. Ich beschloss nicht mitzuhalten. Etwas bin ich zurückgeblieben, fasste mein Kind bei der Hand und lief immer weiter fort vom Feuer. Es waren inzwischen Abend geworden, ich ging immer gerade. Es war schon spät, als ich in ein Sumpfgebiet geraten war, da konnte ich nicht weiter. Wir setzen uns und schliefen etwas. Vor tags folgte ich einem Pfad und kam wahrscheinlich nach einem grossen Umweg in ein Dorf. Ich ging zum Bahnhof, die Station hiess Jawiszowice.”

“1/ Men

2/ Childless women and girls

3/ Women with children.

The first two groups were led off in the direction of a few houses visible in the distance. A smaller group of girls from Bacska, about 70 in number, were led away separately. We were hungry and thirsty, and especially the children were crying. The Germans told us that first we had to take a shower and then we would be given water and bread with marmelade. We were then led away. We went along a barbed-wire fence. Behind the fence there were houses, and we saw women and girls working there wearing striped, soiled clothes. A bit further along, we saw two large factory-type chimneys with big flames shooting out of them. It could hardly have been a factory, since the building belonging to it didn’t look like a factory. They told us these were bathing facilities. But I couldn’t believe it. We kept going. After about a quarter of an hour we came to a small sparsely wooded forest. We had to sit down on a free area. The children were crying constantly. We were repeatedly told that we would have to shower, then we would get everything we needed. Some of our group were taken a bit further away. They had to undress and were taken away naked to bathe. Shortly afterwards, we saw flames in the distance shooting high in the sky and spreading out sideways. I was very frightened and merely thought how I could get away from this. I no longer believed that we were to be bathed. The other women didn’t believe it either. Many of them said their dying prayer /Viduj/. We were then told to go a bit further to get undressed. I decided not to keep up. I stayed behind a little bit, grabbed my child by the hand and ran further and further away from the fire. It was starting to get dark, I kept going straight ahead. It was already late when I reached a swampy area, then I couldn’t go any further. We sat down and slept a little bit. Before daybreak I followed a path, and probably after a big detour I came into a village. I went to the railway station, the name of the station was Jawiszowice.”

The further vicissitudes of the “eyewitness” are without interest.

The subdivision of the “selections” into three groups is not only unusual, but contradicts the orthodox Holocaustical tenets: picking out those unfit for labor (the elderly and/or sick) is completely missing here. As already noted, neither Auschwitz nor Birkenau is ever mentioned in this tale. It contains many fantastic elements. From the orthodox point of view, the witness’s description of a gassing facility outsite of the crematoria should actually refer to “Bunker 2,” but that presumed gassing facility consisted only of a single cottage, while the witness speaks of “Häuser” “houses” in the plural. To get to the location where “Bunker 2” is said to have been, she only would have passed between Crematoria II and III at the end of the railway ramp, but nowhere near Crematoria IV and V. The author claims to have seen “two large factory-type chimneys” belonging to one single building (“the building belonging to it”), but those two crematoria only had one chimney each.

The claim that “grosse Flammen” “big flames” shot from the two chimneys is one of so many absurdities typical of the usual “eye-witness” testimonies. Furthermore, this tale suggests that victims led away to “bathe” went up in flames “shortly afterwards,” which looks like this witness prefers the “Nyiszlian” version of the killings in burning pits without hinting at gas chambers at all, all the more so since the author does not mention any building for this area.

The only real aspect of the tale could be that relating to the bath: the inmates were led “zu einem kleinen schütteren Wald” “to a small sparsely wooded forest” and stopped at “auf einem freien Platz” “a free area” to take their bath, while no building is ever mentioned. Now, the clandestine photograph of a group of naked women taken secretly at Birkenau in August 1944465 shows precisely the presence of inmates filling basins and pouring water from receptacles – a scene which is perfectly compatible with open-air bathing at a time of great influx of deportees crowding the Zentralsauna.466

The flight from the presumed execution site, as narrated by the witness, has an ingenuous, fairy-tale-like quality to it: if it was only necessary to take a few steps to escape – holding a child by the hand – circumventing the guards escorting the group, traversing the grosse Postenketteouter line of sentries and the southern-most confines of the Auschwitz Interessengebiet “sphere of interest,” and finally reaching the railway station at Jawiszowice (10 km from Birkenau as the crow flies), then there would exist similar testimonies by the hundreds, if not thousands.

On July 4, 1944, Dr. Hubert Ripka, acting Czechoslovakian minister of foreign affairs, transmitted to London a “Report on Conditions in the Concentration Camps of Oswieczim and Birkenau,” which contains a description more in line with the current orthodox narrative:467

“Since March, 1942 enormous transports of Jews have come to Oswieczym [sic] and Birkenau. A very small number of them have been sent to the labour camp, while an average of 90 per cent of those who have come have been taken straight from the train and killed. These executions took place at the beginning in the forest of Birkenwald by gas suffocation in a special building constructed for the purpose. After the suffocation by gas the dead bodies were burnt. At the end of February, 1943, four new crematoria were built, two large and two small, in the camp of Birkenau itself. The crematorium contains a large hall, a gas chamber and a furnace. People are assembled in the hall which holds 2,000 and give the impression of a swimming-bath. Then they are crowded into the gas chamber which is hermetically sealed. Several S.S. men in gas-masks then pour into the gas chamber through three openings in the ceiling a preparation of the poison gas Megacyklon, which is made in Hamburg. At the end of three minutes all the persons are dead. The dead bodies are then taken away in carts to the furnace to be burnt. The furnace has nine chambers, each of them with four openings. Each opening will take three bodies at once. They are completely burnt after 1 1/2 hours. Thus each crematorium can burn 1,500 bodies daily. The crematoria can be recognized from the outside by their lofty chimneys.

On principle only Jews are put to death by gas, this is only done to Aryans in exceptional cases. […]

According to careful calculations during the period from April, 1942, to April, 1944, from 1 1/2 to 1 3/4 million Jews were put to death by gas or in some other way, half of these being Polish Jews, others Jews from Holland, Greece, France, Belgium, Germany, Yugoslavia, Czechoslovakia, Italy, Norway, Lithuania, Austria and Jews of various other nationalities who were brought to Oswieczym from other camps in Poland. About 90 per cent of the members of the transports arriving in Birkenau and Oswieczym were taken straight from the train to be put to death and about 10 per cent became inmates of the camp.”

The report then speaks of the “selections”:

“Twice a week the camp doctor indicated persons destined for selection. Those selected were all gassed. In a single block of Birkenau camp the average number of deaths a week was as much as 2,000, 1,200 of these being natural deaths and 800 ‘selection’. A special book entitled ‘S.B. Sonderbehandelte’ is kept dealing with the ‘selected’. Notice of the deaths of the others is sent to the supreme commander of the camp at Oranienburg. At the beginning of 1943 the ‘political section’ (camp Gestapo) at Oswieczym received 500,000 forms for release. The governor had them all made out in the names of persons who had already been gassed and lodged them in the archives of the camp.”

The latter was an absurd fabrication. This is followed by a list of camp SS men with garbled names, ranks and responsibilities:

“Hoess, governor of the camp, Untersturmfuehrer [sic], Schwarzhuber, director of the camp, the Tyrolese chief of the political department (Lagerfuherer) [sic], Oberscharfuehrer Palitsch,[468] Scharfuehrer Stiwett,[469] S.S. Scharfuehrer Wykleff,[470] S.S. Mann Kler,[471] the garrison doctor Wirt,[472] the camp doctor Entrest.[473]”

The following explanation appears at the end of the report:

“The above is the contents of two documents. The persons who have managed to secure the transmission of the documents to a neutral country added

(a) the following information:

‘12,000 Jews are deported daily from the territories of Carpathian, Transylvania and the district of Košice where there used to be 320,000 Jews. Those deported are sent to Oswieczym, 5,000 going by train via Slovakia daily and 7,000 via Carpathian Ruthenia.’”

Four requests are then presented, the second of which is the following:

“The crematoria in both camps, which are recognisable by their high chimneys and watch-towers, should be bombed, and so should the main railway-lines connecting Slovakia and Carpathian Ruthenia with Poland which are also of military importance, (especially the bridge at Čop).”

This story is based essentially on the Wetzler-Vrba Report, which will be examined later, with additions and distortions. The first regards the entry into operation of the crematoria, all four “at the end of February, 1943.” The gas used to kill the victims is imaginatively called “Megacyklon,” and the description of the gas chamber is curious to say the least: it “gives the impression of a swimming-bath.” The author of the report moreover invents the “special book entitled ‘S.B. Sonderbehandelte’” and the puerile story of the “500,000 forms for release,” suggesting that the camp authorities were tying to hide something from their superiors, hence must have considered as illegal the gassing of at least 500,000 persons.

The two “bunkers” at Birkenau were still unknown, because in the “Birkenwald” there was only “a special building constructed for the purpose.”

The “Period Report for the Period from June 15 and July 15, 1944” opens with a long paragraph on Block 11, and mentions the “bunkers” (bunkrzy) in the basement with an exact description: “Steinbunker” /stone cell/, measuring 80 × 80 centimeters × 2 meters in height, with one door and a little window at the top for fresh air.”474

The presumed extermination is only discussed in a single brief paragraph titled “Operation Höss – Reinhardt”:475

“Beginning on June 13, the reception of Hungarian transports was interrupted for a few days. Doing the maths, over the period between May 16 and June 13, over 300,000 Hungarian Jews were transported in 113 transports, plus one transport of 2,500 French Jews, one transport of 1,500 Italian Jews, two transports of 50 Czech Jews, including the president of the Czech ghetto, who was gassed along with his family, as well as 100 British and American citizens of Jewish origin, who were exterminated separately in a special manner. Of the transports of Hungarian Jews, 80,000 were sent to the camp with a separate ‘A’ numbering [system], due to the overloading of the gas chambers and crematoria, while the rest had already been successfully disposed of. Naturally, the rest were doomed to suffer the same fate in due time. The Hitlerite hangmen were systematic.”

99 trains carrying approximately 311,000 deportees had arrived at Auschwitz by June 15, so that this report’s figure of 300,000 is close to the truth, but very far from the “Extraordinary Appendix to the Periodic Report for the Period between May 5 and 25, 1944,” which speaks of 13 trains per day, consisting of 48-50 cars, each carrying 100 persons per car.

The “Liste der Judentransporte” “List of Transports of Jews” in the Auschwitz archives contains 17,546 male inmate registration numbers and 9,798 female inmate registration numbers up to July 15, 1944, although these are not just Jews.476 Some 16,100 Hungarian Jews were registered up to July 15, 1944 (Mattogno 2007, pp. 47-49). The figure of 80,000 inmates “with a separate ‘A’ numbering system”477 mentioned in the report is very close to the figure for Jews sent to the Birkenau Durchganslager transit camp without being registered, who numbered at least 79,200, as mentioned earlier. The bad faith of the editor of the report in interpreting the above real data is blatant: he leads the reader to understand that the 300,000 deportees were all, or almost all, destined for extermination, while failing to mention the Durchganslager transit camp, which was the point of departure for at least 30 transports of Hungarian Jews destined for labor deployment elsewhere (Mattogno 2007, pp. 19f.), and he even pretends that 80,000 regularly registered inmates were only made to wait for death because the presumed killing installations were overloaded!

The report makes no mention of “Operation Reinhardt.”

The “Periodic Report for the Period between July 15 and August 1, 1944” elaborates on Soviet POWs (the figure mentioned, 10,800, is very close to the real figure, and contradicts the fantasies contained in the 1942 reports). It reports a “List of Transports from Auschwitz Concentration Camps I, II and III between January 1, 1944 and July 10, 1944,” which records only two Jewish transports for the period between May 17 and July 10, one departing on May 18 for Sachsenhausen (10 inmates), and the other departing on July 7 for Schwarzheide (1,000 inmates). Here as well, there is obvious bad faith. During the period in question, at least 34,300 Hungarian Jews were transferred from the Durchgangslager transit camp alone (ibid., p. 19).

In the paragraph titled “Camp Manpower on July 12, 1944,” it says that there were 14,386 inmates at Auschwitz I, 8,189 of whom were Jews; there were 19,711 inmates at Auschwitz II, and 26,705 at Auschwitz III, plus 31,406 at the women’s camp, for a total of 92,208.

The following note appears at the end:478

“The camp manpower does not include the transports of Hungarian Jews not yet gassed, who were registered with separate numbers under ‘A,’ or who are generally sent to camp without numbering (registration).”

This is the first mention of the presence of non-registered Jews at the camp, although they were nevertheless destined to be gassed.

On June 29, the Manchester Guardian published a declaration of the World Jewish Congress which also mentioned the deportation of Jews from Hungary (see “Mass Murder…”):

“The World Jewish Congress has been informed that a message dated June 14, 1944, has reached the Polish Government in London from its representatives in Poland that 100000 Jews, recently deportated from Hungary to Poland, have been slaughtered by mass gassing in the lethal chambers of the notorious German death camp in Polish Galicia.

News reached the World Jewish Congress on June 17 that in the period from May 15 to May 27 the Germans transported from Hungary 62 railway trucks laden with Jewish children, aged between two and nine years, and that six railway trains laden with Jewish adults passed through the station of Plaszow, near Cracow, bound for an unknown destination.”

About ten days later, the Swiss newspaper Ostschweizerisches Tagblatt und Rorschacher Tagblatt carried a note from the news agency Reuter dated July 8 titled “62 trains full of Jewish children … whither?” which expanded upon the information published by the British newspaper:479

“London, 8. Juli (Reuter). Das polnische Innenministerium hat von der polnischen Regierung in Polen Einzeheiten über das Schicksal der aus Ungarn deportierten 400.000 Juden erfahren. Der grösste Teil der deportierten wurde nach dem Vernichtungslager von Auschwitz in Oberschlesien übergeführt. Am 15. Mai wurden von den Deutschen in Ungarn 62 Eisenbahnwagen mit jüdischen Kinder im Alter von 2 bis 8 Jahren abtransportiert, und seither verliessen täglich Eisenbahnzüge mit Erwachsenen den Bahnhof von Plaszow bei Krakow.

Nach den beim polnischen Hilfskomitee für Juden in Polen vorliegenden Informationen sind seit dem Jahre 1939 2 Millionen polnische Juden in drei Konzentrationslagern Polens ums Leben gekommen.

Diese Reutermeldung wird auch von der Exchange-Agentur verbreitet mit folgenden Zusätzen:

“Es konnte festgestellt werden, dass die meisten der durchfahrenden Erwachsenen nach Oswiecim geschafft und in den Gaskammern des Lagers hingericht wurden.” […]

Das polnische Innenministerium stellte ferner die tägliche Vergasungskapazität in den Kammern von Oswiecim mit 6.000 fest. Das Innenministerium erklärt schliesslich, dass in der zweiten Hälfe des Jahres 1942 zwei weitere Todeslager von den Deutschen in Polen errichtet wurden, das Lager Tremblinka und das Lager Rawaruska. Ob auch dort Gaskammern eingerichtet wurden, sei unbekannt.”

“London, July 8 (Reuter). The Polish Ministry of the Interior has learned from the Polish government in Poland the details of the fate of the 400,000 Jews deported from Hungary. The majority of the deportees were transferred to the Auschwitz extermination camp in Upper Silesia. On May 15, 62 railway cars carrying Jewish children aged 2 to 8 years were deported by the Germans in Hungary, and since then railroad trains carrying adults have left the railway station of Plaszow near Cracow every day.

According to information in possession of the Assistance Committee for Jews in Poland, 2 million Polish Jews have perished in three concentration camps in Poland since 1939.

This Reuter report is also being disseminated with the following supplements by the Exchange Agency:

‘It could be established that most of the adults travelling through have been sent to Oswiecim and have been executed in the camp gas chambers.’ […]

The Polish Ministry for the Interior has furthermore established the daily gassing capacity of the chambers of Oswiecim as 6,000. The Ministry for the Interior finally declares that two additional death camps were established by the Germans in Poland in the second half of 1942, the Tremblinka [sic] Camp and Rawaruska [Rava-Russkaya] Camp. It is not known whether gas chambers were built there as well.”

The gassing capacity of 6,000 bodies per day was perhaps an echo of the cremation capacity claimed in the Wetzler-Vrba Report (see the next chapter).

The legend of the 62 trains full of children was no doubt intended to lend credence to the story of the deportation of Jews from Hungary to Auschwitz, particularly, if not exclusively, for purposes of extermination. The two million Polish Jews killed in three concentration camps is in contradiction to the final information relating to the camps at “Tremblinka” (Treblinka) and “Rawaruska” (Rava-Russkaya). Together with Auschwitz, this should in fact be the three camps mentioned above.

However, there was no “extermination camp” at Rava-Russkaya, located approximately 20 km southeast of Bełżec on the road to Lvov (Lemberg in German); instead, a POW camp named “Stalag 325” for captured French and Belgian soldiers was located there. Two of these POWs, from Belgium, escaped from the camp on April 28, 1943 and reached Sweden on May 5. A memorandum dated May 18, 1943 contains their fanciful statements, including the following:480

“They have both witnessed atrocities and spoken to Germans and compatriots, who have told them other similar facts. For instance the Germans themselves boasted that at Lvov they had specially constructed gas chambers where Jews were systematically killed and buried. The total number was said to exceed 80,000.”

The “Periodic Report dated August 1 to September 1, 1944” mentions neither gassings nor gas chambers. At the end, the camp manpower is described in the following terms: Auschwitz I: 15,971 inmates; Auschwitz II: 19,424; Auschwitz III: 30,539; women’s camp: 39,234; total: 105,168.481

A long report dated August 22, 1944 is headed “Urban,” the signature at the end reads “Rot.,” the initials of the author’s pseudonym. First of all, he indicates the camp manpower. There were 15,971 inmates at Auschwitz I; 19,424 male inmates and 32,234 female inmates at Auschwitz II; and 30,500 inmates at Auschwitz III. The report states that

“in addition to the [inmates] listed above, there are currently approximately 30,000 non-registered Jews at Birkenau [sic], that is, Jews slated to be sent into the gas [na gaz]. This figure is variable.”

Overall, there were 65,934 men and 39,234 women at the camp, for a total of 105,168, plus a variable number of “transiting” inmates, at that time the above-mentioned 30,000 Hungarian Jews.

The camp garrison consisted of 3,250 soldiers, including 70 SS men, plus 30% of the total from the Wehrmacht. The report also supplies information on garrison morale, armaments, the vehicle fleet, telecommunications, fences and sentries. In this context, it mentions the presence of 22 bunkers (bunkrzy) laid out around the 30 guard towers forming the outer line of sentry posts (große Postenkette). “Every bunker is a machine-gun nest with a line of fire controlling all camp entrances and exits.” The report describes the general situation of the camp and the anticipated general behavior of the SS.482

The end of the report contains a detailed statistical appendix relating to camp manpower dated August 21, 1944. Total camp manpower is listed for every camp – “Lager” I, II, III; for the women’s camp, it is subdivided by nationality and category of inmates; for the Jews, it is broken down by nationality. Correcting for errors, the Appendix lists 65,937 male inmates and 38,954 female inmates. Hungarian Jews are listed as numbering 11,821.483

Another report, presumably compiled on August 23 (as stated in a note at the end), is subdivided into 13 points, some of which regard the presumed extermination of the Jews:484

“4) Some of the Jews on the transports from Płaszów are sent into the gas [na gaz] – a small group is admitted into the camp.

5) The gassings are still going on. Today, for example, 40 cars arrived, full of Jews from Łódź – all were sent into the gas [na gaz].”

The Auschwitz Chronicle Kalendarium clearly refutes the first item, asserting that on August 6, 1944, 7,500 Jewesses arrived at Auschwitz from the Płaszów Camp, who were all housed in the Birkenau transit campDurchgangslager.485 Danuta Czech states that 64 men and two women were selected from the transport from Łódź on August 22, 1944 (1989, S. 858/1990, p. 694). It is a very significant fact that the presumed continuation of the gassings should be accounted for based on this one single example. Another, very general, mention of the Jews from Łódź appears in an undated report written by “Stakło and J.”:486

“Other transports of Poles and Russians depart the camp for Germany. The gassing of the Jews is continuing. Transports from Łódź, from Holland, from Italy. The ditches [doły] in which the bodies of the victims gassed at Birkenau are burned when the crematoria were unsuccessful in disposing of them all, are now being filled without a trace.”

Czech asserts that this report was sent on August 30, 1944 by Stanisław Kłodziński to Teresa Lasocka, but in the month of August not one Jewish transport from Holland arrived at Auschwitz while one single transport arrived from Italy (Verona) carrying 250 persons on August 2 (Piper 1993, p. 198).

The letter dated November 1, 1942 mentioned earlier states that the bodies of the gassing victims were “burned in the open in suitably excavated mass graves”; this detail, in subsequent reports replaced by “pyres” (stosy), is once again confirmed here; the cremation “ditches” (doły) became one of the essential elements in the final orthodox version of the Holocaust.

This outpouring of accounts reached the ears of the Soviets, among others. On August 23, 1944, Sergey Romanovich Savchenko, Commissar 2nd Class of State Security, sent a “Special Report on ‘Berkenau’ [sic] Extermination Camp” to Moscow from Kiev. The report states (Terushkin/Tikhankina, pp. 58-60):

“The camp extends over 5 square kilometers and has 4 special furnaces for the cremation of corpses.

Jews forcibly conscripted into a ‘Sonder’ unit work in the crematoria under the direction of the commander-in-chief of the SS general staff, SS Feldfebel [illegible].

In 1941, 12,000 Soviet POWs were imprisoned in ‘BERKENAU’; subsequently, they were tortured to death and exterminated, save for 50-60 people who worked for the Germans. The Soviet POWs were killed with clubs or strangled to death, after which they were cremated.

As of June 1944, there were up to 80,000 civilians and POWs of various nationalities in the camp, including Russians, Poles, Czechs, Frenchmen, Belgians, gypsies and Jews.

In May 1944, [illegible] proceeded to the mass cremation of the Hungarian Jews, exterminating over 12,000 people per day.

Since the cremation furnaces cannot process such a large number of victims per day, 4 huge pits were dug, where people were also burned.

Whole trainloads of Jewish families arrive at the camp, together with their belongings.

Once at the camp, the new arrivals are sorted; the elderly and children are kept separate from the men and women.

Under the pretext of going to the bathhouse, the new arrivals are undressed, given soap and sent to the ‘bath sections’; there, after the doors have been hermetically closed, ampoules containing an unknown liquid are thrown in from above; as the ampoules break, they liberate a gas, under whose action [illegible] suffocation occurs in fifty [five-ten487] minutes.

After that, the area is ventilated, and the corpses are loaded onto trolleys [vagonetki] and taken to the cremation furnaces. Before the cremation, the corpses are inspected, and gold teeth, crowns etc. are pulled out.

In order to muffle the screams, an orchestra plays 200 meters away from the cremation furnaces. Every day, the Germans take the stolen valuables away from the camp on a sanitary plane.”

The tale introduces new elements of fantasy: the usual “shower rooms” (the presumed gas chambers) are abandoned in favor of “bath sections,” and the “bombs” [cylinders?] full of hydrogen cyanide are replaced by gassing “ampoules.” The fairy tale of the orchestra ordered to play loud music in order to cover up the screaming victims was rather short-lived, while that of the “sanitary plane” is mentioned only here, as far as I know.

On August 31, 1944, a “Senior Operative Agent of the 4th Department of the NKGB of the Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic, Senior Lieutenant of State Security” authored a “top-secret” report at Kiev based on the statements of two Soviet POWs, Anany Silovich Petko and Vladimir Yakovlevich Pegov, who had escaped “from ‘Auschwitz’ Concentration Camp, located 3 km west of the town of Osventsim,” in November 1943. From what follows, we must deduce that this is a reference to the Birkenau Camp (Terushkin/Tikhankina, pp. 60-66).

Nothing is known about these escapees, but this is not particularly important, since it is recorded that at least six Russians escaped from the Auschwitz complex in the first twelve days of November 1943: Jan Mitrochanow (74198), Wasil Osypow (124942), Jan Kosmaszenko (151298), Wasil Zmajlow (10421), Wasil Tilikin (19422) and Emich Jura Karpuszew (10449).488

Other Russian inmates also escaped during the preceding months of 1943, among them: Andrzej Haszpurenko (88356) on February 19, Leonid Utiesow (71738), Pawel Kaliumnyj (71738) and Andrzej Trunow (72008) on March 8, Semjon Korolkow (64775) on June 17, Szymon Budenko (10130) on June 23, Michal Naslankow (77100) on June 24, Jakub Solowjew (44702) on June 30, Jakub Lysenko (86420) on September 1, Stefan Symonencho (68755) on September 12, and Michal Winogradow (53824) on October 21. Jakub Hanczarenko (62921) had escaped as early as December 14, 1942.489

Therefore, the Soviet services should have been well informed.

The report in question is rather long; I shall dwell in particular on the parts making specific mention of the presumed extermination, but with regard to the general context.

The report opens with two blatant absurdities: the camp had a constant average population of 150,000-200,000 inmates,490 yet Auschwitz was referred to as a “death camp” (“lager smerti”), “because only those who are destined for extermination are sent there.”

This is followed by another absurdity:

“The camp administration and guards are granted unlimited powers. Everyone can kill as many inmates as he wants, without any reason whatsoever. Those who kill a lot are rewarded by the administration.”

It is well documented, however, that the camp regulations strictly prohibited all SS personnel from mistreating inmates (Mattogno 2016a, pp. 22-28).

Finally, another fairy tale not mentioned in the Auschwitz ChronicleKalendarium:

“Every week, on Friday, the weak are selected for extermination.”

A section of the report deals specifically with the “crematoria.” This is the account, interrupted by my comments.

“50 meters from the ‘Auschwitz’ camp, 4 crematoria are located.”

This is a rather enigmatic phrase: the four crematoria were located inside the camp, as is well known; Crematoria II and III were 150 meters apart from each other, and approximately 50 meters from the fence around the camp’s three Bauabschnitte construction sectors, consisting of dwelling barracks; Crematoria IV and V were located approximately 100 meters apart from each other and approximately 180 meters from the above-mentioned fence.

“From the outside, the crematoria resemble a factory or a small plant surrounded by a wall [stena491] with a high chimney (20-25 meters[492]).

The underground part of a crematorium has two sections: undressing room and gas [room, chamber]. The above-ground part contains the crematorium as such, that is, the furnaces, which are coke-fired. Each crematorium has 5 furnaces, and each furnace has 3 firepots [topki493]. 3-4 corpses are put into each firepot at the same time. The cremation of a batch of corpses, after the kindling, takes from 5 to 10 minutes; subsequently, the duration of the cremation is shortened. The crematoria operate at full capacity 24 hours a day, and still are not capable of burning all the corpses.”

The description obviously refers to Crematoria II and III, although it is expanded to cover all four.

Apart from the interpretations (“undressing room,” “gas room/chamber”), it corresponds to reality, but the data are absurd: three to four bodies were allegedly burnt in one single “firepot” (muffle) within 5-10 minutes, and even quicker after the furnaces reached thermal equilibrium! Combustion times like these only exist in the realm of fantasy, such as in the “Pictures of Auschwitz (seven minutes), repeated later by “witnesses” such as Roman Sompolinski (three minutes) and Dov Paisikovic (four minutes; see Subchapter 3.2.3.).

This is the alleged gassing procedure:

“The group of those doomed is brought to the precincts of a crematorium in motor vehicles; there, the people are lined up in a column and examined to see whether they have gold teeth or other valuables. Those who are found to have gold teeth or gold in other places are sent to the ‘surgical rooms,’ where their teeth or some kind of joints [prostheses?] are excised.”

This means that the operation is performed on living persons, not corpses, as asserted in the final version of the orthodox Holocaust legend.

“After the examination, the people are led to an underground room – a dressing room resembling one in a public bath. Once undressed, the people go to the next room – a [shower] bath which has faucets and shower [heads], but never any water. This room has 4 (four) lattice columns leading to the roof of the building. After the ‘bath’ has been filled to capacity with people (who stand very close to each other), the doors are hermetically closed. Through the apertures on the top of the columns, some powdery substance is poured in, a substance which emits a toxic gas, so the people begin to asphyxiate. The suffocation process lasts 10-15 minutes.”

This is probably the first known appearance of the four “lattice columns” which, however, are led to “the roof of the building” like the crematorium’s air-intake and air-exhaust ducts (which were not, however, four in number). Later versions have the lattice columns penetrate the roof of the presumed gas chamber (which in this case had “doors,” in the plural). The “powdery substance” is undoubtedly a reference to Zyklon B, which is nonetheless never mentioned by name. The duration of the gassing, 10-15 minutes, forms part of the common set of fairy tales.

“The corpses are then carried to the upper section with special trolleys [vagonetki] and cremated.

Daily, several trainloads of people arrive at the crematoria, without entering the camp. The crematoria are unable to burn all the corpses of the gassed people, so special pits have been [dug] near the crematoria, in which the corpses are burned, like on a pyre.

The service personnel of the crematoria consist exclusively of Jews, and is changed after every month. The previous service personnel are also cremated.”

The “trolleys” (“vagonetki”) have nothing to do with the corpse-introduction carts (Sargeeinführungswagen) with which Crematorium II was initially equipped, and which were used to insert the bodies into the muffles. These were later replaced with more-practical metal stretchers (Leichentragen),494 as even Henryk Tauber declared (Mattogno 2019, pp. 334-336). This is an echo of the fairy tale of the trolleys linking the gas chambers to the furnace room, which made their appearance in the Wetzler-Vrba Report.

The claim that “several trainloads of people” arrived at the crematoria every day “without entering the camp,” highlights once more that the witnesses wrongly assumed the crematoria are located outside the camp. The quantity of “several trainloads” is also rather moderate, considering that the claimed cremation capacity of the four crematoria (the witnesses fled in November 1943, so all four facilities were active by then) is said to have been insufficient for what the trains allegedly brought in every day: Since Crematoria II and III each had five three-muffle furnaces, with three to four bodies inserted in each one of them at once, burning them all in 5-10 minutes or even less, the minimum cremation capacity of the two facilities (three bodies in 30 muffles in ten minutes) would have been [(1440 min/day ÷ 10 min) × 30 muffles × 3 corpses] = 12,960 bodies in 24 hours, and the maximum capacity would have amounted to (1440 ÷ 5) × 30 × 4] = 34,560 a day, which would have increased even further when the furnaces were operating at maximum load!

Assuming the above-mentioned data, the overall capacity of Crematoria IV and V would have been over 6,912 bodies per day. That amounts ot a total of 41,472 bodies per day.

The cremation capacity was nevertheless insufficient, and it was necessary to dig special cremation ditches “near the crematoria,” that is, right next to Crematoria II and III (as I have explained above, the witnesses were unaware of the existence of Crematoria IV and V) – a location in contradiction with that established by current orthodox Holocaust historiography, which places such a ditch only in the northern courtyard of Crematorium V. The myth of the periodic extermination of the “Sonderkommando” appears with one of the shortest intervals: hardly a month, followed by killing and cremation.

“There were cases when suckling babies remained alive after a gassing; they would be finished off by the SS guards with clubs or simply [smashed] against a wall.”

This myth of babies surviving a gassing was elaborated upon by later “witnesses” (see Subchapter 3.7.13.).

“During the operation of the crematoria, a flame up to 15 meters high comes out of the chimneys. The stench of corpses spreads for many kilometers around this terrible place.”

Another absurd fantasy bordering on the ridiculous: a little bit more, and the flames (15 meters) would have been higher than the chimney (15.46 meters)! The “stench of corpses” (“trupny zapakh”) is an obvious lapse in the whole pretense: the bodies were not buried, but were cremated immediately, so the stench would have been of something burning.

“In 1943, the following incident occurred in one of the crematoria: a Jewish-American girl threw herself on Rapportführer SCHILLINGER, knocked his pistol out of his hands, and then killed him and his assistant with this pistol, wounding an SS man.”

The anecdote of the presumed killing of Schillinger appears in many testimonies, with many more-or-less-fantastic variations. I have already addressed this question elsewhere (Mattogno 2020, pp. 312-316), but the one related by Chaim Frosch deserves to be mentioned:495

“Gelegentlich eines Transportzuganges bestehend aus 6000 ausländischen Juden, leistete eine junge Frau als sie es bemerkte dass alles vergast werden sollte Widerstand u. wurde hierfür vom Unterscharführer Schillinger und einem Offizier geohrfeigt. Hierauf riss sie sich die Kleider vom Leibe und schrie: ‘Ihr verdammten Mörder, tötet mich aber glaubt nicht, dass die Welt von eueren Verbrechen nicht[s] weiss. Heute könnt ihr zu diesen Schandtaten an wehrlosen Menschen begehen [sic] aber einmal kommt der Tag an welchem an Euch alles vergolten wird. Blitzschnell entriss die Junge Frau dem Offizier den Revolver, streckte Schillinger nieder, während sie den Offizier verwundete. Das war Franziska Manuwma aus Warschau, paraquaische [sic] Staatsbürgerin.”

“On occasion of an arriving transport consisting of 6,000 foreign Jews, a young woman, when she noticed that everyone was to be gassed, offered resistance, and was slapped for this in the face by Unterscharfuhrer Schillinger and by an officer. Upon this, she tore her clothes off her body and shouted: ‘You damned murderers, kill me but don’t believe that the world does not know about your crimes. Today you can commit these atrocities on defenseless people, but at some point the day will come when you will have to pay for everything.’ The young woman snatched the revolver from the officer in a flash, and struck down Schillinger, while she wounded the officer. That was Franziska Manuwma from Warsaw, a citizen of Paraguay.”

Finally we know the name of this heroine – to be consigned to the annals of history for posterity!

The only documented case coming close to this occurred in October 1943 during a revolt “anlässlich eines Judentransportes” “on the occasion of a Jewish transport,” as a result of which two soldiers, SS Rottenführer Rudolf Grimm and SS Schütze Fritz Lackner, were awarded the War Service Cross Second Class (Kriegsverdienstkreuz II. Klasse) for saving several comrades “aus ihrer bedrohlichen Lage,” “from a threatening situation“ and “aus sehr kritischer Lage.” “from a very critical situation.” There is no mention of the crematoria nor of Schillinger’s death.

Schillinger, a mere SS Unterscharführer, was still alive on October 20, 1943, when he signed a punishment report for inmate no. 79757 Szmul Kohn. The report (“Meldung”) bears the stamp and signature of the Rapportführer, who was obviously someone other than Schillinger.

According to Danuta Czech, the presumed event occurred on October 23, 1943. According to her, a transport of 1,800 Jews from the Bergen-Belsen Camp arrived at Auschwitz on that day. They had received passports with visas to Latin American countries with the approval of the Gestapo in Warsaw, most of them after paying large amounts. This had turned them into “Austauschjuden” – exchange Jews who were to be exchanged for German POWs. Instead, however, they all are said to have been gassed in Crematoria II and III (Czech 1990, p. 513). This story was the final reworking of a somewhat different rumor reported in the “Reports of the Information Department of the Delegature” of the Polish Government for the period of November 22 through December 18, 1943 (Gmitruk et al., p. 523):

“Autumn liquidation of the Jewish population. In late autumn, that is, in October and November, the Germans began a major action to liquidate a series of Jewish camps and ghettoes from those that still existed in the Polish territories. At the same time, news spread throughout the country that in Bergen, near Hanover, the Germans had killed a group of 4,000 Jews from Warsaw, who had been sent there during the summer on the basis of documents from Central America bought with a lot of money from the Germans, but apparently authorized to exchange these Jews for Central American Germans.”

If the date was October 23, 1943, this alleged event should have been firmly fixed in Petko’s and Pegov’s memories, who escaped from Auschwitz a mere month later, but they were unable to supply a more-exact date than simply “1943.” This indicates that they are merely repeating a rumor which had been going around the camp for quite some time.

“Everything relating to the structure of the crematoria and to the process of the poisoning and cremation of the inmates has become known to us partly from our personal observations, and partly from the accounts of the service personnel of the crematoria; although [this personnel] lived in separate barracks, their accounts on the structure of the crematoria and on the process of the killing and burning of people were known to all the inmates who were in Auschwitz Camp.

Regarding the very fact of the existence of the crematoria, it is not a secret for the inmates, because one can walk past them at a distance of 10-15 meters. We personally saw, as we passed at a short distance from a crematorium when its doors were open, that piles of corpses were stacked up on the trolleys next to the furnaces.

Moreover, two crematoria were being completed in the fall of 1943, when we already were in this camp. The construction work was performed by Russian POWs, who lived in the same barracks with us. Several times, we personally went inside the unfinished crematoria and examined its internal structure.”

Hence, we are led to deduce that the “Sonderkommando” inmates continually blabbed Auschwitz’s “terrible secret” to anyone who would listen, but the resistance members nevertheless placed in circulation the fairy tales set forth earlier. Thus, this “secret,” with a bit of luck, could easily be discovered by anyone who walked past the crematoria!

The last sentences are blatantly obvious lies. The witnesses referred to the camp’s Hauptstraße main street, which ran between Crematoria II and III (as noted above, they knew nothing of Crematoria IV and V). The distance between the respective fences on the edge of the road and the crematoria was approximately 50 meters. The main door to Crematorium II-III was located on the chimney side, but provided access only to a “Windfang” vestibule, followed by a “Flur” hallway, from which one could enter the furnace room to one side.496 Hence, there was no way to look into the furnace room from the outside through an open door.

The mention of “trolleys” upon which “piles of corpses were stacked up” confirms that the witnesses borrowed the fantasies invented by Wetzler and Vrba (see the next chapter). We can categorically exclude that this was a reference to the Sargeeinführungswagen coffin-insertion carts mentioned earlier. The load-bearing structure of this device in fact consisted of a kind of flat-sheet-metal stretcher with raised edges, about 270 centimeters long and less than 40 wide, that could carry only one single body at a time, not piles of them.[494]

In the fall of 1943, the four crematoria at Birkenau had already been in operation for several months, and Soviet prisoners of war played no role in their construction.

The story of the inmate’s inspection tours of the inside of the crematoria under construction is another simple-minded fib.

At the end of July 1944, a group of Soviet inmates, Capt. Grigory Yakovlev and several others,497 escaped from Auschwitz (“Berkenau” camp). Based on their testimonies, Lieut. Col. of State Security Sidorov wrote a “Special Report” at Kiev, dated September 6 1944 (Terushkin/Tikhankina, pp. 66f.). The report says that at “Berkenau,” in the years 1941-1942, ?0,000 (the first digit is illegible) Russian prisoners of war, as well as 150,000 Jews and political prisoners, were killed (although the alleged extermination of the Jews began officially only in 1942). The report, which is very short, contains very little information, other than to state that

“From May 16 to July 20, 1944, 1,200,000 Hungarian and Romanian Jews were exterminated at the camp.

Since the end of July of this year, entire trainloads of Jews began to arrive at the camp from German-occupied France, Yugoslavia and Greece for the purpose of extermination.

The adults are poisoned in special gas chambers and then cremated in cremation furnaces, while the elderly and children are thrown into the fire alive.”

If we consider that, according to Petko and Pegov, everybody knew everything there was to know at Birkenau, the report by Yakovlev (of whom nothing is known) appears surprisingly reticent.

The figure of 1,200,000 victims is absurd, as it amounts to approximately three times the number of Jews ever deported from Hungary to Auschwitz. The influx of transports from France, Yugoslavia and Greece at the end of July 1944 is pure fantasy, because only one single transport arrived from France on July 4, while none arrived from Yugoslavia and Greece. The report speaks quite dismissively of “special gas chambers,” but still clings to the horror story of the persons burned alive, in particular children.

The “Periodic Report for the Period between September 1, 1944 and September 20, 1944. Special Communiqué” contains a detailed report on the bombardment of Auschwitz, Birkenau and Monowitz on September 13, 1944. At Auschwitz, a barracks of the “Bekleidungswerkstätte” “garments workshops” was destroyed, killing 40 inmates, including 23 Jews, and wounding another 65.

A paragraph titled “The gassing continues” states:498

“The gasworks [gazownie] and crematoria at Birkenau are still carrying on their horrendous activity, although judgment [for their crimes] is rapidly approaching. At the present time, the victims being gassed and burned are Jews from the ghetto at Łódź, the last of whom are being wiped out now. On September 12 of this year, a transport carrying 300 Jewish children from the region of Krosno arrived, who were gassed and burned immediately. At the present time, notwithstanding the evacuation plans, transports of Jews are still arriving from the West and recently from France, Belgium and Holland. The retreating Hitlerite hangman is carrying away the Jews, who are doomed to death at all times.”

According to Franciszek Piper, 60,000-70,000 Jews were deported to Auschwitz from Łódź (Piper 1993, p. 127), but the real figure is approximately 22,500 (see Mattogno 2003a).

I shall return in Subchapter 2.5.4. to the claimed transport of 300 Jewish children from Krosno with their subsequent gassing.

A message for London dated September 6, 1944 sets forth the imaginary “Moll Plan.” According to Henryk Świebocki, who published a copy of the original document, the message was written by Stanisław Kłodziński and Józef Cyrankiewicz, and then transmitted to Teresa Lasocka (Świebocki, 1991, pp. 68f.). The document says that Höss, who is said to have directed recently the gassing of hundreds of thousands of Jews from Hungary, had ordered his officials to examine the technical possibility of liquidating the entire Birkenau Camp, “where the gas chambers [gazownia] and crematorium are located,” with 16,727 male and 39,125 female inmates. Höss asked SS Scharführer Moll, who was “commandant from this camp [Birkenau] and capo of the gas chambers and crematorium,” whether it was technically possible to cause all trace of the persons and dwellings, “and particularly the gas chambers and crematorium,” to disappear before levelling the ground. This was to be an attempt on a vast scale to eliminate the traces of a camp “in which millions of persons [miliony ludzi] had perished in the gas chambers [w gazowniach], both inmates and Jews from all over Europe.” Moll supposedly proposed the use of motorized SS units, in addition to artillery and six airplanes to bombard the camp.499

Otto Moll, who was not even an officer but a mere SS Hauptscharführer, was allegedly promoted for this purpose to the position of commandant of the Birkenau Camp.

The message reached London as an “encrypted dispatch” on September 23. The “Moll Plan” was not a real “plan” in the original message but the response to the question of whether it was technically possible to liquidate the Birkenau Camp. It was therefore merely an eventuality, because no decision had been made. In the dispatch, by contrast, the impression is given that such a decision already appears to have been made:500

“We received the news that the Germans were planning the liquidation of Auschwitz and Buchenwald [sic]. The commandant at Auschwitz Hoss [sic], a confidant of Himmler, contacted several SS officials with regards to the plan for such a liquidation of the camp, including the persons [interned there]. At the present time, there are 16,727 male and 39,125 female inmates at Auschwitz. The commandant of Birkenau M!ll [sic] introduces himself with the project, requesting motorized SS units and artillery to target the blocks, and 6 airplanes to bombard them, and finally, an adequate quantity of persons to level the ground.”

Another “encrypted dispatch” of September 23, 1944 returned to the question in the following terms:501

“The plan has been approved. Moll wants a written order from Berlin, but this is one of those jobs that must be carried out unofficially.”

This story had a certain propagandistic resonance. The “Translation of Telegram from Poland” signed by the “Delegate of the Government for the Krakow District” dated October 14, 1944 spiced it up with an even-more-fantastic fairy tale:502

“Death threatens 156,000 prisoners in Osweicim and 12,000 prisoners brought from Warsaw. Mobile gas chambers installed on lorries so-called ‘sonderkammer’ /luryk/ already transport prisoners in the direction of Maczki.”

The delegate in question sent another telegram with the following tenor on the same day:503

“The gassing of prisoners at Oswiecim was to take place on the 7th October. Desperate Poles attacked their executioners killing six of them.”

This was a distortion of a message in Polish from a member of the Auschwitz resistance dated October 10, 1944 referring to the “Sonderkommando” revolt:504

“Saturday 7, after the development of a battle and a fire in one of the crematoria, a group of inmates slated to be gassed, consisting of 700 persons, breached the line of sentries [and escaped]. About 200 inmates perished during the escape. Pursuit was made more difficult by an evening air raid. The inmates are currently in the territory of Silesia, and may enter the territory of Żywiec, Bielsko and Krakow. Please instruct all subordinate units to send assistance to these inmates. A large percentage of them are probably foreigners. Account must be taken of the searches being conducted by the German authorities. P.W.O.K.”

Another misrepresentation may be found in another report forwarded to London on October 19, which declares with reference to the inhabitants of Warsaw deported to Auschwitz:505

“On October 7th mass-extermination of these prisoners was begun. The work is still continuing.”

A message dated September 26, 1944 deals first and foremost with the evacuation of the camp. The wholesale liquidation of the camp discussed in the preceding reports was under discussion and in preparation:506

“Bunkers [bunkry] were dug around the ‘Grosse Postenkette’ outer line of sentry posts [Wielkiej Postenketty], every ten meters, like machine-gun nests.”

The second part of the message concerns the claimed gassing of 200 inmates from the “Sonderkommando”:

“The gassing of 200 Jews belonging to the so-called Sonderkommando was carried out in an unusual manner. The men constituted a special group employed at Birkenau in the filling in and levelling of the ditches [dołów] in which the bodies were burnt when the crematorium [crematorium] was overloaded. When they finished their work, they were not sent to their kommando, but to Auschwitz I. Here they were solemnly registered as Zugang [admission; German in original] – then… that evening they were sent to the ‘shower baths’ in the so-called ‘Entwesungskammer’ [sic], where no one had been gassed until that time, and they were gassed. The statement of the Auschwitz I camp authorities before the official responsible for the action, Moll, that these 200 [inmates] at Auschwitz I were only guests, and that Birkenau would have to be notified of their leaving [abgang], is significant in this regard.”

This fairy tale circulated widely among the inmates, from Charles Sigismund Bendel (Mattogno 2020a, pp. 328-330) to Giuliana Tedeschi, an Italian Jewess deported to Auschwitz on April 5, 1944 (Tedeschi, p. 110), and was also taken up by Danuta Czech in her Kalendarium Auschwitz Chronicle with specific reference to the message in question (Sept. 26, 1944; Czech 1989, S. 887f./1990, pp. 716f.).

The rumors concerning the presumed plan to liquidate the Birkenau Camp became so insistent that the German authorities were compelled to issue an official denial, repeated by the BBC on October 1, 1944:507

“Concerning the report circulated by Reuters and emanating from the British Foreign Office that the Polish Government had informed the British Government that German authorities were planning mass executions in the Oswiecim and Brzezinky concentration camps, situated in former Polish territory, German official quarters today state that these reports are false from beginning to end.”

Just how real the “Moll plan” actually was is shown by the fact that the SS left a good 4,299 bedridden inmates behind at Birkenau alone, to be liberated by the Soviets,508 all of whom would have been “eyewitnesses” to the presumed gassings!

Subsequent reports dwelt upon camp manpower. On October 14, 1944, total manpower was reported as 93,973 inmates, broken down as follows: 13,378 at Auschwitz I, 18,796 at Auschwitz II, 31,809 at Auschwitz III and 29,990 in the women’s camp.509

A very detailed set of statistics of January 17, 1945 indicates the manpower by inmate category and nationality (including 11,095 Jews) and for Nebenlager satellite camps (for Auschwitz III): the total number was 48,342 inmates.510


	
2.4. The Auschwitz Escapees and the Wetzler-Vrba Report

Erich Kulka writes that

“during the existence of Auschwitz, 230 attempts at escape were noted and about eighty prisoners succeeded in accomplishing this daring feat.[511] Five of them, who fled immediately after the first liquidation of the family camp, had a higher goal than saving of their own lives. They consisted of three completely independent actions, which can be considered the culmination of the efforts of the resistance movement to inform the world of what was happening.” (Emphasis added; Kulka, p. 201)

On April 5, 1944, the inmate Siegfried Lederer escaped from the Familienlager-Theresienstadt Family Camp (Sector BIIb at Birkenau) wearing an SS uniform with the complicity of SS Rottenführer Viktor Pestek. Kulka quotes Lederer’s account (ibid., p. 202):

“My first job after my successful flight was to warn the people at Theresienstadt. […] I spoke of the extermination of the September deportees and explained the whole system of murder at Auschwitz to a small group of friends, among whom was head fire fighter Leo Holzer, Jirka Petschauer, from the ghetto security force, and Otto Schliesser, member of the council of Jewish elders. My friends believed me, but the majority of the people at Theresienstadt remained sceptical when faced with my report. […]

With the help of a boatman I smuggled the information about Theresienstadt and Auschwitz to the International Red Cross in Geneva.”

Although according to this Lederer had escaped “to inform the world of what was happening” at Auschwitz, he produced no written report in this regard and never informed the Red Cross at all,512 nor is anything known of any oral report put together in writing by anyone else. As far as one can tell, Lederer had nothing of any importance to tell the world.

On April 7, 1944, two Slovakian Jews, Rudolf Vrba (interned under the name Walter Rosenberg on June 30, 1942, registration number 44070) and Alfred Wetzler (interned on April 13, 1942 with registration number 29162) escaped from Birkenau. The two escapees succeeded in making their way to Slovakia, where their statements on Auschwitz were transcribed in two reports in the second half of April (on this see Aynat). As far as is known, they appeared for the first time in a German-language document written at Geneva on May 17, 1944 with a title translating to “Tatsachenbericht über Auschwitz und Birkenau.” “Factual Report on Auschwitz and Birkenau.”513 Subsequent to the two initial reports, two more writings were added: that of the “Polish major” Jerzy Wesołowski, alias Tabeau, as already mentioned earlier, and the report by another two Jewish inmates who had escaped from Birkenau on May 27, 1944 (Czesław Mordowicz and Arnost Rosin).514 All three texts were published in English translations by the War Refugee Board of the Executive Office of the U.S. President in Washington, D.C., in November 1944 under the title The Extermination Camps of Auschwitz (Oswiecim) and Birkenau in Upper Silesia.

The Wetzler-Vrba Report was rapidly disseminated in various drafts.

The German text of the report, which the Swedish embassy at Budapest sent to its own Minister of Foreign Affairs on June 24, 1944, is not a transcription of the “Factual Report on Auschwitz and Birkenau,” but perhaps a re-translation of a translation into Hungarian, or a translation from the Slovakian version, if John Conway’s claim is true that the report was written “gleichzeitig in slowakischer und deutscher Sprache” “simultaneously in the Slovakian and German languages” (Conway, p. 269). The presumed draft in Slovakian, or a transcription of it, has never been found, though. On July 4, Dr. Hubert Ripka, Acting Czechoslovak Minister of Foreign Affairs, transmitted a copy to the British Foreign Office.515 The report also reached the Polish Delegatura, although it is not known through which pathway and in which language. The Delegatura summarized it in a secret message on September 6, titled “Information from the Birkenau and Auschwitz camps.”516

As is known, the “War Refugee Board Report,” as it is generally referred to,517 is considered by orthodox Holocaust historiography as the revelation of the “terrible secret” of Auschwitz. As Walter Laqueur wrote (1981, p. 146):

“Thus it was only in 1944, when Rudolf Vrba and Alfred Wetzler arrived, with very detailed information on the largest of all the death camps, that the ‘rumors’ became a certainty.”

A few years ahead of him, John S. Conway had already asserted that

“die Bedeutung der Berichte lag darin, daß die anschauliche und genaue Beschreibungen lieferten, die solche furchtbaren Gerüchte in Tatsachen verwandelten” (meine Hervorhebung)

“the significance of the reports lay in the fact that they provided vivid and exact descriptions which transformed the frightful rumors into fact.” (Conway, p. 270; my emphasis)

This is to be understood literally: these new fantasies created reality!

The most important report was drawn up in the first person by Wetzler, but with Vrba’s assistance, which I refer to as the Wetzler-Vrba Report.

The Report has never been analyzed seriously by orthodox Holocaust historians, who limited themselves to glorifying it as the revelation of “the truth” about Auschwitz, without ever concerning themselves with the blatant absurdities it contains.518 Their superficiality is well exemplified by the following sentence written by Richard Breitman and Norman J. W. Goda (Breitman/Goda, p. 31):

“Polish underground reports on Jewish extermination activities at Auschwitz also reached London in the fall of 1942, and reports on new crematoria reached London in March 1943. The most famous and most detailed report on Birkenau remains that of escapees Rudolf Vrba and Alfred Wetzler, parts of which were available in London and Washington from mid-June 1944 as Hungary’s Jews were transported there.”

A serious study must analyze five fundamental aspects of the Report:

1. the origins of the Wetzler-Vrba Report;

2. the accuracy of the information contained in the Report;

3. the sources of the Report;

4. the relationship between the information from the Auschwitz resistance movement sent to London up until the beginning of April 1944 and the Wetzler-Vrba Report;

5. the relationship between this information and the final version of the orthodox gas-chamber narrative.

Orthodox Holocaust historians have only concerned themselves with the first and fifth points, stressing that the Wetzler-Vrba Report was later “confirmed” by other sources. To quote Conway once again (Conway, p. 270):

“Daß diese Berichte […] die Wahrheit sagen, wurde später durch eine ungeheure Fülle von Informationen über die Zustände in Auschwitz bestätigt: durch Interviews mit anderen Überlebenden, durch die Masse der erbeuteten deutschen Akten, durch Verhöre von Tätern in leitender Stellung, etwa von Rudolf Höss […], durch die Beweise, die in der Nürnberger Prozeß erbrachte, und gründliche Untersuchungen während der darauffolgenden Jahre.”

“That these reports […519] are telling the truth, was later confirmed by a huge quantity of information on conditions in Auschwitz: through interviews with other survivors, through the mass of captured German documents, through the interrogations of perpetrators in leading positions, such as Rudolf Höss […], through the evidence produced at the Nuremberg Trial, and thorough research over the following years.”

In relation to the crucial point of the problem – the existence of homicidal gas chambers – all these presumed confirmations are meaningless, since it is known that the only “evidence” that exists in this connection consists of totally misrepresented and misinterpreted so-called “criminal traces” (see Mattogno 2019, pp. 27-205). Such an assertion nevertheless has a certain degree of truth to it in the sense that the Wetzler-Vrba Report was taken as a model for the propagandistic version cooked up by the Soviets and Poles, becoming the “official” version, to the detriment of the other versions which enjoyed a parallel existence for many more years after the war.

In the context of the present study, the problem of the original version of the Report, which I consider authentic – the text actually written by Wetzler and Vrba520 – is therefore relevant only with regard to determining the most-reliable version of the Report, and in particular to ascertaining the origins of the drawings contained in the report.

With regard to the most-authoritative text, Oskar Karmil-Krasnansky, a certified engineer, reconstructed the origins of the text in 1973 in an interview granted to Erich Kulka, who summarized it in the following terms.

Around April 22-23, 1944, Karmil-Krasnansky met Wetzler and Vrba in the Slovakian town of Žilina, who gave him their story in Slovakian.

“Nach seinen Notitzen (sic) verfasste K. das Protokol (sic) in deutscher Sprache, welche Fraute Ida (Tova) Steiner einige Tage nachher in Deutsch abtippte.”

“According to his notes, K.[armil-Krasnansky] wrote the record [sic] in German, while Mrs. Ida (Tova) Steiner in Bratislava typed it up in German a few days later.”

Karmil-Krasnansky translated this text into Hungarian and provided Rudolf Kastner with a copy, and he sent a copy of the German text to Pinhas Freudiger at Budapest, and another to Nathan Schwalb at Geneva.521

“Rabiener Weissmandel ueberschrieb den deutschen Text der Protokolle mit hebraeischen Buchstaben und schickte denselben an seine Verbindung in die Schweiz. Dies ist aller Wahrscheinlichkeit nach, das sich im Archiv Jad Vashem befindliche Protokoll (M 20/149), welches nach dem Kriege von Dr. Abraham Silberschein, welcher im Comite fuer die Hilfe den Leidenden Juden in den okkupierten Laendern arbeitete, an Jad Vashem geschickt wurde.”

“Rabbi Weissmandel annotated the German text of the protocol with Hebrew letters and sent the same to his connection in Switzerland. This document is in all probability the same document as Protokol (M 20/149),[522] held in the Yad Vashem Archives. This document was sent to Yad Vashem after the war by Dr. Abraham Silberschein (active with the Committee for Assistance to the Suffering Jews in the Occupied Countries).”

Mrs. Tova Steiner assured Kulka of the correctness of the following statements: on April 26, 1944, Karmil-Krasnansky typed the “Protocols” in German by dictation; the 40-page text was typewritten in several copies, one of which was sent to Freudiger, and another to Schwalb.

A few weeks later, when Rosin and Mordowicz arrived, Karmil-Krasnansky wrote another report in German, which was also typed up by Mrs. Steiner. This is followed by another important bit of information:523

“Den Protokollen waren Zeichnungen von Auschwitzer Lagern beigefügt, welche Herr Ing. K. anfertigte.”

“Attached to the Protocols were drawings of camps at Auschwitz prepared by Mr. K., a certified engineer.”

It is therefore a fact that there are at least two different German versions of the Wetzler-Vrba Report; the one titled “Factual Report on Auschwitz and Birkenau” is supposed to be the copy sent by Karmil-Krasnansky to Nathan Schwalb at Geneva, but it does not contain any drawings. The version which came into Silberschein’s possession524 presents an almost identical text, but with a different pagination, and it includes the drawings. The version including an introduction by Richard Lichtheim dated “Genf, 23. Juni 1944,” which may be found in the archives of the Auschwitz Museum,525 is a mere transcription of the “Factual Report on Auschwitz and Birkenau,” and this one also includes the drawings.

The version sent to the Swedish Ministry of Foreign Affairs on June 24, 1944 by the Swedish embassy at Budapest, by contrast, has a different text, identical to that conserved at the Yad Vashem institute under shelfmark P. 54/6, but with a different pagination, as well as the drawings.

The drawing of Crematorium II-III, to which I shall return in detail later, is not identical in the three versions mentioned above, as can be seen easily (see Documents 10b-d).

On April 20, 1945, the U.S. Office of Strategic Services received an English translation of the Wetzler-Vrba Report titled “Testimony of two escapees from Auschwitz-Birkenau extermination camp at Oswiecim, Poland” with the heading “Bari, 20 April 1945.” The report was accompanied by explanations which are obviously at least partly incorrect. This was the translation of a text in Hungarian which Dr. Géza Soos, secretary of a resistance movement in his country, had brought from Hungary to Italy on microfilm. The original had been transmitted to him by a Protestant pastor, József Éliás, another resistance member. On the origins of the report, we are told:526

“Two young Slovak Jews escaped from the Birkenau-Auschwitz concentration camps at Oswiecim, Poland, on 7 April 1944 and reached Hungary, Dr. Soos believes, at the end of June or early July. They were interrogated by Dr. Elias and this document is the result of the interrogation.”

This could not be true. In an interview granted to Sándor Szenes in 1985, József Éliás reported that on the last day of April 1944, Géza Soós informed him of the flight of two young Slovak Jews from Auschwitz, who had written a protocol on the matter. Some members of the resistance movement of which Éliás was also a member obtained a copy of the protocol, which was then translated from German into Hungarian (see Szenes).

The English translation in question, which consists of 45 pages, does not contain any drawings, but at the end, in an unpaginated folio, is a “Plan II. Plan of the BIRKENAU CREMATORIA, Models I and II” (see Document 9a). The description of these crematoria makes no reference to this “Plan II,” but it speaks of the crematoria as “models I and II” (Szenes, pp. 19-21). The drawing, very similar to those found in the reports in German, was therefore already attached to the Hungarian text, and therefore in all probability originated with Karmil-Krasnansky, as he declared.

In the Wetzler-Vrba Report, it is necessary to examine two principal aspects of the matter: the description of the crematoria and the gassings, and the statistics of the victims, compiled by the two ex-inmates, which was accepted into evidence at Nuremberg as Document L-022. There is also a chronological list of the transports, highly fictionalized based on registration numbers assigned by the men’s camp, from 27,400-28,600 to 171,000-174,000, which I shall only take into consideration here in one single case.

The set of statistics bears the title “Vorsichtige Schätzung der in Birkenau seit April 1942 bis April 1944 vergasten Juden nach Herkunftsländern” “Careful estimate of the number of Jews gassed in BIRKENAU between April, 1942 and April, 1944 (according to countries of origin).”527 Its numbers are reproduced in the following table, together with the official figures for Jews deported to Auschwitz over that time period according to Franciszek Piper:528
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Wetzler-Vrba


				
Piper


		

		
				
Polen/in Lastautos zugeführt/Poland (transported by truck)


				
ca. 300,000


				
206,400


		

		
				
“ / per Eisenbahn Poland (transported by train)


				
ca. 600,000


		

		
				
Holland


				
ca. 100,000


				
58,100


		

		
				
Griechenland Greece


				
ca. 45,000


				
48,500


		

		
				
France


				
ca. 150,000


				
60,400


		

		
				
Belgium


				
ca. 50,000


				
23,800


		

		
				
Germany


				
ca. 60,000


				
17,500


		

		
				
Yugoslavia, Italy, Norway


				
ca. 50,000


				
14,000


		

		
				
Lithuania


				
ca. 50,000


				
/


		

		
				
Bohemia, Moravia and Austria


				
ca. 30,000


				
20,200


		

		
				
Slovakia


				
ca. 30,000


				
18,700


		

		
				
Div. Lager fremdländischer Juden in Polen Various camps for foreign Jews in Poland


				
ca. 300,000


				
34,000


		

		
				
Total


				
ca. 1,765,000


				
501,600


		

	

During the First Zündel Trial, Vrba declared under oath that he had seen all or almost all of the presumed victims (Rudolf 2020a, p. 254):

“Q. [defense lawyer Douglas Christie] You say 1.765 million, is that right?

A. [Vrba] 1,765 thousand.

Q. Right. Did you see one person being gassed yourself?

A. I saw 1,765 thousand people walk into the space between Krematorium I and Krematorium II, Krematorium III and Krematorium IV, were in front of my eyes knowing that these space is absolutely closed, because there is no road out from there except coming back the way they went in, and nobody came out from there except smoke.”

Vrba later repeated the following statement (ibid., p. 272):

“This means when I have counted 1,765,000 people, I saw them, but inside of the crematoria I didn’t see.”

Finally, pressed by defense lawyer Christie, who asked him whether he had counted every one of the 1,765,000 victims, Vrba affirmed (ibid., p. 274):

“I counted reliably at least eighty per cent of it, and at least the remaining twenty per cent of it was seen by Wetzler and most of it was seen by both of us.”

Even if we accept this partial rectification, 80% of 1,765,000 is still 1,412,000. Therefore, Vrba claimed to have seen and counted at least 1,412,000 gassing victims with his own eyes between April 1942 and April 1944! We are not dealing with a mere exaggeration at this point, but a shameless lie. This is fully confirmed by another fact. The statistics on transports arriving at Auschwitz as given by Wetzler and Vrba in the text of their report, of which the figure of 1,765,000, broken down according to the various countries of origin, should be the total, actually results in a completely different total. In the Wetzler-Vrba Report, the persons presumably gassed are mentioned in various different ways. For some transports, the actual number of persons presumably gassed is given, while for others only the related percentage is mentioned. Analysis of these statistics shows that the total number of presumed gassing victims whose numbers are explicitly indicated in the report is approximately 498,700, 374,000 of whom were completely invented according to the Auschwitz ChronicleKalendarium and F. Piper. The number of presumed gassing victims that can be calculated based on the percentages indicated in the report is approximately 494,000, approximately 452,000 of whom are also entirely fictitious. Overall, the presumed gassing victims according to the report amount to approximately 992,700, approximately 826,000 of whom are entirely fictitious.

Vrba therefore “saw” (1,412,000 – 992,700 =) 419,300 more presumed gassing victims “with his own eyes” than those whom he pretended to give a phantasmagorical accounting for in his own statistics!

In 1961 Vrba stated (Vrba 1961, p. 4):

“In that time I saw 1,750,000 men, women and children gassed, shot, tortured, or burned alive. […] I calculated, in fact, that 2,500,000 people were murdered there in three years. I took these terrible statistics with me when I left in 1944.”

But during the First Zündel Trial, in reply to defense attorney Christie’s question as to whether he ever noted down these statistics in writing, Vrba replied (Rudolf 2020a, p. 274):

“No. I relied on my memory.”

His estimable sidekick, Wetzler alias Lánik, spoke of three million victims (Lánik 1967, pp. 152, 272, 284, 286), a list of whom is supposed to have been annexed to the report (ibid., p. 276):

“Und am Ende des Berichts die Summe der Opfer nach Nationalitäten: drei Millionen Ermordete.”

“And at the end of the report, the sum total of the victims, by nationality: three million victims.”

This statistical data was therefore compiled in a spirit of deliberate mendacity, and Vrba deliberately persisted in the lie until at least 1996, when he asserted that it was his “Beobachtungen” “observations” during his “Auschwitzer Zeit” “time at Auschwitz” that permitted him to conclude that 1,750,000 persons had been murdered (Vrba 1996, p. 10).

The Wetzler-Vrba Report contains a very brief mention of the gassings at Birkenau before the crematoria became operational:529

“Am 17. Dezember wurden 200 jüdische Jungen aus der Slowakei, die als sogenanntes Sonderkommando bei der Vergasung und Verbrennung der Leichen gearbeitet haben, in Birkenau hingerichtet. Die Hinrichtung erfolgte wegen vorbereiteter Meuterung und Fluchtversuch, welches Vorhaben frühzeitig durch einen Juden verraten wurde. Das Kommando wurde durch 200 polnische Juden, die soeben mit einem Transport aus Makov eintrafen, abgelöst. […] Durch den hierdurch eingetretenen Wechsel beim Sonderkommando haben wir den direkten Kontakt mit dieser ‘Arbeitsstelle’ verloren, was sich insbesondere auf unsere Versorgung sehr schlecht auswirkte.”

“On December 17, 200 young Jewish men from Slovakia were executed in Birkenau after working in the so-called Sonderkommando during the gassing and cremation of the bodies.[530] The execution occurred as a result of preparing a mutiny and an escape, foiled as the result of betrayal by a Jew. The unit was replaced by 200 Polish Jews, who had just arrived on a transport from Makov. […] As a result of change in Sonderkommando personnel, we lost direct contact with this ‘workplace,’ with especially serious impact on our provisioning.”

Hence, if we are inclined to believe them, Wetzler and Vrba were in direct contact with the “Sonderkommando” of the claimed gassing facilities named “Bunker 1” and “Bunker 2” at Birkenau from mid-April to mid-December 1942. They therefore would have had access to accurate first-hand information. In reality, they knew nothing, and were even unaware of the fantasies cooked up in 1942, which I examined earlier. The only rumor they gathered was that gassings and cremations were taking place at the “Birkenwald” (literally: birch forest) without ever specifying where or how. The first mention is related to the fairy tale of the bi-weekly “selections” of inmates slated to be gassed from “Block 7” of the Häftlings-Krankenbau inmate infirmary:531

“Die Selektierten wurden in Lastautos verladen und in den Birkenwald geführt. Jene, die dort noch lebend ankamen, wurden in einer bei der Verbrennungsgrube zu diesem Zweck errichteten grossen Baracke vergast und dann in die Grube geworfen und verbrannt.”

“The persons selected were loaded onto trucks and taken into the birch forest. Everyone who arrived alive was gassed in a big barracks especially built for this purpose near the cremation pit, after which they were thrown into the pit and burned.”

This “pit” was also the final destination of inmates who had died of natural causes, who “nach dem sich in der Nähe befindlichen Bikrenwald [Birkenwald] (brezinsky [sic]) geführt, wo sie in einer, einige Meter tiefen und etwa 15 m langen Grube verbrannt wurden” “were then led into the birch forest (brezinsky [sic]) located nearby, where they were cremated in a pit several meters deep and about 15 meters long.”532 The chronological reference is to the second Slovakian transport that reached Auschwitz 14 days after Wetzler’s arrival (on April 13, 1942), therefore the end of April 1942, hence at a time when open-air cremations had not yet been introduced (Czech states they started in on September 21, 1942, 1990, p. 242). What is more, the claimed “bunkers” of Birkenau consisted of two masonry peasant cottages, while Wetzler and Vrba speak of one single large gassing barracks, evidently made of wood.

Wetzler and Vrba return to open-air cremations in their discussion of the inmate registration numbers 38,000-38,400 allegedly assigned to “400 naturalized Jews” who had arrived with their families. The transport carried 1,600 persons, including the 400 naturalized Jews, and 200 women, all of whom were admitted to the camp, “während die übrigen 1000 Personen (Frauen, Alte, Kinder und auch Männer) ohne jedwede Evidenz oder Behandlung direkt vom Abstellgleis nach dem Bikrenwald (Birkenwald) geführt, dort vergast und verbrannt wurden” “while the remaining 1,000 persons (women, the elderly, children and also men) were led directly from the railway siding to the birch forest without any registration or processing, and were gassed and burned there.”533

Their choice of transport was not very careful, because the transport concerned happened to be the one that arrived at Auschwitz from the French camp at Compiègne on June 7, 1942, carrying 1,000 deportees, who were all registered and admitted to the camp, however! The numbers assigned to them were 38177-39176 (Czech 1989, S. 223/1990, p. 176).

The Report adds:534

“Von diesem Zeitpunkt an wurden alle jüdischen Transporte ähnlich behandelt. Ungefähr 10% der Transportteilnehmer an Männern und 5% an Frauen wurden dem Lager zugeführt, während die Uebrigen unmittelbar vergast wurden.”

“From this time onwards, all Jewish transports were handled similarly. Some 10% of the men on the transports and 5% of the women were led to the camp, while the remaining people were immediately gassed.”

In reality, all inmates on all the transports arriving during June 1942 – apart from those from Ilkenau, Sosnowitz and Kobierzyn, which were completely invented (see Mattogno 2016d, pp. 35f.) – that is, 1,000 inmates from Pithiviers (June 27), 1,038 from Beaune-la-Rolande (June 30) and 400 from Lublin Camp (June 30), were registered and thus admitted to the camp (Czech 1990, pp. 187, 189).

The Report continues along the same lines: those unable to work were sent “direkt zur Grube in den Birkenwald” “directly to the pit in the birch forest,” or were “im Birkenwald vergast” “gassed in the birch forest,” “im Birkenwald verbrannt” “burned in the birch forest” or “direkt nach dem Birkenwald geführt” “sent directly to the birch forest.”535

There was only one single pit in this “Birkenwald” “birch forest,” as far as Wetzler and Vrba knew – the pit (die Grube)! This abysmal ignorance can only be explained in two ways: either the whole story was false from beginning to end, or the Slovakian inmates from the “Sonderkommando” who allegedly worked at the “bunkers” knew nothing about these presumed gassing installations. In both cases, the story of the “bunkers,” as elaborated in later years, was completely invented.

The fact that inmates claimed to have been members of the “Sonderkommando” and others who claim to have seen them in action – such as André Lettich, Wilhelm Wohlfahrt, Franciszek Gulba, Moshé Garbarz, Maurice Benroubi, Arnošt Rosin, Maurice Shellekes, Samuel Hajblum and Andé Balbin536 – revealed the “truth” of the “bunkers” only after the end of the war demonstrates either that they didn’t know anything during the war, or that they deliberately disseminated false information inside the camp. The “eyewitnesses” either knew nothing about it, or they knew, but deliberately lied. This antithetic situation regarding the sources will appear again with regard to the crematoria, as we shall see.

The following, first of all, is the related description according to the English text of the report, then published by the War Refugee Board, adding, where, appropriate, the German terms from the “Tatsachenbericht über Auschwitz und Birkenau” “Factual Report on Auschwitz and Birkenau” which, in the absence of proof to the contrary, should be considered the original report:537

“At the end of February 1943 a new modern crematorium and gassing plant was inaugurated at BIRKENAU. The gassing and burning [die Vergasungen und Verbrennungen] of the bodies in the Birch forest [im Birkenwald] was discontinued, the whole job being taken over by the four specially built crematoria. The large ditch [die grosse Grube] was filled in, the ground levelled and the ashes used as before for fertilizer [als Dünger] at the farm labour camp of HERMENSE, so that to-day it is almost impossible to find traces of the dreadful murder which took place here.

At present there are four crematoria in operation at BIRKENAU, two large ones, I and II, and two smaller ones, III and IV. Those of type I and II consist of 3 parts, i.e.: a] the furnace room [Ofenraum]; b] the large hall [grosse Halle]; and c] the gas chamber [die Vergasungskammern]. A huge chimney rises from the furnace room around which are grouped nine furnaces, each having four openings [Oeffnungen]. Each opening can take three normal corpses at once and after an hour and a half the bodies were completely burnt. This corresponds to a daily capacity of about 2,000 bodies. Next to this is a large ‘reception hall’ [Vorbereitungshalle] which is arranged to so as to give the impression of the antechamber of a bathing establishment [Badeanstalt]. It holds 2,000 people and apparently there is a similar waiting room [Warthalle] on the floor below. From there a door and a few steps [einige Treppen] lead down into the very long and narrow gas chamber [Vergasungskammer]. The walls of this chamber are also camouflaged with simulated entries to shower rooms [die Wände dieser Kammer sind durch blinde Tuschanlagen [sic] maskiert] in order to mislead the victims. The roof is fitted with 3 traps which can be hermetically closed from the outside [sind 3 durch Klappen von aussen hermetisch verschliessbare Fenster]. A track [ein Gleispaar] leads from the gas chamber [Gaskammer] towards the furnace room. The gassing takes place as follows: the unfortunate victims are brought into hall [b] where they are told to undress. To complete the fiction that they are going to bathe, each person receives a towel and a small piece of soap issued by two men clad in white coats. Then they are crowded into the gas chamber [Gaskammer] [c] in such numbers that there is of course only standing room. To compress this crowd into the narrow space shots are often fired to induce those already at the far end to huddle still closer together. When everybody is inside the heavy doors [die schwere Tür] are closed. Then there is a short pause, presumably to allow the room temperature to rise to a certain level, after which SS. men with gas masks climb on the roof [steigen… auf das Dach], open the traps [die Fensterklappen] and shake down a preparation in powder form out of tin cans labelled ‘CYKLON’ ‘For use against vermin’ [zur ‘Schädlingsbekämpfung’] which are manufactured [erzeugt] by a Hamburg concern. It is presumed that this is a ‘CYANIDE’ mixture of some sort [ein Cyanpräparat] which turns into gas at a certain temperature. After 3 minutes everyone in the chamber is dead. No one is known to have survived this ordeal, although it was not uncommon to discover signs of life after the primitive measures employed in the Birch wood. The chamber is then opened, aired and the ‘special squad’ [Sonderkommando] carts the bodies on flat trucks [auf flachen Feldbahnwagen] to the furnace rooms where the burning takes place. Crematoria III and IV work on nearly the same principle but their capacity is only half as large. Thus the total capacity of the four cremating and gassing plants at BIRKENAU amounts to about 6,000 daily.”

This description includes a drawing (Document 9) which represents the “Rough Ground PLAN OF CREMATORIA: TYPES I & II IN BIRKENAU.” The “Tatsachenbericht über Auschwitz und Birkenau” “Factual Report on Auschwitz and Birkenau,” as already stated, does not contain any drawing; as far as I know, the drawings were first introduced in the transcription dated “Genf, 23. Juni 1944,” which is accompanied by a presentation of Richard Lichtheim, the senior representative of the Jewish Agency in Geneva.538 Here, the drawing in question is rather crude (Document 10a). The drawing contained in the version transmitted by the Swedish embassy is just as crude, while the drawing from Silberschein is more-carefully done, with (ruled) straight lines and typewritten captions. The drawing from the text published by the War Refugee Board also has ruled straight lines and is clearly and carefully drawn, but the captions and numbers are handwritten, in addition to which the chimney is round instead of square.

It is now well-established that the description of Crematoria II and III supplied by Wetzler and Vrba – both in the text and the illustration – are completely invented, as shown by a simple comparison with the original blueprint (Documents 11, 26).


	According to the Plans of the Crematoria:

1. the furnace room had five furnaces instead of nine;

2. each furnace had three muffles instead of four; therefore, the total number of muffles was 15 rather than 36;

3. the furnaces were arranged in a straight line along the longitudinal axis of the furnace room and not grouped in a semi-circle around the chimney;

4. the room later referred to as the victims’ undressing room (Leichenkeller Morgue #2) was located in the basement instead of the ground floor;

5. the room referred to as the gas chamber (Leichenkeller Morgue #1) was not located on the ground floor, a little bit lower than the undressing room, but in the basement and on the same level as Morgue #2;

6. the room referred to as the gas chamber was linked to the furnce room by a freight elevator rather than by rails.


	According to the Current Orthodox Holocaust Narrative:

7. the gas chamber had four Zyklon-B apertures instead of three;

8. the Zyklon-B openings were mere manholes sealed by cement (or wooden) covers, not hermetically-sealing hatches;

9. the story of the distribution of towels and a piece of soap is a fairy-tale;

10. the cremation capacity of a single muffle is in contradiction to the current orthodox claim: three bodies in an hour and a half as opposed to two bodies in half an hour (Piper 2000, p. 164);


	From the Technical Point of View:

11. the cremation capacity of 2,000 bodies in 24 hours for each of Crematorium II and III, and of 1,000 for each of Crematoria IV and V, that is 6,000 in total, greatly exceeds reality;

12. as I have noted earlier, the time required for the gassing victims to die – three minutes539 – is another absurdity which appears with a few variants in almost all the “eyewitness testimonies.”

Strangely, one of the few realistic elements of the story, that the bodies were carried to the furnaces “on flat trucks” (although from the freight elevator, not from the gas chamber), was abandoned in the subsequent literary versions in favor of the crude and inefficient system of dragging corpses across the floor with the help of straps and walking canes.

The Wetzler-Vrba Report is of capital importance in the foundations of Auschwitz propaganda. Having established that both the description and the plan of Crematoria II/III of the report in question are pure fantasy, it follows that the story of the extermination of the Jews in homicidal gas chambers repeated by the Wetzler and Vrba did not originate from the inmates of the so-called “Sonderkommando,” but was cooked up without their contribution. And this is the proof that the whole story, as crude black propaganda, was invented by the camp resistance movement without even talking to the inmates actually working in the crematoria!

The final justification that “to-day it is almost impossible to find traces of the dreadful murder which took place here” is obviously another Freudian slip.

Józef Garliński asserted that

“the clandestine resistance at the camp monitored the preparations for the mass extermination of the Hungarian Jews and sent reports with alarming warnings to the outside world. These reports could only be convincing as the reports of things someone had seen with his or her own eyes, so that on April 7 [1944] two Slovakian Jews, Walter Rosenberg (no. 44070) and Alfred Wetzler (no. 29162) escaped from Birkenau after being put into contact with the clandestine camp resistance movement through Paweł Gulba, a member of the international group.” (Garliński, p. 235)

In a chapter titled “Das Sonderkommando,” Bruno Baum also declared that the resistance movement had contacts with the “Sonderkommando” (Baum, pp. 19f.):

“Auch hier hatten wir Kameraden, die mit unserer Widerstandsbewegung verbunden waren.”

“Here, too, we had comrades who were linked to our resistance movement.”

This is confirmed by Filip Müller with reference to 1944 (1979, S. 238/p. 148):

“Allmählich kehrte wieder Ruhe im Sonderkommando ein. Die Kontakte zur Widerstandsbewegung konnten aufrechterhalten werden. Dreimal am Tag gingen die Essenholer ins Lager, wobei sie häufig Gelegenheit hatten, sich mit Leuten der Widerstandsbewegung zu treffen. Weitere Kontaktmöglichkeiten ergaben sich über den Krankenbau.”

“Thus peace was once more restored. We were able to keep up contact with the Resistance in the camp: three times daily the ration carriers went into the camp where they had the opportunity of meeting prisoners in the Resistance. The hospital was another contact point. Shortly after our isolation on the crematorium site it became necessary to establish a small ward for prisoners requiring in-patient treatment. The ward, under the direction of Dr Pach, was set up because prisoners of the ash team continued to sustain severe burns for which they could not be treated as out-patients. […] “Auch die Anwesenheit von Handwerkerkommandos auf dem Gelände der Vernichtungsstätten erleichterten unsere Isolierung. Einige Handwerker waren immer bereit, Nachrichten an die Widerstandsbewegung und auch von dort Botschaften an uns zu übermitteln.”

There were also different teams of artisans on our site whose presence helped to ease our isolation. One of these workmen was always ready to take messages to the Resistance and bring back their answers.”

The contacts between the “Sonderkommando” and the Auschwitz resistance members were reaffirmed by Salmen Lewental in one of his “manuscripts”:

“Und das Wichtigste, wir lieferten ihnen geheime Dokumente sowie Materialen über all das, was bei uns vorging.”

“And the most important thing, we gave him secret documents and materials on everything that was going on." (see Subchapter 2.5.5.)

A paragraph from the book already cited by Friedler, Siebert and Kilian is eloquently titled “Die Wiederstandsgruppe im Sonderkommando und ihre Kontakte mit der ‘Kampfgruppe Auschwitz.’” “The Resistance Movement in the Sonderkommando and Their Contacts with the Auschwitz Combat Group” (Friedler et al., pp. 223-238).

The purpose of Wetzler’s and Vrba’s escape, as Vrba later explained, was “to tell the world what was happening in Auschwitz,” to prevent the deportation of the Hungarian Jews to that camp (Vrba/Bestic, p. 198). Vrba also declared that he was in contact with Filip Müller, the inmate from the “Sonderkommando,” “who became one of his most precious sources of information” (ibid., p. 175), and that he had received further information from him while discussing the situation in the camp with him in early 1944 (ibid., p. 197).

During the First Zündel Trial in 1985, witness for the prosecution Rudolf Vrba confirmed that he had had frequent contacts with the members of the “Sonderkommando,” declaring that he had drawn the schema of Crematoria II and III at Birkenau contained in the Wetzler-Vrba Report, based precisely on that information.540 Filip Müller, the ex-inmate named by Vrba, actually asserted that he had provided Wetzler in 1944 with “einen Plan der Krematorien mit den Gaskammern” “a plan of the crematoria and gas chambers,” among other documents in 1944 (Müller, S. 193/p. 121).

In a report dated November 30, 1963, Wetzler declared by contrast:541

“One inmate, the Soviet POW, Wasyl [Vasily], I don’t remember his last name, prepared drawings of the crematoria with his own hand.”

In a book written by Wetzler under the pseudonym Jozef Lánik, to which I return in more detail later, Wetzler spoke of a plan of the crematoria, drawn in the form of a sketch, which was exhibited by himself during the preparation of the report in Slovakia (Lánik 1967, pp. 50, 276).

Therefore, the drawing of Crematoria II-III is said to have been prepared at the same time by Karmil-Krasnansky, by Vrba and by the Soviet POW Wasyl (Vasily). But that’s just for starters.

As just mentioned, Filip Müller claimed to have provided Wetzler, in 1944, among other documents, with “a plan of the crematoria and gas chambers.” However, in his own book, he published a sufficiently correct plan of Crematorium III at Birkenau (Müller, S. 287/p. 176), which is in total contradiction with that of the Wetzler-Vrba Report. The plan in Müller’s book was taken from a book published in Czechoslovakia in 1946 (Kraus/Schön, insert between pp. 144 & 145), in which a declaration by Filip Müller also appeared. The plan, according to the authors of the book, Ota Kraus and Erich Schön (Erich Kulka), had been stolen by Vera Foltynova at the Central Construction Office and sent into Czechoslovakia in August 1944 by way of Fabián Sukup (ibid., p. 120). Nevertheless, in a “Eidesstattliche Erklärung abgegeben im Gemeindeamt Dubňany, am 18.5.1945” “sworn statement given in the municipal offices at Dubňany, on May 18, 1945,” three witnesses declared that Erich Schön (Kulka), on a date which is not indicated, provided Sukup, a civilian worker employed at Auschwitz, with the plans of the Birkenau crematoria as well as with reports on the camp. After the war, Sukup gave these plans back to Schön-Kulka, and he published them in his book Die Todesfabrik Továrna na smrt (The Death Factory).542

Auschwitz Museum researcher Świebocki, on the other hand, tells a completely different story. According to him, the plans were entrusted to Antonina Piątkowska, who hid them in her barracks together with other documents; in October 1944, she handed them over to another female inmate, Zofia Gawron, who passed them on to a civilian worker. That civilian worker, however, was not Fabián Sukup, but Franciszek Zaguba (Świebocki 1995, fn 276, pp. 152f.).

The only thing that is certain is that this plan, although in conformity with the original, was never used to straighten out the story of mass gassings in these buildings before January 1945.

The drawing published by Filip Müller is very similar to that clandestinely copied by Vera Foltynova mentioned earlier, but it is mirrored, as if it showed Crematorium III.

All this shows, first of all, that Müller was a liar, in addition to which the “Kampfgruppe Auschwitz Combat Group,” that is, the international camp resistance committee, in its alleged escape operation to reveal the “terrible secret” to the world, never even took the trouble to question the inmate members of the “Sonderkommando,” and that none of these ever worked at the Auschwitz Baubüro Construction Office in such a position as to obtain a correct description of the crematoria, or were in contact with a person working there and obtained such a description from that person.

The tale told by Wetzler and Vrba, although borrowing a few themes from the phantasmagorical propaganda stories propagated in the preceding Polish reports, constitutes something completely new when compared to any of these early reports, at least with regard to the results, and precisely for this reason it is celebrated as a revelation of the “truth” – which implies that the preceding reports represented revelations of an “un-truth,” or, if one prefers, a lie.

The Report thus revived the fantastic themes of the gas chambers camouflaged as bathing installations (Badeanstalt), with fake showerheads on the walls (!) – originally, real showers were attached to the ceiling, from which the “gas” was emitted – and repeats the ridiculous story that “each person receives a towel and a small piece of soap issued by two men clad in white coats,” which means that over the course of the inaugural gassing of 8,000 Jews from Krakow in March 1943,543 each of the two men in white coats distributed 4,000 towels and 4,000 small pieces of soap to 4,000 Jews!

With regard to the gas, Wetzler and Vrba developed the idea of “megacyklon.” They believed they knew that the cans of “Cyklon” bore the label “zur ‘Schädlingsbekämpfung.’” and that the contents were “manufactured [erzeugt] by a Hamburg concern.” But the Tesch & Stabenow Corporation of Hamburg were the mere distributor of Zyklon B, while the word “Schädlingsbekämpfung” on the label of the cans only appeared in the distributor’s name: “Tesch u. Stabenow. Internationale Gesellschaft für Schädlingsbekämpfung m.b.H.” The statement that “Cyklon” was a “Cyanpräparat,” by contrast, is correct, because the label on the cans said “Giftgas! Cyanpräparat!”544

Although Zyklon B was widely used at Auschwitz for disinfestation purposes, and although inmate Kommandos or units were employed in the respective installations (the “Entwesungskammer” “disinfestation chamber” of “Kanada I,” BW 28, the “Gaskammer” “gas chamber” in BW 5a and 5b of Birkenau, to cite the most-well-known), Wetzler, Vrba and their sources knew nothing about Zyklon B except by hearsay, and their knowledge was to some extent incorrect. This means that the information in their Report did not originate from these Kommandos, or from inmates employed in any claimed “Sonderkommando,” who would have had an interest in stealing a label from a can of Zyklon B as “proof” of the presumed gassings.

The claim that the ashes from the cremated victims were “used as before as fertilizer [als Dünger]” was a common ingredient of black propaganda and was later abandoned – and is therefore another lie.

In the Wetzler-Vrba Report, the figures relating to the cremation installations, nine furnaces each equipped with four “openings” (muffles) for a total of 36 muffles, are borrowed with great aplomb from the “Legend” of the “Pictures of Auschwitz” mentioned earlier, where the four (allegedly identical) crematoria at Birkenau possessed a total of 36 furnaces, therefore, every crematorium possessed nine furnaces. As is well known, and as the members of the “Sonderkommando” knew perfectly well, the number 36 corresponded neither to the four crematoria’s furnaces (actually 12 in number) nor to their total number of muffles (46). It is therefore clear that both the “Legend” and Wetzler and Vrba were based on garbled second- or third-hand information, which is another confirmation that their information could not have originated from inmates of any “Sonderkommando.”

The cremation capacity indicated in the report – 4,000 cremations per day for Crematoria II and III, 2,000 for Crematoria IV and V, for a total of 6,000 – apart from being thermotechnically ridiculous, is in contradiction with the data contained in the preceding reports, and also with the subsequent testimonies.

Previously, the “new crematorium,” that is, Crematorium II, had been accredited with 1,000, 3,000 and 5,000 cremations per day; three crematoria succeeded in cremating 10,000 bodies, but all four could only burn 5,000!

As regards the testimonies of the “Sonderkommando,” to adduce a few examples,545 Szlama Dragon spoke of 10,000-12,000 cremations per day; Stanisław Jankowski of 8,000; Filip Müller of 10,000; Josef Sackar of 20,000; the duration of a cremation, which for Wetzler and Vrba stood at 90 minutes for a load of three corpses, according to the “Sonderkommando” ranged from four minutes (Dov Paisikovic) to 20-25 minutes (Henryk Tauber)!

Regarding the plan for Crematorium II/III, on the other hand, the Wetzler-Vrba Report constitutes a downright regression compared to the “Legend” to the “Pictures of Auschwitz,” whose author was in possession of Plan No. 932, “Grundriss vom Untergeschoss” “Floor plan of the basement” dated January 23, 1942, which shows the real structure of the crematorium. This plan was obviously unknown to Wetzler and Vrba’s sources of information, which got the idea of locating the gassings inside the crematorium from the above-mentioned “legend” (or from the rumors that were based upon it), but used a completely invented floor plan which in no way corresponded to reality. The Wetzler-Vrba Report therefore represents the second and last attempt (before the arrival of the Soviets at Auschwitz) at “staging” (exterminations in gas chambers) and “locating” (inside the crematoria) the preceding propaganda themes.

On the following pages, I will briefly review Wetzler’s and Vrba’s subsequent statements.

In 1945, Wetzler published a pamphlet under the pseudonym of Jozef Lánik with the very significant title Oswiecim: Hrobka štyroch miliónov l’udi (Auschwitz: The Tomb of Four Million People), which is a paraphrased translation of his report from the year before, but in this presentation he insisted on the figure of four million victims and repeated it three times (Lánik 1945, p. 4).

On April 29, 1946, he appeared before the Public Prosecutor of the National Court of Bratislava. The related report contains only a few words about the alleged extermination at Auschwitz (Riešenie židovskiej…, pp. 200-203):

“In two full years, from 1942 to April 1945, nearly 4 million people were killed, of which over 2,500,000 were of Jewish nationality. On March 15, 1943, four gigantic crematoria began to operate, which could contain [cremate] over 10,000 people every day. On average, 150-200 people died every day among the inmates who worked.”

The influence of Soviet propaganda is evident: the number of victims increased from 1,765,000 to 4,000,000, and the cremation capacity from 6,000 to 10,000 corpses per day.

On November 30, 1963, Wetzler wrote a long report for the Auschwitz Museum in which he recounted the events relating to the drafting of the Wetzler-Vrba Report as follows:546

“In Čadca we got in touch with Dr. W. Polak, who gave us another address in Zilina. The same day we were already in this location. We received provisional accommodation at the Jewish Convalescent Home. It was there on April 27 [1944] that the first meeting took place where we related to those present the first report on what had happened in Auschwitz. After the meeting, we were given a typewriter and some paper. Within three days, we compiled a report which consisted of about 50 typewritten pages. We described everything we had seen at the camp, providing statistical data on those murdered. We did this not just from memory, but also on the basis of notes we had brought from the camp [z notatek, które wynieśliśmy z obozu]. We attached a fragment of the label from a Zyklon-B can to the report. The label had been given to us by Filip Müller, who worked at the Sonderkommando. I know that obtaining that label was a dangerous undertaking, because all the Zyklon cans were counted and taken away by the SS immediately after the gassing ended. As for the annotations, we made two copies before the escape. We lost one near Porąbka, during the pursuit, when we were discovered on the slopes of a mountain. In the lost scroll there was also the provisional plan of the crematoria [prowizoryczny plan krematoriów].” (My emphasis)

In 1964, a book by Wetzler/Lánik was published in Bratislava that contains his memories in the form of a novel: Čo Dante nevidel (What Dante did not see). This book was translated into German three years later (Lánik 1967). He gave the main characters pseudonyms, starting with himself (“Valer”) and Vrba (“Karol”). However, the “fictional” aspect ends here; the book is in fact usually considered a historical work by orthodox historiography (Kárný 1994, FN 3, p. 564).

Wetzler collected the most stupid and ridiculous fables about Auschwitz, blatantly contradicted the nonsense he had written in his report, or embroidered them in such a way as to make them even more senseless. I quote some significant examples.

He repeated on several pages the story of Himmler’s alleged visit to Birkenau on the occasion of the inauguration of Crematorium II, but without ever indicating its number (Lánik 1967, p. 67; all subsequent page numbers from there unless indicated otherwise):

“Auf der Straße vor dem Krematorium ist das aus fünfzig Gestreiften bestehende Rampenkommando angetreten. Valer ist auch dabei.”

“On the street in front of the crematorium, the ramp squad consisting of fifty striped men has lined up. Valer is among them, too.”

Wetzler (“Valer”) was therefore present and was an “eyewitness” to this imaginary event, the description of which he was forced to improvise badly (p. 71):

“Nach einer kurzen Beratung vor dem Gebäude gehen sie auf ein Zeichen Molls hinein. Nacheinander treten sie an ein Guckfenster im oberen Teil der Stahltür heran: Himmler, Medizinprofessoren aus Berlin, Hamburg, Münster, Vertreter verschiedener Firmen, Höß, Offiziere von der Führung der Waffen-SS und dem Stab der Lagerleitung.”

“After a brief consultation in front of the building, they enter on a sign from Moll. One after the other they approach a peephole in the upper part of the steel door: Himmler, medical professors from Berlin, Hamburg, Münster, representatives of various companies, Höss, officers from the headquarters of the Waffen SS and the staff of the camp management.”

Naturally Wetzler had seen this long procession of fictitious visitors with his own eyes: he observed that Himmler arrived in the fifth car (p. 67). And here is the scene of the alleged gassing (pp. 71f.):

“Die Menschen stehen zusammengedrängt in den Kammern und sind eingeschüchtert.

Die beiden Sanitäter erscheinen mit grünen Blechdosen. Auf dem Dach der Kammern, das durch Rasen getarnt ist, binden sie sich Gasmasken um. Dann öffnen sie die Klappen der Ventilatoren, zerschlagen den Patentdeckel der Blechdosen und schütten in die Öffnungen grünviolette Kristallkörner.

Himmler blickt auf die Uhr und danach zehn Minuten lang durch das Guckfenster in der Tür.

Die Menschen, die sich eben noch um ihr Gepäck gesorgt und andererseits über die Höflichkeit der SS-Leute gewundert haben, starren plötzlich zur Decke, wo aus den Brausen winzige Kristalle dringen. Schnell entwickelt sich aus ihnen Gas, jetzt atmen sie es ein: starkes, giftiges Zyklon.”

“The people stand crammed together in the chambers and are intimidated.

The two paramedics appear with green tin cans. Once on the roof of the chambers, which is camouflaged with grass, they put gas masks on. Then they open the flaps of the ventilators, smash the patented lid of the tin cans and pour green-violet crystal grains into the openings.

Himmler looks at the clock and then for ten minutes through the peep window in the door.

The people who have just taken care of their luggage and also marveled at the politeness of the SS men, suddenly stare at the ceiling, where tiny crystals are pouring out of the showers. Gas develops quickly from them, now they breathe it in: strong, poisonous Zyklon.”

At this point “SS-Offiziere, Ingenieure, Techniker und Wissenschaftler” “SS officers, engineers, technicians and scientists” turned to Himmler to see whether he was satisfied (p. 72):

“Himmler dreht sich um und schreit fast: ‘Famos, famos! Sensationell! Großartig, genial!’

Mit gelindem Neid schauen alle auf den Ingenieur Prüfer, der diese ‘Brausebäder’ für die Erfurter Firma Topf u. Söhne projektiert und eingerichtet hat.”

“Himmler turns around and almost screams: ‘Splendid, splendid! Sensational! Great, brilliant!’

With mild envy everyone looks at Engineer Prüfer, who designed and installed these ‘shower baths’ for the Erfurt company Topf & Sons.”

Of course, an engineer from Degesch was also present (ibid.):

“‘Zyklon B, Herr Reichsführer’, hilft ihm taktvoll Ingenieur Faust von der Firma Degesch, bei der die Wunderkristalle produziert werden.

‘Ja, dieses Zyklon B, meine Herren, ist ein famoses Mittel im historischen Kampf der SS-Männer gegen minderwertige Rassen. Fünf Blechdosen auf sechs- bis siebentausend Einheiten. Ich denke, unser Führer wird sehr zufrieden sein.’”

“‘Zyklon B, Herr Reichsführer,’ Engineer Faust from the Degesch Company tactfully helps him, where the miracle crystals are produced.

‘Yes, this Zyklon B, gentlemen, is a splendid tool in the historical struggle of the SS men against inferior races. Five tin cans for six to seven thousand units. I think our Führer will be very satisfied.’”.

The epilogue of the fable is no less surprising:

“‘Möchten Sie sich nicht die zweite Räumlichkeit ansehen, Herr Reichsführer?’ fragt Höß. ‘Sie hat eine größere Kapazität und ist außerdem unterkellert.’

‘Aber nur auf einen Sprung, da wir einmal hier sind’, antwortet Himmler leutselig.

Zu Fuß gehen sie die vorbildlich gewalzte Straße entlang.”

“‘Would you like to have a look at the second room, Herr Reichsführer?’ asks Höss. ‘It has a larger capacity and also has a basement underneath.’

‘But only to stop by, since we’re already here,’ replies Himmler affably.

They walk along the exemplary rolled road.”

Where Himmler went is not explained; Wetzler speaks only of the signs in four languages relating to a “Bad” “bathroom” and refers to the alleged recommendation of the Reichsführer not to forget “die Seifenhalter” “the soap dishes” and that “mehr Seife und mehr Handtücher” “more soap and more towels” ought to be provided (pp. 73f.)

Wetzler manages to put together a lot of nonsense even compared to the official version. At that time, Crematorium II is said to have had only one “gas chamber” with a wooden door, but the victims were instead crammed together “in the chambers,” which had a “Stahltür” “steel door.” The whole scene takes place in the basement “gas chamber” (Leichenkeller Morgue #1). However, there was also “die zweite Räumlichkeit” “the second room,” which, as Höss pointed out, had a “unterkellert” “basement underneath,” which suggests that the “gas chamber” was on the ground floor. To carry out the gassing, the non-existent “Klappen der Ventilatoren” “flaps of the ventilators” were opened, through which the “grünviolette Kristallkörner” “green-violet crystal grains” were poured, which were neither crystals nor green-violet. It is not known how these “Klappen” “flaps” were connected to the shower pipes, because “aus den Brausen winzige Kristalle dringen” “tiny crystals are pouring out of the showers,” from which the gas developed. The “Brausen” “showers” were therefore not fake, but real, and had been “projektiert und eingerichtet” “designed and installed” by Eng. Kurt Prüfer as an extermination mechanism!

Wetzler gave further details on the “Brausebäder” “shower rooms” (p. 150):

“Die Räume sehen aus wie Bäder… Brausebäder. Statt Wasser wird dort Zyklon versprüht, kleine Kristalle giftigen Gases, an dem die Menschen ersticken.”

“The rooms look like bathrooms… shower baths. Instead of water, Zyklon is sprayed there, small crystals of poisonous gas that suffocates the people.”

The victims “in die Bäder marschierten, wo aus den Brausen nicht Wasser, sondern erstickendes Gas strömte” “marched into the bathrooms, where no water but asphyxiating gas flowed from the showers” (p. 259). Other phrases refer to this imaginative procedure: “mit Zyklon geduscht” “showered with Zyklon” (p. 272), “Gasduschen” “gas showers” (p. 277).

Zyklon B was “produziert” “produced” by the Degesch Company, although Degesch merely issued licenses for its production and distribution, and five cans were enough to kill 6,000-7,000 people. Wetzler had no doubt misunderstood Höss’s claim that the gassing of 1,500 people usually required five to seven cans (see Mattogno 2020, p. 114). Finally, he also revived the tale of soap and towels. The gassing of Jews from Krakow, which affected 8,000 people in the 1944 report, is here reduced to 2,000 (p. 78). Wetzler had finally learned that the five crematoria at Auschwitz and Birkenau had a total of 52 “Öfen” “furnaces” (muffles) and “Jeder von ihnen verbrennt in zwanzig Minuten drei Leichen – im Jahr wären das zwei Millionen vierhunderttausend” “each of them reduces three corpses to ashes in twenty minutes – in a year it would be two million and four hundred thousand” (p. 95), while in the 1944 report Crematoria II and III alone had 72 muffles, but the cremation of a load of corpses took an hour and a half. The overall capacity of the crematoria, in 1944 6,000 corpses a day, became “six thousand, seven thousand, eight thousand and now perhaps even ten thousand corpses” (p. 265).

Wetzler also presents completely invented excerpts from the Report, such as:

“Am 26. März 1942 wurden 1000 Mädchen aus der Slowakei umgebracht.” (S. 274)

“Am 17. Juli 1942 wurden in Himmlers Anwesenheit ein zweiter Vergasungsbunker in Betrieb genommen.” (ebd.)

“… vom 15. bis zum 17. August 1942 wurden in den Bunkern 1 und 2 achttausend Juden aus Sosnowiec vergast.” (ebd.)

“On March 26, 1942, 1,000 girls from Slovakia were killed.” (p. 274)

“On July 17, 1942, a second gassing bunker was put into operation in Himmler’s presence.” (ibid.)

“… from August 15 to 17, 1942, eight thousand Jews from Sosnowiec were gassed in Bunkers 1 and 2.” (ibid.)

These dates are in contrast with those given in the Auschwitz Chronicle, according to which the first Jewish transport from Slovakia arrived at the camp on March 26, 1942, and the 999 women who arrived with it were all regularly registered (Czech 1990, p. 148); “Bunker 2” was put into operation on June 30 without Himmler’s presence (ibid., p. 189); and two Jewish transports from Sosnowitz of 2,000 people each arrived in Auschwitz on June 17 and 20, 1942 (ibid., pp. 182f., although these transports are purely fictitious). Strangely, however, Wetzler gave up the fable of four million victims, but always kept claiming a figure that is no less absurd: 3 million (pp. 15, 152, 272, 284, 286); “Drei Millionen, vielleicht auch noch mehr…” “Three million, perhaps even more…” (p. 151).

Then Wetzler even makes false claims about his 1944 report (p. 276):

“Und am Ende des Berichts die Summe der Opfer nach Nationalitäten: drei Millionen Ermordete.”

“And at the end of the report, the number of victims by nationality: three million murdered victims.”

This refers to the “Careful estimate of the Jews gassed at Birkenau between April 1942 and April 1944 according to countries of origin” which I listed earlier, but there the estimated death toll is 1,765,000!

In this regard, “Karol” (Vrba) reported (p. 265):

“… von den Transporten, den nach Benzol und Methanol stinkenden Rauchwolken, den in einer riesigen Grube verbrannten Opfern, von provisorischen Gasbunkern in Baracken, in denen man über eine Million Menschen vergjftet,…”

“… of the transports, of the smoke clouds stinking of benzene and methanol, of the victims burned in a huge pit, of makeshift gas bunkers in barracks in which more than a million people are poisoned,…”

therefore a million victims in the “Gasbunkern” “gas bunkers” alone, which were simple “Baracken” “barracks” and had only one “Grube” “pit.” Finally, the typewritten report allegedly had 60 pages (p. 273), but Wetzler had mentioned 50 pages in his report for the Auschwitz Museum examined earlier; for Tova Steiner, the self-styled typist, it was 40 pages; however, the actual typescript “Tatsachenbericht ueber Auschwitz und Birkenau” has 34 pages.

Rudolf Vrba, on the other hand, made his first public statements in conjunction with the preparations for the Eichmann Trial in Jerusalem (the first hearing took place on April 11, 1961), entrusting them to the Daily Herald. As will be seen, that climate led him to a bewildering megalomania. The first article appeared in the issue of February 27, 1961 on page 4 with the title “I warned the world of Eichmann’s murders.” Vrba addressed the question of the number of victims by asserting:

“In that time I saw 1,750,000 men, women and children gassed, shot, tortured, or burned alive. I saw them vanish in clouds of black smoke from the crematoria chimneys.” (My emphases) 

This was more or less consistent with the 1944 report, but then he added:

“I calculated, in fact, that 2,500,000 people were murdered there in three years.”

In this regard he specified:

“Working on the transports not only helped me to survive, but gave me first-hand knowledge of the numbers being exterminated. I double-checked my figures with other prisoners.”

His story begins with a rather silly contradiction:

“They sent me with 1,000 other Slovak Jews to their concentration camp at Majdanek, near Lublin – crude blue-print of the efficient murder machine that was developed later at Auschwitz. We were lined up before a selection committee who picked out 100 strong young men. The rest – mainly the old and the sick, the women and children – were killed and burned.”

In his report, Vrba had written that his transport, which left Novaky on June 14, 1942, arrived in Lublin and then (Executive Office…, p. 21):

“Here the following order was issued: ‘Those fit for work aged between 15 and 50 are to leave the cars. Children and old people remain.’ […] The cars containing the children and old people were immediately closed and the train moved on. We do not know where they went and what happened to them.” (My emphasis)

But even this statement is false, because at the time, both in Majdanek and in Auschwitz only transports of able-bodied Jews arrived from France and Slovakia, all of whom were registered.547 From Majdanek, Vrba was transferred to Auschwitz, where he was assigned to agricultural work. In this regard he is quoted by the Daily Herald as follows:

“But I got an even greater shock when I learned the nature of my ‘agricultural work.’ We had to dig up and burn the bodies of 20,000 Russian war prisoners who had been murdered. We had to remove the decomposing evidence. Again I was lucky. I was redrafted and told to unload food for the SS mess. Not one of the other agricultural workers survived, because they had seen too much.

I kept my strength by stealing the SS food. Then I became a cog in what the Germans called euphemistically the ‘administrative machinery’. There were about 300 of us. Half of us worked on the transports which were bringing Jews from all over Europe. We opened the crammed trucks under the surveillance of SS machine-guns and clubs and ushered the victims to the gas chamber. The rest collected the bodies for burning.

The doomed cargoes, of course, had no idea of their fate. If any prisoner was seen talking to them, he was clubbed to death.

The Germans, in fact, tricked their victims into believing they were going to labour camps, for had they known the truth they might have rebelled. Quietly the new arrivals were told to strip and have a shower in a large wooden hut. As soon as the hut was full, the doors were locked and gassing began. Survivors were shot. All bodies were flung into blazing trenches. My job was collecting their belongings. It was only then that I learned the real reason for this vast extermination.”

Vrba, presumably seized by a sudden media frenzy, therefore proclaimed himself a member of the “Sonderkommando” which had exhumed and cremated the corpses of “20,000 Russian war prisoners who had been murdered,” while, as I observed earlier, the total number of Soviet POWs sent to Auschwitz did not even reach 12,000, and those who perished were not even killed intentionally.

Next, Vrba also promoted himself to a member of the “Sonderkommando” working at the “bunkers,” of which he knew nothing, except that it was a “large wooden hut,” but that was exactly untrue, if we follow the orthodox narrative.

There is no shortage of more trivia in this Daily Herald article like these:

“In three years, in fact, Auschwitz sent six tons of gold to the Berlin State Bank.”

“Ashes from the crematorium fertilised the SS vegetable gardens.”

In an article published by the Daily Herald on February 28, 1961, again on page 4 yet with the title “Two-hour wait for death while Himmler and Eichmann lingered over their meal…,” Vrba described Himmler’s real visit to Auschwitz in 1942 and the invented one of 1943 as follows:

“It was August, 1942. […] Himmler, bespectacled and immaculate, looked like a school teacher. Eichmann stood behind him, the perfect sychophant. […]

We sighed with relief, but we had yet to learn the reason for their visit. In fact, we were about to enter a new era of fantastically efficient mass-murder. At that time the victims were being gassed in a wooden hut and burned in crude trenches. Now they were planning a massive new building which would be gas chamber, crematorium and dissecting room all in one. Extermination was to be streamlined. […]

Himmler and Eichmann returned for the inauguration of the new building – the first of the four.” (My emphases)

During the first visit, which took place in July rather than in August, Himmler was not accompanied by Eichmann. Vrba knows nothing of Himmler’s claimed inspection of a “bunker” and related the Reichsführer’s visit to the design of the crematoria instead. Of the “bunkers” he repeated the false claim that it was “a wooden hut.” The first gassing involved 3,000 Poles (the report claimed 8,000, and Wetzler/Lánik 2,000), and was to begin at 10 AM, and at 9:54 the victims were already crammed into the gas chamber. But Himmler had breakfast and went to the crematorium only a couple of hours later.

“When the gassing began, he watched it several minutes through a thick glass window. […] They were issued with soap and spotlessly clean towels when they had stripped.”

Once more the nonsense with soap and towels! Vrba wrote furthermore:

“Philip Miller [sic], a Slovak friend who worked in the crematorium, told me that the Nazis would have so many victims on their hands that they would have to resort again to their old idea of throwing Jews – dead and alive – into mass, blazing graves. The SS spoke of an enormous job which would tax the resources of the four new chambers. That meant the slaughter of at least 10,000 a day. I had seen Eichmann’s lackeys preparing a trench, half a mile long and 30 yards wide, for them [the Hungarian Jews] and their children.”

In 1961, Filip Müller was still a marginal figure. The pit of about 800 times 27 meters is blatant nonsense, considering that the east and west sides of the Birkenau Camp measured 1,657 meters.548

In his book I Cannot Forgive, which appeared in 1963, Vrba collected without any discernment the worst fable on Auschwitz then circulating, and without taking the slightest care to avoid blatant contradictions with respect to the 1944 report, just like his worthy colleague Wetzler. I review briefly here some inconsistencies, absurdities and the most-blatant lies.

According to the 1944 report, as we recall, Crematoria II and III had nine furnaces with four muffles each. In each muffle, three corpses could allegedly be cremated in an hour and a half, and the capacity of the two facilities was said to have been 4,000 corpses per day, while that of Crematoria IV and V was 2,000 corpses per day, so that the overall capacity was 6,000 per day. In his book, Vrba doubled this capacity without giving any explanation. According to him, Himmler gave orders

“For the modern concrete gas chambers and the vast crematoria that could absorb as many as 12,000 bodies in twenty-four hours and, in fact, did so.” (Vrba/Bestic, p. 15; all subsequent page numbers from there until stated otherwise)

He described Crematorium II as follows (p. 16):

“It was truly a splendid affair, one hundred yards long and fifty yards wide, containing fifteen ovens which could burn three bodies each simultaneously in twenty minutes, a monument in concrete, to his builder, Herr Walter Dejaco.”

Hence, Crematoria II and III alone had a capacity of 6,480 corpses per day! Furthermore, since, according to these data, Crematoria IV and V could cremate a maximum of 3,456 corpses per day, therefore all four crematoria 9,936, the capacity of 12,000 is doubly contradictory. Vrba resumed the story of Himmler’s visit to Birkenau for the inauguration of Crematorium II, of which he was obviously an “eyewitness” (pp. 15f.):

“Heinrich Himmler visited Auschwitz Camp again in January, 1943. This time I was glad to see him arrive, though not because I still nursed any faint hope that he would improve our lot through benevolence or any sense of justice.” (My emphasis)

The Jewish transport for the first gassing no longer contained 8,000 Jews, but 3,000. As with Wetzler/Lánik, the alleged gassing took place in the “new gas chambers,” hence plural. Vrba also multiplied the crematorium elevator, because he wrote (p. 18):

“Special lifts took the bodies to the crematorium, but the burning did not follow immediately.”

Vrba, who in the meantime had informed himself a bit, also provided a different version of the exhumation and burning of the corpses in Birkenau (p. 89):

“There were 107,000 bodies buried near the camp, including 20,000 Russian prisoners of war who had been murdered. This evidence of mass murder had to be removed, not merely to cover up the crime, but because it was a danger to health; and therefore a special labour force of 1,400 men had been collected to get rid of it.”

The 1944 report, as I mentioned earlier, is ignorant of the 107,000-figure of buried bodies – which notoriously stems from Höss’s statements – and of the 20,000 Soviet prisoners. Moreover the “special labour force” that is said to have carried out the task and who were allegedly killed on December 17, 1942 was made up of merely 200 Jews, not of 1,400, about which Vrba specified (p. 90):

“Of the 1,400, only three hundred were alive when the last body was burned; and these, too, were executed.”

Such a “Sonderkommando” of 1,400 inmates is not reflected in orthodox Holocaust literature and is therefore a pure invention. In the article “I warned the world of Eichmann’s murders,” Vrba only knew the story of the 20,000 murdered Soviet prisoners, although he claimed to have been a member of this “special labour force”!

As for the number of victims, Vrba was also dissatisfied with the figure of the report and reiterated the one he mentioned in the article “I warned the world of Eichmann’s murders” (p. 15):

“For the machinery that sucked in 2,500,000 men, women and children in three years and puffed them out in harmless black smoke.”

The Wetzler-Vrba Report also influenced the subsequent Auschwitz witnesses, even to the point of shameless plagiarism.

The Libro giallo (Yellow Book) published in 1945, which contains “Data on the Martyrdom of Hungarian Jewry during the 1941-1945 War,” presents the testimony of a certain Henrik Farkas, deported to Auschwitz on June 15, 1944. In the chapter “The Gas Chambers,” he borrowed wholesale from Wetzler and Vrba’s narrative, repeating practically every detail, pretending, however, to have supplied “a technical description of the gas chamber based on the notes of a Jewish engineer [zsidó mérnök] employed in a technical capacity.”549

Primo Levi and Leonardo de Benedetti, in their 1946 “Report on the Hygienic-Sanitary Organization of the concentration camp for Jews at Monowitz (Auschwitz – Upper Silesia)” supplied an augmented version of the whole tale:550

“It appears that in February 1943, a new crematorium furnace [sic] was inaugurated at Birkenau, and a more-rational gas chamber than that which had been in operation up until that month. These installations were in three parts: the waiting room; the ‘shower room’; the furnaces. In the center, amongst the furnaces, was a high chimney, surrounded by 9 ovens, with 4 apertures, each one of which permitted the simultaneous passage [sic] of three bodies. The capacity of each oven was 2,000 bodies per day [sic].

The victims, upon entering the first room, are ordered to undress completely, because they are going to take a shower; and to lend credence to the deception, they are provided with piece of soap and a towel; after which they enter the ‘shower room’. This was a big chamber containing a fake shower installation, with slogans on the walls reading, more or less, ‘Wash well, cleanliness is essential to human health!’. ‘Don’t stint on the soap!’ ‘Don’t forget your towel!’; so that the room gave the deceptive impression that it was really a large bathing establishment. On the flat ceiling of the room was a large aperture, hermetically sealed with three large pieces of sheet metal, which could be opened by means of a valve. Rails ran through the midst of the chamber for the full length of the room, leading to the furnaces. Once the people were all inside the gas chamber, the doors were closed (they were air-tight), and a chemical preparation in the form of a crude, greyish-blue powder contained in tin cans was thrown down on them through the valves in the ceiling; the cans bore a label reading ‘CYCLON B – for the destruction of animal parasites’ and the trademark of a factory in Hamburg. This was a cyanide compound, which evaporated at a certain temperature. Over the space of a few minutes, all the people in the gas chamber died; doors and windows were then opened, and the members of the special squad, equipped with gas masks, went into action to carry away the bodies to the cremation furnaces. Before pushing the bodies into the furnaces, special personnel cut off the hair from any bodies that still had any, that is, the bodies of those persons who had just arrived on a transport and had been taken to the slaughter without entering the camp; and extracted gold teeth from any bodies that had any. The ashes, as is well known, were then scattered over the fields and in the orchards, to fertilize the soil.”

In a 1976 appendix to his book Se questo è un uomo (If This Is a Man), Primo Levi wrote:

“I have not quoted the figures of the Auschwitz massacre, nor have I described the details of the gas chambers and crematoria. In fact, I did not know these things when I was in the camp, and I only learned about them later, when the whole world learned about them.” (Levi, p. 233)


	2.5. The Manuscripts of “Sonderkommando” Prisoners

Starting in February 1945, various manuscripts were found on the grounds surrounding the Birkenau crematoria, allegedly written by six self-proclaimed members of the “Sonderkommando”: Chaim Herman, Salmen Gradowski, Leib Langfus, Salmen Lewental, an “Unbekannter Autor” “unknown author” and Marcel Nadsari. The first general, but incomplete, anthology of these texts (minus Gradowski’s third document and Nadsari’s manuscript, discovered after the book’s publication) appeared in Polish in 1971, published by the Auschwitz Museum (Bezwińska/Czech 1971), which also published it in English two years later under the title Amidst a Nightmare of Crime (as a more-recent edition: Bezwińska/Czech 1992). The manuscripts by Gradowski, Langfus and Lewental were printed in Yiddish by Ber Mark at Tel Aviv in 1977 in a book titled Megiles oyshvits (The Auschwitz Manuscripts), which was later translated into English (The Scrolls of Auschwitz, Tel Aviv, 1985) and French (Mark 1982). In 1996, the Auschwitz Museum prepared a German edition of the 1971 text, including Nadsari’s text.

These manuscripts also have a place within the framework of the present study, because it is important to be aware of what these inmates knew of the claimed extermination procedure. This is an essential problem, usually underestimated by orthodox Holocaust historians, who are always merely in search of “proof” for the current version of the historical fairy tale of the gas chambers, yet are unwilling or incapable of an overall objective assessment of the manuscripts.

It should be noted that it is possible that the manuscripts in question do not really date back to pre-January 1945, which is confirmed by telling evidence, as we will see. The fact that the first manuscript was found in February 1945 does not necessarily mean that it was buried at the end of 1944, as is claimed, and this is even more true for all the other manuscripts found in later years. Thus, in the strict meaning of the word, there is no documentary proof of the existence of Salmen Gradowski, Leib Langfus and Salmen Lewental, whose registration numbers are also unknown (let alone the “unknown author”). But that makes the problem too complicated, so in the following analysis, I shall simply assume the basic validity of the orthodox Holocaust claims regarding the manuscripts’ authenticity.

What is most-striking about such manuscripts is the radically false tone appearing in all of them without exception: these documents are supposed to have been written by members of the “Sonderkommando” for posterity in order to inform the world of the horrors of the “death factory” of Birkenau. This sentiment was expressed very adamantly by Mikloś Nyiszli, although in a purely imaginary context:551

“Even if we do not survive we will ensure that the world comes to know of the cruelty and banal wickedness, unimaginable to the human mind, of a people that holds itself to be superior.

A message must go out to the world from here! Perhaps it will be found sooner, perhaps later, after years. Even then it will proclaim their guilt. The 200 members of the Crematorium I Sonderkommando will sign the message in the consciousness of their approaching death. […]

The message is completed. It exhaustively describes the horrors perpetrated here in the last few years. We name the executioners of those who perished here. We report the approximate number of the dead. We make known the method and instruments of extermination. The message is written on three large sheets of parchment. The Sonderkommando clerk, a painter from Paris, wrote it in beautiful characters, and to ensure that the writing would not fade, it was written on the model of old parchment scrolls with India ink. The fourth sheet contained the 200 signatures of the Kommando. The parchment sheets were stitched together with fine silk thread. Rolled into a scroll, it was placed in a thin, cylinder-shaped metal canister made by one of our tinsmiths which was then soldered shut to make it air- and watertight.”

Coming from members of the “Sonderkommando” who wished to unveil the “terrible secret” of Auschwitz, one would expect adequate documentation, such as plans of the crematoria and gas chambers, with a description of the structure and functioning of the gas chambers, a description of the structure and functioning of the cremation furnaces, lists of the supplies of coke and wood for the furnaces, numerical lists of the Zyklon-B cans used for the gassings, labels from the cans, lists of the convoys of gassed Jews, numerical lists of gassed persons, numerical lists of cremated bodies, lists of names of members of the “Sonderkommando” with registration numbers and lists of names of SS personnel in the crematoria.

None of this appears in any of the manuscripts, however.552 The information on the gas chambers and gassings are so vague and so limited that they not only do not provide any new knowledge in this regard, but, without any knowledge about the current narrative of homicidal gassings, they would be downright incomprehensible. For example, none of the manuscripts even mentions Zyklon B or hydrogen cyanide!

It was not by accident that, starting with the 1971 edition, the Auschwitz Museum used Stanisław Jankowski’s statement of April 16, 1945 as a preface to the collection; the statement had nothing to do with the manuscripts, but was considered a “precious source of information” in understanding the manuscripts (Bezwińska/Czech 1971, p. 7). The story of the extermination in the manuscripts is like a faded background against which edifying tales of a puerile Holocaust Haggadah553 parade past the reader.


	
2.5.1. Chaim Herman

The French letter by Chaim Herman, dated November 6, 1944, was found in the first 10-day period of February 1945 by a Polish medical student in a bottle “bei dem Eisenbahngleis hinter den Krematorien auf einen Haufen Asche” “near the railway siding behind the crematoria on a pile of ashes.” The student delivered the letter to the French mission at Warsaw in March of that year, and the French minister for foreign affairs and war veterans handed it over to the chairman of the Auschwitz Association at Paris on February 10, 1948. Only in 1967 did the Auschwitz Museum receive “eine Fotokopie des Typoskripts des Briefes” “a photocopy of the typewritten transcription of the letter.”554 The version presented in the 1996 German edition is a translation of the 1971 Polish translation, which is based on the French text.555

Herman arrived at Auschwitz on a transport from Drancy on March 4, 1943, and was assigned inmate number 106113. The French text was published by Ber Mark.

After a long introduction directed to family members, the author affirms that, having arrived at Auschwitz, he was assigned to the “Sonderkommando,” and explains (Mark, p. 327):

“20 mois sont passés déjà depuis, il me semble un siècle, il est parfaitement impossible de vous écrire toutes les preuves de ce que j’ai véçu là, si vous vivez vous lirez pas mal des oeuvres écrites à propos de ce sonder kommando mais je vous prie de ne jamais juger…”

“20 months have already passed since then, it seems like a century, it is perfectly impossible to write you all the proofs of what I experienced there, if you live, you will read many of the works written with regard to this sonder kommando [sic], but I must ask you never to judge…” (Emphasis added)

A little bit later, the author of the letter informs that

“plusieurs de mes camarades sont tombés soient par maladies ou simplement abbattus chaque semaine, on comptait moins à l'heure actuelle nous sommes restés 2 (deux) seulement de notre centaine, il est vrai que beaucoup ont trou-vé une mort plus ou moins glorieuse en masse.”

“several of my comrades have died, either of disease or they were simply shot; every week, we counted less; at the present time there are only 2 (two) of us left, just out of our hundred, it is true that many have met a more or less glorious death en masse.” (Ibid.)

He added that David Lahana

“est parti avec un transport de deux cents personnes tous du ‘Sonder Kom-mando’ le 24 février 1944 à Lublin, où ils étaient exterminés quelques jours après.”

“left on a transport of two hundred persons, all from the ‘Sonder Kommando,’ on February 24, 1944 to Lublin, where they were exterminated a few days afterwards.” (Ibid., p. 329)

The last passage of any importance is this one:

“Il est même possible que par l'histoire du ‘Sonder Kommando’ vous appren-drez le jour exact de ma fin, je me trouve dans la dernière équipe de 204 per-sonnes, on liquide actuellement le Krématorium 2, où je suis, avec intensité et on parle de notre propre liquidation pour le courant de cette semaine.”

“It is even possible that, through the history of the ‘Sonder Kommando,’ you will learn the exact date of my death. I am one of the last teams of 204 persons; they are currently liquidating Krématorium 2, where I am, with intensity, and we speak of our own liquidation some time this week.” (Emphasis added; ibid., p. 330)

This letter, written clandestinely and hence without any fear of censorship by the SS, was addressed to the witness’s wife and daughter: what could they have understood of all this? What was the “Sonderkommando”? What was its task? Why had a part of it been killed? What was Crematorium 2 and why did it have to be dismantled? Why, then, did the men from the “Sonderkommando” have to be liquidated?

Herman did not answer any of these more-or-less-legitimate questions, but limited himself to invoking future Holocaust literature, which would provide all the answers! This prospect, unless it was absurd, presupposes that the letter was written when such literature already existed, therefore, a good while after 1945.

The historical elements contained in the letter are insipid and incomprehensible. The presumed transfer of 200 inmates from the “Sonderkommando” to Lublin is not attested to by any document. Danuta Czech’s only source for this alleged transfer is Herman’s letter (Czech 1989, S. 728/1990, p. 588). A clandestine list of “Transports from Concentration Camp Auschwitz I, II III between January 1, 1944 and July 10, 1944” contains no record of any transport to Lublin.556 The transport in question is only mentioned in a “Report regarding the Majdanek Camp and a couple of other camps in the Reich” dated March 6, 1944, which says (Marczewska/Ważniewski, p. 231):

“On February 26, 200 Jews arrived – personnel from the Auschwitz crematorium. They were all dead after a couple of days.”

This reference is still not conclusive evidence, because the presumed event forms part of the Auschwitz kit of fairy tales and was known as such on various levels at the propaganda center of the Delegatura.557 In addition, while Herman could theoretically know of a transport sent to Lublin, how could he possibly know that the inmates sent to Majdanek were there “exterminated a few days afterwards,” and even write about it in the past tense?

Therefore, the transport must be considered without historical reality in the absence of documentary proof to the contrary. Among other things, no one has explained why it was necessary to transfer these 200 men to Majdanek to be killed, when Auschwitz allegedly was itself an “extermination camp” with a vastly larger killing capacity than Majdanek, where the “Sonderkommandos” were regularly “liquidated” every three or four months anyway.

The mention of a more-or-less-glorious mass death for inmates from the “Sonderkommando” should refer to the revolt of October 7, but even in this regard, Herman refers exclusively to future works of Holocaust literature!

Herman’s claim that “nous sommes restés 2 (deux) seulement de notre centaine” “only 2 (two) of us left, just out of our hundred,” which is repeated a little later (“resté deux de cent,” “two out of a hundred”; Mark, p. 328) is not confirmed by any document,558 while the claim regarding the commencement of the demolition of Crematorium III (“on liquide actuellement le Krématorium 2” “they are currently liquidating Krématorium 2”) on November 6, 1944 is contradicted by the text of the anonymous author (see Subchapter 2.5.4.), who writes (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 184/Bezwińska/Czech 1992, p. 120):

“Heute, am 25 November, wird mit der Demontage von Krematorium II begonnen, daraufhin folgt die Demontage von Krematorium III.”

“Today, November 25, the demolition of crematorium II was begun, the next to be demolished will be crematorium III.”

Chaim Herman’s letter therefore contributes nothing new, but indicates an awareness on the part of the author of the rather poor-quality propaganda motifs en vogue at that time. This would have been impossible without some knowledge of the later-established orthodox Holocaust historiography.


	2.5.2. Salmen Gradowski

The claim is made that this inmate arrived at Auschwitz on December 6, 1942, but his registration number is unknown. He is considered the author of three texts in Yiddish. On March 5, 1945, a Soviet commission of inquiry found an Aluminiumfeldfasche aluminum canteen containing a Notizbuch notebook and a Brief letter in the area around Crematorium II at Birkenau. All items were taken to the Museum of Military Medical Service in Leningrad. In 1963, Ber Mark obtained a copy of these documents in microfilm form. He is still the official translator of these texts, even today, but also more than that, because the Auschwitz Museum tells us that Gradowski’s texts have been “en[t]ziffert aus der jiddischen Handschrift und übersetzt ins Polnische von Prof. Bernard Mark.” “deciphered from the Yiddish handwriting and translated into Polish by Prof. Bernard Mark.”559 If we consider that this “deciphering” was performed off of microfilm, we can imagine how accurate it may have been.

The following discussion is based on the English translation (page numbers from there), with an eye on the German, Polish and French translations.

The “Letter” is dated September 6, 1944. Gradowski starts off with a warning:

“Ich habe dies in der Zeit geschrieben, während der ich mich im ‘Sonderkommando’ befand.” (S. 137)

“I was writing this at the time when I was in the ‘Sonderkommando’.” (p. 75)

He writes that he has written various messages which he buried in the ashes because he considered it the safest place, a place where excavations would be carried out at some time in the future “um die Spuren von Millionen umgebrachter Menschen zu finden” “to find the traces of millions of men who were exterminated” (ibid., emphasis added). From his account, it appears that the SS had excavated several pits on the crematorium terrain where they deposited the ashes of cremated persons.

“Aber letztens begannen sie die Spuren zu verwischen und überall dort, wo es viel Asche gab, befahlen sie, sie fein zu zermhalen und zur Weichsel zu bringen und mit dem Strom gehen zu lassen. Wie haben viele Gräber aufgegraben, und im Augenblick [aujourd‘hui, obecnie] befinden sich zwei solche offene[n] Gräber auf dem Terrain des zweiten und dritten Krematoriums. Einige Gräber sind noch voll Asche. […]

Dank dessen sind noch zwei große Gräber mit Asche auf dem Terrain des zweiten und dritte Krematoriums geblieben. Eine Menge Asche (von verbrannten Leichen) hunderttausender Juden, Russen und Polen wurde auf dem Terrain der Krematorien verstreut und umgepflügt.” (S. 137f.)

“But lately they have begun obliterating the traces and everywhere, where there was much ash, they ordered to have it ground fine and to cart it away to the Vistula and to let it flow with the current. We have dug up many graves and now [im Augenblick/aujourd’hui/obecnie] two such open graves are in the terrain of the second and third crematorium. Several graves are still full of ashes. […]

Thanks to that there are still two large graves left with ashes on the terrain of the second and third crematorium. Masses of ashes [from burnt corpses] of hundreds of thousands of Jews, Russians, Poles, were strewn and ploughed in on the sites of the crematoria.” (pp. 75f.)

The “Kommando workers” had supposedly buried “tens of documents” and scattered “great quantities of teeth […] all over the terrain”, “damit die Welt sachliche Beweistücke von Millionen Menschen finden kann” “so that the world should find material traces of the millions of murdered people” (my emphasis; S. 138/p. 76).

Gradowski adds:

“Vor unseren Augen [devant mes yeux, na naszych oczach] kommen jetzt zehntausende Juden aus der Tschechoslowakei um (de Tschécoslovaquie/z Czech i Słowacji)” (Hervorhebung hinzugefügt; ebd.)

“Under our eyes [Vor unseren Augen/devant mes yeux/na naszych oczach] tens of thousands of Jews from the Czech and Slovakian regions are now perishing.” (ibid., emphasis added)

The final reference in the letter to an abortive revolt is very fleeting.560

The idea of burying manuscripts in ashes which would then be retrieved, ground up and thrown into the Vistula does not seem particularly intelligent, nor does the German idea of depositing the ashes of cremated persons in pits, instead of throwing them straight into the Vistula. But as is known, the SS are often accused of cretinism bordering on dementia.

If we start out from the number of victims attributed to Crematorium II by Robert Jan van Pelt – 500,000 (2002 pp. 68, 458, 469) – and assume a weight of 3.5 kg of ashes per cremation of a 70-kg body with a specific weight of the ashes of 0.5 g/cm³ (Mattogno/Deana 2015, Vol. I, pp. 26, 31), then this would have produced a volume of ashes measuring 3,500 cubic meters. Assuming a pit two meters deep, the surface area of that pit would have amounted to 1,750 square meters, or a square area almost 42 meters in length and width. For comparison, the above-ground surface area of Crematorium II/III is hardly 800 square meters. But the air photo of Birkenau taken on September 13, 1944 shows in the east courtyard of Crematorium III a pit measuring approximately 7 m × 4 m (28 m²), plus two smaller pits measuring at least half that. In the east courtyard of Crematorium II, we see a pit measuring approximately 13 m × 7 m (91 m²).561 The purpose of these pits is not known, but the total surface area measured approximately 150 square meters. Therefore, these pits do not prove any mass extermination in Crematoria II and III, and further undermine the witness’s claims relating to millions of victims.

To sum up, according to the author of the letter presumably written on September 6, 1944, “tens of thousands of Jews from the Czech and Slovakian regions” perished before his eyes. But the first transport from Czechoslovakia (Theresienstadt) arrived at Auschwitz only on September 29 (Czech 1989, S. 889/1990, p. 718), illustrating that Gradowski must have possessed powers of prophecy!

The “diary,” although it is not very long, is still-more-laconic on the presumed extermination of the Jews in the crematoria of Birkenau. Gradowski declares that his deportation convoy passed by Treblinka and continued on its way to Auschwitz. The French text says: “Nous approchons de la station bien connue de Treblinka” (Mark, p. 210), translated in the English edition to “Eben nähern wir uns der für die Juden so tragisch berüchtigten Station Treblinka” (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, p. 144) “Here we are approaching the ill-famed station of Treblinka” (Bezwińska/Czech 1992, p. 81). But why on earth would a Jewish transport pass right by the “extermination camp” of Treblinka on its alleged way to Auschwitz in order to be exterminated there?

The fleeting reference to “la chambre à gaz” (“the gas chamber,” singular, Mark, p. 229) was translated to “die Gasöfen”(Bezwińska/Czech 1996, p. 163) “gas ovens” (plural) in the English translation (Bezwińska/Czech 1992, p. 99). And that’s all Gradowski tells his readers about his alleged workplace at Auschwitz.

Another manuscript attributed to Gradowski, written in Yiddish, was published in Jerusalem in 1977 by Haim Wolnerman under the title “In harz fun Gehenom. A dokument fun Auschwitzer Sonder-Kommando, 1944” (“In the Heart of the Pugatory. A Document from the Sonderkommando of Auschwitz”), which was published as an Italian translation edited by Philippe Mesnard and Carlo Saletti (Gradowski 2002). The circumstances under which the manuscript was found were described by Wolnerman as follows:

“When, in March 1945, I returned ‘home’ to my birthplace Oswiecim (the Germans called it Auschwitz and built a death camp there), after having spent four years in concentrations camps, I found myself standing on the grave of millions. […]

A month after the end of the war, I had the good fortune and privelege to find my wife who had been deported to a women’s camp in Lower Silesia where she was liberated. We decided right away to leave Oswiecim, the House of Sacrifice of millions, and together with a small group of friends we began to plan our immigration to Palestine. At this time, local inhabitants used to come to us in order to sell various items they brought – gold, and other valuables.

Shortly before we departed from the town, a young man came to me with a tin can that he had dug up at the crematorium in Birkenau-Brzezinka. From the can, which was partly rotted and rusted, we extricated pages of a notebook with dense handwritings in Yiddish. I perused several pages of the introduction and saw immediately that I had an important document before me. Although I did not know who the author of the work was and also did not know its exact contents – I immediately felt obliged to buy the manuscript, paid the desired amount, and the document came into my possession.

I have spent many months copying the pages, some of which I have been able to read without any trouble. A large portion, however, required considerable effort and a long time to separate pages stuck together and to decipher what was written. Some words had been erased or were completely illegible. I marked these places in the manuscript thus: (…missing…)” (My emphasis)

Several institutions in Prague offered to publish the manuscript, but Wolnerman refused, because he wanted to fulfill the wish of the author, Zalman Gradowski, expressed to the discoverer of the manuscript, to write to his uncle in America (whose address he possessed) in order to ask him for information on him and a photograph. Wolnerman wrote to the uncle and received confirmation of Gradowski’s identity, as well as a photograph of Gradowski with his wife. This was in 1946. In very early 1947, Wolnerman emigrated to Israel, and events prevented him from concerning himself with the manuscript. In 1953, he began looking for an editor, but without success. A copy of the manuscript remained neglected for 15 years in the Yad Vashem Archives.562 The book finally appeared in 1977.563

Hence, here as well, the arduous labor of “copying” and “deciphering” was eventually crowned with success – more than thirty years after the initial discovery of the manuscript.

Every line of the text exudes a sugary and rhetorical, sentimental “lyricism,” often bordering on the ridiculous. At first, Gradowski addressed the discoverer of his message as follows:

“Dear Reader, in these lines, you will find the tale of the sufferings and torments that we, the most unhappy creatures of this earth, have endured during the time of our ‘life’ in this hell on earth called Auschwitz-Birkenau. I imagine that, when you will read these lines, the world will already know of this place, and yet no one will be able to imagine the reality of what has happened. Some among those who will have heard, on the radio or through other media, of the barbarism practised against human beings here, will think this is only ‘Greuelpropaganda’ [atrocity propaganda; German in original]. I wish to say that everything you have heard, and that I myself have written, is not only the truth, but a small part of that which has happened here. This is a place created by bandits as a lair of extermination, of our own people first of all, but partly for other peoples as well. Auschwitz-Birkenau is one of these lairs of death, which are scattered across various locations, in which they are exterminating our people using various methods.

I am writing with the intention that at least a small part of the truth may come to the awareness of the world, and that you may demand vengeance, world, vengeance for everything!

This is the only purpose, the only significance of my existence. I live with this thought, with this hope, that perhaps these my writings will reach you and that at least part of what we aspired to in life will be realized, I and all those who are still alive, and that it was the last will of the murdered brothers and sisters of my people.” (Emphases added; Gradowski, pp. 55f.; subsequent page numbers from there unless stated otherwise.)

Like Chaim Herman, Gradowski appeals to future information which is supposed to reveal his “terrible secret” (p. 73) to the world, but it is difficult to understand who is to provide this information, since the inmate members of the “Sonderkommando,” the world’s primary source of information, said nothing of substance with the excuse that the world will have learned the “secret” from future works of Holocaust literature already anyway.

Regarding the extermination installations, he mentions “the enormous ditch” and “the immense ditch” (p. 66), singular at all times, of which he says nothing. It is not even possible to understand whether the ditch was intended for shooting or for cremations. The first interpretation seems confirmed by the fact that the victims were “already on the edge of the ditch” and then “went down into the ditch” (p. 62).

This manuscript sets forth a boring tale of the presumed gassing of the Jews from the family camp at Theresienstadt, depicted with an unbearable rhetorical emphasis. The preliminaries relate to the cremation furnaces, which “stayed lit for 3 days on end, ready to accommodate guests” (p. 78), which is a colossal load of nonsense that was later also profferred by Henryk Tauber, albeit in another context. As I have shown elsewhere, heating up the Topf triple-muffle furnaces from 20°C (room temperature) to an operating temperature of 800°C would have required a little over nine hours (Mattogno 2019, pp. 348f.). Keeping them lit for three days on end without any cremations going on would have entailed a huge waste of fuel that simply wouldn’t have happened.

This testimony continues the propaganda tradition according to which the term “bunker” did not refer to the presumed peasant cottage transformed into a gassing installation, which Gradowski knew nothing about, but rather to the “gas chamber” of Crematoria II-III. In this sense, the term reoccurs 22 times in the text, only in a few cases with the related explanation: “He didn’t want to go inside the bunker, the gas chamber” (p. 126); “The last woman had just been pushed into the bunker before the door was locked and hermetically sealed, so that not even a breath of air could enter” (p. 127); “underground bunker” (p. 129). And here is his description of the “undressing room” (p. 107):

“In the big, deep room, which is now strongly illuminated by electric light, twelve pillars support the weight of the structure. Along the walls, around the pillars, the benches and hooks on the wall are ready for the victims’ clothing. A notice attached to the first pillar, in several languages, warns new arrivals that they are now in the ‘bath,’ and that they must remove their clothes so they can be disinfected.”

To be exact, there were eleven pillars. What happened between the “undressing room” and the “bunker”? Gradowski does not explain it, but for literary reasons he introduces a non-existing area between the two rooms (p. 114):

“In the little room, which leads to the tomb, the representatives of the great power line up as if they were about to participate in a military parade. The entire Politische Abteilung is here this evening for the celebration. High-ranking officials whose faces we had not seen for these 26 months. Among them is a woman, an ‘SS’ officer, the commandant of the women’s camp. She, too, has come to be present at this great national ‘celebration,’ to witness the death of the children of our people.”

This “little room,” which led to the “tomb,” that is, to the “bunker”/gas chamber, could only be the corridor which existed between Leichenkeller 2 Morgue #2 and the Vorraum vestibule, because it provided access to Morgue #1.Leichenkeller 1 However, this corridor was too narrow (1.97 m) and too short (5 m) to permit all the members of the camp’s Political Department plus other SS officers to line up in it; nor could it have been the Vorraum vestibule, which was not a “little room.” The presumed gassing was only introduced as an “artistic” element in a sob story about a separated husband and wife who meet again inside the “bunker” (p. 136):

“And when he finally caught a glimpse of her, his heart pounding, he reached out to her, tried to push his way through to her, and started shouting her name – at that moment the gas spread into the room, and he remained transfixed in this position, his arms stretched out toward his wife, his mouth and his eyes wide open, like a madman.”

What Gradowski says is superficial and nonsensical. In his story, the gas suffused the room instantaneously (which it wouldn’t have) and petrified the victims (which it couldn’t), as if they were frozen stiff on the spot. In this regard, he dishes up two similar anecdotes that are spiced up with the usual schmaltzy rhetoric:

“Look, moon, they are arriving in pairs, the devil’s slaves, bringing the death of millions. They approach with an ‘innocent’ step toward those open eyes and pour out the mortal gas, the world’s last salute, the devil’s gift.” (p. 66)

“In the silence of the night, their steps can be heard. In the moonlight we can make out two silhouettes. They don the masks so as to be able to pour out the mortal gas. They are carrying two metallic containers with them, which will kill the thousands of victims buried down there. They approach the opposite side, on top of the bunker, in the deep hell, now they are approaching with muffled steps. They do their job calmly, coldly, confidently, as if they were carrying out a sacred duty. Their hearts are icy, their hands do not tremble, they walk towards each one of the ‘skylights’ of the underground bunker with an innocent tread, pour out the gas, after which they cover up the skylight with a heavy lid, so that the gas cannot escape. The heavy groaning of the mass of victims struggling with death can be heard from the skylight holes, but the executioners’ hearts are not softened. Deaf, silent, cold and impassive, they approach the second skylight and pour in the gas. They even approach the last skylight, and only then do they remove their masks. Then they go away, proud, happy. They have carried out their sacred duty, the great task for their people, for the fatherland. They have taken a step towards victory…” (Emphasis added; p. 129)

Therefore, the gassing was carried out using two cans of “mortal gas” thrown through various “skylights.” Gradowski knows nothing about Zyklon B, and does not indicate the number of introduction openings, which he refers to in such a “poetically” silly way.

Gradowski describes the opening of the gas-chamber doors as follows (p. 140):

“With trembling hands, our brothers turn the levers and release four bolts. Two doors open, of two immense tombs. An atrocious stench of death fills the area.”

If the gas-tight door equipped with peephole found in the Bauhof564 after the war was supposed to belong to the “gas chamber” of Crematoria II or III, then in that case there were two levers on the door but no bolts at all. The presumed gas chamber, Morgue #1Leichenkeller 1, as is well known, had one single door which, if we follow the orthodox narrative, had only one leaf. Hence, the reference to “two doors” is clearly wrong. Finally, a large number of freshly asphyxiated people does not exude any “atrocious stench of death.” If this is a reference to the smell of the poison gas used (which had only a very faint, not unpleasant smell most people cannot even detect), which could allegedly be smelled when the “doors” were opened, this means that those smelling this “stench” cannot possibly have worn any gas masks, which is absurd.

What did the bodies look like? The witness writes (p. 111):

“From this finely sculpted nose – two rivulets of mucous will drip – red, yellow or white. And this pink face – due to the effects of the gas will turn reddish, purplish or black.”

The only correct color for victims of hydrogen-cyanide poisoning – pinkish – was clearly a random choice, as it was mentioned together with purplish and black, which have nothing to do with hydrogen-cyanide poisonings.

As for the cremation of the bodies, Gradowski says (p. 111):

“And, like a filthy, disgusting piece of carrion, it will be thrown onto the freight elevator, to hell, and sent to the furnaces, up there – and in a few minutes these bodies, still of flesh, will be reduced to ashes.” (My emphasis)

As is explained later, the cremation of the bodies of two adults and one child required only “a few minutes,” a crazy claim, to say the least. Further along and in contrast to this, the witness introduces the canonical duration of 20 minutes for a cremation, which is only a little less crazy (p. 144):

“The entire process lasted twenty minutes – and a body, a world, is reduced to ashes.”

Gradowski goes on to state (p. 145):

“Thirty infernal mouths blaze, at this moment, in the two large structure, and devour the numberless victims. It will not take much time for these five thousand human beings, these five thousand worlds, to be consumed by the flames.”

In effect, to cremate 5,000 bodies, the 30 muffles of Crematoria II and III would have taken eight days of continual operation!

The description of the corpses’ transportation to the ground floor of the building, of the cremation technology, and of the combustion phases of the bodies are quite correct (p. 143):

“At this point, the body is ready for the freight elevators [plural, sic]. Two men throw them like logs onto the platform, and when there are 7-8 of them, the signal is given by a blow with a stick, and the freight elevator takes off.”

Even as late as 1944, Crematorium II was equipped only with the small initial freight elevator running in a space measuring 2.76 m × 1.43 m, and with a carrying capacity of 300 kg, corresponding to the weight of 7-8 malnourished inmates (the so-called “Muselmänner” – “muslims”). Since Gradowski allocated the gassing of 2,500 people to this crematorium (see further below), the freight elevator would have had to make at least 312 round trips to get all these victims into the furnace hall! Assuming a time of five minutes for each journey (loading the corpses, ascending, unloading, descending; see Mattogno 2019, pp. 47-51), these 312 journeys would have taken 26 hours!

Gradowski even mentions an iron loading device he calls “taharah-bret,” which the editors of the book clumsily explained as follows (fn 29, p. 150):

“The author uses the traditional Jewish term taharah-bret (table of purification), used during the burial ritual to support the body, after which it is bathed with warm water before being wrapped in the shroud.”

In fact, only the first term is Hebrew, and does in fact mean purification; “bret,” by contrast, is derived from the German “Brett”: “Leichenbrett,” body board or stretcher, was in fact one of the names for one type of furnace-loading equipment. The source/authors of the account signed by Gradowski had probably really formed part of the crematorium personnel, but that is only an aggravating circumstance, because in that case he lied deliberately.

Most of the report is dedicated to the presumed gassing of the Familienlager family camp, hence of Jews deported to Auschwitz from the Theresienstadt Ghetto. The tale is rhetorical and tedious, with cues of “heroism” ending up in the ridiculous. For many pages, Gradowski not only describes at great length and in great detail the vicissitudes of individual male and female inmates, both known and unknown, but he sounds their innermost thoughts and emotions, no matter how private, as if he were a sort of universal ego capable of distinctly perceiving the ego of every deportee, and as if he possessed an all-seeing eye, capable of seeing through the walls of the barracks. Every story is introduced with a disarming triteness (pp. 81, 82, 84, 88, 89):

“A young girl hardly 16 years old is locked up down there….”

“Another is locked up down there. She is twenty years old….”

“Down there is a desperate, appalled young woman, clutches a child to her breast….”

“Here, down there, a mother, rendered grim, not by age, but by her thoughts….”

“Down there is a young man, his head slumped, afflicted and desperate for his young beloved, his fiancée, with whom he was still together, the vigil….”

“Down there is a young father, immersed in his desperation….”

“Down there is a mother with her own son, immersed in despair and pain, and here, in another grave, lies a father, his heart full of love, who would like to run to help them, but who is no longer able…”

For Gradowski, the gassing of the Familienlager Jews lodged in the family camp concerned 5,000 persons (pp. 77, 90, 93), 2,500 in Crematorium II and an equal number in Crematorium III. As I have shown elsewhere, this story is a mere fabrication (Mattogno 2016a, pp. 144-167). Danuta Czech dates the event on March 8, 1944, and claims that there were 3,791 victims (1989, S. 736/1990, p. 595).

In order to introduce the above-quoted scene of the two spouses who meet again in the gas chamber, Gradowski invented the following antecedent (p. 135):

“Heart-breaking scenes occurred when a certain number of women, for whom there was insufficient room in Crematorium I[I], were carried in with the men.”

Without entering into details, we know that there were 2,978 men in the Familienlager Family Camp alive and kicking on February 15, 1944, and 1,478 men on April 20, meaning that 1,500 men went missing (Mattogno 2016a, p. 286, Table 5); if 3,791 persons were gassed according to Czech, and the 1,500 missing men were part of that number, then the number of women gassed amounted, in round numbers, to ca. (3,791–1,500≈) 2,300. For Gradowski, 2,500 Jewesses were gassed in Crematorium II, followed by a “a certain number” of women in Crematorium III together with the men. The antecedent anecdote is therefore merely a literary expedient.

The story of the gassing is riddled with gross rhetorics of the resistance. The women began to parade past the SS officers lined up “in the little room,” among them a little 9-year-old girl (p. 115):

“Behind them comes the mother, who stops suddenly, turns toward the officials, and begins to address them with unheard-of courage:

[‘]Murderers, bandits, criminals without shame! Today, you’re going to kill us, innocent women and children. And then you’ll blame us, the unarmed and defenseless, for starting the war! It’s us, me, and my child, we started this war! Be careful, you robbers! You believe you can use our blood to cover up your failure at the front. But you’re going to lose this war. You know very well, how many serious defeats you suffer every day on the Eastern front. Think about it, you rascals! You can do anything you want, now, without worrying about it, but the day of vengeance will come! Great Russia will win, and will avenge us! We’ll tear you to pieces! Our brothers from all over the world will give you no peace, until they have revenged our innocent blood![’]”

All the other women gave proof of their heroic courage as well (p. 114):

“The march, the march to their deaths, has begun. They march proudly, with a decisive, strong and courageous step, as if they were marching towards life. They do not even weaken when they come to the last room, the last corner, where the last act of their lives will be played out.”

Another woman stands out for her pride (p. 117):

“They continue to parade, row after row, of naked young women. And again, the marching suddenly stops. A splendid blonde young girl stops and she, too, turns towards the bandits:

[‘]You horrendous criminals! You devour me with your greedy eyes, you ogle the nakedness of my seductive body. Of course, this is your moment. In civilian life you could never even have hoped for such a spectacle. You, shameless criminals, have found yourselves the perfect lair, here, to satisfy your perversion. But you will not enjoy this pleasure for very long. The game will soon be up for you, you will not succeed in exterminating all the Jews. You will pay for everything.[’] Suddenly she leaps forward and slaps Oberscharführer Vost, kapo, commanding officer of the crematoria, three times across the face. A rain of truncheon blows showers down upon her shoulders. She enters the bunker with her head broken, covered in blood.”

Once they are all inside the gas chamber, the women sing all verses, in order, of “The Internationale,” “the national anthem of the great Russian people” (p. 119), the Tikva, the “Jewish anthem” (p. 122), and the “anthem of the Czechoslovakian people”! (p. 124)

The editors of the book explain that “Ha-tiqwah, ‘Hope,’ was the national anthem of the Zionist movement and of the State of Israel after it was founded” (fn 22, p. 150). Why would Czech Jews have known and sung the Zionist anthem? The explanation is supplied indirectly by Gradowski himself (p. 122):

“This anthem reminds them that the ancient people of martyrdom, the people of Israel, will survive and will rebuild their own country on earth within the near future.”

All this can be explained on the reasonable assumption that this entire fairy tale was concocted after the founding of the state of Israel.

I shall skip the improbable reactions of the “group of high-ranking officials,” who witnessed such heroism in dismay.

The manpower of the “Sonderkommando,” at the time of this particular claimed gassing, was 140 inmates, after 200 are said to have been transferred (p. 92). In this regard, Gradowski states (p. 171):

“200 of our brothers were snatched away from us, whisked away to an unknown, mysterious and frightening destination.” (My emphasis)

This is supposed to refer to the inmates presumably transferred to the Lublin-Majdanek Camp.

These 140 inmates were subdivided into two Kommandos of 70 men each (p. 98), one servicing Crematorium II, and the other Crematorium III. The total manpower, as we shall soon see, was 191 men; there were, therefore, 52 inmates at Crematoria IV and V. These crematoria are never mentioned in the manuscript, however.

In the chapter titled “The Painful Roll Call,” Gradowski tells the following tale (pp. 183f.):565

“They sent us back into the courtyard, where the cruel separation had taken place. They lined us up for the first tragic roll call. The purpose was to carry out an official check of the number of workers remaining, and the operation carried out on our organism must be confirmed and ratified. As always, we line up in lines of 10, taking up half the courtyard. The other half is occupied by death. You feel it, you smell it, you touch it with your hand. This morning, at the first roll call, like every day, [your companion] was still here, and now, in his place, there is a void; nothing remained but a grave. […]

They are starting to count us – the count was correct. The operation reduced our unit by more than half. There were only 191 of us left now. […]

At this time we say our last goodbye. If you could lend an ear, you would hear the last wishes of the 191 remaining members [of the Sonderkommando], to be able to accompany the two hundred fifty [already] set aside, to escort the brothers down there, on their path, where the devil is taking them, who knows where.”

To what event does this narrative refer? The editors of the book remain prudently silent. The context appears to conjure up images of the first mentioned separation, but in that case there were 200 inmates, not 250. It is clear that Gradowski did not know anything about the transfer of these 200 or 250 inmates from the “Sonderkommando” to Lublin-Majdanek: neither the date, nor the destination.


	2.5.3. Leib Langfus

In April 1945, a resident of the city of Auschwitz found a glass jar containing a manuscript in Yiddish in the ruins of Crematorium III; the jar was only handed over to the Auschwitz Museum on November 5, 1970, however (honit soit qui mal y pense…). The manuscript was a 109-page notebook written in fountain pen, plus two other pages separate from the rest, originating from two different notebooks. This document does not appear in the Polish edition of the manuscripts of the members of the “Sonderkommando,” which appeared in 1971, and there is not even a reference to it in the preface to the book by Jadwyga Bezwińska and Danuta Czech, as if the manuscript were still unknown to the Auschwitz Museum at the time. The 1992 English edition also does not contain that entry, probably because this translation relied on the 1971 Polish original without giving concern to more-recent discoveries. It was only published in the German 1996 edition, in a translation by Roman Pytel. The manuscript is attributed to Leib Langfus. The first 99 pages are quite irrelevant from the point of view of the present study, because they simply provide a rather verbose account of the background to the deportation, and the deportation from Mława itself. The related transport is said to have arrived at Auschwitz on December 6, 1942. The Kalendarium Auschwitz Chronicle has an entry for it with claimed registration numbers assigned to the inmates on a transport, but she gives no source for this (Czech 1989, S. 352/1990, p. 280). Unfortunately, the text of the following pages (100-105), those which explain the scenario of the few elements set forth below, “ist unleserlich” “is illegible” (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, fn 35, p. 124), so that we must content ourselves with the account on p. 106 of the manuscript, which describes a gassing of unknown victims at an unknown location on an undisclosed date (ibid., p. 124):

“Es wurden so viele hineingepreßt, [wie nur ging]. Schwer, sich auch nur vorzustellen, daß in einen so kleinem [Raum] so viele Menschen Platz fanden. Derjenige, der nicht hineingehen wollte, wurde wegen [Widerstand] erschossen oder von Hunden zerfleischt. Im Laufe von einigen Stunden hätten sie aus Luftmangel ersticken können. Dann wurden die Türen hermetisch verschlossen und durch eine kleine Luke in der Decke Gas hineingeworfen.”

“As many people were crammed in [as possible]. It’s difficult to imagine that you could fit so many people in such a small [room]. Those who didn’t want to go in there, were shot for [resistance] or torn to pieces by dogs. Over the course of a few hours, they could have suffocated from lack of oxygen. The doors were then hermetically sealed, and then gas was thrown in through a small hatch in the ceiling.”

A long footnote by the editors outlines the history of the “bunker” at Birkenau (ibid., fn 37, p. 125), therefore, Bezwińska and Czech want the reader to understand that the above-mentioned text refers precisely to the “bunker”: but to which one of the two? They do not dare take a position in this regard, because the text in question contradicts what they are writing in their note: the manuscript in fact speaks of one single, small room, but “in Bunker 1 befanden sich zwei Gaskammern; in Bunker 2 waren es vier” “there were two gas chambers in Bunker 1; there were four in Bunker 2.” Moreover, the little Zyklon-B-introduction ports – four in “Bunker 1” and five in “Bunker 2” (Piper 2000, pp. 135, 139) – must have been located in the walls, while there was only “eine kleine Luke in der Decke” “a small hatch in the ceiling” according to Langfus.

We then learn that “das Gas” “the gas” – which gas is never specified – entered the lungs of the victims, including, surprisingly, a few “arbeitsfähige Menschen” “people fit for work,” and they all died in a rather curious manner (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, pp. 125f.):

“Sterbend fielen – wegen des großen Gedränges – die einen auf die anderen, bis ein Haufen von fünf und sechs übereinanderliegender Schichten entstand, der bis zu einem Meter Höhe reichte.”

“While dying, they fell on top of each other, due to the overcrowding, forming a pile of five or six layers [of bodies], all lying on top of each other, up to as much as a meter high.”

Bezwińska and Czech note that, based on the story, we must deduce that “der Verfasser selbst an all dem teilgenommen hat, es mit eigenen Augen sah und persönlich als einer der ins Sonderkommando eingegliederten Häftlinge erlebte” “the writer personally participated in all this, that he saw it all with his own eyes, and experienced it as one of the inmates integrated into the Sonderkommando” (ibid., fn 38, p. 126). Hence, the author would have been a true and proper eye-witness, but this is refuted by his description of the bodies (ibid., p. 126):

“Ein Teil der Menschen war unter Einfluß des Gases ganz blau angelaufen, andere sahen vollständig frisch aus, als ob sie schliefen.”

“Some of the people turned quite blue under the influence of the gas, while others looked completely fresh, as if they were sleeping.”

But it is in well-known that victims of poisoning by hydrogen cyanide turn “eine kirschrote Farbe” “a cherry-red color” (Trunk, p. 28; Rudolf 2020b, pp. 228-230).

The tale continues as follows (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, p. 126):

“Nicht alle hatten im Bunker Platz gefunden; ein Teil hielt man in einer Holzbaracke bis zum nächsten Tag um elf Uhr zurück.”

“Not all of them could fit into the bunker; some of them were kept back in a wooden barracks until eleven o’clock the next day.”

The term “bunker,” here used in the orthdoxically correct sense – that is, indicating a provisional gassing installation with separate undressing facility – will be discussed in greater detail below.

As far as one can tell, Langfus did not even know that there were supposed to be two “bunkers,” because he always uses the word in the singular, and moreover asserts some of the victims could not fit into the small gas chamber and were left in a barracks waiting for it to be emptied and available again. For Szlama Dragon, the eyewitness par excellence for the “bunkers,” “Bunker 1” could hold 2,000 persons, while “Bunker 2” held at least 2,500,566 for a total of 4,500. There was therefore no need to gas them in two batches in the same “bunker.”

According to Langfus, the “Sonderkommando” was subdivided into four groups (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, pp. 126f.):

“Die erste Gruppe ging, nach Anlegen von Gasmasken, in den Bunker und warf von dort die Körper von der Tür bis zu den Schienen, auf denen kleine, rahmenlose Waggons standen. Die nächste Gruppe lud die Körper auf Waggons – sogenannte Loren – und schob sie bis zu einem Punkt, wo eine riesige, breite und tiefe Grube ausgegraben war, die [von allen Seiten] mit Klötzen, Balken und ganzen Bäumen ausgelegt war. Man [goß] Benzin hinein und ein Höllenfeuer schlug heraus […]. Dort stand die vierte Gruppe und warf die Menschen ins Feuer.”

“After putting their gas masks on, the first group entered the bunker and threw the bodies from the doorway to the railway track, on which small, frameless carts stood. The next group loaded the bodies onto the carts – so-called drams – and pushed them to a place where a gigantic, wide and deep pit had been dug, filled [from all sides] with blocks, beams and entire trees. Gasoline [was poured] in it, and a huge blaze shot up in the air […]. There stood the fourth group and threw the people into the fire.”

For Dragon, there were seven squads: the first, with 12 inmates, was responsible for removing the bodies; the second, with 30, for loading the bodies onto the little carts; the third, with 10 inmates, for pushing the trolleys; the fourth, with 20, for unloading the bodies from the carts into the pits; the fifth, with 28, for transporting wood for the fires; the sixth, with two inmates, for extracting gold teeth from the bodies; the seventh, with another two inmates, for cutting their hair.567

For Langfus, there was one single pit, into which they threw the bodies when the pit was already ablaze, which is obviously absurd, because it would have been impossible to approach the edge of such a pit due to the radiation of intense heat. For Dragon, there were four pits near “Bunker 1” and 6 near “Bunker 2” (see Chapter 5.3.).

The witness assures us that “vom ganzen Transport blieb nur ein kleiner Haufen verbrannter Knochen, den man zur Seite warf” “a small pile of burnt bone was all that was left of the entire transport, which was thrown aside” (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, p. 127). Since the ash content of a 70-kg human body is approximately 3.5 kg, as stated above, and the specific weight is approximately 0.5, the little pile, assuming a transport of 1,500 people, all of whom were gassed, would have measured over 10 cubic meters, plus all the intermingled ashes and charcoaled remains of the fire wood.

The ashes, “ein kleiner Haufen” “a little pile,” were never thrown into the Vistula, however, as the orthodox narrative has it, but into a pit:

“Danach wurde sie hinausgeworfen und verstreut und dann mit [Erde] bedeckt, wonach auf der eingeebneten Oberfläche [Bäume] gesetzt wurde. Es sollte auch nicht die geringste Spur von menschlichem Leben übriggeblieben” “They were then thrown out and scattered and then covered with [earth], after which [trees] were planted on the levelled surface. Not the slightest trace of human life was permitted to remain.” (ibid., pp. 127f.)

Quite a nonsensical procedure, as noted earlier.


	2.5.4. An “Unknown Author”

With regard to this group of manuscripts, there are disagreements between Ber Mark and the Auschwitz Museum, which they ought to clarify.

In the summer of 1952, a 58-page notebook written in Yiddish was found on the site of Crematorium III. The author remains unknown, but Ber Mark identifies him as Leib Langfus. In the German translation, Mark asserts that the original is located at the Jewish Historical Institute at Warsaw, but a footnote by Bezwińska and Czech states that the Institute in question had assured them that it did not possess the manuscript (ibid., p. 176). In the Polish translation, the following notice appears at the end of this entry (Bezwińska/Czech 1971, p. 118):

“Deciphered and translated from Yiddish by Prof. Bernard Mark. Checked against a photocopy of the original, and supplemented by Dr. Roman Pytel.” (My emphasis)

In the French edition of the manuscripts, Ber Mark attributes five documents to Leib Langfus (Mark, pp. 245-264):

– “Journal I”

– “Sadism”

– “Journal II”

– “Les 600 garçons” “The 600 boys”

– “Les 3000 nues” “The 3000 nudes”

– a list of the presumed gassings carried out in the crematoria at Birkenau between October 9 and 24, 1944.

In the German translation, by contrast, Langfus is identified only as the author of the manuscript mentioned at the outset.

For the Auschwitz Museum, moreover, the manuscripts “The 600 boys” “Die 600 Knaben” and “3,000 naked people” “Die 3000 Nackten” are works by Salmen Lewental (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 250f., 215-220/1992, pp. 177f. (without headline), 142-146). The manuscripts known as “Journal I” and “Journal II” are works by the “Unbekannter Autor” “unknown author,” while the list of transports does not appear at all.

The most-surprising thing is that the manuscripts “Journal I” and “Journal II,” a chronicle of events between October 14 and November 26, 1944, are attributed explicitly by Ber Mark to an “Unbekannter Autor” “unknown author,” while the titles are given as “Einzelheiten” “Particulars” and “Notizen” “Notes”!

Langfus is still considered by the Auschwitz Museum to be the author of the manuscript “Sadisme,” which has not, however, been published, because the related pages “Bełżec betreffen und keinerlei Bedeutung für das Thema Auschwitz haben” deal “with Belzec” and have “no significance for Auschwitz matters” (ibid., S. 175f./p. 111).

This text had already been published in Polish in 1954 in an article titled “In the Abysses of Crime (Chronicle of Auschwitz by an Unknown Author)” (“W otchłani zbrodni…”). It contains three texts: “Urywki” (“Fragments”), corresponding to the text “Particulars” published by the Auschwitz Museum (ibid. S. 179-184/pp. 114-120), but without the initial paragraph; “Sadysm. W latach 1940-1941” (“Sadism in the Years 1940-1941”), which is about Bełżec; and “Notatki,” which corresponds to the manuscript “Notes.”

In 1972, the Auschwitz Museum published a manuscript with the title “Wysiedlenie,” which became “Aussiedlung” (“Resettlement”) in the subsequent German edition. The author is identified only as “Lejb,” with no indication as to last name. The list of gassings was reproduced as a document in the 1971 Polish translation, but without transcription or discussion (Bezwińska/Czech 1971, p. 124).

In the manuscript titled “Einzelheiten” “Particulars,” the narration begins with the arrival of the Jewish transports from the ghettoes of Będzin and Sosnowiec in August 1943. A rabbi “in den Auskleideraum und dann in den Bunker” “entered the undressing-room and then the bunker” (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 177/1992, p. 112). A footnote by Bezwińska and Czech in the German edition warns us that this was “eine der ersten, provisorischen Gaskammern” “one of the first, provisional gas chambers” (1996, fn 2, p. 177), but that is an error. The Polish and English translations simply state that it was a “Gas chamber” (1992, fn 2, p. 112). According to the current orthodox narrative, after Crematoria II and IV became operational in March 1943, both “bunkers” were put out of service: “Bunker 1” was demolished, and “Bunker 2” was reactivated only in May 1944. It is therefore clear that even the unknown author referred to the gas chambers of Crematoria II and III with the term “bunker.” This also may be inferred from the term “Auskleideraum” “undressing-room” rather than undressing hut or barracks.

This is followed by a number of rather improbable anecdotes which are not supported by the Kalendarium von Auschwitz Chronicle, starting with the alleged shooting of 200 “junge, ungarische Juden” “young Hungarian Jews” (101 for Mark, p. 246), therefore fit for labor, in Crematorium III (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, p. 178/1992, p. 112). Bezwińska and Czech provide no clarification in this regard.

“Gegen Ende des Jahres 1943” “[M]ore or less late in the year 1943,” the following persons arrived at Auschwitz: 164 Poles, including 12 girls, all members of an underground organization. They were sent to the gas chamber (“bunker,” in the French text; Mark, p. 247) of one of the crematoria (we don’t know which one), followed by several hundred Dutch Jews. A group of SS officers were present at the execution. Suddenly, a Polish Jewess delivered an indignant speech against the SS, after which the victims sang, in order, the Hatikva and the Internationale! (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 179/1992, pp. 114f.) This is clearly the same fabulous anecdote which Gradowski attributes to the gassing of the Czech Jews from the Familienlager family camp a few months afterwards.

While they sang, “das Gas wurde in die Kammer geworfen” “gas was thrown into the chamber” (ibid., p. 115, S. 179f.), and this is all we learn from this text about the claimed murder weapon and its alleged operation. In this case as well, the Polish editors of the book provide no further explanation.

At the end of the summer of 1944, a Jewish transport arrived from Slovakia, which was taken to the “bunker.” While the deportees went “aus dem Entkleideraum in den Gasbunker” “from the undressing-room to the bunker” (ibid.; “Gasbunker” in the German edition; 1996, p. 180), a woman said: “Und vielleicht wird uns doch noch ein Wunder geschehen!” “Will perhaps a miracle happen, after all!” (1992, p. 115) A memorable sentiment, worthy to appear in the annals of history! The Auschwitz Museum obviously knows nothing of all this.

At the end of the summer of 1943, the text claims that a transport was taken from Tarnów. According to the related footnote, this occurred on September 2, 1943 (ibid., fn 12). According to Danuta Czech, the transport which arrived on that date departed from Bochnia, located approximately 49 km east of Krakow, while Tarnów is located approximately 50 km east of Bochnia.568 But that’s not the only problem. Of the 3,000 Jews who arrived, 2,170 were presumably gassed (Czech 1989, S. 593/1990, pp. 477f.). Of this atrocious event (if it was real), Langfus recorded one unique detail for history: the usual rhetorical speech, this time from a preacher! During the 1944 Pesach (Passover), a transport is claimed to have arrived from the French camp at Vittel. Before being gassed, a rabbi named Mosze Friedman supposedly addressed an SS Obersturmführer with the usual rhetorical protestations, but here as well, that is all we learn about the particulars of the claimed crime (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 180/1992, p. 116). In 1944, the eight days of Pesach lasted from April, 8 to 15; the only transport that reached Auschwitz from France around that time was that of April 16. This was the 71st transport, but it originated from the Drancy Camp. Of the 1,500 deportees, 1,112 were allegedly gassed (Czech 1989, S. 757/1990, p. 612). In his presentation of the respective transport list, Klarsfeld does not claim that all of the deportees, or even any of them, originated from the Vittel Camp, and the list does not contain the name of any Mosze Friedman.569

The “Unbekannter Autor” “unknown author” then mentions a transport from Koszyce Košice which presumably arrived at the end of 1944 (for B. Mark, “vers la fin de mai” “towards the end of May 1944”; Mark, p. 249), of which the Auschwitz Chronicle knows nothing. In this context, the “Unbekannter Autor” “unknown author” only reports the claimed memorable statements of a rabbi’s wife (the usual indignant rhetoric; Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 181f./1992, p. 118).

At the end of 1943, a transport allegedly reached the camp from Siauliai (in German: Schaulen), in Lithuania. A footnote by B. Mark explains that this was the ghetto of Siauliai, which was then liquidated (ibid., fn 20, S. 182). In this case as well, Bezwińska and Czech clumsily attempt to conceal the fact that no Jewish transport arrived at Auschwitz from this locality. In Auschwitz legendry, as I have shown earlier, the anecdote refers to the 300 Jewish children who, according to the “Periodic Report for the Period between September 1, 1944 and September 20, 1944. Special communiqué,” are said to have been deported to Auschwitz from Krosno on September 12, 1944. In Czech’s Kalendarium Auschwitz Chronicle, the date remains unchanged, but the transport is said to have departed from Kaunas (Czech 1989, S. 874/1990, p. 707), perhaps because she thought it refers to the locality of Krosna, which is approximately 60 km from Kaunas. The Polish text of the message says “Krosna,” but this is the genitive of Krosno, which refers to a city located in south-eastern Poland, approximately 320 km from Krakow. In fact, in Polish, the name for Kaunas is Kowno. At any rate, the Unbekannter Autor unknown author evidently reports this claimed event only as a pretext to recall another “heroic” anecdote: “ein kleines Mädchen von fünf Jahre” “a girl of five [years of age]” (in the French translation “de huit ans”; Mark, p. 249) addresses herself to the head of the “Sonderkommando” (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 182/1992, p. 119):

“‘Weg, du jüdischer Mörder! Lege deine mit jüdischem Blut befleckte Hand nicht auf meinen Brüderchen! Ich bin jetzt sein gutes Mütterchen und es wird auf meinen Armen mit mir sterben’ - Daneben steht ein ungefähr sieben- oder achtjährige Knabe und läßt sich folgendermaßen hören: ‘Du bist ein Jude und führst solch liebe Kinder ins Gas - nur damit du selbst leben kannst? Ist dir dein Leben unter dieser Mordbande wirklich mehr wert, als das Leben so viele jüdischer Opfer?’”

“‘Be gone, you Jewish murderer! Don’t lay your hand, dripping with Jewish blood, upon my lovely brother! I am his good mummy, he will die in my arms, together with me.’ – A boy of seven or eight stood beside her and spoke thus, ‘Why, you are a Jew and you lead such dear children to the gas – only in order to live? Is your life among the band of murderers really dearer to you than the lives of so many Jewish victims?’”

From all this we must conclude, among other things, that the “terrible secret” of Auschwitz was perfectly well known even to children five to eight years of age!

The anecdote of the invectives and speeches by the victims, of which I have provided several examples already earlier, presuppose, among other things, the existence of an appropriately trained squad of inmate interpreters and stenographers in the “Sonderkommando” translating and recording these memorable sayings for posterity!

The following anecdote, which is even more ridiculous, is situated “am Anfang des Jahres 1943” “at the beginning of 1943.” The “Kammer” “gas chamber” (“bunker” in the French text; Mark, p. 250) was packed full, and yet, incredibly, only “ein jüdischer Knabe war draußengeblieben” “one Jewish boy remained outside”: what “gas chamber”? When? Where? It is useless to look for answers in this series of imaginary narrations. An Unterscharführer, obviously anonymous, massacred him with blows, leaving him wallowing in his own blood, but suddenly he arose and “und machte sich ruhig und schweigend daran, seinen grausamen Mörder mit seinem kindlichen Blick zu betrachten. Der Unterscharführer begann zynisch laut zu lachen, zog seinen Revolver hervor und erschoß den Knaben” “all of a sudden the maltreated boy, who had been lying motionless, jumped to his feet and began to regard, quietly and silently, his cruel murderer with his childish gaze. The Untercharführer burst into loud, cynical laughter, took out his revolver and shot the boy” (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 182f./1992, p. 119).

Hauptscharführer Moll placed four persons in line, one behind another, and killed them “mit eine Serie von Schüssen” “with one series of shots transfixed them all,” but in the French text, with one single shot! (“d’un seul coup”).

The Unbekannter Autor unknown author reports other fundamental facts for Holocaust historiography: When a transport arrived, Scharführer Forst (Oberscharführer in the French text; Mark, p. 250), a person who never existed – although Bezwińska and Czech do not say so – , stood “im Tor des Entkleidungsraum und betastete das Geschlechtsorgan jeder jungen Frau, die nackt in die Gaskammer (“dans le bunker de gazage”; ibid.) vorbeiging” “at the gate of the undressing-room in the case of many transports and felt the sexual organ of each young woman that was passing naked to the gas chamber (“dans le bunker de gazage”; ibid.). But it also happened that “deutsche SS-Männer jedes Grades ihren Finger in das Geschlechtsorgan von jungen, hübschen Mädchen stecken” “German SS men of all ranks put fingers into the sexual organs of pretty young girls” (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 183/1992, p. 119).

The last anecdote takes place at the “Ende des Jahres 1942” “end of the summer of 1942” when a Jewish transport is said to have arrived from Przemyśl. Here, incredibly, footnote 23 by Ber Mark warns us that the information is incorrect, because the transport in question arrived in September 1943. The deportees, the unknown author claims, were in possession of daggers, with which they proposed to attack the SS, but their leader, a physician, dissuaded them, hoping that he would be saved, but he had to go with them all “in den Bunker” “into the bunker” (ibid., S. 184/pp. 119f.).

The manuscript “Sadism. In 1940-1941” is about the Bełżec Camp. Among other things, we read there (Mark, p. 253):

“Later, when the Germans have penetrated deeply into Russia, eight large barracks were built in the forest, in which they installed tables and benches; there, the Jews from Lublin, Lvov and other districts were crammed in together and electrocuted.”

Naturally, all this information was supplied by the usual eye-witnesses, who, we know neither how nor why, instead of being “electrocuted” at Bełżec, became members of the Sonderkommando of the crematoria at Birkenau! (ibid.) Ber Mark in fact assures us that these presumed events “are related according to the testimonies of different deportees transferred to Auschwitz and Birkenau after the crushing of the rebellion at Belzec” (Mark, p. 184) The problem is that there was never any rebellion at Bełżec, and electrocution as a method of mass murder, although claimed for Bełżec by many early sources, is today summarily rejected as untrue (see Mattogno 2016h on Bełżec).

The manuscript headlined “Notizen” “Notes” is a chronicle of events occurring between October 14 and November 26, 1944, but in fact only the events of three days are recorded (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 184f./1992, pp. 120, 122):

– October 14: beginning of demolition of the walls of Crematorium IV by the inmates of the “Sonderkommando”;

– October 20: transport of documents from the camp, to be burned;

– November 25: beginning of demolition of Crematorium II, followed by that of Crematorium III; dismantling of the “gegenventilatorischen Motor sowie die Rohre” “ventilating motor and pipes,” intended for Mauthausen and Gross-Rosen.

The author of the chronicle warns us:

“Da diese zum Vergasen von Menschen in größeren Ausmaße dienen, und es in den Krematorien IV und V überhaupt keine solchen Mechanismus gab, läßt dies die Vermutung aufkommen, daß man auf dem Terrain jener Lager ebensolche Punkte zur Vernichtung der Juden anlegen wird.”

“Since they serve to gas people on a larger scale, as there were no mechanical appliances of that kind at all in crematoria IV and V, suspicion is aroused that on the terrain of those camps [Mauthausen and Gross-Rosen] identical points for the extermination of Jews will be established.”

Leaving aside the curious translation of “motor przeciw wentylacyjny” as “gegenventilatorischer Motor”; the French version says simply “le moteur et la tuyauterie de l'aération” – “the motor and ventilation pipes”),

The ventilation system in the presumed gas chamber in Crematoria II and III consisted of two ventilators – one for Belüftung air intake, the other for Entlüftung the exhaust570 – with associated motor, a fact obviously unknown to the author of the manuscript. This system was already planned for Leichenkeller Morgue #1 long before its claimed transformation into a gas chamber. It was standard equipment for morgues of this kind. Hence, claiming that this morgue was essentially or predominantly used for mass murder based on that ventilation system is simply an enormous bit of foolery. According to this logic, Crematoria IV and V could not be used for gassings, since they lacked any such “Mechanismus” “mechanical appliances,” which is factually true but flies in the face of the current orthodox narrative.

The “Notes” continue by claiming that there exist other buried manuscripts, including that of Leib Langfus, examined earlier, with a surprising editorial request (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 185/1992, p. 122):

“Ich bitte, alles zusammen zu ordnen und unter dem Titel ‘Inmitten des grauenvollen Verbrechens’ zu veröffentlichen.”

“I ask to have them all jointly put in order and publish them under the title ‘Amidst a Nightmare of Crime’.”

This passage does not appear in the first Polish translation of the manuscript published in 1954, but the translator, always Ber Mark, assures us that the Polish equivalent of this title, “W otchłani zbrodni” (“In the Abysses of Crime”) is the title of the three manuscripts published by him at that time (“Urywki” (“Einzelheiten” “Particulars”) “Sadysm. W latach 1940-1941” and “Notatki” (“Notizen” “Notes”; “W otchłani zbrodni…”, p. 303). The 1971 Polish edition, by contrast, contains the passage in question with the title “Wśród koszmarnej zbrodni” (“Amidst a Nightmarish Crime”; Bezwińska/Czech 1971, p. 118), of which the title of the English edition is an appropriate translation: Amidst a Nightmare of Crime.

Another oddity of the text is the fact that it attributes two different dates to the word “today”: “Heute, am 25. November” “Today, November 25” (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 184/1992, p. 120); “Heute ist der 26. November 1944” “Today, November 26” (ebd., S. 185ibid., p. 122). The first Polish translation contains the same anomaly: “Dziś, 25 listopada”; “Dziś, 26 listopada 1944” (“W otchłani zbrodni…”, p. 309).

From the orthodox point of view, the most-important manuscript of the entire corpus of manuscripts is undoubtedly the list of presumed gassing victims. Considering the enormous importance attributed to it – at least by the Auschwitz Museum – I shall examine it in a detailed manner.

The list in question571 was handwritten in five columns, giving: date, number of victims, victim group, origin, number of the crematorium. As regards gender, the presumed victims are broken down first of all into men (“m.” = mężczyźni) and women (“kob.” = kobiety), then children (dzieci) and family (Fam.[ilien], in German). This should be kept in mind, because every group was lodged in a different sector of the Birkenau Camp, and very diverse documentation exists on all this. I will explain the other abbreviations in footnotes. The list contains 27 entries ranging from October 9 to 24, 1944. I shall first provide the translation of the list (the numbering of the Crematoria is 1-4 = II-V in today’s numbering); the sixth column contains dates from the Kalendarium Auschwitz Chronicle. The header row with column names was added by me:


	
		
				
dd.mm.


				
# Victims


				
Victim Type


				
origin


				
Krema


				
#Czech


		

		
				
9.10.


				
2,000


				
Camp


				
German572


				
K 1


				
 


		

		
				
9.10.


				
2,000


				
Families


				
Theresienstadt573


				
K 1


				
2,000


		

		
				
9.10.


				
2,000


				
Women


				
Camp C574


				
K 4


				
2,000


		

		
				
10.10.


				
800


				
Children


				
Gypsy


				
K 4


				
800


		

		
				
11.10.


				
2,000


				
Families


				
Slovakia


				
K 2


				
2,000


		

		
				
12.10.


				
3,000


				
Women


				
Camp C


				
K 1


				
3,000


		

		
				
12.10.


				
 


				
 


				
Theresienstadt


				
 


				
(1,419)


		

		
				
13.10.


				
3,000


				
Women


				
Camp C


				
K 2


				
3,000


		

		
				
13.10.


				
2,000


				
Families


				
Theresienstadt


				
K 1


				
2,000


		

		
				
14.10.


				
3,000


				
Families


				
Theresienstadt


				
K 2


				
3,000


		

		
				
 


				
 


				
 


				
BIIc


				
 


				
477


		

		
				
15.10.


				
3,000


				
Women


				
Camp C


				
K 1


				
3,000


		

		
				
16.10.


				
800


				
Men


				
German camp


				
K 2


				
800


		

		
				
16.10.


				
600


				
Men


				
Hospital camp575


				
K 2


				
600


		

		
				
17.10.


				
2,000


				
Men


				
Buna


				
K 1


				
2,000


		

		
				
 


				
 


				
 


				
BIIc


				
 


				
156


		

		
				
18.10.


				
3,000


				
Families


				
Slovakia


				
K 1


				
3,000


		

		
				
18.10.


				
2,000


				
Families


				
Theresienstadt


				
K 2


				
(1,343)


		

		
				
18.10.


				
300


				
Families


				
Misc.576


				
K 2


				
300


		

		
				
17.10.


				
22


				
Men, politicals


				
Bunker577


				
K 2


				
22


		

		
				
18.10.


				
13


				
Women, men, politicals


				
Inmates


				
K 2


				
13


		

		
				
19.10.


				
2,000


				
Women


				
Slovakia


				
K 1


				
2,000


		

		
				
19.10.


				
2,000


				
Families


				
Theresienstadt


				
K 2


				
2,000


		

		
				
20.10.


				
2,500


				
Families


				
Theresienstadt


				
K 1


				
1,158


		

		
				
20.10.


				
1,000


				
Children, male, 12-18


				
Wiski Dorf (Dy)


				
K 2


				
1,000


		

		
				
20.10.


				
200


				
Women


				
Camp C


				
K 2


				
248


		

		
				
20.10.


				
1,000


				
?


				
Camp ?


				
K ?


				
 


		

		
				
21.10.


				
1,000


				
Women


				
Camp C


				
K 4


				
513


		

		
				
23.10.


				
400


				
Men


				
Gliwice578


				
K 2


				
400


		

		
				
24.10.


				
2,000


				
Families


				
Theresienstadt


				
K 1


				
 


		

		
				
 


				
43,635


				
 


				
 


				
 


				
 


		

	

“Lager C” “Camp C” should be understood to refer to Sector BIIc of Birkenau, at that time used for the women’s Durchgangslager transit camp. For October 1944, the fluctuations in manpower of this camp have been conserved almost completely in the series of reports referred to as “Stärkemeldung” – “Occupancy Reports.” Here, among the figures relating to “departures” (“Abgänge”), the heading “S.B.” appears, which almost certainly means “Sonderbehandlung” – “special treatment, which the orthodoxy considers this to be synonymous for gassing – and the term “Durchgangs-Juden S.B.”, “transiting Jews, special treatment,” which refers to Jews lodged in the transit camp. Danuta Czech cites these occupancy reports and the list by the Unbekannter Autor unknown author as the sources for her gassings claims, as results from the following table, in which I juxtapose the data from the occupancy reports with some claims contained in the unknown-author’s list and the numbers given in Czech’s Kalendarium Auschwitz Chronicle.


	
		
				
Stärkemeldungen Occupancy Reports


				
List


				
Kalendarium Chronicle


		

		
				
dd.mm.


				
S.B.


				
Durchgangs-Juden Transiting Jews S.B.


				
Total

S.B.


				
 


				
 


		

		
				
9.10.


				
7


				
0


				
7


				
2,000


				
2,000


		

		
				
10.10.


				
12


				
0


				
12


				
 


				
12


		

		
				
12.10.


				
3


				
131


				
134


				
 

3,000


				
3+131+2,866=

3,000


		

		
				
13.10.


				
5


				
3


				
8


				
 

3,000


				
8+2,992=
3,000


		

		
				
14.10.


				
 


				
477


				
477


				
 


				
477


		

		
				
15.10.


				
0


				
0


				
0


				
3,000


				
3,000


		

		
				
16.10.


				
3


				
0


				
3


				
 


				
3


		

		
				
17.10.


				
 


				
 


				
 


				
 


				
156


		

		
				
19.10.


				
3


				
0


				
3


				
 


				
3


		

		
				
20.10.


				
117


				
77


				
194


				
200


				
194


		

		
				
21.10.


				
2


				
513


				
515


				
1,000


				
513


		

		
				
Totals


				
152


				
1,201


				
1,353


				
12,200


				
12,358


		

	

It is obvious that the figures from the list and the Auschwitz Chronicle Kalendarium are in total contradiction with reality: on October 9, seven inmates were subjected to “S.B.,” hence were allegedly gassed, yet the list claims 2,000; on October 12, there were 134, as against 3,000; on October 13, there were 8, as against 3,000; on October 15, not one case of “S.B.,” as against 3,000; on October 21, there were 515 cases of “S.B.” as against 1,000 gassing victims claimed by the unknown-author’s list.

For October 13, Czech notes (1989, S. 906/1990, p. 731):

“In der Gaskammer des Krematoriums III werden 3000 Frauen getötet, die im KL Auschwitz I selektiert worden sind. Unter den Getöteten befinden sich fünf weibliche Häftlinge aus dem Häftlingkrankenbau, drei Jüdinnen aus dem Durchgangslager und 2992 im Lager nicht registrierte Jüdinnen.”

“3,000 women are killed in the gas chamber of Crematorium III; they were selected in Auschwitz I. Among them are five female prisoners from the prisoners’ infirmary, three female Jews from the transit camp, and 2,992 female Jews not registered in the camp.” (My emphasis)

The source is the “Stärkemeldung” occupancy report, but that document only mentions “Durchg. Jd. SB. 3,”579 that is, the three Jewesses from the passage underlined above, and contains no mention of the other 2,997, who are therefore completely fictitious.

The editor of the Kalendarium Chronicle reports 477 female gassing victims for October 14 as indicated in the Stärkemeldung occupancy report as “Durchgangs-Jd. S.B.” “transiting Jews S.B.,”580 but the unknown author’s list has no entry for them.

The 156 presumed women gassing victims of October 17 are said to have been proven by the “Arbeitseinsatzliste” “Labor Deployment List” (Czech 1989, S. 909/1990, p. 731), but this makes no sense, because this series of reports does not contain any “Abgänge” “departure” entries; these reports indicate neither how many deportees died, how many were transferred, nor how many were subjected to “S.B.”581

During the period considered by the unknown-author’s list, the transports from Theresienstadt were as follows (Kárný, p. 73):


	
		
				
dd.mm.


				
# Deportees


				
Claimed gassing victims


		

		
				
06.10.


				
1,550


				
 


		

		
				
09.10.


				
1,600


				
2,000


		

		
				
12.10.


				
1,500


				
 


		

		
				
13.10.


				
 


				
2,000


		

		
				
14.10.


				
 


				
3,000


		

		
				
16.10.


				
1,500


				
 


		

		
				
18.10.


				
 


				
2,000


		

		
				
19.10.


				
1,500


				
2,000


		

		
				
20.10.


				
 


				
2,500


		

		
				
23.10.


				
1,715


				
 


		

		
				
24.10.


				
 


				
2,000


		

	

It should be noted that, in the “# Deportees” column, the date refers to the departure from Theresienstadt, while for the “claimed gassing victims” column, the date refers to the victims’ date of arrival at Auschwitz.

Adopting a charitable interpretation, the transport of October 6 could have been gassed on October 9, that of October 9 on October 13, that of October 12 on October 14, that of October 16 on October 18, that of October 19 on October 20, that of October 23 on October 24. Yet still, we have only six transports but seven claimed gassings, and the numbers don’t match either. However, only for two of these transports exist a documentary trace for their arrival at Auschwitz: in the quarantine list, three inmates were registered on October 15, and 216 on October 30.582

There are no documents reporting transports from Slovakia to Auschwitz in October 1944. The historian Vlasta Kladivová asserts that five transports reached the camp in 1944, with a total of 7,436 deportees (Kladivová, p. 156):

– September 30: 1,860

– October 3: 1,836

– October 10: 1,890

– October 17: 920

– November 2: 930.

Another historian speaks of 12,306 Jews deported from Slovakia in 1944-1945, including 7,936 to Auschwitz, 2,732 to Sachsenhausen and 1,638 to Theresienstadt (Lipscher, p. 215). Still another rounded off the figure to 8,000, but stated that “es darf angenommen werden, daß die Mehrheit dieser Opfer ihre Deportation überlebte” “it may be assumed that the majority of these victims survived their deportation” (Schmidt-Hartmann, p. 374). Danuta Czech cites a documentary source only for the transport of October 19 (for the other two, she refers to the unknown-author’s list). In the absence of proof to the contrary, this can be considered the only transport that was actually sent to Auschwitz.


	a) The Transport from Gleiwitz

For October 23, the unknown-author’s list claims the gassing of 400 men originating from the subcamp near Gleiwitz. Danuta Czech limits herself to copying that claim without citing any other source (1989, S. 914/1990, p. 738). For more information, one has to consult Irena Strzelecka, author of an article on the “Arbeitslager Gleiwitz 1” “Labor Camp Gleiwitz 1.” With reference to the selection of camp inmates who were then sent to Birkenau, allegedly in order to be killed in the “gas chambers,” Strzelecka asserts (Strzelecka, p. 79):

“We know, for example, that over the course of the selection, approximately fifty Muselmänner (Muslims) [emaciated inmates] were selected in October 1944 and sent away from the camp immediately afterwards.”

No document exists to confirm this assertion. Strzelecka refers to a few testimonies, among them that originating from Josef Farber at the Frankfurt Auschwitz Trial. These testimonies speak of “selections” at Gleiwitz, but in this context (Langbein 1965, pp. 758f.):

“Klehr hat in Gleiwitz zwei oder drei Häftlinge selektiert. […] Nachher führte er wieder einmal eine Selektion durch und sonderte dabei zwei Häftlinge aus.”

“Klehr selected two or three inmates at Gleiwitz. […] He then carried out a selection yet again, and in so doing separated two inmates.”

Therefore, SS Oberscharführer Josef Klehr, who formed part of the Auschwitz Camp’s health service, is said to have “selected” a maximum of five inmates!

The story told by Strzelecka is extremely dubious and indirectly refuted by herself, since she publishes documents showing that at least some seriously ill inmates of Gleiwitz I were never sent to the “gas chambers” at Birkenau at all, but rather to the Häftlingskrankenbau inmate hospital at Monowitz. On July 14, 1944, three inmates were transferred: one afflicted with myelitis to the neurology ward, one with an inflammation of the arteries for a surgical operation, and the third, certainly a Jew (registration number A-7773), with a double inguinal hernia also for surgery. The order was signed by Klehr. On September 15, 1944, twelve inmates suffering from pathologies such as tuberculosis, colibacillosis, diarrhea, fractures, etc. were transferred to the hospital at Monowitz (Strzelecka, pp. 80f.).

On September 7, 1944, Klehr sent samples of expectorations and stool of five Jewish inmates from the Gleiwitz II Camp to the Institute of Bacteriological Hygiene at Auschwitz for bacteriological analysis (ibid., p. 78). On September 20, he sent the above-mentioned institute an expectoration sample from Jewish inmate no. 187346 for bacteriological analysis for tuberculosis bacilli.583

The practice of [providing] hospital recovery care for sick inmates disproves the fairy tale of the gassing of 400 inmates from Gleiwitz, which, as we have seen, as regards date and number, is not even confirmed by the testimonies.


	b) The Gassing of 800 Gypsy Children

For October 10, the unknown author’s list claims that 800 Gypsy children (“Dzieci Cygańskie”) were gassed in Crematorium V. With explicit reference to this list, Danuta Czech affirms (1989, S. 903/1990, p. 728):

“In den Gaskammern des Krematoriums V werden 800 Zigeuner – darunter Kinder – getötet, die am 5. Oktober aus dem KL Buchenwald eingeliefert wor-den sind.”

“800 Gypsies, among them children, who had been delivered on October 5 from Buchenwald, are killed in the gas chambers of Crematorium V.”

For October 5, the Kalendarium Chronicle editor writes (1989, S. 895f./1990, p. 723):

“Aus dem KL Buchenwald werden 1188 in das KL Auschwitz II überstellt. Un-ter den Überstellten befinden sich 800 Zigeuner, die bereit zuvor im KL Auschwitz waren. Wahrscheinlich werden die meisten Häftlinge aus diesem Transport in den Gaskammern getötet.”

“1,188 prisoners are transferred from Buchenwald to Auschwitz II, among them 800 Gypsies who were already in Auschwitz. Most of the prisoners from this transport are probably killed in the gas chambers.”

The transport in question is said to have been attested to by a document from the International Tracing Service at Arolsen, but it is clear that the presence of 800 Gypsies among the transferees, which is undocumented, only serves to justify the presumption of gassing annotated by the “Unbekannter Autor” “unknown author.”

In the first German edition of the KalendariumChronicle, Czech simply mentioned a “transport of inmates from Buchenwald concentration camp, 1,188 inmates” on October 5 (Czech 1963, p. 72), and for October 10 (ibid., p. 76):

“Häftl. Transport aus KL Buchenwald, 1188 Häftlinge /800 Knaben und Mädchen/ – Zigeuner aus dem KL Buchenwald – wurden im Krematorium Nr. V vergast.”

“Inmate transport from Buchenwald Concentration Camp, 1,188 inmates /800 boys and girls/ – Gypsies from Buchenwald Concentration Camp – were gassed in Crematorium No. V.”

The transport from Buchenwald could not leave any registration trace at their arrival at Auschwitz, precisely because these inmates had already been assigned registration numbers during their first stay at Auschwitz, which normally continued to be used when they were transferred back from other camps. According to common practice back then, the Auschwitz camp authorities should have informed Buchenwald of the arrival of the transport, after which the inmates were filed as “departures” at Buchenwald, and were admitted into the Auschwitz forced-labor pool. The only thing we know for sure is that there is no mention of this transport in the Quarantäne-Liste quarantine list.

For the list’s “unknown author,” the presumed gassing victims were 800 Gypsy children, not “800 Zigeuner – darunter Kinder” “800 Gypsies, among them children.” This misleading expression enables Czech to evade the contradiction with which she writes under the date August 3, 1944 that 918 Gypsies were transferred from Auschwitz to Buchenwald on that date, including 105 children aged 9 to 14 years (Czech 1989, S. 840/1990, pp. 678f.). In the first edition of her Kalendarium Chronicle, Czech reproduced a photocopy of the original document confirming the arrival of the transport carrying 918 Gypsies, listing them by age bracket: 105 persons 9-14 years of age and 393 persons 15-24 years of age (Czech 1963, p. 113). It is obvious that only 105 children were transferred to Buchenwald, and those allegedly retransferred back to Auschwitz in October could not have been more than 105, much less 800.

The reference to the “girls” in the first edition of the Kalendarium Chronicle is explained by the fact that in this publication the editor had not just considered the above-mentioned 918 male Gypsies as transferred to Buchenwald, but also 490 female gypsies (who were, however, transferred to Ravensbrück). Since she had even published the document which mentions the presence of the 105 children, she had to add others to arrive at the fateful figure of 800 from the list, therefore she introduced the “girls” as well. But if even the 490 women she misassigned to Buchenwald were all “girls,” the total number of “children” would only amount to 595.


	c) The Gassing of 1,000 Children between 12 and 18 Years of Age

On October 20, the list records “1,000 children between 12 and 18 years of age form the Wiski Village” (“1000 m Dzieci 12-18 Wiski Dorf (Dy)”) “Wiski” is very probably a distortion of “Więk.,” that is, they probably originated from the village (Dorf in German) of Wiegschütz, which, when spelled in the Polish way, turns into Większyce. Czech asserts that 357 of these 1,000 children originated from a subcamp of Gross-Rosen, located in Dyhernfurth (Czech 1989, S. 912/1990, p. 736), a village some 30 km north-west of Breslau (today’s Wrocław), which after the expulsion of the German population in 1946 was renamed to Brzeg Dolni by the Poles. This town is located some 140 km northwest of Wiegschütz/Większyce. It is not clear how these two localities can be reconciled with each other.

Isabell Sprenger, author of one of the best-documented study on the Gross-Rosen Camp, devotes a few pages to the subcamps Dyhernfurth I and II. The biggest one was Dyhernfurth II, where an IG-Farben-associated chemical industry arose. In a table, Sprenger summarizes the data contained in an “Stärkemeldung der Häftlingsküche des Arbeitslager Dyhernfurth II” “Inmate Kitchen Occupancy Report of the Dyhernfurth II Labor Camp” for October 1944, which provides a day-by-day record on the fluctuations in the camp’s occupancy. The occupancy remained unchanged at 2,707 inmates between October 14 and 17 before falling to 2,706 on October 18, 2,705 on October 19, and 2,704 on October 20 (Sprenger, p. 247). This categorically refutes the fairy tale of the 357 children sent from this camp to Auschwitz.

Notwithstanding the above, Sprenger desperately seeks to uphold the fable of the transfer of inmates “nach Auschwitz, wo sie in den Gaskammern umgebracht wurden” “to Auschwitz, where they were killed in the gas chambers,” and adds that “bei den zwei Transporte vom 22. und 26. Oktober mit 17 beziehungsweise 52 Häftlingen, die das Lager verließen, könnte es sich um solche Transporte gehandelt habe” “the two transports of October 22 and 26 leaving the camp, carrying 17 and 52 inmates respectively, may have been such transports” (ibid., p. 252).

She is referring to the above-mentioned occupancy report in which the camp’s manpower fell by precisely 17 inmates (from 2,754 to 2,737) between October 21 and 22, and by 52 (from 2,791) between October 25 to 26. Deducing from this fact alone that a) there were two transports, b) these transports were sent to Auschwitz, and c) the persons carried were killed in “gas chambers” seems pure madness, all-the-more-so since, according to Sprenger herself, regular “selections” were carried out at the Dyhernfurth II Camp, over the course of which the preselected persons were transferred to the Gross-Rosen Camp and were allegedly killed there with lethal injections (ibid.).

But there is also another problem. Bezwińska and Czech claim that Salmen Lewental’s text “Die 600 Knaben” “The 600 boys” mentioned earlier “probably” refers to this presumed gassing. Given the close connection between the two texts, I shall analyze Lewental’s text here.

The text, hardly a page-and-a-half long, claims that “am helle Tage wurden 600 jüdische Knaben im Alter von 12 bis 18 Jahren gebracht” “600 boys were brought in the middle of a bright day 600 Jewish boys aged from 12 to 18.” Whence they were brought remains a mystery. This occurred “in der zweiten Hälfte Oktober” “in the latter part of October” – an indication which does appear in the French text584 – and this is all. No other useful details are given. The tale does not even state that they were gassed, but ends after they were pushed “in den Bunker” “into the bunker”, and even these words were only added by the person who “deciphered” the text (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 250f./1992, pp. 177f.)

The list’s unknown author “knew,” therefore, that there were 1,000 children but did not know where they came from. Lewental, who was employed precisely in Crematorium III,585 where the gassing is said to have taken place, “knew” that there were 600 children, but also had no idea where they came from! A beautiful example of collaboration between the members of the “Sonderkommando” with historiographic pretentions.


	d) The Cremation of the Victims

In order to make the propaganda tales of millions of victims credible, all self-proclaimed “eyewitnesses” of the claimed extermination of Jews at Auschwitz attributed an insane cremation capacity to the cremation furnaces at Birkenau. Even the unknown-author’s list is based on this presupposition. The cremation capacity of each of the Auschwitz-type muffles was one adult body per hour. If we suppose the presence of children among the victims, we may conclude an increase in the capacity by a factor of approximately 1.2, as explained elsewhere (Mattogno/Deana 2015, pp. 336f.). In the case examined above, Crematorium II, this corresponds to 360 bodies per day (a cycle of 20 hours, with four hours’ downtime to clean the grates of the gas generators). In the following table, the first column gives the days of October 1944, the second the number of persons allegedly gassed and cremated, the third the real cremation capacity, the fourth the gap between cremated bodies and bodies to be cremated, and the fifth the total number of bodies remaining to be cremated.


	
		
				
Oct.


				
# victims


				
Capacity


				
Difference


				
Cumulative Difference


		

		
				
9


				
2,000

2,000


				
360


				
3,640


				
3,640


		

		
				
10


				
0


				
360


				
 


				
3,280


		

		
				
11


				
0


				
360


				
 


				
2,920


		

		
				
12


				
3,000


				
360


				
2,640


				
5,550


		

		
				
13


				
2,000


				
360


				
1,640


				
7,200


		

		
				
14


				
0


				
360


				
 


				
6,840


		

		
				
15


				
3,000


				
360


				
2,640


				
9,840


		

		
				
16


				
0


				
360


				
 


				
9,120


		

		
				
17


				
2,000


				
360


				
1,640


				
10,760


		

		
				
18


				
3,000


				
360


				
2,640


				
13,400


		

		
				
19


				
2,000


				
360


				
1,640


				
15,040


		

		
				
20


				
2,000


				
360


				
1,640


				
16,680


		

		
				
totals


				
21,000


				
4,320


				
 


				
16,680


		

	

In practice, during the twelve days examined, Crematorium II would have been able to cremate 4,320 bodies at most, after which there would have been 16,680 bodies left, the cremation of which would theoretically have required approximately 46 days. At this point it is evident that this is not merely a specific technical problem relating to cremations, but a general logistical problem that would have caused the entire presumed machinery of extermination to collapse: after a few days, all the rooms within Crematorium II – but this is equally true for the other crematoria – would have been bursting with bodies awaiting cremation, and the activity of the “gas chambers” necessarily would have come to a halt.

In conclusion, the unknown-author’s texts and gassing list are vulgar propagandistic fairy tales.


	2.5.5. Salmen Lewental

On July 28, 1961, a metallic container “was found” in the area surrounding Crematorium III during excavation work. It contained a 342-page manuscript and another six sheets of paper written on both sides. It was later ascertained that the long manuscript exclusively dealt with life in the Litzmannstadt Ghetto (Łódź). It was written in diary form, putatively by a Jew who had lived in the ghetto and was deported thence to Auschwitz. Lewental is said to “have found” this document on August 15, 1944, the day of the arrival of approximately 2,000 Jews from Litzmannstadt, perhaps in the undressing room, where the author had left it. The six sheets mentioned above are Lewental’s comment on the diary (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, pp. 189f.). The text is of no value from the point of view of the present book, because it says nothing – not only about the presumed gassing procedure, but not even about the presumed extermination of the Jews of Litzmannstadt, which should have constituted the principal object of the comment. This text is included neither in the 1971 Polish nor in the 1992 English edition.

On October 17, 1962, another text “by Lewental” “was also found” in the area surrounding Crematorium III. Bezwińska and Czech inform us that the text consists of a notebook plus a few scattered pages, for a total of 75 pages, 10 of which are blank (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 198/1992, p. 117). Ber Mark is more-precise (Mark, pp. 185f.):

“Dans un pot de verre, d'une contenance d'un demi-litre, on trouva deux ma-nuscripts:

a) l'un de 26 pages écrites et signées par Zalman Lewental,

b) un autre, sans signature, d'une écriture différente qui rappelle - ainsi que le style yiddish - le manuscript déjà mentionné de l'auteur anonyme. Ce sont deux descriptions, l'une intitulée Trois mille nues, l'autre Les six cents garçons.”

“Two manuscripts were found in a glass pot with about half a liter holding capacity:

a) one 26 pages long, written on both sides and signed Zalman Lewental,

b) another, without signature, in different handwriting resembling – that and the style in Yiddish – the manuscript already mentioned, by an anonymous author. There are two descriptions, one titled ‘Three Thousand Nudes,’ and the other, ‘The Six Hundred Boys’.”

Due to the humidity, continues Mark, the manuscripts are largely illegible, adding:

“Cette situation est compliquée par le fait que Lewental n'avait numéroté ses pages. Il a commencé à écrire sur une seule face des feuillets, puis, arrivé à la fin, il les a retournés pour écrire de l'autre côté. Or, les collaborateurs du Mu-sée d'Auschwitz commirent une erreur impardonnable : voulant sauver, au moins partiellement, le manuscrit humide, ils sépararènt les feuillets pour les repasser et faire des photocopies, créant ainsi le désordre dans des pages non numérotées et dont la fin était souvent effacé.

A cause de cette première erreur, le premier chercheur admis à déchiffrer le manuscrit, le journaliste Gostynski, eut un travail considérable. Car il lui fallut non seulement déchiffrer des lettres partiellement effacées, mais encore re-trouver l'ordre chronologique des pages. La seconde personne qui eut entre les mains le manuscrit, provisoirement mis en ordre par Gostynski, fut le docteur Simon Datner, collaborateur de la Commission principale de recherche sur les crimes nazis en Pologne. Il me passa ensuite le manuscrit, j'introduisis une sé-rie de correction dans l'ordre des feuillets établi par Gostynski et les classai finalement selon les thèmes traitès”

“This situation is complicated by the fact that Lewental did not number his pages. He began writing on only one side of the sheets, then, when he got to the end, he turned them over to write on the other side. Now, the collaborators at the Auschwitz Museum committed an unpardonable error: wishing to save the humid manuscript at least in part, they separated the sheets, ironed them out and photocopied them, thus creating the disorder in the unnumbered pages, the ends of which had often been effaced.

Due to this initial error, the first researcher permitted to decipher the manuscript, the journalist Gostynski, had considerable trouble. Because he not only had to decipher the partially effaced letters, but he also had to find the chronological order of the pages. The second person who had the manuscript in his hands, provisionally put in order by Gostynski, was Dr. Simon Datner, a coworker of the Main Commission Investigating Nazi Crimes in Poland. He then handed me the manuscript, I made a number of corrections in the order of the sheets established by Gostynski and organized them according to the topics dealt with.”

Lewental allegedly arrived at Auschwitz on December 10, 1942, and was allegedly assigned to the “Sonderkommando.” His registration number is not given.

The text published by the Auschwitz Museum in 1971 was deciphered from Yiddish by Seweryn Zalmen Gostyński and translated into Polish by Roman Pytel (Bezwińska/Czech 1971, p. 171), but the page numbering is the one established by Ber Mark.

Page 9 of the manuscript is supposed to mention the arrival of the transport from Małkinia near Treblinka to Auschwitz (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 200/1992, p. 132), similar to Gradowski’s claim of having passed by Treblinka,586 and the comment made above also applies here: it is impossible to understand why Jews unfit for labor travelling on the transport passing by Treblinka would have been sent to Auschwitz instead of being gassed right there at Treblinka. No, instead they allegedly were made to traverse almost all of Poland from north-west to south-west.

The description of the extermination of the transport in the “bunkers” of Birkenau on December 10 begins on p. 14 of the manuscript: (the text is fragmentary):587

“[zu] den zum ersten Male ins Wäldchen Kommenden, wo sich damals die Bunker befanden”;

“trieb man den Rest der Menschen […] [aus der Baracke?] in den Bunker, wo sie vergast wurden”;

“die keinen Platz in den Bunkern fand […] saß nackt in Holzbaracke”;

“Und inzwischen kam das berüchtigte Sonderkommando und leerte die Bunker […] man trug die Leichen 800 M[eter] weiter und warf sie dort auf einen Scheiterhaufen, wo schon gestern und vorgestern [vergaste] Menschen brannten.”

“[to] those coming for the first time to the grove where there were bunkers at that lime”;

“the rest of people were driven […] [from the barrack?] to the bunker, where they were gassed.”;

“for whom there was not room enough in the bunkers […], sat naked in wooden barracks”;

“And meanwhile the ill-famed Sonderkommando came and was clearing the bunkers […] the corpses were carried 800 m[etres] farther and there they were thrown on a pile [pyre in the French (brasier) and German translations (Scheiterhaufen)] where men were by now burning [gassed] yesterday and the day before yesterday […]”

None of these passages appears in Ber Mark’s translation (Mark, pp. 268f.), which raises serious doubts at least as to Gostyński’s “deciphering” of the Yiddish text.

On p. 19, a summary description of one of the “bunkers” appears (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 207f./1992, p. 135):

“150 m weiter [stand] eine dem Anschein nach unschuldige Bauernhütte mit […] Fenster, verschlagen mit dicken […] aus den Fenstern […] allen wurde befohlen [sich auszuziehen?] […] liefen […] nakt […] in der dicht vollgestopften Bauernstube, mit hilfe von Knüppeln und Hunden […] mit den Menschen […] durch ein kleines Fenster [warf] ein SS-Man [eine Büchse mit dem Gas hinein] […] verschloß das Fensterchen und nach einigen [Augenblicken] waren alle erstickt.”

“150 metres further [there stood] […] a seemingly harmless country cottage with […] windows boarded up with thick […] from the windows […] All were told [to undress?] they ran […] naked […] in the farmhouse room, closely crowded, with the help of clubs and dogs […] with people […] through a small window the SS man [threw in the tin with the as] […] he closed the window and after a few [moments] all suffocated.”

And this is how Ber Mark reports the same passage (Mark, p. 270):

“A cent cinquante mètres d'une maison paysanne innocente, avec [–] fenêtres bouchées par d'épais volets verrouillés. Ordonné à tous de se dévêtir complè-tement et commencé tout de suite à chasser les gens nus en courant vers la maison déjà pleine de monde, à l'aide des matraques et des chiens [–] Un SS lança par une petite lucarne un gaz toxique et la referma aussitôt. Au bout de quelques minutes, tout le monde était asphyxié.”

“One hundred fifty meters away from an innocent peasant cottage, with [–] windows were boarded up by thick shutters bolted shut. They were all ordered to undress completely after which they immediately began to chase the naked people running towards the cottage, which was already full of people, with the aid of truncheons and dogs [–] An SS man threw a toxic gas through a little skylight which he shut immediately afterwards. After a few minutes, everyone was asphyxiated.”

The description is very similar to Langfus’s. Lewental also claimed that the “bunker” had one single room and one little gas-introduction opening, but did not specify which gas was used. To this, he added the “fenêtres bouchées par d'épais volets verrouillés” “windows were boarded up by thick shutters” – they were bricked up according to the current orthodox version – and the impossibly quick death of the victims in just a few minutes.

According to Szlama Dragon, there were two undressing barracks located 150 meters from “Bunker 2” (see Chapter 5.3.). Hence, Lewental is said to have described precisely this installation. But as pointed out earlier, there should have been four gas chambers and five introduction openings.

As in the story according to Langfus, not all the victims entered the gas chamber, and those that did not fit in were left waiting in the undressing room (ibid.):

“L'autre moitié qu'on n'a pas pu introduire dans les bunkers est restée assise, nue, dans une baraque en bois.”

“The other half, the ones that they couldn’t fit into the bunkers, remained sitting, naked, in a wooden barracks.”

The English translation does not have that sentence, yet adds here on p. 20 of the manuscript, “in die Todesbunker führen und sie mit Gas ersticken” “led to the bunker of death and suffocated with gas.” The phrase fragment coming close to that cited from Mark’s edition is “der Bunker vollgestopf” “the bunker was overcrowded,” singular (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 208/1992, p. 135). Further along, Lewental asserts that the transport with which he arrived at Auschwitz carried 2,300 persons, 500 of whom were registered (ebd., S. 210/ibid., p. 137), therefore, there were 1,800 presumed gassing victims. But for Dragon, the holding capacity of “Bunker 2” was 2,000 persons; it is therefore impossible to understand why half of the people on a transport, 900 persons, could not be fitted into the “bunker” and had to wait inside the barracks instead.

The above-quoted phrase on the “Sonderkommando” clearing the bunkers and thowing the corpses on a pyre appears on p. 20 of the text in Ber Mark’s version (“Sonderkommando qui avait vidé les bunkers et emmené les morts à huit cents mètres de là, pour le jeter dans un brasier où se consumaient déjà le corps des asphyxié d'hier et d'avant-hier” Mark, p. 270), yet on p. 16 in the German and English translations. Either way, it is argued that there existed only one single pyre, 800 meters away from “Bunker 2.” According to Langfus, a “breite und tiefe Grube” “wide and deep pit” also existed. Dragon declared by contrast that there were six cremation pits located 150 meters away from the “bunker” (see Chapter 5.3.).

Hence, we may deduce that contradictory rumors were going around about the “bunker” at Auschwitz at the time, meaning before January 1945, which were already mentioned by Wetzler, and which were further developed by Dragon at a later time.

Returning to Lewental, further along he adds that he arrived at Auschwitz on December 12, 1942. He states that he was assigned to various labor units and also worked at the Buna-Monowitz Camp. He was then transferred to Birkenau, and only on January 25, 1943 he was assigned to the “Sonderkommando” (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 208/1996, S. 210/1992, p. 137). It is therefore obvious that the whole story of the gassing of the other 1,800 deportees from his transport on December 12 in the “bunker,” which he outlined as an eyewitness testimony, is pure fantasy.

In the English translation, pages 37-46 of the manuscript consist of the text “Die 3000 Nackten” “3,000 naked people,” which Ber Mark ascribes to Langfus, as stated earlier. This is the narrative of the gassing of 3,000 registered female inmates (although the number appears only in the title), which is said to have occurred in Crematorium III “Anfang 1944” “at the beginning of 1944.” Such an event is purely imaginary, so that Bezwińska and Czech do not even attempt to prove it. Among other things, the words of a few women are quoted usuing the usual rhetorics. In this narrative, the term “bunker” refers unequivocally to the basement rooms of Crematorium II/III (ebd.., S. 216/ibid., p. 142):

“langsam schleppten sie sich zum Bunker, welcher Auskleideraum hieß und in den eine Treppe wie in einen Keller hinunterführte.” (Meine Hervorhebung)

“they slowly dragged themselves to the bunker, which was called Auskleidungsraum [German in text; undressing room] and to which steps led down, like to a cellar.” (My emphasis)

A few lines down, it says that many women “waren schon lange im Lager gewesen und wußten, daß der Bunker schon die letzte Etappe war, die zum Tode [führte].” “were a long time in the camp and knew that the Bunker was the last step [leading] to death.” Incredibly, Bezwińska and Czech remark in the German edition: “Der Autor denkt an eine der beiden ersten, provisorischen Gaskammern” (ebd., Fn 30) “The author is thinking of one of the two first provisional gas chambers” (1996, fn 30, p. 216), while the same footnote in the English translation merely states “The author speaks here of the gas chamber” (1992, p. 142).

The women were shut inside the “Gasbunker” “gas bunker,” a Red Cross vehicle arrived, and the victims died, “nach dem Einwurf von 4 Büchsen Gas durch die oberen kleinen Türen,” “After throwing 4 tins of the gas through the small upper doors” (ebd., S. 220/ibid., p. 146), which Ber Mark calls “little windows” (Mark, p. 263). The type of gas is never mentioned.

Further along, Lewental claims that “sollten wir eine Million ungarischer Juden verbrennen” “we shall then have to burn a million of Hungarian Jews” (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 228/1992, p. 154), and a little later he states as a fact that  “während dieser Zeit eine halbe Million ungarischer Juden verbrannt wurden” “half a million Hungarian Jews were burned in the meantime” (ebd., S. 235/ibid., p. 161), a higher figure than the actual number of deportees.

Ber Mark reports the Hebrew initials of the funeral inscription carved on tombstones (Mark, p. 299), of which there is no trace in the German and English translations (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, p. 245; 1992, p. 173).

The last part of the manuscript discusses plans for a revolt and contacts with the camp’s resistance movement. In this regard, it is sufficient to remark that the description of the revolt by the Sonderkommando contradicts the current orthodox version (which itself was created based on contradictory versions). Ber Mark recognizes this fact, but attempts to minimize it, writing that “par certains détails, diffère de celle que nous avons donnée au chapitre précédent” “in certain details, it differs from the one we provided in the preceding chapter” (Mark, p. 186).

With reference to the members of the resistance movement, Lewental claims (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 248/1992, p. 175):

“Und das Wichtigste, wir lieferten ihnen geheime Dokumente sowie Materialen über all das, was bei uns vorging […].”

“And most important of all, we supplied them with secret documents and materials concerning all that was happening with us […].”

And again (ebd., S. 249/ibid., p. 176):

“Sogar die Materialen, die wir ihnen überwiesen, wurden auf ihre eigene Rechnung gutgeschrieben. Sie haben unsere Namen vollkommen verschwiegen, als ob wir nichts damit zu tun gehabt hätten.”

“Even the materials which we had transmitted to them were credited to their own accounts. They completely passed in silence our names as if we had had nothing in common with it.”

These claims constitute the seal of falsehood. If they were true, the messages transmitted by the Auschwitz resistance to the Delegatura would have depicted a “plausible” picture from the very outset – that is, consistent with the final versions, as outlined by the later Soviet-Polish propaganda. In reality, however, as I have shown earlier, such messages contain a litany of nonsense, absurdities and unprecedented lies. One must therefore assume that these fairy tales were cooked up and dished out by Lewental and his ilk.

The alternative, which is much more likely, is that Lewental and his ilk limited themselves to rehashing the propaganda themes which were created by the underground resistance independently and without their input, a fact corroborated by their botchy and merely approximate knowledge of facts as revealed by their manuscripts in this regard, such as their description of the “bunker.”

As I have noted earlier, the situation is very similar to that of Langfus’s text. The presence of the term “bunker” in both texts requires an explanation, which I lay out as follows:

1) From the analysis of the underground messages from Auschwitz resistance members, it appears that the term “bunker” was alternatingly used to refer to the old crematorium at Auschwitz, to the basement of Block 11 of the Stammlager Main Camp, to certain arrest cells which it contained (Stehbunker, Steinbunker), and to the machine-gun nests around the Birkenau Camp. They were completely unaware that the presumed gassing cottages were also supposed to be called “bunkers.”

2) Gradowski and the Unknown Author used the term “bunker” only in reference to the presumed gas chamber or undressing room of Crematoria II and III. Langfus and Lewental used it in this sense, but also in the sense of a gassing cottage, without explaining the ambiguous usage of the term (which has to be deduced from the context) and without ever explaining why simple farmers’ cottages should be called “bunker” (which is more-obvious for the basement rooms of Crematoria II and III). Neither Herman nor Nadjari (see the next subchapter) ever mentions the term at all.

With reference to the crematoria, use of the term “bunker” was fairly widespread. For instance, Deszö Schwarz, a Hungarian Jew deported from Vienna to Auschwitz on February 25, 1944 (registration number 174438), declared in an undated “Eidesstattliche Versicherung” “affidavit” (NO-2310, p. 1):

“Man muss sich vorstellen, dass in Birkenau, 5 Krematorien standen, wovon 4 ein Ausmass hatten, dass sie ruhig jeden Vergleich eines modernsten Großstadtkrematoriums standhalten können. Vier dieser Vernichtungsstätten hatten jedes einen in die Erde gebauten Gasbunker, mit einem Fassungsraum von durchschnittlich 1200 - 1500 Menschen.”

“You must imagine that there were 5 crematoria in Birkenau, 4 of which were so big that they would easily stand comparison with any of the most modern crematoria in large cities. Four of these extermination sites had one gas bunker built into the ground, with an average capacity of 1,200-1,500 people.”

Nyiszli referred to the presumed gas chamber as the “underground bunker” (see Subchapter 3.2.7.), and even Henryk Mandelbaum used the term “bunker” in his testimony during the trial against the Auschwitz camp garrison.588 Ludwig Frank, who was deported from France to Auschwitz on November 6, 1944 (where he received the registration number 73274), told his family in a letter written in Lyon on September 10, 1945:589

“Vor dem Krematorium mussten sich alle entkleiden (alle Geschlechter zusammen). Den Ersten gab man vor dem Eintritt in den Gasbunker Handtuch und Seife, um den Eindruck eines Bades zu erwecken. […] Nach 5 Minuten war kein Schrei mehr vom Bunker vernehmbar, weil Erwachsene nach 3 Minuten und Kinder nach 5 Minuten tot waren.”

“Everyone had to undress in front of the crematorium (all genders together). The first ones were given a towel and soap before entering the gas bunker in order to give the impression of a bath. […] After 5 minutes there was no more screaming from the bunker because adults were dead after 3 minutes and children after 5 minutes.”

The killing took place with a “gas bomb” (“Gasbombe”), and the number of victims estimated by the witness was four to five million!

3) As stated ealier, Langfus arrived at Auschwitz on December 6, 1942, on the same transport as Szlama Dragon (registration number 80359), and both were assigned to the “Sonderkommando.” Lewental arrived at Auschwitz on December 10, 1942 and he, too, was assigned to the “Sonderkommando.”

Dragon is the witness par excellence regarding the “bunkers.” In his interrogation on February 26, 1945, he did not refer to them as “bunkers” at all, a term which was completely unknown to him. Instead, he called them simply “gazokamery” – gas chambers (see Chapter 5.3.).

Henryk Tauber is another super-star witness, but with regard to the crematoria. In his deposition dated February 27 and 28, 1945, he referred to the “bunker” only as “gas chambers” (“gazovye kamery”).590 The Polish-Soviet expert report written between February 14 and March 8, 1945 mentions only “gas chambers” (“gazovye kamery”) nos. 1 and 2.591

It is therefore a fact that the term “bunker” with reference to the presumed provisional gassing installations at Birkenau were entirely unknown until March 1945 (for more see Mattogno 2016g, pp. 77-79, 163f.).

How, then, are we to explain the use of the term “bunker” for the gassing cottages exclusively in the manuscripts by Langfus and Lewental?

There are only two possibilities: the first consists of stretching the deciphering of the Yiddish text of the Langfus-Lewental manuscripts, by virtue of which, through a sort of excess of Holocaust zeal, the decoders attempted to provide that which the Holocaust vulgate wished to hear in certain passages. (Just like Bezwińska and Czech forced the interpretation of Lewenthal’s passages relating to the “bunker” of Crematoria II-III in the German edition by attributing them to the “first provisional gas chambers” instead, meaning to Bunkers 1 and 2).

The other possibility is that the manuscripts were back-dated, meaning that they were not written and buried when their authors claimed they were. As set forth earlier, the manuscripts’ “discovery” date says nothing about when they were actually emplaced (if they ever were, that is), and strictly speaking there is no reason why they cannot have been buried after the arrival of the Soviets.

If a medical student posted to Auschwitz as a Red Cross volunteer could simply enter the camp area, dig around as he pleased and then “discover” or “find” Chaim Herman’s manuscript in February 1945, any former inmate or any person could have buried anything in the area of the crematoria. On the other hand, whether or not Langfus’s manuscripts were really found in April 1945, fact is that they were handed over to the Auschwitz Museum only on November 5, 1970; Lewental’s manuscripts were found only on July 28, 1961. In the best of cases, it is more than permissible to suspect a latter-day planting of these texts.

This possibility also applies to the other manuscripts mentioned earlier, almost all of which were discovered or made available to the Auschwitz Museum or published only in the 1960s or 1970s. The only text discovered a little earlier is the one titled “In the Abysses of Crime” (Chronicle of Auschwitz by an Unknown Author),” which was discovered in 1952 and published in 1954. In view of the above and strictly speaking, these manuscripts should therefore not even be considered contemporary with the existence of Auschwitz Camp, but should be included in Part Three of the present study dealing with testimonies originating after the camp’s occupation by the Red Army on January 27, 1945.


	2.5.6. Marcel Nadsari (Nadjari)

On October 24, 1980, during work near the ruins of Crematorium III at Birkenau, a small Ledertasche leather bag was found that contained a thermos bottle with a manuscript in Greek inside consisting of twelve partly illegible sheets of paper. On July 31, 1981, sworn translator Teodor Aleksiu translated the legible part of the document into Polish. The Auschwitz Museum archived photocopies of the text and translation under inventory number 166122.592 The text was published in German translation in 1996 (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, pp. 269-274/). Recently, on the initiative of the Russian historian Pavel Polian (or Polyan; Russian: Полян), with the assistance of computer specialist Alexander Nikityaev, the text of the manuscript was subjected to an innovative procedure, Multispektralaufnahme “multispectral scanning,” restoring legibility to 90%. The result was published by Polian in October and November 2017 (Polian 2017a&b). Marcel Nadjari or Nadjary593 or Natzari, as written in Greek (Νατζαρή), was deported to Auschwitz on April 11, 1944 on a Jewish transport from Greece, and was registered under number 182669. According to his own account, he was assigned to the “Sonderkommando.” Following the evacuation of the camp, he arrived at the Mauthausen Camp on January 25, 1945, where he was issued number 119116. After the war, he returned to Greece, where, Polian informs us, he “schon sehr bald seine Erinnerungen an die Zeit der Verfolgungen abfasste. Überschrieben sind sie mit ‘15. April 1947’, offenbar dem Datum der Fertigstellung” “wrote his recollections of the period of persecution very soon afterwards. Signed and dated ‘April 15, 1947,’ obviously the completion date” (Polian 2017a, p. 600). In his learned introduction, Polian limits himself to this fleeting reference without explaining the intended object of these important Erinnerungen memoirs from an eyewitness, written barely three years after Nadjari’s manuscript. I’ll get back to that issue later.

Neither Polian nor other Holocaust historians have ever explained why Nadjari never testified during the postwar trials, particularly the Höss Trial at Warsaw, the Auschwitz garrison trial at Krakow, or the Auschwitz Trial at Frankfurt, and why he never issued any statement, sworn or unsworn, on his activity in the “Sonderkommando.”

Nadjari died in 1971; a Greek book authored by him and titled Chronicle 1941-1945 was only published twenty years later, in 1991, but was never distributed commercially (Natzari 1991).

After a month in quarantine, therefore around May 11, 1944, Nadjari was assigned “zu einem Krematorium” “to a crematorium.” Which crematorium he does not say, just as he never says that there were four crematoria at Birkenau. The reader must figure out for himself which installation is being referred to. But this cannot be established with any certainty from what he writes, because he mentions structures which belonged to both Crematorium II and Crematorium III. It is therefore necessary to be inclined to guess it was Crematorium III, solely because of the fact that the manuscript was found in this structure.

His description of Crematorium II/III is rather correct, but spiced up with the usual propaganda sauce.594

The crematorium (the term is mentioned only once in the entire manuscript) “ist ein großes Gebäude mit einem breiten Schornstein mit 15 (fünfzehn) Öfen. Unterhalb eines Gartens gibt es zwei große endlose Kellerräume. Der eine dient uns zum Auskleiden und der andere als Todeskammer, wo die Leute nackt hineingehen und nachdem er mit etwa 3000 Personen gefüllt ist, wird er verschlossen, und sie vergasen sie, wo sie nach 6 bis 7 Minuten Martyrium den Geist aushauchen.” “is a large building with a broad chimney, with 15 (fifteen) furnaces. Underneath a garden, there are two endless basement rooms. One is used by us for undressing, and the other as a death chamber, where the people go in naked and, after it has been filled up with about 3,000 people, it is locked shut, and they gas the people, where they give up the ghost after 6 or 7 minutes of martyrdom.” Nadjari is unaware of the canonical terms such as “Gaskammer”/“gas chamber” and “Auskleidekeller”/“undressing cellar,” which he could easily have transliterated into Greek.

The claimed holding capacity, 3,000 persons in a room of 210 m², amounts to an unachievable high packing density of more than 14 people per square meter (1.3 persons per sq ft). In addition, this would have made ventilation of the gas chamber basically impossible. This number was later also used by others, particularly Nyiszli. The absurdity of the victims’ deaths within 6-7 minutes fits perfectly into the propagandistic parameters of the time.

The gas chambers were obviously camouflaged as shower rooms, but for Nadjari, there were no fake shower heads: “drinnen hatten die Deutschen an der Decke Rohre angebracht.” “inside, the Germans had installed pipes on the ceiling.” After the Germans had “die Tür hermetisch verschlossen,” “shut the gas-tight door,” the usual Red-Cross vehicle arrived, with two SS men carrying the “Gasbüchsen.” “gas cans.” These were the “Gasleute” “gas people” who “das Gas durch Öffnungen hineingeschüttet haben.” “poured the gas in through openings.” Nadjari never mentions Zyklon B, and supplies no information about these “Öffnungen.” “openings.” The next phase of the proceedings was as follows: “Nach einer halben Stunde öffneten wir die Türen, und unsere Arbeit begann.” “After half an hour, we opened the doors, and our work began.” After the canonical half hour, during which only a part of the Zyklon B’s hydrogen cyanide would have evaporated, the men from the “Sonderkommando” opened the “die Türen” “the doors” (but the Germans had shut only “die Tür” “the door,” hence only one), and they went to work. No mention of ventilating the gas chamber or of any ventilation system.

The bodies were transported away by the men of the “Sonderkommando” using the Aufzug elevator to the furnaces, “wo sie verbrannten ohne Zuhilfenahme von Brennmaterial aufgrund des Fetts, das sie haben,” “where they burned without the use of fuel, because of all the [body] fat they have,” a monumental piece of stupidity, aggravated by the fact that the Jewish deportees originated from ghettoes or collection camps where food provisions, as is well known, were not exactly plentiful. Nadjari states that “ein Mensch ergab nur etwa ein halbes Okka Asche,” “a person only gave off approximately half an oka of ashes,” or approximately 640 grams, which is less than one fifth of the content of ashes resulting from the cremation of a body weighing 70 kg, i.e., approximately 3.5 kg (5%). The ashes were then loaded onto a vehicle and thrown into the Vistula. Since Nadjari mentions the figure of 1,400,000 gassing victims (or cremated bodies) at the end of the book, it follows that (1,400,000 victims × 3.5 kg of ashes =) 4,900,000 kg or 4,900 metric tons of ashes were thrown into the river! Apparently, this happened directly, without passing the ashes through the temporary collection pits, as his colleagues reported.

The witness then writes:

“Die Dramen, die meine Augen gesehen haben, sind unbeschreiblich. An meinen Augen sind etwa 600000 <sechshunderttausend> Juden aus Ungarn vorbeigezogen, - Franzosen - Polen aus Litzmannstadt, ungefähr 80000, und jetzt zuletzt trafen erstmals etwa 10000 zehntausend Juden aus Theresienstadt in der Tschechoslowakei ein.”

“The tragedies I saw with my own eyes are indescribable. 600,000 <six hundred thousand> Hungarian Jews – French people, Poles from Litzmannstadt, approximately 80,000 of them, passed right before my eyes, and now, at the end, for the first time some 10,000 <ten thousand> Jews from Theresienstadt in Czechoslovakia arrived.”

If we follow Piper, approximately 470,000 Jews arrived at Auschwitz during the time period when the Hungarian Jews were being deported (from mid-May to July of 1944), 435,000 of whom were from Hungary (Piper 1993, Table D, between pp. 144 & 145). Even the figure relating to the Litzmannstadt Ghetto (Lodz) – 65,000 according to Piper (ibid.) – is rather exaggerated: the actual figure is approximately 22,500 deportees, as mentioned earlier.

In this context, Nadjari introduces the alleged Himmler order to stop the gassings:

“Heute kam ein Transport aus Theresienstadt, aber Gott sei Dank haben sie die nicht zu uns gebrachte, sie behielten sie in Lagern, es hieß, dass der Befehl kam, man solle keine Juden mehr töten, und das stimmt allem Anschein nach, da haben sie jetzt im letzten Moment ihre Meinung geändert – jetzt da allerdings kein einziger Jude mehr in Europa übrig geblieben ist, doch für uns liegt die Sache anders, wir müssen von der Erde verschwinden, weil wir so Vieles wissen über die unvorstellbaren Methoden ihrer Misshandlungen und Vergeltungsaktionen.”

“A transport from Theresienstadt arrived today, but thank God they didn’t bring them to us, they kept them in camps; the order is said to have come not to kill any more Jews, and by all appearances that seems to be true, since now they’ve changed their minds at the last moment – now that there’s not one single Jew left in Europe anyway, but for us, the matter looks different; we have to disappear from the earth, because we know so much about the unimaginable methods of their mistreatments and reprisal actions.”

Czech dates this presumed order back to November 2, 1944 (1989, S. 921/1990, p. 743). Nadjari states that the order was issued in combination with the arrival of a Jewish transport from Theresienstadt, the last of which arrived on October 30, 1944, but according to the Kalendarium Auschwitz Chronicle, 1,689 of the 2,038 deportees were allegedly gassed (ebd., S. 920/ibid., p. 742). Therefore, either this gassing claim is false, or Nadjari’s statement that the presumed gassing victims were accommodated at the camp is false.

If we follow the orthodox narrative, the presumed “stop” order is said to have entailed the extermination of the inmates from the “Sonderkommando” as “carriers of the secret.” Nadjari tells this story with a preamble of antecedent facts:

“Unser Kommando nennt sich Sonderkommando <eidiko komanto>, es bestand anfangs aus rund 1000 <tausend> Leuten, davon 200 Griechen und die übrigen Polen und Ungarn, und nach Heroischem Widerstand, deswegen weil sie nur 800 <achthundert> abziehen wollten, weil alle hundert außerhalb des Lagers und die anderen innerhalb. Gefallen sind meine guten Freunde Viko Brudo und Minis Aaron aus Thess/niki.”

“Our Kommando is referred to as the Sonderkommando <eidiko komanto>. It consisted initially of approximately 1,000 <thousand> men, including 200 Greeks, the rest being Poles and Hungarians; and after heroic resistance, because they only wanted to withdraw 800 <eight hundred>, because all hundred outside the camp and the others inside [?]. My good friends Viko Brudo and Minis Aaron from Thessalonica were killed.”

The documents appear to indicate that the maximum strength of crematoria manpower was 903 inmates (Mattogno 2016f, pp. 84-92). The mention of “Widerstand” “resistance” undoubtedly refers to the revolt of October 7, 1944, over the course of which, however, the number of inmates killed amounted to 450 or 451, if we follow the orthodox narrative; 212 inmates were left on October 9.595 Nadjari does not state the number of victims of the revolt. He merely states: “Jetzt wo dieser Befehl gekommen ist werden sie auch uns eliminieren, wir sind insgesamt 26 Griechen und die übrigen sind Polen.” “Now that this order has been received, they will also eliminate us, we are 26 Greeks in total, and the rest are Poles.” In practice, 174 Greek inmates were killed.

At the end, however, the witness claims:

“Ausnahme die etwa 300, die bis heute am Leben sind, (in) Athen, Arta, Kerkyra, Kos und Rhodos. – Insgesamt ungefähr 1.400.000.”

“With the exception of the ca. 300 [of us] who are still alive until today, (in) Athens, Arta, Kerkyra, Kos and Rhodes. – A total of about 1,400,000.”

This figure of 300 survivors is contradicted by the documented figure of 212. As regards the figure of 1,400,000, Polian comments (2017a, fn 79, p. 617):

“Nadjaris Schätzung von 1,4 Millionen in Auschwitz ermordeten Menschen kommt erstaunlich nahe an die Ergebnisse der aktuellen Forschung heran, wonach in dem Konzentrations- und Vernichtungslagerkomplex mindestens 1,1 Millionen Menschen zu Tode kamen.”

“Nadjaris’ estimate of 1.4 million people murdered at Auschwitz comes astonishingly close to current research, according to which at least 1.1 million people died in the concentration- and extermination-camp complex.”

He is attributing this figure to the entire duration of the existence of the Auschwitz camp complex and to all the deaths, but the context shows that the figure refers to presumed gassing victims only. In Polian’s hypothesis, Nadjari was an eye-witness to only the 690,000 presumed gassing victims mentioned by him explicitly. Yet only approximately 427,000 deportees arrived at Auschwitz over the time period in question,596 approximately 100,000 of whom were transferred without being registered (Strzelecki, 1995b, p. 352). Applying the orthodox tenet that some 75% of the remaining 327,000 were gassed, Nadjari could have “seen” at most some 245,000 gassing victims, or a little over one third of the number he claimed to have seen. So much for the reliability of this witness as a counter of gassing victims.

Among all the manuscripts from members of the “Sonderkommando,” Nadjari’s account is no doubt that which most-closely approaches the final version of the orthodox narrative. After the reports by Wetzler and Vrba, Nadjari’s account constitutes an additional attempt to define the setting of the gassings in the crematoria, which was perfected a few months later by the Soviets and Poles.

To date, the Greek transcription of the recovered text has not been made accessible, but precisely its publication should have been fundamental to demonstrating the authenticity of the work done. Individual pages of the recovered manuscript are available on the Internet, but that is enough to raise a few doubts. The recovered text from page 1, partly in German and partly in French and written partly above and partly in the spaces between the lines of the Greek text, is written with a different pen or pencil stroke from the Greek text. Not one word has been recovered from the Greek text.597 At the end of pages 11 and 12, the name “Nadjari” is written in a different hand (see Document 15), although both should be the witness’s signature.

On page 2, in the second half of the page, the translator has not succeeded in deciphering numerous words, which he has replaced with omission ellipses (Polian 2017a, pp. 609f.):

“Am 2. April 1944 sind wir aus unserem Athen abgefahren, nachdem ich einen Monat im Lager Chaidari durchlitten habe wo ich immer [ein Wort durchgestrichen] die Pakete der guten Smaro erhalten habe, und deren Bemühungen um mich mir unvergesslich geblieben sind in diesen schlimmen Tagen, die ich durchmache. …… immer, dass ihr nach ihr… sucht ……

Lieber Misko und irgendwann einmal… mir aber ihre Adresse

besorgst,…… unseren Ilias und dass du dich stets um ihn kümmerst, … und dass Manolis sie nicht vergessen hat,”

“On April 2, 1944 we departed from our Athens, after I have been suffering through a month in the Chaidari Camp where I always [one word crossed out] received the packages from the good Smaro, and her efforts remain unforgettable for me in these terrible days that I suffer through. …… always, that you are searching… for her…

Dear Misko and at some point in time… but that you get her address for me,…… our Ilias, and that you are always taking care of him, … and that Manolis has not forgotten her,”

This page, however, is one of the most-easily legible (see Document 16). But if that is so, what should we think about his decipherings of the less-legible pages?

The few quotations from the manuscript which appear on a few Greek sites598 diverge from the German translation and also have a few gaps; they seem to be retranslations from the German translation rather than quotations from the original text.

Polian has also published Nadjari’s text in Russian (see Polian 2017b), with a translation performed directly from the Greek text, as well as the German text, which was translated by Niels Kadritzke.

Already on the first few pages, the two translations present interpretations which deviate from the text, as shown by the following comparison:


	
		
				
Russian translation


				
German translation


		

		
				
Bitte diesen Brief

senden an [dem

nächsten] Griechischen
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These are all fragments that make little sense, so I won’t even try to translate this into English here. The point is that the translations rarely agree on what the text’s actual decipherable content is.

On page 3, the Russian expression “under [the ground]” (“под [землей]”/“pod [zemlyoy]”),) corresponds to “underneath the garden” (“Unterhalb eines Gartens”) in the German translation. On the same page, with regard to the underground rooms, the German translation says “One is used by us for undressing, and the other as a death chamber” (“Der eine dient uns zum Auskleiden und der andere als Todeskammer”); in the Russian text, the phrase is rendered as “one is used to get people to strip naked, and the other is a (the) death chamber” (“одно используется для того, чтобы люди раздевались догола, а другое — это камера смерти,”)

On page 4, the German translator uses the words “with the German Red Cross vehicle” (“mit dem Auto des Deutschen Roten Kreuzes”) and explains that the manuscript contains the abbreviation “Γерм., Germ.” at this point, which the Russian translator missed.

On page 4 until the start of page 5, the German translation states “They are the gas people, who then poured in the gas through openings for them” (“Sie sind die Gasleute die ihnen dann das Gas durch Öffnungen hineingeschüttet haben”) while the Russian text reads “Those were the gassers who threw the gas into the chamber through special holes” (“То были газаторы, которые вбрасывали газ в камеру сквозь специальные отверстия”).

These few examples are only intended to show the importance of publishing the original text of the manuscript.

Nadsari’s memoirs of 1947, in excerpts published in 1991 as mentioned earlier, appeared in an updated, commercial edition in 2018 under the new title Χειρόγραφα 1944-1947 – Από τη Θεσσαλονίκη στο Ζοντερκομάντο του Άουσβιτς (Manuscripts 1944-1947 – From Thessalonica to the Sonderkommando of Auschwitz). Panagiotis Heliotis, a Greek revisionist writer, gave an account of this in an article dedicated to this witness. In the manuscript, Nadjari ignores the aforementioned letter and provides a boilerplate description of a “gassing”:

“When the women had finished undressing, they would enter through the door in groups of five, naked, with shoes in hand and many with a [piece of] soap. […] Afterwards, the men would go down to the undressing room, wondering how they could get their clothes back, since they had all turned into a sea [sic], the same procedure would follow, and they would also enter the gas room. Then, after it was filled and everyone had entered the gas room, the door was closed and, immediately afterwards, the two gas experts climbed above and opened 4 cans and emptied them from above either laughing or chatting about various irrelevant things. They put back the concrete slab. Many times they came down to the small scuttle on the door, watching, with a stopwatch in hand, the minutes needed so that none remains alive (a matter of 6-7 minutes). The moment the door was shut well and they threw the first gas can from the hole, the people realized they were going to die.”

Contrary to the current orthodox narrative, the undressing here takes place separately for women and men, and we also find the recurring propaganda story about the soap issued. The story of the four gas cans (and of the two gas experts) belongs to the literary trend also taken up by Nyiszli, and like Nyiszli, Nadsari does not indicate the number of gas-introduction openings; however, the text suggests only one, because it speaks of a single “hole” and a concrete slab, which should be one of the four wooden lids about which Jean-Claude Pressac fabulated. The witness does not even mention the alleged gas introduction devices. The observation of the “gassing” with a watch in hand reminds us of the Gerstein Report, but in the summer of 1944, when Nadjari claims to have witnessed this, such a procedure would have been completely useless, because at that time the alleged “extermination machinery” was well underway and functioning for years. The duration of the gassing of 6-7 minutes, as I noted earlier, is pure nonsense.

Heliotis publishes two drawings from Nadjari’s manuscript which show the Zentralsauna and two barracks in the camp, Nos. 13 and 14. He emphasizes the manuscript does not have any drawings of the crematoria, the fundamental aspect of the testimony. If we want another proof of the fictitious and superficial character of the manuscripts discussed in this chapter, it is sufficient to compare them with the statements made by other members of the “Sonderkommando” after the war, at a time when they had all the means to be precise with whatever they wanted to state, as I will show in Chapter 3.1.

Compared to Henryk Tauber’s declaration of May 24, 1945, for example, everything found in the manuscripts of the “Sonderkommando” sounds like puerile babbling.

 


Part 3:
Testimonies after the Conquest of Auschwitz



	



	3.1. The Soviets

	3.1.1. The First Reports on Auschwitz

As is well known, the Soviets presented their propaganda picture of Auschwitz in the “Report of the Extraordinary State Commission for the Establishment and Investigation of the Crimes of the German Fascist Invaders and Their Accomplices,” which was published by Pravda on May 7, 1945, and subsequently entered into evidence by the Nuremberg Military Tribunal as Document 008-USSR, upon which I shall dwell at length in Subchapter 3.1.3.

This report was also the result of extensive production efforts. On January 27, 1945, advance troops of the 100th Infantry Division of the Red Army, subordinate to the 60th Army of the 1st Ukrainian Front, reached the Auschwitz-Birkenau complex, at that point in time already abandoned by the SS, who had perforce left all the sick inmates behind who were unable to walk. According to the situation on February 2, 1945, there were 4,299 of these inmates in the camp:599 each was an eyewitness to what had happened at the camp.

The Polish historian Filip Friedman, to whom I shall return in Chapter 4.3., overestimated the number of these inmates at 5,000 and asserted (Friedman 1945, p. 107):

“Over 5,000 escapees from the most horrendous slaughterhouse in the world now raise their accusatory voices against the demoniacal Hitlerite criminals.”

Friedman’s book concludes with these words. One can easily infer from this how terribly afraid the SS were that these inmates would reveal the alleged “terrible secret” of Auschwitz.

Within the propagandistic framework of the period, this fact alone is so absurd that some even went so far as to deny it: On March 20, 1945, the Manchester Guardian reproduced a dispatch from Reuters Athens with the headline “Nazis’ Massacre of Greek Jews Survivor’s Account” citing the tale of a Greek Jew who had been deported to Auschwitz. Here is his frenzied rant on the alleged fate of the inmates left behind in the camp by the SS (Leader, p. 219):

“Prior to the evacuation they had taken everyone no longer capable of work to the crematorium on the pretext of ‘disinfection’. Naked men, women, and children were put into an overheated room into which was thrown a special powder producing suffocating gas. Through the spyhole the Germans watched the death struggle of these unfortunates, which lasted some fifteen minutes. Then the bodies were moved to the ovens for burning. Mr. Vatis estimates that over two-thirds of the Greek Jews disappeared without a trace.”


	3.1.2. Boris Polevoy and the First Reports (1945)

The journalist Boris Nikolaevich Polevoy (or Polevoi; real name: Kampov; 1908-1981) inspected Auschwitz Camp in the wake of the Soviet troops.

Already two days after the Soviets arrived at the camp, on January 29, 1945, Polevoy wrote a first report (memorandum) with distinctly fantastic contents:600

“In the first two years, people were killed in the usual way; they were shot and buried in large graves with a capacity of 200-250 people. Hundreds of such graves are located in the eastern part of the camp, which the inmates began to call ‘Hitler valley’. In 1942, the Germans built two crematoria; the first, in which corpses were cremated, just like at Majdanek, outwardly resembles a large lime-burning plant, and the second is the so-called ‘conveyor belt of death’. It was a long building, almost half a kilometer long, at whose end shaft (blast) furnaces [shakhterskiye [sic] pechi; correct: shakhtnye pechi][601] heated with hot coal gas were located; the temperature in the furnaces reached up to 800°[C], so corpses burned in them in 8 minutes; north of the furnaces, there was a longitudinal building with metallic floors, divided into separate cabins. Inmates were brought on trains and told that they must undergo sanitary treatment at that working place; they undressed, men and women separately, in dressing rooms, handed over their belongings, and then went to a room on which [i.e., on whose door] it was written ‘Bath’; there, they were killed with high-voltage current. The floor then opened, and the corpses fell onto the conveyor belts slowly moving to the furnaces, where they were burned; then, the charred bones were passed through the rolling mills[602] and used to fertilize the gardens located around the camp. This building, together with the furnace, was destroyed by the Germans after the Majdanek trial, so one can only see its remains at that place.

All the killing methods, according to the accounts of KOZLOV and MARKOVSKY in general, after the Majdanek trial the Germans did a lot to wipe out the traces of their crime; in particular, they leveled the grave mounds.”

There is no need to dwell on the absurdities of this report. It is important, however, to bear in mind that this was allegedly based on the statements of eyewitnesses.

On February 2, 1945, Pravda published an article by Polevoy, titled “Kombinat smerti v Osventsime” (“The Factory of Death at Auschwitz”), in which we read, among other things:

“Last year, when the Red Army revealed the terrible and disgusting secrets of Majdanek to the entire world, the Germans in Auschwitz began to wipe out the traces of their crimes. They leveled the mounds of the so-called ‘old’ graves in the eastern part of the camp,[603] blew up and destroyed the traces of the electric conveyor belt where hundreds of people had been simultaneously killed with electric current; the corpses fell onto the slow-moving conveyor belt and were carried by it to the shaft [blast] furnace [shakhtnaya pech], where they were completely burned; the bones were crushed in the rolling mills and used to fertilize the fields.”

There were also “special mobile devices for killing children.” In the first years of the camp’s existence, the Germans had used a primitive (amateurish) killing method: inmates were simply taken to a huge pit, forced to lie face down, and shot in the back of the head. When the bodies completely filled the bottom of the pit, other inmates were killed in the same way, forming another layer of bodies, and so on until the pit was filled.

“Hundreds of huge pits in the eastern part of the camp, known as the ‘old’ graves, were filled in this way.”

In 1946, a French governmental publication reported the following version of Polevoy’s fantasies with reference to a “Report from the Russian Services” (Aroneanu, p. 182):

“A 800-900 mètres de l’endroit où se trouvent les fours, les détenus montent dans les wagonnets qui circulent sur les rails. Ils sont, à Auschwitz, de dimen-sions différentes contenant de 10 à 15 personnes. Une fois chargé, le wagon-net est mis en mouvement sur un plan incliné et s’engage à toute allure dans une galerie. Au bout de la galerie se trouve une paroi; derrière, c’est l’accès dans le four. Lorsque le wagonnet vient cogner la paroi, elle s’ouvre automa-tiquement, le wagonnet se renverse en jetant dans le four sa cargaison d’hommes vivants. Ceci fait, un autre de suite, chargé d’un autre groupe et ainsi de suite.”

“800-900 meters from the place where the furnaces were located, the inmates climbed into trolleys running on rails. These trolleys, at Auschwitz, were of different size and could accommodate from 10 to 15 persons. Once loaded, the trolley is set in motion on an inclined plane and sent into a gallery at full speed. At the end of the gallery there was a wall; behind it was the access to the furnace. When the trolley hit the wall, it opened automatically, and the trolley tipped up, throwing its cargo of living people into the furnace. Having done this, another trolley followed, loaded with another group and so on.”

Leo Laptos, an inmate who had worked at Birkenau as a Apotheker pharmacist and who was then transferred to the Dutch camp of Vught, recounted there in September or October 1943 in a conversation with Dr. I. van der Hal

“daß wenn Transporte mit Juden in Auschwitz eintrafen, die meisten der Ankömmlinge sofort vergast und dann verbrannt wurden. Er berichtete, daß die Gaskammern wie Badehäuser ausgestattet waren und daß die Leute angeblich dort duschen sollten, daß statt Wasser Gas aus den Leitungen kam und daß später die Fußböden gekippt wurden, wodurch die Leichen auf ein Förderband fielen, das sie in das Krematorium transportierte.” (de Jong, S. 9)

“that, when transports with Jews arrived at Auschwitz, most of the new arrivals were gassed immediately and then burned. He reported that the gas chambers were equipped like bath houses, and that the people allegedly were to take a shower in them, that gas came out of the pipes instead of water, and that later the floors were tipped up, causing the victims to fall onto a conveyor belt, which transported them to the crematorium.” (de Jong, p. 9)

These absurd stories found an echo in the testimony of a Dutch ex-inmate in 1945, S. van den Bergh:

“Having arrived at the gas chamber, they had to wait in long lines, because when a transport arrived, [the deportees] could not all be processed right away. Group after group came along and were made to enter. They had to undress completely, and hand over all their money and valuables. Their hair was cut and collected; it was useful for German industry. This was followed by the bath, from which no one ever returned. Because when the room was full of people, and the windows and doors were shut, a lethal toxic gas came out of the shower heads [kwam een dodend giftgas uit de douches]. The victims fell down stunned; some died immediately, others came to, and were taken living to the flames. The floor then opened, and the bodies fell onto trolleys [lorries] which were already ready, and the people were dumped into furnaces heated with wood. ‘The chimney is burning again,’ said a man from an adjacent camp, a red glow of flames which, particularly in the evening and at night, filled us with an oppressive disgust, exited from the chimney by many meters.” (van den Bergh, pp. 55f.)

On February 26, 1945, Major-General F.M. Krasavin wrote a “Report on the Nazi Atrocities at the Auschwitz Camp from January 27, 1945,” in which he wrote that “during the existence of the camp, 4.5 to 5 million people were exterminated.” The victims were brought into specially built basements (there were five of them in the camp, with a capacity of 2,000-3,000 people each), after which

“the air was pumped out [vykačivali vozdukh], and gas bombs [gazovye bomby] filled with hydrogen cyanide were thrown in through a special aperture in the ceiling; under the action of [the gas], the people in the basement died within several minutes. After that, the dead were burned in the crematoria; there were five of them, too, with a capacity of 2,500-3,000 people per day each; as they had no time to cremate [all the corpses] in the crematoria, the fascist beasts carried out the cremation in specially dug pits [kanavakh]; children were thrown alive into the pits or into the oven and burned.” (Terushkin/Tikhankina, p. 73)

In addition to an absurd cremation capacity, the report recycled the fantastic themes of pumping air out of the gas chambers, of “gas bombs,” of five crematoria, all dedicated to extermination, and of the ever-present tall tale of the children burned alive.

Of the 4,299 potential witnesses, only a little over 200 (4.7%) were interrogated by the Soviets,604 but only three of them – 0.07% of all the witnesses – were granted the honor of serving as witnesses from the “Sonderkommando”: Szlama Dragon, Henryk Mandelbaum and Henryk Tauber. Their statements in subsequent depositions to the Poles still constitute the framework of the dominant version of history. Before May 7, this narrative was still being worked out. One example for this is the appeal “An die internationale Öffentlichkeit” “An die internationale Öffentlichkeit” “To the International Public,” signed on March 4, 1945 “im Namen der 4000 erretetten (sic)” “in the name of the 4,000 rescued” by four luminaries of medical science: university professors Géza Mansfeld of Budapest, Berthold Epstein of Prague, Henri Limousin of Clairmond Ferrand and lecturer Bruno Fischer of Prague. This was the first official statement that came out of the Auschwitz Camp and also constituted the first attempt to bring coherence to the multiple propagandistic themes circulating in the camp. The presumed gassing procedure is described in it as follows:605

“Die für die Vergasung bestimmten Leute mußten sich vor den Gaskammern ausziehen und wurden dann nackt in die Gaskammern mit Peitschenhieben getrieben. Darauf schloss man die Türen und nahm die Vergasungen vor. Nach ca. 8 Minuten, der Tod trat nach ca. 4 Minuten ein, wurden die Kammern geöffnet und durch ein eigens hierfür bestimmtes Sonderkommando die Leichen hinaustransportiert und zu den einzelnen Feuerstellen der Krematorien gebracht, die Tag und Nacht brannten. Zur Zeit der Ungarntrasporte reichten die Öfen nicht aus und riesige Verbrennungsgräben mußten ausgeworfen werden, um die Leichen aufzunehmen. Hier waren Holzstöße mit Petroleum übergossen worden. Jn diese Brandgruben warf man die Leichen. Oft genug geschah es, daß SS Leute lebende Kinder und Erwachsene in die brennenden Gruben warfen, wo die Ärmsten eines furchtbaren Verbrennungstodes starben. Die zur Verbrennung notwendigen Öle und Fette gewann man, um Petroleum um zu sparen zum Teil aus den Leichen der Vergasten. Auch wurden technische Öle und Fette für Maschinen, ja sogar Waschseifen aus den Leichenteilen gewonnen.”

“The people destined for gassing had to undress before the gas chambers, and were then driven naked into the gas chambers with whip lashes. They then shut the doors and arried out the gassing. After about 8 minutes, death set in after about 4 minutes, the chambers were opened, and the corpses were carried out by a Sonderkommando specifically assigned to this, and taken to the individual hearths of the crematorium, which burned day and night. At the time of the Hungarian transports, the furnaces did not suffice, and gigantic burning pits had to be excavated, in order to accommodate the corpses. Here, stacks of wood had been drenched in petroleum. The corpses were thrown into these burning pits. It often happened enough that SS men threw living children and adults into the burning pits, where the poor creatures died a horrible death by burning. In order to save petroleum, the oils and fats required for the combustion were to some extent obtained from the corpses of those gassed. Technical oils and fats for machinery and even laundry soap was obtained from corpse parts.”

It is truly incredible that these four luminaries endorsed the absurd fables of persons burned alive and of the recovery of “Öle und Fette” “oils and fats” from corpses not only for the manufacture of lubricants, but even for soap! The tale of the claimed gassings is even vaguer: the report says nothing about crematoria and gas chambers; on the other hand, the only precise piece of information, the four-minute duration of a gassing and the opening of the gas chambers after another four minutes, is technically impossible.

The “Report from the Hungarian Physician Dr. Gyula Gál, Budapest,” dated March 22, 1945, shows that the final version was still in the preparatory stages:606

“Die Deutschen haben an diesem Ort ungefähr 5 Millionen Menschen vernichtet, 3 1/2 Millionen Juden und rund 1 1/2 Millionen Polen und Russen.”

“The Germans exterminated at this location approximately 5 million persons, 3½ million Jews and approximately 1½ million Poles and Russians.”

“Jeweils 400 Personen wurden in einen mit Duschen vorsehenen Raum, der so einem Bade glich, hineingebracht. Zunächst drückte man diesen Unglücklichen auch Seife und Handtuch in die Hand, angeblich zum Zwecke des Sichwaschens. Waren alle drinnen, wurden die hermetisch schließbaren Türen verriegelt und man streute mit Zian [sic] gefülltes Zyklon B – das Fabrikat eines Hamburger Firma – wie Pulver auf sie herab. Dieses Pulver wirkte innerhalb von zwei Minuten tödlich.

Unter den Hinrichtungsorganen befanden sich 8 Zahnärzte, die aus dem Munde der Gemordeten die goldenen Zähne herausrissen.

Danach wurden die Leichen ins Krematorium befördert, wo sie innerhalb von zwei Stunden verbrannt wurden, während noch die Vernichtung der Männer vor sich ging, wurden bereits unter herzzerreißenden Szenen die Kinder von ihren Müttern geschieden. Der größte Teil der Kinder wurde lebendig in den brennenden Ofen hineingeworfen, der andere nach vorheriger Erschlagung verbrannt. Schwangere Mütter standen wie im Warteraum in der Nähe des Krematoriums. Sie wurden von den sündigen sadistischen Mördern, die durch ein grünes Kreuz auf dem Rock gekennzeichnet waren und ihren Dienst freiwillig versahen, zu Tode geprügelt. Diese Methode wurde besonders dann angewendet, wann das für die jeweilige Vernichtung von 15.000 Menschen vorgesehene Krematorium die Arbeit nicht schaffen konnte, d. h. wenn mehr als 15.000 gemordet werden sollten. Das war meistens dann, wenn aus Ungarn und Polen neue Opfer in großen Mengen ankamen.”

“400 persons at a time were brought into a room equipped with showers, so that it resembled a shower bath. Initially, the unhappy victims were given soap and towels, allegedly to enable them to wash themselves. When they were all inside, the hermetically sealing doors were bolted shut, and Zyklon B filled with Zian [sic] – the product of a Hamburg corporation – was scattered on them like a powder. This powder had lethal effects within two minutes.

Among the execution personnel were eight dentists, who pulled gold teeth out of the mouths of those murdered.

After that, the corpses were transported to the crematorium, where they were burned within two hours; while the extermination of the men was still going on, heart-breaking scenes occurred when the children were separated from their mothers. The majority of the children were thrown alive into the burning furnaces, while the rest was burned after having been beaten to death. Pregnant mothers stood near the crematorium as if they were in a waiting room. They were beaten to death by the sinful sadistic murderers who were marked with a green cross on their uniform and fulfilled their duty voluntarily. This method was used especially when the crematorium designed for the extermination of 15,000 people each was not up to the task, that is, when more than 15,000 people were to be murdered. This happened mostly when new victims arrived in large numbers from Hungary and Poland.”

Apart from the five million victims, the witness knew only of one single crematorium and one single gas chamber, camouflaged as a shower bath, which could only accommodate 400 persons at a time, who were all supplied with soap and towels. The installation was designed to exterminate 15,000 persons “each,” probably per day, which would correspond to 37.5 gassing batches per day. Hypothetically functioning around the clock, a single gassing with all the related operations would have required only 38 minutes – but at least the SS saved a lot of time by limiting the actual killing to a mere two minutes, if we believe this witness!

The expression “mit Zian gefülltes Zyklon B” “Zyklon B filled with Zian” shows that the witness had no clear understanding of what Zyklon B really was. The theme of the children burned alive (not in cremation pits this time, but in the furnaces) has been escalated to an extreme, just like the tale of the horrors inflicted upon pregnant women.


	3.1.3. The Report of May 7, 1945

This report, written in German, was presented by the Soviets during the Nuremberg Military Tribunal and accepted into evidence as Document 008-USSR, as mentioned earlier.607 The typewritten text in Russian as published by Pravda is preserved at Moscow.608

The version of the presumed extermination of the Jews set forth in this document consequently received benediction as official “truth.” In addition to the inmates mentioned earlier, the Soviets found a great many German documents at the Auschwitz camp archives, estimated at approximately 120,000 pages, containing, among other things, the original blueprints of the crematoria. They moreover thoroughly inspected the Birkenau Camp, including the ruins of the crematoria. All the witnesses interrogated by them, starting with Szlama Dragon and Henryk Tauber, were able to benefit from these discoveries so as to “calibrate” the fantasies of the resistance groups, which had until then lacked any realistic scenario, onto the resulting objective data. They acted like a person who claims to have witnessed a murder in London: the murder is claimed to have happened on the bridge over Serpentine Lake in Hyde Park, but the witness cannot describe the scene correctly until he has visited the scene way after the claimed event.

In the following pages, I shall give an English translation of the salient passages from the original Russian text of the report that are describing the extermination procedure. Words not included in the German translation are underlined:609

“Im Lager Auschwitz gab es Gaskammern und Krematorien, chirurgische Stationen und Laboratorien, alle berechnet auf die Vernichtung menschlicher Lebewesen. Die Deutschen nannten die Gaskammern ‘Baeder fuer besondere Zwecke’. Der Eingang zu dem ‘,Bad’ trug die Aufschrift ‘zur Desinfektion,’ der Ausgang ‘Eingang zum Badehaus’. So gingen die Menschen, die zum Tode bestimmt waren, nichtsahnend in den Raum ‘zur Desinfektion,’ kleideten sich aus, von da wurden sie in das ‘Bad fuer besondere Zwecke’ getrieben wo sie mit Hilfe von ‘Zyklon’-Gift getoetet wurden. […]

Es waren 12 Verbrennungsoefen mit 46 Retorten in vier neuen Krematorien vorhanden. Jede Retorte konnte drei bis fuenf Leichen aufnehmen. Der Vorgang der Einaescherung nahm ungefahr 20 bis 30 Minuten in Anspruch. Die Baeder fuer besondere Zwecke, d.h. die Gaskammern fuer die Toetung der Menschen lagen in Kellern oder besonderen Gebaeuden neben den Krematorien. Ausserdem gab es noch zwei abgesonderte ‘Baeder,’ deren Leichen in besonderen Feuern im Freien verbrannt wurden. Hunde halfen die Menschen, die zum Tode bestimmt waren, in die ‘Baeder’ zu treiben. Auf dem Wege wurden sie mit Keulen- und Kolbenschlaegen angetrieben. Die Tueren der Kammern wurden hermetisch geschlossen und die darin befindlichen Leute mit ‘Zyklon’ vergiftet. Der Tod trat innerhalb von 3-5 Minuten ein; nach 20-30 Minuten wurden die Leichen entfernt und in die Verbrennungsoefen der Krematorien verbracht.

Vor der Einaescherung entfernten Einaescherungs-Dentisten alle Goldzaehne aus den Leichen. Der ‘Anfall’ von den ‘Baedern’ und Gaskammern ueberstieg bei weitem das Fassungsvermoegen der Verbrennungsoefen und deshalb benutzten die Deutschen auch riesige Feuer im Freien um die Leichen zu verbrennen. Gruben von 4-6 m Breite und von 25-30 Laenge und 2 m Tiefe wurden fuer diese Feuer gegraben. Graeben, die auf dem Boden der Gruben entlangliefen, dienten der Luftzufuhr. Die Leichen wurden auf Schmalspurbahnen zu den Feuern geschafft und kreuz und quer wie Feuerholz in Schichten in die Gruben gelegt, Oe1 wurde daruebergegossen und so wurden sie verbrannt. Die Asche wurde in grossen Gruben vergraben oder in die Sola und Weichsel geworfen. […]

Im Lager Auschwitz toeteten und verbrannten die Deutschen taeglich 10.000 -12.000 Menschen und zwar 8.000 -10.000, die mit der Eisenbahn ankamen und sofort erledigt wurden und 2.000 -3.000 Lagerinsassen. Zwei fruehere Gefangene, die als Zeugen vernommen wurden, Shyloma Dragon (ein Einwohner der kleinen Stadt Zitovnin der Provinz Warschau) und Genrich Tauber (aus der Stadt Krzanow in Polen), die in einem Sonderkommando bei der Bedienung der Gaskammern und der Krematorien arbeiteten, bezeugten folgendes:

‘… Zuerst hatten die Deutschen zwei Gaskammern im Abstand von drei Kilometern voneinander. Es waren zwei Holzbaracken bei jeder derselben. Die Leute, die mit dem Zug ankamen, wurden zu den Baracken gebracht, ausgezogen und dann in die Gaskammern getrieben und dann warfen SS-Leute mit Gasmasken ‘Zyklon’ durch die Luken. Die Vergasung dauerte 15-30 Minuten, wonach die Leichen in kleinen Waggons entfernt, zu den Gruben gebracht und dort verbrannt wurden. Spaeter arbeiteten vier Krematorien auf dem Gelaende des Lagers Birkenau und jedes von ihnen hatte eine Gaskammer.

Krematorium Nr.2 und 3 waren von derselben Art und jedes hatte 15 Verbrennungsoefen, waehrend die Krematorien Nr. 4 und 5 von anderer Art waren, weniger gross und von geringerer technischer Qualitaet, jedes mit acht Verbrennungsoefen. Alle diese Krematorien aescherten taeglich zwischen 10.000 und 12.000 Leichen ein. […]

Im Laufe des Bestehens des Lagers Auschwitz haben die deutschen Henker dort nicht weniger als 4.000.000 Staatsangehoerige der USSR. Polen, Frankreich, Jugoslawien, Tschechoslowakei, Rumaenien, Ungarn, Bulgarien, Holland, Belgien und anderer Laender umgebracht.”

“In the Auschwitz Camp there were gas chambers, crematoria, surgical rooms and laboratories – they were all intended for the monstrous extermination of people. The Germans referred to the gas chambers as ‘baths for special purposes,’ On the entrance door of such a ‘bath’ it was written ‘For disinfection,’ and on the exit door, ‘Entry to bath’. Thus, people selected for extermination, without suspecting anything, entered the room [marked] ‘For disinfection,’ undressed, and were driven from there into the ‘bath for special purposes,’ that is, to a gas chamber, where they were exterminated with a poisonous substance named ‘Zyklon’. […]

In the four new crematoria, there were 12 [cremation] furnaces with 46 retorts; each retort could fit from 3 to 5 corpses, the cremation process of which lasted about 20-30 minutes.

At the crematoria, ‘baths for special purposes’ – gas chambers for the killing of people – were built; these were located either in basements or in special annexes to the crematoria. Furthermore, the camp also had two separate ‘baths,’ the corpses from which were burned on special pyres. People selected for extermination were driven into the ‘baths’ by blows with sticks and rifle butts and by dogs. The doors of the chambers were hermetically sealed, and the people inside were poisoned with ‘Zyklon’. Death occurred within 3-5 minutes; after 20-30 minutes, the corpses were removed and taken to the furnaces of the crematoria. Before the cremation, the dentists pulled out gold teeth and crowns from the corpses.

The ‘productivity’ of the ‘baths’ – gas chambers – considerably exceeded the capacity of the cremation furnaces, so the Germans also used huge pyres to burn corpses. For these pyres, special pits 25 to 30 meters long, 4 to 6 meters wide and 2 meters deep were dug. Special channels ran on the bottom of the ditches serving as ashpits [“air supply” in the German translation]. Corpses were brought to the pyres on narrow-gauge rails, stacked up layer-by-layer with [“like” in the German translation] firewood in pits, poured with oil, and burned in this way. The ashes were buried in large pits or thrown into the Sola and Vistula rivers. […]

In the Auschwitz Camp, the Germans daily killed and burned from 10,000 to 12,000 people, 8,000-10,000 of which were from the newly arrived trains, and 2,000–3,000 were camp inmates.

Two former inmates, Shlema [Szlama] Dragon (resident of the borough of Zhirovnin [?], Warsaw Voivodeship) and Genrikh [Henrich] Tauber (from the city of Chrzanow, Poland), who had previously worked in a special squad that serviced the gas chambers and crematoria, were interrogated as witnesses and testified as follows:

‘…At the beginning of the camp’s operation, the Germans had two gas chambers situated at a distance of three kilometers one from another. Two wooden barracks were attached to each of them. People who arrived on trains were taken to the barracks, undressed and led to the gas chamber… 1,500–1,700 people were driven into [each of?] the gas chambers, and then SS men in gas masks threw ‘Zyklon’ inside through the hatches. The gassing lasted from 15 to 20 minutes, after which the corpses were removed and carried in trolleys to the pits, where they were burned… Later, four crematoria operated on the territory of Birkenau camp, and each of them had a gas chamber attached to it. Crematoria nos. 2 and 3 were of identical design and had 15 [cremation] furnaces each, while crematoria nos. 4 and 5 were of a different design, less convenient as far as their size and engineering development are concerned [“less large and of lower technical quality” in the German translation], and had eight ovens each. All these crematoria burned from 10,000 to 12,000 corpses per day.’ […]

During the existence of the Auschwitz Camp, the German butchers exterminated at least 4,000,000 citizens of the USSR, Poland, France, Yugoslavia, Czechoslovakia, Romania, Hungary, Bulgaria, Holland, Belgium and other countries in [this camp].”

The term “bath” for the presumed gas chambers originated from the preceding accounts – the “baths” equipped with showers from which gas sprayed instead of water – while the shower story did not appear true to the Soviets, they had found among the tens of thousands of documents of the Central Construction Office a crutch which they use as “proof” for the “bath” story as such: the well-known Aktenvermerk file memo of August 21, 1942 by SS Untersturmführer Fritz Ertl, where we read:610

“Bezüglich Aufstellung von je 2 Dreimuffelöfen bei den “Badeanstalten für Sonderaktionen” wurde von Ing. Prüfer vorgeschlagen, die Öfen aus einer bereits fertiggestellten Lieferung nach Mogilew [Wießrussland] abzuzweigen und wurde sogleich der Dienststellenleiter [Bischoff] welcher beim SS-Wirtschafts-Verwaltungshauptamt in Berlin anwesend war, hiervon tel. in Kenntnis gesetzt und gebeten, das weitere veranlassen zu wollen”

“On the subject of the erection of 2 triple-muffle furnaces at each of the ‘bathing facilities for special actions,’ engineer Prüfer suggested to divert the furnaces from an available shipment for Mogilev [Byelorussia]; the division head [Bischoff] presently at the SS WVHA in Berlin was informed of this by telephone and was asked to take the necessary steps.””

As I have explained in Chapter 1.6. and also elsewhere (Mattogno 2019, pp. 186-190), the “Badeanstalten für Sonderaktionen” “bathing facilities for special actions” referred either to Crematoria IV and V or to plans for an emergency hygienic-sanitary installation, temporarily considered during the terrible typhus epidemic of the summer of 1942, which was, however, never realized. The Soviets, by contrast, presented it as documentary “proof” of the fantasies of the resistance members, and only Point 2 of the file memo was translated into Russian, which mentions precisely the “Badeastalten für Sonderaktionen” “bathing facilities for special actions” (rendered as “bani osobogo naznacheniya” = “baths for special purposes”), and inexplicably also the first line of Point 4, which mentions the erroneous shipment to Auschwitz of some parts of a double-muffle furnaces that were meant to be shipped to the Mauthausen Camp.611 The Soviet Investigatory Commission decided that the “Badeanstalten für Sonderaktionen” “bathing facilities for special actions” must have been homicidal gas chambers, and linked them to Crematoria IV and V. In a report on the presumed extermination installations at Auschwitz-Birkenau dated February 14 to March 8, 1945, at the end of the section dealing with the two above-mentioned crematoria, we read in fact:612

“It is characteristic that in their official correspondence the Germans referred to the gas chambers as ‘baths for special purposes’ (letter no. 12115/42/Er/Ha. from August 21, 1948 [sic]).”

In the report of May 7, 1945, the Soviets used this translation,613 but unduly extended that designation to all four crematoria.

Based on the documents and the ruins, they knew that there were twelve cremation furnaces at Birkenau with 46 “Retorten” “retorts” (“retorty” in the Russian text), an unusual term they used rather than the more appropriate term “mufeli” (muffles) which appeared in numerous documents.614 The duration of a cremation (20-30 minutes), by contrast, served as “technical” justification for the myth of 4 million victims.

The Soviets also sought to shore up the myth of the immense cremation pits by supplying fantastic details in their regard.

The daily extermination of 10,000-12,000 persons constituted another bogus support item for the 4-million figure (who therefore would all have been exterminated in no more than 400 days).

The Soviet report cites two self-proclaimed members of the “Sonderkommando,” Shyloma (Szlama; in the Russian text: Shlema) Dragon and Genrikh (Henryk)615 Tauber.

Dragon created the final version of the multiple and conflicting, previously uttered fantasies regarding the provisional gassing facilities, but as mentioned earlier, neither Dragon nor the Soviets were familiar with the later-claimed official term “bunker.” As I noted earlier, in his interrogation of February 26, 1945, Dragon always spoke of “gazokamera [газокамерa] 1 and 2.”616 Tauber also used the same verbiage in his interrogation of February 27-28: “gazovye kamery [газовые камеры].” Citing Dragon’s statement, the report of May 7, 1945 claims precisely that the Germans had “two gazovye kamery.”617

The claim of the presence of “eine Gaskammer” “a gas chamber” in each of the crematoria was then “corrected” by the Poles, specifically regarding Crematoria IV and V.

The impossible cremation capacity of 10,000-12,000 bodies per day in the Birkenau crematoria, and the crazy figures relating to the individual installations was the result of an “expert technical report” which had to make possible the fiction of the 4 million victims. In the elaboration of this myth, there is an inextricable connivance between the parties by virtue of which the experts, with their foolish calculations, provided a “scientific” cover to the absurdities proffered by the witnesses.

Within the framework of the investigations of the Soviet Investigatory Commission on Auschwitz, the engineers Dawidowski618 and Doliński (from Poland) as well as Lavrushin and Shuer (from the USSR) in fact wrote an expert report on the “gas chambers” and crematoria of Auschwitz-Birkenau between February 14 and March 8 1945, which contains a brief “Appendix 1” titled “Calculations for Establishing the Number of People Exterminated by the Germans in Auschwitz Сamp.”619 The “expert report” opens with the following preamble:620

“Based on the investigatory materials, it can be established that the Germans, as they carefully wiped out the traces of their crimes and atrocities in the Auschwitz Concentration Camp, destroyed all the documents and data which would have made it possible to establish, more or less exactly, the number of people who died in the camp at the hands of the Hitlerite butchers.

Thus, for example, the Germans destroyed the data on the arrival of trainloads of people at the camp, destroyed the data on the registration of people in the camp, destroyed the data on the quantities of women’s hair, eyeglasses and clothes taken away from the camp, and [the data] on similar indicators which, by using statistical calculation methods, could have thrown light on the actual number of people who died here. Nevertheless, we consider it possible to make calculations for establishing the magnitude of the number that characterizes the scale of the mass extermination of the camp inmates by the Germans.”

In the absence of any documents, the Soviet-Polish experts resorted to a calculation method which is inconclusive in and of itself, into which they furthermore introduced hyperbolically exaggerated parameters: the count of the bodies cremated in the claimed extermination facilities at Auschwitz-Birkenau.

All the calculations relating to cremations in the furnaces are based on the assumption that the crematorium at Auschwitz cremated 9,000 bodies per month, and that the crematoria at Birkenau had the following monthly cremation capacities:621


	
		
				
– Crematorium II:


				
90,000


		

		
				
– Crematorium III:


				
90,000


		

		
				
– Crematorium IV:


				
45,000


		

		
				
– Crematorium V:


				
45,000


		

	

for a total of 270,000 bodies per month.

Such a cremation capacity, corresponding to 9,000 bodies per day (3,000 bodies per day for each of Crematoria II and III, and 1,500 per day for each of Crematoria IV and V), is in reality eight times higher than the theoretical maximum capacity of the facilities!

First of all, the experts divided the activity of these facilities into three periods:

– first period: end of 1941 until March 1943, duration: 14 months;

– second period: March 1943 until May 1944, duration: 13 months;

– third period: May 1943 (sic) until October 1944, duration: 6 months.

“During the first period, Crematorium No. 1, Gas Chambers [gazovye kamery] Nos. 1 and 2, and the pyres next to them were in operation. During the second period, Crematoria Nos. 2, 3, 4 and 5. During the third period, Crematoria Nos. 2, 3, 4 and 5, Gas Chamber No. 2 and the pyres next to it.”

They then performed the calculations based on the parameters determined. First of all, the death toll of the crematoria. For the third period of activity we have:

– 270,000 = theoretical number of bodies cremated monthly in the Birkenau crematoria;

– 6 = number of months of cremation activity;

– 0.9 = fraction of time the crematoria operated,

This results in (270,000 × 6) × 0.9 = 1,450,000 bodies.

For the second period lasting 13 months, the experts assumed a fraction of time during the crematoria operated of only 0.5, resulting in (270,000 × 13) × 0.5 = 1,755,000 bodies, rounded off to 1,750,000.

The experts applied the same time fraction of 0.5 to the first period as well, in which only Crematorium I was in operation for 14 months, so that they calculated: (9,000 × 14) × 0.5 = 63,000 deaths.

Therefore, for the three periods in question, the result would be a total figure of 3,263,000 bodies cremated in the crematoria.

Now to the “bunkers.” For “Gas Chamber No. 2,” that is, the so-called “Bunker 2,” allegedly in operation for six months during the third period, the experts hypothesized a killing capacity of 3,000 persons per day, therefore, 90,000 per month, with a time fraction of 0.5, so that the related number of deaths results in: (90,000 × 6) × 0.5 = 270,000. (They forgot that Bunker 2 was active also during the first period, which would add several hundred thousand victims.)

“Gas chamber No. 1,” the so-called “Bunker 1,” was in operation during the first period for 14 months with a killing capacity of 5,000 persons per day (hence 150,000 per month) and with a time fraction of 0.25, therefore, the related calculation results in: (150,000 × 14) × 0.25 = 525,000 bodies.

The calculated number of bodies in both “bunkers” therefore amounts to 795,000. Adding this figure to the figure of people killed (and cremated) in the crematoria, we obtain the figure of 4,058,000, which the experts rounded off to 4,000,000.

Summing up, the “experts” calculated the following victims:


	
		
				
– Crematorium I:


				
63,000


				
 


		

		
				
– Crematoria II-V:


				
3,200,000


				
 


		

		
				
– “gas chamber no. 1”:
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– “gas chamber no. 2”:
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Total:


				
4,058,000


				
 


		

		
				
Rounded off to


				
4,000,000
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These lunatic ramblings were summarized in the report dated May 7, 1945.623 But the witnesses were just as bad. One of them, a certain Frantsishek (Franciszek) Stanek, who was interrogated on March 3, 1945, attempted to fill the information gap caused by the lack of documents on transports as lamented by the experts. He had worked from 1939 to 1945 as an assistant at the control center of the Auschwitz railway station, and wrote a month-by-month account of the transports that arrived at Auschwitz between January 1942 and October 1944. According to him, there were 150 transports in 1942 alone, each one of them consisting of 30-35 cars, carrying a total of 190,000-200,000 deportees. In 1943, there were 360 transports, each with 35-40 cars, carrying altogether 720,000 deportees. In 1944, he claimed to have witnessed 1,500 transports, each with 50-60 cars, carrying a total of approximately four million people who arrived at Auschwitz between January and October 1944. The total number of deportees therefore amounted to five million!624

The report of May 7 also borrowed the fable of the exploitation of human corpses, claiming to supply documentary proof:625

“Im Jahre 1943 begann man die unverbrannten Knochen fuer industrielle Zwecke zu zermahlen und an die ‘Strem-Gesellschaft’ fuer die Herstellung von Superphosphat zu verkaufen. Schriftliche Beweise sind im Lager gefunden worden, aus denen sich ergibt, dass 112 To. und 600 Kg Knochenmehl von menschlichen Leichen an die ‘Strem-Gesellschaft’ zum Versand gekommen sind” (Meine Hervorhebung)

“In 1943, they began to grind up the unburnt bones for industrial purposes and to sell them to the ‘Strem-Gesellschaft’ for the manufacture of superphosphate. Written proof was found in the camp showing that 112 tons and 600 kilograms of bone meal from human corpses had been shipped to the ‘Strem-Gesellschaft’.” (My emphasis)

In reality, the “proof” is based on the distortion of a list compiled by a Polish inmate on February 27, 1945, and made available by him to the Soviet Commission. It bears the heading “Wykaz nadanych świeżych kości i odpadków kościanych do stacyj Strzemieszyce dla firmy Strem” “List of fresh bones and osseous waste sent to Strzemieszyce station for the Strem company.” This list itemizes the materials sent to the corporation in question, giving the date, car number, and weight. The “Content” column specifies, in German, the type of bone dispatched: “frische Knochen,” fresh bone, “tierische Abfälle,”626 animal waste, “Rinderknochen,” cattle bone, “Leimleder,” skins for glue.627 Therefore, the bones sent to the Strem company were not human, but animal bone.

The fairy tale of the exploitation of human corpses is no doubt derived from the more-or-less intentional misrepresentation of these shipments, and from the presence of a Knochenentfettungsanlage bone-degreasing device in the Schlachthaus slaughterhouse at Auschwitz, as mentioned earlier (Subchapter 2.3.3.).

Notwithstanding the delusional absurdities which it contains, the report of May 7, 1945 became the cornerstone of the final version of the orthodox Holocaust narrative on Auschwitz, precisely because it fixated the fantasies of the resistance members on real places, and “confirmed” them thanks to (false) testimonies and (distorted) documents.

In its time, the Soviet version, notwithstanding the sanctity of officialdom which it received at Nuremberg, was not universally accepted, however, as it remained confined to a specific category of witnesses, as I shall show in the following chapter.


	3.2. Eyewitness Testimonies by “Sonderkommando” Members

In my study of Miklós Nyiszli, I noted that the Auschwitz eyewitnesses can be divided into two large categories. The first includes those who had stayed behind when the SS abandoned the camp, and were still at Auschwitz when the Soviets arrived, or who returned to the Auschwitz region soon afterwards. This exposed them potentially to three months of propaganda bombardment by two investigations – one Soviet, the other Polish – into the presumed extermination in “gas chambers.” Particularly the claimed “eyewitnesses” could not only talk to one another, but they could even examine the places of the claimed crimes, even if they lay in ruins, and could even consult German documents and blueprints. Hence, they were able to absorb the official version of the events which was then beginning to take shape.

The second group consists of inmates who had been evacuated before the arrival of the Soviets. They took with them the propaganda yarns invented by the various resistance movements in the camp, as outlined earlier, imaginatively developing them in various ways, without being able to benefit from the latest “literary” updates. This explains the substantial difference which exists between the declarations of the first category of inmates – those who were subjected to interrogation by the Soviets and by Polish Investigative Judge Jan Sehn – and the reports of witnesses in the second category.

In general, the first category includes precisely those witnesses who, toward the end of the war, found themselves in the Soviet-Polish sector; these were mostly Polish, and they participated in the Warsaw Trial (of Rudolf Höss) and the Krakow Trial (of the Auschwitz camp garrison). The second category consists of witnesses who rendered their statements to the British and U.S.-Americans, and who participated in their trials – particularly in the Belsen and IG-Farben Trials – but some also appeared during the Polish trials.

In this chapter, I shall examine the declarations of the second category’s “eyewitnesses” – all self-proclaimed members of the “Sonderkommando” who testified in the immediate post-war period until the late 1940s, before the rise of nascent orthodox Holocaust historiography in the early 1950s that began to establish a bit of order among the testimonial chaos by informing the public of a broad synthesis of the translations into French628 and English629 of Jan Sehn’s Polish article “Obóz koncentracyjny i zagłady Oświęcim” (“The Auschwitz Concentration and Extermination Camp,” Sehn 1946b).

Well-known persons appear here, such as Miklós Nyiszli, Charles Sigismund Bendel, Milton Buki, and less-well-known ones, such as André Lettich and Arnošt Rosin, and even some who are unknown to orthodox Holocaust historiography, such as Szaja Gertner, Roman Sompolinski and two anonymous inmates. Their statements contain conspicuous and often irreconcilable differences, which are explained with the literary vein to which they are linked or with the lore most-popular among each witness’s ethnic group.

Lettich and Bendel belonged to the French testimonial “school” (so to speak); Gertner, Sompolinski, Buki and the anonymous inmates belonged to the Polish and French testimonial schools, Rosin to the Czechoslovakian and Nyiszli to the Hungarian school. Bendel and Sompolinski signed depositions at the Belsen Trial, Rosin at the Warsaw and Krakow Trials. I shall report the testimonies in chronological order as they were deposited.


	3.2.1. Szaja Gertner (1945)

This witness was a Polish Jew who was deported to Auschwitz from Łódź on an unknown date. He is practically unknown to orthodox Holocaust historiography, since he only appears in the list of members of the “Sonderkommando” compiled by Eric Friedler, Barbara Siebert and Andreas Kilian, where his name is spelled “Gertner, Shaje” (Friedler et al., p. 376), without giving any details and without any reference to his testimony, which was published in a Polish book in 1945. The witness does not indicate the date of his deportation to Auschwitz, but limits himself to reporting that right after his arrival he was assigned to the “Sonderkommando,” which consisted of 400 inmates. I shall report here his description of the gassing and cremation process:630

“The building had the word ‘Badeanstalt’ written on it. Everything they [the deportees] were carrying had to be simply left on the ground. They went inside, undressed completely, after which each person received a receipt for the clothing so as to be able to reclaim it later, plus a piece of soap and a towel, after which they went underneath the shower [pod tusze]. The Germans then rushed inside and began to beat them to cause confusion. The persons did not know what was going on; they threw themselves on top of each other, and fled from each other. The doors to the chamber then opened, and the whole crowd was forced to enter. Suddenly the doors closed, and a can of gas was thrown through a little window [przez okienko]. I worked in this squad for 10 weeks.

After the gassing, they opened the door to the other side – where nobody was supposed to enter – and the windows, and they ventilated for five minutes. The kapos then entered the center [of the room] and dragged out the bodies [away] from the doors and windows, so they could work more quickly. We all had big rubber gloves on and cotton plugs in our mouths. Gas escaped from the bodies as soon as they were moved, so that it was impossible to breathe. Railway tracks ran from the door of the gassing room [gazowni] to the furnace. 40 bodies at a time were loaded onto a trolley, and it went straight to the grate [na ruszt]. These trolleys tipped up into a pit [do dołu], where there was a grate, [and] the bodies immediately began to turn red due to the current [od prądu], and after 10 minutes they were transformed into ashes.

If the current was too low, it left very big ashes, but normally only small residues were left. In the middle there was an apparatus, which they called the ‘Exhauster,’ which blew away the ashes into a nearby pit after every cremation. There, there was a worker who filled a barrel with ashes, and a winch pulled it up. The ashes were then carried away and dumped in the water.”

This testimony is an original reworking of many of the more-widespread fantasies of the time: the victims are, as always, issued soap and a towel, and the presumed gas chambers had doors and a window; the gas was introduced “from a little window,” and the bodies were removed not only through the doors, but through the windows as well.

There were no mechanical ventilation systems, so that the ventilation was performed naturally by opening doors and windows for five minutes. The inmates responsible for removing the bodies did not wear gas masks, but “cotton plugs.” The story that the “gas escaped from the bodies” was borrowed, with some slight retouching, by Nyiszli, as was the term “Exhauster,” retained by Nyiszli in the form of “exhaustor,” a type of ventilator (Mattogno 2020a, pp. 40f.). The tale of the rails that linked the gas chamber to the furnace, however, originates from the Wetzler-Vrba Report or from a common source. The furnace consisted of a “pit” (dół), but it is certainly a distortion of the “shaft (blast) furnace” mentioned in Polevoy’s report, while the fairy tale of the trolleys tipping over into the furnace was taken from Aroneanu’s “Report from the Russian Services” mentioned earlier (Subchapter 3.1.2.). The use of electrical current for the cremation of bodies recalls the fantasy of the “electrical oven” from the Informacja zachodnia of February 10, 1944 (Subchapter 2.3.3.).


	3.2.2. Anonymous Polish Testimony of 1945

A “Description of the Gas Chamber” published in 1945 is attributed to Dr. Otto Wolken, an ex-inmate from Vienna registered at Auschwitz under number 128828, assigned on July 11, 1943.631 Otto Wolken provided substantial material that was used during the trial of Rudolf Höss, including the famous “Quarantäneliste”: According to his interrogation dated April 24, 1945, he was transferred to the BIIa Quarantine Camp at Birkenau, where he was employed as a physician, and on November 10, 1944 he was sent to BIIf Hospital Camp.632 The author of the above-mentioned “Description,” however, was assigned to the “Sonderkommando” on November 4, 1944. Of course, both cannot be true for Otto Wolken. Hence, the name Otto Wolken associated with this text is probably the result of an error. Filip Friedman derives many data from this document, but attributes it to a certain Dr. Jakub Wolman of Lodz (see Chapter 4.3.).

I shall next reproduce the translation of this declaration, classified under number 300. The author was no doubt a Polish Jew (since his testimony appears in a publication of the Jewish Historical Commission of Krakow), which, in 1945, must have been familiar with at least the Soviet version of the gas chamber at Auschwitz. This declaration’s description is rather similar to the Soviet version, but also contains extraneous and fantastic elements, some of which were later developed in the Polish version:633

“On November 4, 1944, we, 100 inmates, were assigned to work servicing the gas chamber and crematorium of Auschwitz. The gas chambers were located in the basements beneath the crematoria. They are accessed by stone steps. The basement is divided into three parts: in the right-hand part, there is the ‘undressing room,’ as is usually found in bathing establishments, on the walls there are shelves and hooks. The left-hand part of the basement is the gas chamber properly speaking. This is accessed through metallic doors in which there is a small round spyhole. On the interior, the spyhole is equipped with a network of iron wire to prevent the desperate victims from breaking it in their death agonies. The second part of the gas chamber consists of a large room (12 x 6 meters) divided by a partition so as to create two rooms. Each of these rooms has the iron doors described above, with observation windows. If there are only a few victims, we work – for reasons of economy – in one single room. Every room is whitewashed and has the following words painted on the walls to deceive the victims, in French, Polish, German, and Dutch: ‘Be careful, don’t forget your soap and towel.’

When all the victims are inside the chamber, some through compulsion, some through disorientation, the doors close hermetically, and now the true action begins.

Three or four gas pipes [rury gazowe] surrounded [okolone] by sturdy iron wire are lowered from above down to the floor, in such a way that the gas entering the basement falls down and penetrates through the holes and apertures in the chamber.

When after a few minutes (3-7), the gas finishes its action, the room is ventilated by fans installed in the walls [w ścianach] and [the ventilated air is] led to the open air.

The bodies [of the] gassing victims are transported by means of an electrical freight elevator located in front of the crematoria [przed-krematoriów]. Here, they are loaded onto a cart [na woza] and are conveyed into the furnaces. Every crematorium possesses 15 apertures, while two, by contrast, had 18. In every one of these apertures three bodies are placed, which burn in 20 minutes. The ashes of the cremated victims are thrown into the Sola River.

It is moreover certain that the bones are processed into a sticky preparation; with the victims’ hair, by contrast, felt is manufactured.

All objects of gold are collected with great care, particularly gold teeth, which are extracted from the victims’ mouths before death [przed śmiercią].

It is worthy of mention that small children are often not gassed, but the head of the crematorium kills them by shooting [them] with a pistol.”

It should immediately be noted that the witness claims to have been assigned to the crematorium on November 4, 1944, but according to Danuta Czech, the gassings had ceased two days earlier (Czech 1989, S. 921/1990, p. 743). The architectonic description of Crematoria II/III is evidently incorrect. For the witness, the basements were located “beneath the crematoria” (“pod krematoriami”), meaning underneath the part of the crematoria located on the ground floor. In a crematorium, the basement was divided “into three parts”: to the right, there was the “undressing room” and to the left was the gas chamber consisting of two rooms. This distinction only makes sense if the “undressing room” and the “gas chamber” were two adjacent rooms, as in Regina Plucer’s description (Subchapter 3.5.3.). In reality, however, the two large basement rooms of Crematoria II and III were perpendicular to each other, separated by another room, hence the distinction between right and left loses all meaning (see Document 11). The gas chamber was divided into two rooms, one of which measured 12 × 6 meters; Leichenkeller Morgue #1 measured 30 × 7 meters, therefore, the other part of the gas chamber must have been some 18 meters long. This presumed subdivision, together with the spyhole protected by an interior grid,634 then became an element of the final Polish version, thanks above all to Henryk Tauber. The presence of “metallic doors,” by contrast, is pure fantasy, like the fairy tale of the soap and towels, which here occurs in a new form, written on the wall: “Be careful, don’t forget your soap and towel.”

The story of the Zyklon-B-introduction devices had not yet been invented, or the witness was only vaguely aware of it. He speaks, in fact, of three or four (sic!) “gas pipes” (rury gazowe) surrounded (okolone) by wire: these were therefore true pipes surrounded by metal wire, not the “iron wire-mesh columns” (słupy siatkowe) as described by Michał Kula.635 It is unclear how they were arranged, whether three or four were located in every gas chamber of whether it was the total number. These evidently movable pipes were lowered down to the floor, and the gas (we do not know which one) exited from “holes” and “apertures,” obviously pierced in the “pipes,” which resembles Nyiszli’s “quadrangular tinplate pipes [négyszögletű vasbádog csövek], their sides pierced throughout with holes like a grill” (Mattogno 2020a, p. 40). The gassing was over after just 3-7 minutes, which, as I have noted earlier, is absurdly short, and the fans were installed “in the walls” (w ścianach), as in the Zyklon-B-disinfestation chambers of buildings BW 5a and 5b.

After being taken to the crematorium by means of the freight elevator, the bodies were loaded “onto a cart” (na woza), which resembles the trolleys of the preceding tales. The claims relating to the cremation furnaces are a little bit confused: “every crematorium” (każde krematorium) had 15 apertures (muffles), but two had 18 of them! If we are to understand a pair (II-III) and another (IV-V), this latter would have had 18 muffles instead of the actual 16. The cremation of three bodies in one muffle within 20 minutes belongs to a different version from the Soviet and Polish versions and finds its best-known supporter in Nyiszli (ibid., p. 43). The duration of 20 minutes for a cremation had already been mentioned in the communiqué of the information service of the Polish Government in Exile of October 11, 1943, and it also appears in one of Salmen Gradowski’s manuscripts. It may have come from the misrepresentation of the operating instructions for the Topf double- and triple-muffle furnace, which required that the furnace blower be left on for 20 minutes.636 The processing of human bone to obtain a “sticky preparation” is a fantasy which had already appeared in Informacja zachodnia (Western Information) No. 16 of February 10, 1944, as mentioned earlier: “There is also a large bone-glue factory at the camp” (Subchapter 2.3.3.). The extraction of gold teeth from the victims “before death” and the killing of children with pistol shots are also well-known basic themes of atrocity propaganda, although the story of the children burned alive was much preferred.


	3.2.3. Roman Sompolinski (1945)

This witness, completely unknown to Holocaust historiography, participated in the Belsen Trial. In this capacity, he signed a detailed statement, in which he stated:637

“1. I was arrested in 1939 because I was a Jew. I am 22 year of age. I was in various camps until I was sent to Auschwitz at the end of 1943. I was transferred to Belsen in December 1944.

2. Whilst at Auschwitz I worked for three months on general duties in one of the gas chambers and crematorium at Auschwitz. Employees on this job got better food than the rest of the prisoners due to the nature of their work. At the end of about 6 months, however, they, themselves, would die in the gas chamber because the SS tried to keep the occurrences in the gas chamber secret. I escaped this fate because I contracted typhus and was removed to hospital and later to Belsen. The following is a description of this particular gas chamber and crematorium and the events enacted therein. Those selected would be told they were going for a bath. They would enter the first room of the building where they would undress and be given towels and soap. This room would hold about 500 people. They would then enter the second room which gave the appearance of a shower-bath room with stone floor and wooden duck boards. Hanging from the ceiling were sprays. Once inside the gas would be turned on by an SS man in a control room underneath the ‘bathroom.’ The people would scream and shout in their agony but the noise was drowned to anyone outside by a brass band playing outside and a wireless [radio] inside. Those in the chamber would be dead in about three to five minutes. Ventilators would then be operated to clear the gas from the room. As soon as the room was clear of gas the workers, including myself, would enter it from a door at the far end of the room and collect the corpses. The bodies would then be put on a chute which would drop them into a subterranean room adjacent to the crematorium ovens. In this room corpses would be received from the chute by a tipper trolley on rails which would hold about 8 bodies at a time. The trolley would then be wheeled by a worker to a platform from which the corpses would be loaded onto a metal stretcher. The base of this consisted of three metal bars. The stretcher would then be wheeled on rails into the mouth of the oven. There the bodies would be dropped into the furnaces by the operator of the stretcher, who manoeuvered levers which opened the metal bars downwards. The bodies would be destroyed in about three minutes. The fuel for the furnace consisted of wood and petrol. The SS man in charge of my party on this job was Oberscharfuhrer Moll. During the three months I was working on this particular gas chamber and crematorium I estimate that a total of about 20,000 people met their deaths this way.”

In another deposition, the witness declared:638

“I only worked at 1 Gas Chamber and crematorium at Auschwitz. It was numbered 1. There were other Gas Chambers and crematoriums at Auschwitz. I never visited any of the other Gas Chambers and crematoriums but I understood from what I was told by members of the German Camp Staff that there were at least five including the one at which I worked. I worked at the Gas Chamber and crematorium No 1 from and including Dec. 1943 to Feb. 1944. At the time that I contracted typhus at the end of Feb. 1944 further Gas Chamber and crematoriums were being built. This I know from what was told me by members of the German Camp Staff. Also from the same source I was told that some of the other Gas Chambers and crematoriums had chutes, down which living people were tipped into the Chamber. There was no chute at No 1.”

Over the course of the hearings, the witness was questioned and cross-examined at length in the hearing of October 1, 1945, but strangely he was never questioned about the gas chambers at Auschwitz; he limited himself to stating:639

“I was employed in the gas chambers in cleaning the gas chambers, in undressing the dead bodies and in taking the bodies away and loading them into the lorries.”

Since the old crematorium at the Auschwitz Main Camp was taken out of service in the summer of 1943 (Mattogno 2016b, p. 23), Sompolinski could not have worked there between December 1943 and February 1944. Exactly because the old crematorium no longer existed as such at that time, Crematorium II in Birkenau was actually renamed Crematorium I, so the witness must refer to this building. Although this building actually had a chute, it was used merely to move corpses from the outside into the basement morgues for storage. It is strange that Sompolinski could not tell how many crematoria there were, as one really couldn’t miss seeing at least Crematorium III just across the camp’s main road while working in Crematorium II, and the other crematoria were also not too far away either.

The witness repeats the fairy tale of the periodic elimination of the “Son∙derkommando” (in his case, every six months), but like Lettich (see Subchapter 3.2.5.), he contradicts himself by introducing a banal subterfuge of having dodged his elimination for “knowing too much” because he was recovering in the hospital from typhus! Had he really been so unfit for labor that he had to be hospitalized, he should have been killed right away exactly because he was unfit for labor and because he “knew too much,” if the orthodox narrative were accurate. But no, the SS went to great lengths and expense in order to restore his health.

After working for three months in Crematorium I (= II), he must have been perfectly familiar with it, but his description mixes the most-familiar propaganda themes, in bulk – the victims are supplied with soap and towels, the gas chamber is camouflaged as a “bath house,” the 3-to-5-minute killing time – with other less-well-known but equally fantastic fantasies:

– the presumed gas chamber had a “stone floor and wooden duck boards” and the gas was not poured in, but was “turned on”640 by an SS man in a control room underneath the “bathroom,” which, as the “bathroom” was already underground (Leichenkeller Morgue #1), had to be located below the basement’s foundation (Kellersohle) consisting of 50 cm of concrete designed to resist the ground-water pressure, menaing that control room would have been submerged in the groundwater;641
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Crematorium II at Birkenau according to Roman Sompolinski; artwork courtesy of the CODOH Forum.


		

	

– the small orchestra and radio to drown out the screams of the victims;

– the imaginary presence of a door “at the far end” of the gas chamber;

– the chute upon which the bodies slid down “into a subterranean room adjacent to the crematorium ovens,” therefore, either the gas chamber was on the ground floor, while the cremation furnaces were located in the basement, or the gas chamber was in the basement and the furnaces in a room below that, on the same level as the imaginary “gas control room”;

– the “tipper trolley on rails” borrowed from the fantasies of the Wetzler-Vrba Report or a common source;

– equally fantastic are the “platform” and structure of the stretcher, consisting of “three metal bars” which opened, dumping the bodies into the muffle; in reality, the stretcher (Leichentrage) used in the crematoria at Birkenau had a fixed bottom of sheet metal,642 and was introduced into the muffle manually, not “wheeled on rails”;

– the duration of a cremation, “about three minutes,” is truly an example of technical folly, even greater than that of the other “eyewitness” from the “Sonderkommando,” Dov Paisikovic, for whom “die Leichen verbrannten in etwa 4 Minuten” “the corpses burned away within in about 4 minutes.”643

The death toll of three months of extermination activities was incredibly low: just 20,000 victims, or on average just over 200 per day!


	3.2.4. Charles Sigismund Bendel (1945-1948)

Bendel, born in Rumania in 1904, moved to France, where he was arrested on November 4, 1943; on December 10, 1943, he was deported to Auschwitz from the Drancy Camp and registered under number 167460. According to his account, he was sent directly to Monowitz, and on January 1, 1944 to Auschwitz; on June 2, he was assigned to the “Sonderkommando” of the crematoria as a physician where he remained until January 17, 1945.

Dr. Bendel may be considered a sort of professional witness: he rendered at least six testimonies and statements:

1. He was a prosecution witness during the Belsen Trial (September 17 to November 17, 1945), in which he was examined by Colonel Backhouse during the hearing of October 1, 1945.644

2. On October 21, 1945, he furthermore signed a statement for this trial, recorded as “Production no. 24,”645 which then became Document NI-11390.

3. Next, Bendel participated in the Tesch Trial (March 1-8, 1946), over the course of which he was examined by Major Draper on the second day of the hearings, March 2, 1946.

4. In 1946, a statement by Bendel appeared in the book Témoignages sur Auschwitz (Fédération national…).

5. On October 7, 1947, Bendel was examined by criminal-police inspector Pierre Berillet from the National General Security Administration of the French Ministry of the Interior. He signed a “Record”646 which was included among the records of the Auschwitz camp garrison trial (held between November 25 and December 16, 1947).

6. Bendel also appeared as a witness for the prosecution during the IG-Farben Trial, at the hearing of March 18, 1948.647

In my study of Miklós Nyiszli, I performed a detailed analysis of all these declarations, stressing their radical falsity (Mattogno 2020a, pp. 304-333). The most-extraordinary fact is that both Nyiszli and Bendel claimed to have been the only physician in the Sonderkommando at the same location and during the same time span, and that they lived in the crematoria at Birkenau for the entire period of their stay at Auschwitz, from early July 1944 until the evacuation of the camp in January 1945. Similarly, both claimed to be the only surviving “Sonderkommando” physician! But they were mutually unaware of each other’s existence, and described incorrect places and mutually contradictory factual assertions.

I shall now very briefly summarize Bendel’s most-important declarations on the extermination installations, referring to my just-mentioned study for further information.

On the Birkenau crematoria, he borrows fantasies previously bandied about, asserting:

“The foundations of these imposing red-brick structures were laid in March 1942. Thousands of inmates worked there and died to build them.”

“Completed in January 1943, their inauguration was honored by the presence of Himmler in person.”

According to Bendel, Crematoria II and III had 16 cremation furnaces each (rather than five with three muffles each) with a cremation capacity of 2,000 bodies per day, while Crematoria IV and V had eight furnaces each, with a capacity of 1,000 bodies per day, for a total of 6,000 per day. This capacity, which is purely fictitious, is taken from the Wetzler-Vrba Report.

The witness repeated the absurd story of the flames exiting the crematory chimneys:

“In the period from July – and particularly in that month, the smoke and flames rose up to about ten meters.”

But he also introduced his own kind of unprecedented blunders:

“At the time I entered the Sonderkommando, the throughput of these furnaces had been deemed insufficient, and they were replaced by three cremation pits, each 12 meters long, 6 meters wide and 1 m 50 deep. The capacity of these pits was formidable: a thousand people in an hour.”

Therefore, the crematoria were abandoned in favor of the cremation ditches! This fairy tale was even repeated by investigating magistrate Jan Sehn:

“Experience gained in the burning of bodies in open ditches in August 1944 showed that this was the most-economical method, the activity of the crematoria was arrested, and starting at that time, the bodies were burned in ditches only, and the sixth crematorium, according to plan, was based on the principle of burning the bodies in open ditches.” (Sehn 1946b, p. 126)

For Bendel, Crematoria II and III each had two gas chambers, each of which could accommodate 1,000 persons; each chamber measured 10 m × 4 m or 10 m × 5 m by 1.5 m in height. Crematoria IV and V each had two gas chambers, with a capacity of 500 persons each, and measuring 6 m × 3 m × 1.5 m. In reality, Leichenkeller Morgue #1, the claimed “gas chamber” in Crematoria II and III, measured 30 m × 7 m × 2.41 m. The varied dimensions of the presumed four gas chambers of Crematoria IV-V, whose ceilings were 2.20 meters high, were just as incompatible with those asserted by the witness.

According to him, moreover, “At the center of these chambers, two latticed pipes that went down from the ceiling with an external valve served to emit the gas,” in contrast to the sheet-metal pipes claimed by the 1945 anonymous Polish member of the “Sonderkommando” and by Nyiszli.

Bendel began his activity in the “Sonderkommando” “one day in June 1944,” but also “in August 1944.” The total number of victims at Auschwitz was “more than four million people,” including 800,000-1,000,000 during his stay at the camp. The total number of victims during the months of May-August was 530,000, but strangely, “During the month of June [1944] the number of gassed was 25,000 every day,” which corresponds to 750,000 victims. These nonsensical figures are furthermore in contradiction with the quantity of Zyklon B allegedly supplied to the crematoria:

“During the months of May and June of 1944 I estimate that a total of 400 tins of Zyklon per month were used for killing people.”

But the proportion between cans of Zyklon B and the number of victims, according to him, was as follows:

“Two tins for one thousand persons; 25,000 per day; then we may say 50 tins per day.”

This means a requirement of (50 cans/day × 30 days =) 1,500 cans for a single month; or, vice versa, that 400 cans would have been enough for (400 cans ÷ 2 cans/1,000 people × 1,000 people =) 200,000 victims.

At Auschwitz, for Bendel, the SS “managed to get 17 tons of gold out of the four million bodies”!


	3.2.5. André Lettich (1946)

This person was deported from France to Auschwitz on Transport No. 8 on July 20, 1942, as shown by the related deportation list,648 and was registered there under number 51224 on July 23. In 1946 he wrote a memorandum whose title translates to Thirty-Four Months in the Concentration Camps which contains the section “Sonderkommando.” The following are a few of the most-pertinent passages (Lettich, pp. 27-30; emphases in original):

“Nous entendîmes, un jour, parler d'un kommando (kommando spécial), où l'on reclamait un médecin et où, disait-on, l'on ne souffrait pas la faim.

Nous voyant dépérir, nous avons demandé à être envoyé en qualité de méde-cin, au bloc où se trouvait ce kommando.

Nous avion cru que le “Sonderkommando” était un kommando qui s'occupait à brûler uniquement les morts; mais dès notre entrée en fontion et notre con-tact avec ces codétenus, nous avon appris sa véritable destination. C'étaient eux, ces codétenus, dans ce kommando special, qui assuraient le service de mort à l'arrivée des trains, lorsque de nouveaux déportés de Pologne, de Tschécoslovaquie, de Yougoslavie, de Belgique, de Hollande, de France, hommes, femmes et enfants innocents, devaient être immédiatement et directe-ment conduits à la chambre à gaz et incinerés.

C'est là que nous avons eu l'occasion de recuiller le témoignage le plus précis sur les actes de barbarie commis par les SS. [...]

Jusqu'à la fin de janvier 1943, il n'existait pas de fours crématoires à Birke-nau. Il y avait, au milieu d'une petite forêt de bouleaux, à environ deux kilo-mètres du camp, une maisonnette d'aspect paisible, dans laquelle avait habité une famille polonaise expulsée ou assassinée. Depuis longtemps cette maison-nette avait été aménagée en chambre à gaz.

A plus de cinq cents mètres de là se trouvaient deux baraquement: les hommes étaient rangés d'une côté, les femmes de l'autre. Très politement, très gentil-ment, on leur fasait un petit discours: “Vous arrivez de voyage, vous êtes sales, vous allez prendre un bain, déshabillez-vous en vitesse.” On distribuait des serviettes et du savon et, subitement, les brutes se réveillaient, prenaient leur vraie figure: on obligeait à grands coups, ce troupeau humain, ces hommes, ces femmes à sortir nus, été comme hiver, et ils devaient franchir ain-si les quelques cents mètres qui les séparaient de la “salle de douche.” Au-dessus de la porte d'entrée se trouvaient les mots “Brausebad” (bains-douches). Au plafond, on pouvait même voir des pommes à douche, qui étaient cimentées mais qui n'ont jamais distribué d'eau. [ ...].

Les portes étaient fermés et dix minutes après la température était assez élevée pour faciliter la volatilisation de l'acide cyanhydrique, car c'est avec de l'acide cyanhydrique que les condamnés étaient gazés. C'étaiet le “Cyklon B,” terre à infusoires impregnée de 20% d'acide cyanhydrique, qu'utilisait la barbarie allemande.

Alors, par une petite lucarne, le SS Unterscharführer MOLL lançait les gaz. Les cris qu'on entendait étaient effrayants; mais au bout de quelques instants, un silence complet régnait. Vingt à vingt-cinq minutes aprés, fenêtres et portes étaient ouvertes pour aérer et les cadavres immédiatement jetés dans des fosses où on le brûlait; MAIS LES DENTISTES AVAIENT, AU PREALABLE, VERIFIE CHAQUE BOUCHE POUR EN EXTRAIRE LES DENTS EN OR. On s'assurait de même si les femmes n'avaient pas intimement dissimulé des bijoux et leurs cheveux étaient coupées et méthodiquement réunis pour une destination industrielle.

Le rendement de cette chambre à gaz ne parut pas suffisant. On ne pouvait gazer que 400 à 500 personnes par jour. Or, avec le plan gigantesque de des-truction de tous les adversaires que le grand Reich avait prévu, et l'on sait combien ils étaient nombreux, on avait commencé, au mois d'août 1942, à construire les fours crématoires.

Quatre fours crématoires ont surgi de terre: constructions ultramodernes, que seuls techniciens allemands ont pu concevoir. Ils étaient surmontés de grandes cheminées comme en possédent les usines. De ces quatre fours, deux avaient neuf foyers, et deux en possédaient six. Dans chaque foyer, on pouvait inciné-rer six cadavres à la fois en l'espace de cinquante minutes environ. Au total: 180 corps réduits en cendres dans une heure. Technique allemande vraiment trés poussée.

Pour donner une idée de la puissance destructive et de l'importance de ces fours, nous dirons simplement que, pour activer les flammes, chaque foyer était muni d'un ventilateur électrique de 12 HP.

Fin janvier 1943 ces fours furent inaugurés solennellement. Une commission composée de hautes personalités allemandes vint de Berlin assister à la pre-miére opération de gazage et crémation. Par de petites lucarnes il leur fut aisé de surveiller la marche de l'asphyxie à l'intérieur sans risque pour leur propre personne. Ces messieurs se déclarèrent satisfaits, car la pétite cérémonie ter-minée, ils rassemblérent tout le personnel du kommando spécial et firent un petit discours en lui promettant qu'il serait bien traité. Finalement, il y eût distribution de cigarettes, de tabac et d'alcool.

Jamais aucun peuple n'avait jusqu'à ce jour imaginé, conçu et réalisé indus-triellement la “liquidation intégrale” de 180 êtres humains à l'heure. L'Alle-magne pouvait être fiére.

C'est ainsi que nous avons pu voir à Auschwitz, pendant prés de trois ans, ar-river de convois de toutes parties de l'Europe, et disparaître, s'évanouir en flammes et fumée dans le ciel d'Auschwitz. Sans exagération, on peut estimer à quatre ou cinq millions le nombre de victimes qui ont péri de cette façon dans ce camp de la mort. Exécution “Kolossale” tout à fait digne de la Kultur al-lemande.

En nous rendant compte du rôle que jouait le Sonderkommando, nous avons été bouleversé et nous avons résolu de faire des démarches pour quitter ce kommando par tous les moyens.

Et ces malheureux du Sonderkommando, qui se figuraient qu'en raison des oc-cupations odieuses auxquelles ils étaient astraints, sous peine de mort, leur vie pourrait être épargnée, ne se doutaient pas du sort que la “technique” alle-mande leurs réservait. [...]

Ces témoins gênants assistaient en effet au déshabillage ainsi qu'au gazage et “liquidant” ensuite les cadavres, ils eussen pu quelque jour avoir la langue trop longue, aussi tous les trois ou quatre mois, la prudence allemande les “liquidait” à leur tour. Les équipes étaient ainsi radicalement et définiti-vement renouvelées.

Nous réussîmes à obtenir notre changement, et on nous envoya au mois de mars, comme médicin, au camp des Tziganes.”

“One day we heard some talk about a squad (special squad), that needed a doctor, and where, they said, nobody was going hungry.

Seeing that we were starving, we asked to be sent as doctors to the block where this squad was located.

We thought that the ‘Sonderkommando’ was a squad responsible for burning dead bodies, nothing else; but as soon as we started working, and as soon as we got in contact with our fellow inmates, we learned its true destination. It was they, these fellow inmates, in this special squad, who were responsible for the death service upon arrival of the trains, when new deportees from Poland or Czechoslovakia, Belgium, Holland, France, men, women and innocent children, were to be immediately and directly taken to the gas chamber and incinerated.

It was there that we had the opportunity to gather the most-precise testimony on the barbarous acts committed by the SS. […]

Until the end of January 1943, there were no crematoria at Birkenau. In the middle of a beech forest, about two kilometers from the camp, there was a peaceful-looking little cottage, where an expelled or murdered Polish family used to live. The cottage had been turned into a gas chamber a long time ago.

Over five hundred meters away from there were two barracks: the men were lined up on one side, and the women on the other. Very politely, very gently, they were given a little speech: ‘You’ve been travelling, you’re dirty, you will take a bath, you must get undressed in a hurry.’ The were given towels and soap, and suddenly, the brutes revealed their true faces: all these naked people, men and women, were driven with heavy blows, were driven the few hundred meters or so which separated them from the ‘shower room’. Above the door, in the entrance way, were the words ‘Brausebad’ (shower bath). At the ceiling one could even see showerheads, which were cemented [in] but never distributed any water. […]

The doors were closed, and ten minutes afterwards, the temperature was high enough to facilitate the evaporation of the hydrogen cyanide, since the doomed persons were gassed with hydrogen cyanide. It was the ‘Cyklon B,’ diatomaceous earth soaked with 20% hydrogen cyanide, which German barbarism was using.

Then, through a little skyhole, SS Unterscharführer Moll threw in the gas. The screams were horrifying; but after a few moments, there was complete silence. Twenty to twenty-five minutes later, windows and doors were opened for ventilation, and the corpses were immediately thrown into ditches, where they were burned; BUT THE DENTISTS HAD ALREADY CHECKED THE MOUTHS OF ALL BODIES TO EXTRACT THE GOLD TEETH. They likewise checked to make sure that the women had not concealed jewels in the most intimate parts of their bodies, and their hair was cut off and methodically collected for an industrial destination.

The yield of this gas chamber did not appear sufficient. It was only possible to gas 400 to 500 persons per day. Now, with the Great Reich’s gigantic plan of destroying all the enemies the Third Reich was expecting – and we know how many of them there were – they began to build the cremation furnaces during the month of August 1942.

Four cremation furnaces rose up out of the ground: ultramodern structures, which could only have been designed by German technicians. They were topped by large chimneys, such as seen on factories. Of these four furnaces, two had nine muffles, and two had six. Six bodies could be cremated in each muffle at the same time, in the space of about fifty minutes. In total, 180 bodies reduced to ashes in an hour. This was really highly advanced German technology.

To give you an idea of the destructive power and size of these furnaces, we will say only that, to fan the flames, each muffle was equipped with a 12-HP electric blower.

These furnaces were solemnly inaugurated at the end of January 1943. A commission consisting of German high officials arrived from Berlin to attend the first gassing and cremation operation. Through little skylights, it was easy for them to monitor the progress of asphyxiation inside the chamber without risk to themselves. These gentlemen declared themselves satisfied, since when the little ceremony was over, they gathered all the personnel from the special squad and gave a little speech, promising them that they would be well treated. At the end, they were given cigarettes, tobacco and alcohol.

Until that time, no people had ever imagined, designed and carried out the industrial ‘complete liquidation’ of 180 human beings per hour. Germany could be proud.

Thus it was that for almost three years we were able to see convoys arriving at Auschwitz from all over Europe, and to disappear in the flames and smoke in the sky over Auschwitz. Without exaggeration, we are able to estimate the number of victims who perished in this manner in this death camp at four or five million. A ‘kolossal’ execution worthy of the German culture.

In rendering an account of the role played by the Sonderkommando, we were shocked, and we resolved to take steps to leave the special squad by any means available.

And these unfortunates of the Sonderkommando, who imagined that, by virtue of the odious tasks they were compelled to perform on pain of death, their lives would be spared, had no idea about the fate reserved for them by German ‘technology’. […]

These inconvenient witnesses were in fact present during the undressing and gassing of the victims and the subsequent ‘liquidation’ of the corpses, thus one day, they might be considered to have ‘seen too much,’ so that German prudence had them ‘liquidated’ every three or four months in turn. The squads were thus radically and definitively renewed.

We succeeded in obtaining a transfer, and we were sent to the Gypsy camp in the month of March, as physicians.”

Lettich was therefore a member of the “Sonderkommando” for a good three years, and therefore must have been perfectly well familiar with the “machinery of extermination.”

He was unaware of the term “bunker,” and did not even know that there were supposed to be two such gassing facilities, as he refers to only one single “cottage” located in the forest “about two kilometers from the camp,” a disproportionate distance for both “bunkers.” He states that there were “two barracks” used as undressing rooms, located “over five hundred meters away” from the bunker, according to a version of the story also known to Szlama Dragon, who, in his deposition of February 26, 1945, stated that “Gas Chamber No. 2” had two undressing barracks, located 500 meters away, later reduced to 30-40 meters in his deposition of May 10 and 11, 1945 (see Chapter 5.3.). Perhaps someone had noticed that only an idiot would have placed the undressing hut 500 meters away from the gas chamber, thus compelling the victims to run the entire distance in the open and requiring major efforts on the part of the guards to prevent them from escaping – and the world from noticing.

The gassing capacity of the “cottage” was rather small: 400-500 persons per day. This whole story formed part of the propagandistic vein derived from the second category of inmates, known even to the British investigators who interrogated Rudolf Höss, compelling him to claim, in his handwritten statement of March 14, 1946, that the capacity of the two “Bauernhäuser” “farmhouses” was “je nach Größe 2-300” “depending on the size 2-300 people” (Mattogno 2020, pp. 26f.). This category also included Arnošt Rosin, who mentioned a capacity of 300 persons (see Subchapter 3.2.9.).

Other elements were taken from the Wetzler-Vrba Report or from a common literary vein: waiting for the temperature to increase “to facilitate the evaporation of the hydrogen cyanide”; the number of muffles in two crematoria (nine), a made-up number of muffles in the other two (six), and the disproportionate capacity of a muffle, six bodies at a time, which burned in fifty minutes. According to a fable also borrowed by Nyiszli (Mattogno 2020a, p. 38), “to fan the flames, each muffle was equipped with a 12-HP electric blower.” Every furnace was in fact equipped with a Gebläse Nr. 275 blower no. 275 with a 3.5-HP motor, which was only used to provide the muffle with combustion air, however, not to fan the flames.649

Lettich evidently knew nothing of the internal structure of the crematoria and presumed gas chambers.

After three years in the “Sonderkommando,” which was supposedly exterminated at regular intervals (“every three or four months”) to prevent its members from revealing the “terrible secret” of Auschwitz, the witness gets himself transferred to the Gypsy camp and is never harassed in the slightest!

This was “the most-precise testimony” on German crimes at Auschwitz, according to Lettich!


	3.2.6. Milton (Meilech) Buki (1946)

This witness was deported to Auschwitz on a transport departing the Mława Ghetto on December 6, 1942, and was registered under number 80312. On January 4, 1946, he signed a statement at Linz, Austria, for an office of the United States War Crimes Division.650 It is titled “Atrocities of SS Oberscharfuehrer in Auschwitz Camp,” which is an indictment of “Hustek-Erbers.” Buki was interned “in the Auschwitz Camp II from December 1942 until January 1945” and formed part of the “special detachment” which operated “mainly in the crematorium.” He immediately recognized “Oberscharfueher Hustek of the political section of the Auschwitz camp” in a photograph shown to him. For the witness, “Hustek” was the factotum of the extermination:

“It was HUSTEK-ERBERS who ordered us to put the gas cells in order and to heat the stoves when a new transport was expected.”

On the ramp at Birkenau, Hustek personally performed the “selection” and chose the victims to be gassed. When the victims arrived at the “gas cell,” it was again Hustek who made the deceptive speech telling the victims that they were about to be take a shower. “He stayed til [sic] the doors of the gas cells were closed.” On November 13 or 23,651 1944, 170 inmates arrived who had worked in a coal mine, and were supposed to be gassed. Although, as mentioned before, the order not to kill any more Jews had been received from Berlin on November 2 according to Czech, “Hustek” personally ordered the killing of these 170 inmates. In April 1944, he personally chose 200 inmates from the “special detachment” who were transferred to Lublin and shot there; in July 1944, he ordered the gassing of another 180 inmates at Birkenau. In September 1944, he requested another 350 inmates on the pretext that they were required for another kind of job, but they rebelled. The next day, “Hustek-Erbers” killed the head of Buki’s “detachment” with his pistol. Hustek was called “the horror” by all the inmates in the camp, and bore the Jewish surname “MALACH-HAMOVES.” The statement ends with these words:

“I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge, the statements made above are true.”

The person accused so imaginatively by Buki was Josef Houstek, who had already changed his name at Auschwitz to Erber. His career at Auschwitz is summarized as follows by Aleksander Lasik (Lasik 1995, p. 282):

“ab Januar 1942 in der Abteilung I, Waffenmeisterei, ab September 1942 Abteilung II, Registratur, danach in der Aufnahme- und Entlassungsbüreau der Häftlinge, Chef der Zweigstelle dieser Abteilung im KL Auschwitz-Birkenau. Nach der Lagerevakuierung im KL Groß-Rosen und KL Mauthausen.”

“starting in January 1942 in Department I, Armory, since September 1942 Department II, Records Office, and thereafter in the Inmate Admissions and Discharge Office, head of the subsidiary branch of this department at Auschwitz-Birkenau. After the evacuation, served at the Gross-Rosen and Mauthausen Camps.”

Abteilung Department II was the Politische Abteilung Political Department, of which the “Registratur. Organisation und Karteiführung” “Records Office, Organization and Card File Maintenance” as well as the “Aufnahme- und Entlassungsbüreau” “Admissions and Discharge Office” were sections. It is obvious that Houstek-Erber had nothing to do with the presumed gassings and crematoria, and that the crimes of which he stands accused by this “eyewitness” were those ascribed by other witnesses to SS Hauptscharführer Otto Moll. Houstek was nevertheless mentioned by Filip Müller as the “the bringer of ill tidings.” For that reason, the “Sonderkommando” members called him “Malchemoves,” “Todesengel” “Angel of Death” (Müller, S. 150/p. 94), a nickname otherwise used in conjunction with Dr. Josef Mengele. Buki’s blatantly obvious lies open a scenario which is often mentioned only in passing: false statements against SS members by prosecution witnesses called to testify against the SS, and the evolution of these false statements over the course of later testimonies. In this specific case, Houstek was covered by the broader framework of investigations into Maximilian Grabner, former head of the Auschwitz Camp’s Politische Abteilung Political Department, who had been arrested by virtue of Haftbefehl Nr. Arrest Warrant No. 1619 by the PolizeidirektionVienna Police Department on August 3, 1945.652 Among the witnesses interrogated by this office was a former Auschwitz inmate named Hermann Langbein, future inmate historian of this camp. In a record dated August 8, 1945, Langbein declared the following, among other things:653

“Selbstverständlich war Grabner zugegen bei den Massenvergasungen der Transporte, die nach Auschwitz kamen. Im Zuge dieser Transporte wurden etwa 5.000.000 Menschen vergast. Ebenfalls war Grabner zugegen bei den Massenliquidierungen der Russen (1.200.0.000 [sic]) wurden allein im ersten Winter ermordet).”

“Of course, Grabner was present at the mass gassings of the transports coming into Auschwitz. Over the course of these transports, some 5,000,000 people were gassed. Grabner was likewise present at the mass liquidations of the Russians (1,200,0,000 [sic] were murdered in the first winter alone).”

Buki’s accusations fit into this context. On January 7, 1946, he signed another statement directed specifically against Grabner, in which he asserted:654

“Bin ins Lager Birkenau im Jahre 1942 als Schutzhäftling eingeliefert worden und gleich nach den ersten Tagen meines Aufenthaltes im Lager wurde ich zu dem Sonderkommando zugeteilt, welches in und ausserhalb des Krematoriums die Arbeiten durchzuführen hatte.”

“I was admitted to the Birkenau Camp in 1942 as a prisoner in protective custody, and immediately after the first few days of my stay at the camp I was assigned to the special detachment, which had to do the work inside and around the crematorium.”

As mentioned earlier, Buki reached Auschwitz on December 6, 1942, but Crematorium II only began its alleged extermination activities on March 13, 1943; therefore, the testimony contains an obvious anachronism. The crematorium is only mentioned once, always in the singular:

“Meine Arbeit bestand darin, die Leichen aus den Gaskammern zu den verschiedenen Verbrennungsorten (Krematorium, Verbrennungsgruben) zu schaffen. Diese verrichtete ich bis November 1944, wo [sic] die Vergasungen eingstellt wurden.”

“My work consisted of hauling the corpses out of the gas chambers to the various cremation locations (crematorium, cremation pits). I did this until November 1944, when the gassings were stopped.”

Grabner was claimed to have been present at the “selections.” The following is Buki’s description of the gassings:

“Die Leute welche zum Vergasen bestimmt worden sind eiligst zu den bestimmten Räumlichkeiten abgeführt worden. Sie wurden angeholten sich schleunigst vollkommen zu entkleiden unter dem Vorwand, das [sic] sie ins Bad geführt wurden. Die beim Ausziehen sich nicht genug beeilt hatten, wurden von den SS brutal mit Prügel geschlagen, ausserdem war die Hitze in den Gaskammern so gross, dass die meisten Leute dadurch schon benommen waren, bevor sie eigentlich starben. Auch bei diesen Aktionen war manchmal Obersturmführer Grabner zugegen. Die eigentliche Vergasung dauerte 6 bis 8 Minuten und die Zimmer wurden nach einer halben Stunde geöffnet, worauf die Leichen, die mitunter so ineinander verkrampft waren, dass man sie auseinander reissen musste, zur Verbrennung zugeführt [wurden].”

“The people slated to be gassed were taken away to the intended [gassing] premises as quickly as possible. They were then told to undress completely on the pretext that they were led into a bath. Those who were too slow in undressing were brutally beaten with truncheons by SS men; in addition, the heat in the gas chambers was so great that most of the people were already benumbed before they actually died. Grabner was sometimes present during these actions as well. The gassing itself lasted between 6 and 8 minutes, and the chamber was opened after half an hour, whereupon the corpses, which were sometimes so clenched up together that they had to be pried apart, were taken away to [be] burned.”

Buki only knew about one single crematorium, and was completely unaware of the presumed “bunkers.” His description of the gassing procedure is very vague, and we are unable to understand where these “Zimmer” “rooms” were located, or how the victims were killed. And for a person who pretends to have been a member of the “Sonderkommando” from December 1942 until November 1944, such ignorance is truly excessive. He only mitigated his scanty knowledge with gleanings from the nascent Holocaust historiography. During the Frankfurt Auschwitz Trial, on January 14, 1965, he became one of the witnesses for the claimed events at the “bunkers,” referred to by Buki as “kleine Häuschen” “little cottages” (Naumann, pp. 426-428), and 15 years later in a deposition made in Jerusalem, as a “brick farmhouse.”655


	3.2.7. Miklós Nyiszli (1946)

I dedicated a separate study to this unique individual, to which I refer the interested reader (Mattogno 2020a). In his famous memoir I Was Dr. Mengele’s Forensic Pathologist in the Auschwitz Crematorium (see Mattogn 2020a, pp. 19-131), Hungarian-Jewish physician Miklós Nyiszli wrote that he had been deported to Auschwitz at the end of May 1944 (his number, A-8450, was assigned on May 29), and that he was assigned to Crematorium II after a couple of days, thus coming to form part of the “Sonderkommando.” He claims to have remained in this position until the final evacuation of the camp. However, it is documented that he was assigned to Monowitz immediately after his arrival, whence he was sent to Sector BIIf of the Birkenau Camp based on a transfer order of June 27, 1944. And this is not the only chronological contradiction in his account, and not even the most serious one, as I have shown in a respective chapter (ibid., pp. 272-275).

The most disconcerting fact is that, in addition to the above-mentioned memoirs, he also wrote a series of articles after the war which appeared in 27 installments in the Budapest newspaper Világ (World) between April 18 and May 22, 1948, in which he set forth a very detailed account of his direct examination by U.S. prosecutor Emanuel Minskoff during the IG-Farben Trial, properly known as “United States of America v. Carl Krauch et al.,” which was held at Nuremberg between August 14, 1947 and July 30, 1948. However, Nyiszli never participated in that trial at all! He reported ample – but completely invented – excerpts from the hearings, with the prosecutor’s questions and his own answers, describing the disconcertment of the judges and the public at his terrible revelations. He mentions the testimony of Stössel, a non-existent witness, and “saw” Dr. Eduard Wirths, the former Auschwitz SS garrison physician sitting among the defendants, although Wirths had committed suicide while being held prisoner by the British in September 1945.

Such are the witness’s credentials. My critical analysis of his statements is organized in ten chapters; here, I shall limit myself to a brief summary of those relating to the presumed extermination facilities at Auschwitz (ibid., pp. 190-264).

For Nyiszli, what he calls “Cyclon” was “chlorine in granular form”; the gas developed immediately, “as soon as it comes into contact with air”; Zyklon consisted of “, purple [or rather] burgundy-colored chlorine pellets,” which “developed chlorine gas that caused the most-cruel death by suffocation within 5 to 10 minutes.” Again, it was a “a chemical combination of acidum hydrocianatum [hydrogen cyanide], chlorine and in all probability nitrogen in a way whose chemical formula” Nyiszli pretended not to know, since it was secret, or so he claimed, which is nonsense. The carrier substance was “calcium silicate,” when in fact it was calcium sulfate (gypsum). He had succeeded in discovering that the name “Cyclon” was derived from the abbreviation of its essential ingredients: cyanide, chlorine and nitrogen, and that a “Cyclon A” also existed, which was a disinfectant, and a “Cyclon B,” which was used for purposes of extermination.

Nyiszli’s various testimonies taken as a whole often contain innumerable bits of idiocy all lumped together. Zyklon B was not chlorine-based, but, as is well known, exclusively hydrogen cyanide. It evaporated not due to coming in contact with the air, but under any circumstances in which it was released from its sealed container (rather like paint, or glue) and with a speed depending only on temperature and humidity. The granules were not purple or pink, but could have a bluish hue, as mentioned earlier (this is true only for the gypsum-based Erco-type of Zyklon B as used at Auschwitz). Nitrogen, like chlorine, was not a component of Zyklon B, and Nyiszli’s “discovery” of the pesticide’s name being an abbreviation of its components is ridiculous, because the German term is “Zyklon” – not “Cyclon.” Moreover, chlorine in German is called “Chlor,” while nitrogen is called “Stickstoff.” As for Zyklon A, this had not been in production since the end of World War I due to a respective prohibition clause in the Versailles Treaty. Zyklon is German for “cyclone.”

Nyszli knew nothing of any “Bunker 2” as a mass-gassing facility, which was allegedly operating at full tilt when he saw it in the summer of 1944. He described that facility instead as “a long, shabbily plastered, thatch-roofed house.” Yet Nyiszli never even noticed the canonical four gas chambers the building allegedly contained, but only “a single long room,” obtained by demolishing the partitions, which was “an undressing room” where the victims left their clothing before being escorted naked approximately 150 meters to two burning pits, before SS soldiers armed with 6-mm weapons along the perimeter. They fired one bullet into the back of the victims’ necks, knocking them into the burning pit. The two ditches measured 50 m × 6 m × 3 m and had a daily capacity of 5,000 to 6,000 victims. Nyiszli knew nothing about cremation pits in the courtyard of Crematorium V. He knew the term “bunker,” but for him, the “bunker,” as I have mentioned earlier, referred to the underground gas chamber of Crematoria II and III, the “underground bunkers” (Mattogno 2020a, p. 137).

His description of Crematorium II, in which he claimed to have spent whole months, is astonishing. The “undressing room” was 200 meters long, and had “an oak double door” through which the victims went straight into the gas chamber, which was also 200 meters long. But Leichenkeller Morgue #2, the alleged undressing room, measured 49.49 meters, and Leichenkeller Morgue #1, the claimed gas chamber, measured 30 meters, and a corridor 1.97 m wide and 5.30 m long led from Morgue #2 through a double door measuring 2.10 m × 1.80 m into the Vorraumvestibule, which in turn provided access to Leichenkeller Morgue #1, through a single door measuring 100 cm [39 inches] wide × 192 cm, which is an ideal width if you want to allow rapid passage of the 3,000 victims mentioned by Nyiszli!

After the gassing, we are presented with the following scenario:

“The bodies do not lie all over the length and breadth of the room but rather in a single, story-high heap. The explanation for this is that the fallen gas granules first permeate the air layer above the concrete floor with their deadly vapors and only gradually saturate the higher layers of air in the room. This forces the unfortunate victims to trample each other, to climb over one another. In the higher layers the gas thus reaches them later. What a terrible struggle for life must take place there, and yet the time won is only one or two minutes in all! Could they but think about it, they would know that they are trampling their parents, their wives, their children in vain, but they cannot! What they do is a survival reflex! I notice that at the bottom of the tower of bodies lie the babies, children, women and aged, at the top, the stronger men.”

This horror story was invented by Nyiszli based on the false presupposition that Zyklon B was chlorine, which, as it is heavier than air, would indeed fill a room gradually from the bottom upwards, the way water fills a basin, but hydrogen cyanide is slightly lighter than air.

The bodies were then taken to the ground floor by means of “Four large mechanical freight elevators,” but there was only one Aufzug elevator in the crematorium. The furnace room contained “fifteen cremation furnaces” “installed separately in large red-brick structures,” that is, 15 individual furnaces, while there were in fact five triple-muffle furnaces. “The furnaces’ (muffles’) heavy iron doors” opened “automatically,” which is pure fantasy. The bodies were put three at a time into each furnace (muffle), and their cremation lasted 20 minutes, in accordance with one of the many versions relating to the cremations:

“The bodies of the dead are reduced to ashes in 20 minutes. The crematorium works with 15 furnaces. This means the cremation of 5,000 people a day. Four

crematoria are in operation at the same capacity. Altogether 20,000 people pass each day through the gas chambers and from there into the cremation furnaces. The souls of twenty-thousand innocent people fly off through the gigantic chimneys.”

The figure of 20,000 cremations per day results from the fact that, for Nyiszli, the four crematoria each had 15 muffles, hence 60 in total, while it is known that Crematorium IV and V (where Nyiszli claimed to have been transferred after October 6, 1944, where he allegedly remained until January 1945), each had one eight-muffle furnace, so that the total number of muffles was 46, not 60. Besides, the correctly calculated daily cremation capacity resulting from three bodies in 60 furnaces every 20 minutes would be 12,960, not 20,000. Even Nyiszli’s arithmetic was wrong.

This brief summary is more than sufficient to show the fraudulent and nonsensical nature of Nyiszli’s declarations. Nevertheless, both Jean-Claude Pressac and Charles Provan attempted to rehabilitate him to some extent (ibid., pp. 363-379), a truly quixotic undertaking which Nyiszli himself seriously sabotaged through his other nonsensical claims, such as, for example, that the Kanada section of the camp, where the “Effektenlager” inmates’ personal property was stored in 30 barracks arranged in three rows of ten barracks each, located to the south of Crematorium IV, east of the Zentralsauna and west of Sector BIIf, according to Nyiszli was a “garbage heap” where they burned rather than stored inmate property considered by the SS to be “useless.” Or take Nyiszli’s claim that the Birkenau Camp was located 2 km away from Crematorium V, which was of course located inside the Birkenau camp; or that the lifespan of a “Sonderkommando” unit was limited to four months by the SS, while Nyiszli’s “Sonderkommando” allegedly was already the 12th in a row, so that the first “Sonderkommando” would have been established already in October 1940 (when in fact it is said to have been created only in early 1942); or that on October 7, 1944, Nyiszli was present at the gassing of a Jewish transport originating from the Riga Ghetto, when the only Jewish transport from Riga arrived at Auschwitz on November 5, 1943; or that he followed “two million innocent people” with his eyes right up “to the gas chambers,” and was moreover “witness to the horrors of the pyres,” which would bring the number of victims “seen” by him up to an even-higher figure (the pyres having had a claimed capacity of 5,000 to 6,000 victims per day, hence 150,000-180,000 per month), but adding up all the gassings actually mentioned by him does not even yield 733,000 victims (see Mattogno 2020a, pp. 244f.).


	3.2.8. Anonymous Polish Testimony of 1946

Another anonymous member of the “Sonderkommando” signed a statement which is reproduced in a Polish book published in 1946, with the following presentation:

“Over the period from January 20 to March 16, 1944, the witness was a member of the special squad of inmates at the Auschwitz Concentration Camp who worked with the gassings and cremations of persons in the crematoria, the so-called Sonderkommando.”

The following is a translation of the salient part of the statement (Rajewski, pp. 119-121):

“The trucks arrived in front of the crematorium, which looked like a factory from the outside, with a big rectangular chimney. [The SS] gently helped the [people] in getting down off the trucks, telling [them]: ‘This is just a bath house.’ [public bath] Before they got undressed in the bath house, they called upon the [new] arrivals to hand over their valuables voluntarily, as they would be returned, after which they told the women and children to get undressed first. Women and children received a towel and soap. When the women were already undressed, they told them with [feigned] embarrassment that they would unfortunately have to bathe together with the men, because the next transport would be there soon, and all the baths were occupied. A moment later, the big hermetically sealed door opened that led from the undressing room to the presumed bath. The women and children entered first, then the men. This room looked like a bath; only the windows were missing. The inmates from the Sonderkommando hung around in the room for a few minutes, asking the people again to hand over all their valuables voluntarily, because even naked people succeeded in hiding their valuables in their hair or in their body cavities. A whistle sounded, they were all in the bath, all ready, the inmates wished them a ‘good bath,’ and went outside, all of them; the door closed, automatically emitting a signal. It was the warning for Oberscharführer Traub and his adjutant Rapportführers, young Lithuanian students from Kovno [Kaunas].

These three men opened the valves [kurki] on the 8-10 gas cylinders [bomb z gazem] full of HCN (hydrogen cyanide). These cylinders were linked to the showers in the presumed ‘bath’ by means of tubes, and gas escaped into the gas chamber through the showers [Bomby te są połączone rurkami z owymi prysznicami rzekomej łaźni i przez prysznice gaz dostaje się do komory gazowej]. The inmates from the Sonderkommando listened through the thick wall to the horrifying screams of the persons dying of asphyxiation (on average, from 800 to 1,000 persons). The screams lasted approximately 2 minutes, then all was still.

Now the ventilators began their work, which extracted the air-gas mixture from the gas chamber for three hours [przez trzy godziny] and expelled it to the exterior through long tubes. When the ventilators finished their work, the hermetically sealed door opens, and a pile of bodies a meter and a half high fell out. When the victims [felt] themselves suffocating due to the gas, they ran to the only way out of the chamber – the hermetically sealed door. For that reason, the inmates found more bodies near the door than anywhere else. […]

A long, hidden corridor, without windows, leads from the gas chamber, linking it to four large furnaces [z czteroma wielkimi piecami] constituting the crematorium. The inmates line up and pass the bodies from hand to hand, and throw them into the furnace from the last hand in the chain. The furnace consists of a big plate capable of containing 50-60 bodies. Under the plate is the fire, stoked by inmates [Heizerów = Heizer, stokers] and burning continuously. The furnace works in such a way that the flames escaping from below the plate completely envelop the bodies, which burn rather rapidly (60 bodies in about three hours, therefore 4 furnaces burned a transport of 1,000 persons within 12 hours). When the bodies were incinerated, the mobile plate tipped, the ashes fell off, and made room for the next crop of bodies.”

This eye-witness testimony combines and mixes well-known propaganda themes with great inventiveness. From the ever-present hand-out of towels and soap, the scenario develops with new themes, beginning with the gassers: “Oberscharführer Traub and his two adjutant Rapportführers, young Lithuanian students from Kaunas.” “Traub” is an unknown person, and the SS men with similarly sounding names (SS Unterscharführer Adolf Taube, SS Sturmbannführer Karl Tauber) were not at all involved in the presumed gassings according to orthodox Holocaust historiography, which were moreover performed by the SS-Desinfektoren SS disinfectors and SS-Sanitätsdienstgrade SS paramedics, not by Rapportführer; moreover no Lithuanians are known to have occupied such a position.

The witness had very probably heard vague talk of the phantasmagorical “cylinders containing hydrogen cyanide” [bomby z kwasem pruskim] as reported by Polish underground sources, and was familiar with the “gas showers,” therefore he interpreted the term “bomba” as a cylinder containing gaseous hydrogen cyanide, which could flow into the gas chamber through tubes!

The impossibly brief agony of the victims (two minutes) forms part of the propagandistic canon, but the ventilation takes an extremely long time: three hours. The story of the pile of bodies a meter and a half high spread insidiously through subsequent testimonies and reblossomed in the testimony of Schlomo Venezia over sixty years later (Venezia, p. 93). The “long, hidden corridor” recalls the fantastic statements of Wetzler-Vrba and Ada Bimko (see Chapter 3.5.1.), but is not equipped here with rails upon which run trolleys full of bodies: here, the bodies were carried from the gas chamber to the furance room from hand to hand along a human chain!

The eyewitness’s fantasies are unleashed without restraint in his description of the furnaces. The crematorium – we don’t know which one – contained four furnaces equipped with a plate [płyta] with a capacity of 50-60 bodies, which were cremated within about three hours; the plate could tip,656 enabling the load of ash to slide off. (But wasn’t the fire which enveloped the plate and the bodies placed on it down there?)


	3.2.9. Arnošt (Ernst, Arnold) Rosin (1947)

Rosin was deported to Auschwitz from Slovakia on April 17, 1942 and was registered under number 29858. A mentioned earlier, he escaped from the camp on May 27, 1944 together with Czesław Mordowicz, with whom he wrote a report which was added to the Wetzler-Vrba Report and published in November 1944 by the War Refugee Board.

At the Höss Trial, the witness declared:657

“I arrived at Auschwitz in 1942, and was taken to Birkenau. At the time, Birkenau was not yet a concentration camp, there were just wooden barracks, a few of brick. There were 3,000 persons: Poles, French, Slovakians, but above all Soviet prisoners, kept separate from the others. 14 persons were selected for a certain Sonderkommando, as I have said. We had to go outside the camp, into the woods, where we dug a few trenches [okopy] 70-80 meters long and 5 wide. There we remained for 14 days. We did not know what we were working for. To the right of these barracks were a couple of cottages [parą małych domów] from which persons were taken away. These barracks were eventually built and repaired there.[658]

Later on, from the trenches, a narrow-gauge rail line was laid to the cottages. 30 inmates were then selected for Sonderkommando II. These inmates lived near the barracks and repaired it. They brought in chlorine in large barrels weighing 400-500 kg. We had to work like this all day. When we got there in the morning, they wouldn’t let us approach these pits, which had water in the bottom. Two pumps arrived from Auschwitz, from the fire station. The defendants Höss, Aumeier, Schwarz and also a few Germans whose names I don’t know, because we had only been at camp a few months. They pumped out the water, and a few transports arrived during the night. We only learned this in the morning, when we went to these pits and had to cover the bodies in a uniform manner, which were covered [only] by a thin layer of earth.

Every once in a while, I saw human bones, hands, then we had to move away again, and from these bunkers [z tych bunkrów] they brought us some bread. When we returned by another road, we saw children’s shoes, shoes, hair, there were wigs, and so on. It went like this for about three months.

Then these 30-100 persons from the Kommandos were combined in one single Kommando. This was the special Kommando [specjalne komando], and no inmate could enter into contact with it. This Kommando grew continually, because the crematorium did not exist yet.

The job of removing these bodies again began in September 1942. We formed a big circle using these bodies, normally they were burned, the smoke and stench of the burning of these bodies extended for several kilometers.

The Kommandos arriving at our camp, when we became aware of what was going on, attempted to escape. This escape was revealed by an inmate. The entire Sonderkommando, consisting of 300 persons, was taken to Auschwitz and were all exterminated. And this occurred immediately, I think that this was not an order issued by Berlin, but was a direct order from Commandant Höss, who ordered their destruction.

There was a transport of Polish Jews from around Mława, the numbers [assigned to them were around] 82000. These Jews were supposed to burn the persons who arrived after them.

The first crematorium was built in February 1943. 32 trucks full of Jews then arrived from Krakow. The two last trucks had the good fortune to suffer a breakdown, so they stayed there, while 30 [other] trucks went to the crematorium. Since it was the first gassing, the following persons were present: Frank, from Krakow, Himmler and his whole general staff, who watched and observed this first gassing.

I wish to add that over the period in which the Hungarian action was carried out, Höss took part in it and was at the ramp, where the selections took place.

Prosecutor Cyprian: Frank and which others were present at this action?

Witness: There was Frank, from Krakow, Himmler, Höss and the entire rank of superior officers of the command.

Prosecutor: At the time when the witness covered the pits containing the bodies, were the persons burned or [only] killed?

Witness: Persons were gassed in the little chamber [w małej komórce], in the white cottage [w białym domku]. This little chamber, it could not hold more than 300 persons. It measured 4 x 4 or 5 x 5 meters. We were not permitted to go there, only those 30 persons who were staying there could go there.”

Rosin also testified at the Auschwitz Camp Garrison Trial, where he declared:659

“I was an inmate from Auschwitz and Birkenau Concentration Camp. In 1942, I was deported to Auschwitz Concentration Camp, where I remained 3 days before being transferred to Birkenau. The next week, I was assigned to the so-called ‘Sonderkommando’. At first, our work consisted of digging pits. At the time, our Kommandoführer was the defendant Plagge. At first, we didn’t know what we were digging these pits for, until the day of the first gassing [pierwsze gazowanie] in the small gas chamber [w małej komorze gazowej] at Birkenau; in the morning, when we got to our work [station], there were persons in the pits covered up [with dirt] but we could see legs and in some cases bodies. This was the day that two pumps from the fire station arrived at Auschwitz, while Aumeier and Grabner were there.

I would like to testify as to the individual defendants. On December 3, the Sonderkommando, consisting of 300 persons, was gassed at Auschwitz for preparing to escape. The rest of the Sonderkommando, 10-12 persons, remained in the block and was then taken to the so-called ‘death chamber’ [komora śmierci] – this was the place set aside for the bodies – and the defendant Plagge shot them personally. The camp elder was present as well as an inmate from the hospital.

I would moreover like to stress that I did not see all the SS killing people. On the bench, with the other defendants, sits Buntrock, who did not kill people, but tormented them, and those who did not kill anyone were no better than those who did.

President of the Tribunal: Does the witness know the defendant Buntrock personally?

Witness: With regard to Buntrock, I wish to comment [as follows]. I escaped from Birkenau in 1942 [sic]. In 1945, I saw him in Bratislava as he was walking down the street. I would like to ask whether Buntrock will confirm this.

President of the Tribunal: Defendant Buntrock, do you confirm that the witness recognized you at Bratislava?

Defendant Buntrock: No. I would like to make a statement regarding the witness’s deposition. I left Auschwitz in 1944 and was transferred to an armored unit at Woditz, in Czechoslovakia, for training purposes.

Witness: I saw him at Bratislava in March 1945 while he was walking with a rifle.”

Rosin arrived at Auschwitz on April 17, 1942, and remained there for three days. After a week, he was assigned to the “Sonderkommando;” this therefore took place on April 27. For 14 days, until May 11, he dug mass graves 70-80 meters long and 5 meters wide near “a couple of cottages” near some barracks. The scenario is that of the “Birkenwald” and therefore of the “bunker” at Birkenau.

According to the current orthodox Holocaust narrative, only “Bunker 1” or “czerwony domek” (the “red cottage”) was operating at the time; “Bunker 2” or “biały domek” (the “white cottage”) allegedly entered into operation on June 30, 1942. Rosin therefore described the events relating to the “red cottage,” but spoke of a “white cottage” (w białym domku), in addition to “a couple of cottages” and “bunkers,” in the plural (from which bread was brought), but without further detail, which did not, therefore, correspond to either “Bunker” 1 or 2. In the 1960s, he was only familiar with “a peasant cottage of wood with a shack” (malý, bílý selský domek s kůlnou),660 and of “an old peasant cottage with a shack” (starý selský domek s kůlnou).661

According to Rosin, this “white cottage” contained one single gas chamber measuring 4 m × 4 m or 5 m × 5 m with a 300-person capacity (12 to 19 persons per m²). But “Bunker 1” is said to have measured approximately 15 m × 6 m and supposedy had two gas chambers (Piper 2000, pp. 134f.). From Rosin’s account we deduce that “the first gassing in the small gas chamber at Birkenau,” that is, in the “white cottage,” took place after the 14 days of digging mass graves, when they began to be filled with bodies, that is, on May 26. This should also be the date upon which the first “bunker” entered into operation, which for Rosin was therefore not “Bunker 1” but “Bunker 2,” and the date was not March 20 (the orthodoxy’s current start-up date for “Bunker 1”), but specifically May 26 (although the orthodoxy insists that “Bunker 2” became operational only at the end of June 1942).

The exhumation and cremation of the bodies began in September 1942, but the witness has only featureless banalities to offer in this regard: he does not explain how it was done or how many bodies were in the mass graves.

What the witness says about the “Sonderkommando” is not particularly clear. Initially, his “Sonderkommando” at the graves consisted of 14 inmates, but “30 inmates were then selected for Sonderkommando II,” performing who-knows-what tasks; the total was therefore 44 inmates in two “Sonderkommandos.” Nevertheless, “then these 30-100 persons from the Kommandos were combined in one single Kommando,” which became the “Sonderkommando” true and proper. This “Sonderkommando” was gassed at Auschwitz on December 3, 1942, but consisted of 300 inmates, or 300 plus 10-12 more inmates not initially killed, who were killed later by Plagge. Danuta Czech mentions the presumed event specifically on this date, with reference not only to Rosin, but also to Stanisław Jankowski’s statement dated April 16, 1945 (Czech 1989, S. 349/1990, pp. 277f.). However, Jankowski mentioned “etwas mehr als 390 Personen” “somewhat more than 390 persons” and the date of November or December 1942 (Bezwińska/Czech 1996, S. 41/1992, pp. 45f.). In practice, apart from these two statements, no evidence exists in this regard.

In counting the inmates in the “Sonderkommando,” Rosin forgot to count himself: 300 were gassed, 12 were shot, probably with pistol shots to the back of the head, but what about him? Based on his account, it is obvious that he was not killed and was therefore the sole survivor.662 But how and when did he escape death? And until when did he remain in the “Sonderkommando”? He never supplies any answers to these questions.

Rosin was familiar, although very confusedly, with the fairy tale about the formation of the new “Sonderkommando,” later codified by Danuta Czech: it was formed on December 6, 1942 from a Jewish transport arriving from Mława that brought 406 male Jews, who were registered under numbers 80262-80667, among them Milton Buki and Szlama Dragon. This squad, explains Danuta Czech, was probably referred to as “Sonderkommando II” (“Special Squad II” in the English edition, Czech 1989, S. 352/1990, p. 280). For Rosin, however, that squad already existed several months earlier: “30 inmates were then selected for Sonderkommando II,” a phrase which refers to the time when they were digging the mass graves, that is, the first ten days of May 1942.

Of the new “Sonderkommando,” Rosin says that these Jews “were supposed to burn the persons who arrived after them,” which means that he could not have been one of them.

The anecdote relating to the inauguration of Crematorium II is obviously derived from Wetzler and Vrba’s account or one of their common sources: it took place “in February 1943,” and the officials present included not only Himmler and Höss, but even General-Governor Hans Frank!

After his escape on May 27, 1944, Rosin went to Slovakia together with another escapee, Czesław Mordowicz, where they met Karmil-Krasnansky, who claims to have written a report as a result of this encounter. The report was then sent to Switzerland (Świebocki 1997, pp. 56f.), where it arrived on August 6, 1944. It was later published by the War Refugee Board together with the Wetzler-Vrba Report.663 I quote from a German version,664 which should be the basis for the English translation.

The curious fact is that the report in question is presented as the sequel to the Wetzler-Vrba Report, and opens precisely with Wetzler’s and Vrba’s escape on April 7, 1944. It presents a simple chronicle of alleged events without further information on the alleged extermination techniques, particularly in “Bunker 2,” a topic practically neglected by Wetzler and Vrba. The report contains no mention of the fact that Rosin had formed part of the “Sonderkommando” between the end of April and the beginning of December 1942, a period in which he claims to have been an “eyewitness” to the killings in the “white cottage.” By contrast, he limits himself to repeating second-hand information. It is therefore very probable that the story of his assignment to the “Sonderkommando” is a postwar invention of his.

According to the report, transports from Hungary carrying from 14,000 to 15,000 Jews per day began to flow into Birkenau around May 15, 1944. “Von diesen Transporten werden bloss eben 10% in das Lager gebracht, die übrigen unverzüglich vergast und verbrannt.” “Only barely 10% of these transports were brought into the camp; the others were immediately gassed and burned.” The inmates left alive were not registered. The men were housed in “Lagerabschnitt ‘C’” “Camp Sector ‘C’,” whence they were transferred to Buchenwald, Mauthausen, Gross-Rosen, Gusen, Flossenbürg and Sachsenhausen. The women were quartered in the Gypsy CampZigeunerlager. The “Sonderkommando” was increased to 600 inmates, and then to 800 after a few more days:665

“3 Krematorien arbeiten Tag und Nacht / das vierte wird derzeit repariert/. Da die Krematorien nicht genügten, wurden im Birkenwald wieder - wie in der Zeit bevor die Krematorien erbaut wurden - 4 Gruben ca. 30 m lang und 15 m breit gegraben, wo Tag und Nacht Leichen verbrannt werden. Die Vernichtungskapazität ist daher eine fast unbeschränkte.”

“3 crematoria are operating day and night / the fourth is currently under repair/. Since the crematoria were insufficient, 4 pits about 30 meters long and 15 meters wide were once again dug in the birch forest, in which bodies were burned day and night, just as they were in the time before the crematoria were built. The cremation capacity is therefore almost unlimited.”

According to their account, the two fugitives were in contact with the inmates from the “Sonderkommando,” but they did not mention “Bunker 2,” which was supposed to be located precisely in the “Birkenwald” “birch forest”; instead they repeated two hare-brained fairy tales presumably told to them by the “Sonderkommando.”666

“Laut Mitteilung eines Juden aus dem Sonderkommando soll am 15. oder 16. Mai 1944 der Reichsführer Himmler Birkenau einen Besuch abgestattet haben. An diesem Tag sah ich selbst 3 Autos mit 5 Herren in zivil auf den Weg zu den Krematorien fahren. Mein Gewährsmann erklärte mir, dass sowohl er, als auch andere Himmler erkannt haben. Er hat das Krematorium I. besichtigt und ist dann nach einem Aufenthalte von ca. 1/2 Stunde mit seinen Begleitern zurückgefahren. Am nächsten Tag konnte man in den schlesischen Zeitungen über den Besuch Himmlers in Krakau Bericht lesen. Die Mitteilung dürfte daher stimmen.”

“According to a communication from a Jew of the Sonderkommando, Reichsführer Himmler is said to have paid a visit to Birkenau on May 15 or 16, 1944. On this same day, I myself saw 3 cars carrying 5 men in civilian clothing driving on the road to the crematoria. My source explained to me that he and others had recognized Himmler. He [Himmler] visited Crematorium I, and after a stay of about half an hour, he then drove back with his entourage. The next day, one could read about Himmler’s visit to Krakow in the Silesian newspapers. Hence, the communication was probably correct.”

This fantastic story is no doubt a literary development of the fairy tale, later adopted by Vrba,667 according to which Himmler was present at the inauguration of Crematorium II.

Rosin and Mordowicz introduce the second untrue story as follows:

“Noch eine Begebenheit – die nicht in Vergessenheit geraten soll – wurde uns von den Leuten des Sonderkommandos erzählt.”

“Another incident which should not be forgotten was described to us by members of the Sonderkommando.”

At the end of the summer of 1943, a committee of four Dutch Jews arrived at Auschwitz to inspect the camp. They were courteously received and were able to speak to several Dutch Jews. They convinced themselves that everything was all right at Auschwitz, and they even signed a statement to that effect. They then expressed the desire to see the crematoria at the Birkenau Camp. The administration agreed and accompanied them to Crematorium II, where the four unfortunates were killed. The SS claimed that they had been killed in a car accident.668

This story, which is also invented, is equally puerile: who could seriously believe that the administration of Auschwitz would agree to an inspection by a “committee of Jews”?


	3.3. Non-“Sonderkommando” Witnesses Who Worked in the Crematoria

The Internet site of the Hungarian National Committee for Assisting Deportees (Deportáltakat Gondozó Országos Bizottság, DEGOB) features a vast collection of testimonies of Hungarian Jews on Auschwitz, including Nyiszli’s, accompanied by English translations of the original text. The testimonies are anonymous; each testimony is accompanied by the initials for the first name and last name, gender, date and place of birth, profession, ghetto of origin and deportation camps of the witness.

Of these testimonies, at least four are by former inmates who claim to have worked in the crematoria at Birkenau in some capacity, a fact conspicuously ignored by orthodox Holocaust historiography. I shall now reproduce the English translations of the most important parts – warts and all – with an eye to the Hungarian text.


	3.3.1. Protocol No. 90 (June 23, 1945)

G.E., male, born in 1924 at Nagyszöllös:669

“I found myself in block 9, where the entire block had been emptied, because there were too many people in the camp and they had to get rid of 900 people. There was a block curfew [blokkspere for German Blocksperre], when everyone went into his or her own block. Three dumper trucks with trailers entered and they started to throw us onto the carts irrespective of whether we were ill, young, strong or weak. I was in that group and the only way I could escape was that I told them I was there to help them loading. I got in the truck, sat next to the driver and we went to the crematorium. After we arrived at the gas chamber [a gázkamrához], we practically turned people out from the car; if someone was not able to stand up, we threw him in. We undressed everybody, but as a beginner I could not imagine the horrible things that came next. We unloaded the prisoners and I had to watch as my friends, acquaintances and relatives were taken away, undressed and given soap and towels. Finally we herded all the 2000 people into the gas chamber. They went in unsuspectingly and we locked every window [minden ablakot] from outside. They were expecting water running from the shower and then the gas operator turned on the gas [erre meginditotta a gázkezelő a gázt]. They were moaning and yelling as the gas was torturing them. Mothers had to see their children die. The strongest man was able to bear it for six minutes. After six minutes [6 perc után] we opened the doors [ajtókat] and we faced a heap of dead bodies [hullahegy]. Then we started to throw the bodies onto trams [csillékbe; csille: Kipplore tipper carts], as if we would shovel coal, and then took and put them into the ovens [kemencékbe]. The burning process [égetés] took place there. I worked with that work unit for three days, but this horrible work was bordering on madness and I was not able to do it any more. I told the Kommandoführer that I wanted to leave and he sent me to another crematorium, because there were five of them. My work was easier there, as my task was to drive, beat and chase people. It happened that an entire transport from Hungary had to be burnt upon their arrival without any selection. Neither the young nor the old could escape. Our equipments were more modern. Two thousand people were herded into a large hall, of course undressed, with soaps and towels. Then gas came out of the nozzles [tussokból, shower heads]. After the gas killed the people, the automatic [autómataszerüen] floor started to move [megindult: opened] and it threw the bodies into the oven underneath [lévő kemencébe a holttesteket]. That was a circle-shaped floor, which could be divided into two mechanically [ez egy köralaku padló volt, ami gépszerkezetre vált kétté]. When all the corpses were thrown into the oven, the next transport arrived and it started all over again. The victims were unsuspicious and thought that the others before them left the room through another door. The procedure continued the same way. I worked there for six days and then one of my acquaintances sent me into an infirmary. People working there were generally not kept for more than 24 hours, because they were taken to the crematorium. We lived quite separated, and I managed to be sent to another camp. I was assigned to block 19 where 1200 of us stayed for about five to six days. Our food was a small piece of bread and some soup. From there we were transported to Warsaw. I received my first prisoner number there[670] and I was taken into a block.”

Apart from the usual fantasies of the distribution of soap and towels to the victims and the showers emitting poison gas instead of water, the lightning-fast death (6 minutes maximum), the carts carrying the bodies to the furnaces, the gas chamber with doors (in the plural) and windows, this testimony contains the fable of the floor opening up automatically with the cremation furnaces located underneath, which was developed by other “witnesses” in numerous variants, each more fantastic than the last. Some of them I have already mentioned earlier, others will be examined later.


	3.3.2. Protocol No. 151 (June 27, 1945)

K.I., female, born in 1928 at Miskolc:671

“After the bath we were lined up in rows of five. I was in the first row and an SS came and whispered something to the German woman. Twenty of us were taken to one of the blocks. We were given bread, butter, salami and jam. We did not suspect anything, but the girls there sneaked into the block and told us that we would have to work in the gas chambers. This meant that we could not live longer than a few weeks [egy pár hétnél]. Until then we would be doing fine, but then it was going to be our turn. Panic set in: everybody was crying and I was smiling. Out of a transport 40-50 people were taken to the gas chamber. Some of them did not even know where they would be taken. They got a piece of bread and some margarine and first they were taken to the bath. Here they had to get naked, then after a couple of minutes gas poured on them and killed them. The doors were shut and it took three to four minutes for them to die. It was terrible to listen to it. I had never heard such desperate voices: ’Mother, my child, my God, we are dying, help!’ They waited for 20 minutes, then the doors were open and Polish men [lengyel férfiak] with gas masks went into the gas chamber and dragged the corpses out. They were loaded onto a truck [teherautora]. I saw the corpses with my own eyes: their face was blue [elkékült], their eyes were popping out, their fists were clenched. I saw mothers and children clasped in a non-separable way. Afterwards we had to go in and take the victims’ clothes out and carry it to a storehouse where they were sorted. These were the clothes the deported arrived in. German SS guards escorted us. I worked at the gas chambers for two weeks, then I managed to escape by joining a transport passing by.”

A woman claiming to have worked in the “Sonderkommando” (a term unknown to the witness), which consisted of “Polish men” and who were exterminated after only two weeks! This version of the fairy tale is rather scanty, but contains the “official,” impossibly short execution time of three to four minutes, as well as the 20 minutes’ waiting time mentioned by Nyiszli. Moreover, the victims’ faces were blue (wrong), and the victims were “loaded onto a truck,” evidently in order to transport them to the cremation furnaces, although those were located upstairs, reachable by a freight elevator.


	3.3.3. Protocol No. 182 (June 30, 1945)

R.B., female, born in 1913 at Aknasugatag:672

“The 10th of August 1944, I was transported to Birkenau as an electrician. I worked in the crematorium [a krematóriumban]. I arrived when the most modern one of the six crematoria was just being renovated. I did the work of an electrician. The crematorium was closed: painters, electricians, bricklayers and carpenters worked in it. It looked the following way: victims first entered a lobby. It was a nice clean room with painted country sceneries and other pictures on the walls. The door of the changing room [vetközoterem] opened from here. Notes warned the entering people to keep the place clean. All around the wall there were numbered cloth[e]s hangers. There was a big note on the wall saying that everyone should remember the number of the hanger where they hanged [sic] their clothes, because numerous people wanted to have a bath. The next room was the bath [fürdőterem] with 600 places.

There were four lines of showers. Instead of water gas flew [flowed] of the taps [a csapokból viz [víz] helyett gáz ömlött]. If they had sufficient time, people got first gassed but if there were many transports and they had to burn a lot of people at the same time and had no time for gassing them the floor simply turned and people fell in the fire alive [megfordult a padló és élve estek a tüzbe]. The floor had an invisible metal axis [in the middle] [a padló közepén egy láthatatlan vastengely volt elhelyezve], which was made to function by electricity [a szerkezet villanyárammel müködött]. The switch was pushed by an SS man who stayed close in a cabin [egy SS kezelte a kapcsolóket egy kis szemszédos fülkéből, from within a small adjacent cabin]. If he pushed one of the switches the floor turned in an upright position and the victims slid on a conveyor belt that was invisible before, which carried them into the crematorium [Ha az egyik kapcsolót lenyomta, akkor a padló féloldalra bíllent és a szoba egyik szélén az áldozatok lecsusztak az előbb még láthataltlan futószőnyegre, mely egyenesen a krematoriumba vitte őket]. I worked here in a Sonderkommando [special Kommando] that had 200 members, mostly Polish men. One day they learnt [sic] that they were going to kill us soon, too. As there was nothing to lose they decided to counter the SS with arms. The way they got hold of weapons will always remain a secret to me. They threw three SS men into the fire of the neighbouring crematorium, while they killed four others. They tore them into pieces in front of my eyes. 40 of them could manage to get away the rest were captured. I ran into another block. In Birkenau, in this Sonderkommando we had a great quantity of gold and silver, which had no value, no one wanted it. Food was first class. Once a son of a Transylvanian rabbi was also selected for the Sonderkommando. He refused to work here and ran against the electric wires and got shot by the SS. The next camp was Monowitz, where we worked for the plant of I. G. Farbenindustria [sic] Buna.”

Here we have yet another version of the variegated propaganda stories put into circulation by Auschwitz resistance groups. The story of the gas chambers is once again colored with imaginary details, starting with the six crematoria and the entrance hall “with painted country sceneries and other pictures on the walls”! The gas chamber, camouflaged as a shower bath, had “600 places,” and inside, there were “four lines of showers,” from which, obviously, “instead of water, gas [flowed].” The description of the floor that opened up is much more-articulated, and borrows its literary motif from the “conveyor belt” already mentioned by Boris Polevoy.

This witness is the second woman claiming to have been a member of the “Sonderkommando”!


	3.3.4. Protocol No. 2114 (August 26, 1945)

E.S., male, born in 1917 at Cigánd:673

“At the beginning of October one of the crematoria was to be blown up with hand grenades. The partisans were already close by then, and they were in close touch with the prisoners who acquired explosives from them. Unfortunately we Hungarians could not take part in the uprising. We were considered to be unreliable, as we had fought the Russians, even though the labour servicemen were craving a Russian victory.

The members of the Sonderkommando knew that they were to be executed, so that they would not be able to tell anything about what they had seen in the gas chamber and crematoria. Therefore they attempted to blow up the crematorium, to break through the barbed wire and to join the partisans waiting in the neighbouring woods. The crematorium was destroyed by the explosion, but unfortunately 99 percent of the Sonderkommando was killed. Next week eight of us tradesmen were assigned to the crematoria and first we dismantled the destroyed crematorium. When we finished, we were ordered to dismantle the other three crematoria as well. We dismantled iron doors, water pipes and ventilating devices. I saw the gas chamber with my own eyes. It was in a cellar. It was a huge hall with numbered hangers all around along the walls. Large placards in several languages called the attention of those entering to the fact that this was a bath and disinfection hall where everybody was obliged to hang his or her clothes on one of the numbered hangers, and to keep the number in mind so as to easily find it after bath. After getting undressed the victims went nude into the gas chamber, which looked like a shower bathroom. The shower heads were fixed up on the ceiling by nails, but there were no water pipes. There was a shaft driven through the roof to the room through which the cellophane pellets containing the poison gas were thrown in. Once I talked to a man of the Sonderkommando who worked in the gas chamber. He told me that death came within six to eight minutes. During this time the victims had to suffer pains so great that they tore open their throats and bit their fingers. Corpses were found lacking fingers, since the victims had unconsciously bitten them off before dieing [sic]. The commander of the crematorium observed this through a peep-hole, waiting for the moment of death. The ventilation was turned on to pump the gas out. The corpses were handed over to prisoners who pulled out golden teeth and carried the dead bodies to an elevator that went up to the crematorium. In the furnace room there were five ovens. The corpses were slid into the ovens on rolls. Aryans were not gassed, but shot in the nape of the neck. This type of execution took place also in the rooms of the crematorium. On January 18 we were set off on foot.”

This witness, who was not an eyewitness to any alleged gassing events but tells his story only from hearsay, sets forth a different and contrasting propaganda version compared to that of his “colleagues.”

99% of the “Sonderkommando” member inmates were killed during the “Sonderkommando” revolt, although its manpower actually dropped only from 663 to 212 inmates, thus losing 451 inmates, or 68%, as I have noted earlier. After its near-total extermination, eight tradesmen were assigned to the crematoria, and were ordered to dismantle Crematorium IV, the one damaged by the uprising that did indeed occur. This group of 8 tradesmen is purely imaginary even from the orthodox point of view. The witness saw the gas chamber with his own eyes – while dismantling equipment in the crematorium: this was a room, always disguised as a shower bath, but the showerheads were completely fake, according to one of the many variants of the tale. The witness nevertheless remedied this lack of imagination by introducing a very original gassing system: “There was a shaft driven through the roof to the room through which the cellophane pellets containing the poison gas were thrown in.” Another rather peculiar invention is that “Corpses were found lacking fingers.” The duration for the killing, six to eight minutes, is nevertheless typical of the absurd execution times invented by the resistance groups.


	3.3.5. Lieberman (1945)

On September 27, 1945, this witness, of whom nothing is known, signed a detailed statement on the presumed technique of extermination at Auschwitz. The source turned out to be inmates from the “Sonderkommando” housed in the same block, but Lieberman claims to have visited “the gas chamber and the crematorium” personally, on one occasion. With great originality, Lieberman fuses the fairy tales of the tipping floors and conveyor belt, which already had an imaginative expositor in a number of war-time resistance reports and in Boris Polevoy (see Subchapters 2.3.3. and 3.1.2.). This is his tale, narrated to a large degree from hearsay:674

“As already mentioned, I was one of a working party whose duty it was to unload potatoes at the station. We had at this time no contact with the prisoners of the big camp. We were separated in quarantine but housed together with another working party which was serving the crematorium and the gas chamber. It is due to this fact that I know how things occurred. The men and women entered the so-called bath room and undressed separately to avoid panic. Once they were undressed they entered by separate doors in the central chamber. This chamber could take 3,000 people. The gas was released through sprays of the showers and from bombs which were thrown through apertures which were designed to allow for that procedure. Death occurred within five minutes. On certain days when enormous transports arrived at the station of Birkenau 42,000 people were gassed. Once the gassing process had been completed, the floor of the chamber opened automatically and the corpses fell into the subterranean chamber where prisoners in charge of extracting the teeth or cutting hair of a certain length, took over. On several occasions I have myself seen in the evening, after a good day’s work, the gold teeth or the hair which came from the corpses and which had been kept by the prisoners who lived with us in quarantine. Once the gold teeth had been recovered, the corpses were loaded on to a moving belt and transported to cremation ovens, through subterranean gangways. There were four ovens, a big one and three small ones, which were capable of burning 400 corpses in five minutes. Later on, when the number of corpses outdid the capacity of the ovens, trenches were dug and the corpses thrown in saturated with petrol. I have personally seen these trenches and smelled the stench of the combustion. I have equally been able to visit the gas chamber and the crematorium, when I was detailed to clean up on a day when they were not in use. It so happened that one of the prisoners who worked at the station recognized a member of his family amongst new arrivals. He threw himself on his father and told him that he was going to die. Both were immediately beaten to death by the SS. On another occasion, a very beautiful woman who was perfectly well aware of what was going to happen to her, succeeded, [in] the billet of the block leader where she had been conducted under the pretext of having to wait, in taking his revolver and killing him and herself. After this 400 women were selected in the camp of Birkenau and executed as a reprisal. I have personally seen these women before they entered the gas chamber. I have no photographs of the gas chamber or crematorium of Birkenau in my possession.

Due to my employment of unloading at the station I knew of the gas, called ‘Cyclon’. This gas was kept in little bombs which were themselves kept in metal cylinders. They were marked ‘Cyclon Gas I.G.V. from Hamburg to Auschwitz’. When corpses were burnt, they were put on a platform, five adults being placed longways whereas corpses of children were put aside as one could place double their number on the platform. This explains the SS use of the word ‘abrechnung,’ which means ‘accounting’. I have never seen the trolleys for the transport of corpses personally, nor have I seen the ovens operating; but as I have already mentioned, several of the working party, which was serving the gas chambers and ovens lived with us and have given me all the details. This special working party was called Sonderkommando [special commando]. A certain Jacob Weinschein of Paris,[675] who is a survivor of this commando, is personally known to me. He escaped death because he was in hospital when his companions were gassed. In point of fact members of this commando were, themselves, put to death in the gas chamber after two or three months of employment. I know this fact, which was witnessed by the new commando which replaced them and whose first task it was to gas their predecessors. They were selected from the new arrivals, who were completely ignorant of the procedure in operation. They told us that they had to transport the corpses of their gassed comrades, who had been tattooed on the first day of work. As soon as the Red Army approached in August 1944, the ashes from the cremation ovens were exhumed by the prisoners by order of the SS. I have held a handful of these ashes myself. I have seen them carried to the edge of a river which crossed the camp. The work was not carried out by the sonderkommando but by several hundreds of prisoners of the camp itself.”

Men and women “entered by separate doors in the central chamber,” a literary invention which has at least a logic of its own. Refusing to waive a single detail, the witness puts together the emission of the gas “through sprays of the showers and from bombs” containing “Cyclon Gas I.G.V. from Hamburg to Auschwitz,” a completely fictitious inscription. Death, according to the common lore, set in after five minutes. By virtue of the famous German technical genius, “the floor of the chamber opened automatically and the corpses fell into the subterranean chamber,” after which “the corpses were loaded onto a moving belt and transported to cremation ovens, through subterranean gangways.” At Birkenau there were “four ovens, a big one and three small ones, which were capable of burning 400 corpses in five minutes.” Even if this is understood to refer to crematoria, the claim is still false, because we are speaking of two pairs of mirror-symmetrical installations. The cremation capacity is truly extraordinary: 400 bodies in five minutes corresponding to 115,200 per day! Nevertheless, there were cases in which “the number of corpses outdid the capacity of the ovens,” and it was necessary to have recourse to cremation “trenches,” although, at the peak of the enormous transports to Birkenau, “42,000 people were gassed.” As far as anyone can tell, the “trenches” functioned on petroleum: obviously the SS had an abundance of the stuff and could waste it in this manner.


	3.4. Testimonies of Prisoners Who Claim to Have Escaped a Gassing

	3.4.1. Abraham Cykert (1945)

This witness was a Jew from Łódź who had been deported from the “Rokov” Ghetto to “Belszic” and thence to Auschwitz, whence he was transferred to Buchenwald. “Rokov” is a non-existent locality, and it is no doubt a distortion of some other name which is difficult to identify.676 “Belszic” by contrast is probably a distortion of Bełżec, which had its own railway station; if this is so, it was only a transit camp for the transport of the witness:677

“In the evening we reached the railway station at Belszic, where cattle trucks were waiting. A hundred people were squeezed into each of them. I heard an S.S. man reporting to his superior officer: ‘Six hundred and thirty-two.’ ‘That is all?’ he was asked. ‘Yes,’ he answered ‘the rest we got rid of on the way.’

After waiting for a few hours the cattle trucks started moving. We did not know where we were being taken.”

And here is the story relating to Auschwitz:

“I was trapped and driven with the others to the gas chamber. Here I saw the crematorium before my eyes. I stopped breathing and I felt like losing consciousness. Suddenly the order was given to undress. Together with the others I obeyed automatically. There was no will and no realisation of what I was doing. We all stood completely naked in the corridor leading to the gas chamber and waiting for the order to march in, when suddenly what looked like a high-ranking S.S. officer of the crematorium personnel arrived. He appeared in my eyes as the chief emissary of death, and, strangely, on looking at him I regained my consciousness: ‘I am going to die, I am going to die.’

It appears that this ‘expert of death’ came for a last-minute inspection. The naked victims were again marched past him. Here and there he pushed one out of the line. My turn came; he looked at me and pushed me out as well. There were about fifty of us and we were standing aside wondering what would be the end of this terrible game. Suddenly he turned to us and shouted, ‘Get dressed in two minutes.’

We ran like mad back to where we had undressed. When I returned to camp I realised that I had four shirts on me instead of a jacket, a left shoe on my right foot and no shoe at all on my left one, and some useless garments under my arm.

Three hours later the furnaces of the crematorium were already burning. We watched its thick smoke and knew its terrible meaning.”

This story, vague and general as regards crematorium and gas chamber, is obviously imaginary, above all regarding the circumstances of the witness’s “salvation.”


	3.4.2. Regina Bialek (1945)

This witness was a Polish Jewess from Skladowa, deported to Auschwitz in July 1942 and later transferred to Bergen-Belsen on a date not indicated. She participated in the Bergen-Belsen Trial, at which she signed a statement, dated May 26, 1945, the principal points of which are reproduced below:678

“3. On 25th December 1943 I was sick with typhus and was picked out at a selection made by Doctors MENGELE and TAUBER along with 350 other women. I was made to undress and taken by lorry to a gas chamber. There were 7 gas chambers at AUSCHWITZ. This particular one was underground and the lorry was able to run down the slope and straight into the chamber. Here we were tipped unc[e]remoniously on the floor. The room was about 12 yards square and small lights on the walls dimly illuminated it. When the room was full, a hissing sound was heard coming from the centre point on the floor and gas came into the room. After what seemed about 10 minutes some of the victims began to bite their hands and foam at the mouth and blood issued from their ears, eyes and mouth and their faces went blue. I suffered from all these symptoms together with a tight feeling at the throat. I was half conscious when my number was called out by Dr. MENGELE and I was led from the chamber. I attribute my escape to the fact that the daughter of a friend of mine who was an Aryan and a Doctor at AUSCHWITZ has seen me being transported to the gas chamber and had told her mother, who immediately appealed to Doctor Mengele. Apparently he realized that as a political prisoner I was of more value alive than dead and I was released.

4. I think that the time taken to kill a person in this particular gas chamber would be from 15 to 20 minutes.

5. I was told that the staff of the prisoners who worked in the gas chamber and crematorium next door changed every 3 months. The old staff being taken to a villa in the camp to do some repair work. Here they were locked in the rooms and gas bombs thrown through the window. I estimate that in December 1943 about 7000 people disappeared from AUSCHWITZ apparently by way of the gas chamber and crematorium.”

This tale remixes the above-mentioned propaganda themes in an imaginative and original manner. There were seven gas chambers, and the one into which the witness was allegedly led was underground, but a truck was able to unload its human cargo directly into this basement room by means of a ramp. The surface area of the chamber was “12 yards square,” which corresponds to about 10 square meters: a little small for such an operation (alternatively, this could refer to 12 × 12 yards, hence some 120 m²). There is no need to stress that Leichenkeller Morgue #1 of Crematoria II and III were in the basement, but measured 210 square meters, and above all, did not have an access ramp for the delivery of persons or anything else by truck.

The gas entered “from the centre point on the floor” hissing; it was therefore already in the gaseous state and delivered under pressure. The symptoms of hydrogen-cyanide poisoning described are quite imaginary and all wrong: the victims bit their hands (according to the Hungarian witness, author of the report dated August 26, 1945, the victims bit their own fingers off, and their bodies “were found lacking fingers”), they foamed at the mouth and bled from the ears, eyes, and mouth, while their faces turned blue.

The story of how she was saved is simply crazy: Dr. Mengele entered the gas chamber, without a gas mask, because he called the inmate’s number so loud that she could hear it and was thus saved!

The story of the presumed killing of the “Sonderkommando” at the beginning of December 1942, which was obviously circulating in various versions, takes place in a villa: the killing was performed by means of “gas bombs thrown through the window”!


	3.4.3. Sofia Litwinska (1945)

This witness was a Jewess from Lublin who was arrested on May 19, 1941 and sent to Auschwitz approximately in mid-1942, where she remained until November 1944. She was later transferred to Bergen-Belsen, where she participated in the Bergen-Belsen Trial. She signed a deposition under the name of Zofia Litwińska, and was also questioned in court. In her deposition dated May 24, 1945 she declared:679

“2. At AUSCHWITZ on 24th December 1942 I was paraded in company with about 19,000 other prisoners, all of them women. Present on parade were Doctors MENGELE and KONIG and Rapportfuehrer TAUBER. I was one of 3,000 prisoners picked out of the 19,000 by the Doctors and taken to our huts where we were stripped naked by other prisoners and our clothes taken away. We were then taken by ‘Tipper-type’ lorries to the gas chamber chute. They were large lorries, about 8 in all and about 300 persons on each lorry. On arrival at the gas chamber the lorry tipped up and we slid down the chute through some doors into a large room. The room had showers round, towels and soap and a large number of benches. There were also small windows high up near the roof. Many were injured coming down the chute and lay where they fell. Those of us who could sat down on the benches provided and immediately afterwards the doors of the room were closed. My eyes began to water, I started coughing and had a pain in my chest and throat. Some of the other people fell down and others coughed and foamed at the mouth. After being in the room for about 2 minutes the door was opened and an SS man came in wearing a respirator. He called my name and then pulled me out of the room and quickly shut the door again. When I got outside I saw SS man FRANZ HESSLER [sic] whom I can identify as No. 1 on Photo 9. He took me to Hospital where I stayed for about 6 weeks receiving special treatment from Dr. MENGELE. For the first few days I was at the hospital I found it impossible to eat anything without vomiting. I can only think that I was taken out of the gas chamber because I had an Aryan husband and therefore was in a different category from the other prisoners who were all Jews. I now suffer from a weak heart and have had two attacks since being in Belsen. I do not know the names of any persons who went into the gas chamber with me.”

Under questioning during the hearing of September 24, 1945 at the Belsen Trial, the witness made chronologically contradictory statements. She said in fact that she arrived at Auschwitz in early fall 1941, and that she recovered in the women inmate’s hospital, where there was a big selection “the day before Christmas Day” involving “over 3,000 women,” among them herself. This dating cannot be correct, since the first women’s transport reached Auschwitz on March 26, 1942.680 The questioning continued as follows:681

“Q. What happened to you then?

A. We stayed in block number 4 for a night, and the next day we were taken to block number 18 and stayed there the whole day.

Q. What happened to you then?

A. Then at about five or half past five in the evening trucks arrived and we were loaded into these quite naked like animals.

Q. Where were you driven to?

A. The /sic/ crematorium.

Q. When you reached the crematorium what happened there?

A. We left the trucks and were led into a room which gave the impression of a shower bath. There were towels hanging round and sprays, and even mirrors.

Q. How did you leave the truck?

A. The whole truck was tipped over in the way as they do it sometimes with potatoes or coal loads.

Q. How many of you were there in the room altogether?

A. I cannot say really because I was so terrified about all these happenings that I have no idea about the numbers which were there.

Q. Were the doors closed?

A. I cannot say; I have never thought when I was there I shall leave and be here present in the court to speak about it.

Q. What happened next?

A. There were tears; people were shouting at each other; people were hitting each other. There were healthy people; strong people; weak people; and sick people, and suddenly I saw fumes coming in through a window.

Q. What do you mean when you say window?

A. On top, very small sort of windows.

Q. What effect did this have on you?

A. I had to cough very violently; tears were streaming out from my eyes, and I had a sort of feeling in my throat as if I would be asphyxiated.

Q. What happened to other people around you?

A. I could not look even at the others because each of us was only concentrated on what happened to himself.

Q. What was the next thing that you remember?

A. In that moment I heard my name called. I had not the strength to answer it, but I raised my arm. Then I felt somebody take me and throw me out from that room.

Q. When you got out did you see anyone there?

A. Then Hoessler took me on a motor-cycle – he put a blanket round me – and took me again into the hospital.

Q. How long did you stay in the hospital?

A. Six weeks.

Q. What effect did the gas have on you?

A. I have still quite frequently headaches; I have heart trouble, and whenever I went into the fresh air my eyes were filled with tears.”

The scenario of this tale is the presumed gas chamber of Crematorium I at the Auschwitz Main Camp, which the witness imaginatively describes according to the propaganda stereotypes of the time: a chamber camouflaged as a shower bath, with “showers round, towels and soap and a large number of benches,” plus “sprays, and even mirrors,”(!) and the ever-present “small windows high up near the roof.” Cans of Zyklon B were not thrown into the gas chamber from these small windows, however; the witness saw in fact “fumes coming in through a window”! That she never set foot in the crematorium is shown by the fact that her description shows a total lack of any distinctive features of the crematrorium (the low structure, the sloping side walls covered with earth, the high chimney), and more importantly by her false claim that the inmates were made to “slide down the chute through some doors into a large room,” although all rooms of Crematorium I were on ground level, and it could be entered only by means of one single door, which provided access to a small room (Vorraum/vestibule), giving access to another small room (Waschraum/wash room) and thence to the Leichenhalle morgue – or alleged gas chamber.682

On December 24, 1942 – “the day before Christmas Day” – occupancy at the Frauenlager women’s camp at Birkenau was 5,400 female inmates.683 According to the Auschwitz Chronicle, there was one single “selection” in the women’s camp Frauenlager of Birkenau in December 1942, over the course of which 2,000 women inmates were allegedly gassed. The source is a book written in Slovakian and published in Bratislava in 1962. The fact that Danuta Czech took recourse to this source means that no testimony exists in this regard, neither from the Höss Trial nor the Auschwitz Camp Garrison Trial. Hence, we may deduce the value of this source. At any rate, the day of the presumed gassing was December 5, not the 24th, and the location concerned was not Crematorium I. The inmates were in fact “in die Gaskammern der Bunker gebracht” (Czech 1989, S. 351) “brought to the gas chambers in the bunkers” (Czech 1990, p. 279). Piper confirms that “the morgue at crematorium I was used as a gas chamber from the autumn of 1941 to the autumn of 1942” (Piper 2000, pp. 133).

We should also not overlook the absurdity of “about 300 persons on each lorry”!


	3.4.4. Bruno Piazza (1956)

This Italian Jew was deported from Trieste to Auschwitz on July 31, 1944, and registered under number 190712. In a brochure published in 1956, which attests to the incredible persistence of the most-absurd fables about the claimed extermination, he described this extraordinary experience as follows (Piazza, pp. 127-131):

“I heard one of them say, ‘Crematorium’. We continued marching through the camp, between two rows of barracks of a type quite similar to those of the last camp. When we got to the end, they made us turn left and then made us enter a barracks in semi-darkness, all eight hundred of us. Night had already fallen. In the middle there was a stove that had gone out and three zinc buckets. Suddenly, they turned on the lights and we saw that we were in a sort of shower room. Twenty shower heads hung from the ceiling. […] This room was the antechamber of the crematorium, was the gas chamber […].

No doubt of it now. I had heard of the system: they put a white layer of potassium-cyanide powder underneath the shower and then suddenly turned on the water. This caused the release of deadly poisonous cyanide gas from the powder. Then the clerk [sic] entered with a mask on his face, sprinkled the powder, turned on the shower, left, closed the door, and after ten minutes we were all dead, asphyxiated. At the other end of the room was a high door which was said to lead to the crematorium by means of an inclined plane. […]

In the past, asphyxiation had been achieved using a different method from the current one, with the showers. A hole was pierced in the ceiling. The hole was opened by an automatic valve, ejecting three or four pre-prepared cyanide gas cylinders into the interior of the chamber. But the system was not very safe, because sometimes the cover of the cylinder didn’t break during the fall, and it was then necessary to repeat the procedure four or five times, to be sure that the gas had actually been emitted.”

The witness did not explain how he succeeded in escaping from the gassing. Although relatively late in coming, this fabulous narration presents new and original literary motifs: the gas chamber was located in a barracks, always camouflaged as a shower bath, but there was a stove on the inside. The twenty showers were real: the water squirting out of them moistened a layer of potassium-cyanide powder from which deadly hydrogen-cyanide fumes escaped into the air. At the end of the barracks was another door, leading to the crematorium by means of an inclined plane, so that the crematorium was located on a lower level than the gas chamber.

Piazza imaginatively reworked the fable of the “bombs filled with hydrogen cyanide” mentioned by Tabeau: for Piazza, these were cylinders whose covers broke on impact, allowing the (liquid) hydrogen cyanide to evaporate!


	3.5. Incidental Witnesses of the Gas Chambers

	3.5.1. Ada Bimko (1945)

The Polish Jewess Ada Bimko was deported from Sosnowitz to Auschwitz on August 4, 1943, and transferred to Bergen-Belsen on November 23, 1944. She signed two depositions for the Belsen Trial and was questioned in court.

On May 9, 1945, the witness declared:684

“I set out hereafter what I observed myself with regard to the mass exterminations of prisoners and I will name the persons each of whom individually selected persons for extermination. I have examined the records of the numbers cremated and I say that the record[s] show that about 4,000,000 persons were cremated at the camp. I say that from my own observation I have no doubt that at least this number were exterminated.”

In a later deposition of May 28, 1945, Ada Bimko told the following story:685

“1. In the BERKENAU [sic] section of AUSCHWITZ camp there were five brick buildings. These five buildings were similar in appearance and different from all the other buildings in the camp. They were commonly known by all the prisoners in the camp as crematoriums. […]

2. One day in August 1944 I was able to visit one of these buildings. The visit was pre-arranged with an S.S. Unterscharfuhrer [sic] (name unknown) who belonged to the medical staff and who agreed to show me round. I met him near the building. We agreed to say that our visit was in order to fetch blankets if anyone stopped us. The S.S. man took me in a door of the building and inside we met a Polish prisoner named JOSEF GOLDBERG. I know this man’s name because he comes from my home town. He was employed in this building. I do not know his present whereabouts. The door through which we entered the building led into what appeared to be an undressing room. There were hooks on the wall and the S.S. man told me it was an undressing room. This was on the ground floor. From this room there was another door. We walked through this door which led us into another room which had the appearance of a shower bath room. I noticed that there were five or six rows of spray fittings in the roof, with about twenty sprays to each row. The floor, walls and ceiling were made of concrete. The room was about 48 ft square and 10 ft high.[686] One thing that I noticed was that there were no drains, so that if water came through the sprays it could not drain away. The floor being on the same level as other rooms this would mean that water would flood right through the building. The S.S. man told me that this room was the gas chamber.

3. Walking through the gas chamber room we went through another door which led into a passage pointing directly ahead. It was rather dark in there at the time and I could not see the far end of the passage. There were two rails leading from the door of the gas chamber down the passage and on these two rails was a flat-topped wagon. The S.S. man told me that the wagon was used to take the dead bodies from the gas chamber to the crematorium at the other end of the passage.

4. We then walked back through the gas chamber and undressing room to the door where I had entered the building. Near this door were some stairs. We went up these stairs and came to a room above the gas chamber. Across this room were two pipes each about three inches thick [7.6 cm]. I did not notice whether there were any branch pipes leading from them. The S.S. man told me that the pipes, which were on the floor, were connected to the spray fittings in the gas chamber below. In a corner of the room were two large cylinders but I did not notice whether these cylinders were connected to the pipes. The S.S. man told me that the cylinders contained the gas which passed through the pipes into the gas chamber. I then left the room.

5. With reference to the gas chamber there were also hooks on the walls in this room. The S.S. man told me that they were there to hang towels on as condemned prisoners were led to believe that it was a shower room, and were given towels to deceive them.”

In another deposition, dated June 1, 1945, Ada Bimko stated:687

“Referring to my Deposition sworn on the 9th May 1945 paragraph 1, the records which I examined were not official records but were figures kept by prisoners who worked at the crematorium.”

Ada Bimko was questioned during the fifth hearing of the Belsen Trial (September 21, 1945). The following are the most-significant passages from the transcript:688

“Q. How many gas chambers were there at Auschwitz?

A. Five crematoria.

Q. In what section of the camp were the crematoria?

A. I do remember one crematorium which was just behind the women’s camp and a second which was in a part of the camp called Brzezinki, and all the others, particularly all the chimneys of these crematoria, were quite visible from our camp.

Q. Was Auschwitz divided into a number of camps?

A. Yes.

Q. Which camps were the crematoria in?

A. The crematoria were in a portion called the Berkenau. [sic…]

Col. Backhouse. Have you ever been into one of the gas chambers?

A. Yes.

Q. When was that?

A. In August 1944. I was working in a portion of the camp which was called D as a doctor, and again a new crowd of those selected for the gas chamber had arrived, and as they were sick they came covered with a blanket. After two days we were told to fetch all those blankets from the gas chamber. I took the opportunity, as I always wanted to see with my own eyes this ill-famed gas chamber, and I went. I did go into this crematorium.

Q. Will you describe it to the court?

A. It was a brick building and there were trees around in a way as if it were camouflaged. I went in and in the first room I met a man whom I knew who came from the same town as I do; his name was Jozef Goldberg. In this first room there was also an S.S. man with a rank of Unterscharfuhrer [sic], and he belonged to the Red Cross. I recognised the insignia, so I know he belonged to the Red Cross. I was told that in this first big room the people left their clothes. From this room people were led into a second which made an enormous impression. I gained the impression that hundreds and hundreds of people may go into this room it was so large. It gave me the impression of a showerbath, because it resembled the showerbaths or ablution rooms we had in the camp. There were showers on the top of the ceiling.

Q. How many of these sprays were there?

A. There must have been very many, because these sprays were all over the ceiling in rows which went parallel.

Q. Of what were the floor, walls and ceiling made?

A. It was just like a shower bath.

Q. Were there any drains?

A. No. That was the most astonishing fact for somebody who did observe, I did not see any drains on the floor. It was most astonishing, because all those people who went into this room were issued with a towel and a cake of soap so that they should have the impression they are going to have a bath, but for anybody who looked at the floor it was quite clear that it was not so, because there were no drains.

Q. Did you then leave the actual room with the sprays in?

A. I was in that room with the sprays and there was a small door which opened to a room which was pitch dark; it gave the impression of a corridor. I saw a few lines of rails with a small wagon, which was called a lorry, they called it a lorry, and I was told that those prisoners who were already gassed were put on these wagons and sent directly to the crematorium.

Q. Was the crematorium in the same building?

A. I believe it was in the same building, but I myself did not see the stove.

Q. To avoid any confusion later, what did the prisoners usually call these buildings?

A. Crematoriums.

Q. Did you see any other room in the building?

A. Yes, I have seen another room. I was led a few steps and there, higher above this room, there was a small room with a very low ceiling, and I noticed two pipes. I was told that those two pipes contained the gas. Then in a corner I saw two huge metal containers, which, as I later was told, contained also gas.

Q. Did any of the prisoners keep any records in respect of these gas chambers?

A. Yes. There was a troop of internees who were working in these crematorium [sic] and this working kommando had the name of ‘Sonderkommando,’ special kommando. These kommandos were changed after a few months, because they themselves were also destroyed; they were gassed. One of those who took part in these kommandos, a man called Grzeck, told me that others of those kommandos before having been gassed had complete records of all those transports which did arrive and then eventually were destroyed. This man Grzeck told me that others who took part in these kommandos, and in fact he himself, kept records and that the number of those Jews who were destroyed in this gas chamber would be about four million.”

Ada Bimko claimed to have “examined the records of the numbers cremated,” showing a total number of four million victims, but in contradiction with this, she asserted: “This man Grzeck told me […] that the number of those Jews who were destroyed in this gas chamber would be about four million.” This is obviously a shameless lie. This is also true for her description of the crematorium for a plethora of reasons.

The reason for her claimed inspection of the gas chamber is utterly absurd. She claimed that she had “pre-arranged” the visit “with an S.S. Unterscharfuhrer (name unknown) who belonged to the medical staff.” It would therefore be necessary to believe that an inmate, at Birkenau, could take a tour of the gas chambers by prior arrangement with an unknown Unterscharführer! During the trial, the witness later stated that the reason for her visit was to recover blankets left by gassed registered women inmates, although in her deposition she had stated that this was merely a cover story she and the SS man had agreed on in case “anyone stopped us.” According to the final orthodox version, recovering items left behind by gassed inmates was the responsibility of the “Sonderkommando” members. What is more, it would have been absurd to send a single female inmate to recover the blankets of a “crowd of those selected for the gas chamber.” By her own account, Ada Bimko was a physician “in a portion of the camp which was called D,” which at Birkenau could only have been Sector BIId. But this sector was a Männerlager men’s camp at that time. The female inmates’ hospital was located in Sector BIb. If we follow Danuta Czech, there were no selections of female inmates in August 1944. Quite on the contrary, on August 11, 212 sick inmates (malaria patients) were transferred from Auschwitz to Flossenbürg Concentration Camp (Czech 1989, S. 847/1990, p. 684).

Since the rooms in the crematorium allegedly visited by her were all “on the ground floor” or “on the same level,” this could only have been Crematorium IV-V, but she was evidently unfamiliar with the differences between the two pairs of crematoria, because for her there were “five brick buildings. These five buildings were similar in appearance.” At any rate, the description supplied by the witness is in total contradiction to the actual blueprints of these facilities. According to her, they entered through one door (1) into an undressing room (2), and from there, another door (3) led to a room looking like a shower room (4). This room had yet another door (5) that led into a kind of corridor (6) where there were “two rails leading from the door of the gas chamber down the passage and on these two rails was a flat-topped wagon” which led “directly to the crematorium.”

Document 17 in the Appendix is a drawing of Crematorium V as in service in 1944, drawn by Polish Investigative Judge Jan Sehn based on the statements of the witness Szlama Dragon. The west wing (upper part of the drawing) allegedly contained four gas chambers (K1-4); the first (K1) also had a secondary entrance from the outside. The main entrance was located in the south facade (at the left), and led to a small “corridor” (in fact, an atrium) (Kr), from which one could access Gas Chamber No. 4 (K4), the “Sonderkommando” room (Sk), the SS kitchen (Ku), and undressing room (Rb). From the latter, through the area containing one of the two chimneys, one could enter the furnace room. The access door used by Ada Bimko, excluding the two doors opposite the furnace room, which she did not visit, could not have been any of the doors leading into (K1-4), because in that case she would have found herself directly inside one of the gas chambers, nor could it have been the main entrance into (Kr), because in that case she would have been inside the “corridor.” Moreover, the room said to have been the undressing room of Crematoria IV and V (Rb) had no door leading directly into any of its claimed gas chambers. In addition, for the witness, the crematorium had one single gas chamber. In practice, such a door as she described never existed.

Entering into the details so generously supplied by the witness, the gas chamber measured “about 48 ft square and 10 ft high,” or approximately 4.46 m2 and 3 m high. Plan No. 2036 of Crematorium IV dated January 11, 1943 indicates the precise dimensions of the three rooms presumably used as gas chambers (Pressac 1989, p. 399):

– Chamber 1: 7.72 m × 12.35 m

– Chamber 2: 8.40 m × 11.69 m

– Chamber 3: 3.70 m × [11.69 – x] m

– Chamber 4: 3.70 m × [11.69 – y] m (with x+y=11.69 m)

The third room, 11.69 meters long and 3.70 meters wide, is said to have been divided into two parts in such a way as to obtain four gas chambers. The height of the rooms was 2.20 meters. The indication “48 ft square” makes no sense, since the room was supposed to contain “five or six rows of spray fittings in the roof, with about twenty sprays to each row,” therefore, at least 100 real showerheads, which nevertheless squirted “gas” instead of water. But according to Plan No. 1941 dated November 24, 1942, the 54 showerheads provided for the Zentralsauna occupied a surface area measuring 7.58 m × 9.38 m = ca. 71 m² (ibid., p. 68). Hence, “48 ft square” has to refer to a room 48 ft (about 14.6 meters) wide and long, hence 2,304 sq ft² (some 214 m², which is close to the floor area of Morgue #1 in Crematoria II & III).

What is more, the witness had “the impression that hundreds and hundreds of people may go into this room it was so large.” Another piece of nonsense is that she considered the gas chamber to be much larger than the undressing room, but in Crematoria IV and V, the room presumably used for this purpose, i.e., the undressing room, measured 19.84 m × 12.35 m = 245 m², so that rather this room should have impressed the witness for its size.

Ada Bimko asserted that the gas chamber had no “drains,” but Plan No. 2036 shows drains in Rooms 1 and 2, so that the room in question must have been Number 3; but this was presumably divided into two gas chambers, and had no access from the undressing room.

The witness eventually turned back and exited through the door through which she had entered: “Near this door were some stairs. We went up these stairs and came to a room above the gas chamber.” But such a stairway never existed, and above the presumed gas chambers there was only trusses supporting the roof, without access.

As for the cremation furnaces, we would have to believe that the ever-so helpful SS guide and the two inmates from the “Sonderkommando” with whom the witness had spoken, Jozef Goldberg and Grzeck, who briefed her in detail about the gas chamber and on the number of victims, said nothing whatsoever about the cremation furnaces, since she only spoke of “the stove,” in the singular.

Ada Bimko was therefore too-obviously a liar, and a perjurer to boot, because she had sworn to tell the truth. Nevertheless, Robert Jan van Pelt credulously declared her a truthful and reliable witness. The miserable tricks and artifices he used to achieve this shall be set forth in Chapter 5.4. Precisely for this reason, I for-now suspend refuting in a documented way the evidently false statements of this witness.


	3.5.2. Jeannette Kaufmann (1945)

The statements which follow are testimonies of inmates who claim to have been employed in dismantling the crematoria at the end of 1944.

The witness Kaufmann was deported to the East from Vienna on February 27, 1941 and passed through several labor camps. From the last of these, Bliżyn, she was transferred to Birkenau on August 1, 1944. Here she was assigned to the crematorium-Abbruchkommando demolition squad. On February 4 or 5, 1945, she arrived at Bergen-Belsen via Breslau-Hundsfeld, Gross-Rosen and Mauthausen.

In a deposition dated April 21, 1945, the witness declared the following:689

“Six weeks there as part of a gang dismantling the crematorium taught me what was beyond human conception. The crematorium was pulled down to try and hide traces of it’s [sic] vile work.

The building was rather deceptive in appearance. It consisted of five chimneys, from their respective furnaces, looking from the outside rather like a laundry. The output of the establishment was 20 bodies every 10 minutes. The place was camouflaged to represent a sanatorium with a light railway line running into it for conveying sick persons too ill to walk. Inscriptions explained the passageways leading to the various departments – ‘Waiting Room’ – ‘Clothing Room’ – ‘Bathroom’. The last mentioned room had a very big door like that of a bank safe. The bathroom was actually fitted out with shower sprays, but they were connected to gas pipes instead of water pipes. Our colleagues forming part of the permanent staff of the building explained some of the routine details of the working to us. The ‘Bathroom’ was designed to cope with 2,000 people in 15 minutes. Small transports had to wait for hours on end and even days until the required number could be made up in order to conserve gas. The big majority of the victims were conscious of what was about to happen to them in spite of the elabourate [sic] camouflaging of the place. A detailed account of my knowledge of the place would fill a large volume.”

Jeannette Kaufmann also signed another deposition, longer yet undated, in which she supplied other particulars on her work in the crematorium:690

“On August 1st 1944, we were all moved to Birkenau, where I worked in the office at first. Later I joined a working party whose function it was to demolish the crematorium. The work of demolition had already begun when I arrived, but much of the building was still standing. I was able to see all the main parts of a crematorium. I saw the big ovens, the chimneys all leading into one big chimney. I also saw the so-called ‘Auskleideraum’ (room for undressing) and the adjoining hall which looked like a huge bath room. Everything had a very pleasing and luxurious appearance. The Auskleideraum and the ‘bath room’ were underground and had to be reached by steps leading downwards. In the so-called ‘bath room’ there were gas pipes disposed in the walls. We uncovered these pipes when we demolished the walls. I cannot say how the gas pipes were connected with the other appliances in the room, but I assume that the gas was penetrating into the room through the objects which looked like showers and possible also through boxes with little holes in them which looked like electric fuse boxes. The ‘bath room’ was separated from the Auskleideraum by a heavy iron door similar to doors of safes. I also saw rails and trucks which I was told had been used in carrying the bodies of the gassed people. I also saw thousands of urnes [sic] which we had to destroy, and a big heap of objects such as spectacles, note books, combs, photos etc.”

The fantastic nature of these statements is obvious. The crematorium described by the witness (II or III) had “five chimneys, [emanating] from their respective furnaces,” but then, contradicting herself, there was only one big chimney into which all the others merged (“the chimneys all leading into one big chimney”), although in reality there was only one chimney, internally subdivided into three flues.691 We might assume that she meant five smoke ducts leading from each of the five furnaces to the chimney.

The capacity of 20 bodies in 10 minutes is a pure absurdity. The presumed camouflaging of the “sanatorium” is a goofball idea which, to my knowledge, appears only in this testimony. The “light railway line” with “trucks” traversing the entire structure – “Waiting Room,” “Clothing Room” and “Bathroom” – is a fanciful embroidery of Wetzler and Vrba’s fictitious description. Between the gas chamber and the undressing room there was a “heavy iron door similar to doors of safes,” which is also the fruit of fantasy. The “gas pipes disposed in the walls” could have been the misunderstood ventilation ducts of Morgue #1 inside Crematoria II and III (the “bath room”) but they were most-certainly not connected to “showers,” which is a reworking of well-known propaganda themes. The fuse-box-like gassing boxes, by contrast, are undoubtedly an original invention, and bizarre. The killing capacity of the “bath room,” 2,000 persons in 15 minutes, perhaps refers to the duration of the death agony of the victims, while the waiting time of hours and days for small transports is senseless, because from the orthodox point of view, these small batches of people are said to have been sent to the smallest gas chambers of Crematoria IV and V. This is also in contradiction with the enormous daily mass murder described by other witnesses, such that the crematoria were allegedly unable to dispose of the bodies of those gassed.


	
3.5.3. Regina Plucer (1945)

This witness, a Jewess from Łódź, also took part in the Belsen Trial. In a deposition signed on May 11, 1945, she asserted:692

“1. I am 32 years of age and was arrested in 1941 at Gostinin near Lodz because I am a Jewess. I was taken to Bruchfelde Labour Camp where I remained until August 1943 when I was transferred to Auschwitz. I came to Belsen in January 1945.

2. In October 1944 I was employed at Auschwitz with a party detailed to dismantle the No. 1 gas chamber and crematorium. This dismantling was apparently ordered because of the nearness of the advancing Russian army. The work was done very carefully, various stones had to be stacked separately, and doors, window frames, fittings etc. were given numbers so that I gathered that the building was to be re-assembled elsewhere. During these operations I had access to all the departments of the building and I am able to describe the interior in a general way. The actual method of operating the gas chamber and crematorium was told to me by members of the Sonderkommando (special party employed in the building when it was in use).

3. The building was surrounded by a wire fence over which blankets were draped apparently to screen the events which took place therein from outside view. A garden also surrounded it which was of considerable depth and again assisted in the screening process. The building itself consisted of basement, ground floor and attic. In the basement was the undressing room access to which from the outside was gained by a flight of steps or a chute. The chute was used for sick and weak people but often when lorry-loads of victims came they were tipped directly from the lorry down the chute. The capacity of the undressing-room was such that I estimate it would hold about three thousand persons. The second room in the basement was the gas chamber itself holding about a thousand persons.

4. The ground floor was divided into two compartments. The first was the doctors experimenting and vivisection room. In this room I saw a large glass container filled with some liquid in which were apparently human organs. I took to these to be brains and spleens. The second compartment which was immediately above the undressing room, contained 15 separate ovens which were in line. They were about six feet long, six feet high and three feet wide. The corpses were conveyed from the gas chamber by means of an elevator to this room, where they were loaded into trolleys which ran on rails parallel with the ovens. The trolleys would be unloaded and the bodies placed in the various ovens. The fuel used in the ovens was wood.

5. Immediately above the gas chamber was part of the garden and from here ten small chimneys led down into the gas chamber. Each one showed above the earth about a foot and was about a foot square. Each was fitted with a lid.

Into these chimneys were put green coloured powders and some chemical action would take place and the gas developed would descend into the gas chamber. The attic was used as living quarters by members of the Sonderkommando. Up to the time that the building was dismantled Obersturmfuhrer MOLL was in charge.”

The description of the ground floor of the crematorium is generally correct: there was a medical-service area – an Sezierraum autopsy room (not an “experimenting and vivisection room”!), moreover a Labor laboratory and a Waschraum washroom – and the Verbrennungsraum furnace room. Here, however, she claims to have seen with her own eyes “15 separate ovens which were in line,”693 while there were actually five separate triple-muffle furnaces; the witness claimed that these measured “about six feet long, six feet high and three feet wide,” that is ca. 180 cm × 180 cm × 90 cm, but the real measurements were 278 cm (length without gas generators; with the gas generators, 340 cm), 200 cm (height) and 346 cm (width; Mattogno/Deana 2015, Vol. I, p. 269). While the measurements of the height and length could be erroneously estimated, this is impossible for the width: no sane person would take something measuring 346 cm and estimate it at 90 cm.

With regard to the “trolleys which ran on rails parallel with the ovens,” it should be noted that this device, known as a Sargeinführungswagen coffin-introduction cart, was only temporarily installed in Crematorium II. A Aktenvermerk file memo from Hans Kirschnek dated March 25, 1943 explicitly states that this cart was to be replaced in Crematorium III by more-practical metal stretchers (Leichentragen). This system later also replaced the cart in Crematorium II, as correctly stated by Henryk Tauber.

The mention of wood as fuel for the furnaces may explain the activity of the Holzablader wood unloaders for the crematoria mentioned earlier.

The gassing procedure is a fantastic reworking of the related account by Wetzler and Vrba, and undoubtedly represents a literary link between this and the final Soviet-Polish version. The witness sets the stage in an underground gas chamber beneath a garden, where “small chimneys” rose for the introduction of the gas, topped with “lids.” But there were ten of these, not four, as per the current orthodox version. They moreover had a cross section of “a foot square,” or approximately 0.09 m2, which corresponds to a square of approximately 30 cm on each side. This size is also in conflict with the current narrative, in particular with the statements of the witness par excellence Michał Kula, according to whom the Häftlings-Schlosserei inmate-metal-workshop-manufactured wire-mesh columns (słupy siatkowe) extended down into the claimed gas chamber. The contents of Zyklon-B cans were allegedly poured into these. In his first deposition, Kula claimed that those columns were 70 cm square and 3 meters high.694

The witness knew nothing about Zyklon B, however, and spoke of “green coloured powders,” where even the color is a fruit of fantasy, because the carrier material of Zyklon B consisted of a granular mass of a pinkish-brown color (Diagrieß) or – the type used at Auschwitz – of bluish gypsum granules (Erco).695 In addition, the gas apparently was produced by a chemical reaction directly inside the “chimneys,” and then it “descend[ed] into the gas chamber.”

There is another element which definitively demolishes the credibility of this witness. On June 1, 1945, Sergeant Edward Dinsdale signed a deposition in which he declared:696

“On 30th May 1945 I interviewed REGINA PLUCER (Deposition Exhibit No 81)[.] On information supplied by her, I made a plan of No 1 Gas Chamber and crematorium at Auschwitz and which is now produced and shown to me marked ‘E.D.’ All details and measurements and all other particulars contained in this plan were supplied to me by the said REGINA PLUCER.”

The related design, titled “Plan of No 1 Gas Chamber and Crematorium Auschwitz” (see Document 18), shows in the “Basement” a “Gas Chamber” and an “Undressing Room” arranged side-by-side, separated by a wall, and with a total width of 15 yards (about 13.5 meters). The “Undressing Room” is as long as the “Basement,” 80 yards (about 73 meters), and is accessed from one side only through an “Entrance” and a “Chute,” whence a door to the right leads to a vestibule (“Passage”) which opens into the “Gas Chamber.” The gas chamber is therefore shorter and narrower than the “Undressing Room” (the related measurements are not indicated).

On the “Ground Floor” above the “Basement,” for the length of 40 yards (about 36.5 m), there is a “Garden” in which, in correspondence with the “Gas Chamber,” rise the 10 “Chimneys leading to Basement” mentioned above. The building part located on the ground floor of the crematorium, 40 yards long, shows a “Doctor’s experimenting Room” right over the vestibule (“Passage”), and the furnace room, which is located over the first half of the “Undressing Room.” The side of the building near the vestibule is flanked by the roof of the “Gas Chamber,” from which four of its ten “chimneys” rise. More or less in the middle of the cremation room there is an “Elevator.” The cremation room is equipped with a “Row of Ovens,” which is a single block of 15 furnaces, in practice one gigantic furnace with 15 muffles, in front of which “Rails” have been laid for the “trolleys” mentioned earlier.

There is no need to refute these architectonic absurdities in detail. A simple comparison with the image of Crematorium II under demolition in an aerial photograph taken on December 21, 1944,697 which shows Leichenkeller Morgue #2 (the presumed “Undressing Room”) with the roof off, while Leichenkeller Morgue #1 (the presumed “Gas Chamber”) perpendicular to it still shows the roof. The external dimensions of the crematorium shown in the various plans published by Jean-Claude Pressac were as follows:

– ground floor: length 55.5 meters, width 12 meters;

– basement:

– Leichenkeller Morgue #1: length 30.67 m, width 9.58 m.

– Leichenkeller Morgue #2 and service areas: length 50 m, width 9.27 m.

The rectangular structure annexed to the center part on the ground floor, containing theSchornstein chimney, the Müllverbrennungsofen waste incinerator and the three rooms for the Saugzuganlagen forced-draft blowers, measured 10 m × 12 m and corresponds to the “Doctor’s Experimenting Room” in the plan drawn by Edward Dinsdale!

Regina Plucer, by her own account, formed part of the women’s Abbruchkommando demolition squad assigned to the demolition of Crematorium II, and was therefore an eyewitness; furthermore, she had direct information from a member of the “Sonderkommando,” another eyewitness. Therefore, the enormous blunders indicated above can only be explained by her either not having been a member of the demolition squad, not having received accurate information by any “Sonderkommando” member, or by signing a false deposition.


	3.5.4. Hermine Kranz (1945)

This Slovakian Jewess, who was deported to Auschwitz towards mid-1942, was called to testify at the Belsen Trial, and she signed a deposition on May 9, 1942, in which she declared:698

“I have been in concentration camps since 1942. I am a Jew. I have been in Auschwitz and Belsen. I arrived at Belsen the 26.11.44. For the 1 1/2 years which I was at Auschwitz Kramer was commandant. While at Auschwitz, arrangements were made for building a crematory. This was outside the camp at a place called Birkenau and so a railway had to be built. I was guarding the latrines and was in a position to see all that was going on. There was a guard on the latrines to prevent prisoners throwing rags or anything of that sort down the latrines. The distance was about 75 yards. For four months I had a 6 hours guard [shift], sometimes by day and sometimes by night.

After the crematorium had been built, I saw train transporters arrive at the crematorium siding from other camps or from outside, containing living men and women. The transporters waited often two or three hours. Often there was a queue of four or five transports. It was especially busy about April 1944. I use the word crematorium to include the gas chamber and the crematorium proper. The transporters were in fact cattle trucks.

The people in the transporters often saw through the apertures smoke coming out of the chimney and would ask what it was. They were told that it was a factory or bakery. Before leaving the camp the people were told that they were going to another camp. The doors were opened and the people were told to leave all parcels and personal belongings which would be brought later by lorries.

They were then told to enter the crematorium which was only about 10 to 15 yards away. I saw Kramer every day standing there and waving the people on into the chamber. A Dr. Mengele was always present also. I understand Mengele was studying twins and any twins were not sent into the chamber. They were picked out.

Preparations were made outside the crematorium. This looked like a countryhouse. It was surrounded by electric barbed wire. The people were asked to undress and a towel and soap were given to each person with the explanation that they were going to have a bath. Then they went in through an iron door. The crematorium looked very pretty. There were altogether 6 such crematoria, but my evidence relates to one only. Three thousand persons could be dealt with at a time.

I had to carry bodies of people who had died in the camp for some reason or other into the gas chamber on occasions. This gas chamber was used as an anatomical research laboratory in addition to being a gas chamber. The inside of this chamber looks like a very large bathroom. There were objects similar to showers and there was a very pretty tiled floor. In the floor there were trap doors which opened. Under these were truck containers and the bodies after gas[s]ing were dropped into them to be moved to the furnace where the bodies were burnt. The iron trap doors were covered with tiles and there were benches all around. I saw all this. Some of the inmates who worked on the removal of the corpses showed me all this.

There was always a Red Cross truck with every transport. This was done for propaganda purposes only and to cover up the real purpose. The Hungarians who were burnt never knew what was going to happen, but the Poles had an inclination of what was going to happen to them. I have heard cries and wailing at night when Polish transports were brought up.

People were sorted out before entering the chamber and for some reason or another some of them were kept back. For instance beautiful girls were kept back.”

Hermine Kranz borrowed and embroidered the propaganda themes of the time. With a further exercise of her imagination, she declared that the gas chamber, equipped with the usual “iron door” as well as “a very pretty tiled floor,” with “benches all around,” was also used as an “anatomical research laboratory,” none of which is in line with the facts or the current orthodox narrative.

The gassing technique closely follows the fairy tales which were well known even to the Hungarian inmates examined above, with the difference that, for this witness, it was not the entire floor that opened, but only some simple “trap doors,” beneath which there were neither any cremation furnaces nor conveyor belts, but “truck containers” – probably tipper carts such as those used in coal mines – which carried the bodies “to the furnace,” presumably on the rails seen by Ada Bimko!

Adding another version to the multiple variants of these gaseous fantasies, the Red Cross vehicle did not carry the lethal gas, as the orthodox narrative has it, but accompanied the deportees doomed to be gassed “for propaganda purposes only.”


	3.5.5. Fritz Putzker (1945)

Putzker, a Jew from Vienna, passed through the camps of Dachau, Flossenbürg, Gusen, Auschwitz, Birkenau, Dora and Nordhausen. At Auschwitz, he was registered under number 103972, which was assigned to him on February 23, 1943. In this camp, Putzker occupied the position of “Capo” (foreman) in the “Sicherungswerkstätten” workshops of the Lenz Corporation699 for nine months. He wrote a long undated report, no doubt dating back to 1945, in which he declared that he had been present at homicidal gassings in a crematorium, without ever specifying which one it was:700

“From Auschwitz I was sent on in Jan 44 to the branch camp in Birkenau to do duties as ‘Obercapo’ in charge of the ‘Effekten Kammer’ and the decontamination centre (Sauna). Birkenau was the biggest annihilation camp of all times. There itself 5-6 million people were killed off from 1942 until its final evacuation. I can testify to it as eyewitness.”

In the paragraph headed “The crematorium,” the witness recalls:

“People entered this building through a door equipped with a slide and came into the lavishly equipped dressing room. There they had to undress as quickly as they could no matter if it was man woman or child, and were then driven into the so-called ‘bathing hall,’ the gas room. Those who resisted were clubbed like cattle. The hall was equipped with plated showers which then unfortunat[e]ly were never used. As soon as one complete detachment was brought inside the gasdoors began to open and the respective SS Man on duty, wearing his respirator (Dabrowolsky, Schriders, Gagen all of them Rottenf.) poured out three cylinders of gas ‘Zyclon B’ with prussic acid. Within three minutes and in a temperature of 40-60’ (German) everybody was killed. By means of an elevator the bodies were transported to the furnaces.

There were also two small crematoriums with the following procedure. People had to undress and then were spread out over 4 compartments. 400 of the[m] were usually herded together into one compartment. Then the gas was poured out. Here it took from 6 - 8 minutes until death ensued. Here I clearly saw the effect of this terrible barbaric device for the annihilation of human beings. Frantic positions, torn out bits of hair, small children who had dug their teeth into their mothers’ breast. How terrible to witness it all.

Where is the law of the nations? Oh you blood hounds!

Still more savage was Herr SS Rottenf. Eckardt. A beast in the person of a man. He kept on jumping on the body of pregnant women until the birth literally protruded. And things like that could happen in a Germany of the 20th Century without the knowledge of the people. The reason why I was present at all was purely a perfunctory one as I had always to report the decreasement of the Stock. The handling of the corpses was done by Jewish personnel only, but although being an Aryan and in spite of my protest to visit these places I was forced to look on.

Bunker V was the funeral pyre.”

The statement concludes with the following attestation in German:

“Dies alles ist reine Wahrheit und selbst miterlebt und am eigenen Leibe verspürt und wird ebenso von noch anderen lebenden Zeugen bestätigt werden.”

“All this is the pure truth and represents my own personal experiences, and it will also be confirmed by other witnesses still alive.”

The first part of the description refers to Crematoria II-III. It contains the general schema of gassings in an underground room and the transport of corpses to the furnaces by means of a freight elevator, but the details, although originating from preceding fantasies, are reworked in an original manner. The “dressing room” is accessed by means of a “slide.” The gas chamber, called the “bathing hall,” was equipped with “plated showers”; the “Zyclon B” was poured directly into the room, presumably onto the floor, by SS men wearing gas masks, after which the victims died within three minutes at a temperature of 40 to 60°C. Then, “by means of an elevator the bodies were transported to the furnaces.” The names of the SS executioners –Schriders and Gagen – have never been linked to the crematoria at Birkenau in the Auschwitz Museum’s literature. An SS Sturmmann Aristaron Dobrowoski is mentioned in Kommandanturbefehl Headquarters Order No. 1/43 of Monowitz dated December 2, 1943 (Frei et al., p. 375). The others are unknown, if they even existed. Eckardt is mentioned by Piper as having been employed at Crematorium IV in the capacity of “Kommandoführer,” but only on the basis of other testimonies.701

The description is accompanied by a drawing of the crematorium (see Document 20)702 which, rather than clarify matters, confuses them even further. The crematorium is divided into two parts, one (probably) underground, to the right, the other on the ground floor (to the left). The first contains an “undressing room equipped with every convenience clothes racks, hat racks, glazed” accessed by an “entry staircase fitted with slide” which reminds of the double stairway equipped with a Rutsche slide in between running down into the basement Vorraum vestibule of Crematoria II-III, before Leichenkeller Morgue #1. The “Gas chamber – To accommodate 1000 - 2000 people with imitation showers, and so-called baths” is adjacent to the undressing room without any apparent wall separating the two, and it possesses three “Gas Inlets,” represented by the symbol “X” inside a rectangle. It is not clear whether this rectangle represents the “gas chamber” itself or an external structure above the “gas chamber,” and it is difficult to understand how this system can be reconciled with SS men throwing “Zyclon B” into the room. The “Electric Elevator” is located between the “gas chamber” and furnace room, in which, in front of the elevator, there is a “rail with wooden tip lorries” with five of these vehicles. The idea that they were “wooden” is rather strange. The furnace room is equipped with twelve “furnaces,” six on one side and six on the other, “1 furnace for 3-4 people.” In front of the freight elevator, opposite the furnace room, is an “Ash Receptacle,” probably a cavity in the floor.

There is no need to stress the purely imaginary nature of the drawing.

The second part of the description, by contrast, describes Crematoria IV and V, referred to as the “two small crematoriums.” Here Putzker, by his own account, was an “eyewitness” to the events described. The victims undressed and were made to enter “4 compartments,” each of which could accommodate 400 persons. Here, for some unknown reason, the gassing lasted six to eight minutes. Here as well, this brief exposition is accompanied by a drawing of the crematorium (see Document 21), which bears a very vague resemblance to the real plan.703 The structure is entirely “Above the Ground.” In the furnace room are eight single “furnaces,” four on either side, among which is an “Ash Receptacle.”

As noted earlier, Crematoria IV and V had one eight-muffle furnace in two compact blocks separated by the respective gas generators. An access door in the position indicated in the drawing actually existed, but there was also another door opposite, which is not shown. Adjacent to the furnace room. Putzker put the “Undressing Room” in a position in which the final version of the orthodox narrative places this room as well Auskleideraum – although that room was much larger. Omitted are the two access ways through Schleuse airlocks connecting the furnace room to the undressing room, and the two chimneys are missing as well. The next room has no designation and should provide access to the two “Gas Inlet[s]” in the wall towards the gas chambers. In the original plan there was a “Vorraum” vestibule here, with the main entrance, a “Kohle” coal room and a “Arztzimmer” physician’s room. The four gas chambers, of equal dimensions and symmetrically arranged, are referred to by Putzker as “Bunkers” and numbered from I to IV. In the original plan, there were three rooms of different dimensions; according to the final orthodox version, one of these is supposed to have been divided into two in such a way as to obtain four gas chambers.

In Putzker’s drawing, every gas chamber has its own “Entrance” through the side walls (this word is crossed out in pen), with two other “Gas Inlet[s] on the wall at the far end of the room.” Underneath is the caption “Daily Capacity 5 - 8,000. In addition 2 air pyres.” The indicated capacity is simply absurd. If we consider that the report assigns this capacity to eight furnaces (=muffles), and that another installation of this kind is said to have existed, and moreover that Crematoria II and III, for the witness, had twelve furnaces (=muffles), this means that each of Crematoria II and III had a capacity of 7,500-12,000 bodies, and that all four crematoria together could cremate 25,000-40,000 bodies per day!

In the section of Crematorium IV-V that contained the presumed gas chambers, there was one single access doorway and that there were seven little wall openings through which the Zyklon is supposed to have been introduced, arranged in a manner completely different than the four “gas inlets” drawn by this witness.

When it comes to Crematoria IV and V, this testimony contains in an embryonic state the themes developed by Szlama Dragon in a description which has become the orthodox version (see Document 17), but its greatest importance lies in the fact that it supplies an explanation for the otherwise incomprehensible Holocaust term “Bunker V,” attributed to the phantasmagorical “Bunker 2” in 1944:704 each of the crematoria, both IV and V, had four gas chambers, referred to as “Bunker I,” “Bunker II,” “Bunker III” and “Bunker IV;” therefore, continuing the numbering, there was also a “Bunker V,” although for Putzker this was not a gassing installation, but only “the funeral pyre.”

As noted above, attribution of the term “bunker” to the presumed gas chambers was not unusual, not even for Crematoria II and III.


	3.5.6. Isaac Egon Ochshorn (1945)

Ochshorn passed through eight concentration camps in the following order:

– Buchenwald (October 2, 1939 until September 27, 1940), registration number 7397;

– Dachau (September 27, 1940 until June 16, 1942), no. 20954;

– Gross-Rosen (June 16, 1941 until October 16, 1942), no. 852;

– Auschwitz-Birkenau (October 16, 1942 until October 8, 1943), no. 68244;

– Warsaw (October 8, 1943 until August 7, 1944), no. 1690;

– Dachau, Kaufering, Allach (August 7, 1944 until April 29, 1945), no. 89109.

On August 21, 1945, Major E.L. Rothschild of the 200 Jewish Field Regiment sent Ochshorn’s English deposition to the United Nations War Crimes Commission, which archived it on September 14.

As regards Auschwitz, the testimony is just as ambiguous as the previous one: Ochshorn did not claim to have been a member of the “Sonderkommando” nor to have visited the presumed gas chambers, but he supplied a description of the interior, insistently repeating the words “I saw.”

The witness signed stupefying statements, even on the first three camps.


	Buchenwald

“In November 1939, the Central Bureau for Concentration Camps in Berlin-Oranienburg, Amt D.II, informed the Camp Commandant, that, since a monthly schedule of 20,000 Polish Jews was to be sent to Buchenwald, care was to be taken for their quickest possible liquidation (murder). The Camp Commandantur put this order into effect by the following methods: The new-coming Jews were immediately subjected to such sadistic maltreatment that more than half were murdered on the day of arrival, while the surviving Jews were put into separate cages where they were denied any sort of nourishment or water and were bestially mishandled, so that they would die within 14 days. I myself overheard the Camp Commandant, SS Obersturmführer Schober[t] giving SS Hauptscharführer Hinke[l]mann the order: ‘I want every day at least 600 Jewish death reports in the Camp Office.’

By an order of Camp Commandant Schober[t] issued to the SS men Hinkemann, Kubitz and Abraham all University graduates and Rabbis were taken to the camp gate and there these learned men, some of whom enjoyed world-wide reputation, were buried alive, standing up to their neck, dying a dreadful death.”705

The “Central Bureau for Concentration Camps in Berlin-Oranienburg” was the Inspectorate of the Concentration Camps (Inspektion der Konzentrationslager), which was incorporated into the SS WVHA as Amtsgruppe Office Group D only on February 1, 1942. 9,553 inmates were interned at Buchenwald in 1939, with 1,235 deaths out of 32,587 internees (819 of whom died over the past two years); 2,525 inmates were interned in 1940 with 1,772 deaths out of 39,119 internees (Internationales Lagerkomitee…, p. 10). The commandant of Buchenwald until December 1941 was SS Standartenführer Karl Koch; an SS Obersturmführer Schober [t] was part of the SS personnel at Buchenwald. The propaganda yarn of the inmates “buried alive” requires no comment.


	Dachau:

“The Jews were thrown alive into huge concrete mixers where they were milled into pulp. This material served as street plaster; hence, these streets were commonly called ‘Juden-Strassen’ (Jew-roads).”706

This is an unheard-of fairy tale, absurd and preposterous.


	Gross-Rosen:

“From October 1941 to August 1942 500 to 600 Russian Prisoners of War were daily murdered by poison or gas.”[706]

This corresponds to a total of 135,000-162,000 victims! But the Soviet POWs presumably killed in this camp amounted to a total of only some 3,000 (Sprenger, p. 225). According to the Holocaust orthodoxy, there was no gas chamber at Gross-Rosen.


	Auschwitz:

With regard to Auschwitz-Birkenau, the witness asserted:707

“I saw new newcoming [sic] of Jews transports marked for gassing arrived at Birkenau station. I myself heard the Political Officer of Auschwitz giving to the newcoming Jews misleading speeches and instructing them to take a bath where instead of water – gas was being inducted. […]

I saw the lorries with the Jews marked for gassing arriving at the gas chambers and crematoriums. I saw how the Jews were bestially driven into the undressing-halls of the gas chambers naked. I saw how these unfortunates were handed soap and towels as if they were going to bathe. I also saw how, after the gas chamber had been stuffed with human beings, the doors were closed, a gas bomb was taken out of a Red-Cross lorry, how the Duty SS Officer handed the bomb to the SS man; how the latter put on his respirator, prepared the bomb and how he threw the lethal Gas bomb through a hole in the roof of the gas chamber, which looked from a distance like a bee-hive, and how he immediately reported to the Officer. […]

The gassed Jews were brought from the gas chambers into the adjoining crematoriums which had many hundreds of ovens. In each oven a man, a woman and a child were laid, since experience had taught that such an arrangement ensured the best method of burning them.

From the old Birkenau Camp of block 27, which was occupied by prisoners and was separated from the gas chamber only by a wire fence, these mass murders could be seen accurately. One could even hear the terrible cries for help of the desperate, and their shrieks of horror.

I once heard the Camp Commandant of Auschwitz say: ‘Our system is so terrible that no man in this world will believe it to be possible – even should a Jew succeed in escaping from Auschwitz and telling the world all he saw. The world will brand him as a fantastic liar and nobody will believe him.’

Towards the end of 1943, when almost all the Jews of Europe (with the exception of the Hungarian Jews) had passed through the gas chambers and crematoriums, it was the opinion of the SS Führers of Auschwitz that the gas chambers and crematoriums would now be destroyed. But they were greatly mistaken. Already in September 1943 there arrived an important SS Commission with engineers and technicians under the personal leadership of Himmler. A technical Commission was set up with the task of enlarging the capacity of extermination in the gas chambers and crematoriums from 8,000 to 40,000 per day. The building of these tremendous installations was commenced as early as September. These new plans included the laying of a railway directly to the gas chambers. Since there were no more Jews left in Europe, the SS Officers believed that after the extermination of the Jewish people it was now the turn of the Poles and Czechs.”

The witness claims to have seen the crematorium from Block 27; hence, he might have been able to see the victims disappear into an underground room (the presumed “undressing-hall”), but he cannot have seen that they “were handed soap and towels,” which they took into the gas chamber with them, and that “the doors were closed” behind them. The fairy tale of the “gas bomb” formed part of the propaganda repertoire together with the distribution of the “soap and towels.” Although Block 27 was located approximately 150 meters from the roof of Leichenkeller Morgue #1 of Crematorium II as the crow flies, the witness “saw” the SS throw the “gas bomb” through one single “hole in the roof of the gas chamber.” The current orthodox narrative insists on four of these holes, though.

The presence in the crematorium or crematoria of “many hundreds of ovens” is ridiculous nonsense, like the story of the SS commission presided over by Himmler in person, whose task it was – in September 1943! – to raise the capacity of the gas chambers and cremation furnaces from 8,000 to 40,000 victims per day! This is an imaginative reworking of the fairy tale of the inauguration of Crematorium II in the presence of Himmler and other illustrious guests who had arrived especially for this occasion from Berlin – in early 1943. No-less-absurd is the presumed German intention to exterminate the Polish and Czech peoples in the gas chambers.

The anecdote of the warning by the camp commandant that the reality was so terrible that, if anyone revealed it to the world, he would be considered “a fantastic liar” is an obvious alibi, a sort of excusatio non petita (gratuitous excuse) by someone who knew himself to be indeed “a fantastic liar.”


	3.5.7. Anonymous French Jewish Witness (1946)

An anonymous Jew deported to Auschwitz from Compiègne (France) on an ungiven date wrote a “Report on the ‘Auschwitz’ Camp” that was archived on August 20, 1946 by the “Documents Unit Records Sub-Section War Crimes Branch, USFET.” The lines relating to the cremation capacity of the crematorium are the exact translation of a passage of a testimony which appeared in a French publication of 1946, as mentioned earlier (Aroneanu, pp. 177f.). The source given there is “Lequeu” and must be a different person than another witness named Maurice Lequeux, who was arrested in 1943, and whose statement I will discuss later.708 On the other hand, only two transports ever left Compiègne for Auschwitz, one on March 27 and one on June 5, 1942, and no “Lequeu” appears in the associated deportation list.

The witness does not explicitly claim to have been present at any presumed gassing, but clearly allows the reader to understand that this was indeed the case, because he describes the behavior of the victims in the gas chambers as seen from the inside, and comments: “I shall never forget them!” The following is an excerpt from his account:709

“Approach by descent comparable to the entrance to an underground railway station, in the middle of these stairs there is a cemented slope from 50 to 60 cm high, curved in the form of a ramp in which aged people, invalids and little children who cannot descend, slide down.

When they reach the bottom, they are immediately put into the gas chamber or killed on the spot. For this category of victims precautions are taken that they be undressed in the yard in order to speed up the execution operations.

The two gas chambers are adjoining in what is called a Bunker (gas chamber), each being capable of holding 1500-1600 persons packed like sardines in a tin-box. In the middle there is a square, grated column of 30 cm on each side with a glass opening on the top. It is through this opening that the SS specialists will introduce the quantity of gas necessary to achieve the suffocation of these unfortunates, I say to achieve, because the people are so numerous for such a small place and without any openings that they are already 9/10 dead when the famous ‘cyclone’ is introduced: gas with a base of cyanid acid.

I suppose I should indicate that this gas was always transported by the Red Cross lorry with insignia quite conspicous on the sides and the roof, the collecting took place in Auschwitz.

The suffocation lasted about three minutes, then 5 minutes of waiting, then the above-mentioned glass-openings and the doors were opened. I forgot this detail: when the chambers were full, it happened that the SS tyrants decided to throw children on top of the adults. Oh, my Lord, what apocalyptic scenes, these cries of mothers begging for mercy for their children, who very often were in the same chamber or in the adjoing one: these children calling their parents, their brothers, their sisters, still praying God and hoping for His mercy when they were at the threshold of death. These plaints, these cries of despair, these traces of nails upon the wall, I shall never forget them!

The doors were opened and the personnel of the special commands proceeded to the emptying of the chambers. The bodies, standing on their feet, jammed together, are all intermixed, it seems impossible to take them out, that is why an instrument with two prongs is used to take the bodies away from the chamber. They are taken out one by one, brought to the lift and before being taken to the cave they are examined by a so-called recuperation detail which will proceed to an inspection of the mouth in order to remove the sets of teeth or gold filled teeth or the rings which might have been left on the fingers of the bodies. It is difficult to understand how the spirit of plunder can go so far. But still it is the truth.

This job being finished, the bodies are transported in freight elevators to the upper floor where six ovens are burning and reducing to ashes 36 bodies every 20 minutes, that is, 108 in an hour and 2592 in 24 hours, as they burn continuously. Out of the 5 ovens there are always 4 which function, so that the daily figure is 10,400 on the average, not counting the trenches, where 12 to 14,000 bodies are burned every 24 hours at the time of so-called ‘great urgency’ during the big influx of the Czech, Polish and specially Hungarian transports. Once lighted the furnaces are kept going, solely with bodies.”

The preceding propaganda themes are remixed with additions probably included by the witness. Access to the gas chambers of Crematoria II and III, which, according to the current orthodox version, was through a staircase at the end of the “undressing room” (Leichenkeller Morgue #2), becomes “comparable to the entrance to an underground railway station” – a rather bold comparison to say the least – and the double stairway with the Rutsche slide in the middle which led down into the Vorraum vestibule becomes the main accessway for the victims. At any rate, the witness knew nothing of any “undressing room” inside the crematorium, because victims undressed “in the yard,” and as soon as they entered the crematorium, they were “immediately put into the gas chamber or killed on the spot.” The presence of “two gas chambers” was a common claim also made by Bendel. Since it contradicts the actual layout of the crematorium, the original gas chamber (Leichenkeller Morgue #1) was then claimed to have been divided into two parts.710

Of particular interest in this testimony is the attribution of the term “bunker” to the gas chambers of Crematoria II and III, similar to Putzker’s “Bunkers I-V” and other similar cases already examined.

For the emission of gas, as in various other testimonies, there is one single aperture “with a glass [!] opening on the top” which opens onto a “grated column” with a width of 30 cm, similar to the one claimed by Regina Plucer. The nonsensical duration of a gassing – three to five minutes – is also part of the propagandistic baggage and – with a few variations – is similar in nearly all accounts. The story of the children thrown onto the heads of the adults in the gas chamber was another grim theme also claimed by Bendel. By contrast, the “instrument with two prongs” to extract the bodies piled up in the gas chamber seems to be an invention of this witness.

In the description of the cremation furnaces, we perceive an echo of the Vrba-Wetzler Report and of the statement by the anonymous Polish Jew of 1945, at least in the magic number 36,711 referring here to the bodies cremated in 20 minutes by the six furnaces. There also reappears the technically impossible tale of furnaces cremating bodies without fuel, feeding exclusively on corpses.


	3.5.8. Helena Bard-Nomberg (1946) 

Helena Bard-Nomberg arrived at Auschwitz from Majdanek in June 1943, and was registered with number 49298, which was assigned on July 11. On May 22, 1946, this witness declared:712

“Our group was led to the crematorium. (I had proposed to hide at any cost; the desire to live was so great, I don’t know why – I wanted to live to get revenge!). Our group was heavily surrounded by guards. In front of the entrance to the crematorium, the victims undressed; their clothes remained outside. I managed to sit down for a moment on a pile of clothes without being seen. Immediately in a hurry the companions inadvertently covered me with clothing. I sat there until morning. At dawn, seeing no one, I entered the vestibule of the gas chamber [do przedsionka komory gazowej], which was a large room – the walls were tiled, and there were plenty of showers, soap and towels. I don’t remember whether the gas-chamber door was open. A little later, a German officer with a [gas] mask came out of the room, slammed the door behind him. When he wanted to close the door to the supposed bath room – he saw me. It was evidently too late to push me into the gas chamber. He scolded me a lot and told me that I would end up there the next day anyway (‘Du verfluchte Jude, du alte Hexe! Gehst nicht heute, kommst du morgen hierher’ ‘You cursed Jew, you old hag! You don’t go today, you get here tomorrow’ … [German in text]). He kicked me and then ordered a guard to accompany me to the camp. […] Some time later Hessler [Hössler] (called among the Jews ‘Mojsieligne,’ Moses the liar), the head of the camp, came to my Block E. He passed by by chance and saw me. He asked me why ‘this old witch’ was still in the block, [since] she should have been consigned to the crematorium. I told him about my hiding place, thanks to which I had remained alive. Then Hessler [said]: ‘Nur die verfluchten Juden sind so raf[f]iniert’ ‘Only the cursed Jews are so cunning’ [German in text]. But from that moment he turned a blind eye to me.” 

Here the “bath room” was not the “gas chamber”, but its “vestibule.” According to the orthodox narrative, this eyewitness should have been killed immediately with a blow to the back of the head; luckily for her, however, she was sent back to her block, and when Hössler met her there, he admired her cunning and left her alone so she could tell the world!


	3.6. Hearsay Testimonies of Inmates Receiving Information from “Sonderkommando” Members

	3.6.1. Sofia Kaufmann Schafranov (1945)

Sofia Kaufmann, married name Schafranov, a Persian Jewess of Russian origin who lived in Italy, was arrested on December 2, 1943 and later deported to Auschwitz, where she arrived on February 6, 1944 and was registered under number 75181. On January 18, 1945, she was evacuated from the camp first to the Ravensbrück Camp, then to the Mauthausen Camp, where she was liberated by U.S. troops. She entrusted the account of her experiences to her brother-in-law, Alberto Cavaliere, who published it in 1945. The following is her description of the gas chambers (Cavaliere, p. 40):

“Deportees were assigned to the gas chamber to carry out the macabre task, certainly not of their own free will, all-the-more-so since their term of office only lasted two months, during which time they were kept segregated, after which they ended up in the same [gas] chambers and were replaced by other operators, to prevent the secret of these chambers and torture chambers from leaking out. But an Italian, a certain Ferrari,[713] assigned to this job, under pain of death for refusal, who succeeded in escaping when the camp was evacuated, told me a few hair-raising details of the operation. A fake shower bath was set up, and the victims, although they now knew what type of shower bath it was, were even given towels and a piece of soap, after which they were made to undress, and were chased down into low-ceiling, hermetically-sealed concrete chambers: twenty-five or thirty persons per chamber. There were faucets on the ceiling which sprayed them with poison gas instead of water. The spray was often scanty, and the action of the gas was not sufficiently efficient, so that the victims were thrown into the furnaces while still alive.”

Here we see the recurrence of the literary themes of the extermination at regular intervals of the “Sonderkommando” members every three or four months (here reduced to two months), the distribution of soap and towels to the victims, the showers spraying gas instead of water, and finally victims burned alive. The “low-ceiling” “concrete chambers” are reminiscent of those described by Bendel (which were only 1.5 meters high!) while their capacity (25 or 30 persons) is a foolish invention of the witness; just imagine the enormous number of gassing batches or “asphyxiation chambers” necessary to set the “record” of 20,000 victims in a day as claimed by the orthodoxy (Piper 1994, p. 174), or even up to 30,000, as claimed by witnesses.714


	3.6.2. Marie-Claude Vaillant-Couturier (1945)

This witness was deported to Auschwitz from the Compiègne Camp on January 27, 1943, whence she was transferred to the Ravensbrück Camp in August 1944. She had her brief moment of fame on January 28, 1946, when she testified during the 44th hearing of the Nuremberg Military Tribunal at the request of the assistant prosecutor for the French Legation, Charles Dubost. But she had already published an account of her experience the year before in a brochure titled Auschwitz, in which she described the presumed gassing procedure. Her sources allegedly were a little French girl who was assigned to undress the children in a crematorium, and unspecified men from the “Sonderkommando” (Vaillant-Couturier, pp. 20f.):

“Au début, lorsque les transports de Juifs arrivaient, à la descente du train, les jeunes étaient triés pour entrer dans le camp et encore pas tous, seulement ceux qui avaient bonne apparence ; les vieillards, les méres et les enfants montaient en camions pour les gaz. Par la suite, le système a été perfectionné et modernisé. Une voie de garage menait le train jusqu'à la chambre à gaz. Les voyageurs étaient accueillis par un orchestre composé d'un groupe de quinze jeunes filles, détenus, pour la pluspart, très jolis, vêtues de jupes bleu-marine et de blouses blanches la semaine, et de robes à pois le dimanche, qui jouaient des airs légers, tels que la valse de la ‘Veuve joyeuse’ ou la ‘Barcarolle des Contes d'Hoffmann’, pendant qu'on faisait le triage.

C'était poignant de voir les familles se séparer, les jeunes filles quitter leurs mères et leurs jeunes frères et soeurs, les vieux ménages se dire adieu ; mais aucun ne se doutait de la mort atroce qui les attendait. La file des grand-mères marchant à petits pas, les mamans poussant les landeaux, des enfants de 12 ans tenant les plus petits par la main, se dirigeaient lentement vers un bâtiment en briques rouges qui portait l'inscription ‘Bains’. Là, ils se déshabillaient, puis on les enfermait tous nus dans une grande salle et les capsules de gaz étaient jetées par une ouverture dans le plafond. C'était le même gaz que celui employé pour désinfection des blocks, contre les poux. Il fallait, parait-il, compter cinq minutes pour les femmes et trois pour les hommes. Trois quarts d'heures après l'arrivée du train, on voyait d'immense flammes s'échapper des cheminées des fours crématoires. Nous savions que ces gens que nous avions vu vivants si peu de temps auparavant ne seraient plus, dans quelques minutes, qu'un peu de cendres. Comme les huits fours crématoires ne suffisaient pas à la besogne, les S.S. avaient fait creuser de grandes fosses remplies de branchages secs trempés dans un liquide inflammable ; c'est là-dedans qu'ils jetaient les cadavres ; tout le ciel en était illuminé. A une certaine époque, ils manquaient de gaz, alors ils ont jeté dans les fosses les enfants vivants.”

“At first, when the Jewish transports arrived, when they got down off the trains, the young people were sorted out to enter the camp, but not all of them, only those who looked good; the elderly, the mothers and the children climbed into trucks for the gas. The system was later perfected and modernized. A siding took the train right up to the gas chamber. The travelers were welcomed by an orchestra made up of fifteen young girls, inmates, most of them very pretty, dressed in navy-blue skirts and white blouses during the week, and with polka dots on Sunday, who played light melodies, like the ‘Merry Widow’ waltz, or the ‘Barcarolle from the Tales of Hoffmann,’ while they did the selection.

It was touching to see families saying good-bye, young girls leaving their mothers and their young brothers and sisters, old couples saying good-bye; but no one doubted that a horrible death awaiting them. The line of grand-mothers walking with little steps, mothers pushing their baby carriages, 12-year-old children holding smaller children by the hand, and walking slowly towards a building of red brick bearing the inscription ‘Baths’. There, they undressed, then they were locked naked into a big hall, and gas capsules were thrown through an opening in the ceiling. It was the same gas as that used to disinfect the blocks against lice. It seems to have taken five minutes for the women and three for the men. Three quarters of an hour after the arrival of the train, immense flames could be seen escaping the chimneys from the cremation furnaces. We knew that, in a few minutes, those people who we had seen alive a short while ago would be no more than a litte ashes. Since the eight cremation furnaces were not enough for the demand, the S.S. had huge ditches dug, filled with dry branches soaked in a flammable liquid; the bodies were thrown into them; the whole sky lit up. At a certain time, when there was a lack of gas, they threw living children into the ditches.”

At Nuremberg, the witness testified as follows as to the presumed gassings (IMT, Vol. 6, p. 216):

“They were taken to a red brick building, which bore the letters ‘Baden,’ that is to say ‘Baths.’ There, to begin with, they were made to undress and given a towel before they went into the so-called shower room. Later on, at the time of the large convoys from Hungary, they had no more time left to play-act or to pretend; they were brutally undressed, and I know these details as I knew a little Jewess from France who lived with her family at the ‘Republique’ district.

M. DUBOST: In Paris?

MME. VAILLANT-COUTURIER: In Paris. She was called ‘little Marie’ and she was the only one, the sole survivor of a family of nine. Her mother and her seven brothers and sisters had been gassed on arrival. When I met her she was employed to undress the babies before they were taken into the gas chamber. Once the people were undressed they took them into a room which was somewhat like a shower room, and gas capsules were thrown through an opening in the ceiling. An SS man would watch the effect produced through a porthole. At the end of 5 or 7 minutes, when the gas had completed its work, he gave the signal to open the doors; and men with gas masks – they too were internees – went into the room and removed the corpses. They told us that the internees must have suffered before dying, because they were closely clinging to one another and it was very difficult to separate them.

After that a special squad would come to pull out gold teeth and dentures; and again, when the bodies had been reduced to ashes, they would sift them in an attempt to recover the gold.

At Auschwitz there were eight crematories but, as from 1944, these proved insufficient. The SS had large pits dug by the internees, where they put branches, sprinkled with gasoline, which they set on fire. Then they threw the corpses into the pits. From our block we could see after about three-quarters of an hour or an hour after the arrival of a convoy, large flames coming from the crematory, and the sky was lighted up by the burning pits.

One night we were awakened by terrifying cries. And we discovered, on the following day, from the men working in the Sonderkomando – the ‘Gas Kommando’ – that on the preceding day, the gas supply having run out, they had thrown the children into the furnaces alive.” (My emphases)

The witness tosses all the propaganda fantasies she ever heard of into the pot: the orchestra that welcome the transports, the eight crematoria (other witnesses contented themselves with six or seven), the inscription “Baden” on a crematorium, the ever-present towels distributed to the victims; in the gas chamber, equipped with doors, plural, there was a single aperture in the ceiling, through which “capsules” of gas were thrown, a development out of the fantastic gas “bombs,” which then became “cylinders” and “ampoules.” The duration of the gassing (five to seven minutes) was the usual absurdity with slight variations proffered by nearly all witnesses. The witness never hesitates to proffer the usual tomfooleries: the flames shooting up from the crematorium chimneys; the burning ditches into which the bodies are thrown, presumably by catapult; the children burned alive, either in pits or in cremation furnaces.


	3.6.3. Marco Nahon (1945)

Nahon was a Greek Jew who was deported to Auschwitz on May 16, 1943, and was registered there under number 122274. In October 1944, he was transferred to the Stutthof Camp, then to Buchenwald on April 6, and finally, after transiting through a number of other locations, he was liberated at the Dachau Camp on April 27 by U.S. troops. He describes his experiences in a long-heretofore-unpublished report written in French, which was translated into English in 1959 by Jacqueline Havaux under the title of Birkenau: The Camp of Death, although it got published only in 1989 with the same title. The typewritten translation bears the words “Dachau-Augsburg, June-July, 1945.” The following are the most-important passages from Chapter XXVIII, “The ‘Cremas’ and the ‘Sonder-Kommandos’.”

The inmates in the “Sonderkommando” lived segregated from the others,715

“but near the end of the war, however, shortly before the evacuation of Birkenau, the surveillance had slackened considerably and we could converse with the people of the Sonder without too much difficulty. Those men and even those living inside the Crema Blocks have divulged many details on the ‘working methods’ in the Crematoria.”

One of Nahon’s friends, named Benardis,716 recognized “one of his old acquaintances from Athens” among the men in the “Sonderkommando,” who told him the story set forth by Nahon. The narration is in the first person, a sort of transcription of the statements of the man from the “Sonderkommando.”

He was selected by the Lagerarzt camp physician in the quarantine camp together with other Jews, and the group was transferred to Barracks 9 and 11 of Camp Sector BIId; after a few days, they were taken to a crematorium:717

“We enter the court-yard, and then we cross over the door-way of the building above which I read the word ‘Baden.’ Are they taking us to the baths? We are led to a very large room in the basement. Nothing unusual there; in the far end of it, a door; on the walls, hundreds of numbered hooks to hang clothes on. I am however obstinate in trying to discover somewhere some mysterious machine that gives death. Maybe the ceiling or the walls are concealing some ingenuous apparatus to destroy people? The Germans are so subtle. But nothing at all. This room is like any other room… and yet, an unspeakable fear claws at my throat. All of a dudde [sic], truck engines are heard outside; they stop in front of the door. Women and children are now entering the room; then others, and more… There must be about three hundred of them. The trucks go away; the door is closed. Several S.S. and a few of the older captives on duty are now moving around the room. They order the women to undress… ‘schnell… schnell… los… los…’. Already, whips go into action, pistols are shining… They must undress quickly. The women are instructed to hang their clothes carefully on the hooks and especially, to be sure to remember their number so as to avoid confusion after the baths. Too modest to stand naked in front of so many men, a few women are still keeping their slips on. But the men order them to take off everything, ‘alles… alles…’.”

Then other groups of inmates arrived:

“This procedure is repeated five or six times. Then, an officer asks. ‘How many are they?’ … ‘A thousand four hundred.’ The Kapo orders us, ‘Eintreten by five; it’s enough work for today.’ … We go back to the Block.”

After two days, the group of inmates was taken back to the crematorium; there were 2,000 men in the undressing room. The narration continues as follows:718

“They [the SS] open the back door. I am getting closer… and closer… It leads to a narrow passage. On one side of it is another door with its sections lined with wide strips of thick rubber; this door shuts hermetically. Above it is an electric clock, and a kind of attic-window with a very thick glass.

An S.S. opens a case and takes out two metal containers very similar to vacuum flasks or thermos bottles; they contain a gas called ‘Cyclone.’ He opens the small window, throws with force the thermos into the room, and shuts it back hastily. What time is it at the electric clock? Five past eight. On striking the floor the thermos break, making a detonation. Immediately after, I hear a second noise: it sounds like tires blowing out, or rather, like the rattle or hissing of hundred snakes.

Cries of distress, atrocious shouts and shrieks come up. They grow louder and louder. Am I in hell? The walls of the gas-chamber tremble under the incredible impact and the desperate knocking of those being asphyxiated. Arms and fists keep hitting and smashing against the thick glass of the small observation window, in a last attempt to break it down. All of us are pale, our hair stands up on our heads, a cold sweat forms in drops over our foreheads… The blood drains from our bodies. Some of us sway and feel about to faint. The cries and the yelling now seem to be losing in their intensity; they are becoming more sparse… They have now become groaning, more wailing, muffled and far distant laments… Then, absolute silence. How long did it take?

Three minutes, five minutes? The S.S. takes a look at the clock. He presses an electric button. Inside the gas-chamber, ventilators clear up the atmosphere. The door is pushed open. What an horrible sight! A mass of dead bodies pell-mell on top of each other; their limbs sprawled and intertwined, their eyes popping out of their orbits, their mouths frothing, their faces emaciated, blood, stains…

The bodies are turned over and we must proceed immediately with the ‘Zähne-Kontrolle’ or dental ablation; the gold teeth are extracted and put down in a case. The women’s hair is cut off and will soon got on its way to Germany.

Specially arranged elevators carry the bodies up to the next floor where the furnaces are, what is left of 2,000 human beings who a while ago were alive…”

In this narration, the word “Baden” on one of the crematoria resembles the version told by Vaillant-Couturier. The duration of death, 3-5 minutes, forms part of the absurd parameters established by propaganda, and in a crematorium (II or III) there are “elevators,” plural (for Nyiszli, there were four of them).

It seems like Nahon inserted a few themes on his own initiative, such as, for example, the electrical clock, the victims entering in groups of 300 until the gas chamber is full with 1,400 persons, although 1,500 would have been more-logical (5 groups of 300 persons) and “a kind of attic-window with a very thick glass,” presumably in the wall over the gas-chamber door.

Other themes are her own adaptations, such as exploding “thermos [bottles]” full of “Cyclone” gas: an ingenuous interpretation of Tabeau’s “bombs with hydrogen cyanide”: if they were “bombs,” they should have exploded when they hit the floor! The fairy tale of the periodic extermination of the inmates in the “Sonderkommando” appears here with a temporal expansion:719

“Every five or six months or so the staff at the Sonder-Kommando is replaced.”

In this literary fiction, the source of “information” was an anonymous Greek member of the “Sonderkommando,” which supposedly turns this into an “eyewitness” account, but the only thing this Greek inmate knew about the cremation of the bodies (if we consider him to be real) was that there were “furnaces.” Nadjari states that, before the evacuation of Birkenau, 26 Greeks remained in the “Sonderkommando,” so that the source of the story should really be one of those, if not exactly Nadjari himself.


	3.6.4. Chaim Frosch (1945)

The witness was deported to Auschwitz on April 30, 1942 and registered under number 34496. He signed an undated 4-page “Report on Auschwitz Birkenau” in German, which no doubt dates back to 1945. According to him, only 15-20% of the deportees from Jewish transports were admitted to the camp upon arrival. Here is an excerpt from his report:720

“Die restlichen 80% wurden nach der sogenannten Brzezinka abgeführt und in einen kleinen Raum gesteckt, dortselbst vergast und am Scheiterhaufen verbrannt. Personen, welche nicht schnellstens die Befehle zum Ausziehen befolgten, wurden bei lebendigem Leibe ins Feuer geworfen. Die Kenntnis davon habe ich durch die Leute des Sonderkommandos, welche diese Arbeit durchführten, ich selbst habe in einer Entfernung von 200-300 m gearbeitet und vieles mit angesehen.

Im August wurden die Krematorien I und II in Birkenau fertiggestellt. Die Gaskammern fassten cca 2000 Personen, welche in einem Zuge vergast wurden. […] End 1942 sind die Krematorien III und IV fertig worden, welche 1500 Personen im Tage verbrannten. […]

Anfang 1944 trafen im raschen Tempo grosse Transporte ungarischer Juden ein, von denen, wie üblich 15% nach den Lagern gebracht, die Rest sofort vergast und verbrannt wurde. Die Krematorien I-V arbeiteten ununterbrochen Tag und Nacht, konnten aber die Arbeit nicht bewältigen, so dass bei den Krematorien grossen Gruben gegraben wurden in denen die Vergasten verbrannt wurden. Als auch die Vergasungskammer den Drang nicht bewältigen konnte, wurden einfach Tausende Menschen zu den ausgehobenen Gruben getrieben, erschossen und gleich verbrannt, vielfach Kinder vor den Augen ihrer Mütter. Schrecklich war das Bild das sich den Lagerinsassen bot, als sie die vernichtende [sic] Arbeit der vier Krematorien und Gruben zusehen konnten, die entsetzlichen gellenden Hilfsrufe der Todgeweihten anhören mussten, während die Flammen metrhoch [sic] zum Himmel loderten.” (My emphases).

“The remaining 80% were taken to the so-called Brzezinka and put in a small room, gassed there and burned at the pyre. Persons who did not obey most quickly the orders to undress were thrown alive into the fire. I have knowledge of this through the people in the Sonderkommando who carried out this work. I myself worked at a distance of 200-300 m and watched a lot of this.

Crematoria I and II in Birkenau were completed in August. The gas chambers held about 2000 people who were gassed in one batch. […] At the end of 1942, Crematoria III and IV were completed, which burned 1500 people a day. […]

At the beginning of 1944, large transports of Hungarian Jews arrived at a rapid pace, of whom, as usual, 15% were brought to the camps, the rest were immediately gassed and burned. The Crematoria I-V worked uninterruptedly day and night, but could not cope with the work, so that large pits were dug at the crematoria in which the gassed people were burned. When the gassing chamber could not cope with the deman either, thousands of people were simply driven to the excavated pits, shot and immediately burned, often children in front of their mothers. The picture which presented itself to the camp inmates was terrible when they could watch the extermination work of the four crematoria and pits, had to listen to the horrific, shrill cries for help of those doomed, while the flames blazed meters high into the sky.” (My emphases).

Despite his alleged contact with the “Sonderkommandos, welche diese Arbeit durchführten” “Sonderkommando who carried out this work,” Frosch knew nothing of the two gassing “bunkers.” For him, in 1942, there was only “a small room” and a single “pyre.” According to him, Crematoria II and III were completed in August 1942, Crematoria IV and V at the end of that year. As mentiond earlier, these dates are way off. The capacities of these facilities (6,000 people per day) are clearly taken from the Wetzler-Vrba Report or from another common source. In 1944, the mass graves were dug “at the crematoria,” and not just near Crematorium V, as claimed by the final Polish-Soviet version. The story of deportees killed with firearms and burned in cremation pits, which was taken up and developed by Nyiszli, is here also justified by the fact that “the gassing chamber,” in the singular, could not cope with the claimed enormous influx of deportees to be exterminated.


	3.7. Testimonies of Prisoners Reporting Camp Rumors

	3.7.1. Protocol No. 701 (July 9, 1945)

The witness with the initials K.D., born in 1915 at Budapest was a Hungarian Jewess and former Auschwitz inmate. Among other things, she declared:721

“It was horrible to see the chimneys throwing out fire [égö kéményeket] everyday, and to see the pits on fire [égögödröket] from afar. Dead bodies were so numerous that the crematoria did not have the capacities to burn them all so they burnt people also in pits out in the open. There were transports that arrived during the night and were sent to the gas chamber [gázba: gas] without selections. There were nights [éjjel] when they burnt 25,000 people. People from the last Hungarian transport came from Újpest and the neighbourhoods of Pest. A few weeks later there was less work to do because no new transports arrived so the Kanadakommando was dismissed. My last horrible memory working in the Kanada is the episode when men, who had worked in the gas chambers [a gázkamrában: in the gas chamber], were brought to our place and gassed in the room where the Kanada used to gas clothes [a Kanada ruhagázosítojában].”

This witness collected the propaganda themes of the flaming chimneys and burning pits. The figure of 25,000 cremated persons, which some people considered the record set in an entire day, as we have seen earlier, is obtained here during just one night. The story of the gassing of men from the “Sonderkommando” in the gas chamber of Kanada I at Auschwitz was attributed by the witness to Kanada II, at Birkenau,722 which, as is known, did not have a place in which to fumigate clothing, unless we wish to consider as such the gas chamber in the disinfestation barracks (Entlausungsbaracke) of building BW 5a, which did not form part of the camp sector where the inmates’ Effektenlager personal effects were stored.


	3.7.2. Protocol No. 468 (July 20, 1945)

Another former Jewish Auschwitz inmate from Hungarian with the initials I.M., born in 1918 at Oroszvég, stated:723

“We worked in the baths for 8 months. We saw terrible things day after day, because we were just opposite the crematorium. We saw as they were taking tens of thousands of young mothers with their children and old people to the gas chamber [a gázba: into the gas] and burnt them every day. The chimney of the crematorium was emitting flames day and night. If someone resisted, they ordered huge dogs to attack them. Sometimes they took those people selected for transports also into the crematorium. We realised it because when we were sorting out clothes we found camp-bread in the pockets of dresses and coats, and also numbers on the coats (because we had to wear numbers on the outside of clothes or coats). I also know that some people managed to escape from the crematorium, but only very few. Those men who worked in the crematoria were replaced every three months [hónaponként: monthly]. They were then taken to a clothes storage [area] [ruhamagazinba] where they were gassed [engedtek rájuk gázt: the gas was released on top of them]. These were members of the so-called Sonderkommando. They were not allowed to talk to anybody, SS soldiers guarded them even when they went to wash themselves so that they could not talk to us. Before they were executed, they were all singing the Russian national anthem. It would still happen that I could talk to a person like that sentenced to death before he was killed with gas. I remember that one of them shouted to us in the baths [fürdöbe: after the bath] the following words: we burnt 15,000 people today, unfortunately we will not have an opportunity to take revenge for all these horrible things, but you may stay alive and we ask you to take revenge for all this horror… Another time one of my friends managed to save two children, she snatched them from a transport that was on the way to the crematorium. They cut her hair as punishment,[724] but she managed to keep the children alive. When we arrived in Birkenau it was night and we saw the great flames [óriási lángnyervekat felczapni: enormous tongues of fire] soaring into the sky behind the crematorium [a krematórium mögött]. The road to the baths [fürdő felé] led that way and we witnessed as the members of the Sonderkommando [Sonderkommandósok, plural] were throwing corpses into huge pits [óriási gödrökbe]. One held the arms and another one the legs. We found out later that they had done this because there had been no room in the crematorium, and they had to get rid of the corpses this way. The crematorium was smoking until about the end of October, then the Germans demolished it, and left only one standing. When the Russian troops were approaching us we were evacuated, but before we left, they took blood from us for their soldiers.”

Another fantastic testimony that reworked the propaganda themes already seen above: the “clothes storage [area]” used as gas chamber, the one-month life expectancy of the “Sonderkommando,” flaming chimneys, the “huge pits” for cremation “behind the crematorium” (which one, is not indicated). To throw the bodies into the burning pits, “one held the arms and another one the legs,” a feasible procedure only if they were standing at the edge of the pit, where the intense heat would have burned them alive.


	3.7.3. Anonymous French Student (1945)

On April 17, 1945, a French student fled to Great Britain “by way of Oswiecim”; the student’s name is not given, and it is not even known whether that person was one of the inmates left behind at the Auschwitz complex by the SS before withdrawing. But he left a long statement organized in points. The most important, from the point of view of this study, are the following:725

“39. In May and Jun [sic] 44 two further batches arrived, each amounting to perhaps 1500 French Jews sent for extermination. In each case about 200 of the fittest were put in Oswiecim Camp.

40. Also in May and Jun 44, about 3000 Hungarian Jews arrived, 1000 of whom remained in the camp, and the balance were sent to work in the neighbouring mines.

41. In addition, large transports of Hungarian Jews arrived for extermination and these ones did not pass through the camp but were sent direct to the gas chambers.

42. During Jul [sic] 44 they were being liquidated at the rate of 12,000 Hungarian Jews daily and as the crematoires [sic] could not deal with such numbers many bodies were thrown into large pits and covered with quicklime.

43. Informant had heard that probably a million Hungarian Jews were thus exterminated. In Oct or Nov [sic] 44 transports of these Jews ceased to arrive.”

In May and June 1944, three transports arrived at Auschwitz from France (Drancy), the exact dates being May 1 and 23, and June 2; there were 3,204 deportees in total, of whom 980 were registered (Czech 1989, S. 763, 782, 792/1990, pp. 617, 631, 638).

The story of the 3,000 Hungarian Jews of whom 1,000 were sent to the surrounding mines is reminiscent of the Polish “Extraordinary Appendix to the Periodic Report for the Period between May 5 and 25, 1944,” which speaks of 2,000 Hungarian Jews who were left alive and were then transferred to Gleiwitz.

For the witness, the deportation of the Hungarian Jews reached its climax in July 1944, lasted until the month of October or November, and cost the lives of one million people, although in reality the deportations ceased on July 9, 1944, and the total number of deportees was approximately 438,000 (Piper 1993, p. 124). The witness did not know anything about any “cremation pits,” because according to him, the bodies of the murdered persons were thrown into mass graves and “covered with quicklime.”


	3.7.4. Maurice Lequeux (1945)

Paddy Costello, an official at the embassy of New Zealand in Moscow, found himself at Lublin in the first few months of 1945, and managed to visited the Majdanek Camp. In Lublin, he met Captain Maurice Lequeux, who had been interned at Auschwitz in 1944, and who told him his story of the camp. On May 4, 1945, Costello wrote a report on both camps. The following are the most-important passages of the report on “Oswiecim”:726

“My official business in Lublin brought me into touch with a French captain, Maurice Lequeux, who had been captured by the Germans in 1943 while engaged upon sabotage work under the direction of London. I interrogated him closely and was most impressed, as was my colleague F/O Floyd, by his character and intelligence. What he told me about the concentration camp at Oswiecim, where he was imprisoned during 1944 and up to his evacuation by the Germans in January this year, was confirmed by another ex-inmate of the camp, Dr. Olga Lengel, whom I also met in Lublin. Both these people carry tattoed on their forearms their concentration camp number.

Oswiecim (on the Vistula, West of Krakow) was a much bigger camp than Maidanek and far more people were murdered and burnt there. Instead of one furnace there were five, with five chimneys, as well as two ditches each 120 ft. long, 25 ft. wide and 12 ft. deep. [ca. 37 m × 7.5 m × 3.5 m], in which the bodies were burnt. There were always four furnaces working (the fifth being in reserve for boom periods) and the ditches too were used continuously except for the two or three occasions each month when the ashes were emptied. At Oswiecim the ashes from the ditches and the furnaces were transported in lorries and emptied into the Vistula.

Oswiecim seems to have resembled Maidanek except that it was on a bigger scale and the work there was more rationalised. The principle was similar and the sequence – shower, gas, oven – was the same. The Germans introduced some refinements into their treatment of the prisoners. The inmates of any particular shed in which a ‘selection’ (‘Auswahl’) was to be held for that day’s burning were always told some hours ahead in order that they could think about what was coming to them. The ‘selection’ was completely arbitrary, the inmates of the shed parading past a seated German who jerked his thumb left or right to indicate whether the individual was to be burnt that day or not. Children who were ‘selected’ were always sent to take farewell of their parents.

In many cases the victims were naked when they set out for the gas chamber. Captain Lequeux saw one parade of 2,000 women stark naked marching ‘to the gas’ with the German band at their head playing tangos and fox-trots. In cases where they were dressed, they were given numbered checks for their clothes in the shower room and, passing to the gas chamber, filed past a notice which said in several languages: ‘Keep hold of your check as otherwise you may not get your own clothes back when you come out.’ The people were packed so tight in the gas chamber that Captain Lequeux believes 75 per cent of them died of simple asphyxiation; the rest were finished off as at Maidanek, with Zyklon. They were so tight jammed together that to pull the bodies out when the door was opened large iron hooks were used.

At Oswiecim the gas chamber was not, as at Maidanek, at some distance from the ovens. It was underground, and lifts carried the bodies up to the ground level in the furnace area. There the gold teeth of the dead were broken out of their mouths by a special team, autopsies were performed on a few, and they went into the fire. It took 20 minutes to burn the bodies, and Lequeux said that the lifts with the next intake of corpses could be heard rising a minute or two before each lot of bodies had been consumed.

All those engaged in handling the dead were persons who were themselves condemned to be burnt. The prisoners’ doctors likewise were appointed for periods of three months at the end of which they passed to the gas chamber themselves. Lequeux, who worked around the camp as a mechanic, made the acquaintance of a Dr. Pasch, who was burnt at the end of July last year, and from whom he got the figures of the previous three months’ burnings. There were: –
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On the day when they established their record of 25,000 executed in one day the Germans were issued with an extra ration of schnapps, and celebrated the occasion by a carousal. It may be pointed out here that as from January 1944 non-Jews were no longer burnt in the ovens though they were massacred in droves. […]

It was the German practice always to gas the prisoners before they burned them. Exceptions were made in favour of persons seriously ill and of newborn babies; these were thrown alive into the ovens. The babies were thrown into boxes as they were born; after a few days, when the boxes were full (those in the bottom layers being presumably already dead), they were burnt without any formalities. […]

Captain Lequeux puts the number of these murdered in Oswiecim at 6,000,000.”

Costello added the following comment:

“The above sounds like the invention of an insane mind. I am convinced that Captain Lequeux was telling the truth, and F/O Floyd agrees with me. Captain Lequeux was anxious to return to Paris to deliver a full report on this subject, and I am glad to say that my position at Lublin enabled me to help him on his way.”

The narrative contains both old and new fantasies. There were five crematoria, with five chimneys (instead of four with six chimneys), four of which were always in operation, while the fifth was for reserve. There were only two cremation pits (the location is not indicated), whence the ashes were cleaned out two or three times a month. The theme of the small orchestra which accompanied the deportees on their way to the gas chamber is here enriched: “Lequeux saw one parade of 2,000 women stark naked marching ‘to the gas’ with the German band at their head playing tangos and fox-trots.” As far as one can tell, for the witness, the “shower room” was not the gas chamber, but the undressing room. The theme of the extreme overcrowding of the gas chamber reappears here, as a result of which 75% of the victims died asphyxiated even before the gassing. The use of “large iron hooks” to extract the bodies is reminiscent of the “instrument with two prongs” mentioned by the anonymous French witness, while the autopsies on the bodies of gassing victims represent a new literary theme. For Lequeux as well, the manipulation of the bodies occurred in the furnace room, served by “lifts,” therefore more than one. The duration of a cremation was 20 minutes, just like the version also adopted by Nyiszli and others. The presumed periodic extermination of the inmates from the “Sonderkommando” (here every three months) is attributed by the witness to the “prisoners’ doctors.” As regards “Dr. Pasch,” a presumed member of the “Sonderkommando,” I refer to what I have written elsewhere (Mattogno 2020a, pp. 372-374). The number of presumed victims over the months of May to July 1944, supposedly supplied by this physician, is not only ridiculous (1,314,000 gassing victims!), but also in contradiction with the figures supplied by other authoritative (so the orthodoxy) members of the same “Sonderkommando,” such as Bendel (530,000 people gassed between May and August). Even more ridiculous is the total figure for victims at Auschwitz: 6 million!

Lequeux even childishly embroiders the fairy tale of the “record” of persons killed, which appears in many testimonies: that of the 25,000 victims, which was celebrated “with an extra ration of schnapps” and “by a carousal.” This extensive repertoire of stupidity could not possibly fail to include the fantasies of children burned alive. Hence, one can certainly agree with Costello’s first impression of this testimony:

“The above sounds like the invention of an insane mind.”


	3.7.5. Olga Lengyel (1946)

This witness, mentioned by Costello in the report examined above, wrote a memoir which was published in French in 1946 under the title Souvenirs de l’au-delà, translated into English the following year under the title Five Chimneys. The following excerpts are taken from the 1995 edition (Lengyel, pp. 81f.):

“Of the four crematory units at Birkenau, two were huge and consumed enormous numbers of bodies. The other two were smaller. Each unit consisted of an oven, a vast hall, and a gas chamber. Above each rose a high chimney, which was usually fed by nine fires. The four ovens at Birkenau were heated by a total of thirty fires. Each oven had large openings. That is, there were 120 openings, into each of which three corpses could be placed at one time. That meant they could dispose of 360 corpses per operation. That was only the beginning of the Nazi ‘Production Schedule’.

Three hundred and sixty corpses every half hour, which was all the time it took to reduce human flesh to ashes, made 720 per hour, or 17,280 corpses per twenty-four hour shift. And the ovens, with murderous efficiency, functioned day and night.

However, one must also take into account the death pits, which could destroy another 8,000 cadavers a day. In round numbers, about 24,000 corpses were handled each day.”

The tale of the witness was evidently borrowed from the Wetzler-Vrba Report. In the English translation of Olga Lengyel’s book, the choice of words is a little confused, as “fire” corresponds to “furnace” in the English translation of the above-mentioned report, which in turn corresponds to the German word “Ofen,” while in both narratives “openings” mans “Muffel” “muffles”; the witness’s description is therefore summarized in a table:
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However, for Wetzler and Vrba, the cremation of a load of (18 × 4 × 3 =) 216 bodies took 90 minutes, which corresponds to a 24-hour cremation capacity of 3,456 bodies for the two installations, 1,728 for each one (generously rounded off upwards to 2,000 by both witnesses). Olga Lengyel reduced the duration to 30 minutes, thus tripling an already-phantasmagorical capacity.

With regards to the number of victims, the witness declared (ibid., p. 83):

“I have the figures only for the months of May, June, and July, 1944. Dr Pasche, a French doctor of the Sonderkommando, in the crematory, who was in a position to gather statistics on the rate of exterminations, provided me with these:
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In less than a quarter of a year the Germans had ‘liquided’ more than 1,300,000 persons at Auschwitz-Birkenau!”

The same figures also appear in the “Report on the ‘Auschwitz’ Camp” by the Jew deported from Compiègne, analyzed earlier:727

“In an exact and official manner I can give the number of victims during the period of 1 [May] to 26 July which totals 1,314,000 and which is divided as follows:
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Considering the claims of four, five or even six million Auschwitz victims at the time, such absurdities were quite “normal.”


	3.7.6. Mordecai Lichtenstein (1945)

In May 1945, an ex-Auschwitz inmate, Mordecai Lichtenstein, wrote a report which was collected by the Jewish Central Information Service in London and introduced as follows:

“One of the few survivors of the horrors of the infamous Nazi concentration camp at OSWIECIM (Auschwitz), Poland, paid a visit to our London Institute on the last stage of his recent escape. We have carefully checked our informant’s identity and reliability, and are certain that his report is true in every detail.”

The most-important part of the report is the paragraph titled “Gassing”:728

“The actual killing in the gas chambers took place in the following way. In front of the chambers, people had to alight from the lorries, or were simply tipped out by means of a winch. Sometimes they were given a towel and a piece of soap, driven into the chambers and beaten if resisting, supposedly to take a bath and be deloused. Then the doors were shut and screwed down.

By an electrical process the air was pumped out. An S.S. man opened a trap-door near the roof, about 40 centimetres square, and threw one or several tins of CYCLON into the gas chamber. If a sufficient quantity of the substance was used, asphyxiation was complete in about 3 to 5 minutes. Otherwise the killing was said to have lasted 25 to 30 minutes. The Jewish electricians working in the crematoria told me that the S.S. had several times not used a sufficient amount of gas and that the ‘Sonder-Commando’ people, Jews employed in removing the victims, had found the corpses clutched fast together in the final agony of suffocation. The ‘Sonder-Commando’ had great difficulty in separating the bodies. Through a peephole covered with thick glass S.S. doctors watched the gassing and then ordered the automatic ventilation of the chambers. Now the ‘Sonder-Commando,’ about 200 men, pulled the corpses out of the place. The hair of the victims was then shorn, their gold and metal teeth broken out of their mouths. On little carts the corpses were taken to the crematoria, where they were burned by an electrical current of 6,000 volts. Most of the people were sent to this death completely naked, but if the incoming transports were too big and the S.S. wanted to hurry things up, they were killed in their clothes. Then the ‘Sonder-Commando’ had to undress them afterwards. […]

The exact figure of the Jews gassed in Auschwitz will never be known, nor will their names. The members of transports arriving at the camp and led straight to the gas chambers were not registered by name, nor did they receive any camp numbers, and I very much doubt whether the names of these people immediately gassed were even known to the camp administration. But it is a very careful estimate that about 3 million Jews died in Auschwitz, most of them gassed, many of them brought to a premature and violent end by the other methods described. In addition one million non-Jews prisoners were murdered in Auschwitz, with the exception of the gypsies not by gas, but in various ways indicated in this report.”

This testimony rehashes the usual common literary themes (“a towel and a piece of soap,” “a trap-door near the roof” – one single introduction aperture, gassing time three to five minutes, total number of victims four million, broken down into three million Jews and one million non-Jews!) with the addition of further fantasies: “by an electrical process the air was pumped out” the gas chamber (this fairy tale had already appeared in “Report on the Nazi Atrocities at the Auschwitz Camp” of February 26, 1945; see Subchapter 3.1.2.) and transporting the bodies “on little carts” to the crematoria (a method invented by Wetzler and Vrba), where cremation was achieved by “by an electrical current of 6,000 volts,” an obvious development inspired by electrical cremation furnaces.

The killing of the victims “in their clothes,” so that then “the ‘Sonder-Commando’ had to undress them afterwards,” is one of the so-many stories that attribute to the SS the very stupidity which the inventors of these fairy tales were guilty of.


	3.7.7. Pelagia Lewińska (1945)

This Polish Jew arrived at Auschwitz on January 28, 1943 and was registered under number 32292. After the Soviet conquest of Auschwitz, she went to France for some unknown reason, where she wrote a short book that was published in Polish and French in 1945. The following is my translation from the second Polish edition of 1946 (Lewińska, pp. 103-105):

“Then, when the number of transports from all over Europe and Hungary in particular, increased over the months of April, May, June and July 1944, a dead-end spur was laid to the camp off the Krakow-Kattowitz main rail line, leading directly to the crematorium.

The number of crematoria was increased to 14, and deep pits were dug in which children up to the age of 14 were burned alive on piles of wood without gassing. The gas in the chambers was not always sufficient for the children; the gas was saved to the detriment of the children, who perished alive in the flames. There were months in which the flames from the crematorium chimneys were never extinguished and dense clouds of voluminous smoke rose from the burning pyres, spreading for kilometers, covering Auschwitz and the surrounding area with a thick veil of dust.

When we were working in company, up to a distance of several kilometers away from the camp, our bodies and clothing were covered with black soot.”

In May 1944, five trains consisting of 50 cars carrying 100 persons each arrived every day.

“In the meantime, the persons got down off the trains, calmly forming columns of five and went passively to the gas chambers true and proper. With natural trust, they received a towel, entered the room in great faith, waiting for the restorative waters to spray forth from the shower heads. But… but now it was too late – the only thing exiting the water taps [z kranów] was gas… death!”

In this testimony, all the grisly themes recurrent in the crudest fairy tales appear: nonsensical number of crematoria (14!), children regularly burned alive, flames exiting the chimneys for whole months at a time, clouds of smoke and dust in the air over the camp at all times, the gas that exited the “water taps” instead of water!


	3.7.8. Bela Fabian (1945)

A report headed “Paris, 30th April, 1945” and signed “P.F.D. Tennant” reports the following:729

“In the afternoon of April 26th, Mr. Scarlett and I interviewed Dr. Bela FABIAN, a Hungarian democratic politician and journalist who, together with a Greek, a Czech and a Dresden Jewish violinist, had escaped from German hands across the American lines on April 9th and 10th after having been interned in the camp of OSWIENCIM (Auschwitz), from which he had been transferred to the West following the Russian advance in the East, until he finally escaped from the camp of ORDRUF.”

This is followed by the witness’s account, from which I shall examine the following points:

“He was employed in the Record Office of the Oswiencim camp, and, from these records, it was possible to deduce that up to June 1944 five million people had been gassed and burned.”

The “Record Office” was the Registry of the Political Department (Registratur der Politischen Abteilung), which, among other things, maintained the card file for all the inmates of the camp. The figure of five million gassing victims is evidently absurd.

Fabian, who was issued number B-12305, saw the usual flames from crematorium chimneys and could also observe that they

“were of a curious reddish-yellow colour and the smell of the burning corpses was evident from the beginning. Large numbers of corpses were also being burned out in the open air because the crematorium would not hold them.”

In this regard, he explained:

“In the various crematoria, a daily turnover of 12,000 corpses was the average. Some times, however, this was exceeded and additional corpses were simply burned on pyres in the open air.”

This fits perfectly with the logic of five million gassing victims.

The witness reports that in the Birkenau Camp’s Sector BIII, known as “Mexiko,” there were 30,000 young Hungarian Jews, and also mentions the presumed gassing of the Gypsies, which for him occurred on August 1, 1944 (for Danuta Czech on the next day) and affected 2,400 persons (for Danuta Czech, 2,897; 1989, S. 837f./1990, p. 677). In particular,

“he described further how 1,000 boys between the ages of 15 and 17 in Block 11 were suddenly concentrated one day, loaded onto lorries and driven off to be killed. He said that their bravery and dignity was unbelievable.”

As noted earlier, it is a documented fact that 918 Gypsies were transferred to Buchenwald on August 3, 1944, including 105 children 9 to 14 years of age (and 393 aged 15 to 24); it therefore makes no sense to have killed 1,000 children aged 15 to 17 years.

The account concludes with this final fabulation:

“On October 26th, he was with the famous Czech scientist, Epstein, in the hospital when suddenly the Sperre was sounded, and they were told to return to their blocks for immediate evacuation. They were divided up into two groups, given a medical examination and those who were too ill were immediately gassed and burned.” (Emphasis in original)

Danuta Czech makes no mention of this presumed “selection,” which means that Fabian is the sole guarantor of its reality – and from what I have shown above, his unreliability has been unequivocally demonstrated.


	3.7.9. Samuel Lewent (1945) 

This witness was in the Łomża Ghetto and was deported to Auschwitz via Zambrów with a transport in January 1943. The journey lasted three days. Here are excerpts from the protocol of his interrogation conducted in May 1945 in Bucarest:730

“An Ort und Stelle in Auschwitz wurden ca 8000 Männer im Alter von 20 – 35 Jahren zur Arbeit bestimmt, alle Anderen wurden ins Gas geschickt.

Den zur Arbeit Bestimmten wurden Nummern auf die linke Hand (Unterarm) eintätoviert. Ich erhielt die Nummer 89221. Einer der ersten meiner Kameraden aus Lomza erhielt die Nummer 86811, ich als einer der Letzten aus Lomza erhielt die Nummer 89.221, woraus hervorgeht, dass insgesamt ca 8000 Mann aus der Lomza am Leben geblieben ist – nach der Ankunft in Auschwitz.”

“On the spot in Auschwitz around 8000 men between the ages of 20 and 35 were assigned to work; all others were sent into the gas.

Those assigned to work were tattooed with numbers on the left hand (forearm). I received the number 89221. One of the first of my comrades from Lomza received the number 86811; as one of the last from Lomza, I received the number 89221, which shows that a total of about 8000 men from Lomza remained alive – after arriving at Auschwitz.”

According to Danuta Czech, seven Jewish transports arrived at Auschwitz in January 1943 from Łomża and Zambrów (on Jan. 13, 15, 16 [two transports], 17, 18, 19) with altogether 14,000 deportees, 1,500 of whom were registered (Czech 1990, pp. 305-308). The number of registered inmates given by the witness is undoubtedly excessive, and his claimed registration number – 89221 – is wrong, too, if we believe the Auschwitz Chronicle, according to which this number was assigned to a deportee from a transport of Jews who arrived from Belgium on Jan. 18 (numbers 89076-89462; Czech 1990, p. 307f.). Lewent, who remained in Auschwitz until the evacuation of the camp, provides the following information:731

“Ein weiteres Arbeitskommando war das Sonderkommando, welches bei der Verbrennung von Leichen arbeitete. Sie empfingen die mit dem Auto angekommenen Leute, führten sie [in] den Entkleidungssaal, wo sie die Leute völlig entkleiden mussten, zählten sie, nehmen ihnen die Kleider ab, dann wurden die Leute angeblich zum Baden geführt und ein jeder bekam ein Stück Seife, in der Wirklichkeit aber gingen sie in die Gaskammer, wo sie mittels Ziklon [sic] erstückt [sic] wurden. Die Leichen brachten die Juden mittels [???]wagen in die Oefen des Krematoriums, wo sie verbramd [sic] wurden. Es gab vier Krematoriums, in jedes hatte vier Oefen, einen Auskleideraum und eine Gaskammer.

In allen vier Krematoriums wurden binnen 24 Stunden 15000 Leichen ve[r]brannt. Der Aufenthalt in der Gaskammer dauerte 8 Minuten. Vor den [sic] Verbrennen wurden den Frauen das Haar abgeschnitten. Das gesammelte Haar wurde nach Deutschland abtransportiert. Nur bei einem Stande von über 400 Personen wurde das Gas angewendet. Wenn die Zahl der Umzubringenden geringer war und das Gas offenbar teuer war, wurden die Betreffenden mittels einer Einspritzung in das Herz getötet. Es wurde vorgegeben, dass es eine Einspritzung gegen Infektionskrankheiten sei. Die Einspritzung geschah dicht vor Gaskammertür. Wen[n] sie erfolgte und der Betref[f]ende in die Gaskammer eintritt, fiel er sofort tod [sic] zu Boden.”

“Another labor squad was the Sonderkommando, which worked on the cremation of corpses. They received the people who had arrived by car, led them into the undressing room, where they had to completely undress the people, counted them, took off their clothes, then the people were supposedly taken to bathe, and everyone was given a bar of soap, but in reality, they went into the gas chamber, where they were suffocated by means of Ziklon [sic]. The Jews brought the corpses into the furnaces of the crematorium by means of [?iron?] carts, where they were cremated. There were four crematoria, each with four furnaces, an undressing room and a gas chamber.

In all four crematoria, 15,000 bodies were burned within 24 hours. The stay in the gas chamber lasted 8 minutes. The women’s hair was cut off before they were burned. The collected hair was transported to Germany. The gas was only used if there were over 400 people. If the number of people to be killed was lower and the gas was evidently expensive, those affected were killed by an injection into the heart. It was pretended that it was an injection against infectious diseases. The injection happened right in front of the gas-chamber door. When it happened and the person in question entered the gas chamber, he would immediately fall dead to the ground.”

To the most-common fantasies (soap, the cremation of 15,000 corpses a day, the duration of the gassing of eight minutes with “Ziklon,” four crematoria, each with four furnaces and one gas chamber) the witness added the innovative variant of the minimum number of inmates admitted to a gassing in order to save gas. Earlier versions talked about people (mainly children) burned alive in cremation pits in order to save gas, or because there wasn’t enough of it, or that people had to wait inside the crematoria until the required number of people was reached. This witness claims instead that there was a limit below which gas was not used. Both this limiting system and the alternative killing method claimed developed according to the witness’s inspiration: for Lewent, the lower limit was 400 people, and the alternative method was lethal injection; for Nyiszli and Bendel, the lower limit was 500 and 300 people, respectively, and the alternative killing system was a shot into the back of the neck (Mattogno 2020a, pp. 75, 322). Note here the unique inventiveness of Lewent: the lethal injections were administered “right in front of the gas chamber door,” so that the victim could still walk into the gas chamber and would die only there!


	3.7.10. André Rogerie (1946)

André Rogerie was transferred to Auschwitz from the Majdanek Camp on April 14, 1944, and was registered under number 183070. He remained at the camp until January 18, 1945, when he was evacuated to Gross-Rosen and then to Nordhausen, Dora and finally Harzungen. Returning home, he wrote a set of memoirs which he finished on October 21, 1945. They were published in 1946 and reprinted in 1988. This is the relevant section of his testimony (Rogerie, pp. 72f.):

“A droite, ceux qui vont aller à la désinfection, puis de là, au camp de travail. A gauche, ceux qui iront au four crématoire, les inutilisables. Mais ces derniers ignorent tout encore. A pas lents, veillards, femmes, enfants, se dirigent dans l'enceinte du four qu'ils prennent pour le lieu de désinfection. Ils pénétrent dans une salle souteraine dans laquelle ils se déshabillent. De larges écriteaux leur indiquent qu'ils trouveront leurs vêtements à la sortie, là où ils les laissent, puis ils entrent dans une salle de douches. Au plafond, les appareils sont prêts à dispenser leurs eaux bienfaisantes. Tout y est.

Ils sont entassés peu à peu dans la salle, et cela ne manque pas de commencer à les effrayer. Puis quand tous sont là, complétement nus, bien serrés les uns contre les autres, ce n'est pas de l'eau chaude qui arrive mais le gaz qui tue. Peu après, les cadavres, montés dans les chambres supérieures, s'en vont brûler dans les fours électriques qui débitent plus vite que les abattoirs de Chicago. La cendre servirà à engraisser le sol peu fertile de l'Allemagne. Il y a quatre fours crématoires à Birkenau. Bien plus, aux jours de ‘presse,’ deux fosses supplémentaires seront creusées pour brûler davantage les cadavres.”

“To the right, they were sent to disinfection, then to the labor camp. To the left, those slated for the cremation furnace, the useless ones. But these latter are still unaware. With slow steps, the elderly, women, children head for the perimeter of the furnace, which they mistake for the disinfection site. They enter an underground hall in which they get undressed. Large notices inform them they will find their clothing at the exit, right where they left them, after which they enter a shower room. On the ceiling, the devices are ready to dispense their beneficial waters. Everything is there.

They are gradually crammed together in the hall, and inevitably everything is beginning to make them nervous. Then, when they are all there, completely naked, crammed tightly together, it’s not water that sprays forth onto them, but the gas that kills them. A little later, the bodies, piled up in a room upstairs, will be burned in electrical furnaces, working faster than the slaughter houses in Chicago. The ashes will be used to enrich the infertile soil of Germany. There are four cremation furnaces at Birkenau. Even more, on ‘peak’ days, two supplementary pits are dug to further burn the bodies.”

Rogerie adopted the fairy tales of the gas showers, the electric furnaces, and the ashes used as fertilizer. The propaganda version he drew on preferred to claim that there were two cremation pits, without specifying where they were located.

The most-important part of this testimony is a drawing of Crematorium II, seen from the east (from Sector BIb), which is rather correct (see Document 22). Rogerie also drew a plan of the Birkenau Camp (see Document 23)732 which is more accurate than the plan that appears in the Wetzler-Vrba Report (see Document 24), which confirms the purely propagandistic nature of the Wetzler-Vrba Report.


	3.7.11. Narcyz Tadeusz Obrycki (1946) 

The Pole Narcyz Tadeusz Obrycki was deported to Auschwitz on May 13, 1943, and registered under number 121557. In an interrogation on December 9, 1946, the affidavit he signed reported the following:733

“In Auschwitz there were a total of five crematoria. No. 1, close to the Political Department, was a small crematorium; in the years 1943 and 1944, it remained inactive, then it was partially demolished and transformed into a warehouse, then in Birkenau [were built] Crematoria 2 and 3 of one type and Crematoria 4 and 5 of another type. At first, people were gassed in a shed [w szopie] in Brzezinki [na Brzezinkach] and burned on pyres [na stosach]. Then Crematoria 2 and 3 were built. The construction was carried out by the company Bau und Industriegesellschaft of Gleiwitz,[734] the furnaces were installed by the company Topf und Söhne. The head of construction was SS Oberscharführer Sichorz, who spoke Polish, probably a renegade. In the lower part, hence underground, the crematorium consisted of two rooms, which measured 7 x 30 meters, located opposite each other at a right angle. The rooms were connected by a corridor. Everything was made of concrete. The walls were 40 cm thick, the floors were made of concrete, inside the walls were insulated with tarboard. The roof was supported in the center by a row of columns and covered by a half-meter layer of earth. The first room was accessed by a beautiful staircase. The first room was the changing room with benches; towels and soap were handed out there. The second room was entered through a corridor, and fake showers were installed there. The delinquent [delikwent, meaning victim] did not suspect anything. After entering the second room, the gas-tight doors were closed, and an SS man launched a cartridge [nabój] of ‘cyclon’ gas from the outside. The second room had lower and upper channels. After the gassing, the exhaustors [ekshaustory] were started, and the gas was removed from the chamber, and air was introduced. The service team, made up of Jewish inmates, the so-called Sonderkommando, entered the hall, and by means of a freight elevator in the corridor carried the corpses upstairs, to the hall where the cremation furnaces were installed. There were five furnaces with five openings each. Two corpses were loaded into one opening. Under the surveillance of the SS, the clothes [coming] from the first hall were searched, sorted and sent to the so-called Kanada warehouse, i.e the Lederfabrik [leather factory] in Auschwitz. The search was mainly for gold, so the corpses’ teeth were examined, gold teeth were extracted, etc. As we calculated, about five million Jews were cremated in the crematoria and on the pyres, so the Kanada warehouses were always full of various things that belonged to the Jews. The crematorium staff was liquidated every three months, being taken to Gleiwitz, where they were gassed. [Then] A new service team arrived.”

This witness provided a surprisingly precise description of Crematoria II and III in some places, which could only result from documents, such as the measurements of Leichenkeller Morgue #1 of 30 m × 7 m, or the existence of two ventilation ducts, one lower and one higher, but, strangely enough, for him the five cremation furnaces each had five muffles instead of the actual three. What could not be taken from documents evidently came from the propaganda bandied about in the camp, starting with the name of the fans, ekshaustory, which is the polonization of the term Exhaustor, which I already addressed earlier. On the other hand, Obrycki knew nothing of the alleged Zyklon-B-introduction openings and devices. For the witness, the head of the Central Construction Office was a certain SS Oberscharführer Sichorz, which must refer to Franz Sihorsch, who was merely an SS Unterscharführer and only a bricklayer by profession, although he was employed by the Bauleitung Construction Office of the POW Camp Kriegsgefangegenlager (Birkenau; see Mattogno 2015a, p. 24). The gassing procedure also involved the distribution of towels and soap, and the “delinquents” (!) were killed by throwing a cartridge of “cyclon” into the room, the final stage of the gas-bomb story. Taken from previously spread rumors were also the five million cremations and the extermination of the “Sonderkommando” every three months, specifying with great imagination that these prisoners were gassed in Gleiwitz rather than at Auschwitz. The “cleansed” echo of this fable can still be found in current orthodox Holocaust historiography with its claim that on October 7, 1944 SS Oberscharführer Houstek asked the men of the “Sonderkommando” for 200 volunteers for a feigned labor assignment in Gleiwitz (but who were actually slated for gassing; Piper 2000, p. 186). The leather factory of Auschwitz, on the other hand, seems to be this witness’s invention. Obrycki knew even less about the alleged initial phase of the extermination: early gassings had taken place “in a shed in Brzezinki,” a place that he evidently believed to be different from Birkenau, as he uses both terms side-by-side as if they were different places. The corpses were not burned in cremation pits, but on pyres. Of Crematoria IV and V, he evidently knew nothing, as he does not describe them at all.

If we accept that this witness acquired the above-detailed information on Crematoria II and III when he was an inmate in the camp, it would result that a simple prisoner knew much more in terms of these crematoria and the exterminations allegedly conducted in them than the members of the “Sonderkommando,” who propagated the fairy tales analyzed earlier (which, of course, did not come from first-hand experiences but rather from rumors and lies invented by the underground resistance centers).


	3.7.12. Robert Lévy (1947)

This witness was a university professor at Strasbourg who was deported to Auschwitz on September 4, 1943, and registered there under number 145920. He sets forth one of the many variants on the fantastic stories invented by the Auschwitz resistance groups (Lévy, p. 464):

“Les six crématoirs brûlaient nuit et jour; devant l'affluence en été 1944, les fours ne suffisaient plus, et dans la forêt de bouleaux on brûlait les cadavres dans de garndes fosses. En une seule nuit d'août 1944, tout le camp des Tziganes, comprenent 4.000 hommes, femmes et enfants, fut envoyé aux gaz. Entre temps, la méthode avait été perfectionnée: un épi de voie ferrée fut construit jusqu'à 50 mètres des chambres à gaz, si bien qu'un transport entier, embarqué, soit à Drancy, soit à Budapest, arrivait directement devant le lieu d'exécution. Il n'avait qu'à passer devant la commission S.S.; celle-ci fasait avancer les condamnés de quelques pas, ils entraient alors dans un immense monte-charge, où on les gazait; grâce à ce système, les cadavres étaient transportés sans perte de temps jusqu'aux fours. En juin 1944, on arriva au chiffre record de 22.000 incinérations en 24 heures.”

“The six crematoria burned day and night; in view of the influx of the summer of 1944, the furnaces were no longer enough, and they burned the bodies in big pits in a beech forest. In one single night in August 1944, the whole Gypsy camp, consisting of 4,000 men, women and children, was sent to the gas. In the meantime, the method had been perfected: a railway spur line was built up to within 50 meters from the gas chambers, so that a whole transport, once it embarked, whether at Drancy or at Budapest, arrived directly before the execution ground. It only had to pass before the SS committee; the committee told the doomed to go ahead a few steps, after which they went into an immense freight elevator, where they were gassed; thanks to this system, the bodies were transported to the furnaces without wasting time. In June 1944, we arrived at the record number of 22,000 incinerations in 24 hours.”

A “gassing elevator”! Such a thing was really missing in the collection of propaganda stupidities! As for the gassing “record,” Lévy was rather modest: only 22,000 cremations per day!


	3.7.13. Kurt Marcus

This witness wrote a report titled “Auschwitz-Birkenau. The largest Extermination Camp of the World” (“… Das grösste Vernichtungslager der Welt”), which was introduced into evidence during the Krakow Trial. This is a 13-page text in German which does not present itself as a testimony but takes the form of a historical chronology. It anticipates, in a certain way, the accounts to be examined in the next part.

Nothing is known about the author; no known deportee to Auschwitz was ever called Kurt Marcus (with “c”), but there were two Kurt Markuses (with “k”). One of them arrived in Auschwitz on January 22, 1943 (registration number 92542), the other on April 9, 1943 (113313). It can be stated with certainty that the document predates the starting date of the trial against the Auschwitz camp garrison (November 25, 1947).

Given the particular interest of the report, and considering that it is unknown even to specialists such as Jean-Claude Pressac and Robert Jan van Pelt, the following are a few highly representative excerpts:735

“Südlich und nördlich vom Feld 7, Unterabschnitt G, ‘Neue Sauna’ genannt, entstanden vier Krematorien mit Gaskammern.

Die Gaskammern der Krematorien 1 und 2 waren unterirdisch und besassen ein Fassungsvermögen von etwa 2000 zu vergasenden Personen.

Die Krematorien 3 und 4 mit je 3 Gaskammern überirdisch für 150, 400 und 800 Menschen dienten kleineren Transporten.

In eine Entfernung von 300 m westlich der ‘Sauna’ befand sich eine kleine gut getarnte, mit Schindeln bedeckte Bauernhütte, mit einer Gaskammer für etwa 1000 Menschen.

Die Leichen der Vergasten wurden auf Loren geladen, zu offenen Gräben gebracht, dort auf Holzscheite gestapelt, mit Rohöl übergossen und verbrannt.

Diesem Bauernhäuschen sind grössere Menschenmengen zum Opfer gefallen als allen anderen Krematorien (%) seit ihrem Bestehen.

SS-Angehörige versicherten mir im Frühjahr des Jahres 1945 dass ein weiteres Bauvorhaben von 34 (sic) weiteren Krematorien bestehe.

Polen und andere Nationen des Ostens, vielleicht auch des Westens, sollten nach Birkenau, genau wie Juden, umgesiedelt, die Schwachen und Alten vernichtet, die Arbeitsfähigen zu Aufbauarbeiten eingesetzt werden.

Die vier Krematorien in Birkenau wurden im Laufe des ersten Halbjahres 1943 in Betrieb gesetzt.

Die Massenvernichtung der Juden aller Länder Europas, wie Belgier, Holländer, Franzosen, Deutsche, Polen, Litauer, Letten, Estländer, Italiener, Jugoslawen, Griechen, Ungarn, Spanier, Russen, Dänen, Norwegen und sogar aus Afrika wurden sie mit Transportflugzeugen nach Europa und von da nach Auschwitz gebracht. Selbst die kleine Insel Aegais blieb nicht verschont.

Man setzte jedoch bereits im Mai 1942 mit der Vergasung der polnischen Juden der in der Zwischenheit in Polen errichteten Ghettos ein.

Die Leichen wurden in den Massengräbern, die auf dem späteren Gebiet der ‘Sauna’ lagen, begraben, wo bereits 10000 Ermordete oder durch Genickschuss um das Leben gebrachte Kriegsgefangene verscharrt lagen.

Da dieses Gebiet ein ausgesprochenes Sumpfgebiet mit eisenhaltigem Grundwasser ist, ist es natürlich, dass sich nach einiger Zeit die Erdoberfläche zu heben und senken begann, alles in eine Art Gärungsprozess überging, wodurch allmählich Fontänen Wasser, vermengt mit Blut, bis zu 3 m in die Höhe sprudelten, die mit Chlor bestreuten Leichen bis zu 1 m emporgeschleudert wurden, bis sich schliesslich das ganze Gebiet mit Blut und fauligem Wasser überzog.

Der dadurch entstandene Leichengeruch verpestete nicht nur die Luft des daneben liegenden Lagers Birkenau, sondern der Gestank verbreitete sich sogar in der Stadt Auschwitz, sodass man mit dem Ausbruch einer Seuche rechnen musste.

Man schritt jetzt zum Ausgraben der Leichen und ihrer Verbrennung in zwei parallel laufenden 4 m tiefen Gräben, die mit der Bauernhütte vermittels Schmalspurbahnen verbunden waren.

Eine solche restlose Vernichtung hat sich sehr gut bewährt, da

1) eine Platzersparnis erzielt wurde und

2) sich alle Spuren dieser Massenmorde verwischten.

Man vernichtete sogar Original-Transportlisten.

In der Evidence erschien in der Welt nur der, der als Häftling im Lager eingewiesen wurde.

Von nun ab schaffte man sofort die Leichen aus dem Gasraum in diese Gräben. Man nannte dieses Verfahren ‘Schmoren im eigenen Saft’.

Bekanntlich braucht man kein Holz beizulegen, wenn mittelmässig und gut genährte Menschenkörper brennen. Ausserdem waren die diesem Verbrennungskommando zugeteilten Häftlinge gezwungen, mit eisernen Kellen, die sich an langen Metallgriffen befanden, das sich absetzende Fett abzuschöpfen und wieder auf die brennenden Leichen zu giessen.

Dieses saubere Geschäft verrichtete ein besonders dazu ausgesuchtes Kommando, das sich ausschliesslich aus Juden zusammensetzte, das sogenannte „Sonderkommando,’ das je nach dem Betrieb in diesen von uns genannten „Heinrich Himmler-Werke’ aus 400 bis 1700 Häftlingen bestand.

Der Arbeitstag teilte sich in zwei Schichten zu je 12 Stunden.

Wurden diese Mordwerke für kurze Zeit schwach in Anspruch genommen, (zu tun gab es immer), erfolgte eine Reduzierung des Sonderkommandos. Die aus dem Sonderkommando ausgeboteten Häftlinge wurden ebenfalls vergast und verbrannt. […]

Im Laufe des Jahres 1943 wurde ein Anschlussgleis bis zwischen die Krematorien 1 und 2 in Birkenau gebaut. Es entstand ein moderner Bahnhof, mit einem ca. 10 m breiten Bahnsteig und 4 Gleisen von ca. 800 m. Beleuchtet wurde dieser Bahnhof mit starken Reflektoren. […]

Alle Männer und Frauen über 40 Jahre, alle Kinder, mit nur sehr wenigen Ausnahmen, bis zu 16 Jahren, alle schwangeren Frauen, alle körperlich schwächlich aussehenden Personen, alle Invaliden, alle, die aus einem Zusammengehörigkeitsempfinden sich von ihren Kindern oder Familienangehörigen nicht trennen wollten, alle Freiwilligen für angeblich leichtere Beschäftigungen, auch die, die zwar gesund, aber irgendeine Krankheit vortäuschten, stellten sich entweder rechts oder links der Rampe in Reih und Glied in Fünferreihen auf und gingen geschlossen ihren letzten Weg.

Der Rest, gewöhnlich 15 bis 20%, selten 25%, war für das Leben im Lager oder für Transport bestimmt, bis er als sogenannter ‘Muselmann’ (so nannte man einen abgearbeiteten, verhungerten, müden, zerschundenden Häftling) einer Selektion im Lager anheim fiel, allerdings mit dem Unterschied, dass die bei einer Selektion Ausgesuchten ihr Los im Krematorium kannten. […]

Am Schluss des Zuges fuhr ein mit an den Seiten und auf dem Dach mit einem roten Kreuz gezeichneten Sanitätsauto. Vorne der Wagenlenker, drinnen, hinter Milchglassscheiben, der Massenmörder (Gasmeister) mit den Büchsen ‘Cyklon’ (Blaukreuzgas). Es war ein SS-Mann von dem sogenannten Nationalsozialistischen Gesundheitsdienst.

Zu spät traten Erkenntnis, Ernüchterung und Todesangst ein.

Da die Einrichtung der Krematorien 1 und 2 technisch vollkommen war, soll die weitere Aktion in diesen Krematorien beschrieben werden.

Etwa 15 Stufen hinab ging es in einem grossen Ankleideraum. Schwache und Kranke, die am Schlusse mit Lastautos gebracht wurden, wurden vermittels eines Kippers ganz einfach die Treppe hinab auf einen Haufen geworfen. Im Auskleideraum wurden alle aufgefordert, ihr Gepäck und Kleider abzulegen, auf einen Kleiderhaken zu hängen und sich die Nummern dieses Hakens genau zu merken und ja nicht zu vergessen, da die Abwicklung nach dem Bade entschieden rascher gehen könne.

Jeder erhielt ein Handtuch und Seife, worauf er sich in einen zweiten Raum begab, in derselben Grösse wie der Auskleideraum, dem eigentlichen Gasraum. An der Decke dieses Raumes waren provisorische Duschen angebracht, Handtuchhalter hingen an den Wänden, Seifennäpfe und Badeabtreter waren vorhanden. An den Türen prangten Aufschriften wie „Baderaum,’ „Klosett,’ „Arztzimmer,’ „Warteraum’.

In der Mitte der Decke war ein kleines Netz ausgespannt, oberhalb des Netzes eine kleine Öffnung zum Hineinschütten des ‘Cyklon,’ welches aus haselnussgrossen, blauen, unregelmässigen Stücken bestand. Fenster gab es nicht. Die Zugangstür war dicht und hermetisch zu verschliessen, mit einem vergitterten kleinen Beobachtungsfenster versehen.

Bei Kälte wurde dieser Raum mittels Koksöfen bis ca 40 Grad vorgeheizt, da bei dieser Temperatur das Gas am wirksamsten war.

Jetzt erst erschien nüchtern Denkenden die ganze Sachlage verdächtig. Der ganze Raum wurde so vollgepropft, sodass sich kaum jemand bewegen konnte.

Die Rufe des Sonderkommandos, welche den Rest der sich Ausziehenden zur Eile antrieben, wurden brutaler. Jetzt flogen schon sogar kleine Kinder über die Köpfe der zusammengepressten Menschenmassen. […]

Die Türen schliessen sich und werden verriegelt.

Weinen, Beten, Hilferufe, Verwünschungen, ein unbeschreibliches Inferno entsteht. – Schon fällt das Gas von oben auf das Netz herab.

Die in der nächsten Nähe Stehenden fallen besinnungslos gegeneinander, die anderen versuchen dem Ausgang zuzudrängen. Wieder andere versuchen mit den blossen Händen die harten Wände aufzukratzen und wissen in ihrer Todesangst nicht, was sie machen sollen.

Nach 3 bis 5 Minuten sieht man nur einen wirren Haufen von Menschen, ein Knäuel von Leichen, Familien sich eng umschliessend, Ehegatten, sich noch im Tode umarmend, ein unbeschreibliches Chaos einer wahnsinnigen Tragödie. -

Nach etwa 15 Minuten werden die Türen geöffnet. Ventilatoren sorgen für die Durchlüftung des Raumes.

Und oft auch dann noch hört man ein leises Kinderwimmern und -weinen. Ein Säugling, der sich festgesogen hatte an der Mutter Brust, war dem Tode entgangen, ein anders Kind blieb aus irgend einem anderen Grunde am Leben. Doch wozu?

Über die Leichen schreitet ein SS-Mann in Stiefeln mit einem Knüppel in der Hand und erschlägt die Überlebenden mit einem Halsaderschlag.

Für Kinder war eine Kugel zu schade.

Nun beginnt die Aufräumungsarbeit des Sonderkommandos.

Die Leichen werden auf einen neben der Ausgangstür befindlichen elektrisch angetriebenen Aufzug verladen, emporgezogen, auf Wagen gelegt und vor die Ofenöffnung gebracht.

Hier erfolgt allerdings erst noch die Untersuchung der Leichen, Ausbrechen von Goldplomben und -brücken aus dem Munde, das Duchsuchen der Geschlechtsteile bei Frauen. Man suchte nach Wertsachen, Brillanten und anderen wertvollen Dingen, die der Habgier der SS-Männer zum Opfer fielen. Eine völlige Ausraubung erfolgte.

Das Verbrennen erfolgte in 15 Öfen mit je 3 Öffnungen für je 2 Leichen, unter Umständen noch zuzüglich eines Kindes. Die Verbrennungszeit dauerte je nach der Körperkonstitution 15 bis 30 Minuten.

Wartete bereits ein zweiter Transport, dann schaffte man die Leichen vor das Krematorium oder trieb die Männer auf die Leichen ihrer vergasten Frauen und Kinder in den Gasraum.

Als am 16. Mai 1944 Transporte aus Ungarn einsetzten, reichten die Krematorien nicht aus, da in den ersten Tagen bis 30000 Leichen verbrannt werden mussten.

Die Vergasung erfolgte in den Gasräumen der 4 Krematorien und in der als Bauernhaus getarnten Gaskammer.

Das Verbrennen geschah in den Öfen der Krematorien und in den offenen Gräben (Scheiterhaufen). Monatelang glühte der Himmel von Birkenau Tag und Nacht im Feuerschein der verbrannten Leichen.[…].

Heute schon kann die Zahl der auf diese Weise vernichteten Menschenleben auf 5 Millionen bezeichnet werden. Ungarn allein gab durch sein Aussiedlungsgesetz im Laufe von drei Monaten im Jahre 1944 etwa 800000 Menschen diesen Mördern preis.”

“Four crematoria with gas chambers were built south and north of Field 7, Subsection G, known as the ‘New Sauna.’

The gas chambers of Crematoria 1 and 2 were underground and had a holding capacity of about 2,000 persons to be gassed.

Crematoria 3 and 4 with 3 gas chambers each were above ground and for 150, 400 and 800 people; they served for smaller transports.

At a distance of 300 m west of the ‘Sauna’ was a small peasant’s cottage, well disguised, covered with shingles, with a gas chamber for about 1,000 people.

The bodies of the gassing victims were loaded onto wagons, taken to open ditches, stacked up there like pieces of wood, drenched with crude oil, and burned.

Greater numbers of people fell victim to this little peasant cottage than to all other crematoria since its existence.

SS members assured me in the spring in 1945 that a further construction project of 34 [sic] additional crematoria existed.

Poland and other nations of the East, perhaps also of the West, were to be resettled to Birkenau, the weak and elderly to be exterminated, those fit for labor to be deployed in construction projects, exactly like the Jews.

The four crematoria in Birkenau were placed in operation during the first half of 1943.

The mass extermination of the Jews of all the countries of Europe, such as Belgians, Dutch people, French people, Germans, Poles, Lithuanians, Latvians, Estonians, Italians, Yugoslavians, Greeks, Hungarians, Spaniards, Russians, Danes, Norwegians and even Africans were brought to Europe with transport aircraft and taken to Auschwitz from there. Even the little island of Aegais was not spared.

But already in May 1942, they started with the gassing of the Polish Jews from the ghettoes that had been erected in Poland in the meantime.

The bodies were buried in the mass graves located on what was later the grounds of the ‘Sauna,’ where 10,000 murdered people already lay buried or prisoners of war killed with a shot to the back of the neck.

Since this area was extremely swampy, with ferruginous groundwaters, it was natural that the surface of the earth began to swell and sink after a while, everything transitioning to a kind of fermentation process, whereby fountains of water, mixed with blood, gradually began to squirt up to 3 m high, [so that] the corpses, sprinkled with chlorine, were thrown up to 1 meter into the air, until finally the entire area was covered with blood and putrid water.

The resulting stench of rotting corpses polluted not only the air in the adjacent Birkenau Camp, but the stench even spread to the city of Auschwitz, so that one had to anticipate the outbreak of an epidemic.

They now took steps to dig up the corpses, and burn them in two ditches running parallel to each other and 4 meters deep, connected with the peasant cottages by means of a narrow-gauge railway spur.

Such a complete destruction proved itself very well in practice, since

1) it saved space and

2) all the traces of these mass murders were wiped out.

They even destroyed the original transport lists.

The only evidence ever seen by the world was the fact that the inmates were sent to the camp.

From that time onwards, they instantly took the bodies out of the ‘gas room’ into these ditches. They called this process, ‘stewing in their own juice’.

As is well-known, no wood needs to be added if average or well-nourished human bodies burn. Besides, the inmates assigned to these cremation squads were forced to scoop up the settling fat with iron ladles on long handles, and pour it back onto the burning bodies.

This fine business was done by a specially recruited squad consisting exclusively of Jews, the so-called ‘Sonderkommando,’ which consisted of between 400 and 1700 inmates, depending on how busy these ‘Heinrich Himmler Works’ were, as we called them.

The working day was organized in two shifts of 12 hours each.

When these murder factories were only lightly used (there was always something to do), the Sonderkommando was reduced in number. The inmates removed from the Sonderkommandos were also gassed and burned. […]

Over the course of 1943, a railway siding line was built leading to between Crematoria 1 und 2 at Birkenau. A modern railway station was built with a platform about 10 meters wide and 4 tracks of about 800 meters. This station was illuminated by strong reflectors.

All men and women over the age of 40, all children, with only very few exceptions, up to age 16, all pregnant women, all weak-looking persons, all invalids, everyone who refused to be separated from their children or family members due to any sense of togetherness, all volunteers for allegedly lighter work, also those who, although healthy, were faking to be sick, lined up either to the right or to the left of the ramp in rank and file, in rows of five, and went together on their final path.

The rest, usually from 15 to 20%, rarely 25%, were selected for life in the camp or for transport, until they fell victim to a selection in the camp as a ‘Muselmann’ (name given to worn-out, emaciated, exhausted, battered inmates), but with the difference that those picked during a selection were aware of their fate in the crematorium. […]

At the end of the train, an ambulance drove up with a Red Cross on the sides and roof. In front, the driver, behind frosted glass, the mass murderer (gas master) with the cans of ‘Cyklon’ (blue-cross gas). He was an SS man from the so-called National Socialist health service.

Insight, disillusionment and fear of death came too late.

Since the equipment of Crematoria 1 and 2 was technologically perfect, the further action in this crematorium ought to be described.

About 15 steps downwards was a large dressing room. The weak and sick, who were brought on trucks at the end, were quite simply thrown down the steps in a big pile by tipping the cargo bed. In the undressing room, they were all ordered to lay down their luggage and clothing, to hang them on a clothes hook, to remember the exact number of the hook, and not to forget it, so that they could be processed more quickly after their shower.

Everyone received a towel and soap, after which they entered a second room, the same size as the undressing room, the gas chamber as such. Provisional showers had been installed on the ceiling of this room, towel holders hung on the walls, soap dishes and bath mats were present. On the doors were notices such as ‘Shower Room’ ‘Toilet,’ ‘Doctor’s Office,’ ‘Waiting Room’.

A small net had been stretched out in the middle of the ceiling; above the net, a small opening for introducing ‘Cyklon,’ which consisted of blue, irregular pieces of hazelnut size. There were no windows. The entrance door could be closed tightly and hermetically, equipped with a small, latticed observation window.

In cold weather, this room was pre-heated by means of coke stoves to about 40 degrees [Centigrade], since the gas was most effective at this temperature.

Only now, the whole situation began to look suspicious to those who thought clearly. The whole room was crammed so full that hardly anyone could move.

The shouts of the Sonderkommando, who urged the rest of those undressing themselves to hurry up, became even more brutal. Now, even small children were already flying over the heads of the tightly crowded mass of people. […]

The doors close and are locked.

Crying, praying, calling for help, cursing, an indescribable inferno evolves. – The gas is already falling onto the net from up above.

Those standing in close proximity fall unconscious against each other, while others attempt to crowd their way to the exit. Still others attempt to scratch open the hard walls with their bare hands, and have no idea what to do in their fear of death.

After 3 to 5 minutes, only a chaotic pile of people can be seen, a tangle of corpses, families tightly embracing themselves, spouses hugging each other in death, an indescribable chaos of a mad tragedy. –

The doors are opened after about 15 minutes. The chamber is aired by means of fans.

And even then, a low whimpering and whining of children is often heard. An infant tightly attached to his mother’s breast, had escaped death, while another child remained alive for some other reason. But what for?

An SS man wearing boots strides over the bodies with a truncheon in his hand and slays the survivors by hitting them on the carotid artery.

A bullet was too good for children.

Now begins the cleaning-up work by the Sonderkommando.

The bodies are loaded onto an electrically-driven freight elevator next to the exit door, hoisted up [to the ground floor], laid on trolleys and brought in front of the furnace openings.

At first, however, the corpses are inspected here: breaking out gold fillings and bridges from the mouths, searching the women’s sexual organs. They searched for valuables, jewels and any valuable item that fell prey to the avarice of the SS men. A complete looting ensued.

The cremations took place in 15 furnaces with 3 openings each, for 2 bodies each, in some circumstances plus a child. The cremation time was between 15 and 30 minutes, depending on the corpse’s physical condition.

If a second transport was already waiting, the corpses were brought in front of the crematorium, or they drove the men into the gas chamber on top of the corpses of their gassed wives and children.

When transports from Hungary started arriving on May 16, 1944, the crematoria were insufficient, since up to 30,000 bodies had to be burned during the first few days.

The gassing occurred in the gas chambers of the 4 crematoria and in the gas chamber disguised as a farmhouse.

The cremations were carried out in the furnaces of the crematoria and in the open ditches (pyres). For months on end, the sky over Birkenau glowed night and day in the fiery glow of the burnt corpses. […]

Already today, the number of human lives obliterated in this manner can be established at 5 million. Hungary alone relinquished about 800,000 human beings to these murders over a period of three months in the year 1944.”

Marcus was well aware, in a rather cursory manner, of the findings of the Höss Trial, which he abundantly spiced up with the propaganda obsessions already noted, while simultaneously inventing new ones. His tale of the blood-squirting and body-ejecting burial pits and the self-fueling cremation pits is the peak of absurdity. The area around the common graves was “ein ausgesprochenes Sumpfgebiet” “extremely swampy,” yet the burning of the exhumed bodies took place “in zwei parallel laufenden 4 m tiefen Gräben” “in two ditches running parallel to each other and 4 meters deep,” meaning that the bodies not only did not require any fuel, but they burned even under water! Not to mention his claim that the corpses were ejected from the grave up an entire meter, or the “Fontänen Wasser, vermengt mit Blut, bis zu 3 m in die Höhe sprudelten” “fountains of water, mixed with blood, gradually began to squirt up to 3 m high.” To top off this insane narrative was the recovery of human fat, recycled to feed the pyres! Naturally, there were the usual “mittelmässig und gut genährte Menschenkörper” “average or well-nourished human bodies” (perhaps the Germans fed them a special diet for this very purpose?) that not only permitted them to save wood (“braucht man kein Holz beizulegen” “there was no need to add wood”), precisely because the flammable human fat made up for the wood, but also to recover this same fat which had just burned! Other bits of nonsense include “Bauvorhaben von 34 weiteren Krematorien” “construction projects of 34 additional crematoria,” and the Jewish deportees from Africa hauled to Europe “mit Transportflugzeugen” “with transport aircraft.” The new ramp (Judenrampe) was not built in 1943, but in 1944, and consisted of three tracks, not four (an error also committed by Nyiszli; see Mattogno 2020a, p. 55). The figures are decisively absurd: five million victims, including 800,000 Hungarian Jews; and 30,000 bodies cremated per day!

Although the term “bunker” received official sanction during the Höss Trial, Marcus was unaware of it: he still only knew of a “Bauernhaus” “farmhouse.” Like Nyiszli,736 he told the legend of the sky at Birkenau being lit up day and night by the pyres. In his description of the presumed, he could not resist the attractions of the story of the victims being handed “Handtuch und Seife” “towel and soap,” as well as the tale, also told by Bendel, of the “kleine Kinder” “small children” thrown into the gas chamber “über die Köpfe der zusammengepressten Menschenmassen” “over the heads of the tightly crowded mass of people.” The gas chamber was equipped with “provisorische” “provisional showers,” not fake ones, in addition to which there were Handtuchhalter “towel holders” on the walls, “Seifennäpfe soap dishes” and “Badeabtreter bath mats.” The gas chamber had “in derselben Grösse wie der Auskleideraum” “the same size as the undressing room,” an error also committed by Nyiszli,737 but had “Türen” “doors,” plural, one for entering and one for leaving, explicitly mentioned by Marcus as an “Ausgangstür” “exit door.” Inside the chamber, the victims were “so vollgepropft, sodass sie kaum jemand bewegen konnte” “crammed so full that hardly anyone could move,” but during the gassing, some of them “fallen besinnungslos gegeneinander, die anderen versuchen dem Ausgang zuzudrängen” “fall unconscious against each other, while others attempt to crowd their way to the exit.” Marcus understood very little of the Zyklon-B-introduction devices which had been described in imaginative detail during the Höss Trial. In his view, there was only a “eine kleine Öffnung” “a small opening” arranged “in der Mitte der Decke” “in the middle of the ceiling,” beneath which “war ein kleines Netz ausgespannt” a “small net had been stretched out,” therefore, a simple horizontal net used to catch the “Cyklon” granules (“Schon fällt das Gas von oben auf das Netz herab.” “The gas is already falling onto the net from up above.”). He knew nothing of the “wire-mesh columns” claimed during the Höss Trial. The name of this “Cyklon” as “Blaukreuzgas” “blue-cross gas” is unique; it refers to German gas shells used during the First World War, which, depending on the type of gas with which they were filled and the symbol with which they were marked, were called “Grünkreuz green cross” (Augenreizstoffe, Lungengifte lachrymators, lung poisons), Gelbkreuz (Hautgifte) “yellow cross” (skin poisons); and precisely Blaukreuz “blue cross” (Nasen-, Rachen- und Lungenreizstoffe nose, throat and lung irritants).738

The duration of the gassing, three to five minutes, is the usual propagandistic absurdity, like the cremation of two or three bodies in 15-30 minutes. The handling of the bodies, according to a version later abandoned, occurred in front of the furnaces, not in the Vorraumcorridor of the semi-underground basement.

Nor is there any shortage of the usual accompanying myths, such as the inmates of the “Sonderkommando” who found the bodies of their relatives in the gas chamber and the absurd tale of the suckling infant found alive, which had a certain success with the appropriate literary variants.739

 


Part 4:
First Attempts to Historicize
the Resistance Fantasies

 


An important aspect of the genesis of the current orthodox narrative of the gas chambers at Auschwitz, which is constantly neglected by orthodox Holocaust historians, is that which appears in the books published in the immediate post-war period in this regard by authors who were not exposed to the current Soviet version or who were only fragmentarily familiar with it. In this chapter, I shall undertake an analysis of five books written in the years 1945 and 1946: one by an ex-inmate, drawn up in the form of a historical chronicle, one by the Polish publicist Stefan Tadeusz Norwid, one by the Polish-Jewish historian Filip Friedman; the remaining two are by ex-inmates from German concentration camps, Eugen Kogon and Benedikt Kautsky, which were also written as historical chronicles.


	4.1. Behind the Fences of the Auschwitz Concentration Camp

This short book by O. Augustyn with the Polish title Za drutami obozu koncentracyinego w Oświęcimiu (Behind the Fences of the Auschwitz Concentration Camp), was published in Krakow in 1945. The following is my translation of the part relating to the alleged extermination installations (Augustyn, pp. 17, 21f.):

“Behind the camp, in the little forest, there was a peasant cottage [domek] surrounded by fencing. Unfortunate victims were sent inside and they closed the doors behind them. From above, they poured a can of gas, so-called cyklon, through apertures. This was the same gas used in the first disinfection of the camp. The bodies were pulled out and thrown in ditches, which were dug close by the cottage. The ditches were enormous. The bodies were sprinkled with chloride of lime and covered with earth. This work was performed by Jews. These Jews made up the so-called Sonderkommando. After work, they returned to camp, but were isolated and could not socialize with the other inmates. These [the peasant cottage and the pits] were provisional installations, because they immediately began to build 4 powerful, modern crematoria, together with special gas chambers. The crematoria could not keep up with the task of burning all the bodies. […]

In the meantime, at Birkenau, all the gas chambers near [przy] the crematoria were working full tilt. The SS were walking around drunk. The smoke and the sight of the chimneys, which were cracking with the heat, frightened everyone. Let us see how the crematoria were designed. In the first and second crematoria, the gas chambers were located below ground. There, the people went down some steps. At the entrance there were signs in all languages [saying] that this was where the people were to be bathed and disinfected. Further along, there was an enormous room, which could hold 2,000 persons, with provisional showers [z prowizorycznymi natryskami]. As they went in, they were given towels and soap. First, they had to undress. Then, when they were all inside, the ‘hermetically sealed’ doors swung shut, SS men threw cans of ‘cyklon’ gas through openings up above. After 15 minutes there was no one left alive. The doors were opened and Jewish inmates carried the bodies to the cremation furnaces. The bodies were burned with coke. There were about a dozen [kilkanaście] furnaces in every crematorium [w każdym crematorium]. Two bodies could fit into each furnace. The cremation lasted a few minutes [kilka minut]. The ashes and bone residues, which had to be pulverized, were thrown into the Vistula, which ran by a kilometer away. The crematoria burned all day and all night without letup. The crematorium true and proper was like a [brick] furnace inside, and the chimneys were only a little bit wide [not very wide]. At night, the sacred fires of Hitlerite culture burned above all 4 chimneys and 4 crematoria. All the crematoria were built in line, on a trajectory of more or less 1 km. Crematoria 4 and 5 were concealed in the little forest adjacent to the camp, while the first and second were located behind the camp. Everything that happened there was visible from the camp. We should remark that all gold teeth and filings were pulled out before cremation.”

The author was also unaware of the term “bunker,” since he mentions a simple peasant cottage (domek). The existence of the “undressing room” is simply assumed; the gas chamber had “provisional showers,” not fake ones, and all victims were provided with towels and soap, following the shop-worn propaganda theme. The crematoria and gassing procedure are described in a very approximate and fantastic manner: every crematorium had “about a dozen” (!) furnaces, and on the inside they resembled a brick kiln or a brickyard (cegielnia); two bodies were placed in every furnace (muffle), which took only “a few minutes” to burn them! The author did not know that Crematoria IV and V had two chimneys each, so that the total number of chimneys was six, not four, but on the other hand he repeats the fable of the flaming chimneys.

When the text was drawn up, the Polish narrative was still evolving, and the author was only familiar with fragments of it, which he spiced up with existing propaganda motifs.


	4.2. Martyrdom of a People

Stefan Tadeusz Norwid was the pseudonym of Jan Tadeusz Nowacki, a Polish journalist born in Warsaw in 1902 who emigrated to Sweden during the Second World War. His book with the German title Martyrium eines Volkes: Das okkupierte Polen (Martyrdom of a People: Occupied Poland) was published in 1945 by a German-language publisher in Swedish exile. In this book, the author dwells on Auschwitz at length (Norwid, pp. 97-100):

“Das Lager in Oswiecim war härter. Es nahm im Anfang 15.000 Polen im Monat auf, aber seit 1941 schluckte es monatlich 30.000. Sein ‘Leistungsvermögen’ wurde somit auf 200.000 Tote während der ersten Jahre berechnet. Von 1941 bis 1942 und von 1942 bis 1943 stieg dieses ‘Leistungsvermögen’ auf etwa 360.000 im Jahre. Bis zum Herbst 1943 ermordeten die Nationalsozialisten allein in Oswiecim mindestens eine Million Polen. Juden schickte man nicht dorthin. Was sich in Oswiecim ereignet hat, wurde nur durch Berichte der wenigen bekannt, denen es gelang, von dort zu entkommen. Persönlich habe ich zweimal Berichte aus diesem Lager gehört. Das eine Mal war mein Gewährsmann ein Pole, den ich zufälligerweise in Warschau unter Umständen traf, die ich verschweigen muß, das andere Mal lieferte mir ein verkommenes und berauschtes deutsches Subjekt die Angaben. Der Mann arbeitete als ‘Krankenwärter’ und somit auch als Menschenschinder im Durchganslager des nahe gelegenen Czenstochau.

Keine der beiden Quellen ist also ganz sicher. […] Beide Berichte waren jedoch erstaunlich gleichartig. Ankunft und Aufenthalt in Oswiecim schilderten sie ungefähr auf folgende Weise:

Die für Oswiecim bestimmten Menschen wurden aus dem Gefängnis geführt und in Güterwagen mit jeweils 150 Menschen verfrachtet. Sie standen also dicht gepackt, ohne die Möglichkeit, auch nur die Arme zu rühren. Der Wagen wurde geschlossen. Der Boden des Wagens war oft mit einer dicken Schicht von Kalk und einer Chlormischung bestreut, die sich unter der Einwirkung von Wasser auflöste. Entweder gossen die Hitlerleute selbst Wasser in den Waggon, oder es entstand durch den Urin der Gefangenen; es war also gar nicht beabsichtigt, diese Wagen bis nach Oswiecim kommen zu lassen. Sie standen einen Tag oder zwei Tage auf einem Schienenstrang und wurden dann direkt zu den Krematorien oder Massengräbern gefahren. Die Chlordämpfe hatten ihre Wirkung getan! Diese Art des Massenmordes wurde auch gegenüber Juden bei den Massenräumung der Ghettos angewandt.

Manche Wagen mit einer dünneren Schicht von Chlor kamen in langsamer Fahrt bis Oswiecim. Ein Teil der Verurteilten stand dann Arm an Arm mit Leichen, die in der gedrängten Enge ebenfalls noch aufrecht standen.

Der Zug hielt einige Hundert Meter vom Eingang des Lagers. Die Wagen wurden unterwegs überhaupt nicht geöffnet, sondern das geschah erst bei der Ankunft. Eine Bande von SS-Leuten mit Peitschen und Automatpistolen stand schon bereit. Die Gefangenen, die noch am Leben waren, mußten aus den Wagen springen und zwischen den SS-Leuten, die zuschlugen so sehr sie nur konnten, Spießruten laufen. All das ging blitzesschnell vor sich. Fiel einer hin, so wurde er sofort erschossen. Nachdem immer schwerer, nicht zu straucheln. Die Aussichten der Laufenden, bis zum Tor zu kommen, waren also sehr gering.

Der Eingang zum Lager ging durch einen unterirdischen Tunnel, der bis zu Meterhöhe voll von Dreck und Schmutz war. Wer bis zum Tunnel zu springen vermochte, verschwand darin, aber er wurde nicht herausgelassen: der Tunnel war an der anderen Seite verschlossen.

Die Gefangenen mußten dann im Tunnel zwölf Stunden oder länger bleiben. Wenn die Ausgangstür aufgemacht wurde, begann wieder dieselbe Prozedur: SS-Leute mit Peitschen aus Ochsenleder trieben die Gefangenen im Eiltempo zu den Baracken. In den Baracken mußten sie sich ausziehen und baden. Die Badeeinrichtung befand sich 600 Meter von den Baracken entfernt, und diese Strecke war mit Glasscherben besät. Die nackten Gefangenen mußten unter Peitschenschlägen über dieses Glas zum und vom Baden laufen. Für viele reichte das hin. Die schwerste Tortur freilich war der Mangel an Schlaf. Die Gefangenen arbeiteten achtzehn Stunden täglich. Die Arbeit war völlig sinnlos. Sie bestand darin, schwere Steine von einer Stelle zur anderen zu tragen und in ähnlichem. Das Bewußtsein der Sinnlosigkeit war auch eine Tortur. […]

Nach der vorstehenden Beschreibung versteht man, warum aus den sechs Schornsteinen des Krematoriums in Oswiecim ständig Rauch aufstieg. Bis zum Herbst 1943 gab es nur drei Öfen. Die polnischen unterirdischen Organisationen, die von außen ihre Beobachtungen über das Lager machten, stellten nicht in einem einzigen Falle fest, daß jemand lebend aus dem Lager fortgeführt wurde. Das Lager wurde von einigen SS-Kompanien bewacht, die Panzerautos besaßen und bis zu den Zähnen bewafft waren.

Diese Schilderung mag den Leser wie das Produkt einer krankhaften Phantasie anmuten. Ich verstehe, daß die Maßnahmen obendrein den Eindruck völliger Sinnlosigkeit machen. Was konnte es denn für einen Sinn haben. Menschen zu plagen, die sowieso zum Tode verurteilt waren? Aber die Tatsachen führen eine klare Sprache. Die Nationalsozialisten plagten und quälten die Menschen, bevor die sie töteten, und nicht nur in Oswiecim.”

“The camp at Oswiecim was tougher. At first, it took in 15,000 Poles a month, but since 1941 it swallowed 30,000 a month. Its ‘capacity’ was therefore calculated at 200,000 fatalities during the first few years. From 1941 to 1942, and from 1942 to 1943, this ‘capacity’ increased to about 360,000 per year. Until the fall of 1943, the National Socialists murdered at least one million Poles at Auschwitz alone. Jews were not sent there. What happened at Auschwitz was only made known through reports of the few who succeeded in escaping the place. Personally, I have heard reports from that camp twice. One of my informants was a Pole whom I met by chance in Warsaw under circumstances which I must not divulge; the other time a certain slovenly and intoxicated German person provided me with the information. The man worked as a ‘nurse orderly,’ and consequently as a slave driver in the transit camp of nearby Częstochowa.

Hence, neither of the two sources is entirely reliable. […] But both reports were astonishingly similar. Arrival and stay at Auschwitz was described by thenm in approximately the following manner:

The people slated for Auschwitz were taken out of the prison and shipped in freight cars with 150 people each. Thus, they stood packed tightly together, unable even to move their arms. The car was locked shut. The floor of the car was often sprinkled with a thick layer of lime and a chlorine mixture, which dissolved under the influence of water. Either the Hitlerites themselves poured water in the cars, or it arose through the urine of the prisoners; it was, therefore, never intended to let the cars reach Auschwitz. They stood on a siding for a day or two and were then taken directly to the crematorium or the mass graves. The chlorine vapors had done their work! This kind of mass murder was also used against Jews during the mass evacuation of the ghettoes.

Some cars with a thinner layer of chlorine arrived at Auschwitz at a slow speed. By that time, some of the condemned were standing right next to corpses who were also still standing upright in the tightly packed space.

The train stopped a few hundred meters from the entrance to the camp. The cars were not opened on the way, but only after arrival. A gang of SS men with whips and automatic pistols stood ready. The prisoners who were still alive had to jump down out of the wagon and run the gauntlet between the SS men, who beat them as much as they could. All this happened as quick as lightning. If one fell, he was shot immediately. It was increasingly harder not to stumble. The chances that the people running would ever reach the gate were quite slim.

The entranceway to the camp went through an underground tunnel, which was full of filth and dirt up to a meter high. Anybody who succeeded in jumping as far as the tunnel, disappeared in it, but wasn’t let out: the tunnel was locked up at the other end.

The prisoners then had to remain in the tunnel for 12 hours or even longer. When the exit door was opened, the same procedure began all over again. SS men with oxen-leather whips drove the prisoners to the barracks at top speed. Inside the barracks, they had to undress and bathe. The bathing installations were located 600 meters away from the barracks, and the path was strewn with broken glass. While being whipped, the naked prisoners had to run over all this glass to and from the baths. For many of them, this was enough. The hardest torture, of course, was the lack of sleep. The prisoners worked eighteen hours a day. The work was utterly pointless. It consisted of carrying heavy stones from one location to another, and of similar tasks. The awareness of this pointlessness was also torture. […]

After [reading] the above description, it is understandable why smoke was constantly rising from the six chimneys of the crematorium in Auschwitz. Until the fall of 1943, there were only three furnaces. The Polish underground organization, which made their observations from outside the camp, never noted even a single case that anyone ever left the camp alive. The camp was guarded by a few SS companies, equipped with armored cars and armed to the teeth.

This description may strike the reader as the product of sick fantasy. I understand that the measures moreover give the impression of complete pointlessness. What could be the point of tormenting people who are condemned to death anyhow? But the facts speak a clear language. The National Socialists tortured and tormented people before they killed them, and not only in Auschwitz.”

This account is based on two testimonies; the author formally expressed a few reservations as to their reliability, but at the end he considers them credible and in accord with reality. This narrative contains well-known literary themes which were attributed to Bełżec Camp, however: the trains with cars sprinkled with quick lime and the access “tunnel” to the camp! The first was officialized at the end of November 1942 by a Polish expert in black propaganda, Jan Karski; the second was invented by one of Karski’s colleagues, Stefan Szende, in a book published in Stockholm in 1944 (for details see Mattogno 2016h, pp. 17-19, 22-33), by which Norwid evidently was inspired. He belonged to the group of chauvinist Poles who wished to place the sufferings of their people above that of the Jews, with mad results (the killing of one million Poles at Auschwitz). Neglecting the preposterous fantasies of the 600-meters-long path “mit Glasscherben besät” “strewn with broken glass,” and on the “völlig sinnlos” “utterly pointless” work done by the inmates for 18 hours a day, Norwid’s narrative is an obvious distortion of information from the Auschwitz resistance movement (which made its presumed “Beobachtungen” “observations” from inside the camp, not “von außen” from outside): at the camp, there was one single crematorium with six chimneys which, until 1943, possessed three furnaces (but the resistance members spoke of three crematoria). The author’s comment is very revealing. He was perfectly well aware of the absurdity of his account: anyone would have considered it “das Produkt einer krankhaften Phantasie” “the product of sick fantasy,” since it gave “den Eindruck völliger Sinnlosigkeit” “the impression of complete pointlessness,” but since the Nationalsozialisten National Socialists were evil torturers and exterminators, the account was true, at least as to the essentials!


	4.3. This Is Auschwitz!

This short book with the Polish title To jest Oświęcim! (This Is Auschwitz!) by the Polish Jew Filip Friedman was also published in 1945. It is doubtlessly the first attempt at a general organization of the history of Auschwitz. The author dedicates a special chapter to the “Gas chambers of Auschwitz” and one to the “Crematoria.” In 1946, it also appeared in English, although allegedy translated from Yiddish (Friedman 1946). In this translation, the text was divided into twelve chapters, while the Polish version has 22. Moreover, in an appendix, a drawing representing the Treblinka Camp was incomprehensibly added (ibid., pp. 381-384). The same year, Friedman published another edition of his book’s text in a volume which also contains an essay by Tadeusz Hołuj (Friedman/Hołuj, pp. 11-119), enriched by the first results of the Polish judicial investigations. The following is my translation from the first Polish edition of 1945 (Friedman 1945, pp. 66-70; underlined text is missing in the English translation of the book):

“The gas chambers at Auschwitz

The gas chambers at Auschwitz – if we consider the meticulousness of the installations and the exactness of all the individual installations – could represent the pride of German engineering science.

This concerns in particular the chambers of Crematoria IV and V, where all the innovations and the technical results based on the rich experiences of past gas chambers were adopted.

The gas chambers of Crematoria IV and V were located in basements [w suterenach], while the buildings relating to the crematorium and furnaces were located in the part above ground. The entrance to the gassing basements [do podziemi gazowych] was comfortable and could testify to the meticulous care with which the Germans received their guests [pensionariuszy]. Next to the stone steps for common mortals, there descended an inclined plane so that exhausted patients did not have to go down the stairway, but could go down the plane with greater comfort, in this modern humanitarian installation! The fittings of the gas chamber [gazownia] in the basements was a complete imitation of the internal fittings of ornate bathrooms for the general public. The subterranean part of the establishment was divided into three main rooms [ubikacje]. The first room was the undressing room; all around, on the walls, there were notices in the most widely differing languages reading: ‘Bath and disinfection’. There, the doomed people undressed completely and entered the second room, that is, the gas chamber true and proper. This chamber, measuring 12 by 6 meters, was divided into two parts. Depending on the number of persons destined to be gassed, they used only half the chamber or the whole thing. The chamber was made to give the illusions of being an ordinary collective bath. There were even non-functional showerheads on the walls [przy ścianach] to prevent the victims from realizing what was happening; on the walls there were notices of this kind in various languages, ‘Cleanliness is next to godliness!,’ ‘Don’t forget to take your soap and towel with you!’ In the four corners [w czeterech rogach] of the room, there were columns with exterior walls made of mesh [kolumny o siatkowych ścianach zewnętrznych]. By means of these columns, so-called gas bombs [bomby gazowe] were thrown down from above, when the room was already full of people. After the gassing of each part [of the gas chamber], the bodies were carried into the adjacent room, room no. 3, where there was an electrical elevator [wyciąg740], right next to the areas [pomieszczenia] reserved for the barbers and dentists. The barbers carefully cut the hair off the bodies and loaded it onto carts [do wózków], 40 dentists pulled out gold and platinum teeth, after which a special electrical oven [specialny piec elektryczy] melted down this raw material into pre-established bars. The bodies thus processed were transported to the room above ground, the crematorium, by means of the electric elevator [wyciągiem]. Besides this industrial room, used for ‘production’ purposes, a buffet [buffet] was also set up for use by the Gestapo and SS.

The doomed people were poisoned with a gas, the so-called ‘Cyklon B’ (the same gas was used at Majdanek and in other Hitlerite killing locations). It was taken to Auschwitz in the solid state, in the form of small steel-grey cubes [stalowo-szarych grudek], like slag. According to witness declarations, approximately 20 railway cars of cyklon were shipped to Auschwitz (Dr. Wolman).[741] It was stored at Auschwitz I and delivered to the crematoria at Birkenau [w Brzezinkach] … in a Red-Cross ambulance!

The chemical composition of Cyklon-B gas was established in a technico-judicial and chemical expert report of the Polish-Soviet Commission on Majdanek. The chemical analysis [established that]: […]”

This is followed by a quotation from the report of the above-mentioned commission, which has been translated in a study on the Majdanek Camp written by Jürgen Graf and myself (Graf/Mattogno, pp. 117-126). This passage is missing in the English version of Friedman’s book. The Polish text continues as follows:

“The doomed people were taken to the place of execution on trucks. Later, in April 1944, a special rail line was built from the railway station directly to the crematoria. The small transports, carrying 150-200 persons, for whom it was not worthwhile putting the gas chamber into operation, often had to wait their turn for several days under the crematorium [pod crematorium] until [a batch] was complete. When there were enough people and they were all crammed together in the undressing room, all these naked people had to be persuaded to enter the gas chamber as quickly as possible. But the people, seized by an unpleasant presentiment, were reluctant to leave the dressing room and enter the room marked ‘Bath and Disinfection’. After all, they behaved as if something was awaiting them in that chamber, and they were in no hurry to enter it. In general, the persons crowded into the second room were not enough to activate the gassing apparatus. The hydrogen cyanide in fact only evaporated at a temperature of 27°C. To reach this temperature in the unheated room, it was necessary to cram the people together to an exceptional extent. The ‘optimum’ degree of crowding was approximately 20 persons per square meter. To crowd them together, they unleashed specially trained German-shepherd dogs on the naked people in the dressing room. The doomed people were seized by a great panic at this point. To escape from the fierce beasts, they all crowded towards the only accessible exit, the gas chamber. In this way, the chamber was soon filled up with three layers of people lying on top of each other, with another layer standing up.

An SS physician watched the room through a little spyhole. When he considered that there were enough people in the room to activate the gas, he ordered an adjutant as follows: ‘Na! gibt ihnen schon zu fressen!’ (Well, give them some fodder to eat!). The adjutant then threw 3 five-hundred-gram cans [puszki] into the empty meshwork [column]. The gas worked fairly rapidly, that is, death ensued in 3-5 minutes at most.

After removing the bodies and ventilating the room, another group was made to enter. In this way the gas chambers were able to eliminate 4,000-5,000 persons in an hour.”

This is followed by the story of a gassing truck allegedly used at Auschwitz, summarized decades later by Robert Jan van Pelt.742 The following chapter contains the description of the crematoria (Friedman 1945, pp. 72-75):

“The crematoria constituted the final stage of production of the death industry at Auschwitz. As already mentioned, the Germans at Auschwitz adopted this ‘ingenious’ invention in the spring of 1942. Before that, there was a small crematorium at Auschwitz I with 4 retorts [retortach]. 2 large crematoria were then built, Crematoria II and III, at Auschwitz II [Brzezinki: Birkenau]. Each crematorium had 5 furnaces, each with 3 retorts, that is, 30 retorts in all. The productive capacity of each furnace was 3 bodies in approximately 20 minutes. Crematoria IV and V, likewise at Birkenau, placed in operation in 1943, were the state of the art of German technology in this field. In fact, there were only 2 furnaces, which had 8 retorts, but they were modernized and perfected to the point that they greatly exceeded the preceding furnaces. These burnt 5 bodies, in each retort, in 10 minutes, thus, each furnace burned 240 persons per hour. The retorts had a square aperture 2 meters in width, through which the bodies were loaded onto a special trolley [podwozia], as in the baker’s oven (the inmates at Auschwitz, in their common camp jargon, called the crematorium the ‘bakery’).

The bodies were arranged in the retort in such as way that they could accommodate 2 Canadians [kanadyjczyków743] on the bottom and 3 Muselmänner on top. The Muselmänner [were arranged that way] because they were so emaciated that they had no fat, so that their bodies were hard to burn.

In total, therefore, all four crematoria at Birkenau burned 750 persons per hour. (The crematorium at Auschwitz I did not play a very important role in this mass action, because it was too small.) This low furnace capacity greatly increased the concerns of the German specialists. Since the production capacity of the furnaces amounted to only 750 persons [per hour], but the capacity of the gas chambers reached 4,000-5,000 per hour, the result was a bottle-neck in the process.”

The furnaces, Friedman continues, worked with generator gas, and the Germans took care to avoid wasting fuel, therefore, when there were not enough bodies to cremate at Birkenau, they telephoned Auschwitz I to request “raw material.” At Auschwitz I, they performed a “selection,” and some of the victims were sent to Birkenau. Starting in May 1944, the Hungarian Jews began to arrive at Auschwitz, 650,000 people in total:

“In the late summer of 1944, after the start of the [Allied] invasion of France, the Germans began to bring ‘terrorists,’ that is, patriots and partisans, from France. The number of French deportees is estimated at approximately 670,000. Other ‘normal transports’ were also arriving. All this human material had to be ‘processed.’ The gassings went on day and night. From the furnaces [z pieców] of the crematoria came not only smoke, but tongues of fire, 2-4 meters high. But all this was not enough. It was necessary to dig pits which were covered with sheeting for provisional gassing actions. Even the undressing rooms in the crematoria were not enough; rather, they had to set up a huge ‘beach’ undressing room outdoors. So much so that the disproportion between the rhythm of the gassings and that of the cremation of the bodies got even worse. To remedy all this, enormous pits were dug in which the bodies were burnt using wood. Enormous stockpiles of wood intended for this purpose can be seen at Auschwitz even today. Channels were dug near the pits to permit the fat from the burnt bodies to be scooped up in a tank. If a transport of particularly emaciated inmates arrived, the bodies were drenched with fat to make them burn better.

The time available to gas them all was no longer sufficient. Therefore, the elderly, the children and the sick were thrown alive into the burning pits. The screams and laments of those being burned alive could be heard all over the camp.”

Flames, screams and blood-thirsty SS men turned the scenario into a German “Walpurgisnacht.”

Friedman then quotes an extensive excerpt from the “Extraordinary Appendix to the Periodic Report for the Period of May 5-25, 1944,” but he attributes it to “a witness of these scenes, a worker activist from Krakow” who wrote a report for the secret organization of the Polish Socialist Party (ibid., pp. 75-79).

Friedman’s exposition evidently borrows heavily from the “Description of the Gas Chamber” of 1945 (Subchapter 3.2.2.), although with new or divergent elements. First, he confuses Crematoria IV-V with Crematoria II-III, attributing to the first the underground rooms forming part of the second, and considers them the apex of German cremation technology, while it is known that these were built cheaply, were less-advanced and offered inferior performance than the state of the art of that time.744 Friedman knew very little about the Leichenrutsche corpse slide and believed that the secondary entrance where this slide was located was actually the main entrance for the victims, although the current orthodox narrative insists that the victims entered down a separate staircase at the end of the undressing room (Leichenkeller Morgue #2). The gas chamber, which for Friedman measured 12 m × 6 m, was subdivided into two parts, and following the propaganda themes most-popular at that time, it was camouflaged as a shower bath equipped with fake showerheads “on the walls,” not on the ceiling. The gas introduction columns were located “in the four corners” of the gas chamber (not in a straight line along the longitudinal axis, as the orthodoxy claims today), and there were presumably eight of them, since there were two gas chambers. For Friedman, “Cyklon B” consisted of “small steel-grey cubes,” and he even repeats the fairy tale of the “gas bombs.” The pretext that “approximately 20 railway cars of cyklon” were delivered to Auschwitz is another lie.

The phrase “Na! gibt ihnen schon zu fressen!” “Well, give them some fodder to eat” formed part of the propaganda arsenal and is found, with minor variants, in the statements of Nyiszli and Tauber,745 as are the absurd lightning-fast execution times of 3-5 minutes. Friedman claims that three cans containing 500 grams of “Cyklon B” each were poured “into the empty meshwork,” which means twelve cans in the four columns of each chamber; for Nyiszli, there were four cans in total. The group of later victims entered “after removing the bodies and ventilating the room,” which means that the ventilation was performed after the bodies were removed, not before; the gassing capacity of 4,000-5,000 persons per hour, 96,000-120,000 in 24 hours, is an even-more-insane delusion than that of the engineering expert Roman Dawidowski, who presented a technical report at the Höss Trial summarized as follows by investigating magistrate Jan Sehn:746

“In the light of the concordant statements of the witnesses, the expert estimated the productivity of the gas chambers of the four cremation complexes at Birkenau at approximately 60,000 persons in 24 hours. This figure is based on the following calculation: according to the statements of the witnesses, 3,000 persons at a time were crowded into the gas chambers of each crematorium. The undressing, in a climate of violent incitement, took about 30 minutes, the average gassing time was 25-30 minutes, clearing the chamber took 4 hours for each gassing. In total, therefore, to complete the gassing of a chamber load of people took 5 hours, that is, the productivity of the gas chambers at each cremation complex was about 15,000 persons in 24 hours. For the 4 cremation complexes the total figure was 60,000 persons in 24 hours.”

The small “Vorraum” corridor located in front of Leichenkeller Morgue #1 was referred to by Friedman as the “adjacent room, room no. 3,” and the Aufzug freight elevator which was located there, becomes a kind of ski lift (wyciąg), a term which reflects Friedman’s ignorance relating to this piece of equipment. The area “reserved for barbers and dentists” is completely invented, as are the “carts” for hauling away the hair, the “electrical oven” to melt the gold, and the “buffet” for the SS! According to Henryk Tauber, there were not 40 “dentists” but merely two!747

The claim that the small transports, carrying 150-200 persons, had to await death, even for days, “under the crematorium” (!), contradicts the claim that the original room containing the gas chamber had been divided into two rooms precisely for the purpose of processing small batches of victims. Friedman’s source in fact explicitly states: “In case of small number of victims, we work – for reasons of economy – in one single chamber.” Furthermore, Friedman describes enormous numbers of gassings: there were at least five million victims at Auschwitz, or according to a few witnesses even six to seven million (Friedman 1945, p. 12).

The story of the victims waiting for death “in the unheated room” until the temperature rose to a certain level to favor the evaporation of the “Cyklon B,” a theme already developed by Wetzler and Vrba, is in contradiction to Marcus’s testimony, who speaks of the use of “Kocksöfen” [sic] coke stoves to obtain this result, and also with Buki’s testimony of the other extreme that “ausserdem war die Hitze in den Gaskammern so gross, dass die meisten Leute dadurch schon benommen waren, bevor sie eigentlich starben” “the heat in the gas chambers was so great that most of the people were already benumbed before they actually died” (see Subchapter 3.2.6.).

The overcrowding of 20 persons per square meter into a gas chamber is an obvious absurdity, while their arrangement – three layers of naked persons lying prone and another layer of persons standing on top of them – is a ridiculous fairy tale.

On the crematoria, Friedman’s ideas were rather confused. According to him, Crematorium I was put into operation in the spring of 1942 (when the first cremation was in fact carried out on August 15, 1940)748 and had four “storta” “retorts,” but this crematorium was ultimately equipped with six muffles, as is well-known. According to Friedman, Crematoria II and III were built in 1942, while Crematoria IV and V entered into operation in 1943. To these last presumed jewels of German technology, Friedman attributes insane levels of performance: each “retort” “storta” – which were allegedly two meters wide (they were actually only 70 cm wide)!749 – cremated five bodies in ten minutes per muffle, that is, the entire eight-muffle-furnace cremated 240 bodies per hour, or 5,760 in 24 hours, The two installations put together cremated 480 bodies per hour or 11,520 in 24 hour; the capacity of Crematoria II and III was three bodies in 20 minutes in each “storta” “retort,” that is, 135 bodies per hour, or 3,240 in 24 hours. Hence, these two crematoria together cremated 270 bodies per hour or 6,480 in 24 hours. The total capacity of all four crematoria was therefore 750 bodies per hour, or 18,000 in 24 hours! Notwithstanding this insanely exaggerated figure, the crematoria were insufficient for the task, and it was still necessary to dig cremation pits! This was obviously done for the crazy purpose of making the extermination of five, six or seven million persons credible! In a year of uninterrupted activity, these crematoria actually would have cremated altogether (18,000 × 365 =) 6,570,000 corpses!

The slang terms “Canadians” and “bakery” are very unusual. The fable of the “selections” carried out at Auschwitz to feed the furnaces at Birkenau, so as to avoid wasting fuel, is another piece of idiocy. The number of Hungarian Jews deported to Auschwitz – 650,000 – is almost double the actual figure, and the story of the 670,000 deported and exterminated French patriots and partisans is a preposterous lie. Friedman dishes up other absurdities: the tongues of fire 2-4 meters high from the crematorium furnaces, and the recovery of human fat from the cremation ditches! The “gassing pits” (together with “a huge ‘beach’ undressing room”) were a less frequent literary theme; similar gassing pits can also be found in a statement by Otto Wolken:750

“Es wurden Gruben ausgehoben und mit Zeltplanen gedeckt, die als provisorische Gaskammern dienten.”

“Pits were dug and covered with tarpaulins, which served as provisional gas chambers.”

Finally, there is the ever-present yarn of “the elderly, the children and the sick” “thrown alive into the burning pits”!


	4.4. The SS State

This book by Eugen Kogon was published in 1946 in Germany with the German title Der SS-Staat (The SS State). An English translation was published in 1950 with the title The Theory and Practice of Hell. In this book, Kogon, a German political inmate deported to Buchenwald, attempted to outline, as recited by the subtitle, The German Concentration Camp System. In a chapter titled “The Gas Chambers” in the German edition (“Special Places of Execution and Disposal of the Dead” in the English edition), he also concerns himself with Auschwitz, presumably based in particular on the statements of ex-inmates from Auschwitz transferred to Buchenwald (Kogon 1946, pp. 132f.). I quote here from the 1979 Octagon reprint of the English edition (pp. 213-215). Text omitted from the English translation is underlined and translated from the German original:

“Die große Vergasungsanlage in Auschwitz – genauer: in Birkenau, das zu Auschwitz gehörte – umfaßte zusammen mit 5 modernen Krematorien 4 in die Erde gebaute Gasbunker mit einer Fassung von je durchschnittlich 1200-1500 Menschen. Das 5. Krematorium hatte keine Oefen, sondern nur eine riesige Glühgrube. Die Opfer wurden nackt davor aufgestellt und von der SS abgeknallt, sodaß die Kadaver – oder die Verwundeten! – gleich in die Glut fielen. Der Lagerkommandant SS-Hauptsturmführer Kramer ließ sich keine dieser Massenexekutionen entgehen; er stand meist mit strahlendem Gesicht dabei und schlug sich bei besonders aufregenden Szenen vor Vergnügen auf die Schenkel. Das Bedienungskommando umfaßte etwa 1000 Häftlinge, ausschließlich Juden.

Die Vergasungsanlage war einfach und doch raffiniert. Die Einrichtung sah wie ein Bad aus und wurde den Opfern auch als solches bezeichnet. In einem Auskleideraum stand in den europäischen Hauptsprachen angeschrieben, daß man die Kleider geordnet hinlegen und die Schuhe zusammenbinden solle, damit sie nicht verlorengingen: nach dem Bad werde es heißen Kaffee geben. Vom Auskleideraum führte der Weg direkt ins ‘Bad,’ wo aus den Duschen und Ventilatorenpfeilern das Blausäuregas einströmte, sobald die Türen geschlossen waren. Nicht selten wurden Kleinkinder, wenn die Kammern vollgepfercht waren, noch durch die Fenster hineingeworfen. Je nachdem, wieviel Gas vorhanden war, dauerte der Erstickungstod bis zu 4 und 5 Minuten. Währenddessen hörte man von drinnen das entsetzliche Schreien der Kinder, Frauen und Männer, denen es langsam die Lungen zerriß. Gab nach Öffnung der Kammern noch ingendein Körper ein Lebenszeichen von sich, so wurde er mit Knüppeln bewegungslos geschlagen. Hierauf zogen die Häftlinge des Sonderkommandos (zu dem 1944 ein junger Jude aus Brünn, Janda Weiß, gehörte, von dem die nachfolgenden, durch andere bestätigten Einzelangaben stammen) die Leichen heraus, nahmen ihnen die Ringe ab und schnitten ihnen die Haare ab die, in Säcken gesammelt, in Fabriken zur Verarbeitung verschickt wurden. Dann schichtete sie die Leichen zu je 10 auf einen Haufen. Nach einem Kontrollgang des SS-Oberscharführers Moll, der die Auschwitzer Krematorien leitete, wurden die Körper in die Öfen, beziehungsweise an die Glühgrube, um sie nach Unterleibschüssen in das Feuer stürzen zusehen. […]

Die Höchstleistung wurde mit 34000 Menschen in einem ununterbrochenen Tag- und Nachtturnus erreicht.” (Hervorhebung im Original)

“At Auschwitz, however, there was a huge gas plant – actually at Birkenau, a part of Auschwitz – which embraced five crematories together with four gas bunkers built into the ground. Each of these had an average capacity of twelve to fifteen hundred persons. The fifth crematory had no furnaces. It was only a huge fire pit.

The victims were lined up before the pit naked and shot down by the SS, the bodies – or the wounded! – toppling directly into fire. The Camp Commandant, SS Captain Kramer, never missed these mass executions. He generally stood by beaming, slapping his thighs with glee when the scene grew

especially exciting. […]

The gas chambers were simplicity itself, yet they were planned with diabolical ingenuity. Each chamber had the appearance of a public bath, and was so represented to the victims. In the dressing rooms there were signs, in all the principal languages of Europe, instructing the prisoners to tie their shoes together and fold their clothes neatly to avoid loss. Hot coffee was promised after the bath. From the dressing rooms the way led directly to the ‘bath,’ where hydrogen-cyanide gas was emitted through the shower heads and ventilator outlets as soon as the doors had been closed. Infants were still being thrown through the windows when the chambers were too crowded. Death took as long as four or five minutes, depending on the amount of gas available. During this time the most-dreadful screams could be heard from the men, women and children inside, as their lungs were slowly ruptured. Any bodies that showed signs of life when the doors had been opened were clubbed into quiescence. The prisoners of the service squad then dragged out the bodies, stripped off any rings, and cut off the hair, which was bundled into sacks and shipped to plants for processing. (In 1944 a young Jew from Brno, Janda Weiss, was a member of this squad. He is the source of the details here presented, which have been confirmed from other sources.)

The bodies were then stacked in piles of ten each. SS Technical Sergeant Moll, in charge of the Auschwitz crematories, made his tour of inspection, after which the bodies were thrown into the furnaces or the fire pit. Moll was fond of placing naked women against the edge of the fire pit and watching them fall into the flames when they were shot in the abdomen. […] The highest ‘output’ attained by Auschwitz was 34,000 bodies, in one continuous day and night shift.”

This version calls the gas chambers in the four crematoria “gas bunkers,” with a relatively modest capacity of 1,200 to 1,500 persons. Apart from the fact that they were “underground,” Kogon says nothing more. The attribution of the term “gas bunkers” even to Crematoria IV and V, which had no underground rooms at all, is obviously senseless.

The alleged “bunkers” of Birkenau are entirely ignored, but in compensation for this, Kogon describes a fifth cremation as a “eine riesige Glühgrube” “huge fire pit.” Here the victims are killed with firearms and thrown into the pit, a fantastic yarn amply developed by Nyiszli (Mattogno 2020a, pp. 57-60, 245-247). The gas chamber, according to the stereotype adopted by nearly all versions, was camouflaged as a “Bad” “bath,” but here, “aus den Duschen und Ventilatorenpfeilern das Blausäuregas einströmte,” “hydrogen-cyanide gas was emitted through the shower heads and ventilator outlets” (the German text has here “Ventilatorenpfeiler” – ventilation pillars). It goes without saying that this was impossible, both because Zyklon B, as noted earlier, consisted of liquid hydrogen cyanide soaked into a granular mass (Diagrieß) or on gypsum pellets (known as Erco), and because the “Ventilatorenpfeiler” “ventilation pillars” never existed (which may be the reason why that term was changed in the English translation). By his own account, Janda Weiss, a Jew deported from Theresienstadt to Auschwitz on May 20, 1944, had entered into contact with the crematorium personnel, who allegedly had told him of the horrors which he then reported, among them the following: “There were three columns for the ventilators, through which the gas poured in” (Hackett, p. 350). Kogon’s sources knew nothing about cremation furnaces or cremation, but for him, their “record” of the greatest number of persons killed in a single day was 34,000! A true record either of credulity or of insolence!


	4.5. Devil and Damned

This book by Benedikt Kautsky was published in 1946 in Switzerland with the German title Teufel und Verdammte (Devil and Damned). Kautsky was transferred from Buchenwald to Auschwitz on October 19, 1942, and was issued registration number 68510. In his book, which is supposed to be a sort of general history of the inmates in German concentration camps, he writes the following (Kautsky, pp. 273-275):

“Man kam sich unsere Stimmung vorstellen, als wir im Oktober 1942 auf Transport nach Auschwitz geschickt wurden; aber wir hatten Glück: Wir kamen nicht nach Birkenau in die Gaskammern, sondern nach Buna zur Arbeit. Das Glück sah freilich so aus, daß von uns 405 nach einem halben Jahr etwa 110 am Leben waren.

Immerhin waren wir den Gaskammern nahe genug, daß wir Zuverlässiges über sie erfahren konnten. Ich habe Dutzende von Häftlingen gesprochen, die die Vergasungen und Verbrennungen mit angesehen, und die dort in der einen oder anderen Funktion tätig gewesen sind.

Das Verfahren war so ausgeklügelt, daß man den höchsten Effekt mit einem Minimum an Arbeit, aber auch an Widerstandmöglichkeit, verband. Die Transportzüge mit den zu Vergasenden, denen man den Zweck der Transporte sorgfältig verheimlichte, fuhren an einer Rampe ein, auf deren anderer Seite sich die Krematorien und Gaskammern befanden. Die Insassen der Waggons mußten sich auf die Rampe begeben; hier wurde je nach den von der Berliner Zentrale gegebenen Weisungen eine Sortierung der zu Vergasenden und der zur Arbeit Bestimmten vorgenommen. Die für die Gaskammern Vorgesehenen wurden in einen Raum getrieben, in dem sie sich ausziehen mußten. Als Zweck wurde ihnen ein Bad angegeben. Um die Täuschung volkommen zu machen, gab man ihnen unter Umständen noch Seife und Handtücher.

Die nackten Opfer wurden nun in einen anderen Raum zusammengepfercht, der gekalket und mit Douchen an der Decke versehen waren; daß die Wasserabflüsse fehlten, werden wohl die wenigsten in ihrer Aufregung bemerkt haben. War der Raum voll, wurden die Türen zugeschlagen und die Douchen in Tätigkeit gesetzt: ihnen entströmte kein Wasser, sondern Gas.

Verwendet wurde zumeist wohl Kohlenoxyd, so daß die Menschen in wenigen Minuten erstickten. Alle Schilderungen stimmen darin überein, daß die Unglückseligen während dieser Zeit schrien und stöhten, sich förmlich ineinander verkrampften und mit blauen Lippen, mit Blutaustritten aus Mund, Nase, Ohren und Augen aufgefunden wurden. Eine eigene Kolonne von Häftlingen war damit beschäftigt, die Leichen auseinanderzuzerren; diese wurden dann geschoren – denn die Haare der Toten waren ein nicht zu verachtender Rohstoff – es wurden ihnen die Goldzähne aus dem Mund gebrochen, und sie kamen in die Verbrennungsöfen.

Die Kapazität der Gaskammern überstieg die der Krematorien bei weitem. Mir wurde als Grenze der Leistungsfähigkeit der Kammern die gleichzeitige Vergasung von 2000 Menschen angegeben. Da das Hineintreiben der Opfer in die Kammern und deren Räumung jeweils mehrere Stunden in Anspruch nahm, so konnten Tagesleistungen von 6000 bis 8000 Getöteten erzielt werden. Dieses Maximum wurde in den Monaten Mai bis Juli 1944 erreicht, als man etwa dreiviertel Millionen ungarischer Juden (einschließlich von Transporten aus Theresienstadt usw.) vergaste.

Damals wurden Hunderttausende im Freien auf Scheiterhaufen verbrannt: Man schichtete jeweils eine Lage Holz auf eine Lage Leichen, übergoß das Ganze mit Petroleum und zündete es an. Brannte der Scheiterhaufen einmal, so brauchte man kein Brennmaterial mehr dazulegen: waren es doch Menschen aus der Freiheit und nicht ausgemergelte, fettlose Häftlinge, die da brannten. Die schauerlichen Einzelheiten dieser Verbrennungen lassen sich wirklich kaum wiedergeben. Tage- und wochenlang sah man die Rauchwolken, die auf Kilometer die ganze Umgebung mit dem Gestank von verbranntem Fleisch und Fett, mit dem Ruß und der Asche verpesteten, und nachts sah man die Flammen, ein grauenhaftes Fanal der Vernichtung, nicht nur Hunderttausender von Menschenleben, sondern auch der Vernichtung des deutschen Kulturanspruches. […]

In Auschwitz sind durch Massenvergasungen – neben denen der Arbeitsunfähigen, die im Lager registriert waren und von denen zweifellos eine sechtsstellige Zahl in die Gaskammern gewandert ist – mindestens dreieinhalb Millionen Menschen getötet worden. Nach den zuverlässigsten Schätzungen betrug die entsprechende Zahl für Majdanek (Lublin) anderthalb Millionen.”

“You can imagine how we felt when we were sent to Auschwitz on a transport in October 1942; but we were lucky: we weren’t sent to Birkenau into the gas chambers, but to Buna, to work. The luck, of course, was such that, of 405 of us, about 110 were alive after half a year.

Yet still, we were close enough to the gas chambers to be able to gain reliable information about them. I spoke to dozens of inmates who had witnessed the gassings and burnings, and who had been active there in one way or another.

The procedure was so ingenious that they combined the greatest effect with a minimum of work, as well as a minimum of resistance possibility. The transport trains carrying the people to be gassed, who had been carefully kept ignorant about the purpose of the transports, arrived at a ramp, on the other side of which were the crematoria and gas chambers. The passengers in the cars had to get onto the ramp; here, the people were sorted into those to be gassed and those to be used for labor, in each case according to instructions issued by the central office in Berlin. Those slated for the gas chambers were driven into a room, where they had to undress. As the purpose, they were told to take a bath. To perfect the deception, sometimes they were given soap and towels.

The naked victims were now crowded into another room, which was whitewashed and equipped with showers on the ceiling; due to their excitement, only few of them will have noticed that there were no drains in the floor. When the room was full, the doors were slammed shut, and the showers were turned on: no water came out of them, but gas.

The gas used was probably mostly carbon [mon]oxide, so that the people suffocated within a few minutes. All descriptions agree that the unfortunates screamed and moaned throughout this time, that they literally clenched up one another, and that they were found with blue lips, having bled from the mouth, nose, ears and eyes. A dedicated squad of inmates were employed to tear the bodies apart from each other; then they were shorn – since the hair of the dead was a raw material not to be despised – the gold teeth were broken out of their mouths, and they went into the cremation furnaces.

The capacity of the gas chambers greatly exceeded that of the crematoria. I was told that the ceiling capacity of the chambers was the simultaneous gassing of 2,000 people. Since it took several hours to drive the victims into the chambers and empty them afterwards, daily performances of 6,000 to 8,000 people killed could be reached. This maximum was achieved in the months of May to July 1944, when about three quarters of a million Hungarian Jews were gassed (including transports from Theresienstadt and so on).

At that time, hundreds of thousands were burned on pyres outdoors: in each case, a layer of wood was put on a layer of bodies, the whole thing was doused with petroleum, and it was lit. Once the pyres were burning, no more fuel had to be added: for these people who burned there were from freedom [freshly arrived from the outside world] rather than emaciated, fatless inmates. The horrible details of these burnings can hardly be described. The clouds of smoke were visible for days and weeks, polluting the entire area for kilometers with the stench of burning flesh and fat, with soot and ashes; at night, one could see the flames, a horrible beacon of annihilation, not just of hundreds of thousands of human lives, but of all German claims to culture. […]

At least three-and-a-half-million human beings were killed at Auschwitz in mass gassings – in addition to inmates unable to work, who were registered in the camp, a six-digit figure of whom went into the gas chambers without a doubt. According to the most-reliable estimates, the corresponding figure for Majdanek (Lublin) amounted to one-and-a-half million.”

This account, allegedly based on the statements of dozens of “eyewitnesses,” repeats standard propaganda themes (distribution of soap and towels to the victims, showerheads emitting gas instead of water) with the addition of one rather bold bit of hare-brained nonsense: the gassing by means of “Kohlenoxyd” “carbon [mon]oxide” which caused death in “in wenigen Minuten” “within a few minutes.”

The presumed extermination capacity at Birkenau appears rather small compared to other testimonies: the “Leistungsfähigkeit der Kammern,” “capacity of the chambers” – evidently all chambers put together – was 2,000 persons in “mehrere Stunden” “several hours,” while the highest yield estimated by a witness (or witnesses) was 6,000-8,000 per day, which should be understood as meaning: three or four gassings per day in all the gas chambers. Kautsky states that “dieses Maximum” “this maximum” – that is, 8,000 victims per day – “wurde in den Monaten Mai bis Juli 1944 erreicht” “was achieved in the months of May to July 1944.” This figure, although far removed from the madness of the other claimed “records” of 24,000 or 34,000 victims, is still crazy, because it is based on the fallacious presupposition that “etwa dreiviertel Millionen” “about three-quarters-of-a-million” people were gassed in the months of May to July 1944, hence within about 90 days, or approximately 8,300 per day, and if “damals wurden Hunderttausende im Freien auf Scheiterhaufen verbrannt” “at that time, hundreds of thousands were burned on pyres outdoors,” it is clear that the crematoria at Birkenau had a cremation capacity notably inferior to 8,300 bodies per day. At any rate, Kautsky was unaware of the “cremation pits,” with a vague concession as indicated below. In compensation, he adopted the motif of the soot from the chimneys covering the entire area around Birkenau, and of the immense flames lighting up the night. Regarding the total number of victims, he contented himself with three-and-a-half million – plus hundreds of thousands of gassed registered inmates, which amounts again to some four million in total.

For Kautsky, the story of persons burned alive in cremation furnaces was “äußerst unwahrscheinlich” “very improbable,” if only for the fact that the apertures in the muffles were too narrow, and attempting to introduce a conscious person into such a muffle would have required the assistance of many men; for this reason, “ist die Verbrennung Lebender in einem Krematorium wohl nur ganz ausnahmsweise, wenn überhaupt erfolgt” “the burning of living people in a crematorium occurred only as a rare exception, if at all,” On the other hand, he considered the “Verbrennungen Lebender auf Scheiterhaufen oder in Gruben für durchaus wahrscheinlich, das Begraben Lebender im Einzel- oder Massengräber für sicher” “burning of living persons on pyres or in pits to be quite probable, and the burial of living persons in individual or mass graves to be quite certain” (ibid., pp. 276f.). This allows us to assess Kautsky’s ability of critical reasoning.

 


Part 5:
The Connivance of Orthodox Historians: Deceptions to Hide the Lies

 


5.1. The Alleged “Concordance on the Essential” by Georges Wellers

Dr. Georges Wellers, an ex-deportee to Auschwitz,751 was also an orthodox Holocaust historian, particularly in polemical exchanges with the late revisionist Dr. Robert Faurisson. In one of his books, he presented a “Analyse comparée des témoignages” “Comparative Analysis of the Testimonies” on Auschwitz, in which he examined the testimonies of Rudolf Höss, Pery Broad, Johann Paul Kremer, Alfred Wetzler and Rudolf Vrba, the Polish major (Jerzy Tabeau), Czesław Mordowicz and Arnošt Rosin, Chaim Herman, Salmen Gradowski, Salmen Lewental, the unknown author of the “Sonderkommando,” André Lettich and Charles Sigismund Bendel – 14 all in all, as he stressed (Wellers 1981).

The procedure he chose was inevitably specious. To start with, Wellers did not actually take the trouble to perform a “comparative analysis” of the individual testimonies selected by himself. For example, for Rudolf Höss, Wellers cites only his “Mémoires” “Memoirs” in a French edition published by the Auschwitz Museum in 1974 (Bezwińska/Czech 1974, pp. 35-142), which is the translation of Höss’s so-called “Krakow annotations” published in German by Martin Broszat in 1958 with the title Kommandant in Auschwitz. However, in his short career as witness, the ex-commandant of Auschwitz rendered a long series of contradictory, false and absurd statements which I have analyzed in a dedicated study (Mattogno 2020). Wellers only mentions two of Höss’s statements en passant: his statement of March 14, 1946 and the one dated April 5, 1946, both of which are jam-packed with contradictions, false statements and absurdities (1981, pp 64-77).

Of Broad, Wellers mentions only his report from the same Bezwińska/Czech book (1974, pp. 143-209), while ignoring the witness’s other statements, such as the one signed by him during the Tesch Trial on March 2, 1946 (NI-11954). In it, Broad asserted among other things that 10,000 persons per day were gassed at Birkenau in the months of March and April 1944; that Crematoria II and III could cremate 3,000-4,000 bodies per day, while Crematoria IV and V processed 2,000 bodies daily; that “there was only a gas stove there” in Crematorium V (he actually meant “Bunker 2” here) with a capacity of 800-1,200 victims; and that the total number of gassing victims was 2.5-3 million!

Of Bendel, Wellers examines only the account which appears in the book Témoignages sur Auschwitz (Fédération nationale…), while carefully ignoring Bendel’s other statements in which the witness proffers incredible pieces of stupidity.

What is worse, Wellers completely neglects to analyze the reliability and truthfulness of these witnesses, presupposing a priori that they were all reliable and truthful, then cherry-picking excerpts supporting his historical claims.

Early on in the present book I showed that the Wetzler-Vrba Report, particularly when it comes to its description of Crematoria II-III, is a jumble of fairy tales without basis in reality. Wellers, however, considers it “a detailed and very precise description of the Birkenau Camp and its gas chambers” (Wellers 1986, p. 278), although he himself had published Plan No. 932 of the new crematorium at Auschwitz dated January 23, 1942, with the usual orthodox comments not supported by the plan.752 This plan visibly demonstrates the total falsity of the so-called “detailed and very precise” description! This means that Wellers knowingly spreads false claims.

What I have set forth shows clearly that not only Wetzler and Vrba, but the Polish major as well, Mordowicz and Rosin, Herman, Gradowski, Lewental, the unknown author, Lettich and Bendel signed statements packed with absurdities and contradiction that Wellers obviously took great pains to conceal from his readers, dwelling exclusively on secondary and insignificant differences – precisely because in his mind, they were allowed to diverge only on insignificant details, for they were supposed to be all a priori true. Thanks to this fallacious method, he then reached the following conclusion (Wellers 1981, pp. 128f.):

“Si l'on veut résumer ces témoignages, on peut dire que suivant leurs auteurs l'éclairage change, que les détails décrits ne sont pas toujours les mêmes, que les récits des uns sont souvent nettement plus clairs que ceux des autres. [...].

Mais, sur l'essentiel, tous ces témoins sont d'accord: et sur les ‘sélections’ et leurs signification d'un tri ‘pour les chambres à gaz’ [...]; et sur les deux ‘bunkers’ transformés en chambres à gaz  en 1942; et sur les fosses où l'on brûle les cadavres provenants de ces ‘bunkers’; et sur les quatre crématoires modernes avec leur ‘annexes’ qui fonctionnent depuis 1943; et sur la réouverture des fosses en 1944; et, enfin, sur l'évacuation du camp en janvier 1945.

Tous ces témoins – je le souligne, je le rappelle une fois encore – par leur fonctions ou par suite des circonstances, ont vu de leurs yeux le déroulement de telle étape de mise à mort, dans les chambres à gaz, des convois de déportés juifs à Auschwitz II, et ils l'ont raconté sans aucune possibilité de connivence ou d'influence réciproque, en toute indépendance et, souvent, sinon toujours, longtemps avant les prétendus mobiles du mensonge par l'intétêt d'argent ou politique, longtemps avant la fonfation de l'État d'Israël, avant la création de deux Allemagnes et avant l'initiative des réparations allemandes.[ ]

C'est ce que que j'ai appelé en 1978 ‘abondance de preuves’.”

“If one wishes to summarize these testimonies, one could say that as their authors change, the lighting changes, that the details described are not always the same, that the tales of the ones are often obviously clearer than those of the others. […]

But on the essentials, all these witnesses are in agreement: and on the ‘selections’ and the significance of sorting people ‘for the gas chambers’ […]; and on the two ‘bunkers’ transformed into gas chambers in 1942;[753] and on the ditches in which they burned the bodies originating from these ‘bunkers’; and on the four modern crematoria with their ‘annexes’ which have been in operation since 1943; and on the reopening of the graves in 1944; and, finally, on the evacuation of the camp in January 1945.

All these witnesses – I wish to stress, I am reminding you of it once more – due to their position or as a result of circumstance, have, with their own eyes, seen the progression of this stage of the killing, in the gas chamber, of the Jewish transports at Auschwitz II, and they described them without any possibility of connivance or reciprocal influence, quite independently and, often, if not always, long before the alleged motives for lying by way of political or financial interests came into play, before the creation of the State of Israel, before the creation of the two Germanies and before the initiative of German reparations.[754]

This is what I called an ‘abundance of proof’ in 1978.”

In reality, we can speak only of an abundance of lies, absurdities and contradictions.

As for the pretense that the witnesses were absolutely independent of each other, it is difficult to establish whether this claim derived from naivety or bad faith. This study shows incontrovertibly that the fairy tales created by the resistance groups heavily influenced all witnesses, who at most only reinvented new ones, and only regarding those new and usually absurd inventions that can be described as “independent.”

For Wellers, the “concordance on the essential” boils down to this recipe: take a certain number of witnesses; from among the many, often contradictory statements they have made, the best-fitting are picked; eliminate the absurdities, the blatant lies and the contradictions they contain; what remains is the mere mention of the gas chambers, and this is the “essential”!

From this point of view, even the fables of the “gas showers,” the “gas bombs” (including all its variants), the electrical chambers, chambers with opening floors, corpse-conveyor belts, electrical furnaces, pneumatic hammers, etc. etc., would be “concordant” as to “the essentials”: the mass killing and cremation of persons!


	5.2. Pressac and the Wetzler-Vrba Report

Jean-Claude Pressac has attempted to explain and justify in a detailed manner the absurdities of the Wetzler-Vrba Report by dedicating an entire chapter to this theme in his first book on Auschwitz (Pressac 1989, pp. 459-468).755

All of Pressac’s arguments are based on two unfounded presuppositions:

1. that the direct observations from outside the crematoria by Wetzler and Vrba did not extend beyond March 1943;

2. that the indirect information reported by them in their report originated principally, if not exclusively, from members of the Sonderkommando assigned to the bunkers at Birkenau, and did not extend beyond the end of 1942, because all these inmates were said to have been killed on December 17, 1942.

At the Zündel Trial in 1985, Vrba denied the first presupposition, declaring that he had observed Crematorium II from the mortuary annexed to Block 27 of Camp Sector BIb (at that time still a men’s camp) from a distance of 50-60 yards, or about 45-55 meters.756 He entered that building on “every occasion” possible. In that building, Wetzler was a “Registrar” clerk (p. 1321/p. 231), a position he occupied until June 8, 1943 (p. 1428/p. 250). Therefore, the two witnesses could have examined Crematorium II from this distance up until that date. Vrba moreover declared that he had observed the crematoria and surrounding area “from January 1943 until April 7, 1944” (p. 1329/p. 232).

Pressac’s second presupposition was likewise openly contradicted by Vrba and Filip Müller, who, as noted above, spoke of direct and reciprocal contacts in 1944. Pressac also focused merely on the drawing of the crematoria, without taking into consideration the related description (of which the drawing is an example), which illustrates Crematorium II/III and the alleged gassing procedure on its inside, but this description is allegedly based on an eyewitness testimony.

Although this is already sufficiently radical to invalidate Pressac’s attempt to prove the accuracy of the “essential core” of the Wetzler-Vrba Report, it is appropriate to set forth a detailed refutation of his explanations in order to demonstrate the artificiality and the historical-documentary inconsistency of Pressac’s claims, to eliminate any remaining doubt as to the propagandistic and mendacious nature of the report, and finally because van Pelt relied on Pressac’s claims for his fraudulent defense of this report, as I will show later.


	1. Number of Furnaces and Muffles, Arrangement of the Furnaces

Pressac writes (1989, p. 459):

“The number of furnaces cited per Krematorium is wrong. Those of type II/III had only 15 cremation muffles, not the 36 announced. This error is understandable if we assume that the witnesses had themselves never entered a Krematorium and all their observations were from the exterior or based on the accounts of other prisoners, in particular, though we cannot prove it, Sonderkommando members working in December 1942 at Bunkers 1 and 2 who would have been able to watch the building of what they believed would be their future place of work. Document 9 enables us to understand the assumed disposition of the furnaces around the chimney, and with this arrangement the number of furnaces would be a multiple of three.”

In other words, detainees attached to the “Sonderkommando” assigned to Bunkers 1 and 2, seeing the chimney rising from a broad quadrangular wing of Crematorium II, which measured 10 m × 12 m (Pressac’s Document 9 is a photo of Crematorium II showing this wing; ibid., p. 465), supposed that the furnaces were arranged around the chimney and communicated this hypothesis to Vrba and Wetzler.

This explanation does not explain, however, how the inmates are supposed to have deduced the number of furnaces – nine – the number of muffles on each furnace – four – and their arrangement around the chimney. Indeed, as is plain from the photo of Crematorium II published by Pressac, from looking only at the exterior, nothing of the sort could be deduced: one could only “imagine,” which is very different. Pressac makes no attempt to explain why these detainees should have “imagined” exactly nine furnaces with four muffles each, arranged around the chimney, a hypothesis which could not be more probable or plausible than any other, since external observation of the crematorium could not supply the slightest clue in this regard. His contention that, had the furnaces been arranged around the chimney in a semicircle, their number would be a multiple of three, is incomprehensible. There is no reason why the number of furnaces could not be five or seven in such an arrangement, for example.

Pressac’s explanation is moreover radically refuted by the fact that Wetzler and Vrba’s (presumed) source dated back to 1944 and consisted of Filip Müller’s description and plan of Crematorium II.

The above indicated contradictions therefore remain unexplained and inexplicable.


	2. Cremation Capacity.

The cremation capability of each of Crematoria II and III as stated by the Vrba-Wetzler Report – 2,000 corpses in 24 hours – is about twice the figure arbitrarily fixed by Pressac: 1,000-1,100 bodies in 24 hours (ibid., p. 244). Pressac attempts to explain this contradiction as follows (ibid., p. 459):

“In the [Vrba-Wetzler] report the throughput of the four Krematorien per 24 hours is fairly reasonably estimated at 6000, though this is one third higher than the 4416 units a day reported in a letter of 28th June 1943 from the Bauleitung to the SS Economic and Administrative Head Office in Berlin. Even this I consider to be a purely administrative document, calculated on the basis of the original estimated throughput of the furnaces, the true daily rate for the four cremation installations being no more than 3000. If we take the rate of incineration given by the witnesses — three corpses per muffle in one and a half hours — and apply this to the true number of furnaces, the daily figure for the four Krematorien is about 2200.”

This figure therefore derives from the cremation time of 90 minutes of three corpses each in altogether 46 muffles, hence: [1,440 min/day ÷ 90 min/load] × 3 corpses/load × 46 muffles =] 2,208 corpses/day, but this calculation makes no sense, because Wetzler and Vrba speak of 72 muffles just in Crematoria II and III (to which we would have to add those of Crematoria IV & V).

On the other hand, the capacity obtained by performing his calculation with reference to Crematorium II/III (3 bodies × 15 muffles × 90 minutes) results in 720 bodies in 24 hours for each facility, so that, if Pressac accepts as true the cremation time for three bodies in one muffle as supplied by Wetzler and Vrba – 90 minutes – it is incomprehensible how he could at the same time maintain that Crematoria II/III each had a capacity of 1,000-1,100 bodies in 24 hours, and that the four crematoria together had a capacity of 3,000 instead of 2,208. This explanation is therefore a mere sophistic trick.

But that is not all. Vrba subsequently changed his version completely by claiming that Crematoria II and III each had five furnaces with three muffles for each furnace, and that in each muffle three corpses could be cremated in 20 minutes (Vrba/Bestic, p. 16). The incineration capacity of each crematorium thus jumps to 3,240 corpses in 24 hours. Filip Müller, Wetzler’s and Vrba’s valuable source of information, confirmed these technically impossible data exactly – three corpses per muffle in twenty minutes times 15 muffles (Müller, S. 29f., 94/pp. 16f., 59). If, therefore, Filip Müller supplied the witnesses with this information in 1944 (three bodies in 20 minutes in 15 muffles) why did they mention completely different data (three bodies in 90 minutes in 36 muffles)? If, on the other hand, he supplied them with the false data repeated by the witnesses, he was guilty of historical falsehood and technical absurdity. Either way, since both sets of data in question are technically absurd, it is clear that both Wetzler-Vrba and Filip Müller lied egregiously.

The fact of the contradiction relating to the cremation capacity of Crematoria II and III remains therefore entirely confirmed, and even aggravated.


	3. Location of the “Undressing Room” on the Ground Floor of the Crematorium instead of in the Basement

Pressac considered this point of the report to be correct, because in March 1943, in the north courtyard of the crematorium, there existed a barracks which was used for approximately one week as the undressing room for the victims of the alleged gas chamber. Since this barracks was obviously on ground level, the two witnesses were telling the truth when they asserted that the “undressing room” was located on the ground floor (Pressac 1989, pp. 459, 462).

Even overlooking the fact that Wetzler and Vrba’s sources dated from 1944 and not March 1943, Pressac’s explanation is nevertheless refuted by their report, which does not mention any “undressing room” at all in any barracks outside Crematorium II, but does describe it as a room located inside the crematorium. Therefore, even admitting that the two witnesses and their sources really saw the barracks in question, it nevertheless remains to be explained why, in their report, this exterior barracks became an interior room. Even in this case, Pressac’s explanation is inconclusive and sophistic, and the contradiction relating to the position of the “undressing room” remains valid.


	4. “Gas Chamber” on the Ground Floor, a bit lower than the “Undressing Room,” instead of in the Basement, on the same level as the Undressing Room

Pressac doesn’t even notice this discrepancy, due to his mistaken reading of the text of the Wetzler-Vrba Report, and more importantly due to his neglect of the additional sources (Vrba’s subsequent writings and testimony). Because Pressac identifies the subterranean Leichenkeller 1 Morgue #1 as the “gas chamber,” he credits the Wetzler-Vrba Report with accuracy on this point, since by his interpretation it locates Room C, the alleged gas chamber, “at basement level” (ibid., p. 459). But this interpretation is simply erroneous. In this regard, the report says (see Chapter 2.4.):

“From there a door and a few steps lead down into the very long and narrow gas chamber.”

This room, according to the report, was presumably located a bit lower than the furnace room and the “undressing room,” but it cannot be said that it was in the basement, like Leichenkeller Morgue #1, either because there should have been another “undressing room” “underneath” (below) it, lower down than the “gas chamber,” or because it was linked to the furnace room by rails, and therefore could not have been in the basement. This is moreover confirmed by the report itself, where it says that, to get the people to undress, “SS men with gas masks climb on the roof” of the “gas chamber,” which was therefore well above ground level.

This interpretation was expressly confirmed by Rudolf Vrba’s testimony at the First Zündel Trial. As noted earlier, Vrba claimed to have observed Crematorium II while looking out the window of the morgue attached to Block 27 of Camp Sector BIb, from a distance of 50-60 yards (45-55 meters), specifying that (p. 1328/p. 232):

“This Krematorium No. II had, apart from buildings, long bunkers which were approximately the height of two such tables. Say the bunker was about this height, above the head of a human being.

Q [Attorney Christie]: All right. You are indicating about six and a half, seven feet?

A. [Rudolf Vrba]: I would think so. In other words, a man who would climb on it would have to lift his hands and sort of make an exercise in order to swing himself on top of the bunker.”

Vrba moreover stated that he had personally seen a corporal from the SS health service climb onto the roof of the “bunker” to carry out a gassing in the manner described (ibid.):

“And then he climbed on the bunker by holding on his hands and in a sporty way swinging himself over, which attracted my attention because it was not usually the demeanor of S.S. men to make sport.”

Under cross-examination by defense attorney Doug Christie, Vrba confirmed his past statements, asserting that he had not measured the height of the “bunker” with a yardstick, but adding that he was sure that it was about as high as an adult man, perhaps more, and that to get up on top of it would require climbing in the manner he described (p. 1444/p. 253). Nevertheless, as noted by Christie, the original plan of the “bunkers,” that is, of Leichenkeller Morgues #1 and #2 (Huta drawings 109/13A and 109/14A, published by Pressac, 1989, pp. 322, 324), show two underground rooms protruding 126 cm from the ground (from 235.366 m to 236.626 m above sea level) including the layer of soil on the roof. The earth embankment on the sides, sloping up from ground level, enabled one to climb to the roof of the alleged gas chamber by taking merely a few steps. Since Vrba claimed instead that this room rose from ground level to a height of about two meters with a wall to climb up on, it is clear that he did not tell the truth.

The validity of the contradiction relating to the location of the presumed gas chamber is therefore definitively confirmed, and is even aggravated by Vrba’s related lie/perjury during the First Zündel Trial.


	5. Number of Roof Openings for Insertion of Zyklon B

In this regard, Pressac asserts (ibid., p. 464):

“The gas chamber of Krematorium II was fitted with four openings for pouring Zyklon-B. The witnesses state that there were only three, and a photograph of January 1943 does indeed show this gas chamber as having only three devices for introducing the toxic product at that time.”

This is the well-known “train photograph,” interpreted by Pressac in a rather fanciful way.757 According to him, the presumed four introduction shafts (together with all related equipment) certainly existed on March 31, 1943, but, as we have seen earlier, Vrba claimed to have observed the crematorium from a distance of 45-55 meters until April 7, 1944. What is more, from his vantage point until early June 1943 (the morgue barracks next to Block 27 of Camp Sector BIb), Leichenkeller Morgue #1 of Crematorium II was in full view at a slight angle, so it was easy to count any objects protruding from the roof. Therefore, Pressac’s explanation in this regard is inconsistent, and the contradiction indicated remains.


	6. The Rails Connecting the “Gas Chamber” to the Furnace Room, Passing by the “Undressing Room”

Pressac supplies a long explanation in this regard (ibid., p. 464), which I shall now summarize. During late 1942 and early 1943, Wetzler and Vrba – or their sources – saw rails connecting Leichenkeller Morgue #2 to the furnace room and “imagined” that they were a permanent installation. Because at that time it was not known what the function of the two Leichenkeller morgues would be, they imagined moreover that Leichenkeller Morgue #2 was the “gas chamber,” and that later on this premise was still connected to the furnace room by means of the rails. In support of this interpretation, he adduces two photographs. The first shows the construction pit for Leichenkeller Morgue #2 traversed by a set of rails (ibid., Doc. 11, p. 466). The second depicts the interior of the furnace room of Crematorium II, upon the rough floor of which two pairs of tracks appear (ibid., Doc. 12). However, nothing shows that any tracks went up from Leichenkeller Morgue 2 into the furnace room or vice versa.

Pressac claims that the tracks visible in the second photograph descends “on a shallow slope towards Leichenkeller 2” (ibid., p. 466), as appears in his drawing reproduced in Document 10 (ibid., p. 465). However, the height difference between the floor of the furnace room and that of Leichenkeller Morgue #2 was 2.60 meters. Even if we assume that the inclined plane with tracks on it penetrated into Leichenkeller Morgue #2 for approximately 15 meters (following Pressac’s drawing), the slope would have been 17%. No locomotive could climb such a steep slope, and pushing carts up such a steep slope manually would have been physically impossible as well.

Pressac moreover commits the error of assuming that the photos he shows were taken roughly at the same time, when in fact they were taken at distinctly different times: he attributes the first photograph to October-November 1942, but this photograph is actually older by several months, since the Central Construction Office’s construction report of September 1942 already mentions the beginning of insulation works on the Leichenkeller morgues,758 meaning that their walls had been finished, while this photo shows only a crude excavation. By contrast, the second photograph dates to December 1942 or January 1943, after the furnaces had been installed. The tracks inside the excavation pit of Leichenkeller Morgue #2 and those inside the furnace room were not concomitant, but successive: they exited these rooms from the south side and were probably linked to the rail line which appears in the “train photograph” (ibid., p. 340), in which we see a small locomotive pulling carts full of construction materials.

Pressac’s explanation is moreover categorically refuted by two fundamental elements. The first is that Vrba testified under oath that he saw a gassing in Leichenkeller Morgue #1 of Crematorium II, by means of which he knew perfectly well which of the two Leichenkeller morgues was the presumed gas chamber. The confusion between Leichenkeller Morgues #2 and #1 advocated by Pressac is therefore impossible. The second element is that Vrba declared, always under oath, that he had drawn the plan of Crematorium II/III based on information derived from the inmates of the “Sonderkommando” who worked there in 1944, who could not be unaware of the arrangement and equipment of their rooms.

The fact of this contradiction is therefore fully confirmed.


	5.3. Van Pelt and the Wetzler-Vrba Report

Robert Jan van Pelt, like his colleagues, asserts that the report in question “was the first substantial report on the use of Auschwitz as a factory of death,” and then attempts to justify the obvious absurdities it contains in some way (van Pelt 2002, pp. 147, 149):

“The first mention of gassing in the Wetzler-Vrba report concerns the killing of prisoners in the summer of 1942. At this time Vrba had been the administrator of the sick barrack, hence he knew of the selections. ‘Twice weekly, Mondays and Thursdays, the camp doctor indicated the number of prisoners who were to be gassed and then burned. These ‘selectees’ were loaded into trucks and brought to the Birch Forest. Those still alive upon arrival were gassed in a big barrack erected near a trench used for burning the bodies.’ This description of the killing in Bunker 2 was to be largely confirmed after the war both by Sonderkommando Shlomo Dragon, who worked at that site, and by archeological remains. The only mistake was that the ‘big barrack’ served as an undressing barrack, and from there the victims were led to the adjacent gas chamber, located near the cremation trench.”

This comment is clearly fallacious. First of all, van Pelt confuses Wetzler with Vrba, to whom he attributes the work of the other. The bi-weekly “selections” in “Block 7” are a fable even according to the Auschwitz Kalendarium Chronicle, as van Pelt must have known, because from May 4 to September 30, 1942 only four “selections” are noted by Czech, only the first of which (May 4) in “Block 7” (Czech 1989, S. 206, 224f., 265, 311/1990, pp. 162, 177f., 210, 247). These “selections,” like all the others of this type recorded by Danuta Czech, are mere conjecture (Mattogno 2016a, Chapter 5, pp. 87-144).

Van Pelt then arbitrarily asserts that the description in the report refers to “Bunker 2,” but as I have noted earlier, Wetzler and Vrba did not even know that there should have been two “bunkers,” and that they should have been referred to in the plural. That then the “description of the killing in Bunker 2 was to be largely confirmed” by Szlama Dragon is a patently false assertion.

During his first interrogation on February 26, 1945 by Soviet military investigator Levin, Dragon, who at that point was not even aware of the term “bunker,” asserted the existence of two “gas chambers” (газокамеры, gazokamery), known as No. 1 and No. 2, which are said to have been converted from two houses. “Gas Chamber No. 1” had two standard wooden barracks about 500 meters away, and four cremation pits 30-35 meters long, 7-8 meters wide and 2 meters deep, also 500 meters away. The capacity of this gas chamber was 1,500-1,700 people. “Gas Chamber No. 2” had two similar barracks 150 meters away, and, at the same distance, six cremation pits of the same dimensions as those near Chamber No. 1. Its capacity was 2,000 people.759 To sum up, according to the witness, there were two houses/gas chambers, four barracks/undressing rooms, and ten ditches 30-35 meters long, 7-8 meters wide and 2 meters deep.

When Dragon was interrogated by Jan Sehn on May 10 and 11, 1945, he had in the meantime become aware of the term “bunker,” and used it readily: “Near Bunker 1 there was a small barn and two barracks” (W publiżu bunkra 1 stała stodόłka i 2 baraki); the cremation pits, now indeterminate in number, were located “very far away” (bardzo daleko). “Bunker 2” still had two barracks/undressing rooms, no longer 150 meters away but at a more-reasonable distance of 30-40 meters, plus four cremation pits measuring 30 m × 7 m × 3 m deep.760

For Wetzler/Vrba, there was no cottage/gas chamber, no barracks/undresssing room, and there was only one single “einige Meter tiefe und etwa 15 m lange Grube” “pit several meters deep and about 15 meters long.”

We now need to consider that Wetzler and Vrba claimed to have been in direct contact with the “Sonderkommando” of the presumed “Bunkers” 1 and 2 at Birkenau since mid-April until mid-December 1942, who should have supplied them with a description similar to Dragon’s (had Dragon’s description been true). It might be objected that Dragon claims to have arrived at Auschwitz only on December 7, 1942 and was assigned to the new “Sonderkommando” on December 11, but he declared that he had worked approximately two months at “Gas Chamber No. 2,” and a couple of days at “gas chamber no. 1.” This means that he “described” the same situation that existed when Wetzler and Vrba were presumably in contact with the last “Sonderkommando,” as indisputably shown by the fact that, according to orthodox Holocaust historiography, the two “bunkers” ceased their activity only in the spring of 1943 (Piper 1994, p. 164).

In this context, how can it be seriously claimed that “the only mistake” in the description contained in the Wetzler-Vrba Report is the gassing barracks? This is a truly pathetic exercise in damage control, which also eliminates the contradiction between Wetzler’s sole burning pit and Dragon’s multiple pits.

Van Pelt’s claim that Wetzler’s story has been confirmed “by archeological remains” – consisting of the foundation walls of a building claimed to have been “Bunker 2” – is truly incredible, both because the foundation walls are those of a house built of stone, which could not confirm the existence of a wooden gassing barracks as claimed by Wetzler, and because there is no documentary evidence that the house to which these foundations belonged was ever transformed into a gassing installation. In fact, the pattern of the foundation walls refutes such claims.

This intellectual dishonesty is the inevitable consequence of the orthodox axiom that all witnesses tell the truth, so that one must resort to trickery in order to reconcile their contradictions, or put a different way, if what the witnesses say does not correspond to reality, so much the worse for reality.

In the specific case, seen from an orthodox point of view, either Wetzler is a liar or Dragon is.

Naturally, van Pelt does not even consider the eventuality, which is much more probable, that both descriptions are false, and that Dragon’s is a literary development of Wetzler’s draft version, meaning that both are liars.

Van Pelt then reproduces the drawing of Crematorium II/III annexed to the Wetzler-Vrba Report and the related description, and comments (van Pelt 2002, p. 149):

“It is clear that the account of the layout of the interior is based on second-hand information, derived from members of the Sonderkommando.”

He adds that Vrba asserted in 1961, and repeated in 1963, that he and Wetzler “received all the specific information on the crematoria from Sonderkommando Filip Müller and his colleagues” and stresses that Müller confirmed this fact, citing a passage from Müller’s book Eyewitness Auschwitz (a 1999 reprint of the 1979 English translation Auschwitz Inferno; ibid.). At the First Zündel Trial in 1985, continues van Pelt, defense attorney Douglas Christie, referring to the drawing of Crematorium II/III, asked Vrba:

“Q.: ‘Sure. I now produce and show to you a diagram which came from, I suggest, your War Refugee Report of 1944 in which you depicted a crematorium. Correct?’

A.: ‘That’s right.’

Q.: ‘Is it accurate?’

A.: ‘This I cannot say. It was said that as we were not in the large crematoria, we reconstructed it from messages which we got from members of the Sonderkommando working in the crematorium, and therefore, that approximately how it transpired in our mind, and in our ability to depict what we have heard.’” (p. 1479/p. 259)

Van Pelt then attempts to “reconstruct the genealogy of his [Vrba’s] ‘errors’” along the lines of Pressac’s fallacious conjectures (van Pelt 2002, p. 150). Crematoria II and III were visible from the outside from a certain distance, and one could distinguish the chimney which arose “from a projecting wing” of the structure. Not knowing that the cremation furnaces were located in the cremation room, “Vrba must have logically assumed that the projecting wing was the furnace room with the ovens placed around the central chimney” (ibid.). He then explained this “genealogy” in the following terms (van Pelt 2002, pp. 150f.):

“As Vrba had been told that there was a large undressing room and an underground gas chamber, it was logical for him to assume that the undressing room would occupy the main body of the crematorium. Thus he had come to two adjacent rooms, one large aboveground ‘reception room’ and an incineration room—an arrangement similar to that of Crematoria 4 and 5. But if the latter buildings had three small aboveground gas chambers at the other end, then Crematoria 2 and 3 had one large underground gas chamber, which Vrba depicted in roughly the right position. Its description is quite precise, except that it was equipped with four instead of three traps.

The description of the crematoria in the War Refugee Board report contains errors, but given the conditions under which information was obtained, the lack of architectural training of Vrba and Wetzlar [sic], and the situation in which the report was compiled, one would become suspicious if it did not contain errors.”

Thus, the fact that the description is completely erroneous becomes further proof of its truthfulness! This “reconstruction” is a true and proper model of speciousness and fallacies, leading to conclusions exactly contrary to those hoped for by van Pelt.

To start with, he assumes that Vrba had deduced his description of Crematorium II/III as any other observer would have done, merely seeing the building from the outside. Van Pelt conveniently forgets that Vrba’s (or rather Wetzler’s) information (allegedly) originated from the “Sonderkommando.” This essential point will be examined in greater detail below. Still, as I have explained earlier, from the outside it may perhaps have been possible to imagine that the crematorium’s chimney wing contained the furnaces, but this certainly could not permit him to deduce their number or arrangement either. It is worthwhile stressing that Vrba’s vantage point (as I shall show below) was Block 27, which was used as a “Leichenkeller” morgue (p. 1321/p. 231), at a distance of “fifty, sixty yards” south-west from Crematorium II (p. 1322/p. 231), and in this regard he declared that he could observe it “from January 1943 until April 7, 1944” (p. 1329/p. 232).

From that position (see Documents 12a and 25) he could see – from a distance of approximately 150 rather than 50 meters – Leichenkeller Morgue #1 of Crematorium II, which was half-underground and protruded perpendicularly to the crematorium in the opposite direction of the chimney wing, which was invisible from this vantage point (from there, only Crematorium III’s chimney wing was visible). Ignoring Leichenkeller Morgue #2, which was also not visible from that position, the description and drawing from the Wetzler-Vrba Report are impossible: Leichenkeller Morgue #1 could not have been linked to the chimney wing by rails, because this morgue was half-underground, and the “Large Hall” could not be as wide as this chimney wing; this wing measured 12 meters on its longest side, exactly like the east side (the width) of the crematorium’s main part, but from Block 27 one could see that the building was very much longer than wide (55.50 meters along the south side) and that was particularly obvious when observing the south side of Crematorium III. What is more, given the small size of the chimney wing, it should have been difficult to imagine that it might contain four four-muffle furnacess (that is, 16 muffles) on its longest side (12 meters), which would have required a much-larger space (the furnace room was 30 meters long and contained 15 muffles). Anyway, how could anyone deduce the number and arrangement of the furnaces and muffles, and above all, the duration of cremations, from the outside?

The absurdity of van Pelt’s claim is made visibly obvious by Document 26, where I have placed the drawing from Wetzler-Vrba’s report side-by-side for comparison with the presumably corresponding part of the actual blueprint: only a mad man could have deduced the first from the view of the Crematorium II from Block 27, from where one could clearly see that the main part of the crematorium building and Leichenkeller Morgue #1 formed a 90° degree angle.

Van Pelt knew Vrba’s deposition from the First Zündel Trial in 1985, but hushed up the shameless lies proffered under oath by the witness. In the specific case, as noted earlier, Vrba declared that Leichenkeller Morgue #1 protruded above ground “above a head of the human being,” so much so that the SS man assigned to the gassing “climbed on the bunker” (p. 1328/p. 232) and, having finished his work, “climbed down from the bunker” (p. 1329/p. 232), while it actually required only a few steps to walk onto the roof. On the other hand, since this roof was perfectly visible from Block 27 along its entire length, why did Vrba “see” only three of the four canonical apertures (introduction shafts)?

I showed earlier that Wetzler’s description is completely false on all essential points. Yet still, van Pelt has the effrontery to write that it “is quite precise, except that it was equipped with four instead of three traps”! (van Pelt 2002, p. 151) But even the term used in the report and adopted by van Pelt – traps – is inaccurate.

Citing Filip Müller’s book, van Pelt also hushes up the fact that this witness, as noted earlier (Chapter 2.4.), wrote that, in 1944, he had provided Wetzler “einen Plan der Krematorien mit den Gaskammern” “a plan of the crematoria and gas chambers,” and Vrba confirmed that Müller became one of his “most precious sources of information.” The most incredible thing is that van Pelt, apart from the omission mentioned above, candidly admits that the two escapees “received all the specific information on the crematoria from Sonderkommando Filip Müller and his colleagues.” If that is true, it follows that they supplied Wetzler and Vrba with a plan and a description of Crematorium II/III which were either intentionally false, or that the two intentionally falsified the real plan and description which they had received. Both options are evidently absurd. Therefore, the conclusion can only be the one suggested earlier, that is, that the report written by Wetzler and Vrba, who were supposed to reveal Auschwitz’s “terrible secret” to the world, was invented as black propaganda by the resistance centers of Auschwitz without the involvement of any “Sonderkommando” and without their knowledge.


	5.4. Van Pelt and the Testimony of Ada Bimko

With reference to this witness, van Pelt writes as follows (2002, pp. 233f.):

“Dr. Bimko testified that she had seen one of the gas chambers. While she did not identify which crematorium she visited, it seems that she visited crematorium 5. In her original deposition, she discussed the circumstances that made the visit possible. The women who had been waiting in Block 25, the holding pen in the women’s camp for those selected for the gas chambers, would be ordered to undress and leave their clothes behind there. Occasionally they were allowed to cover their bodies with hospital blankets. Attached to the hospital in the women’s camp, Dr. Bimko was responsible for recovering the blankets which the naked prisoners used after having undressed in Block 25. ‘I took the opportunity, as I always wanted to see with my own eyes this ill-famed gas chamber, and I went in.’ One day, she arranged with an SS-Unterscharführer who belonged to the medical staff to see the crematorium. He gave her a little tour. The gas chamber was square and resembled a shower-bath: ‘There were many sprays all over the ceiling on rows which were parallel. All these people who went into this room were issued with a towel and a cake of soap so that they should have the impression that they were going to have a bath, but for anybody who looked at the floor it was quite clear that it was not so, because there were no drains.’ She never saw the incineration room. ‘I believe the crematorium was the same building,’ she stated, ‘but I myself did not see the stove.’ But she did see something few others would ever see: the ductwork of the ventilation system installed above the gas chambers. Her SS guide told her, erroneously, that the ducts which extracted the poison from the gas chambers served the opposite purpose, namely to force the hydrogen cyanide into the gas chambers, and he wrongly identified the cylindrical drums that contained the ventilators as gas cylinders. Not in a position to challenge his explanation, Bimko accepted it for what it was.”

It should immediately be noted that van Pelt derives Ada Bimko’s statements from an official report on the Belsen Trial, which reproduces a summary of the testimony, but even that which is summarized therein is more than sufficient to evaluate the reliability of the witness (R. Phillips, pp. 67f.):

“In the first room I met a man who came from the same town as I do. There was also an S.S. man with a rank of Unterscharführer, and he belonged to the Red Cross. I was told that in this first big room the people left their clothes, and from this room were led into a second, and I gained the impression that hundreds and hundreds might go into this room, it was so large. It resembled the shower-baths or ablution rooms we had in the camp. There were many sprays all over the ceiling in rows which were parallel. All these people who went into this room were issued with a towel and a cake of soap, so that they should have the impression that they were going to have a bath, but for anybody who looked at the floor it was quite clear that it was not so, because there were no drains. In this room there was a small door which opened to a room which was pitch dark and looked like a corridor. I saw a few lines of rails with a small wagon which they called a lorry, and I was told that prisoners who were already gassed were put on these wagons and sent directly to the crematorium. I believe the crematorium was in the same building, but I myself did not see the stove. There was yet another room a few steps higher than the previous one with a very low ceiling, and I noticed two pipes which I was told contained the gas. There were also two huge metal containers containing gas.”

The phrases underlined are those cited by van Pelt. He has therefore omitted everything that would permit the reader to qualify the testimony as false and absurd, specifically, the room “like a corridor” containing “a few lines of rails with a small wagon” leading to the furnace room. Van Pelt was so well familiar with the interior structure of Crematorium IV (which was mirror-symmetrical to Crematoium V) that he reproduced it in six drawings (van Pelt 2002, pp. 200f., 203). He was therefore perfectly well aware that there was no such room equipped with such gadgets, as he knew that, according to the orthodox narrative, there was no room in Crematorium V at all with “many sprays all over the ceiling in rows which were parallel.”

Regarding the “two pipes” and the “two huge metal containers,” van Pelt’s explanation is even more deceptive: he claims in fact that these were ventilation ducts and ventilator housings. This absurd hypothesis is refuted by two indisputable facts:

1. The “Entlüftungsanlagen für die Krematorien IV und V” “Air-extraction systems for Crematoria IV and V” were never installed. This is confirmed by the witness Henryk Tauber in his statement of February 27-28, 1945:761

“Furthermore, in the gas chambers of Crematoria 4 and 5 there was no ventilation [system], so the chambers were ventilated by opening the doors and little windows.”

A similar statement is also found in the “Notizen” dated November 26, 1944 and examined earlier (Subchapter 2.5.4.): “as there were no mechanical appliances of that kind at all in Crematoria IV and V” (Bezwińska/Czech 1992, p. 122). Consequently, in Crematorium V, allegedly visited by Ada Bimko, there were no “cylindrical drums that contained the ventilators” which could erroneously be misinterpreted “as gas cylinders.”

2. Topf’s Invoice No. 132 of December 23, 1943 relating to “Entlüftungsanlagen für die Krematorien IV und V” “Air-extraction systems for Crematoria IV and V” mentions only one ventilator:762

“Gebläse Nr. 450 zur Förderung von stündlich etwa 8000 cbm Abluft gegen 40 mm W.S. Gesamtpressung, Drehstrommotor für 380 Volt, 50 Per. mit Doppelnutanker, Spreitzwassergeschützt [sic], N = ca. 3,5 PS. n = 925 Upm.”

“Blower No. 450 for extracting approximately 8,000 cbm of used air per hour against a total pressure of 40 mm of water column, three-phase a.c. motor for 380 volts, 50 Hz. with double-groove anchor, splash proof, N = ca. 3.5 HP. n = 925 rpm.”

Even the “Kostenanschlag über Entlüftungs-Anlage” “cost estimate for air-extraction system” for Crematoria IV and V dated June 9, 1943 mentions only one single “Gebläse Nr. 450” “Blower No. 450” for each crematorium.763 Therefore, in no case could Ada Bimko have seen two air-extraction ducts and two ventilator housings in this crematorium.

3. Van Pelt would have us believe that “an SS Unterscharführer who belonged to the medical staff” – who could only have been an SS Sanitätsdienstgrad medical orderly, such as SS Oberscharführer Josef Klehr, allegedly in charge of pouring the Zyklon B into the gas chambers – did not know that the gassings were being carried out precisely by pouring cans of Zyklon B into certain openings, and was crazy enough to confuse ventilation ducts and ventilator housings with gas pipes and gas containers, although he knew that this “gas” was delivered as a liquid soaked on gypsum pellets filled in cans!

In order to save Bimko’s credibility at all costs, van Pelt was prepared to believe – or to pretend to believe – in this absurdity, thus shifting the blame for this witness’s shameless lying to the SS Unterscharführer!

This is more than enough to show van Pelt’s bad faith, but the complete statements of Ada Bimko make his explanation even more senseless.

She in fact explicitly declared in her deposition of May 28, 1945 that the room containing the “two pipes” and the “two large cylinders” were located in a separate room “above the gas chamber,” and that these “two pipes” were located “on the floor” of the room and “were connected to the spray fittings in the gas chamber below,” on the ceiling of which the “five or six rows of spray fittings” were installed, so that, in practice, they would have been connected to the showers (see Subchapter 3.5.1.). But, as I have noted, in Crematoria IV and V above the presumed gas chambers there was a truss that supported the roof, which has been well depicted by van Pelt in his Drawings 1, 2 and 3. The presumed gas chambers, being on the original plans (No. 2036 and No. 1361, dated October 14, 1942; Pressac 1989, p. 397), could at best only have a light-weight false ceiling fixed to the roof beams which could not be walked on.

Van Pelt also attempts to pass off as truthful other blatantly mendacious testimonies. On two pages, he reproduces a long excerpt from Bendel’s cross-examination during the Belsen Trial on October 1, 1945 (van Pelt 2002, pp. 234-236), leading the reader to believe that the information is so obviously truthful as to require no comment, but omits any reference to the witness’s other nonsensical statements which I have examined earlier (Subchapter 3.2.4.). Regarding Marie-Claude Vaillant-Couturier, he dares to write that she “provided a long, precise and important testimony on the situation in Auschwitz”! (Ibid., p. 246; see Subchapter 3.6.2.)

In a polemic against the late German revisionist Wilhelm Stäglich, van Pelt moreover quotes an excerpt from the declaration by Janda Weiss, who, as van Pelt reports, had arrived in Auschwitz from Theresienstadt on May 20, 1944.764 Weiss reported that the transports each had 2,000 deportees. Upon arrival at Auschwitz, they were divided into two groups, one of them containing the men, the other the women. Mengele then selected the most-robust, which were “around thirty out of 2,000,” that is 1.5%! The rest were taken over by Moll (van Pelt 2002, pp. 167f.):

“The remainder were led away by SS Technical Sergeant Moll, the officer of the crematorium. The elderly were loaded onto dump trucks and then dumped into burning trenches while still alive. The remainder were led into the gas chambers. Meanwhile new transports were arriving. […]

There were three columns for the ventilators, through which the gas poured in. […] When the room was full, small children were thrown in through a window. Moll grabbed infants by their little legs and smashed their skulls against the wall. Then the gas was let into the chamber.”

Van Pelt comments that,

“following Stäglich’s hermeneutical rules, we must conclude that it [Weiss’s testimony] must be taken seriously. He [Weiss] made specific allegations and he provided specific details, such as the name of the man in charge of the crematoria (Moll) and details of the undressing room and the gassing apparatus. Weiss’s testimony did not contain contradictions, nor did it contain improbable allegations.” (ibid., p. 168)

Such effrontery is truly unprecedented, because the testimony in question contains statements that contradict the current orthodox narrative; they are false and extremely unlikely, not to say outright ridiculous.

To begin with, there is the negligible percentage (1.5%!) of deportees allegedly admitted to the camp, while the “official” number, sanctioned by Höss, is 25-30% (Mattogno 2020, pp. 110, 117f., 143, 173). The older deportees were allegedly dumped directly into the cremation pits simply by tipping the load bed of the transportation truck over their edge, which would have caused the truck’s gas tank to explode due to the heat radiated from the burning pit. As van Pelt was well aware, none of the crematoria had “three columns for the ventilators, through which the gas” could have “poured in” (the witness never specified which building he refers to), and none of the alleged gas chambers had “a window” through which children could have been thrown inside. The story of Moll smashing the heads of small children against the wall is not in fact “unlikely,” it is simply preposterous.

But this testimony contains other nonsense that van Pelt simply ignored (Hackett, pp. 349f., Appendix 159). Upon his arrival, Weiss recounts, “the crematorium greeted us with its horrible tongues of flame coming out of its smokestacks,” which was nonsense. Van Pelt himself, at the end of his book, argues against an earlier assertion by Germar Rudolf that the chimneys of the crematories only smoked during the lighting of the furnaces, but not during normal operation. Van Pelt implicitly states that these chimneys always smoked (van Pelt 2002, p. 504) – indeed, they did smoke, but they did not shoot out flames.

Weiss furthermore stated:

“I visited the barracks of the Jewish work detail, which worked in the crematorium. These comrades told me about the horrors of the crematorium, where I would later work.”

Despite this, he mentions “the crematorium” several times, never indicating which one, and when he uses the term in the plural, he never says that there were four crematoria. He knew absolutely nothing about the crematoria.

Among the anecdotes told by the witness, there is this one:

“On another occasion he [Moll] arranged twelve women who were lined up behind each other in a row, so that their heads were at the same height. Then he mercilessly shot through them all with a single bullet.”

Evidently van Pelt found nothing “improbable” in this idiotic story!

 


Conclusions

The history of the gas chambers was born from the distortion of the hygienic-sanitary installations of the Aufnahmegebäude reception building, which included under one roof the planned presence of 19 Begasungskammern fumigation chambers and a shower bath for the inmates, plus two mirror-symmetrical disinfestation facilities called Bauwerke Buildings 5a and 5b, which consisted of a hydrogen-cyanide fumigation chamber labeled Gaskammer “gas chamber” on the blueprints, Wasch- und Brauseraum a washroom and shower bath.

This distortion had a purpose and a cause. The purpose, purely propagandistic in nature, was initially linked to Polish chauvinism, and only gradually did the Poles decide to link their destiny indissolubly to that of the Jews, who served as a worldwide amplifier for their own sufferings. The cause – or the immediate impulse – should no doubt be sought in the disconcertment and fear which the disinfestation procedures inspired in members of the Eastern Jewish religious communities, for whom they represented a disquieting novelty, as Samuel Crowell has suggested. From the very outset and not by accident, the most commonly recurring fantasies were those about the “Degasungskammern” relating to the showers, from which gas exited instead of water.

The general background was the mass use of asphyxiating gases and aggressive chemicals by all belligerents during the First World War. Over 250,000 tons of these substances were manufactured between 1914 and 1918. Approximately 1,000,000 soldiers were affected, 78,000 of whom died (Izzo, p. 7). In the summer of 1917, between Neuilly and the left bank of the Meuse, over a front only 10 kilometers long, over 400,000 gas projectiles were fired, and thousands more in August and October at Verdun, and in December along the Russian front (ibid., p. 31). In 1918, German artillery arsenals contained 50% gas projectiles. In the first great offensive of 1918, the Germans fired 200,000 mustard-gas shells on a single day (ibid., p. 32).

After the end of the war, these aggressive chemicals – particularly from the tactical point of view – continued to be studied in all the countries which had been involved in World War One, giving rise to governmental instruction manuals and a rich technical literature (ibid., pp. 445-448). From the scientific point of view, the fundamental work in Germany was no doubt the text by Ferdinand Flury and Franz Zernik whose title translates to Toxic Gases, Vapours, Fogs, Smokes and Powders.

Although the use of aggressive chemicals was prohibited by the gas protocol of Geneva of 1925, their potential use was anticipated by all former belligerents in case of a future war.

British black propaganda also exploited this theme notoriously. In 1916, The Daily Telegraph published an article, presumably transmitted by its Rome correspondent, which reported that two Italian prisoners of war had fled from Austria through Serbia and had taken refuge in Romania. They claimed that the Austrians and Bulgarians had killed 700,000 persons: women, children, and the elderly had been locked into churches and were either killed by bayonets or “suffocated by means of asphyxiating gas,” and in this manner, 3,000 people had been killed in a church in Belgrade. “Serbian refugees,” the article continued, “not on oath, have stated that they were present at a distribution of bombs and machines for producing asphyxiating gas to the Bulgarians by the Germans and Austrians, who instructed the former how to utilise these instruments to exterminate the Serbian population. The Bulgarians used this method at Nish, Pirot, Prizrend, and Negotin, the inhabitants of which places died of suffocation. Similar means were employed by the Austrians in several parts of Montenegro” (“Atrocities…”).

In this context, the first information was introduced on a homicidal gassing at Auschwitz, dating back to October 24, 1941: the victims had been killed, not in the context of a plan of extermination, but with a gas in order “to experiment with a new type of war gas to be employed on the eastern front”; this moreover explains why Zyklon B was so late to enter the accounts on the gassings.

The trauma of being separated from their families (the “selection”) and the subsequent disappearance of inmates unfit for labor from the camp, who were partly transferred to the Ukraine and Transnistria (see Part 1 of this study), were interpreted by the resistance movements as killings, which supplied additional impetus to the history of the gas chambers.

The extermination procedure is a simple parody of reality: the lethal showerheads exuding gas instead of water (with the subsequent evolution of the alleged “gas chambers” into rooms disguised as “shower baths”), and the hair cut off the gassing victims are a misrepresentation of the real showers registered inmates had to take regularly, whose hair had been cut previously for hygienic reasons. On August 8, 1942, the head of WVHA Amtsgruppe Office Group D, SS Brigadeführer Richard Glücks, issued an order to collect the hair of the detainees and send it to companies specialized in processing hair for industrial purposes. In the Auschwitz and Lublin areas, these were the companies Paul Reimann and Held, both based in Friedland (now Mieroszów), in the Breslau District. And it is no coincidence that the story of corpses having their hair cut off appeared a long time after that and in a rather silly version: that relating to the camps of “Operation Reinhardt,” which at least has the merit of being somewhat reasonable: the deportees had their hair cut while still alive, hence before the alleged killings.

The extraction of any precious-metal fillings or teeth from the corpses of deceased registered inmates before their cremation, on the other hand, was standard procedure at least since 1942. This may have been inspired by the inaugural dissertation presented to the University of Breslau in 1940 by Wiktor Scholz titled On the possibility of recycling gold in the mouth of the dead (Über die Möglichkeit der Wiederverwendung des Goldes im Munde der Toten; Kłodziński 1964, p. 91).

According to Investigating Judge Jan Sehn, 16,325 teeth made of gold or other precious-metal alloys were removed from 2,904 corpses within just 200 days in 1942. He extracted this data from a series of pre-printed forms bearing the heading “Inmate Dental Station of CC Auschwitz” (“Häftlingszahnstation des K.L. Auschwitz”) that were addressed “To the Political Department of CC Auschwitz (“An die Politische Abteilung des K.L. Auschwitz”). The form stated that “In the corpse released for cremation” “Bei der zur Einäscherung freigegebenen Leiche” – followed by the inmate’s name and registration number “Häftl. No.” handwritten in pen – teeth had been extracted, giving the type of metal and the tooth’s or teeth’s position(s) in the mouth.765 The date line (“Auschwitz, am … 194…”), which had to be completed manually, was printed next to the heading. Jan Sehn published one of these forms in the summary of his investigation on Auschwitz: it concerns Dąbrowski Johann, inmate no. 18306, and is dated July 8, 1942 (Sehn 1946b, photo between pp. 128 & 129).

No such forms exist for deportees who were allegedly gassed. From the orthodox perspective, it is not clear at all why this hyperbureaucracy was necessary for the teeth extracted from registered prisoners, while the Political Department was not informed in a similar fashion about teeth presumably extracted from those allegedly murdered on arrival without registration.

Zyklon B was in common use in Auschwitz since at least July 1940 (see Mattogno 2015, p. 67). The fact that it does not appear as a “weapon of crime” in the reports of the resistance activists before the end of May 1944 (which is inevitable, since it cannot flow instead of water from showers!) is another clear sign that they simply invented and spread mere fantasies and myths.

Completely without any sense of proportion and even of the ridiculous, the resistance propagated victim totals which were disproportionate and absurd, and which had an inevitable repercussion on their vision of the crematoria of Birkenau, which in their propaganda became the infernal machines for carrying out enormous massacres.

That their fantasies were founded on nothing is clearly shown by the fact that the first correct factual claim about Crematoria II and III – that they each had five triple-muffle furnaces (they never knew anything exact about Crematoria IV and V) – appeared only in a report from August 1944, but with an insane comment: three to four bodies were inserted into each muffle at once, and they were reduced to ashes within 5-10 minutes or even less!

The story of the pyres or cremation pits was also a distortion of real events: that is, the open-air cremation of registered inmates – mostly victims of a raging typhus epidemic – whose bodies could not be cremated in the little crematorium at the Main Camp either because of its low cremation capacity, or due to the numerous interruptions caused by the need for repairs. During the second half of 1942, these surplus corpses were temporarily buried in four long mass graves outside the Birkenau Camp north of the future Crematorium V, but they had to be exhumed and cremated later, as they threatened to poison the area’s fresh-water supply. Furthermore, there existed two small burning pits in the area north of Crematorium V in the spring-summer of 1944 (though not concurrently), although it is unknown what was burned there.

These distortions were elaborated in multifarious versions by the various resistance groups at Auschwitz, who in this way invented fantastic stories without ever asking the “Sonderkommando” members for any input. These stories were disseminated inside and outside the camp, and every witness embroidered and enriched them, adding additional fantasies. This explains the simultaneous presence of multiple contradictory versions, the discriminating factor being the transfer of the witness from Auschwitz before the arrival of the Soviets or their presence at the camp in January 1945 and the following months; or alternatively, the ethnic group to which they belonged, as each group with their reciprocal contacts tended to harmonize a version in a certain manner.

The Soviet-Polish narrative became established as the official “truth,” not because it was any more true than the others, but merely because the Soviet and Polish investigators and the witnesses under their influence were able to “calibrate” their narrative based on material evidence and documents, pruning it of the most-absurd fairy tales along the way; in other words, since the “setting” of this narrative (in a cinematographic sense) was real, the narrative itself was considered true.

However, there was never any “terrible truth” at Auschwitz.
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Document 1: Funkspruch Radio message no. 14 received by SS-Standort-Funkstelle at Auschwitz on June 4, 1942. RGVA, 502-1-312, p. 55. Typical presentation of the German messages intercepted and deciphered by the British.
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Document 1a: Version of Document 1 as intercepted and deciphered by the British. TNA, HW 16-19. German Police Decodes Nr 3 Traffic: 4.6.42. ZIP/GPDD  109/11.6.42, n. 9/10.
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Document 2: Krankenblatt Medical chart of confinement to Kattowitz reserve military hospital of SS Rottenführer Michael Franzen, admitted on July 22 and discharged on August 11, 1942. GARF, 7021-108-54, pp. 155-155a.
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Document 2, continued
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Document 2a: Medical chart of confinement to Kattowitz reserve military hospital of SS-Schütze Franz Sienschkowski, admitted on November 13. and discharged on December 18, 1942. GARF, 7021-108-54, pp. 192-192a.
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Document 2a, continued
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Document 3: “Overview of all structures ordered by the SS Economic and Administrative Main Office Berlin to be built in the area of Auschwitz CC, or in the service area of the Central Construction Office of the Waffen SS and Police Auschwitz, respectively, during the third financial year of the war.” July 30, 1942. RGVA 502-1-275, pp. 34f.
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Document 3, continued
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Dokument 4: Travel permit for a business trip from Auschwitz to Litzmannstadt for the purpose of “inspecting the test station for field incinerators Aktion Reinhard”, September 15, 1942. AGK, NTN, 94, p. 170.
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Dokument 4a: Version of Document 4 as intercepted and deciphered by the British. TNA, HW 16-21. German Police Decodes Nr 3 Traffic: 15.9.42. ZIP/GPDD 237b/28.2.43, n.42/43.
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Dokument 5: Travel permit for a business trip from Auschwitz to Friedland for the purpose of “visiting the hair recycling plant of the HELD company”. AGK, NTN, 94, p. 171.
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Dokument 5a: Version of Document 5 as intercepted and deciphered by the British. TNA, HW 16-21. German Police Decodes Nr 3 Traffic: 30.9.42. ZIP/GPDD 239b/3.12.42, n.10/11.
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Document 6: Clandestine drawing of Crematorium II by Vera Foltynova. APMO, microfilm no. 6220.


		

	

 



		
				
[image: Image]


		

		
				
Document 7: Drawing of two gas chambers at Birkenau by unknown author (December 1942 or January 1943). AGK, NTN, 155, p. 299.
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Document 8: “Topographical Sketch of the Concentration Camp Oświęcim /Auschwitz/ /Drawn according to the description of a former prisoner of the camp/”; undated (but drawn in the spring of 1943) by an unknown inmate; FDRL, WRB, Box no. 61, Report 3.
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Document 8a: FDRL, WRB, Box no. 61, Report 3
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Document 8b: TNA, FO 371-42806.
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Document 9: “Rough Ground PLAN OF CREMATORIA: TYPES I & II IN BIRKENAU.” From: The Extermination Camps of Auschwitz (Oswiecim) and Birkenau in Upper Silesia. Franklin Delano Roosevelt Library, New York, WRB, Box no. 61, p. 12.
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Document 9a: “Plan of the BIRKENAU CREMATORIA, Models I und II.” From: RG 226, OSS #XL 8883.
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Document 10a: “Ungefähr Grundriss der Krematorien I. und II. in Birkenau.” “Rough floor plan of Crematoria I and II in Birkenau.” From: APMO, RO, Vol. XXa, p. 25 (p. 19 of report by A. Wetzler and R. Vrba).
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Document 10b: as before; from: YVA, M.20-153.
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Document 10c: “The approximate floor plan of I. and II. Crematorium of Birkenau”; from: YVA, P.54/6.
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Document 10d: as before; from: RA, HP 1095, p. 167.
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Document 11: “Entwurf für das Krematorium.” “Draft of the crematorium.” Plan no. 932 dated January 23, 1942 for future Crematorium II. APMO, negative no. 17079.
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Document 12: Canadian aerial photograph of Birkenau dated September 13, 1944, detail showing the four crematoria. National Archives, Washington D.C., Record Group no. 373, Mission 464 BG:4M97. Can B 8413. Exposure 6 VZ.
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Document 12a: Section enlargement of Document 12 showing the location of Crematoria II and III compared to Block 27 of Sector BIb. (LK 1: Morgue #1 of Crematorium II, here surrounded by a black box.)
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Document 13: List of presumed gassings at Birkenau in October 1944 by unknown author. APMO, Wspomnienia, Vol. 38a, p. 1
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Document 14: Page 1 of manuscript by Marcel Nadjari before and after enhancement of the image (from right to left). Public domain web image.
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Document 15: Signature of Marcel Nadjari affixed at the end of p. 11 and 12 of his manuscript. Public domain web images.


		

	

 



		
				
[image: Image]


		

		
				
Document 16: Page 3 of manuscript by Marcel Nadjari after enhancement of the image. Public domain web image.
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Document 17: Drawing of Crematorium V in 1944 by Jan Sehn based on statements by witness Szlama Dragon. Record of deposition by Signatory Dragon on May 10 and 11, 1945. Höss Trial, Vol. 11, p. 118.
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Document 18: “Plan of No 1 Gas Chamber and crematorium Auschwitz” drawn by Sergeant Edward Dinsdale on June 1, 1945 based on statements by Regina Plucer. TNA, WO, 311-1326-1; WO, 311-1326-2.
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Document 19: Canadian aerial photograph of Birkenau dated December 21, 1944. Detail of Crematorium II. NARA, RG 373, Mission: 15SG/994 15 PG. CAN: D 1533, Exposure 3021.
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Document 20: Drawing of Crematorium II-III at Birkenau by Fritz Putzker. “Statement on Concentration Camp Conditions by a Longterm Serving Inmate.” TNA, WO 309-374.
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Document 21: Drawing of Crematorium IV-V at Birkenau by Fritz Putzker. “Statement on Concentration Camp Conditions by a Longterm Serving Inmate.” TNA, WO 309-374.
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Document 22: Drawing of Crematorium II by André Rogerie (1945). From: Rogerie 1992, p. 75.
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Document 23: Drawing of Birkenau Camp by André Rogerie (1945). From: Rogerie 1992, p. 68.
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Document 24: “Rough Ground Plan of Birkenau.” From: The Extermination Camps of Auschwitz (Oswiecim) and Birkenau in Upper Silesia. Franklin Delano Roosevelt Library, New York, WRB, Box no. 61, p. 18.


		

	

 



		
				
[image: Image]


		

		
				
Document 25: Satellite image (Google Earth, 2017) of Birkenau camp. Location of Leichenkeller Morgue #2 of Crematorium II compared to Block 27 of Sector BIb.
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Document 26: Comparison between plan of Crematoria II/III from Wetzler-Vrba Report (Document 9, bottom) and a blueprint of the future Crematorium of January 23, 1942 (Document 11, top).
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Section One: General Overviews of the Holocaust 

The First Holocaust. The Surprising Origin of the Six-Million Figure. By Don Heddesheimer. This compact but substantive study documents propaganda spread prior to, during and after the FIRST World War that claimed East European Jewry was on the brink of annihilation. The magic number of suffering and dying Jews was 6 million back then as well. The book details how these Jewish fundraising operations in America raised vast sums in the name of feeding suffering Polish and Russian Jews but actually funneled much of the money to Zionist and Communist groups. 5th edition, 198 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#6)

Lectures on the Holocaust. Controversial Issues Cross Examined. By Germar Rudolf. Between 1992 and 2005 German scholar Germar Rudolf lectured to various audiences about the Holocaust in the light of new findings. Rudolf’s sometimes astounding facts and arguments fell on fertile soil among his listeners, as they were presented in a very sensitive and scholarly way. This book is the literary version of Rudolf’s lectures, enriched with the most recent findings of historiography. Rudolf introduces the most important arguments for his findings, and his audience reacts with supportive, skeptical and also hostile questions. We believe this book is the best introduction into this taboo topic. Third edition, 590 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#15)

Breaking the Spell. The Holocaust, Myth & Reality. By Nicholas Kollerstrom. In 1941, British Intelligence analysts cracked the German “Enigma” code. Hence, in 1942 and 1943, encrypted radio communications between German concentration camps and the Berlin headquarters were decrypted. The intercepted data refutes, the orthodox “Holocaust” narrative. It reveals that the Germans were desperate to reduce the death rate in their labor camps, which was caused by catastrophic typhus epidemics. Dr. Kollerstrom, a science historian, has taken these intercepts and a wide array of mostly unchallenged corroborating evidence to show that “witness statements” supporting the human gas chamber narrative clearly clash with the available scientific data. Kollerstrom concludes that the history of the Nazi “Holocaust” has been written by the victors with ulterior motives. It is distorted, exaggerated and largely wrong. With a foreword by Prof. Dr. James Fetzer. 5th edition, 271 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#31)

Debating the Holocaust. A New Look at Both Sides. By Thomas Dalton. Mainstream historians insist that there cannot be, may not be a debate about the Holocaust. But ignoring it does not make this controversy go away. Traditional scholars admit that there was neither a budget, a plan, nor an order for the Holocaust; that the key camps have all but vanished, and so have any human remains; that material and unequivocal documentary evidence is absent; and that there are serious problems with survivor testimonies. Dalton juxtaposes the traditional Holocaust narrative with revisionist challenges and then analyzes the mainstream’s responses to them. He reveals the weaknesses of both sides, while declaring revisionism the winner of the current state of the debate. 4th, revised and expanded edition, 341 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#32)

The Hoax of the Twentieth Century. The Case against the Presumed Extermination of European Jewry. By Arthur R. Butz. The first writer to analyze the entire Holocaust complex in a precise scientific manner. This book exhibits the overwhelming force of arguments accumulated by the mid-1970s. It continues to be a major historical reference work, frequently cited by prominent personalities. This edition has numerous supplements with new information gathered over the last 35 years. Fourth edition, 524 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#7)

Dissecting the Holocaust. The Growing Critique of ‘Truth’ and ‘Memory.’ Edited by Germar Rudolf. Dissecting the Holocaust applies state-of-the-art scientific technique and classic methods of detection to investigate the alleged murder of millions of Jews by Germans during World War II. In 22 contributions—each of some 30 pages—the 17 authors dissect generally accepted paradigms of the “Holocaust.” It reads as exciting as a crime novel: so many lies, forgeries and deceptions by politicians, historians and scientists are proven. This is the intellectual adventure of the 21st century. Be part of it! Third revised edition. Ca. 630 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#1)

The Dissolution of Eastern European Jewry. By Walter N. Sanning. Six Million Jews died in the Holocaust. Sanning did not take that number at face value, but thoroughly explored European population developments and shifts mainly caused by emigration as well as deportations and evacuations conducted by both Nazis and the Soviets, among other things. The book is based mainly on Jewish, Zionist and mainstream sources. It concludes that a sizeable share of the Jews found missing during local censuses after the Second World War, which were so far counted as “Holocaust victims,” had either emigrated (mainly to Israel or the U.S.) or had been deported by Stalin to Siberian labor camps. 2nd, corrected edition, foreword by A.R. Butz, epilogue by Germar Rudolf containing important updates; 224 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography (#29).

Air-Photo Evidence: World War Two Photos of Alleged Mass Murder Sites Analyzed. By Germar Rudolf (ed.). During World War Two both German and Allied reconnaissance aircraft took countless air photos of places of tactical and strategic interest in Europe. These photos are prime evidence for the investigation of the Holocaust. Air photos of locations like Auschwitz, Majdanek, Treblinka, Babi Yar etc. permit an insight into what did or did not happen there. This book is full of air photo reproductions and schematic drawings explaining them. According to the author, these images refute many of the atrocity claims made by witnesses in connection with events in the German sphere of influence. 6th revised and expanded edition, with a contribution by Carlo Mattogno. 167 pages, 8.5”×11”, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index (#27).

The Leuchter Reports: Critical Edition. By Fred Leuchter, Robert Faurisson and Germar Rudolf. Between 1988 and 1991, U.S. expert on execution technologies Fred Leuchter wrote four detailed reports addressing whether the Third Reich operated homicidal gas chambers. The first report on Auschwitz and Majdanek became world famous. Based on chemical analyses and various technical arguments, Leuchter concluded that the locations investigated “could not have then been, or now be, utilized or seriously considered to function as execution gas chambers.” 4th edition, 252 pages, b&w illustrations. (#16)

Bungled: “The Destruction of the European Jews”. Raul Hilberg’s Failure to Prove National-Socialist “Killing Centers.” His Misrepresented Sources and Flawed Methods”. By Carlo Mattogno. Raul Hilberg's magnum opus The Destruction of the European Jews is an orthodox standard work on the Holocaust. But how does Hilberg support his thesis that Jews were murdered en masse? He rips documents out of their context, distorts their content, misinterprets their meaning, and ignores entire archives. He only refers to “useful” witnesses, quotes fragments out of context, and conceals the fact that his witnesses are lying through their teeth. Lies and deceits permeate Hilberg’s book. 302 pages, bibliography, index. (#3)

Jewish Emigration from the Third Reich. By Ingrid Weckert. Current historical writings about the Third Reich claim state it was difficult for Jews to flee from Nazi persecution. The truth is that Jewish emigration was welcomed by the German authorities. Emigration was not some kind of wild flight, but rather a lawfully determined and regulated matter. Weckert’s booklet elucidates the emigration process in law and policy. She shows that German and Jewish authorities worked closely together. Jews interested in emigrating received detailed advice and offers of help from both sides. 2nd ed., 130 pages, index. (#12)

Inside the Gas Chambers: The Extermination of Mainstream Holocaust Historiography. By Carlo Mattogno. Neither increased media propaganda or political pressure nor judicial persecution can stifle revisionism. Hence, in early 2011, the Holocaust Orthodoxy published a 400 pp. book (in German) claiming to refute “revisionist propaganda,” trying again to prove “once and for all” that there were homicidal gas chambers at the camps of Dachau, Natzweiler, Sachsenhausen, Mauthausen, Ravensbrück, Neuengamme, Stutthof… you name them. Mattogno shows with his detailed analysis of this work of propaganda that mainstream Holocaust hagiography is beating around the bush rather than addressing revisionist research results. He exposes their myths, distortions and lies. 2nd edition, 280 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#25)


	


Section Two: Specific non-Auschwitz Studies 

Treblinka: Extermination Camp or Transit Camp? By Carlo Mattogno and Jürgen Graf. It is alleged that at Treblinka in East Poland between 700,000 and 3,000,000 persons were murdered in 1942 and 1943. The weapons used were said to have been stationary and/or mobile gas chambers, fast-acting or slow-acting poison gas, unslaked lime, superheated steam, electricity, diesel exhaust fumes etc. Holocaust historians alleged that bodies were piled as high as multi-storied buildings and burned without a trace, using little or no fuel at all. Graf and Mattogno have now analyzed the origins, logic and technical feasibility of the official version of Treblinka. On the basis of numerous documents they reveal Treblinka’s true identity as a mere transit camp. 3rd edition, 384 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#8)

Belzec in Propaganda, Testimonies, Archeological Research and History. By Carlo Mattogno. Witnesses report that between 600,000 and 3 million Jews were murdered in the Belzec camp, located in Poland. Various murder weapons are claimed to have been used: diesel gas; unslaked lime in trains; high voltage; vacuum chambers; etc. The corpses were incinerated on huge pyres without leaving a trace. For those who know the stories about Treblinka this sounds familiar. Thus the author has restricted this study to the aspects which are new compared to Treblinka. In contrast to Treblinka, forensic drillings and excavations were performed at Belzec, the results of which are critically reviewed. 142 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#9)

Sobibor: Holocaust Propaganda and Reality. By Jürgen Graf, Thomas Kues and Carlo Mattogno. Between 25,000 and 2 million Jews are said to have been killed in gas chambers in the Sobibór camp in Poland. The corpses were allegedly buried in mass graves and later incinerated on pyres. This book investigates these claims and shows that they are based on the selective use of contradictory eyewitness testimony. Archeological surveys of the camp are analyzed that started in 2000-2001 and carried on until 2018. The book also documents the general National Socialist policy toward Jews, which never included a genocidal “final solution.” Second updated edition, 456 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#19)

The “Extermination Camps” of “Aktion Reinhardt”. By Jürgen Graf, Thomas Kues and Carlo Mattogno. In late 2011, several members of the exterminationist Holocaust Controversies blog published a study which claims to refute three of our authors’ monographs on the camps Belzec, Sobibor and Treblinka (see previous three entries). This tome is their point-by-point response, which makes “mincemeat” out of the bloggers’ attempt at refutation. It requires familiarity with the above-mentioned books and constitutes a comprehensive update and expansion of their themes. 2nd edition, two volumes, total of 1396 pages, illustrations, bibliography. (#28)

Chelmno: A Camp in History & Propaganda. By Carlo Mattogno. At Chelmno, huge masses of Jewish prisoners are said to have been gassed in “gas vans” or shot (claims vary from 10,000 to 1.3 million victims). This study covers the subject from every angle, undermining the orthodox claims about the camp with an overwhelmingly effective body of evidence. Eyewitness statements, gas wagons as extermination weapons, forensics reports and excavations, German documents—all come under Mattogno’s scrutiny. Here are the uncensored facts about Chelmno, not the propaganda. 2nd ed., 188 pages, indexed, illustrated, bibliography. (#23)

The Gas Vans: A Critical Investigation. (A perfect companion to the Chelmno book.) By Santiago Alvarez and Pierre Marais. It is alleged that the Nazis used mobile gas chambers to exterminate 700,000 people. Up until 2011, no thorough monograph had appeared on the topic. Santiago Alvarez has remedied the situation. Are witness statements reliable? Are documents genuine? Where are the murder weapons? Could they have operated as claimed? Where are the corpses? Alvarez has scrutinized all known wartime documents, photos and witness statements on this topic, and has examined the claims made by the mainstream. 390 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#26)

The Einsatzgruppen in the Occupied Eastern Territories: Genesis, Missions and Actions. By C. Mattogno. Before invading the Soviet Union, the German authorities set up special units meant to secure the area behind the German front. Orthodox historians claim that these unites called Einsatzgruppen primarily engaged in rounding up and mass-murdering Jews. This study sheds a critical light into this topic by reviewing all the pertinent sources as well as material traces. It reveals on the one hand that original war-time documents do not fully support the orthodox genocidal narrative, and on the other that most post-“liberation” sources such as testimonies and forensic reports are steeped in Soviet atrocity propaganda and thus utterly unreliable. In addition, material traces of the claimed massacres are rare due to an attitude of collusion by governments and Jewish lobby groups. 830 pp., b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#39)

Concentration Camp Majdanek. A Historical and Technical Study. By Carlo Mattogno and Jürgen Graf. Little research had been directed toward Concentration Camp Majdanek in central Poland, even though it is claimed that up to a million Jews were murdered there. The only information available is discredited Polish Communist propaganda. This glaring research gap has finally been filled. After exhaustive research of primary sources, Mattogno and Graf created a monumental study which expertly dissects and repudiates the myth of homicidal gas chambers at Majdanek. They also critically investigated the legend of mass executions of Jews in tank trenches (“Operation Harvest Festival”) and prove them groundless. The authors’ investigations lead to unambiguous conclusions about the camp which are radically different from the official theses. Again they have produced a standard and methodical investigative work, which authentic historiography cannot ignore. Third edition, 358 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#5)

Concentration Camp Stutthof and Its Function in National Socialist Jewish Policy. By Carlo Mattogno and Jürgen Graf. The Stutthof camp in Prussia has never before been scientifically investigated by traditional historians, who claim nonetheless that Stutthof served as a ‘makeshift’ extermination camp in 1944. Based mainly on archival resources, this study thoroughly debunks this view and shows that Stutthof was in fact a center for the organization of German forced labor toward the end of World War II. Fourth edition, 170 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#4)


	


Section Three: Auschwitz Studies

The Making of the Auschwitz Myth: Auschwitz in British Intercepts, Polish Underground Reports and Postwar Testimonies (1941-1947). By Carlo Mattogno. Using messages sent by the Polish underground to London, SS radio messages send to and from Auschwitz that were intercepted and decrypted by the British, and a plethora of witness statements made during the war and in the immediate postwar period, the author shows how exactly the myth of mass murder in Auschwitz gas chambers was created, and how it was turned subsequently into “history” by intellectually corrupt scholars who cherry-picked claims that fit into their agenda and ignored or actively covered up literally thousands of lies of “witnesses” to make their narrative look credible. 2nd edition, 514 pp., b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#41)

The Real Case of Auschwitz: Robert van Pelt’s Evidence from the Irving Trial Critically Reviewed. By Carlo Mattogno. Prof. Robert van Pelt is considered one of the best mainstream experts on Auschwitz and has been called upon several times in holocaust court cases. His work is cited by many to prove the holocaust happened as mainstream scholars insist. This book is a scholarly response to Prof. van Pelt—and Jean-Claude Pressac. It shows that their studies are heavily flawed. This is a book of prime political and scholarly importance to those looking for the truth about Auschwitz. 3rd edition, 692 pages, b&w illustrations, glossary, bibliography, index. (#22)

Auschwitz: Plain Facts: A Response to Jean-Claude Pressac. Edited by Germar Rudolf. French pharmacist Jean-Claude Pressac tried to refute revisionist findings with the “technical” method. For this he was praised by the mainstream, and they proclaimed victory over the “revisionists.” In Auschwitz: Plain Facts, Pressac’s works and claims are debunked. 2nd ed., 226 pages, b&w illustrations, glossary bibliography, index. (#14)

Auschwitz: Technique and Operation of the Gas Chambers: An Introduction and Update. By Germar Rudolf. Pressac’s 1989 oversize book of the same title was a trail blazer. Its many document reproductions are still valuable, but after decades of additional research, Pressac’s annotations are outdated. This book summarizes the most pertinent research results on Auschwitz gained during the past 30 years. With many references to Pressac’s epic tome, it serves as an update and correction to it, whether you own an original hard copy of it, read it online, borrow it from a library, purchase a reprint soon on sale, or are just interested in such a summary in general. 144 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography. (#42)

The Chemistry of Auschwitz: The Technology and Toxicology of Zyklon B and the Gas Chambers – A Crime Scene Investigation. By Germar Rudolf. First, this study subjects the claimed chemical slaughterhouses of Auschwitz to a thorough forensic examination. Next, it analyzes the murder weapon, the poison gas Zyklon B, to determine how this substance operated, and what traces, if any, it might have left where it was employed. The results are convincing to the open-minded, but scandalous to the dogmatic reader. To which side do you belong? Fourth edition, 454 pages, more than 120 color and over 100 b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#2)

Auschwitz Lies: Legends, Lies and Prejudices on the Holocaust. By Carlo Mattogno and Germar Rudolf. The fallacious research and alleged “refutation” of Revisionist scholars by French biochemist G. Wellers, Polish Prof. J. Markiewicz, chemist Dr. Richard Green, Profs. Zimmerman, M. Shermer and A. Grobman, as well as researchers Keren, McCarthy and Mazal, are exposed for what they are: blatant and easily exposed political lies created to ostracize dissident historians. In this book, facts beat propaganda once again. Third edition, 404 pages, b&w illustrations, index. (#18)

Auschwitz: The Central Construction Office. By Carlo Mattogno. Based upon mostly unpublished German wartime documents, this study describes the history, organization, tasks and procedures of the Central Construction Office of the Waffen-SS and Auschwitz Police. Despite a huge public interest in the camp, next to nothing was really known about this office, which was responsible for the planning and construction of the Auschwitz camp complex, including the crematories which are said to have contained the “gas chambers.” 2nd ed., 188 pages, b&w illustrations, glossary, index. (#13)

Garrison and Headquarters Orders of the Auschwitz Camp. By G. Rudolf und E. Böhm. A large number of all the orders ever issued by the various commanders of the infamous Auschwitz camp have been preserved. They reveal the true nature of the camp with all its daily events. There is not a trace in these orders pointing at anything sinister going on in this camp. Quite to the contrary, many orders are in clear and insurmountable contradiction to claims that prisoners were mass murdered. This is a selection of the most pertinent of these orders together with comments putting them into their proper historical context. 185 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index (#34)

Special Treatment in Auschwitz: Origin and Meaning of a Term. By Carlo Mattogno. When appearing in German wartime documents, terms like “special treatment,” “special action,” and others have been interpreted as code words for mass murder. But that is not always true. This study focuses on documents about Auschwitz, showing that, while “special” had many different meanings, not a single one meant “execution.” Hence the practice of deciphering an alleged “code language” by assigning homicidal meaning to harmless documents – a key component of mainstream historiography – is untenable. 2nd ed., 166 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#10)

Healthcare at Auschwitz. By Carlo Mattogno. In extension of the above study on Special Treatment in Auschwitz, this study proves the extent to which the German authorities at Auschwitz tried to provide appropriate health care for the inmates. This is frequently described as special measures to improve the inmates’ health and thus ability to work in Germany’s armaments industry. This, after all, was the only thing the Auschwitz authorities were really interested in due to orders from the highest levels of the German government. 398 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#33)

Debunking the Bunkers of Auschwitz: Black Propaganda vs. History. By Carlo Mattogno. The bunkers at Auschwitz are claimed to have been the first homicidal gas chambers at Auschwitz specifically equipped for this purpose. With the help of original German wartime files as well as revealing air photos taken by Allied reconnaissance aircraft in 1944, this study shows that these homicidal “bunkers” never existed, how the rumors about them evolved as black propaganda created by resistance groups in the camp, and how this propaganda was transformed into a false reality. 2nd ed., 292 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#11)

Auschwitz: The First Gassing—Rumor and Reality. By Carlo Mattogno. The first gassing in Auschwitz is claimed to have occurred on Sept. 3, 1941, in a basement room. The accounts reporting it are the archetypes for all later gassing accounts. This study analyzes all available sources about this alleged event. It shows that these sources contradict each other in location, date, preparations, victims etc, rendering it impossible to extract a consistent story. Original wartime documents inflict a final blow to this legend and prove without a shadow of a doubt that this legendary event never happened. Third edition, 190 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#20)

Auschwitz: Crematorium I and the Alleged Homicidal Gassings. By Carlo Mattogno. The morgue of Crematorium I in Auschwitz is said to be the first homicidal gas chamber there. This study investigates all statements by witnesses and analyzes hundreds of wartime documents to accurately write a history of that building. Mattogno proves that its morgue was never a homicidal gas chamber, nor could it have worked as such. 2nd ed., 152 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#21)

Auschwitz: Open Air Incinerations. By Carlo Mattogno. Hundreds of thousands of corpses of murder victims are claimed to have been incinerated in deep ditches in the Auschwitz concentration camp. This book examines the many testimonies regarding these incinerations and establishes whether these claims were even possible. Using aerial photographs, physical evidence and wartime documents, the author shows that these claims are fiction. A new Appendix contains 3 papers on groundwater at Auschwitz and cattle mass burnings. A must read. Second edition. 202 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#17)

The Cremation Furnaces of Auschwitz. By Carlo Mattogno & Franco Deana. An exhaustive technical study of the history and technology of cremation in general and of the cremation furnaces of Auschwitz in particular. On a sound and thoroughly documented base of technical literature, extant wartime documents and material traces, Mattogno and Deana can establish the true nature and capacity of the Auschwitz cremation furnaces. They show that these devices were cheaper versions than what was usually produced, and that their capacity to cremate corpses was lower than normal, too. Hence this study reveals that the Auschwitz cremation furnaces were not monstrous super ovens but rather inferior make-shift devices. 3 vols., 1198 pages, b&w and color illustrations (vols 2 & 3), bibliography, index, glossary. (#24)

Curated Lies: The Auschwitz Museum’s Misrepresentations, Distortions and Deceptions. By Carlo Mattogno. Revisionist research results have put the Polish Auschwitz Museum under enormous pressure to answer this challenge. They’ve answered. This book analyzes their answer and reveals the appallingly mendacious attitude of the Auschwitz Museum authorities when presenting documents from their archives. With an introduction on the tricks and lies used by the Auschwitz Museum to bamboozle millions of visitors every year regarding its most valued asset, the “gas chamber” in the Main Camp. Second edition. 260 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#38)

Deliveries of Coke, Wood and Zyklon B to Auschwitz: Neither Proof Nor Trace for the Holocaust. By Carlo Mattogno. Researchers from the Auschwitz Museum tried to prove the reality of mass extermination by pointing to documents about deliveries of wood and coke as well as Zyklon B to the Auschwitz Camp. If put into the actual historical and technical context, however, these documents proof the exact opposite of what these orthodox researchers claim. Ca. 250 pp. b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (Scheduled for mid-2019; #40)


	


Section Four: Witness Critique

Elie Wiesel, Saint of the Holocaust: A Critical Biography. By Warren B. Routledge. The first unauthorized biography of Wiesel exposes both his personal deceits and the whole myth of “the six million.” It shows how Zionist control has allowed Wiesel and his fellow extremists to force leaders of many nations, the U.N. and even popes to genuflect before Wiesel as symbolic acts of subordination to World Jewry, while at the same time forcing school children to submit to Holocaust brainwashing. Third edition. 458 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#30)

Auschwitz: Eyewitness Reports and Perpetrator Confessions of the Holocaust. By Jürgen Graf. The traditional narrative of what transpired at the infamous Auschwitz camp during WWII rests almost exclusively on witness testimony from former inmates as well as erstwhile camp officials. This study critically scrutinizes the 30 most important of these witness statements by checking them for internal coherence, and by comparing them with one another as well as with other evidence such as wartime documents, air photos, forensic research results, and material traces. The result is devastating for the traditional narrative. 370 pp. b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#36)

Commandant of Auschwitz: Rudolf Höss, His Torture and His Forced Confessions. By Carlo Mattogno & Rudolf Höss. When Rudolf Höss was in charge at Auschwitz, the mass extermination of Jews in gas chambers is said to have been launched and carried out. He confessed this in numerous postwar depositions. Hence Höss’s testimony is the most convincing of all. But what traditional sources usually do not reveal is that Höss was severely tortured to coerce him to “confess,” and that his various statements are not only contradictory but also full of historically and physically impossible, even absurd claims. This study expertly analyzes Höss’s various confessions and lays them all open for everyone to see the ugly truth. Second edition. 410 pages, b&w illust., bibliography, index. (#35)

An Auschwitz Doctor’s Eyewitness Account: The Tall Tales of Dr. Mengele’s Assistant Analyzed. By Miklos Nyiszli & Carlo Mattogno. Nyiszli, a Hungarian physician, ended up at Auschwitz in 1944 as Dr. Mengele’s assistant. After the war he wrote a book and several other writings describing what he claimed to have experienced. To this day some traditional historians take his accounts seriously, while others reject them as grotesque lies and exaggerations. This study presents and analyzes Nyiszli’s writings and skillfully separates truth from fabulous fabrication. Second edition, 484 pages, b&w illust., bibliography, index. (#37)

Rudolf Reder versus Kurt Gerstein: Two False Testimonies on the Bełżec Camp Analyzed. By Carlo Mattogno. Only two witnesses have ever testified substantially about the alleged Belzec Extermination Camp: The survivor Rudolf Reder and the SS man Kurt Gerstein. Gerstein's various depositions have been a hotspot of revisionist critique for decades. It is now discredited even among orthodox historians. They use Reder's testimony to fill the void, yet his statements are just as absurd. This study thoroughly scrutinizes Reder's various statements, critically revisits Gerstein's various depositions, and then compares these two testimonies which are at once similar in some respects, but incompatible in others. 2nd edition, 216 pages, b&w illust., bibliography, index. (#43)

Sonderkommando Auschwitz I: Nine Eyewitness Testimonies Analyzed. By Carlo Mattogno. To this day, the 1979 book Auschwitz Inferno by former Auschwitz inmate and putative Sonderkommando member Filip Müller has a great influence both on the popular perception of Auschwitz and on historians trying to probe this camp’s history. This book critically analyzes Müller’s various post-war writings, which are full of exaggerations, falsehoods and plagiarized text passages. The author also scrutinizes the testimonies of eight other former Sonderkommando members who similarly lack regard for exactitude and truth: Dov Paisikovic, Stanisław Jankowski, Henryk Mandelbaum, Ludwik Nagraba, Joshuah Rosenblum, Aaron Pilo, David Fliamenbaum and Samij Karolinskij. Ca. 300 pages, b&w illust., bibliography, index. (#44)

For current prices and availability see book finder sites such as www.bookfinder.com, www.addall.com, www.bookfinder4u.com or www.findbookprices.com; learn more at www.HolocaustHandbooks.com
Published by Castle Hill Publishers, PO Box 243, Uckfield, TN22 9AW, UK
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 Among the various published studies, the following may be mentioned as orientation: Laqueur 1980; Wyman 1985; Laqueur/Breitman 1986; Wasserstein 1988; Favez 1988; Ben-Tov 1988. The vexing question of Pope Pius XII’s “silence” was dramatized in Hochhuth 1963. One of the first historians addressing this issue was Friedländer 1964.
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4. Vorgeschichte: s

Geimpft 1t, Soldbuch gegen.ioci{éx‘:’ h.fzd Typhus. : :
FPamiliengeschichte: 0.B.. i
Erenkheiten vor Diemsteintritt: 1927 Verletzung des 1i. Auges’

durch Jagdunfall. - ; =4
Krankheiten wihrend der DienstZzeit: 1939 Entzindung der Leisten-
Jdriisen mit operativer Behandlung. Anfang 1942 6 Wochen Behandlumg |
ﬁegen‘ﬂéréenan.fé‘llen in einer Fervenheilstétte (wahrsch.funktio-

nelle Anfalle). - : ! dms :
Verleuf der gegenwirtigen Krankheit: Brkrankte Mitte Juli 1042

mit Kopfschmerzen und Fieber und wurde wegen Verdacht auf Pl'e‘-.

fieber der Inneren Abt. des Res.laz.Kattowitz Uberwiesen.

$B. Befund: 3

Gewicht: 72.- kg Groge: 182 cm
Augen: 0.B,
Ohren: 0.B.

Gebif in Crdnung. s
ange feucht, im hinteren Abschnitt graun belegt. ?

n gerotét,
Hals: Kieferwinkeldrisen etwas geschwollen und drackschmerzhaft,
“rustkorb: gut gewslbt, dehtn sich bei der Atmung gleichm’a’ssig'aus.
Lungen: Untere GYrenzen an normaler Stelle,
Am Klopfachall. AtemgerZusch blischenfdrmig.
Herz: Grenzen regelrecht. Tone rein, Aktion regelmissig.

Leib: weich. Leber und {ilz nicht vergrissert, In beiden Leiste.
nden fest verheilte Qgerationsnarben'.

ine Unterschiede

Z

edmassen: 3Felenke i beweglich.
Nervensystem: 0.3.

C. ZXrankheitsverlauf:

22.7.42

Beheandlun;: Bettruhe, Brustwickel, Sympatol und Antineuralgica.
Urin frei von Eiweif und Zucker. im 3ediment mehrere rote und einige
weisse Blutkirperchen.

ch Westergreen: 6/13 mm.
43hl der -eiseen 31utkbrpercl’}en: 3400,

Blutsenkungsreaktion n=

segangen. Xlagt lber leichte Schluckbsschwerdengg

=

23.7.42 Fieber etwss zuriick

zchen gerttet. Kiefs

winkeldriisen geschwollen,
24,7 .42 peraturen immer noch um 38,40, i
25.7 .4
27.7 449
8.7 42 Temperaturen ' BUr noch subfebril.

T
Lungen 0.B« Yuls gut zefiillt, Xeine Milzschwellung. Kein Exan
Das Fieber klingt all iZhlich ab.

N
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